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PREFATORY  NOTE 

iA  MONG  the  original  sources  of  authority  relied 

/   %   uPon  in  ̂ is  and  the  preceding  volume  are: 

/   \   The  “American  Archives,”  nine  folio  vol- 
umes, published  by  the  United  States  govern- 

ment, containing  the  “   Documentary  History  of  the 

American  Revolution,”  the  proceedings  of  the  Colonies, 
the  Congress  of  the  Confederation,  proceedings  of  the 

Continental  Army,  etc. 

The  “American  State  Papers,”  embracing  the  “Docu- 
ments, Legislative,  and  Executive,  of  the  Congress 

of  the  United  States,  from  March  3,  1789,  to  March 

3,  1815.  This  includes  the  documents  and  reports 

upon  Foreign  Relation,  Indian  Affairs,  Military  and 

Naval  Affairs,  etc.,  in  all  thirty-eight  folio  volumes, 
published  by  Congress. 

The  “Draper  Manuscripts,”  consisting  of  a   vast 
collection  of  letters,  diaries,  account  books  and  original 

documents,  or  handwritten  copies  of  original  docu- 

ments, accumulated  by  Lyman  C.  Draper,  through 

correspondence  and  travel,  covering  a   period  of  fifty 

years,  beginning  in  1838,  in  the  states  of  Ohio,  Ken- 
tucky, Virginia  and  Tennessee,  the  most  valuable 

data  extant  concerning  western  history.  This  material 

is  preserved,  classified  and  catalogued  in  the  Library 

of  the  Wisconsin  Historical  Society,  Madison,  Wis- 
consin. 
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Chapter  I. 

THE  MORAVIAN  MISSIONS 





THE  contrasts  of  history  are  ever  interesting and  often  significant  in  teaching  its  develop- 

ment and  philosophy. 

While  the  courageous  leader  of  the  Refor- 

mation, the  peasant-born  Luther,  was  in  voluntary 
confinement  in  the  Castle  of  Wittenberg,  Germany, 

preparing  his  translation  that  should  unlock  wide  the 

Bible  to  the  free  reading  of  the  people,  another  prisoner 

lay  wounded  in  the  Castle  of  Loyola  in  Spain,  the  very 

castle  in  which  he  had  been  born,  twenty-five  years 
before,  and  from  which  he  took  his  name,  Ignatius 

Loyola.  These  two  contemporaneous  castle  captives 

were  intellectually  battling  in  that  interminable  war- 
fare between  the  Saxon  and  the  Latin  for  the  religious 

supremacy  of  the  world.  It  was  on  that  sick  bed, 

racked  with  pain,  that  the  chivalric  Loyola  thought 

out  the  marvellous  scheme  of  the  order  of  the  Jesuits, 

whose  members  bound  by  the  vows  of  poverty,  chastity 

and  obedience,  were  to  go  forth  to  the  four  corners  of 

the  earth,  check  the  tide  of  Luther’s  reformation  and 
win  the  heathen  of  all  lands  to  the  true  faith  as  pro- 

nounced from  the  papal  palace  of  Rome. 

The  new  continent  discovered  by  Columbus,  through 

the  sympathy  and  support  of  their  Catholic  majesties 

Ferdinand  and  Isabella,  in  whose  palace  the  boy  Loyola 

had  been  a   page,  opened  to  the  Order  of  Jesus,  new 

fields  for  its  disciples;  fields  of  illimitable  promise. 

We  have  seen  how  the  Jesuit  missionaries  followed 

close  upon  the  heels  of  the  French  discoverers  and 

explorers — indeed  how  the  Jesuits  themselves  were 
foremost  in  paddling  the  streams  and  rivers,  sailing 

the  Great  Lakes  and  penetrating  the  unbroken  forests 
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of  Canada,  the  Northwest  and  the  Valley  of  the 

Mississippi.  John  D.  G.  Shea,  the  learned  historian 

of  the  Catholic  Church  in  America,  has  truthfully  writ- 

ten: “The  American  Catholic  Missions  are  unparal- 
leled for  heroic  self-devotedness,  energy  of  purpose, 

purity  of  motive  or  holiness  of  design.  Nowhere  can 

be  found  more  that  is  sublime,  even  to  the  eyes  blinded 

by  the  glare  of  human  greatness.  Nowhere  can  we  show 

more  triumphant  proofs  of  the  power  of  religion,  even 

for  the  Temporal  well-being  of  nations.  Vast  as  the 
region  was,  it  was  to  be  conquered  to  Christ;  the  Latin 

service,  chanted  from  Greenland  to  Narraganset,  was 

to  resound  throughout  the  length  and  breadth  of  the 

land.” 
This  religion,  as  professed  or  rather  as  enacted  by 

the  Jesuits,  was  well  calculated  to  attract  and  impress 

the  Indian  mind.  The  untutored  savage  of  the  Ameri- 
can forest  was  truly  the  child  of  superstition  and 

ceremony.  Romanism  with  its  rituals  appealed  to 

him  more  readily  than  the  cold  and  unadorned  homilies 

of  the  protestant  preachers  of  the  English  colonies. 

The  North  American  Indian,  in  his  religious  belief 

was  a   polytheist,  to  the  extent  that  to  him,  nature  in 

her  different  forms,  was  identical  with  a   spirit  or 

supernatural  power.  As  one  author  puts  it,  “to  the 
Indian,  the  material  world  was  sentient  and  intelli- 

gent. Birds,  beasts  and  reptiles  have  ears  for  human 

prayers  and  are  endowed  with  an  influence  on  human 

destiny.”  Hence  the  Indian  fetishism  and  totemism. 
Lakes,  rivers  and  waterfalls  were  dwelling  places  of 

spirits.  The  trees,  the  rocks,  the  rustling  leaves,  the 

rolling  clouds,  the  roaring  storm  and  the  arching  rain- 
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bow,  the  silent  snow,  the  pattering  rain,  the  crashing 

thunder  and  the  flashing  lightning,  each  was  the 

embodiment  and  manifestation  of  a   sort  of  personal 

power  that  could  be  angered  or  appeased,  obeyed  or 

defied.  And  to  the  animal  kingdom  no  less  than  the 

inanimate,  this  credence  held  sway  over  him.  The 

birds  of  the  air,  the  game  of  the  forest,  the  fishes  of 

the  streams,  each  in  turn  were  possessed  of  a   spirit 

or  controlling  influence  to  which  invocation  might  be 

addressed.  In  its  main  features  this  polytheism  pre- 
vailed in  each  tribe,  though  with  differences  of  extent 

and  variations  of  manifestation.  Nearly  all  of  the 

tribes,  moreover,  recognized  in  some  vague  conception 

great  or  universal  power,  corresponding  to  our 

Supreme  Being.  This  was  Manitou,  the  great  spirit. 

“Gitche  Manito,  the  mighty, 
The  Great  Spirit,  the  creator, 

Smiled  upon  his  helpless  children.  ” 

But  not  always  did  Manitou  smile.  Often  he  broke 

forth  in  bursts  of  anger;  often  would  he  scourge  his 

children,  and  around  his  wilful  and  all-powerful  being 
clustered  traditions  and  legends  as  plentiful  and  as 

poetic  as  were  the  myths  and  tales  that  enshrined 

the  Zeus  of  classic  days.  The  Indian  ceremonies, 

innumerable  as  they  were  fantastic,  extravagant, 

puerile,  cruel  or  disgusting,  we  need  not  stop  to  describe. 

Suffice  it  to  say  the  primitive  Indian  was  as  savage  in 

his  religion  as  in  his  life,  strangely  mingling  the  senti- 
mental with  the  brutal,  the  sublime  with  the  ridiculous. 

His  gods  were  the  coinage  of  the  imaginings  of  his 

untutored  mind,  and  bore  the  attributes  of  his  own 

unrestrained  animal  nature.  His  incantations,  divina- 
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tions,  propitiations,  sacrifices  and  religious  exercises 

of  every  form,  were  jumbled  exhibitions  of  nebulous 
belief  and  sensuous  exaltation. 

To  this  people,  given  to  the  spectacular  and  the 

symbolic,  came  the  Jesuit  fathers,  with  their  altars, 

crucifixes,  chalices,  cups  of  holy  water,  rosaries,  robes 

and  paraphernalia;  their  chants  and  intonations,  genu- 
flexions and  scenic  rites.  The  ceremonies  entertained 

the  savage  spectators  if  the  admonitions  did  not 

influence.  Longfellow  in  beautiful  simplicity  portrays 

the  errand  of  the  priests: 

All  the  old  men  of  the  village, 
All  the  warriors  of  the  nation, 

In  a   circle  round  the  doorway, 
With  their  pipes  they  sat  in  silence, 

Waiting  to  behold  the  strangers, 
Waiting  to  receive  their  message; 

Till  the  Black-Robe  chief,  the  Pale-face, 
From  the  wigwam  came  to  greet  them, 

Stammering  in  his  speech  a   little, 
Speaking  words  yet  unfamiliar; 

“It  is  well,”  they  said,  “O  brother, 
That  you  come  so  far  to  see  us!” 

Then  the  Black-Robe  chief,  the  prophet, 
Told  his  message  to  the  people, 

Told  the  purport  of  his  mission, 
Told  them  of  the  Virgin  Mary, 

And  her  blessed  Son,  the  Saviour, 
How  in  distant  lands  and  ages 

He  had  lived  on  earth  as  we  do; 
How  he  fasted,  prayed,  and  labored; 

How  the  Jews,  the  tribe  accursed, 
Mocked  him,  scourged  him,  crucified  him; 

How  he  rose  from  where  they  laid  him, 
Walked  again  with  his  disciples, 

And  ascended  into  heaven. 
********** 

Then  they  rose  up  and  departed 
Each  one  homeward  to  his  wigwam, 

To  the  young  men  and  the  women 
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Told  the  story  of  the  strangers 
Whom  the  Master  of  Life  had  sent  them 

From  the  shining  land  of  Wabun. 

The  result  was  all  that  the  devoted  disciples  of  the 

church  had  a   right  to  expect,  though  it  may  not  have 

met  their  desires.  The  testimony  of  history  indicates 
that  the  conversion  of  the  Indian  was  ceremonial  and 

superficial,  rather  than  productive  of  any  real  change 

of  character  or  conduct  of  life.  Says  a   Moravian 

missionary,  one  of  the  first  among  the  Iroquois,  in  the 

last  days  of  the  Jesuit  regime,  “The  priests  seldom 
induced  their  still  numerous  converts  to  lead  even 

outwardly  better  lives.  Baptized  savages  strutted 

among  the  unbaptized,  decorating  their  persons  with 

rosaries,  as  though  they  were  strings  of  wampum,  but 

were  carnal  and  dissolute  as  before.  Genuine  con- 

versions manifested  by  a   sober,  righteous,  and  godly 

life,  were  rarely  known.  Hence  the  Indians  had  come 

to  be  regarded  as  brutish  savages  whose  salvation  was 

hopeless.”  And  Ogontz,  the  famous  Ottawa  chief, 
educated  by  the  Catholic  priests  and  for  a   time  a   mis- 

sionary among  his  people  at  Sandusky,  testified  that 

he  found  it  much  easier  to  make  Catholics  than  Christ- 

ians of  the  Indians.  They  were  more  willing  to  observe 

the  forms  than  obey  the  laws  of  Christianity  but  they 

grew  no  better  under  his  preaching. 
We  have  seen  how  these  consecrated  missionaries 

set  up  their  shrines  of  worship  in  the  farthest  fastnesses 
of  the  wilderness.  Their  sincere  devotion  to  their 

cause,  their  self-abnegation  and  self-sacrifice,  their 

privations  and  sufferings,  the  latter  in  every  conceivable 

form  of  torture  and  mutilation  that  fiendish  savagery 
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could  invent,  are  hardly  surpassed  in  the  annals  of 

religious  persecution.  Not  a   few  fed  with  their  living 

bodies  the  flames  of  martyrdom,  while  the  infuriated 

savages,  at  the  sight,  yelled  and  danced  with  a   delight 

more  diabolical  than  that  displayed  by  the  Caesars 

of  imperial  Rome,  when  they  walked  abroad  at  night 

through  beautiful  gardens,  illumined  by  the  blaze  of 

human  torches — the  pitch-covered  quivering  flesh  of 

the  early  followers  of  the  Nazarene. 

Such  were  the  Jesuits  of  North  America.  Their 

missions  were  chiefly  among  the  Iroquois  of  New  York, 
the  Hurons  of  Canada  and  the  various  nations  of  the 

upper  lakes.  While  their  converts  in  number  were 

not  commensurate  with  their  aims  and  their  efforts, 

they  were  many.  No  less  than  three  thousand,  it  is 

claimed,  embraced  the  faith,  among  the  Canadian 

Hurons.  But  their  work  was  not  without  its  benign 

influence.  While  their  purpose  seemed  chiefly  to  save 

a   soul  by  the  mere  sacrament  of  baptism,  and  while 

they  made  little  direct  endeavor  to  educate  the  savage, 

either  in  mental  development,  social  improvement  or 

industrial  or  agricultural  advancement,  they  did, 

unquestionably,  by  their  religious  teachings  and  exem- 
plary conduct,  in  no  small  measure,  modify  the  savagery 

of  the  Indian  nature. 

Opposition  in  many  quarters,  chiefly  among  the 
licentious  favorites  of  the  Bourbon  court  and  the 

infidelic  scholars  of  France,  brought  about  the  suppres- 
sion of  the  Jesuits,  by  the  royal  edict  of  Louis  XV, 

throughout  the  French  dominions  in  1764,  and  for 

reasons,  not  here  to  be  discussed,  in  1773,  Pope  Clement 

XIV.  by  papal  decree  ordered  the  suppression  of  the 
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Society  in  all  States  of  Christendom.  These  decrees 

of  abolition  put  an  end  to  the  proselyting  of  the  Indians 

by  the  Jesuits,  though  non-Jesuit  priests  continued 
their  ministrations  among  the  tribesmen. 

Aside  from  the  semi-mission  of  Sandusky,  the  Jesuits, 

as  previously  noted,  made  no  inroads  among  the  Ohio 
tribes. 

But  now  another  Christianizing  ministry  is  to  enter 

the  Ohio  country  and  from  the  date  of  its  entrance  is 

destined  to  play  no  small  part  in  the  trend  of  events. 

This  influence  is  that  of  the  Moravian  Missionaries,  the 

Protestant  Jesuits  to  the  Ohio  redmen.  For  our 

authorities  on  this  subject,  to  which  meagre  attention 

has  been  given  by  historians,  we  are  chiefly  indebted 

to  the  publication  of  the  life  and  various  works  of 

David  Zeisberger  by  Edmund  de  Schweinitz,  and 

similarly  by  E.  F.  Bliss;  to  the  life  and  narratives  of 

John  Heckewelder,  edited  by  W.  E.  Connelley  and 

in  the  biographical  literature  concerning  Heckewelder 

by  the  grandson  of  the  latter,  Rev.  W.  H.  Rice,  a   dis- 
tinguished minister  in  the  Moravian  denomination. 

Credit  is  also  due  to  the  original  manuscripts  of  Zeis- 
berger, translated  by  the  Rev.  W.  N.  Schwarze,  and 

made  public  in  the  printed  annals  of  the  Ohio  State 

Archaeological  and  Historical  Society. 

The  Moravians  as  a   sect  may  boast  of  great  antiquity, 

and  an  illustrious  history.  Bohemia  was  early  the 

refuge  and  abode  of  the  sturdy,  religious,  liberty-loving 
Teutons,  who  refused  to  succumb  to  the  sway  of  the 

Papal  church.  The  Waldenses  in  Italy  and  France, 

in  the  pre-reformation  period,  in  large  numbers  fled 
to  Bohemia  and  the  adjacent  Moravia.  In  order  to 
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combat  and  overthrow  the  faith  of  the  increasing 

followers  of  the  new  heresy,  the  Papacy  established 

the  University  of  Prague.  Its  greatest  graduate, 

according  to  well-known  church  history,  was  John 
Huss,  who  following  the  lead  of  Wickliff  of  England, 

became  the  great  reformer  of  his  time,  the  forerunner 

of  Luther,  finally  paying  (1415)  the  price  of  his  inde- 
pendence in  martyrdom  at  the  stake.  From  the  ashes 

of  Huss  sprang  the  sect  which  instituted  the  organization 

of  the  Church  of  the  Brethren,  later  to  be  known  as  the 

Unitas  Fratrum,  or  United  Brethren,  and  subsequently, 

in  America,  to  be  called  the  “ Moravian  Brethren.” 
The  Moravians,  therefore,  came  forth  from  the  earliest 

struggles  against  Romanism  and  ante-date  the  German 
Reformation.  This  church  consecrated  its  first  bishop, 

David  Nitschmann,  at  Berlin  in  1735;  ten  years  before 

that,  a   band  of  the  Moravians,  escaping  from  oppres- 

sion in  their  country,  fled  to  Saxony  and  in  Upper 

Lusatia,  on  an  estate  of  Count  Zinzendorf,  founded 
the  town  of  Herrnhut  and  formed  the  nucleus  of  a 

colony  in  which  their  sect  was  to  thrive.  Soon  follow- 

ing these  fugitive  emigrants,  there  came  to  Herrnhut, 

from  Zauchtenthal,  the  Zeisberger  parents,  with  their 

children,  one  being  David,  aged  five.  Herrnhut  was 

not,  however,  long  to  be  their  haven.  The  rigid 

government  of  Saxony  was  not  to  their  liking  and  they 

must  move  on.  They  looked  far  abroad.  The  English  I 

colonies  in  America  had  become  the  refuge  of  the 

free-minded  in  religion  and  the  liberty-loving  in  civil 
government. 

James  Oglethorpe,  the  noble-hearted  philanthropist, 

had  just  founded  the  colony  of  Georgia,  a   retreat  for 

3   1833  02324  118  2 



DAVID  ZEISBERGER 

Born  in  Austrian  Moravia  in  1721.  Emigrated  to 

Georgia,  America  in  17 37.  Missionary  to  the  Iroquois 

tribes.  First  visitqd-^tfe£  Ohio  Indians  in  1771.  Estab- 
lished the  first  Moravian  settlement  at  Schoenbrunn, 

Tuscarawas  County,  1772.  Died  at  Goshen,  Tuscarawas 

County,  1808. 
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the  prison-confined  debtors  of  England  and  the  Protes- 
tant refugees  of  Europe.  Thither  would  the  Moravians 

go,  and  in  1736  a   band  of  twenty,  including  the  parents 

David  and  Rosina  Zeisberger,  and  Bishop  Nitschmann, 

sailed  for  Georgia.  In  the  same  ship  were  the  brothers 

John  and  Charles  Wesley.  The  simple,  evangelical 

piety  of  the  Moravians,  whom  he  now  met  for  the  first 

time,  made  a   deep  impression  on  the  Church  of  England 

Curate,  John  Wesley.  Returning  to  his  home  country 

he  sought  out  the  preachers  of  this  primitive  sect,  both 

in  England  and  Germany,  and  this  Moravian  inter- 
course was  the  beginning  and  largely  the  cause  of 

Wesley’s  break  from  the  established  church.  It  was 
two  years  later  (1738)  when  David  Zeisberger,  the 

son,  after  years  of  excellent  schooling  in  Saxony  and 

Holland,  joined  his  parents  at  Savannah. 

In  Georgia,  the  Moravians  found  a   field  for  mis- 

sionary labor  among  the  Creek  Indians,  for  the  redmen 

needed  most  their  gospel  ministrations.  To  the  con- 

version of  the  American  savages  then  would  the  Mora- 
vian exiles  devote  their  activities.  Their  field  was 

suddenly  changed  by  the  breaking  out  of  hostilities 

between  England  and  Spain  (1739),  the  Spaniards  of 

Florida  threatening  to  attack  the  Georgia  colony, 

which  prepared  for  war.  The  Moravians,  like  the 

Quakers,  were  disciples  of  peace  and  the  bearing  of 

arms  was  contrary  to  their  principles.  The  disturb- 

ances thus  effecting  the  Georgia  colony,  and  the  lack  of 

harmony  over  the  situation  among  the  Moravians, 

divided  their  settlement  and  a   portion  of  them  departed 

for  Pennsylvania. 
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It  was  in  the  Spring  of  1740,  when  the  voyage  from 

Savannah  to  Philadelphia  was  made  in  a   sloop,  strangely 

enough,  under  the  direction  of  George  Whitefield,  who 

was  also  a   passenger.  This  distinguished  preacher, 

then  in  the  Church  of  England,  but  like  John  Wesley 

to  become  later  a   dissenter  and  a   powerful  evangelist 

of  the  new  Methodist  sect,  was  on  his  errand  of  estab- 

lishing an  orphan  asylum  in  the  new  country. 

Whitefield  engaged  the  Moravians  to  build  a   school- 
house  for  negro  children,  on  a   tract  of  five  thousand 

acres  of  land,  which  he  purchased  and  located  on  the 

“ Forks  of  the  Delaware.”  The  little  band  of  twelve 
Moravians,  one  of  whom  was  the  younger  David 

Zeisberger,  began  the  erection  of  an  edifice,  but  ere 

long  differences  arose  between  them  and  Whitefield 

and  the  latter  ordered  them  to  leave  his  land  “   forth- 

with.” Again  the  little  group  of  wanderers  moved 
on  and  in  the  deep  snows  and  intense  cold  of  winter 

established,  in  the  Lehigh  River,  their  new  home  in 

the  little  hamlet,  they  called  Bethlehem,  to  be  from 

then  until  this  day  the  chief  seat  of  the  Moravian 
Church  in  America. 

From  time  to  time  members  of  the  sect  flocked  from 

Europe  to  the  new  Bethlehem,  then  in  a   wild  country, 

mainly  inhabited  by  Indians.  Again  the  heathen 

aborigines  appealed  to  the  religious  zeal  of  the  new 

colony,  and  Zeisberger,  consecrated  now  to  the  ministry 

entered  upon  his  work  of  salvation  that  was  to  engross 

his  time  and  energies  for  more  than  half  a   century. 

He  became  a   speaker  of  great  power,  mastered  many 

of  the  Indian  tongues,  and  with  various  confreres  made 

proselyting  tours,  through  Pennsylvania  and  New  York, 
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encountering  privations  and  perils,  surpassed  only  by 

those  of  the  Jesuits  in  the  far  west.  During  a   visit 

to  Onondaga,  the  capital  of  the  Iroquois  confederacy, 

he  was  adopted  into  the  tribe  of  the  Onondagas  and 

the  Turtle  Clan,  receiving  the  name  of  “Ganous- 

serarcheri, ”   which  signifies  “On  the  Pumpkin.”  With 
his  assistant,  Christian  Frederick  Post,  he  erected,  at 

Onondaga,  a   substantial  Mission  House,  with  a   view  to 

the  establishment  of  a   permanent  mission  center  in 

that  section.  He  won  the  implicit  confidence  of  the 

Iroquois  confederacy,  the  Grand  Council  of  which 

appointed  him  (1754)  keeper  of  the  archives,  and 

deposited  in  his  Moravian  Mission  House,  many  belts 

and  strings  of  wampum,  treaties  and  official  documents. 

At  Shamokin,  a   chief  town  of  the  Indians  and  the 

headquarters  of  Shikellamy,  the  Executive  Deputy  of 
the  Grand  Council  of  the  Six  Nations  and  real  ruler  of 

the  Delaware  dependencies,  Zeisberger  began  his  con- 
struction of  an  Iroquois  dictionary.  In  this  literary 

and  linguistic  work,  Zeisberger  had  the  personal  assist- 
ance of  Shikellamy,  also  spelled  Shikellimus,  Shikelimo 

and  otherwise, — no  less  than  thirty  different  ways;  we 
follow  in  the  spelling  of  this  name,  as  in  most  of  the 

Indian  names  met  with  in  our  history,  the  orthography 

adopted  by  the  Bureau  of  American  Ethnology. 

Shikellamy  was  one  of  the  most  remarkable  men  of 

his  race.  His  Indian  name,  as  designated  by  the 

Delawares,  was  Ongwaterohiathe,  signifying  “the 

Enlightener.”  This  influential  and  high-minded  chief 
was  born  in  Montreal  of  French  parentage  and  when 

a   child  was  made  a   captive  and  adopted  into  the  Wolf 

Clan  of  the  Oneida  tribe;  he  married  a   woman  of 
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the  Cayuga  nation,  and  became  an  early  convert, 

probably  in  1742,  to  the  Moravians,  who,  as  related 

by  Loskiel,  at  first  hesitated  to  receive  him  into  their 

church  on  account  of  his  having  been  previously  bap- 

tized by  a   Catholic  priest  in  Canada,  but  Shikellamy 

repudiated  his  Catholic  allegiance  and  at  his  Moravian 

baptism  is  said  to  have  destroyed  a   “ small  idol”  which 
he  had  always  worn  about  his  neck. 

Shikellamy  filled  for  more  than  twenty  years  a   large 

space  in  the  Indian  annals  of  Pennsylvania.  He  is 

said  to  have  “   swayed  almost  a   vice-regal  sceptre  over 
all  the  inferior  tribes  south  of  the  Iroquois  who  paid 

tribute  to  that  powerful  league,  or  were  held  by  it  in 

subjugation,  and  he  became  a   kind  of  resident  ambassa- 

dor of  the  Five  Nations  in  Pennsylvania.” 

Shikellamy’s  son  was  the  famous  Mingo  chief  John 
Shikellimus,  or  Shikellamy,  better  known  as  Logan. 

Later  on  we  shall  hear  much  of  this  Mingo  Logan,  whose 

oratorical  powers  were  inherited  from  his  father,  like- 

wise renowned  for  his  gifts  of  speech. 

It  was  this  educational  phase  of  the  Moravian  apostle- 

ship,  as  illustrated  in  the  Indian  scholarship  of  Zeis- 
berger  that  gave  it  a   distinctive  feature,  in  contrast 

with  the  religious  labors  of  the  Jesuits.  The  Moravians 

sought  to  illumine  their  conversions  with  the  torch  of 

civilization.  The  learning  of  the  Reformation  was  the 

handmaid  of  Protestant  evangelization.  The  Onon- 

daga Mission  was  prospering  beyond  expectations  and 

the  seeds  sown  had  grown  and  promised  a   rich  harvest 

in  the  vineyard  of  the  Master,  when  Braddock’s 
defeat  on  the  Monongahela  presaged  the  havoc  of  the 
French  and  Indian  War. 



JOHN  HECKEWELDER 

Life  companion  and  colaborer  with  Zeisberger.  Born 

at  Herrnhut,  Saxony,  1743.  Came  to  Bethlehem,  Pa., 
in  1754.  One  of  the  foremost  Moravian  Missionaries  to 
the  Ohio  country.  iffitih  Zeisberger  founded  the  Moravian 

Missions  on  the  Muskingum,  the  first  Christian  Missions 

in  Ohip.  He  died  at  Bethlehem,  Pa.,  January  30,  1823. 
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There  was  an  untimely  end  to  the  Onondaga  Mission 

and  Zeisberger  left  the  unreaped  fruitage  of  his  labors 
and  returned  to  Bethlehem.  Here  he  met  one  who  had 

arrived  in  his  absence  and  who  was  to  be  second  only 

to  himself,  if  not  on  equality  with  him,  in  their  subse- 

quent joint  labors.  This  one  was  John  Heckewelder, 

whose  father,  David  Heckewelder,  was  one  of  the 

Moravian  exiles  who  fled  to  Herrnhut,  the  Saxon 

village  of  refuge.  Pushing  on  to  England,  the  Hecke- 
welder parents  were  there  residing  when  John  was 

born  (1743).  At  the  age  of  eleven,  the  boy,  John, 

with  his  parents,  found  a   home  at  Bethlehem  (Pa.) 

where  they  arrived  in  1754. 

Young  Heckewelder  was  apprenticed,  to  learn  the 

cooper  trade,  to  the  Rev.  Christian  Frederick  Post, 

the  Indian  interpreter,  Moravian  missionary  and  zeal- 

ous assistant  to  Zeisberger.  Post’s  life  was  as  romantic 
as  it  was  conspicuous  in  pioneer  annals.  He  was  thirty- 
three  years  the  elder  of  Heckewelder.  His  first  wife 

was  a   Wamponoag  squaw,  called,  after  her  baptism, 

Rachel.  Two  years  after  her  death  Post  married  a 

converted  Delaware  squaw,  known  as  Agnes.  Upon 

her  death  he  married  a   white  woman.  We  have  already, 

early  in  our  history,  noted  the  important  services  of 

Post  as  an  official  interpreter  at  conferences  between 

colonists  and  the  tribesmen,  and  have  made  notice 

of  his  embassadorial  journeys  to  the  Ohio  in  1758. 

The  French  and  Indian  War  over,  the  Bethlehem 

missionaries  resumed  their  activities  and  in  September, 

1761,  Post  made  an  effort  to  establish  a   mission  among 

the  Delawares  on  the  Muskingum  River.  The  Dela- 

wares were  at  this  time  living  principally  in  the  Ohio 
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country.  As  we  have  seen,  the  Delawares  were  origi- 
nally found  in  the  valley  of  the  Delaware  River,  and 

about  the  bay  of  that  name.  The  white  invasions  and 

the  wars  with  other  tribes  gradually  crowded  the  Dela- 

wares westward,  first  into  the  valley  of  the  Susque- 

hanna, then  to  the  headwaters  of  the  Allegheny  and 

the  banks  of  the  Monongahela,  and  then  below  the 

Forks  of  the  Ohio  to  the  western  interior,  until  by 

1748,  it  is  estimated,  one-fourth  of  their  nation  had 
located  on  the  western  tributaries  of  the  Ohio,  chiefly 

the  Tuscarawas  and  the  Muskingum.  The  Delawares 

came  to  Ohio,  it  is  claimed,  by  invitation  of  the  Wyan- 
dots,  who  held,  from  the  Six  Nations,  permissive  title 

to  large  part  of  Ohio.  In  their  new  western  country, 

being  in  contact  with  the  French  and  supported  by  the 

Western  tribes,  the  Delawares  began  to  assert  their 

independence,  shaking  the  vassalage  to  the  Iroquois, 

refusing  to  be  longer  considered  “women”  and  tearing 

off  the  “ petticoats”  put  upon  them  in  1720,  by  their 
insolent  conquerors  the  Six  Nations. 

The  Moravians  had  found  a   fruitful  field  among  the 

Delawares  of  Pennsylvania  and  they  naturally  looked 

to  the  settlements  of  the  tribes  west  of  the  Ohio.  Post, 

moreover,  had  seen  much  of  these  people  in  his  diplo- 
matic errands  to  the  Ohio  for  the  provincial  authorities. 

He  chose  for  the  site  of  his  proposed  mission  the  junc- 
ture of  the  Big  Sandy  and  the  Tuscarawas,  just  above 

the  present  town  of  Bolivar.  At  that  point  was  the 

ford,  on  the  line  of  the  great  Indian  trail,  running 

west  from  Fort  Pitt  to  Fort  Sandusky.  The  site  was 

close  to  the  Indian  capital  of  Tuscarawas,  a   Delaware 

village,  about  a   mile  down  the  river,  “at  which  at  that 
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time  the  greatest  chiefs  of  the  Nation  both  civil  and 

military  resided,  with  Tamaque  (or  Big  Beaver  as 

called  by  the  whites)  at  their  head”  says  the  narrative 
of  Heckewelder.  To  this  point  came  Post,  undaunted 

and  independent,  for  this  mission  was  personal  rather 

than  one  under  the  authority  of  the  church  board, 

and  here  he  erected,  on  the  banks  of  the  river,  a   rude 

cabin.  A   mile  distant  “   resides  a   trader,  named  Thomas 

Calhoun,  a   moral  and  religious  man.”  But  Post 
soon  found  he  could  not  conduct  a   mission  unaided. 

He  thought  of  his  young  and  promising  apprentice  and 

returning  to  Pennsylvania  secured  Heckewelder  as  his 
faithful  assistant. 

The  two  missionaries  met  at  Lititz,  in  March,  1762, 

and  together  they  started  for  the  Ohio  country,  on  a 

journey  that  was  to  take  them  six  weeks,  over  moun- 

tains clad  with  forests,  snow-clogged  and  ice-coated, 
across  swollen  streams  and  along  trails  that  often 

vanished  in  the  thick  tangle-wood  or  in  the  wash- 
ings of  overflowing  rivers.  Heckewelder  recounts  the 

trip  in  his  graphic,  descriptive  manner.  The  soli- 
tude of  the  forest  was  continually  broken  by  the 

howling  of  wolves  and  wild  beasts.  Stony  Creek  was 

crossed  by  the  use  of  sugar  troughs  as  canoes.  Brad- 

dock’s  field,  over  which  they  passed,  was  still  scattered 
with  the  skulls  and  bones  of  the  slain.  At  Fort  Pitt 

the  travelers  were  entertained  by  Colonel  Bouquet. 

The  Indians  ferried  them  over  the  Big  Beaver  River  and 

a   few  chickens  were  given  them  by  White  Eyes  later 

the  head  chief  of  the  Delawares.  On  the  nth  of  April 

(1762)  “we  arrived  at  Tuscarawas  [Town]  on  the  Musk- 

ingum and  we  entered  our  cabin  singing  a   hymn.” 
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Permission  was  obtained  from  the  Indians  to  clear 

a   patch  of  trees  and  make  a   garden.  Fish  and  game 

were  in  abundance  but  difficult  to  secure  and  “we 

lived  mostly  on  nettles ;   which  grew  abundantly  in  the 

bottoms  and  of  which  we  frequently  made  two  meals 

a   day.”  The  diet  “ weakened  us  from  day  to  day.” 
The  Delaware  Indians  often  visited  them  and  gave 

Heckewelder  the  name  “Piselatuple,  ”   the  Turtle. 
But  now  an  interruption  presented  itself. 

Before  leaving  Philadelphia,  Post  had  promised  the 

governor  of  Pennsylvania  that  in  case  his  services  were 

needed  on  an  Indian  embassy  he  would  return  for 

duty.  The  emergency  arose.  The  western  Indians, 

especially  those  in  Northern  Ohio,  were  being  aroused 

by  Pontiac.  Post  was  summoned  by  the  governor  to 

act  in  an  Indian  conference  at  Lancaster.  Hecke- 

welder, then  a   lad  of  nineteen,  decided  to  remain  alone 

at  the  Tuscarawas  cabin.  He  tells  the  story  of  the 

result  in  his  own  modest  way,  but  it  is  a   narrative  of 

dramatic  realism.  To  assist  him  in  passing  the  time, 

Heckewelder  says,  “Post  left  me  a   number  of  old 
sermons  and  religious  books,  requesting  me  at  the 

same  time,  never  to  read  or  write  in  the  presence  of 

the  Indians,  and  even  conceal  the  books  from  their 

sight.”  The  Indians  were  suspicious  of  the  whites 
whom  they  saw  reading  and  writing,  especially  the 

latter,  believing  it  concerned  them  or  their  territory. 

“They  say  they  have  been  robbed  of  their  lands  by 

the  writing  of  the  whites.” 

Post  departed  and  Heckewelder’s  solitary  vigil  began. 
The  Indians  watched  him  with  suspicious  eyes.  His 

canoe  disappeared;  his  ammunition  gave  out;  the 
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vegetables  were  stolen  from  his  garden  by  passing 

lawless  traders;  he  became  destitute  of  food;  a   fever 

prostrated  his  strength  and  gloom  possessed  his  mind; 
he  could  not  leave  his  cabin  and  starvation  would 

have  ended  his  career  but  for  Calhoun,  his  neighbor, 

who  carried  him  to  his  quarters  and  relieved  his  dis- 
tress. The  Indians  became  more  hostile,  and  reported 

a   war  would  soon  break  out  between  the  English  and 

the  Indians  in  which  the  latter  would  be  aided  by 
the  French. 

Heckewelder’s  plight  was  indeed  that  of  the  ancient 
apostles  sent  forth  as  lambs  among  wolves,  carrying 

neither  purse  nor  script.  A   friendly  squaw  warned 

Calhoun  of  a   plot  against  the  life  of  the  missionary, 

whose  cabin,  in  his  absence,  had  been  looted.  Hecke- 

welder  fled  with  a   party  of  traders  bound  for  Pitts- 

burg. On  the  third  day  after  their  departure,  Hecke- 

welder’s  party  met  Post  and  the  Indian  agent,  Captain 
Alexander  McKee,  who  were  on  their  way  to  the 

Indian  country,  totally  ignorant  of  the  real  state  of 

affairs  on  the  Muskingum.  The  united  party  beat 

a   hasty  retreat  for  their  Pennsylvania  destinations, 

barely  escaping  a   band  of  Indians  returning  from  the 

warpath.  Heckewelder  reached  Bethlehem  in  Decem- 

ber (1762),  so  worn  with  privations,  and  haggard  from 

disease,  that  his  friends  failed  to  recognize  him.  His 

apprenticeship  as  a   missionary  had  indeed  been  a   test 

few  would  have  survived.  But  it  had  only  served  to 

fill  his  heart  with  greater  courage  and  more  passionate 

longing  to  labor  for  the  conversion  of  the  people  who 
had  thirsted  for  his  blood. 
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The  troublous  times  following  the  Pontiac  conspiracy- 
in  the  Ohio  country  have  been  described.  The  plan 
for  an  Ohio  mission  had  to  be  abandoned  for  a   more 

propitious  day  and  Heckewelder  intermitted  labor  at 

his  trade  with  lending  a   helping  hand  in  the  intercourse 
between  the  Indian  converts  and  the  home  church 

at  Bethlehem.  With  Post,  Zeisberger  and  others,  he 

made  missionary  tours  to  the  tribesmen  round  about, 

in  Pennsylvania  and  New  York,  conquering  obstacles 

and  facing  perils  that  only  further  enured  him  to  the 
work  of  his  life. 

Meanwhile  Zeisberger,  the  Paul  of  the  Bethlehem 

missionaries,  carried  the  Moravian  gospel  fearlessly 

and  zealously  into  the  Indian  centers,  establishing 

missionary  stations  and  making  many  converts,  as 

may  be  learned  from  his  own  narrations  and  those  of 

Heckewelder,  translated  from  the  manuscripts  in  the 

Moravian  Archives ;   and  also  from  the  “History  of  the 
the  Mission  of  the  United  Brethren  among  the  North 

American  Indians”  by  George  Henry  Loskiel,  a   German 
Moravian,  who  became  a   bishop  in  that  church  in  1802. 

His  history,  published  in  1794,  written  from  material 

mainly  furnished  him  by  Zeisberger,  is  one  of  the  lead- 
ing authorities  not  only  on  the  Moravian  Missions 

but  also  the  American  Indians. 

Zeisberger,  now  with  one  companion,  then  with 

another,  visited  Indian  villages  far  and  near,  at  many 

of  which,  remarkable  revivals  were  held,  bringing  many 

noted  chiefs,  as  well  as  their  followers,  into  the  fold. 

At  Machiwihilusing,  on  the  Susquehanna,  Papunhank, 

a   talented  Minsi  Delaware,  was  baptized;  he  later 

became  a   teacher  and  preacher  among  his  people, 
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greatly  aiding  Zeisberger,  founding  with  him  a   mission 

settlement  at  Friedenshiitten,  also  on  the  Susquehanna. 

Here  in  1765  a   great  revival  was  held,  to  which  came 

Mohawks,  Cayugas,  Senecas,  Onondagas,  Mohicans, 

Wampanoags,  Delawares,  Tutelas,  Tuscarawas  and 

Nanticokes;  “many  went  their  way  believing  and 

scattered  among  their  own  tribes  the  seed  of  truth.” 
We  cannot  follow  the  detail  of  the  indefatigable 

labors  and  signal  successes  of  Zeisberger  and  his 

assistants.  The  tide  of  Moravian  missions  gradually 

swept  westward  and  at  Goschochgung,  on  the  Alle- 
gheny River,  near  the  mouth  of  Canawagy  Creek,  an 

important  mission  was  located,  in  the  midst  of  a   des- 

perate and  depraved  class  of  Indians,  “a  den  of 

paganism,”  under  the  influence  of  blaspheming  sorcerers 

led  by  a   “ false  prophet”  called  Wangomen,  who  boldly 
endeavored  to  discomfit  Zeisberger  in  debate.  A 

bitter  controversy  arose;  the  village  was  thrown  into 

violent  dissension  and  the  life  of  Zeisberger  was  threat- 
jened.  But  the  intrepid  and  eloquent  missionary 

triumphed;  Wangomen  apologized  and  assisted  in  the 

ceremonies  by  which  Zeisberger  was  adopted  into  the 

Monsey  tribe  (of  Delawares).  This  “naturalization” 
s   took  place  at  Kaskaskunk,  the  residence  of  Pakanke,  a 

powerful  chief  of  the  Wolf  tribe  of  the  Delawares, 

,   then  a   warm  adherent  of  Zeisberger. 

One  of  the  most  distinguished  of  all  the  converts  of 

Zeisberger,  was  Glikkikan,  a   Delaware  warrior  and 

|   captain,  renowned  for  his  wisdom  and  oratory.  He 

,   had  formerly  opposed  and  by  his  arguments  silenced 

the  Jesuits  who  had  vainly  sought  to  convert  him  and 

ie  his  people.  He  at  first  met  Zeisberger  to  antagonize 



22 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

him  but  was  overcome  by  the  persuasive  powers  of 

the  preacher,  accepted  his  convincing  message,  was 

baptized,  and  until  his  tragic  death,  was  the  unswerving 

lieutenant  and,  much  of  the  time,  the  companion  of 

his  religious  teacher. 

In  the  Spring  of  1770,  numbers  of  the  Christian 

Indians  left  the  missions  on  the  upper  Allegheny  and 

in  fifteen  canoes  glided  down  the  river,  passing  Fort 

Pitt,  and  swinging  into  the  waters  of  the  Ohio.  They 

proceeded  to  the  confluence  of  the  Beaver,  up  which 

they  steered  beyond  its  rapids,  where  an  encampment 

of  bark-huts  was  erected.  The  encampment  was  soon 

changed  into  a   town,  named  by  Zeisberger,  Friedens- 
stadt.  Glikkikan  and  many  Moravian  Monseys  from  j 

Goschochgung  hastened  to  join  the  new  mission. 

And  now  Ohio  again  was  to  be  invaded,  this  time 

permanently.  It  was  ten  years  since  Post  built  his 

little  cabin  on  the  Tuscarawas,  for  it  was  now  March, 

1771,  when  Zeisberger  accompanied  by  Glikkikan,  and 

two  other  converted  chiefs,  all  mounted,  crossed  the 

Ohio,  and  after  six  days’  journey  reached  the  Tuscara- 
was, down  the  course  of  which  they  proceeded  to  the 

village  of  Gekelemukpechunk,  meaning,  “big  still 

water,”  site  of  New  Comerstown,  capital  of  the 
Delawares  and  seat  of  their  Grand  Council,  an  imposing 
village  of  a   hundred  log  huts. 

Here  presided  Netawatwees,  chief  of  the  Turtle 
tribe  of  Delawares  and  the  head  chief  of  the  Delaware 

nation,  one  of  the  ablest  rulers  this  people  ever  had 
and  under  whose  chiefdom  the  Delawares  had  migrated 
from  the  Delaware  to  the  Ohio.  He  had  fought  the 
English  in  the  French  and  Indian  War  and  was  afraid 
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to  meet  Colonel  Bouquet  in  1764,  when  summoned 

to  the  Colonel’s  quarters;  he  attempted  to  escape  in 
a   canoe  down  the  Muskingum  but  was  captured  by 

Bouquet’s  Indian  scouts  and  carried  before  the  Colonel 
who  deposed  him  from  office,  an  incident  related  in 

previous  pages.  As  soon  as  Bouquet  left  the  country 
the  tribe  council  reinstated  the  dethroned  chief  and  he 

thereafter  retained  his  office  till  his  death  (in  1776). 

Zeisberger  was  the  guest  of  Netawatwees,  who  intro- 
duced the  missionary  to  his  first  audience,  a   throng  of 

assembled  Delawares.  The  long-looked-for  day  for  the 

planting  of  a   mission  in  Ohio  had  come.  The  Bethle- 
hem authorities  assigned  Zeisberger  and  Heckewelder, 

hereafter  to  be  as  David  and  Jonathan  in  their  work, 

to  the  sacred  commission.  The  early  Spring  (1772) 

found  Zeisberger,  who  had  been  on  a   visit  to  Bethlehem, 

his  assistant,  Heckewelder  and  five  Indian  families, 

including  Glikkikan,  in  all  twenty-eight  persons,  on 
their  way  from  Fort  Pitt  to  the  Tuscarawas.  On  May 

3d,  Heckewelder  states,  the  Zeisberger  party  reached 

a   spot,  “   which  to  them  appeared  to  be  the  most  con- 

venient and  advantageous  for  a   missionary  settlement.  ” 

It  was,  says  Loskiel,  “a  large  tract  of  land  situated  not 
far  from  the  banks  of  the  Muskingum  (the  river  in  this 

locality  was  called  indiscriminately  Tuscarawas  and 

Muskingum)  about  thirty  miles  from  Gekelemuk- 
pechunk,  with  a   good  spring,  a   small  lake,  good  planting 

grounds,  much  game  and  many  other  conveniences  for 

the  support  of  a   colony.” 
Here  within  two  miles  of  the  Delaware  capital,  this 

unique  Christian  Indian  caravan  pitched  its  tents,  and 

in  recognition  of  the  “ beautiful  spring”  distinguishing 
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the  locality,  they  called  the  place  Schoenbrunn,  in  the 

Indian  tongue  Welhek-Tuppeek.  Netawatwees  ap- 

proved the  selection,  welcomed  the  Christian  immi- 
grants, mostly  his  own  nation,  to  his  tribal  country, 

for  he  had  earnestly  invited  them  to  come,  when  Zeis- 

berger  was  his  guest  the  year  before,  and  the  generous 

chieftain  sealed  his  good  faith  in  the  matter  by  making 

an  ample  grant  of  land  to  the  Moravians  for  the  mission 

colonists,  in  the  vicinity  of  the  “ beautiful  spring.” 
The  village  was  wisely  planned  with  wide,  regular 

streets,  crossing  each  other  at  right  angles;  and  quickly 

the  little  log-hewn  homes,  the  mission-chapel  and  the 

school-house,  doubtless  the  first  erected  in  Ohio, 

sprang  up  from  the  cleared  spaces,  to  the  swinging 

axes  and  resounding  songs  of  the  rejoicing  strangers 

in  the  wilderness  that  was  to  be  their  abiding  place  for 

life  and  their  final  sepulchre. 
Faithful  converts  from  the  eastern  Indian  missions 

joined  the  Ohio  community,  which  grew  apace  with 

tilth  and  thrift.  Upon  the  genuine  zeal  and  consistent 

purpose  of  these  regenerated  tribesmen  there  is  no 

better  commentary  than  the  laws  adopted  to  govern 

their  religious  life  and  social  conduct.  They  were  to 

know  no  other  God  but  the  one  only  true  God,  who 
made  us  all  and  all  creatures  and  came  into  this  world 

in  order  to  save  sinners,  to  Him  alone  will  we  pray; 

we  will  rest  from  work  on  the  Lord’s  Day  and  attend 
public  service;  we  will  honor  father  and  mother,  and 

when  they  grow  old  and  needy  we  will  do  for  them 

what  we  can;  we  will  have  nothing  to  do  with  thieves, 

murderers,  whoremongers,  adulterers  or  drunkards ; 

we  will  not  take  part  in  dances,  sacrifices,  heathenish 



ZEISBERGER  PREACHING  TO  THE  INDIANS 

David  Zeisberger,  the  Moravian  Missionary,  preaching 

to  the  Ohio  Indians,  on  the  banks  of  the  Muskingum.  A 

reproduction  of  the  engraving  of  the  original  painting  now 

hanging  in  the  Chapel  of  the  Moravian  College,  Bethlehem, 
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festivals  or  games;  we  will  be  obedient  to  our  teachers, 

etc. ;   we  will  not  be  idle,  nor  scold,  nor  beat  one  another, 

nor  tell  lies;  whoever  injures  the  property  of  his 

neighbor  shall  make  restitution;  and  man  shall  have 

but  one  wife — shall  love  her  and  provide  for  her  and 
his  children;  a   woman  shall  have  but  one  husband,  be 

obedient  to  him,  care  for  her  children,  and  be  cleanly 

in  all  things;  we  will  not  admit  rum  nor  any  other 

intoxicating  liquor  into  our  towns;  if  strangers  or 

traders  bring  intoxicating  liquor,  the  helpers  shall 
take  it  from  them  and  not  restore  it  until  the  owners 

are  ready  to  leave  the  place;  we  will  not  go  to  war  and 

will  not  buy  anything  of  warriors,  taken  in  war. 

There  were  many  other  rules  of  like  but  lesser  import. 

Schoenbrunn  was  indeed  an  historic  spot;  for  there 

were  sown  the  first  seeds  of  the  protestant  religion, 

in  the  Ohio  country  or  the  Northwest  Territory; 

happy  and  prosperous  were  these  Indian  disciples 

working  out  the  problems  of  religion  and  civilization: 

“How  bright  were  the  waters — how  cheerful  the  song, 
Which  the  wood-bird  was  chirping  all  the  day  long; 

And  how  welcome  the  refuge  their  solitudes  gave, 
To  the  pilgrims  who  toiled  over  the  mountain  and  wave: 

Here  they  rested — here  gush’d  forth  salvation  to  bring, 
The  fount  of  the  Cross,  by  the  ‘   Beautiful  Spring.  ’   ” 

In  the  Fall  of  the  same  year  (1772)  a   band  of  Chris- 
tian Indians,  of  the  Mohican  tribe,  from  the  Moravian 

center  at  Friedensstadt  (Pa.)  emigrated  to  the  Mus- 
kingum, under  the  leadership  of  an  Indian  preacher 

called  Joshua,  whose  baptism,  in  the  year  1742,  is  said 

by  Loskiel  to  have  been  one  of  the  first  among  the 

Moravian  conversions.  The  site  selected  for  settle- 

ment by  Joshua  and  his  followers  was  some  ten  miles 
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from  Schoenbrunn,  down  and  upon  the  Muskingum 

River.  They  named  this  second  hearth  of  the  Moravian 

faith  in  Ohio,  Gnadenhutten,  signifying  the  “   Tents  of 

Grace,  ”   the  scene,  some  ten  years  later  of  the  bloodiest 
martyrdom  in  American  history.  In  the  fair  valley  of 

the  Muskingum  there  arose  other  Moravian  communi- 
ties, as  Lichtenau  and  Salem,  of  which  mention  will 

be  made  later. 

A   rare  and  faithful  glimpse  of  these  first  settlements 

at  Schoenbrunn  and  Gnadenhutten  is  given  us  in  the 

Journal  “of  two  visits  to  the  nations  of  Indians  on  the 

west  side  of  the  River  Ohio  in  the  years  1772  and  1773,  ” 
by  the  Rev.  David  Jones,  a   Baptist  minister  of  the 

Gospel  at  Freehold,  N.  J. 

Mr.  Jones  was  a   keen  and  animated  observer  and 

wielded  a   ready  pen.  He  discourses  at  much  length 

on  the  genius,  government,  customs,  diversions  and 

religion  of  the  Ohio  Indians,  which  adds  a   peculiar 

value  to  his  diary.  In  his  second  “visit”  he  proceeds 
from  Fort  Pitt,  by  the  Ohio,  to  the  mouth  of  the  Sciota 

(Scioto),  so  called  by  the  Shawnees  as  the  word  meant 

“Hairy  River,”  because  along  its  course  the  “deers 
were  so  plenty,  that  in  the  vernal  season,  when  they  ;; 

came  to  drink,  the  stream  would  be  thick  of  hairs.”  1 
Up  that  Sciota,  Jones  paddled  or  poled  his  canoe;  he 

reached  Paint  Creek,  called  by  the  Indians,  Alamonee- 
theepeece,  on  some  branches  of  which  were  situated  the 

chief  towns  of  the  Shawnees;  stopped  at  Pikaweeke, 

consisting  “of  about  one  hundred  souls,  being  a 
mixture  of  Shawnees  and  other  nations,  the  most 

remarkable  town  for  robbers  and  villains,  yet  it  pre- 
tends to  have  its  chief  men,  who  are  indeed  very 
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scoundrels,  guilty  of  theft  and  robbery  without  any 

apology  or  redress;”  breakfasted  with  the  “King” 

on  fat  buffalo,  beavers’  tails  and  chocolate;  arrived  at 

“   Chillicaathe,  ”   chief  town  of  the  Shawannee  Indians, 
situated  north  of  a   large  plain  adjacent  to  a   branch  of 

Paint  Creek;  describes  “old  fortifications”  evidently 

the  works  of  Mound  Builders;  meets  “one  James 
Gerty,  [Girty]  who  was  well  acquainted  with  their 

[Indian]  language,  but  a   stranger  to  religion;”  Girty 
refuses  to  interpret  for  Mr.  Jones  while  he  preaches; 

leaves  Sciota  country  and  goes  east  to  Muskingum 

River,  passing  Little  Shawannee  Woman’s  Town  and 

Captain  White  Eye’s  Town;  reached  New-Comer’s 
Town,  chief  town  of  the  Delawares,  one  hundred  and 

thirty  miles  from  Chillicaathee;  New-Comer’s  Town 
takes  its  name  from  the  King  called  Neetotwhealemon — 
new  comer,  it  is  on  the  Muskingum;  here  met  Joseph 

Peappi,  a   Moravian  Indian,  “who  is  a   good  interpre- 

ter.” 
Here  Jones  desired  to  preach  to  the  Delawares  but 

a   great  feast  was  in  progress  and  the  “King”  refused 
Mr.  Jones  permission  to  preach  till  the  dancing  and 

gaming  was  ended,  which  would  not  be  for  many  days; 

“to  improve  present  time  concluded  to  visit  the  Mora- 

vian towns.”  Of  his  visit  to  Schoenbrunn,  we  let 
Mr.  Jones  speak  entirely  for  himself: 

“Sabbath,  14  (January)  in  company  with  Mr. 
Duncan,  set  out,  but  by  reason  of  ice,  arrived  not  to  it 

till  afternoon.  When  we  came,  worship  was  finishing; 

the  minister  continued  but  a   few  sentences,  which 

were  spoken  by  him  in  the  English  tongue,  an  inter- 
preter giving  the  meaning  to  the  Indians.  This  town 
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is  situated  on  high  level  land  east  side  of  Muskingum, 

about  ten  miles  up  the  stream  from  New-Comer’s 
Town.  It  is  laid  out  in  regular  form — houses  are 
built  on  each  side  of  the  street.  These  Indians  moved 

here  about  August,  1772,  and  have  used  such  frugality, 

that  they  have  built  neat  log  houses  to  dwell  in,  and 

a   good  house  for  divine  worship,  about  twenty-two 

feet  by  eighteen,  well  seated,  and  a   good  floor  and 

chimney.  They  are  a   mixture  of  Stock-Bridge,  Mingo, 
and  Delaware  Indians.  Since  the  last  war  their  chief 

residence  has  been  about  Wioming.  Their  conduct 

in  time  of  worship  is  praise-worthy.  Their  grave  and 
solemn  countenances  exceed  what  is  commonly  seen 

among  us  at  such  times.  Their  minister,  the  Rev. 

David  Siezberger,  seems  an  honest  man,  a   native  of 

Moravia,  nor  has  he  been  many  years  in  this  country. 

He  has  been  successful  among  these  poor  heathens, 

condescending  for  their  sake  to  endure  hardships. 

While  I   was  present  he  used  no  kind  of  prayer,  which 

was  not  pleasing  to  me,  therefore  asked  him  if  that 

was  their  uniform  practice.  He  replied  that  some  times 

prayer  was  used.  Their  worship  began  and  ended  with 

singing  an  hymn  in  the  Indian  language,  which  was 

performed  melodiously.  In  the  evening  they  met  again 

for  worship,  but  their  minister,  inadvertently  or  by 

design,  spoke  in  the  German  language,  so  that  by  me 

nothing  was  understood.  Mr.  Siezberger  told  me  that 

near  eighty  families  belong  to  their  two  towns,  and 
there  were  two  ministers  besides  himself.  I   was 

informed  that  one  of  them,  whose  name  is  Youngman, 

is  a   person  of  good  abilities.  By  what  appeared,  must 

say,  that  the  conduct  of  the  Moravian  society  towards 
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the  heathen  is  commendable.  They  have  behaved 

like  Christians  indeed,  while  most  of  other  societies 

have  altogether  neglected,  or  in  general  made  but 

faint  attempts.  *   *   *   In  the  evening,  informed  Mr. 
Seizberger,  that  it  would  gratify  me  to  preach  to  his 

Indians.  He  replied  with  some  appearance  of  indif- 
ference, that  an  opportunity  might  be  had  in  the 

morning.  ’Tis  probable  he  was  a   little  afraid  to  coun- 
tenance me,  lest  some  disciples  might  be  made;  than 

which,  nothing  was  more  foreign  from  my  intention. 

Or  his  reservedness  may  be  ascribed  to  his  natural 

disposition.  ” 
On  the  following  day,  Monday,  Mr.  Jones  did  preach, 

Joseph  Peappi,  interpreting  for  him.  He  gives  a 

synopsis  of  the  sermon,  which  was  simple,  direct  and 

decidedly  orthodox.  Returning  to  New-Comer’s  Town 

he  met  and  conversed  with  Captain  Killbuck,  “who 

is  a   sensible  Indian,”  has  “the  complaisance  of  a 

gentleman  and  speaks  good  English;  *   *   *   In  our 
discourse  he  told  me,  that  some  years  since,  two  Pres- 

byterian ministers  visited  them — that  they  did  not 
incline  to  encourage  their  continuance,  yet  their  visit 

had  such  effect,  that  they  had  been  thinking  it  over 

since.  He  said,  that  they  intended  to  have  both  a 

minister  and  schoolmaster,  but  would  not  have  Pres- 
byterians, because  their  ministers  went  to  war  against 

them,  and  therefore  did  not  like  to  be  taught  by  them 

now,  who  were  before  for  killing  them.” 
On  the  other  hand  Killbuck  did  not  seem  to  favor 

the  Moravians  remarking  that  they  were  from  Ger- 

many, and  “did  not  belong  to  our  (English)  kingdom;” 
nor  would  the  Moravians  fight,  hence  were  useless  as 
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allies  in  time  of  war.  Captain  Killbuck,  who  seemed 

quite  loquacious  in  the  presence  of  Mr.  Jones,  further 

added  the  Indians  intended  to  go  to  England  and  see 

the  King  and  “tell  him  that  they  would  be  of  the  same 
religion  as  he  is  and  would  desire  a   minister  and  school- 

master of  his  own  choosing that  they  had  raised 

forty  pounds  for  the  purpose  and  had  selected  himself, 

Killbuck,  and  Swallowhead  as  messengers  on  this 

errand  to  Sir  William  Johnson.  Mr.  Jones  offers  the 

suggestion  that  “the  service  of  the  Church  of  England, 
as  it  now  stands,  will  never  be  prescribed  for  Indians, 

for  nothing  would  disgust  them  more  than  to  have  a 

religion,  which  would  consume  the  greater  part  of 

life  only  to  learn  ceremonies.  ” 
An  examination  of  Killbuck  by  Mr.  Jones  as  to  the 

religious  belief  of  the  Indians  brought  out  the  acknowl- 

edgment that  they  believed  “in  a   God  who  created 

all  things that  “they  believed  that  when  any  person 
died,  their  soul  went  to  a   happy  state  or  to  a   state  of 

misery.  ” 
Mr.  Jones  closes  his  interviews  with  Killbuck  by 

commenting:  “These  (Delaware)  Indians  are  not 
defective  in  natural  abilities,  and  their  long  acquaint- 

ance with  us,  has  given  some  of  them  better  notions 

than  many  other  savages.  They  are  as  void  of  civil 

government  as  the  Shawannees.  Their  virtues  are 

but  few,  their  vices  near  the  same  with  other  Indians. 

*   *   *   Neither  these  nor  the  Shawannees  claim  any 
distinct  property  in  lands,  looking  on  it  that  God  made 

it  free  for  all.  Nor  could  I   understand  that  they  have 

any  fixed  bounds  to  a   nation,  esteeming  it  chiefly  useful 

for  hunting.  Providence  seems  to  point  out  the  civiliz- 
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in g   of  these  Indians;  for  a   farming  life  will  lead  to  laws, 

learning,  and  government,  to  secure  property.  *   *   * 

’Tis  a   little  surprising  that  Protestants  should  be  so 
neglectful  of  the  Indians;  and  in  common  there  is  no 

concern  appears  among  them,  about  civilizing  the 

many  nations,  that  are  yet  rude  savages:  while  on 

the  other  hand,  the  French  Papists  have  been  very 

[   industrious  to  instill  their  principles  into  the  minds  of 
such  as  were  contiguous  to  them,  and  with  some 

success.  The  Waindots  [Wyandots]  are  a   little  tainted, 

but  might,  ’tis  probable,  be  easily  better  informed,  and 

especially  as  the  French  are  in  a   manner  expelled.” 
And  here  for  the  present,  we  leave  the  Indian  con- 

verts to  work  out,  under  their  Moravian  teachers, 

their  lessons  of  faith  and  good  work,  while  we  turn 

our  attention  to  stirring  events  in  another  quarter. 



I 



Chapter  II. 

THE  OHIO  INDIAN  CONFEDERACY 





THE  American  Indian  was  not  merely  a   warrior. He  was  a   wily  politician  and  at  times  a   far- 
sighted statesman.  He  instinctively  realized 

the  potency  of  the  maxim  “in  union  there 

is  strength.”  We  have  seen  with  what  tremendous 
results  he  employed  this  principle  in  the  case  of  the 

Six  Nation  Confederacy,  and  how  Pontiac  invoked 

it  in  the  carrying  out  of  his  vast  conspiracy.  The 

Ohio  tribes,  long  the  enemy  and  more  or  less  the 

dependents  of  the  haughty  and  overbearing  Iroquois 
resolved  to  make  the  Ohio  wilderness  the  scene  of 

another  attempt  at  centralization  of  savage  power, 

such  as  would  surpass  all  other  similar  efforts. 

At  the  outset,  let  us  clearly  understand  the  political 

geography  of  the  savage  empire  of  the  Ohio  tribes,  at 

the  time  of  which  we  are  to  speak.  We  have  already 

located  the  Delawares  on  the  Muskingum  and  the 

territory  extending  east  to  the  Ohio  River.  In  this 

section  however  were  also  bands  of  the  Mingo  tribe, 

or  Mengwe,  a   term  given  them  by  the  Iroquois  and 

meaning  “treacherous,”  a   sort  of  subdivision  of  the 
Cayugas.  They  settled  mainly  on  the  Ohio,  their 

|   headquarters  being  a   few  miles  below  Steubenville, 
at  Mingo  Town,  mouth  of  Beaver  Creek,  where  resides 

their  illustrious  chief  Tahgahjute,  meaning  “his  eye- 

lashes stick  out,”  as  if  looking  through  or  over  some- 
thing, spying,  or  shrewd,  but  renowned  under  the 

name  of  Logan.  He  came  to  Mingo  Town  from  his 

Pennsylvania  home  in  1770  and  seems  to  have  remained 

there  until  early  in  1773,  when  he  removed  temporarily 

to  the  mouth  of  Yellow  Creek,  where  he  established 

a   hunting  camp.  In  the  early  part  of  1774,  he  trans- 
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ferred  his  dwelling  to  Old  Chillicothe  (Westfall)  on 

the  west  bank  of  the  Scioto,  in  what  was  known  as  the 

Darby  Plains.  In  his  Chillicothe  cabin  he  was  not 

distant  from  his  people  for  higher  up  on  the  same  river, 

at  the  Forks  of  the  Scioto,  juncture  of  the  Olentangy 

— as  then  known,  now  the  Big  Darby, — present  site  of 
Circleville,  the  Mingoes  had  made  village  settlements, 

shortly  after  the  French  and  Indian  War.  They  also 

had  scattering  habitats  on  the  Sandusky  and  were  there- 

fore often  called  the  “ Senecas  of  the  Sandusky,”  being 
erroneously  credited  to  the  Seneca  tribe. 

North  of  the  Delawares  from  the  regions  of  the 

headwaters  of  the  Tuscarawas  and  the  Cuyahoga  to 

the  mouth  of  the  latter  and  east  along  the  southern 

shores  of  Erie  were  various  bands  of  the  Iroquois 

tribes,  mainly  of  the  Seneca  and  Tuscarawas  nations, 

but  their  occupancy  was  temporary  in  character,  being 

chiefly  for  hunting  purposes. 

West  of  the  Cuyahoga,  in  the  valley  of  the  Sandusky 

particularly,  were  the  chief  towns  of  the  Wyandots, 

but  they  spread  in  scattered  dwellings  from  Lake 

Erie  to  the  Ohio,  with  villages  on  the  course  of  the 

Hocking  and  also  along  the  southern  shores  of  Erie 

to  the  Maumee.  They  were  a   brave  and  noble  people. 

In  the  same  northern  region  were  the  Ottawas,  their 

villages  being  indiscriminately  located  with  those  of 

the  Wyandots,  indeed  members  of  these  two  tribes 

often  pitched  their  wigwams  side  by  side. 

The  powerful  tribe  of  the  Miamis  had  for  their 

habitat  the  valleys  of  the  great  Miami  and  the  Maumee. 

They  claimed  to  be  the  original  proprietors  of  the  lands 

they  occupied;  asserting  that  they  had  always  retained 



OF  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 
37 

them.  In  1763,  however,  they  left  their  homes  on  the 

Miami,  abandoning  their  chief  town  Piqua,  and  settling 
on  the  Maumee. 

The  Mingoes  likewise  had  settlements  along  up  the 

Scioto  as  far  north  as  the  mouth  of  the  river  formerly 

called  the  Whetstone,  now  known  as  the  Olentangy. 

Much  confusion  arises  among  writers,  as  to  the  locations 

on  the  Scioto  relative  to  the  Olentangy — a   confusion 
owing  to  the  transference  of  the  name  Olentangy  or 

Ollentangy  from  one  river  to  another.  The  river 

known  as  the  Big  Darby,  which  rises  in  Logan  county 

and  empties  into  the  west  side  of  the  Scioto,  at  present 

site  of  Circleville,  was  originally  known  to  the  Indians 

as  the  Ollentangy.  In  the  later  pioneer  settlement 

days  it  became  known  as  the  (Big)  Darby,  while  the 

river,  flowing  from  two  head  streams,  its  east  and  west 

branches,  rising  in  the  north  of  the  state,  formed  a 

river  known  to  the  Indians  as  Keenhongsheconsepung, 

which  later  became  known  to  the  pioneers  as  the 

Whetstone,  and  which  enters  the  Scioto  from  the 

northeast  at  the  present  site  of  Columbus.  In  1833 

the  Ohio  Legislature  undertook  to  restore  the  Indian 

names  of  many  Ohio  rivers  and  made  the  mistake  of 

“restoring”  the  name  Olentangy  to  the  Whetstone  in- 
stead of  to  the  Big  Darby.  Hence  events,  in  early 

Indian  days,  spoken  of  as  occurring  at  or  near  the 

juncture  of  the  Olentangy  and  the  Scioto  should  be 
located  at  Circleville  rather  than  at  Columbus.  This 

same  act  of  the  legislature,  among  other  changes,  de- 

clared that  the  “main  west  branch  of  the  Muskingum, 

commonly  called  the  White  Woman,”  should  thereafter 
be  known  by  the  Indian  name  Walhonding. 



38 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

But  the  tribe  that  shall  from  now  on  be  most  constant 

and  conspicuous  in  the  eye  of  history  is  the  Shawnee, 

the  most  remarkable  of  all  the  people  inhabiting  the 

region  east  of  the  Mississippi.  We  have  already,  in 

previous  pages,  spoken  of  their  origin,  their  character, 

wanderings  and  warrior  triumphs.  They  have  been 

called  the  “ Spartans  of  their  Race,”  and  the  “ Bedouins 

of  the  American  Wilderness,”  for  their  bands  were 
found  on  the  banks  of  the  Mississippi;  in  the  Valley  of 

the  Shenandoah;  on  the  hunting  grounds  of  Kentucky; 

on  the  Mobile  River,  in  New  Spain;  on  the  Congaree 

in  South  Carolina;  on  the  Cumberland  and  the  Tennes- 

see; in  the  Valley  of  the  Susquehanna  and  they  even 
followed  the  river  courses  of  the  Illinois  and  Wisconsin. 

But  gradually  the  Shawnees  gravitated  to  the  inland 

rivers  of  Ohio,  particularly  the  Scioto,  at  the  mouth  of 

which  they  at  first  built  their  principal  town;  in  time 

they  moved  up  stream  to  the  “ Pickaway  Plains,”  the 

“wilderness  garden”  of  the  Scioto  Valley,  where 
they  located  their  chief  settlements.  There  they  were 

to  gather  and  their  wanderings  were  to  cease. 

The  Pickaway  Plains  may  be  designated  as  the  sec- 
tion lying  between  the  Scioto  on  the  west,  Salt  Creek 

on  the  east  and  extending  north  and  south  between 

lines  which  would  run  east  and  west  through  Circle- 
ville  and  Chillicothe  respectively.  This  rich  bottom 

land,  the  most  fertile  in  Ohio,  was  the  favorite  location 

of  the  prehistoric  Mound  Builders,  as  well  as  the  most 

historic  field  of  the  Ohio  Indians.  In  this  plain  on 

Scippo  Creek,  just  north  of  where  it  is  entered  by 

Congo  Creek  was  Grenadier  Squaw’s  Town,  a   wigwam 
center  thus  named  from  a   Shawnee  woman  of  great 
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muscular  strength  and  superior  intellect.  She  was 

the  sister  of  the  one,  who  at  that  time,  was  the  ablest 
and  most  influential  chief  of  his  nation.  That  one 

was  Keightughqua,  signifying  a   blade  or  stalk  of  the 

maize,  hence  the  cornstalk,  or  chief  support  of  his 

people  and  who  was  therefore  known  to  the  whites  as 

Cornstalk,  in  early  works  sometimes  written  Comstock. 

As  we  learn  from  the  Draper  manuscripts  in  the 

Wisconsin  Historical  Society  library,  Cornstalk  was 

born,  about  1720,  in  one  of  the  Scioto  towns  of  the 

Shawnees  and  first  appears  in  historical  annals  as  a 

leader  of  the  Shawnee  bands  in  their  forays  into  the 

interior  settlements  of  Virginia  during  and  after  the 

French  and  Indian  War  and  Pontiac’s  War.  At  the 
head  of  his  fearless  followers,  Cornstalk  in  his  raids, 

crossed  the  Ohio,  penetrated  the  Greenbrier  regions 

and  scaled  the  Alleghany  Mountains,  murdering  the 

inhabitants  and  plundering  the  white  settlements  in 

the  heart  of  the  Shenandoah  Valley.  Many  were 

the  captives  he  carried  from  the  Virginia  backwoods 

dwellings  to  the  Shawnee  towns  on  the  Scioto.  He 

was  one  of  the  hostages  retained  by  Colonel  Bouquet 

(1764)  and  carried  to  Fort  Pitt  from  which  he  escaped 

and  returned  to  his  people.  Cornstalk  is  described 

as  a   large  man,  of  commanding  appearance  and  pos- 

sessed of  “ oratorical  ability  and  intellectual  grasp.” 

His  capital,  called  Cornstalk’s  Town,  was  on  the  north 

bank  of  Scippo  Creek,  a   short  distance  from  his  sister’s 
village.  The  Shawnees,  it  will  thus  be  seen,  occupied 

geographical  advantage  ground  in  Ohio,  and  the  politi- 
cal center.  They  boasted  they  could  put  in  the  field  a 

thousand  warriors. 
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Such  in  general  was  the  Indian  situation  in  Ohio  in 

the  Fall  of  1770;  and  while  the  canoes  of  Washington, 

in  his  voyage  down  the  Ohio,  were  gently  riding  the 

current  of  the  majestic  river,  the  Indians  up  the  trib- 
utary Ohio  valleys,  and  especially  the  Shawnees  on 

the  Pickaway  Plains,  were  busy  with  “enterprises  of 

great  pith  and  moment;”  none  other  than  plans  for  an 
invincible  confederation. 

Since  the  French  and  Indian  War  the  Ohio  Indians 

had  watched  with  increasing  apprehension  the  influx 

into  their  territory  of  traders  and  prospectors;  they 

liked  not,  nor  had  they  acquiesced  in,  the  Stanwix 

Treaty,  for  they  denied  the  right  of  the  Six  Nations 

to  convey  to  the  English  a   title  to  all  hunting  grounds 

south  of  the  Ohio;  the  haughtiness  and  highhandedness 

of  the  Iroquois  aroused  their  anger  and  their  jealousy, 

and  gradually  the  Ohio  tribes  grew  stronger  in  reciprocal 

sympathy,  and  more  and  more  they  recognized  the 

necessity  of  mutual  plan  and  action.  They  would 

form  a   great  and  all-powerful  confederacy  that  should 

surpass  the  prowess  of  the  Iroquois,  their  racial  masters, 
and  that  should  hurl  back  from  their  frontiers  the 

invading  white  foe.  For  our  knowledge  of  their 

gigantic  scheme  and  the  movements  to  put  it  into 

effect  we  rely  mainly  upon  the  correspondence  between 

Sir  William  Johnson  and  his  home  government  supe-  1 

riors,  the  Earl  of  Hillsborough,  and  his  successor  (in 

1772)  the  Earl  of  Dartmouth,  successively  secretaries 

in  the  British  cabinet  for  American  affairs;  a   corre- 

spondence published  in  the  New  York  Colonial  Docu- 
ments. 
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Johnson’s  watchful  ear  had  caught  the  whisperings, 
flitting  from  tribe  to  tribe,  concerning  this  proposed 

alliance  and  its  far-reaching  purpose.  The  word  had 

been  passed  along  that  a   congress  would  be  called,  at 

the  opportune  time,  on  the  Pickaway  Plains.  As  early 

as  the  Summer  of  1770  the  Baronet  of  Johnson  Hall 

wrote  the  Earl  in  London  that  he  had  “taken  measures 

to  be  informed  as  early  as  possible  with  the  proceedings 

and  issues  of  the  Congress,  which  they  are  about  this 

time  to  hold  at  the  great  plain  of  Sioto  (Scioto)  near 

the  Ohio,  where  some  are  endeavoring  to  form  a 

confederacy  for  many  bad  purposes,  secretly  counte- 

nanced and  supported  by  French  traders,  renegades 

and  all  those  Indians  who  have  not  hitherto  been 

heartily  attached  to  the  English,  but  with  wonderful 

art,  have  for  a   time  past  endeavored  to  shake  the 

fidelity  of  the  Six  nations,  through  the  means  of  some 

of  the  Seneca  towns,  who  are  most  dissatisfied  with 

our  (English)  conduct.” 
The  first  Congress  of  the  various  tribes  met  at  the 

Shawnee  headquarters  in  the  late  Summer  or  early 

Fall  of  1770.  There  was  no  stenographer  present  to 

record  the  proceedings,  not  even  a   newspaper  corre- 

spondent to  make  note  of  the  salient  features  and  sensa- 

tionally print  them  as  “exclusively  appearing”  in  his 
enterprising  daily.  To  the  reader  of  history  that 

council  sat  behind  closed  doors  in  executive  session. 

William  Johnson,  however,  sums  up  the  result,  as 

he  obtained  it,  in  a   letter  to  the  Earl  of  Hillsborough, 

written  in  February,  1771;  “the  advices  I   now  have 
received  enable  me  to  acquaint  you  that  the  Great 

Council  lately  held  at  the  Plains  of  the  Scioto  is  ended; 
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that  the  design  and  endeavors  of  the  Indians  in  that 

quarter  was  to  promote  such  a   Union  as  I   before 

apprehended  and  endeavored  with  all  possible  caution 

to  obstruct.  ” 
The  Baronet  then  continues  at  some  length  to  state 

that  the  Congress  dissolved  “   after  many  debates  in 
general  resolutions  for  promoting  peace  amongst  all 

the  nations  as  a   necessary  introduction  to  a   more  strict 

alliance  between  the  Northern  and  Southern  people,” 
that  is  the  Ohio  Indians  and  the  tribes  of  the  South. 

The  ulterior  purpose  of  the  proposed  confederacy  was 

not  at  this  first  Congress  sufficiently  divulged.  Evi-  ! 

dently  the  Ohio  tribes  hoped  for  an  alliance  with  the 

Long  House  of  New  York,  that  all  nations  in  solid 

union  might  be  massed  against  the  English.  Johnson, 

who  had  great  influence  with  the  Iroquois  and  was 

addressed  by  them  as  Brother  Warraghiyagey,  “   Mana- 

ger of  Affairs,”  put  forth  every  effort  to  retain  the 
Six  Nations  steadfast  to  the  Crown  and  in  accordance 

with  that  purpose  he  held  a   council  with  their  repre- 

sentatives at  the  German  Flats.  That  he  might  influ- 
ence the  Ohio  Indians  and  at  the  same  time  become 

thoroughly  informed  as  to  their  projects  and  progress 

he  sent  an  Indian  chief  known  as  Thomas  King,  and 

one  Anawaske,  next  in  authority,  with  Nickaroondase, 

and  several  young  Indians,  as  an  embassy  to  the  Ohio 

country  “with  ample  powers  for  restoring  peace  and 

effectively  checking  all  those  who  would  disturb  us.” 
It  was  in  the  Summer  of  1771  that  Thomas  King  with 

his  retinue  met  “all  the  nations  at  Scioto  and  first 

addressed  the  Shawnees  whom  he  upbraided  for  return- 

ing so  far  down  the  Ohio  and  for  confederating  with 
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other  people  unmindful  of  their  engagements.  *   *   *   The 
Shawnees  answered  that  the  Six  Nations  had  long 

seemed  to  neglect  them  and  to  disregard  the  promises 

they  formerly  made,  of  giving  them  the  lands  between 

the  Ohio  and  the  Lakes;  that  thus  distressed  they 

went  on  board  their  canoes,  determined  to  go  whither- 
soever fortune  should  drive  them,  but  were  stopped 

many  years  ago  at  Scioto  by  the  Six  Nations  who  took 

them  by  the  hands  and  fixed  them  there,  charging 

them  to  live  in  peace  with  the  English.  *   *   *   The 
Shawnees  and  the  representatives  of  other  nations 

present,  then  showed  some  emblematical  belts  repre- 
senting themselves  and  the  Illinois  Indians  in  alliance 

with  ten  other  confederate  Nations.” 

At  the  gathering,  apparently  the  second  Congress, 

or  second  session  in  the  promotion  of  the  Confederacy, 

there  were  present  representatives  from  the  far  western 

tribes,  Potawattomies,  Kickapoos,  etc.,  and  from  the 

South,  Catawbas,  Creeks,  Chickesaws  and  Cherokees. 

It  was  an  international  or  rather  inter-tribal  game  of 

diplomacy  with  all  the  white  man’s  embellishments  of 
bravado  and  duplicity.  William  Johnson  strove  to  play 

the  Iroquois  powder  against  the  proposed  Ohio  confeder- 
acy and  in  this  he  did  not  labor  in  vain.  The  Six  Nations 

naturally  regarded  an  Ohio  confederacy  with  jealousy  if 

not  open  hostility,  and  their  alleged  representative,  in 

the  complicated  negotiations,  appears  in  the  person  of 

Gaustarax  or  Agastarax,  a   Seneca  chief  with  head- 
quarters at  Chenussio  Town  (Geneseo,  N.  Y.).  He 

appeared  among  the  Ohio  tribes  and  proposed  “to  re- 
move the  door  of  the  Six  Nations  which  was  formerly 

at  his  village,  Chenussio,  down  to  the  Scioto  plains.” 
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This  was  evidently  an  act  of  cajolery  or  menace, 

perhaps  a   mingling  of  both,  to  induce  the  Ohio  tribes 

to  desist  in  their  proposed  union.  Under  an  alarm, 

real  or  assumed,  the  Shawnees  sent  by  Agastarax, 

belts  of  peace  and  amity  to  strengthen  their  union 

with  the  Six  Nations,  but  they  never  received  any 

answer  thereto,  for  Agastarax  never  delivered  the 

emblems  of  friendship. 

Meanwhile  in  July,  1771,  William  Johnson  summoned 

a   council  of  the  Six  Nations  at  Johnson  Hall.  The 

purpose  of  this  was  to  further  influence  the  Long  House 

against  any  Ohio  alliance,  also  to  imbue  the  New  York 
braves  with  the  idea  that  the  Ohio  tribes  should  be 

held  in  friendly  relationship.  This  council  was  attended 

by  three  hundred  and  fifty  representatives,  including 

Iroquois  chiefs  and  their  retinue.  The  speech,  as 

reported  by  Johnson,  made  at  this  gathering  by  the 

Iroquois  orator,  is  most  adroit.  He  vouched  for  the 

friendly  feeling  held  by  the  Six  Nations  for  the  Ohio 

tribes  and  declared  that  “any  evil  yet  remaining  pro- 
ceeds from  Gaustarax  the  chief  of  Chenussio,  who  is 

now  under  ground  [he  had  just  died]  and  was  always 

a   busy  man,  that  privately  and  wickedly  concerned 

himself  in  mischief  in  the  name  but  without  the  privity 

of  the  Six  Nations.  This  troublesome  man  sent,  at  the 

late  Indian  War,  a   belt  hatchet  with  many  bad  speeches 

to  the  Shawanese,  and  to  all  the  people  living  that  way 

but  kept  it  very  secret  from  Sagenquaraghta  [Chief 

of  the  Senecas]  knowing  he  was  a   friend  of  the  English.  ” 

This  bold  deceit  of  Gaustarax  “a  very  artful  and 

designing  man,  always  employed  in  mischief,  ”   was 
not  discovered  for  a   considerable  time  by  the  Ohio 
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tribes,  and  when  complained  of  by  them  was  disavowed, 

as  we  have  seen,  by  the  Six  Nations.  It  is  a   question, 

however,  if  the  Shawnees,  the  agents  of  the  Ohio  tribes 

in  all  this  matter,  were  not  equally  disingenuous,  when 

they  sent  peaceful  emblems  to  the  Iroquois;  were  not 

the  Greeks  giving  gifts? 

In  October  (1771)  Sir  William  Johnson  received  the 

“disagreeable  news  that  Thomas  King  died  at  Charles 
Town,  South  Carolina,  after  having  discharged  the 

embassy  committed  to  him.”  After  the  Ohio  Con- 
gress, which  King  attended,  had  completed  its  work 

and  adjourned,  the  Catawba  delegates  escorted  King 

and  his  party  to  Charleston,  where  he  sickened  and 

died.  The  others  sailed  for  Philadelphia  but  Anawaske 

died  on  the  voyage;  the  remaining  members  of  the 

party  reached  Johnson  Hall  where  Nickaroondase 

made  report  of  the  embassy  and  journey  to  the  Ohio 

Indian  Congress. 
But  all  this  time  the  Ohio  Indians  and  tribes  West 

and  South,  were  persistently  prosecuting  their  plans 

for  the  great  confederacy,  and  another  Congress  was 

held  at  the  Pickaway  Plains  in  July,  1772,  at  which 

the  confederacy  was  consummated,  if  indeed  it  had  not 

been  fully  organized  a   year  before.  Thus  on  the  banks 

of  the  Scioto  were  united  Shawnees,  Delawares, 

Wyandots,  Ottawas,  Miamis,  Illinois,  and  western 

tribes — in  a   great  Western  Confederacy,  “the  most 
powerful  that  ever  menaced  the  frontiers  or  con- 

fronted English  civilization  in  America.”  The  Shaw- 
nees were  the  chief  constituency  of  this  union  and  Corn- 

stalk their  great  leader  was  recognized  as  the  head  of 
the  tribal  alliance. 
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In  the  year  1773,  the  elements  of  hatred  and  strife 
were  rife  on  both  sides  of  the  Ohio.  The  embers  of 

war  among  the  allied  tribes  were  here  and  there  bursting 

into  flames,  which  were  fanned  by  the  increasing 

incursion  of  surveyors,  speculators  and  settlers.  Many 

of  these  intruding  whites  were  lawless  in  their  methods 

and  regarded  the  redmen  as  having  no  rights  they 

were  bound  to  respect.  On  the  north  the  French 

Canadians  were  urging  on  the  discontent  of  the  Ohio 

tribes  while  the  Spaniards  west  of  the  Mississippi  were 

goading  to  enmity  the  tribes  on  the  Illinois.  On  the 

south  the  Virginians  were  growing  bolder  and  more 

frequent  in  their  trans-river  invasions;  on  the  east 
the  Iroquois  held  to  the  English.  The  Ohio  Indians 

grew  more  sullen  and  desperate  and  the  warlike  mutter- 
ings  in  their  wigwams  and  villages  became  ever  more 

alarming.  In  the  spring  of  this  year  (1773)  Sir 

Johnson  wrote  the  Earl  of  Dartmouth  that  the  general  1 

alliance  and  confederacy  of  the  western  savage  “has 
a   very  unfavorable  appearance  and  will  most  probably 

be  attended  with  many  dangerous  consequences;  we 

may  probably  be  soon  involved  in  the  dreadful  conse- 

quences of  an  Indian  war.”  The  Baronet  was  unceas- 
ing in  his  watchfulness  over  the  Six  Nations,  counseling 

them  to  summon  to  their  chief  settlements  all  the  tribes- 

men scattered  along  the  river  and  on  the  north  side 
of  the  Ohio. 

The  Shawnee  messengers  kept  in  touch  with  the 

tribes  on  the  Wabash  and  the  Illinois,  while  at  the 

same  time  Johnson  sent  deputies  among  the  more 

western  nations,  especially  those  in  the  vicinity  of 

Detroit  and  succeeded  in  no  small  measure  in  detaching 
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them  from  the  Ohio  confederation.  The  tribes  of  the 

far  south  found  obstacles  in  the  way  of  their  cooperation 

with  the  Ohio  Confederacy,  though  they  were  in 

sympathy  with  it,  especially  the  Cherokees,  for  they 

particularly,  as  well  as  the  other  Carolinian  and  Geor- 
gian nations,  were  unfriendly  to  the  Iroquois,  because 

of  the  latter’s  assumed  supremacy  over  the  southern 
country  in  the  Stanwix  Treaty;  but  there  was  the 

physical  barrier  of  the  Virginian  white  settlements, 

lying  between  the  Carolinian  nations  and  the  numer- 
ous Ohio  tribes. 

But  the  followers  of  Cornstalk  were  undaunted  and 

dreamed  not  of  failure.  In  the  Summer  (1773)  another 

general  Congress  of  the  tribesmen  met  on  the  Scioto 
Plains  and  the  Ohio  tribes  were  found  constant  in 

their  hostility  and  firm  in  their  plans  for  a   war  of 

extermination  upon  the  English.  The  inevitable  con- 

flict was  precipitated  partially  by  the  events  occurring 

at  the  Forks  of  the  Ohio,  partially  by  more  momentous 

proceedings  further  down  the  river. 

George  Croghan,  Pennsylvania’s  deputy  Indian 
agent,  located  at  Fort  Pitt,  in  the  late  Autumn  of  1773, 

summoned  to  his  quarters  some  Shawnee  chiefs,  that 

he  might  confer  with  them  concerning  the  threatening 

situation.  Upon  their  compliance  he  retained  them  as 

“ quasi-hostages”  from  December  (1773)  to  the  April 
following.  During  their  detention  they  were  fired 

upon  in  their  huts  by  a   “   party  posing  as  Virginian 

Militia,”  assembled  by  one  John  Connolly. 
Fort  Pitt  was  a   point  of  disputed  proprietorship. 

For  more  than  twenty  years  the  colonies  of  Pennsyl- 
vania and  Virginia  had  each  laid  claim  to  the  Forks 
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of  the  Ohio  and  the  adjacent  country.  The  claim  of 

Virginia  was  stoutly  maintained  by  Governor  Dinwiddie 

on  the  grounds,  aside  from  the  dispute  as  to  provincial 

boundaries,  that  in  the  war  of  1754,  Virginia  took  the 

lead  and  bore  the  brunt  of  the  contest  for  the  gateway 

to  the  Ohio  Valley,  while  Pennsylvania  held  back  and 

took  slight  interest  and  small  part  in  the  opposition 

to  the  attempted  French  occupation.  The  disputed 

possession  was  a   standing  question,  when  early  in  1774 

Lord  Dunmore,  who  had  become  by  royal  appointment 

— in  1772 — governor  of  the  Virginia  province,  deter- 

mined by  forceful  measures  to  assert  Virginia’s  rights 
and  dispatched  Dr.  John  Connolly,  nephew  of  George 

Croghan,  with  a   captain’s  commission  and  instructions, 
to  proceed  to  Fort  Pitt  and  take  possession,  in  the 

name  of  the  King,  of  that  point  and  the  adjacent 

country  upon  the  Monongahela.  It  was  a   high- 
handed piece  of  business,  but  Dr.  Connolly  was  an 

ambitious  and  unscrupulous  man,  eminently  fitted 

to  carry  out  the  orders  of  the  imperious  and  arbitrary 

Dunmore.  Connolly  proceeded  to  the  scene  of  action 

and  issued  a   proclamation  calling  upon  the  people  in 

the  regions  of  Redstone  and  Pittsburg,  claimed  to  be 

in  the  territory  of  Augusta  County,  Virginia,  to  meet 

on  the  last  days  of  January  (1774)  in  order  to  be  enlisted 

as  Virginia  militiamen. 

Arthur  St.  Clair,  of  whom  we  shall  hear  much  later 

on,  the  representative,  in  that  section,  of  the  proprietors 

of  the  Pennsylvania  province,  was  then  in  Pittsburg 

and  in  defense  of  the  rights  of  his  colony  promptly 

arrested  Connolly,  before  the  latter’s  militia  could 
assemble.  In  his  report  of  the  affair,  written  to  the 
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governor  of  the  province  and  printed  in  the  Pennsyl- 

vania Archives,  St.  Clair  says:  “ About  eighty  persons 
in  arms  assembled  themselves,  chiefly  from  Mr. 

Croghan’s  neighborhood  and  the  country  west  of  and 
below  the  Monongahela  and  after  parading  through  the 

town  and  making  a   kind  of  feu  de  joy,  proceeded  to 

the  Fort,  where  a   cask  of  rum  was  produced  on  the 

parade  and  the  head  knocked  out.  This  was  a   very 

effectual  way  of  recruiting.  ” 
It  was  the  members  of  this  “ militia”  mob  that  fired 

on  the  huts  of  Colonel  Croghan’s  Shawnee  prisoners. 
Connolly,  on  being  released,  hastened  to  Williamsburg, 

capital  of  Virginia,  where  he  was  further  commissioned 

with  civil  and  military  authority  to  execute  the  laws 

of  Virginia.  On  his  way  back  to  Pittsburg,  Connolly 

stopped  at  the  quarters  of  William  Crawford,  who  wrote 

Washington  telling  him  of  Connolly’s  call  and  saying 
“he  tells  me  that  it  is  now  without  doubt  that  the  new 
government  is  fallen  through  and  that  Lord  Dunmore 

is  to  take  charge  of  so  much  of  the  quarter  as  falls  out 

of  Pennsylvania.  ”   As  Butterfield  remarks,  “the  return 

of  Connolly  was  the  opening  of  Pandora’s  box”  for 
thus  empowered,  and  accompanied  by  one  hundred 

and  fifty  armed  Virginians,  Connolly  defied  the  court 

of  Pennsylvania  and  took  possession  of  the  Ohio 
Forks. 

By  the  orders  of  General  Gage,  British  commandant 

in  the  colonies,  Fort  Pitt  had  been,  in  1772,  dismantled 

and  practically  demolished,  as  being  no  longer  required 

for  military  purposes.  Its  destruction  was  also  intend- 
ed to  reassure  the  Indians  of  the  peaceful  attitude 

towards  them  of  the  English  authorities.  Connolly 
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rebuilt  a   new  defensive  structure,  a   small  stockade, 

and  named  it,  after  his  patron,  Fort  Dunmore.  The 

contest  between  Connolly  at  the  head  of  his  armed 

volunteer  militia  and  the  Pennsylvania  authorities 

waxed  warm,  and  it  was  intimated  by  St.  Clair,  in 

his  letters  to  the  Pennsylvania  Assembly,  that  Connolly,  I 

assuming  to  act  for  the  province  of  Virginia,  was 

instigating  further  mischief  by  fostering  the  growing 

jealousy  between  the  frontier  settlers  and  the  Indians. 

At  any  rate  in  April,  Connolly  sent  messages  to  the 

settlers  along  the  Ohio,  that  the  Shawnees  were  in 

a   state  of  uprising  and  the  frontiersmen  should  be  : 

prepared  to  protect  themselves  and  to  revenge  any 

wrongs  done  them.  A   Williamsburg  paper  printed  an 

address  to  Governor  Dunmore,  urging  a   speedy  declara- 
tion of  war  against  the  Indians. 

While  the  stirring  events  were  being  enacted  at  i 

Fort  Dunmore,  occurrences  were  happening  down  the  i 

river,  that  contributed  to  the  coming  storm.  Under  | 

the  patronage  of  Washington  and  other  prominent 

Virginians,  surveying  parties  were  seeking  to  lay  out 

tracts  for  colonial  officers  entitled  to  land  grants, 

along  the  Ohio  in  the  vicinity  of  the  Kanawha  River. 

They  were  attacked  by  the  Ohio  Shawnees,  who  claimed 

to  have  received  instructions  from  Colonel  Croghan, 
whose  intentions  and  actions  in  all  these  affairs  is 

rather  difficult  of  explanation,  “to  kill  all  Virginians  j 
and  to  whip  and  rob  any  Pennsylvanians  found  tres-  ] 

passing  upon  their  territory.  ”   In  the  middle  of  April 
a   canoe  belonging  to  William  Butler,  a   Pittsburg 

trader,  was  attacked  by  Cherokee  Indians  and  the 

white  canoeman  killed.  Wild  rumors  flew  up  and 
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down  the  river.  The  panic  became  contagious.  Set- 
tlers and  traders  in  hundreds,  fled  from  the  banks  of 

the  Ohio  to  the  interior  of  Pennsylvania  and  Virginia. 





Chapter  III. 

CRESAP’S  WAR 





VIRGINIA  surveying  parties  along  the  Ohio were  compelled  to  cease  their  clashes  with 

the  Ohio  Indians.  One  party  among  whom 

was  George  Rogers  Clark  was  at  the  mouth 

of  the  Little  Kanawha;  another  party  under  Michael 

Cresap  was  located  farther  up  the  river  at  Long  Beach. 
Attacks  from  the  Indians  across  the  Ohio  became  so 

fierce  and  frequent  that  the  surveying  parties,  in  self 

protection,  gathered  at  the  mouth  of  Wheeling  Creek, 

where  the  Zane  brothers,  Ebenezer,  Silas  and  Jonathan, 

had  made  settlements  in  the  year  1770.  In  this  com- 

pany taking  temporary  refuge  at  Wheeling  were 

George  Rogers  Clark,  a   youthful  Virginian,  who  was 

destined  to  play  a   prominent  part  in  western  history, 

and  Captain  Michael  Cresap,  who  now  demands  our 

special  attention.  This  Cresap  was  the  son  of  Colonel 

Thomas  Cresap,  who  after  various  migrations  in  the 

colonies,  settled  at  Old  Town,  near  the  juncture  of  the 

north  and  south  branches  of  the  Potomac;  he  was,  as 

will  be  recalled,  one  of  the  charter  members  of  the 

original  Ohio  Company,  and  marked  and  laid  out  the 

first  road  from  “Wills  Creek,”  Cumberland,  to  Red- 
stone, following  the  trail  of  the  Indian  Nemacolin, 

who  aided  Thomas  Cresap  in  this  pioneer  road  build- 

ing enterprise. 

Captain  Michael  Cresap,  the  son,  at  this  time 

thirty-two  years  of  age,  born  and  reared  amid  the 
privations  and  perils  of  backwoods  life,  early  set  up  as 

a   trader  and  in  1772  had  a   store  at  Redstone.  He  had 
come  to  the  Ohio  to  look  after  some  of  the  land  interests 

of  some  Virginia  gentlemen,  one  of  whom  was  Washing- 
ton. The  inflammatory  messages  of  Connolly  and  the 
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news  of  the  warlike  outbreaks  along  the  Ohio  aroused 

the  resentment  of  the  Rogers-Cresap  party.  A   pro- 

posal to  march  against  the  Indians  “in  any  direction ” 
was  enthusiastically  embraced  by  the  land-seekers 
and  surveyors.  Colonel  Ebenezer  Zane,  the  most 

influential  resident  of  the  Wheeling  settlement,  en- 

deavored to  dissuade  the  party  from  entering  upon 

their  bloody  plan.  Cresap  at  first  acquiesced  in  Zane’s 

good  counsel,  but  on  the  arrival  of  Connolly’s  circular 
urging  hostilities,  war  was  declared  after  the  Indian 

fashion.  Cresap  was  selected  as  the  leader  of  the 

raiding  party,  though  against  his  expressed  wishes. 

His  involuntary  leadership  in  the  events  immediately 

following  caused  them  to  be  popularly  styled  “Cresap’s 

War,”  spoken  of  by  Jacob  in  his  Life  of  Cresap,  as 

“the  portico  to  the  American  Revolution.” 

Cresap’s  participation  in  the  war  bearing  his  name, 
led  to  charges,  against  him,  of  many  acts  of  cruelty 

and  inhumanity  of  which  he  was  entirely  innocent. 

Hearing  that  some  Indians  were  coming  down  the 

Ohio  in  a   boat,  members  of  Cresap’s  party,  he  among 
them,  proceeded  up  stream,  and  firing  from  ambush, 

upon  the  canoemen,  killed  two  Indians,  who  proved 

to  be  a   Shawnee  and  a   Delaware,  according  to  the 

subsequent  report  of  a   trader  named  Stephens,  who  was 

in  the  canoe  with  the  Indians  but  escaped  unhurt 

It  was  the  first  blood  shed  in  this  “war”  and  the  opening 

of  the  flood  gates  of  carnage  that  preceded  Dunmore’s 
War.  The  same,  or  the  next  day,  after  the  killing 

of  the  Indian  canoemen,  the  Cresap  party  boated  down 

the  river  to  the  mouth  of  Captina  Creek,  where  they 

attacked  the  encampment  of  the  Shawnee  Indians 
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killing  several  of  them.  This  incident  is  by  some 

writers  located  at  the  mouth  of  Pipe  Creek  which  was 

six  or  seven  miles  above  the  mouth  of  Captina  Creek. 

In  these  affairs,  just  related,  Cresap  took  part  but  he 
was  absent  from  the  horrible  massacre  that  followed 

at  Baker’s  tavern.  The  sources  of  our  information 
concerning  this  event,  one  of  the  most  historic  in 

western  frontier  annals,  and  about  which  much  mis- 

statement has  been  promulgated,  are  the  Draper 

Manuscripts  in  the  Wisconsin  Historical  Society 

archives,  published  with  valuable  notes  by  R.  G. 

Thwaites;  the  New  York  Colonial  Documents;  the 

Archives  of  the  Pennsylvania  province;  and  the  Wash- 

ington-Crawford  Letters. 

According  to  George  Rogers  Clark,  who  was  with 

the  party,  on  the  night  of  the  Captina  Creek  affair, 

and  whose  account  of  it,  written  June  17,  1798,  appears 

in  English’s  Life  of  Clark,  a   resolution  was  formed  by 

Cresap’s  party  to  attack  the  camp  of  Logan,  chief  of 

the  Mingoes,  at  the  mouth  of  Yellow  Creek.  “We 
actually  marched  five  miles  and  halted  to  take  some 

refreshments.  Here  the  impropriety  of  the  proposed 

enterprise  was  argued,  the  conversation  was  brought 

forward  by  Cresap  himself.  It  was  generally  agreed 

that  those  Indians  had  no  hostile  intentions,  as  it  was 

a   hunting  camp,  composed  of  men,  women  and  children, 

with  all  their  stuff  with  them.  This  we  knew,  as  I, 

myself,  and  others  then  present,  had  been  in  their  camp 

about  four  weeks  before  that  time,  on  our  way  down 

from  Pittsburg.  In  short,  every  person  present,  par- 
ticularly Cresap  (upon  reflection)  was  opposed  to  the 

projected  measure.  We  turned,  and  on  the  same 
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evening  decamped  and  took  the  road  for  Redstone. 

It  was  two  days  after  this  that  Logan’s  family  was 
killed,  and  from  the  manner  in  which  it  was  done,  it 

was  viewed  as  a   horrible  murder  by  the  whole  country.  ” 

Logan’s  camp  at  the  mouth  of  Yellow  Creek,  was 
about  fifteen  miles  above  the  site  of  Steubenville. 

Directly  opposite  across  the  Ohio,  on  the  Virginia 

side,  located  on  what  was  then  called  “Baker’s  Bot- 

tom,” was  the  cabin  of  Joshua  Baker,  who  kept  a   trader’s 
store  and  sold  rum  to  the  Indians  who  consequently 

were  his  frequent  visitors.  Although  the  Mingo  camp 

had  been  established  for  some  time,  the  whites  living 

in  the  vicinity  feared  no  danger  as  the  Mingoes  were 

peaceable  and  Logan  himself  had  been  friendly  to  the 

whites,  having  taken  no  part  in  the  French  and  Indian 

War;  indeed  it  was  simply  a   hunting  camp,  occupied 

by  the  squaws  and  families  as  well  as  the  Indian 
hunters. 

The  report  of  Michael  Cresap’s  two  attacks  on  the 
Ohio  Indians  may  have  induced  the  fear,  as  was 

claimed,  among  the  frontiersmen  in  Baker’s  vicinity, 
that  the  Indians  at  Yellow  Creek  would  go  on  the 

warpath  in  retaliation.  Under  this  pretext  one  Daniel 

Greathouse  gathered  a   party  of  some  twenty  white 

men  for  the  purpose  of  attacking  the  Mingo  camp. 

Fearing  to  risk  an  open  assault  he  decided  to  accom- 
plish his  purpose  by  treachery.  Accordingly  he  entered 

their  camp  under  the  guise  of  friendship,  and  while 

ascertaining  their  numbers  and  defences,  invited  them, 

with  apparent  hospitality,  to  visit  him  at  Baker’s, 
across  the  river  next  day.  Early  on  the  morning  of 

April  30,  a   canoe  laden  with  Mingoes  crossed  the 
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river.  The  number  in  the  boat  varies  in  different 

accounts,  but  there  were  some  seven  or  eight  in  all, 

(   four  or  five  men  unarmed  and  two  or  three  squaws, 

one  of  whom  bore  a   papoose  strapped  on  her  back. 

On  entering  Baker’s  cabin,  in  accordance  with  the 
i   preconcerted  plan,  the  Greathouse  men  proceeded  to 

i   ply  the  Indian  guests  with  rum,  until  most  of  them 

became  excessively  drunk.  The  whites  in  Baker’s 
cabin  were  John  Sappington,  Nathaniel  Tomlinson, 

Edward  King,  George  Cox  and  one  or  two  others, 

members  of  the  Greathouse  party.  One  of  the  Indians, 

Logan’s  brother,  known  as  John  Petty,  took  down  from 
i   their  hooks,  a   military  coat  and  hat,  belonging  to 

Baker’s  brother-in-law,  put  them  on,  and  strutted 

about,  swearing  and  saying:  “I  am  a   white  man,” 
when  Sappington  irritated,  seized  his  gun  and  shot 

him.  King,  a   member  of  the  assaulting  party,  says 

one  account,  stabbed  the  Indian  while  in  the  agonies 

of  death,  saying,  “Many  a   deer  have  I   served  in  this 

way.  ”   At  this  the  other  whites  murderously  assaulted 
the  unresisting  savages,  shooting  or  tomahawking  in 

cold  blood  nearly  all  of  the  helpless  Indians,  not  more 

than  one  or  two  escaping. 

One  of  the  murdered  squaws,  as  the  evidence 

proves,  was  the  sister  of  Logan.  She  had  often  been 

to  Baker’s  to  get  milk  for  her  children,  and  on  this 
occasion  refused  to  take  liquor.  When  the  assault 

took  place  she  attempted  to  escape  but  was  shot  down; 

falling  she  begged,  of  the  miscreant,  who  was  about  to 

brain  the  little  one,  “   mercy  for  her  babe,  telling  him 

that  it  was  a   kin  to  themselves.”  The  dying  plea  of 

Logan’s  sister  touched  the  last  remaining  spark  of 
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humanity  left  in  the  breast  of  the  assassin  and  he  cut 

the  strap  that  bound  the  little  one  to  the  mother’s 

back.  “They  had  a   man  in  the  cabin  prepared  with 
a   tomahawk  for  the  purpose  of  killing  the  three  drunk 

Indians,  which  was  immediately  done;”  says  the. 
account,  in  the  Draper  Manuscripts,  of  Henry  Jolly, 

who  was  a   lad  of  sixteen  at  the  time,  living  at  Catfish 

Camp,  a   small  settlement  on  the  path  from  Wheeling 

to  Redstone,  and  to  whose  mother  the  spared  babe  was 

brought  the  next  day,  that  she  might  care  for  the 

little  savage  waif.  “I  very  well  recollect,”  says 

Henry  Jolly,  “my  mother,  feeding  and  dressing  the 
babe,  chirping  to  the  little  innocent  and  its  smiling, 

however  they  took  it  away  and  talked  of  sending  it  to 

its  supposed  father,  Col.  Geo.  Gibson  of  Carlisle,  Pa.  ” 
Jolly  meant  John  Gibson,  and  not  George. 

Valentine  Crawford  wrote  Washington,  May  7 

(1774),  only  a   week  after  the  occurrence,  telling  of  the 

Greathouse  massacre,  “they  brought  away  one  child, 
a   prisoner,  which  is  now  at  my  brother  William  Craw- 

ford’s. ”   The  little  girl  papoose,  then  only  a   few  months 
old,  for  whose  life  the  dying  mother  did  not  plead  in 

vain,  had  doubtless  been  passed  on  to  the  Crawfords, 

on  its  way  to  its  father,  John  Gibson,  to  whom  it  was 

duly  delivered  and  by  whom  it  is  said  to  have  been 

raised  and  educated.  This  sister  of  Logan  was  the 

Indian  wife  of  John  Gibson,  a   very  prominent  character 

in  the  days  of  which  we  now  write.  He  was  a   Pennsyl- 

vanian, at  this  time  thirty-five  years  of  age;  had  served 

in  the  army  of  Forbe’s  expedition,  after  which  he 
engaged  in  the  Indian  trade.  At  the  outbreak  of 

Pontiac’s  War  he  was  captured  by  the  Indians  and 
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ordered  to  be  burned  at  the  stake,  but  was  saved  by 

being  adopted  by  a   squaw.  He  was  set  at  liberty  by 

Bouquet’s  expedition,  and  Logan’s  sister  became  his 
Indian  wife  and  mother  of  his  children. 

At  the  sound  of  the  firing  in  Baker’s  cabin,  Indians 
from  the  Mingo  camp,  in  two  canoes,  hastened  across 

the  river  to  learn  the  nature  of  the  disturbance.  They 

were  received  by  the  party  of  Greathouse,  arranged 

along  the  river  bank  and  concealed  by  the  underbrush, 

with  a   deadly  fire,  which  killed  two  Indians  in  the  first 
canoe.  The  second  canoe  turned  and  fled.  Two  other 

canoes  carrying  eighteen  armed  savages,  then  pushed 

out  from  the  Mingo  camp  and  crossed  the  river  to 

avenge  the  slaughtered  tribesmen.  They  were  unable 

to  land,  however,  being  driven  back  with  the  loss  of 

one  man.  The  Greathouse  murdering  ruffians  had 

wrought  their  insatiable  work  and  quickly  withdrew 

to  the  settlement  known  as  Catfish  Camp,  carrying 

their  only  prisoner,  the  Indian  babe  whose  life  they 

had  spared. 

That  Logan’s  sister  was  killed  at  Baker’s  there  is 
little  if  any  doubt  and  the  evidence  is  conclusive  that 

the  Indian,  donning  the  military  coat,  and  killed  by 

Sappington,  was  the  brother  of  the  Mingo  chief, 

indeed  Sappington  himself  made  written  testimony  to 

that  fact,  his  statement  being  published  in  Jefferson’s 
Virginia  Notes.  But  that  there  were  other  relatives 

of  Logan  among  the  slain  there  is  no  evidence  of  any 
value.  Various  authorities  assert  that  his  father  and 

his  mother  and  children  were  victims  of  the  massacre. 

His  father  died  and  was  buried  at  Shamokin,  by  the 

Moravians  in  1749;  his  mother  if  still  living,  in  1774, 
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may  have  been  with  her  son  but  we  fail  to  find  mention 

of  her,  anywhere,  in  connection  with  Ohio;  it  is  not 

known  that  Logan  had  any  children  in  Ohio,  certainly 

he  had  none  in  the  party  at  Baker’s;  in  speaking  of 

his  “children”  in  his  famous  speech  he  meant  the 
people  of  his  tribe. 

Concerning  Logan’s  family  it  is  pertinent  to  here 
state  that  his  father,  Shikellimus  or  Shikellamy, — 

according  to  the  Draper  Manuscripts — had  five  sons; 
the  youngest  died  in  1729  at  Shamokin.  One  son  was 

Sayughtowa,  but  known  to  the  English  as  “James 

Logan,”  being  so  named  from  James  Logan  who  was 
at  one  time  Secretary  to  William  Penn  and  who  later 

(1736-38)  governed  the  Province  of  Pennsylvania  as 

president  of  the  council.  He  was  a   great  friend  of  the  In- 
dians and  won  the  esteem  and  friendship  of  Shikellamy. 

Shikellamy’s  fourth  son  “bore  the  dolorous  name  of 

‘Unhappy  Jake’”  and  was  killed  (1744)  by  the  Catawbas 
in  some  tribal  warfare.  The  third  son  of  Shikellamy 

was  Sagogeghyata;  known  to  the  English  as  “John 

Petty”  or  “John  Petty  Shikelimo,  ”   having  been  named 
after  a   trader  well  known  as  John  Petty.  The  eldest  j 

son  of  Shikellamy  was  our  hero  John  Logan,  born  in  the 

Oneida  County  of  New  York  about  1710 — known  to 

fame  as  simply  Logan — also  named  from  the  James 
Logan  mentioned  above.  His  Cayuga  Indian  name  was 

as  we  have  previously  noted,  Tahgahjute.  Another 

Indian  name — probably  the  Delaware — ascribed  to  him 

was  “Tachnechdorus” — “the  branching  out  of  the 

forest.”  Indeed  Indian  legend  gives  him  other  na- 
tive  names  applied  to  him  by  the  different  Ohio  tribes 

among  whom  he  was  well  known. 
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Of  the  sisters  of  Logan,  according  to  the  testi- 

mony of  the  Draper  Manuscripts,  not  so  much  is 

known.  The  eldest  married,  in  1731,  an  Indian  named 

Cajadis,  who  had  more  than  local  renown  as  a   mighty 

hunter.  He  died  in  1747.  Another  sister,  who  lived 

among  the  Conestoga  Indians,  fell,  in  1763,  “a  sacrifice 

to  the  wild  ferocity  of  the  Paxton  rioters.”  The  name 

of  the  alleged  sister  killed  at  Baker’s  is  not  given  in 
any  of  the  accounts.  But  that  a   sister  of  Logan  was 

one  of  the  victims  of  the  Baker  slaughter  is  asserted 

by  nearly  all  authorities,  including  some  contemporary 

narrators,  who  describe  that  event.  Many  of  these 

chroniclers  claim,  with  much  corroborative  evidence, 

that  this  unfortunate  sister  of  Logan  was  the  Indian 

wife  of  General  John  Gibson  and  that  he  was  the  father 

of  her  child  which  was  the  only  being  spared  the  toma- 

hawk of  the  assailants  at  Baker’s  cabin. 

Logan  had  two  wives,  the  first  being  a   Cayuga 

woman  whom  he  married  in  Pennsylvania  and  who  bore 

him  children.  This  wife  died  in  the  year  1747  and  the 

children  are  said  to  have  passed  to  the  care  of  their  aunt 

living  among  the  Conestoga  Indians.  After  the  death  of 

his  first  wife  Logan  soon  married  a   Shawnee  squaw, 

reputed  to  have  been  of  unusual  intelligence  and  one 

who  spoke  English.  From  this  marriage  there  were 

no  children.  This  wife  was  probably  living  in  Ohio 

with  Logan  at  the  time  of  the  Baker  cabin  massacre 

but  she  certainly  was  not  one  of  the  victims.  In  view 

of  the  facts  as  presented  above  there  is  great  exaggera- 

tion in  the  statement  by  Doddridge,  in  his  “   Indian 

Wars,”  published  in  1824,  to  the  effect  that  “the 
massacre  of  the  Indians  at  Captina  and  Yellow  Creeks, 
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comprehended  the  whole  of  the  family  of  the  famous 

but  unfortunate  Logan.”  That  erroneous  assertion 
has  had  widespread  repetition  among  writers. 

Another  prevalent  error  is  the  statement  that  Logan 

was  not  a   chief.  The  Pennsylvania  Archives  are  indis- 

putable authority  for  the  fact  that  after  the  death 

of  his  father,  Shikellamy,  Logan  was  raised  by  the 

Grand  Council  of  Onondaga  to  the  dignity  of  “   Sachem 

or  chief  of  the  Shamokin  Indians.”  Later  he  became 

“one  of  the  ten  Sachems  of  the  Cayugas.”  He  was 
known  subsequently  as  a   Mingo  chief,  as  upon  his 

removal  (1772)  to  Ohio  he  made  his  home  with,  found 

his  following  among,  and  was  regarded  as  a   leader  of, 

the  Mingo  branch  of  the  Cayugas. 

Another  historical  point  at  issue  concerns  the  partic- 

ipation of  Captain  Michael  Cresap  in  the  tragic  scene 

at  Baker’s.  His  leadership  in  the  preceding  events,  which 
without  doubt  provoked  the  Baker  Bottom  tragedy,  led 

to  the  general  rumor  and  belief  that  it  was  Cresap’s 
party  which  was  guilty  of  the  foul  and  bloody  deed  and 

Cresap  was  charged  with  the  killing  of  Logan’s  relations, 

and  Logan’s  subsequent  note  and  speech  so  condemned 
him.  But  the  attestation  of  persons  who  were  actually 

present  and  of  others  who  had  knowledge  from  partic- 

ipants, as  appears  in  the  Draper  Manuscripts,  and  the 

statements  and  affidavits  published  by  Jefferson  in  his 

Virginia  Notes,  clearly  establishes  an  alibi  for  Michael 

Cresap.  No  one  of  the  Greathouse  party  testifies  that 

Cresap  was  present.  On  the  contrary  Charles  Polke, 

who  lived  sixteen  miles  from  Baker’s  and  at  whose 

house,  the  Greathouse  party  or  a   portion  of  it,  gathered 

made  deposition  that  “Capt.  Michael  Cresap  was  not 
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of  the  party:”  Harry  Innes  declared  in  writing  that 

Baker  told  him  “Captain  Michael  Cresap  was  not 

in  the  party;”  Sappington  in  a   written  declaration, 

to  which  he  was  “ready  to  be  qualified  at  any  time,” 

stated  “I  am  intimately  acquainted  with  Cresap  and 
know  he  had  no  hand  in  that  transaction.  He  told 

me  himself  afterwards  at  Redstone  old  fort,  that  the 

day  before  Logan’s  people  were  killed,  he,  with  a   small 
party  had  an  engagement  with  a   party  of  Indians  on 

Capteener  [Captina]  about  44  miles  lower  down.  I 

knew  likewise  that  he  was  generally  blamed  for  it, 

and  believed  by  all  who  were  not  acquainted  with  the 

circumstances,  to  have  been  the  perpetrator  of  it.  I 

know  that  he  despised  and  hated  Greathouse  ever 

afterwards  on  account  of  it.”  This  from  John  Sap- 

pington, who  acknowledged  to  the  killing  of  Logan’s 
brother. 

The  Indians  of  the  Yellow  Creek  Camp,  who  had 

been  repulsed  in  their  attempted  attack  on  the  Great- 
house  party,  fled  down  the  river.  Consternation  and 

fright  swept  over  the  neighborhood;  the  Indians  were 
aroused  and  the  settlers  alarmed.  The  narrative  of 

Henry  Jolly,  relates  that  just  before  the  Baker  tragedy, 

the  Indians  were  in  a   great  commotion  over  the  white 

aggressions.  Many  of  them  were  for  war,  “however 
they  called  a   council  in  which  Logan  acted  a   conspicu- 

ous part,  but  at  the  same  time  reminded  them  of  some 

aggression  on  the  part  of  the  Indians  and  that  by  a 

war,  they  could  but  harass  and  distress  the  frontier 

settlements  for  a   short  time,  that  the  Long  Knife 

would  come  like  the  trees  in  the  woods  and  that  ulti- 

mately they  would  be  drove  from  their  good  land  that 
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they  now  possessed;  he  therefore  strongly  recommended 

peace,  to  him  they  all  agreed,  grounded  the  hatchet, 

everything  wore  a   tranquil  appearance  when  behold, 

in  come  the  fugitives  from  Yellow  Creek;  Logan’s 
father  (?),  brother  and  sister  murdered;  what  is  to 

be  done  now;  Logan  has  lost  three  of  his  nearest  and 

dearest  relations,  the  consequence  is  that  the  same 

Logan,  who  a   few  days  before  was  so  pacific,  raises  the 

hatchet,  with  a   declaration,  that  he  will  not  ground  it, 

until  he  has  taken  ten  for  one,  which  I   believe  he  com- 

pletely fulfilled  by  taking  thirty  scalps  and  prisoners 

the  summer  of  ’74.  ” 
The  scenes  at  this  council  were  reported  to  Jolly  by 

eye  witnesses.  In  July  of  this  year  one  William  Robin- 
son, was  captured  on  the  Monongahela,  while  working 

in  the  field,  by  a   band  of  Indians,  at  the  head  of  which 

was  Logan.  In  his  statement  published  in  the  Vir- 

ginia Notes,  Robinson  relates  that  “   Logan  spoke 
English  well  and  manifested  a   friendly  disposition  to 

the  subscriber,”  Robinson;  “that  in  these  conversa- 
tions he  always  charged  Capt.  Michael  Cresap  with 

the  murder  of  his  family.”  After  a   week’s  journey 
they  arrived  at  the  Mingo  Town  and  Logan  rescued 

Robinson  from  the  fate  of  being  burned  at  the  stake, 

adopted  him  in  place  of  the  brother  killed  at  Yellow 

Creek.  “That  about  three  days  after  this  Logan 
brought  him  a   piece  of  paper  and  told  him  he  must 

write  a   letter  for  him,  which  he  [LoganJ  meant  to  carry 

and  leave  in  some  house  where  he  should  kill  somebody.” 
Robinson  making  ink  with  water  and  gunpowder  and 

using  an  eagle  quill  for  a   pen  at  Logan’s  direction  wrote 
a   note,  the  exact  wording  of  which  Robinson,  at  the 
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time  of  his  declaration  (February,  1800),  could  not 

remember,  but  recalled  the  substance,  to  which  note  he 

signed  Logan’s  name.  Logan  took  the  note  and  tying  it 
to  a   war  club,  caused  it  to  be  left  at  the  house  of  one 

Roberts,  where  a   massacre  occurred  some  weeks  later,  un- 

doubtedly at  the  instigation  of  Logan.  That  note  read : 

“   Captain  Cresap,  what  did  you  kill  my  people  on  Yel- 
low Creek  for  ?   The  white  people  killed  my  kin,  at  Cone- 

stoga, a   great  while  ago;  and  I   thought  nothing  of  that. 

But  you  killed  my  kin  again  on  Yellow  Creek  and  took  my 

cousin  prisoner.  Then  I   thought  I   must  kill  too;  and  I 

have  been  three  times  to  war  since;  but  the  Indians  are 

not  angry,  only  myself.  Captain  John  Logan.  ” 
The  tiger  in  the  hitherto  amiable  Mingo  chief  had 

been  roused,  but  that  the  Indians  of  Ohio  were  not  all 

angry,  is  amply  proven  by  the  Moravian  records  of 

that  time.  The  spring  of  1774  was  a   turbulent  one 

for  all  the  Ohio  tribes.  Many  inhuman  and  revolting 

deeds  fill  the  pages  of  those  bloody  days,  one  being 

the  cruel  outrage  committed  in  the  murder  of  Bald 

Eagle,  an  aged  and  inoffensive  Delaware  chief,  “who 
wandered  harmlessly  up  and  down  among  the  whites, 

visiting  those  most  frequently  who  would  entertain 

him  best.”  He  was  ascending  alone,  upon  the  Ohio 
in  his  canoe,  after  a   visit  to  the  stockade  at  the  mouth 

of  the  Kanawha,  when  he  was  met  by  a   white  man  who 

killed  and  scalped  him  and  then  to  add  fiendish  horror 

to  the  abominable  crime,  set  the  dead  body  of  the  old 

chief  upright  in  the  canoe,  and  sent  it  adrift  upon  the 

current.  The  news  of  this  grewsome  outrage  was  soon 

borne  to  the  Delaware  people  who  vowed  vengeance 

upon  the  whites. 
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A   companion  crime  to  the  shooting  of  Bald  Eagle  was 

the  murder,  near  the  same  time,  of  Silver  Heels,  one 

of  the  favorite  chiefs  of  the  Shawnees,  among  whom  he 

lived  on  the  Muskingum.,  He  was  one  of  the  few 

Shawnees  friendly  to  the  whites  and  had  just  guided 

some  white  traders  from  the  Shawnee  country  to 

Pittsburg,  when  on  his  return,  during  his  passage 

through  the  Ohio  woods  he  was  met  by  a   party  of 

whites  and  foully  killed.  This  incident  naturally 

added  to  the  fury  of  his  tribesmen. 

While  the  Seneca  tribe,  in  the  main,  was  friendly  j 

to  the  whites,  those  within  the  borders  of  Ohio,  were 

stirred  by  the  bloody  aggressions  of  the  Virginians. 

The  Shawnees  as  we  have  seen,  were  the  most  implac- 
able in  their  hostility,  but  the  Delawares  for  the  most  ; 

part  remained  friendly  to  the  whites,  advocating  peace 

rather  than  retaliatory  measures.  This  attitude  brought 

upon  the  Delawares  the  increased  hatred  of  the  war- 
like tribes,  especially  the  Shawnees.  Again  the  friendly 

association  of  the  Delawares  with  the  Moravians 

created  suspicion  and  enmity  of  the  other  tribes  toward 

the  missionary  settlements  of  Gnadenhutten  and 

Schoenbrunn,  through  whose  cleanly  and  peaceful 

precincts,  bands  of  tribal  warriors  marched,  threatening 

vengeance  upon  the  inhabitants  who  were  thereby: 

kept  in  a   perpetual  state  of  alarm.  Indeed  the  non- 
Moravian  Delawares  were  disposed  to  cast  their  lot 

with  the  hostile  tribes,  in  opposition  to  the  Delaware 

Christians,  but  were  held  in  check  mainly  by  White 

Eyes,  at  this  time  the  first  captain  among  the  Dela- 

wares, whose  village  known  as  White  Eyes’  Town  was 
situated  on  the  Tuscarawas,  six  miles  below  the  Dela- 
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ware  capital  where  dwelt  Netawatwees,  and  White 

Eyes  who,  says  Loskiel,  “kept  the  chiefs  and  council 
in  awe,  and  would  not  suffer  them  to  injure  the  mis- 

sionaries, being  in  his  own  heart  convinced  of  the 

truth  of  the  gospel.  ”   White  Eyes  plead  for  the  pro- 
tection of  the  Moravian  Indians,  while  Netawatwees, 

formerly  friendly,  now  sided  with  the  enemies  of  Zeis- 

berger’s  converts;  indeed  the  clash  between  White 
Eyes  and  Netawatwees  threatened  untold  calamities, 

I   when  peaceful  measures  prevailed  and  some  Indian 

Christians  were  appointed  and  accepted  as  arbitrators, 

to  whom  the  disputants  presented  their  respective 

opinions.  The  result  was  beyond  expectations,  for 

Chief  Netawatwees  not  only  acknowledged  the  injustice 

done  to  Captain  White  Eyes,  but  resumed  his  former 

attitude  with  respect  to  the  believing  Indians  and  their 
teachers  and  remained  their  friend  to  his  death. 

It  was  truly  a   time  that  tried  the  steadfast  souls  of 

the  Moravians,  for  their  missions  were  storm  centers 

i   and  their  very  existence  was  at  stake.  War,  however, 

l   between  the  Long  Knives  and  the  redmen  was  inevit- 

1   able  and  early  in  the  summer,  the  Shawnees,  the  Sene- 

1   cas,  the  Mingoes,  recruited  by  many  Delawares,  and 

]   the  Cherokees,  were  in  the  field.  The  “Long  Knives” 
f   as  the  Indians  called  the  Virginians  were  preparing 

•   for  organized  and  offensive  action, 

t   Early  in  June,  Governor  Dunmore  planned  an  expedi- 

e   tion  against  the  capital  of  Cornstalk  on  the  Scioto.  A 

e   decisive  blow  would  be  struck,  without  delay,  at  the 

I-  very  heart  of  the  Ohio  Confederacy  on  the  Pickaway 

is  Plains.  For  the  commander  of  this  campaign,  Dun- 

i*  more  chose  Major  Angus  McDonald,  a   man  of  military 
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figure  and  strong  personality,  born  a   Scotch  High- 
lander, trained  in  English  warfare,  a   fugitive  from  his 

native  land  to  France,  thence  an  emigrant  to  Virginia 

in  1750.  He  participated  in  the  French  and  Indian 

War,  from  which  he  retired  with  the  rank  of  captain 

and  a   bounty  of  2000  acres  of  military  lands.  Mc- 
Donald was  instructed  to  raise  a   regiment  of  four 

hundred  men,  proceed  to  Wheeling  and  there  erect  a 

fort  and  thence  invade  the  Ohio  wilderness  and  destroy  j 

the  Shawnee  villages  on  the  Scioto.  McDonald  was 

the  man  to  promptly  and  forcefully  execute  orders. 

The  men  were  recruited  from  the  Monongahela  and 

Youghiogheny  regions  and  rendezvoused  at  Wheeling. 
The  stockade  was  built  as  directed  and  named  Fort 

Fincastle,  and  placed  in  command  of  Colonel  William 

Crawford.  Among  McDonald’s  captains  were  Michael 
Cresap,  Sr.,  one  of  whose  subordinates  was  George 

Rogers  Clark,  and  Michael  Cresap,  Jr.,  nephew  of  his 

namesake.  On  July  26,  with  Jonathan  Zane  as  one  of 

the  guides,  and  stocked  with  seven  days’  provisions, 

the  little  army  set  out  for  the  enemy’s  country. 
In  canoes,  the  troops  descended  the  Ohio  to  the 

mouth  of  Fish  Creek,  where  they  landed  on  the  Ohio 

banks  and  began  a   ninety  mile  march  to  Wakotomica 

— Wapatomica,  or  Wakatameke  and  otherwise — as  it 
is  differently  spelled.  The  place  was  derisively  called 

“Vomit  Town”  by  the  traders,  because  its  Indian 
denizens,  for  years,  had  been  the  miserable  dupes  of 

medicine  prophets  who  claimed  to  bring  about  salva- 
tion by  means  of  emetics.  The  name  Wakotomica 

included  several  small  Shawnee  towns  clustered  near 

together  on  the  Muskingum.  It  was  a   tedious  tramp 
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of  many  days,  in  which  Indian  ambuscades  or  attacks 

were  momentarily  expected.  But  the  enemy  did  not 

appear  until  the  invaders  were  within  six  miles  of  the 

Shawnee  center,  when  some  thirty  tribal  warriors,  lying 

in  ambush  at  the  head  of  a   swampy  crossing,  suddenly 

opened  fire  upon  the  advancing  column.  The  brisk 

encounter  lasted  half  an  hour,  when  the  Indians, 

doubtless  overwhelmed  by  superior  numbers,  broke 

and  fled,  with  four  dead  and  several  wounded. 

The  Virginians  had  two  killed  and  five  disabled,  for 

the  care  of  whom,  McDonald  left  a   sufficient  force, 

while  he  pushed  on  toward  the  Muskingum,  which 

he  reached  at  nightfall  on  the  second  of  August.  The 

Indians  ambushed  on  the  opposite  side  of  the  river,  at 

what  McDonald  in  his  report  to  Connolly,  calls  the 

Snake’s  Town  because  there  dwelt  two  Shawnee  cap- 
tains known  as  John  and  Thomas  Snake.  The  Indians 

prepared  to  receive  the  enemy  and  protect  the  Shawnee 

settlements.  McDonald  halted  for  the  night,  sending 

Captain  Cresap  with  his  company  to  another  point 

on  the  river,  where  before  daylight  he  made  a   passage 

and  fell  upon  the  waiting  Indians,  killing  one  and 

wounding  many  others.  The  Shawnees  asked  for 

a   peace  parley,  requesting  time  to  send  for  their 

chiefs,  whose  authority  must  be  consulted.  McDonald 

demanded  hostages  as  evidence  of  good  faith  while 

negotiations  were  pending,  during  which  interval  the 

wily  savages  cleared  their  villages,  packing  off  their 

women,  children  and  goods.  McDonald  enraged  at 

the  Indian  subterfuge  and  treachery  advanced  on  to 

the  towns,  only  to  find  them  abandoned.  He  then 
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burned  the  five  villages,  destroyed  five  hundred  bushels 

of  old  corn  and  cut  down  seventy-five  acres  of  standing 
maize. 

It  was  not  advisable  to  proceed  farther,  for  the  army 

was  destitute  of  provisions  and  had  to  subsist  on  weeds, 

one  ear  of  corn  each  day,  and  a   very  scant  supply  of 

game.  “A  small  quantity  of  old  corn  and  one  cow 

were  the  entire  spoils  of  the  villages,  ”   writes  Abraham 
Thomas,  one  of  the  soldiers  in  the  expedition,  as  quoted 

by  Dodge  in  his  “   Redmen  of  the  Ohio  Valley.  ”   “ These  1 
were  distributed  among  the  men,  the  villages  burned 

and  the  troops  commenced  their  march  for  the  Ohio 

River,  where  they  expected  to  meet  provisions  sent 

down  from  Redstone.  The  men  became  exceedingly 

famished  on  this  march,  and  I   myself  being  young 

was  so  weak  that  I   could  not  longer  carry  anything  on 

my  person.  An  older  brother  and  one  or  two  others 

kept  encouraging  me.  One  of  them  had  a   good  stock 

of  tobacco;  I   saw  him  take  it,  and  with  an  earnestness 

boardering  on  delirium,  I   insisted  on  having  some. 

As  I   had  never  used  it  before,  they  refused,  thinking 

it  would  entirely  disable  me;  but  as  I   was  so  impor- 

tunate, they  at  last  gave  me  a   small  piece;  I   directly  j 
felt  myself  relieved;  they  gave  me  more,  and  in  a   short 

time  my  strength  and  spirits  returned.  I   took  my  j 

arms  and  baggage,  and  was  able  to  travel  with  the 

rest  of  them,  and  was  actually  the  first  to  reach  the 

Ohio.  Here  we  met  the  boats,  but  nothing  in  them 

but  corn  in  the  ear;  every  man  was  soon  at  work  with 

his  tomahawk,  crushing  it  on  the  stones,  and  mixing 

it  with  water  in  gourds  or  leaves  fashioned  in  the  shape 

of  cups,  while  some  provident  ones  enjoyed  the  aristo- 
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s   cratic  luxury  of  tin  cups;  but  all  seemed  alike  to  relish 

the  repast.  A   party  of  us  crossed  the  Ohio  that  day 

for  the  settlement,  when  we  came  up  with  a   drove  of 

hogs,  in  tolerable  order.  We  shot  one  and  eat  him 

on  the  spot,  without  criticizing  with  much  nicety  the 

mode  or  manner  of  preparation.  Indeed,  the  meat 

itself  was  so  savory  and  delicious,  we  thought  of  little 

<   else.  In  a   few  days,  I   returned  to  my  parents,  and 

after  a   little  domestic  storming,  and  much  juvenile 

vaunting  of  our  exploits,  settled  down  to  clearing.” 
The  expedition  thus  ended  at  Wakotomica,  whence 

it  returned  across  the  country  to  Wheeling,  which  was 

reached  in  the  middle  of  August.  The  Virginians 

)   brought  with  them  three  hostage  chiefs,  who  were  sent 

on  to  Williamsburg,  where  they  were  released  at  the 

peace  made  the  succeeding  fall.  The  results  of  this 

predatory  raid  were  not,  in  a   material  way,  all  that  had 

been  expected.  But  it  struck  terror  to  the  Shawnees 

who  now  abandoned  all  their  settlements  on  the  Musk- 

ingum and  fell  back  to  the  Scioto. 

But  not  alone  were  the  Ohio  tribes  goaded  to  a   state 

of  fury  over  the  frontier  atrocities.  The  waves  of  war 

i   sentiment  rolled  across  the  Ohio  and  swept  the  country 

of  the  Iroquois  and  when  their  chiefs  learned  of  the 

wanton  acts  committed  by  the  whites  upon  their  race 

on  the  borders  of  the  Beautiful  River  they  were  ready 

to  spring  to  arms,  and  they  signified  to  Sir  William 

Johnson  their  desire  to  hold  a   council  with  him,  without 

delay,  in  order  to  consider  the  crisis  that  threatened 

their  trans-Ohio  brothers  and  involved  themselves. 

The  request  was  granted  and  by  the  seventh  of  July 

nearly  six  hundred  Indians  of  the  Six  Nations  assembled 
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at  Johnson  Hall.  Seldom  had  the  big  men  and  the 

braves  of  the  confederacy  gathered  amid  such  feelings 

of  apprehension  and  agitation.  Seneca  and  Cayuga 

orators  addressed  the  lord  of  Johnson  Hall,  reciting 

their  grievances,  the  infringement  of  the  terms  of  the 

Stanwix  treaty  by  the  whites  who  ruthlessly  ignored 

the  limits  prescribed  and  invaded  the  Indian  confines; 

the  lawless  acts  of  numberless  traders;  the  unmerited 

atrocities  on  the  Ohio;  and  the  impending  war  against 

their  Ohio  dependents;  had  the  Indians  no  rights  the 

white  man  was  bound  to  respect? 

Two  days  later  Sir  Johnson  made  reply,  speaking 

for  two  hours  with  all  the  persuasiveness  of  his  eloquence 

and  with  the  fire  and  animation  of  an  Indian  orator, 

for  he  was  more  than  equal  to  them  in  his  power  and 

manner.  He  assured  the  chiefs  that  the  outrages  of 

which  they  complained  were  the  acts  of  a   few  lawless 

individuals  and  not  of  the  English  government,  which 

would  take  prompt  measures  to  ferret  out  and  punish 

the  guilty  parties.  At  the  same  time,  he  reminded 

them  that  they  themselves  were  not  wholly  without 

blame  and  they  too,  must  keep  in  restraint  their  own 

people  and  prevent  their  being  led  astray  by  the  wily 

Shawnees.  When  Johnson  had  ceased  speaking,  pipes 

and  tobacco  were  distributed  among  the  Indians, 

who  adjourned  to  meditate  upon  what  they  had  heard. 

Never  again  did  they  hear  the  voice  of  the  great 

brother,  “   Warraghiyagey,  Superintendant  of  affairs,  ” 
ever  their  friend,  for  scarcely  had  his  audience  dispersed 

when  Sir  Johnson,  an  invalid  for  many  years,  over- 

taxed by  his  earnest  and  prolonged  appeal,  was  seized 

with  a   fatal  attack  of  his  disease,  and  in  a   few  hours 



OF  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 
75 

passed  forever  from  the  scenes  of  his  eventful  life. 

The  Indians  of  the  great  convention,  who  had  just 

listened  like  children  to  his  fatherly  voice  were  dumb- 
founded and  thrown  into  the  greatest  confusion  and 

doubt.  Sir  William  Johnson  for  a   score  and  a   half 

of  years  had  been  the  most  dominant  figure  in  the 

Indian  affairs  of  the  colonies  and  the  Northwest, 

while  his  services  in  behalf  of  the  Crown,  as  a   major 

general  in  the  colonial  forces,  and  a   member  of  the 

provincial  council,  had  been  most  conspicuous.  In 

the  French  and  Indian  War  and  during  Pontiac’s 
,<  conspiracy,  it  was  due  almost  solely  to  him  that  the 

r   Six  Nations  were  mainly  restrained  from  throwing 
their  influence  against  the  English.  His  intimate 

knowledge  of  the  languages,  customs,  and  tempera- 

i   ment  of  the  Indians,  his  lordly  appearance,  accom- 
plishment of  manner,  generosity,  patience,  honesty 

and  fair-dealing,  gave  him  uninterrupted  sway  over 
the  Six  Nations  and  other  tribes.  Moreover  Sir 

William  was  allied  to  their  people  by  the  ties  of  kinship 

for  the  mother  of  his  children  was  Molly  Brant,  sister 

of  Thayendanegea,  or  Joseph  Brant,  the  foremost 

chief  of  the  Iroquois  confederacy.  But  their  illus- 

trious patron,  friend  and  adviser  was  gone. 

Colonel  Guy  Johnson,  son-in-law  of  Sir  William,  and 
his  deputy  superintendent  of  Indian  affairs,  at  once 

hastened  to  calm  the  perturbed  spirits  of  the  assembled 

tribesmen,  assuring  them  that  his  Majesty  the  King 

of  England  would  see  that  their  interests  and  rights 
would  still  be  cared  for.  The  funeral  of  Sir  William 

was  attended  by  the  Indians  in  a   body,  who  “   behaved,  ” 
adds  Sir  Guy  in  his  letter  to  the  Earl  of  Dartmouth, 
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“with  the  greatest  decorum  and  exhibited  the  most 

lively  marks  of  real  sorrow.  ”   The  day  after  the  burial 

the  tribesmen  held  their  “ceremony  of  condolence” 
over  the  grave.  It  was  a   pathetic  and  dramatic 

occasion.  Impressive  and  heart-felt  addresses,  em- 

phasized by  the  giving  of  wampum  strings,  were  made 

by  their  chief  speakers,  one  of  whom,  addressing  Guy 

Johnson,  said  “Since  it  has  pleased  the  Great  Spirit 
to  take  from  us  our  great  brother  Warraghiyagey,  we 

now  speak  in  the  name  of  our  whole  Confederacy  and 

dependents,  expressing  our  thanks  that,  agreeably  to 

our  former  request  to  Sir  William  Johnson,  we  now  see 

you  taking  care  of  our  affairs.  We  earnestly  expect 

you  to  take  due  care  of  them  as  that  great  man  did , 

who  promised  you  to  us;  and  we  now  desire  that  you 

will  send  these  our  words  to  the  great  king,  who,  we 

hope,  will  regard  our  desires,  and  approve  of  you  as 

the  only  person  that  knows  us  and  our  affairs,  that 

business  may  go  on  as  it  did  formerly.  Otherwise, 

in  this  alarming  time  of  trouble,  without  your  care  and 

attention,  our  affairs  will  fall  into  great  confusion, 

and  all  our  good  works  will  be  destroyed.”  Sir  Guy 
Johnson  succeeded  to  the  office  of  Superintendent  of 

Indian  affairs  and  John  Johnson,  son  of  the  late  William 
succeeded  to  the  vast  estates  of  his  father. 



Chapter  IV. 

DUNMORE’S  WAR 





THE  expedition  of  Col.  Angus  McDonald, which  was  only  partially  successful,  was  but 
the  forerunner  of  more  momentous  events. 

Lord  Dunmore  had  already  resolved  to  send 

forth  a   force  of  Virginia  militia  that  would  effectually 

overwhelm  and  bring  to  submissive  terms  the  confed- 

erated Ohio  tribesmen.  Just  what  motives  severally 

actuated  Lord  Dunmore  in  his  aggressive  and  zealous 

determination  in  this  matter  will  be  inquired  into  later 

on.  For  the  present,  however,  it  should  be  explained 

that  Virginia  fought  this  war  wholly  unaided  by  Penn- 
sylvania or  indeed  any  other  colony.  It  will  be  recalled 

that  Virginia  through  her  original  and  amended  char- 
ters, claimed  that  her  boundaries  extended  from  the 

Atlantic  coast  across  all  intervening  land  to  the  sea 

on  the  west,  though  by  the  International  treaty  of 

1763,  the  English  colonial  possessions  ceased  at  the 

Mississippi,  the  unexplored  country  west  of  that  river 

having  been  ceded  to  Spain.  This  last  adjustment, 

therefore,  still  left  Virginia  claimant  of  the  strip  to  the 

Mississippi,  embracing  the  southern  half  of  Ohio  and 

the  section  of  Pennsylvania  then  in  dispute.  The 

Virginians  had  protested  against  the  Quebec  act  of 

1763  and  now  came  a   more  vigorous  dissent  to  the 

second  Quebec  act,  which  passed  Parliament  in  June, 

1774.  This  act,  so  obnoxious  to  the  colonists  in  general 

and  Virginia  in  particular,  an  act  which  drew  forth  in 
Parliament  one  of  the  most  famous  invectives  of  the 

Earl  of  Chatham,  who  pronounced  it  “cruel,  oppressive 

and  odious”  and  “calculated  to  finally  lose  his  Majesty 

:he  hearts  of  all  Americans,”  provided  a   government 
or  the  Province  of  Quebec,  embracing  the  domain  west 
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and  north  of  the  Ohio,  known  later  as  the  Northwest 

Territory,  thereby  virtually  extending  the  ancient 
limits  of  Canada. 

The  act  of  1774  sanctioned  therein  the  Catholic 

religion  and  the  administration  of  the  French  civil 

law.  This  arbitrary  and — to  the  American  colonists — 
offensive  jurisdiction  covered  the  scattered  western 

traders’  posts  and  more  firmly  than  ever  excluded  any 
control  over  it  or  interest  in  it  by  the  sea-board  colonies. 

The  Virginians  had  stronger  designs  on  this  territoy 

than  the  Pennsylvanians,  for  the  former  sought  not 

only  unrestricted  trading  privileges  therein,  but  also, 

what  was  more  detrimental  to  the  Indians,  rights  of 

settlement.  The  Pennsylvanians  desired  that  the 

Indians  be  left  in  undisputed  and  undisturbed  posses- 

sion of  the  trans-Ohio  empire,  to  the  end  that  the 
fur  trade,  extensive  and  lucrative  to  Quaker  provincials,  1 

might  be  undiminished.  Hence  the  interests  of  the  : 

two  adjoining  provinces,  east  and  south  of  the  Ohio,  j 

were  adverse,  and  Pennsylvania,  naturally  more  peace- 

able in  the  character  of  her  people,  allowed  the  pugna-  ; 
cious  Virginian  to  enter  the  fight  practically  unaided.  ; 

Another  element  now  comes  into  the  play  in  the 
current  of  events  and  influences  the  actions  of  Lord 

Dunmore.  The  rumblings  of  the  approaching  Ameri- 
can Revolution  began  to  reverberate  in  the  valleys  i 

of  Virginia.  The  week  before  Christmas  (1773)  the 

Boston  patriots,  disguised  as  Indians  had  boarded  th< 

importing  ships  and  cast  the  chests  of  taxable  tea  into 

the  sea.  It  was  the  fuse  that  exploded  the  mine 

Exciting  events  rapidly  followed.  Parliament  passe( 

the  Boston  Port  Bill,  by  which  the  town  and  harbo  1 
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of  Boston  were  to  be  closed  to  foreign  commerce  on 

and  after  June  i   (1774). 
When  the  news  of  this  odious  act  of  Parliament 

reached  Williamsburg,  the  Virginia  House  of  Burgesses, 

among  the  members  of  which  were  George  Washington, 

Patrick  Henry  and  Thomas  Jefferson,  aroused  to  indig- 
nation over  the  oppression  of  the  mother  country, 

adopted  a   resolution  of  protest  and  designated  the 

first  of  June  as  a   day  of  fasting,  prayer  and  humilia- 
tion, because  of  the  heavy  calamity  threatening  their 

colonial  rights.  On  learning  of  this  independent  action, 

Lord  Dunmore  summoned  the  Burgesses  in  the  Council 

Chamber  where,  says  Irving,  he  made  the  following 

laconic  speech:  “Mr.  Speaker  and  gentlemen  of  the 
House  of  Burgesses;  I   have  in  my  hand  a   paper,  pub- 

lished by  order  of  your  House,  conceived  in  such  terms 

as  reflect  highly  upon  His  Majesty  and  the  Parliament 

of  Great  Britain,  which  makes  it  necessary  for  me  to 

dissolve  you  and  you  are  dissolved  accordingly.”  It 
was  the  end  of  the  meetings  of  the  House  of  Burgesses, 

as  such,  though  many  of  the  members  met  the  next 

day,  as  Virginians,  to  take  measures  looking  to  the 

convening  of  a   general  congress  of  the  colonies. 

This  high-handed  action  of  Governor  Dunmore  was  in 
accordance  with  his  character  and  official  policy.  Born 

as  John  Murray  in  Scotland  in  1732,  he  was  a   descend- 
ant in  the  female  line  from  the  royal  House  of  Stuart, 

the  blood  of  the  luxurious  and  imperious  Charleses  ran 

in  his  veins  and  he  was  a   Tory  of  the  Tories.  He  had 

been  prominent  in  the  House  of  Lords  and  was  married 

to  Lady  Charlotte  Stuart,  who  was  closely  related  to 

many  of  the  families  of  English  nobility.  In  1770  he 
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was  appointed  colonial  governor  of  New  York,  and 

two  years  later  became  the  last  colonial  governor  of 

Virginia.  He  naturally  elected  to  stand  loyally  by 

his  king  in  the  clash  between  the  Crown  and  the  colonies. 

But  the  dissolution  of  the  House  of  Burgesses  and 

the  reprimand  given  its  members  did  not  deter  the 

governor  in  his  preparation  for  the  war  against  the 

Ohio  Indians  and  his  efforts  were  not  relaxed.  Lord 

Dunmore  held  his  allegiance  as  first  due  his  king  but 

he  was  also  “   eager  to  champion  the  cause  of  Virginia 

as  against  either  the  Indians  or  her  sister  colonies.” 
The  Burgesses  early  in  May  had  authorized  the  gover- 

nor to  enter  upon  this  hostile  expedition  across  the 

Ohio  and  spite  of  his  position  concerning  the  attitude 

of  the  colony  respecting  the  acts  of  Parliament,  the  j 

Virginians  rallied  vigorously  to  Dunmore’s  call  for 
troops.  The  Virginians  saw  the  clouds  gathering  in 

the  east,  but  another  storm  in  the  west  was  howling 

over  their  frontier. 

The  militia  system  then  in  vogue  in  the  colony,  as 

may  be  learned  from  Jefferson’s  Virginia  notes,  pro-  i 
vided  that  in  each  county  there  should  be  a   chief  i 

military  officer,  known  as  the  County-Lieutenant,  who 

should  enroll  the  militia  enlistments  and  have  general 

supervision  thereof.  Below  him  in  rank  was  a   colonel, 

then  a   lieutenant-colonel,  and  lastly  a   major.  A   regi- 

ment consisted  of  five  hundred  men,  or  ten  companies 

of  fifty  men  each  with  the  usual  officers  of  captain,  . 

lieutenant,  ensign  and  sergeants.  In  August  the  din 

of  preparation  for  the  coming  campaign  resounded 

throughout  Virginia.  An  army  for  offensive  operations 

was  called  for.  Dunmore  directed  that  this  army 
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should  consist  of  volunteers  and  militiamen,  chiefly 

from  the  counties  west  of  the  Blue  Ridge,  to  be  organ- 

ized into  two  divisions.  The  northern  division,  em- 

bracing  the  troops  collected  in  Frederick,  Dunmore 

(now  Shenandoah)  and  adjacent  counties,  was  to  be 

commanded  by. Lord  Dunmore  in  person;  the  southern 

division,  comprising  the  companies  raised  in  Botetourt, 

Augusta  and  adjoining  counties  east  of  the  Blue  Ridge 

was  to  be  led  by  Colonel  Andrew  Lewis.  The  two 

armies  were  to  number  about  fifteen  hundred  each; 

were  to  proceed  by  different  routes,  unite  at  the  mouth 

of  the  Big  Kanawha,  and  from  thence  cross  the  Ohio 

and  penetrate  the  northwest  country  to  the  center  of 

the  Indian  settlements,  defeat  the  redmen  and  destroy 

their  villages. 
In  the  recital  of  the  events  to  follow  we  draw  for  our 

authority  from  the  “ American  Archives,”  “Thwaite’s 

Documentary  History  of  Dunmore’s  War,”  “History 

of  the  Battle  of  Point  Pleasant,”  by  Virgil  A.  Lewis, 

State  Historian  for  West  Virginia,  “The  Battle  of 

Point  Pleasant”  by  Mrs.  Livia  Nye  Simpson  Poffen- 
;   berger,  Editor  State  Gazette ,   Point  Pleasant,  West 

(   Virginia,  and  notes  taken  by  the  writer  during  a   per- 

1   sonal  study  of  routes  followed  by  the  two  armies  in 

•   the  campaign. 

I   Lord  Dunmore  established  his  headquarters  at 

"   “Greenway  Court,”  the  home  of  Lord  Thomas  Fair- 
fax  in  the  Lower  Shenandoah  Valley.  Here  more  than 

II  a   thousand  men  were  enlisted  and  formed  into  two 

^regiments,  one,  known  as  the  “Frederick  County 

# | Regiment,”  under  Colonel  Adam  Stephen,  who  had 

n]:.  |   seen  service  under  McDonald,  Braddock,  Forbes  and 
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Washington.  By  the  last  of  August  the  Dunmore 

division  began  its  march  for  the  west,  both  regiments 

proceeding  to  Redstone,  on  the  Monongahela,  where 

they  separated,  Stephen’s  regiment,  with  the  beef 
cattle,  crossing  the  country  to  Wheeling,  at  the  same 

time  Crawford’s  men,  accompanied  by  Lord  Dunmore, 
marched  to  Pittsburg,  where  they  were  joined  by  the 

“West  Augusta  Battalion”  of  two  hundred  men  under 
command  of  Major  John  Connolly. 

Before  departing  from  Pittsburg,  Dunmore  and  his 

officers  held  conferences  with  some  of  the  envoys  of 

the  Six  Nations  and  of  the  Ohio  tribes.  Among  the 

chiefs  participating  were,  King  Custaloga,  Captain 

White  Eyes,  and  Captain  Pipe  of  the  Delawares; 

Captain  Pluggy  and  Big  Apple  Tree  of  the  Mohawks; 

many  speeches  were  made  as  reported  in  the  American 

Archives;  the  Six  Nations  had  sent  representatives  to  i 

the  Ohio  Shawnees  in  the  endeavor  to  bring  about  a 

peace  understanding  and  prevent  the  impending  war 

between  the  Cornstalk  Confederacy  and  the  Virginians, 

but  the  efforts  were  in  vain  and  Dunmore  embarking 

from  Pittsburg  with  some  seven  hundred  men  descended 

the  Ohio  in  boats  to  Wheeling,  whence  the  whole  army, 

thirteen  hundred  strong,  one  hundred  additional  men 

having  been  received  at  Wheeling,  in  a   flotilla  of  a 

hundred  canoes,  besides  keel  boats  and  pirogues,  with 

George  Rogers  Clark,  Michael  Cresap,  Simon  Kenton 

and  Simon  Girty,  as  scouts  and  guides,  moved  down  i 

the  river  to  the  mouth  of  the  Hockhocking  River;  a 

river  so-called  because  signifying  a   bottle;  the  Shaw-  i 

nees  have  it,  Wea-tha-kagh-qua-sepe,  meaning  “bottle 

river;”  a   further  explanation  is  made  by  a   writer  in 
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the  American  Pioneer  (1842)  who  states  it  was  learned 

from  Big  Cat,  a   Delaware  Indian,  that  Hock-hock-ing 
signifies  in  the  Indian  tongue,  a   bottle  or  jug,  or  a 

gourd  canteen,  or  any  such  vessel  used  for  holding 

liquids,  but  properly  a   bottle.  About  six  or  seven 

miles  northwest  of  Lancaster,  there  is  a   fall  in  the 

Hockhocking  of  about  twenty  feet;  above  the  fall, 

for  a   short  distance,  the  creek  is  very  narrow  and 

straight,  forming  a   neck,  while  at  the  falls  it  suddenly 

widens  on  each  side  and  swells  into  the  appearance  of 

the  body  of  a   bottle.  The  whole,  when  seen  from 

above,  appears  exactly  in  the  shape  of  a   bottle  with 

a   long,  narrow  neck,  from  which  the  water  gushes ;   and 

from  this  fact  the  Indians  called  the  creek  Hockhock- 

ing— or  nearer  to  the  Indian  pronunciation,  “Hockin- 

Hockin.” 
At  this  point — mouth  of  the  Hockhocking — present 

site  of  Hockingport,  a   stockade  was  built,  called  Fort 

Gower,  after  Earl  Gower,  a   personal  friend  of  Dunmore 

in  the  British  House  of  Lords.  Dunmore  left  a   garrison 
of  one  hundred  men  to  care  for  Fort  Gower  and  on 

October  nth,  with  White  Eyes,  the  Delaware  chief 

as  an  extra  guide,  resumed  the  line  of  march  up  the 

Hockhocking  Valley,  which  he  followed  by  way  of  the 

present  town  of  Athens,  thence  to  where  the  town  of 

Logan  now  stands;  from  this  point  he  struck  a   little 

south  of  west  to  the  Pickaway  Plains.  It  was  now 
the  middle  of  October  and  meantime  events  of  intense 

interest  and  greatest  import  were  transpiring  in  the 

Kanawha  Valley  of  Virginia. 

We  revert  to  the  other  division  of  Dunmore’s  army, 
the  left  wing  or  southern  division  under  Colonel 
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Andrew  Lewis.  This  contingent  was  concentrated  at 

“Camp  Union,”  so  designated  because  the  troops  were 
there  to  be  united;  it  was  on  the  Savannah  or  Big 

Levels  about  seven  miles  from  White  Sulphur  Springs, 

on  the  site  of  the  present  town  of  Lewisburg,  Green- 
brier County. 

Andrew  Lewis  was  well  chosen  for  the  part  he  was 

destined  to  direct  in  the  stirring  scenes  before  him  for 

he  was  born  in  Ireland  in  1720  and  came  with  his  father 

and  brothers  to  Virginia  in  1731.  He  had  the  temper 

and  fighting  qualities  of  his  race  to  which  was  added  the 

severe  discipline  of  frontier  life.  In  1742  he  was 

appointed  captain  of  militia  and  ten  years  later  colonel 

for  his  county,  Augusta.  He  was  with  Washington  at 

Fort  Necessity,  where  he  was  wounded;  we  have 

already  met  him  upon  the  disastrous  Sandy  Creek 

expedition  (1756);  he  was  also  in  Forbes  army,  in  the 

Duquesne  campaign  and  rendered  conspicuous  service 
for  the  British  in  the  French  and  Indian  War.  He  was 

appointed  by  the  governor,  commissioner  to  represent 

Virginia  at  the  Treaty  of  Fort  Stanwix,  and  acted  in  a 

similar  capacity  at  the  Treaty  of  Lochaber  with  the 

Cherokees.  Washington,  who  knew  Lewis  well,  had 

the  highest  regard  for  his  military  talent,  his  sterling 

character  and  unflinching  courage. 

Promptly  on  receiving  orders  from  Dunmore,  Colonel 

Lewis  set  in  motion  the  activities  for  volunteer  enlist-  1 

ments.  Speedily  the  companies  began  to  report  at 

Camp  Union,  the  place  of  rendezvous.  These  moun- 
taineer militiamen  little  reckoned  what  an  historic 

experience  was  to  be  theirs.  Every  man  was  enrolling 

his  name  on  a   never  to  be  forgotten  scroll.  From  the] 
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valleys,  hillsides  and  forest  depths  of  the  counties 

of  Augusta,  Botetourt  and  Fincastle  there  came  the 

backwoods  heroes,  truly,  says  Mr.  Virgil  A.  Lewis, 

“this  army  was  the  most  remarkable  body  of  men  that 

had  ever  assembled  on  the  American  frontier.”  The 
Augusta  County  regiment  was  commanded  by  Colonel 

Charles  Lewis,  younger  brother  of  General  Andrew 

Lewis;  this  regiment  numbering  some  four  hundred, 

consisted  of  eleven  companies,  among  the  captains  of 

which  was  John  Lewis,  son  of  Thomas  Lewis,  nephew 

of  General  Andrew  and  of  Colonel  Charles  Lewis;  the 

Botetourt  regiment  numbered  four  hundred  and  fifty 

men,  under  Colonel  William  Fleming,  divided  into 

eight  companies,  one  being  captained  by  John  Stuart, 

whose  “Narrative”  of  this  campaign,  written  many 
years  later,  is  one  of  the  classic  authorities  relating 

to  the  subject;  the  Fincastle  battalion,  numbering 

:   three  hundred  and  fifty  men,  was  led  by  Colonel  William 

i   Christian;  in  addition  there  were  four  independent 

t   companies,  aggregating  one  hundred  and  fifty  men, 

i   known  respectively  as  the  Culpepper  Minute  men, 

^   under  Colonel  John  Field;  the  Dunmore  County  Volun- 

i   teers,  Captain  Thomas  Slaughter;  the  Bedford  County 

g   Riflemen,  Captain  Thomas  Buford  and  the  Kentucky 

Pioneers,  Captain  James  Harrod. 

:1  It  was  a   motley  gathering,  that,  on  the  Levels  of 

>   Greenbrier  in  those  August  days.  They  were  not  the 

it  King’s  regulars,  nor  trained  troops;  they  were  not 
1-  knights  in  burnished  steel  on  prancing  steeds;  they 

ic  were  not  cavaliers’  sons  from  baronial  halls;  they  were 
ig  not  drilled  martinets;  they  were,  however,  determined, 

ie  dauntless  men,  sturdy  and  weather-beaten  as  the 



88 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

mountain  sides  whence  they  came.  Among  these  back- 

woods  braves  were  many  who  had  accompanied  Bou- 
quet in  his  march  to  the  Ohio  towns;  some  had  been 

with  Washington  in  his  discomfiture  at  Fort  Necessity; 

some  with  Braddock  in  the  Monongahela  defeat;  some 

with  Forbes  at  the  victory  of  Fort  Duquesne;  and  still 

others  with  McDonald  in  the  Wakatomica  campaign. 

Roosevelt  remarks  “it  may  be  doubted  if  a   braver  or 
physically  finer  set  of  men  ever  will  get  together  on 

this  continent,”  Virgil  Lewis  says  “this  army  was  not 
uniformed  as  such;  a   few  of  the  officers  on  Colonial 

establishment,  wore  the  regular  military  uniform,  but 

far  the  greater  number  wore  the  individual  costume  of 

the  Border;  they  were  clad  in  the  hunting-shirt  with 
leather  leggings;  breeches  of  domestic  make;  and  caps 

made  from  the  skins  of  wild  animals  or  knit  from  wool; 

each  carried  the  long  flint-lock  rifle,  or  English  muskets, 
with  bullet  pouches  and  quaintly  carved  powder  horns, 

with  tomahawks  and  butcher  knife.  ”   They  were 
undrilled  in  the  arts  of  scientific  warfare  but  were  in 

physical  power  and  patient  endurance,  unsurpassed,  for 

they  had  been  reared  amid  the  open  freedom  and  hardi- 

hood of  backwood’s  life.  Every  man  in  one  company 
of  the  Augusta  troops  was  said  to  measure  above  six 
feet  in  his  moccasins. 

It  was  on  September  8th,  the  cattle  being  corralled, 

the  pack-horses  laden,  that  the  advance  companies  fell 
into  line  and  began  the  march  of  over  one  hundred 

miles  to  the  juncture  of  the  Elk  River  with  the  Kana- 

wha,— or  New  River  as  it  was  also  called — present 
site  of  Charleston,  W.  Va.  It  was  a   tedious  push  ol 

two  weeks  time  through  forests,  over  rugged  improvised 
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roads,  along  streams  and  up  and  down  steep  elevations. 

They  marched  in  long  files  through  the  “deep  and 

gloomy  wood,”  with  scouts  thrown  out  in  front  or 
on  the  flanks,  to  guard  against  surprise  from  Indians, 

who  lurked  throughout  the  woods,  while  axemen  went 

in  advance  to  clear  a   roadway  over  which  they  could 

drive  the  beef  cattle  and  the  pack-horses. 
On  the  2 1   st,  September,  Colonel  Fleming  wrote  in 

his  daily  account  that  they  passed  the  “divide,”  when 

the  valley  began  “to  widen,  the  tulip,  pawpaw,  with 
leather  wood  and  pea-vine  and  buffalo  grass  made 

their  appearance,  then  appeared  the  sweet  gum;  and 

then  the  Great  Kanawha,  two  hundred  yards  wide, 

made  its  appearance.”  Here  they  halted  and  built 
dug-out  canoes  or  pirogues  for  the  baggage  transporta- 

tion upon  the  river,  sixty  miles  to  the  Kanawha  point. 

A   portion  of  the  army  proceeded  down  along  the  banks 

of  the  Kanawha,  while  another  section  filed  through 

the  Indian  trail,  which  followed  the  base  of  the  hills, 

instead  of  the  river  bank,  as  it  was  thus  easier  to  cross 
the  heads  of  creeks  and  ravines. 

On  October  6th,  their  long  and  weary  tramp  was 

ended  and  the  foot-sore  troops  of  this  quaint  army — all 
except  the  contingent  under  Colonel  Christian,  which 

was  delayed  at  the  start  and  arrived  later — encamped 
,   on  Point  Pleasant,  the  high  triangular  nose  of  land, 

I   jutting  out  on  the  north  side  of  the  Kanawha,  where 

I I   it  empties  into  the  Ohio.  It  was  indeed  a   Point 

.   Pleasant;  Mr.  Virgil  Lewis,  in  his  History  of  West 

t   Virginia,  portrays  it  with  an  artist’s  pen:  “The  site 
ill  upon  which  the  Virginia  army  encamped  was  one  of 

ij  awe-inspiring  grandeur.  Here  were  seen  hills,  valleys, 
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plains  and  promontories,  all  covered  with  gigantic 

forests,  the  growth  of  centuries,  standing  in  their 

native  majesty  unsubdued  by  the  hand  of  man,  wearing 

the  livery  of  the  season,  and  raising  aloft  in  mid-air 
their  venerable  trunks  and  branches,  as  if  to  defy  the 

lightning  of  the  sky  and  the  fury  of  the  whirlwind. 

The  broad  reach  of  the  Ohio  closely  resembled  a   lake 

with  the  mouth  of  the  Kanawha  as  an  arm  or  estuary, 

and  both  were,  at  that  season  of  the  year,  so  placid  as 

scarcely  to  present  motion  to  the  eye.  Over  all,  nature 

reigned  supreme.  There  were  no  marks  of  industry, 
nor  of  the  exercise  of  those  arts  which  minister  to  the 

comforts  and  conveniences  of  man.  Here  nature  had 

for  ages  held  undisputed  sway  over  an  empire  inhabited 

only  by  the  enemies  of  civilization. 99 
This  was  the  point  at  which  General  Lewis  expected 

to  meet  the  division  of  Dunmore  but  he  was  keenly 

disappointed.  Dunmore,  as  we  have  seen,  was  far 

away  in  the  Ohio  interior,  he  had  changed  his  plans 

of  operation.  On  the  9th,  October,  messengers,  one 

of  whom  was  Simon  Girty,  and  the  other  Simon  Kenton, 

arrived  at  Lewis’s  camp  bringing  the  message  from 
Lord  Dunmore  that  bade  Lewis  cross  the  Ohio  and 

from  Fort  Gower  march  directly  to  the  Pickaway  Plains 

and  there  join  the  army  of  his  Lordship.  General 

Lewis,  deeply  displeased  at  this  change  in  the  plans 

of  campaign,  arranged  to  break  camp  that  he  might' 
set  out  the  next  day  for  the  Plains,  in  accordance  with 

the  orders  of  his  superior.  But  the  unexpected  hap- 

pened. 
We  have  followed  Lord  Dunmore  to  his  entrance 

upon  the  Scioto  Plains;  we  have  encamped  wit! 
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General  Lewis  at  the  mouth  of  the  Kanawha,  without 

hindrance  or  interruption  from  the  Indians,  the  objects 

of  these  warlike  demonstrations.  But  the  tribesmen, 

Argus-eyed  and  alert,  were  neither  indifferent  nor  idle. 
The  expedition  of  McDonald  to  Wakatomica  had  given 

them  assurance  of  the  hostile  and  aggressive  intentions 

of  the  Virginians.  They  were  well  informed  as  to  the 

vast  preparations  of  Dunmore  to  invade  their  Ohio 

centers,  and  when,  if  not  before,  the  columns  of  the 

armed  pioneers  began  to  move,  Cornstalk,  commander 

in  chief  of  the  Confederacy,  gathered  his  braves, 

animated  by  rage  and  resentment,  to  meet  the  advanc- 
ing foe.  It  is  claimed  that  the  great  chief,  realizing 

the  danger  of  resistance,  and  the  superiority  of  numbers 

to  be  encountered,  at  first  counselled  peace  rather  than 

war,  but  the  subordinate  chiefs  and  the  tribesmen, 

goaded  on  by  the  recent  depredations,  by  the  whites, 

upon  their  land  and  the  late  massacres  of  numbers  of 

their  tribes,  were  aroused  to  the  greatest  warlike 

ferocity. 

Cornstalk  summoned  the  braves  from  the  tribes  of 

the  Ohio  Confederacy;  they  were  the  chosen  warriors 

of  the  Shawnee,  Delaware,  Ottawa,  Wyandot,  Cayuga, 

Miami,  Mingo,  and  other  tribes.  Cornstalk’s  own 
people,  the  fierce  Shawnees,  were  the  most  numerous 

and  his  mainstay;  he  was  aided  by  some  of  the  most 

famous  and  most  skilled  war  leaders  of  his  race;  Elenip- 

sico,  Cornstalk’s  son;  Red  Hawk,  the  Delaware  chief; 
Scrappathus,  the  Mingo;  Chiywee,  the  Wyandot;  the 

Shawnees  Black  Hoof,  Red  Eagle,  Blue  Jacket,  Packi- 

shenoah,  the  father  of  Tecumseh  and  the  latter’s  son 
i   Cheeskau,  elder  brother  of  Tecumseh. 
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The  force  of  Cornstalk  numbered  some  twelve 

hundred  in  number,  practically  man  for  man  as  to  the 

army  of  Lewis.  Every  movement  of  each  army,  that 

of  Dunmore  and  that  of  Lewis,  had  been  stealthily 

watched  by  Cornstalk’s  scouts,  “from  the  peaks  of 
the  Alleghanies,  and  the  highlands  along  the  Great 

Kanawha,”  and  tidings  of  the  advance  of  Dunmore 
to  the  Pickaway  Plains  and  the  march  of  Lewis  to 

Point  Pleasant  promptly  reached  the  council  house  of 

Cornstalk,  in  the  valley  of  the  Scioto.  The  king-chief 
had  the  craft  of  his  race  and  the  tact  of  a   Napoleon. 

He  saw  the  army  of  his  enemy  divided;  Lewis  is  at 

Kanawha,  Dunmore  approaching  the  Scioto.  If  Lewis’s 
division  could  be  surprised  and  overwhelmed,  the  defeat 

of  Dunmore  would  easily  follow. 

So  Cornstalk,  “mighty  in  battle  and  swift  to  carry 
out  what  he  had  planned,  led  his  long  file  of  warriors 

with  noiseless  speed,  through  leagues  of  tractless  wood- 

lands to  the  banks  of  the  Ohio.”  All  day  long  that 
Sunday — October  ninth— with  catlike  tread,  the  war 
painted  savages  moved  toward  the  Ohio,  and  after 

sundown,  halted  in  the  dense  forest  in  the  valley  of 

Campaign  Creek,  now  the  present  site  of  Addison, 

Gallia  County,  Ohio.  Here  some  eighty  rafts  had 

been  previously  prepared,  others  were  quickly  impro- 
vised and  under  cover  of  night,  without  a   breath  of 

noise,  the  hundreds  of  warriors  began  crossing  the 

river  and  before  morning  all  had  been  ferried  to  the 

southern  bank  at  the  location  of  “Old  Shawnee  Town,” 
an  old  settlement  of  the  Shawnees,  distant  about  three 

miles  above  Point  Pleasant.  The  path  from  their  place!': 

of  landing  to  Lewis’  camp  lay  through  a   wild  jungle  of : 

w 
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:hick  underbrush,  fallen  trees  and  dense  forest,  which 

inder  darkness  of  night  concealed  the  snakelike  advance 

)f  their  columns.  Before  break  of  day  they  rested 

ilmost  in  sight  of  the  enemy’s  camp  and  prepared  for 
:he  attack.  That  same  Sunday  night  that  Cornstalk 

:rossed  the  Ohio  and  that  Girty  bore  the  message  of 

Dunmore  to  Lewis,  the  outposts  of  the  latter  reported 
:hat  there  were  no  Indians  within  fifteen  miles  of  the 

Point  Pleasant  encampment.  The  Virginians  slept 

n   supposed  peaceful  security. 

Early  on  the  morning  of  the  tenth,  before  the  sun 

lad  peeped  over  the  Virginia  hills,  two  soldiers — some 
;ay,  James  Robinson  and  Valentine  Sevier,  or,  others 

say,  Joseph  Hughey  and  James  Mooney,  perhaps  the 

our — left  the  camp  of  Lewis  and  crept  up  the  Ohio 

^.iver  bank  in  quest  of  game.  When  they  had  pro- 
seeded  about  two  miles  they  unexpectedly  came  in 

ight  of  the  Indian  force  moving  rapidly  into  position 

or  the  advance.  The  discovered  savages  fired  upon 

he  hunters,  who  fled  back  to  communicate  the  intelli- 

gence that  they  had  seen  a   “body  of  the  enemy  covering 
our  acres  of  ground  as  closely  as  they  could  stand  by 

he  side  of  each  other.” 
General  Lewis  received  the  news  like  the  well  sea- 

oned  Indian  fighter  that  he  was  and  lighting  a   pipe, 

t   is  reported,  coolly  ordered  the  troops  in  battle  array 

nd  in  the  gray  of  early  dawn,  they  hastily  unrolled 

rom  the  blankets  that  had  wrapped  them  for  the  night 

nd  sprang  into  line. 

Colonel  Charles  Lewis  with  several  companies  was 

lirected  to  move  toward  the  right  in  the  direction  of 

brooked  Creek.  Colonel  Fleming,  with  other  com- 
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panies,  was  instructed  to  proceed  to  the  left  up  the 

Ohio.  Lewis’s  force  met  the  left  of  Cornstalk’s  column 

about  half  a   mile  from  the  Virginians’  camp.  Fleming’s 
command  found  the  Indian  right  flank  at  a   greater 

distance  up  the  Ohio  Bank.  Cornstalk’s  line  of  advance 
was  more  than  a   mile  in  front  stretch,  so  drawn  as  to 

cut  diagonally  across  the  river  point.  By  this  tactic 

he  had  calculated  upon  pocketing  General  Lewis  on 

the  corner  of  the  bluff  between  the  Ohio  and  the  Kana- 

wha. The  first  shock  of  the  onslaught  was  favorable 

of  the  foe.  Colonel  Charles  Lewis  made  a   gallant  ad- 

vance that  was  met  by  a   furious  response.  The  colonel 

was  mortally  wounded  at  almost  the  first  fire  of  the 

enemy.  He  calmly  marched  back  to  the  camp  and 

died.  His  men,  many  of  whom  were  killed,  unable 

to  withstand  the  superior  numbers  of  the  Indians  at 

this  point,  began  to  waver  and  fall  back.  Colonel 

Fleming  was  equally  hard  pressed  in  his  encounter. 

He  received  two  balls  through  his  left  arm  and  one 

through  his  breast;  urging  his  men  on  to  victorious 

action  he  retired  to  the  camp,  the  main  portion  of  his 

line  giving  way. 

General  Lewis  now  began  to  fortify  his  position  by 

felling  timber  and  forming  a   breastwork  before  his 

camp.  The  fight  was  soon  general,  and  extended  the 

full  front  of  the  opposing  armies.  What  a   strange  and 

awful  scene  was  presented;  one  of  mingled  picturesque 

beauty  and  ghastly  carnage  on  that  October  Monday 

morning.  A   host  of  forest  savages,  “a  thousand 
painted  and  plumed  warriors,  the  pick  of  the  young  .) 

men  of  the  western  tribes,  the  most  daring  braves 

between  the  Ohio  and  the  great  lakes”  their  brown 
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athletic  and  agile  bodies  decked  in  the  gay  and  rich 

trappings  of  war;  their  raven  black  hair  tossed  like 

netted  manes  in  the  fray  as  with  glowering  eyes  and 

tense  muscles  they  leaped  through  the  brush  and  stood 

face  to  face  with  the  white  foe,  the  latter  rigid  with 

firm  resolution  and  unwincing  courage,  fighters  typical 

of  the  frontier;  a   primitive  army  equal  in  numbers  to 

their  assailants,  heroes  in  homespun,  and  backwoods- 

men in  buckskin,  clothed  in  fringed  leather  hunting 

shirts  and  coarse  woolen  leggings  of  every  color;  they 

wore  skin  and  fur  caps,  and  slung  over  their  shoulders 

were  the  straps  of  the  shot-bag  and  the  strings  of  the 

powder  horn.  Each,  like  his  barbaric  antagonist,  car- 

ried his  flint  lock,  his  tomahawk  and  his  gleaming 

scalp-knife.  For  that  tragic  tableau,  quaint  and 

dramatic,  nature  never  made  a   more  magnificent  or 

peaceful  setting.  The  hostile  lines  grappled  in  deadly 

conflict  on  the  peak  of  land  elevated  by  precipitate 

banks  high  above  the  Ohio,  which  swept  by  in  majestic 

width,  joined  by  the  Kanawha  that  noiselessly  crept 

its  way  amid  a   forest  and  hill-framed  valley.  The 

Ohio  heights  fretted  the  sky  to  the  west,  and  the 

Virginia  Mountains  in  the  near  eastern  background 

were  resplendent  in  the  gorgeous  drapery  of  early 

autumn.  It  was  a   landscape  upon  which  nature  had 

lavished  her  most  luxuriant  charms.  It  was  a   picture 

for  the  painter  and  the  poet  rather  than  the  cold 

chronicler  of  history.  No  event  in  American  annals 

surpasses  this  in  the  mingling  of  natural  beauty  and 

human  violence.  The  brutal  savage  and  the  implac- 

able Anglo-Saxon  were  to  exchange  lives  by  gory  combat 

n   the  irrepressible  conflict  between  their  races. 
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It  was  nearly  noon  and  the  action  was  “extremely 

hot,”  says  a   participant.  The  Indians,  who  had 
pushed  within  the  right  line  of  the  Virginians,  were 

gradually  forced  to  give  way;  the  dense  underwood, 

many  steep  banks  and  fallen  timber  favored  their 

gradual  retreat.  They  were  stubbornly  but  slowly 

yielding  their  ground,  concealing  their  losses  as  best 

they  could  by  throwing  their  dead  in  the  Ohio,  and 

carrying  off  their  wounded.  The  incessant  rattle  of 

the  rifles;  the  shouts  of  the  Virginians,  and  the  war 

whoops  of  the  redmen  made  the  woods  resound  with 

the  “blast  of  war.”  The  groans  of  the  wounded  and 
the  moans  of  the  dying  added  sad  cadence  to  the  clash 

of  arms.  At  intervals,  amid  the  din,  Cornstalk’s 
stentorian  voice  could  be  heard  as  in  his  native  tongue 

he  shouted  cheer  and  courage  to  his  faltering  men,  and 

bade  them  “be  strong,  be  strong.  ”   But  their  desperate 
effort  did  not  avail,  though  exerted  to  the  utmost. 
No  more  bitter  or  fierce  contest  in  Indian  warfare 

is  recorded.  The  hostile  lines  though  a   mile  and  a 

quarter  in  length  were  so  close  together,  being  at  no  point 

more  than  twenty  yards  apart,  that  many  of  the  com- 

batants grappled  in  hand-to-hand  fighting,  and  toma- 
hawked or  stabbed  each  other  to  death.  The  battle 

was  a   succession  of  single  combats,  each  man  sheltering 

himself  behind  a   stump  or  rock,  or  tree-trunk.  The 

superiority  of  the  backwoodsmen  in  the  use  of  rifles — 

they  were  dead  shots,  those  Virginia  mountaineers — 
was  offset  by  the  agility  of  the  Indians  in  the  art  of 

hiding  and  dodging  from  harm.  After  noon  the  action 

small  degree  abated.  The  slow  retreat  of  the 
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whence  it  appeared  difficult  to  dislodge  them.  They  sus- 

tained an  “   equal  weight  of  action  from  wing  towing.” 
Seeing  the  unremitting  obstinacy  of  the  foe,  and 

fearing  the  final  result  if  they  were  not  beaten  before 

night,  General  Lewis,  late  in  the  afternoon,  directed 

Captains  Shelby,  Mathews  and  Stuart  with  their 

companies  to  steal  their  way  under  cover  of  the  thick 

and  high  growth  of  weeds  and  bushes  up  the  bank 

of  the  Kanawha  and  along  the  edge  of  Crooked  Creek 

until  they  should  get  behind  the  flank  of  the  enemy, 

when  they  were  to  emerge  from  their  covert,  move 

downward  towards  the  river  point,  and  attack  the 

Indians  from  the  rear. 

The  strategic  maneuver  thus  planned  was  promptly 

and  adroitly  executed  and  turned  the  tide  in  favor  of 

the  colonial  soldiers.  The  Indians  finding  themselves 

suddenly  and  unexpectedly  encompassed  between  two 

armies  and  believing  that  the  force  appearing  in  the 

rear  was  the  reinforcement  from  Colonel  Christian’s 

delayed  troops,  they  were  discouraged  and  dismayed, 

and  began  to  give  way.  The  appearance  of  troops  in 

the  rear  of  the  Indians  at  once  prevented  the  continu- 

ance of  Cornstalk’s  scheme  of  fighting,  namely,  that 
of  alternately  attacking  and  retreating,  particularly 

with  his  center,  thus  often  exposing  the  advancing 

front  of  the  Virginians  to  the  mercy  of  the  Indian 

flanks.  The  skirmishing  continued  during  the  after- 

noon, the  Indians,  though  at  bay,  making  a   show  at 

bravado.  But  their  strength  was  spent,  and  at  the 

dose  of  the  day  under  the  veil  of  darkness  they  noise- 

essly  and  precipitately  retreated  across  the  Ohio  and 

started  for  the  Scioto  towns. 
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The  battle  of  Point  Pleasant  was  won.  “Such  a 
battle  with  the  Indians,  it  is  imagined,  was  never  heard 

of  before,”  says  the  writer  of  a   letter  printed  in  the 
government  reports.  But  the  day  was  dearly  bought. 

The  Americans  lost  a   fifth  of  their  number,  some 

seventy-five  being  killed  or  fatally  wounded,  and  one 

hundred  and  forty-seven  severely  or  slightly  wounded. 

Among  the  slain  were  some  of  the  bravest  Virginian  1 

officers,  including  Colonel  Charles  Lewis,  Major  Johr" 
Field,  Captains  John  Murray,  James  Ward,  Samue 

Wilson,  and  Robert  McClannahan;  and  Lieutenant 

Hugh  Allen  and  Jonathan  Cundiff.  The  Indian  los 

was  never  definitely  known  for  they  cunningly  carriec 

off  or  concealed  most  of  their  killed,  and  secretb 

cared  for  their  wounded.  They  lost  probably  onh 

half  as  many  as  the  whites.  About  forty  warrior 

were  known  to  be  killed  outright,  or  to  have  died  o 

their  wounds.  Of  the  number  of  wounded  no  estimati 

could  be  made.  Kercheval,  the  Virginian  historian 

who  wrote  his  account  of  the  battle  from  the  report: 

of  participants,  puts  the  Indian  loss  in  killed  anc 

wounded  at  three  hundred,  which  is  probably  too  great 

While  the  Virginians  lost  many  officers,  strangel) 

enough  among  the  Indians  no  chief  of  importance  wai 

slain,  except  Packinshenoah  or  Pukeesheno,  the  Shaw 

nee  chief,  and  father  of  Tecumseh.  No  “official  report’ 
of  this  battle  was  made,  or  if  so,  probably  not  preserved 

The  battle  of  Point  Pleasant  was  the  most  extensive 

the  most  bitterly  contested,  and  fought  with  the  mosl 

At  the  time  it  occurred  it  aroused  world-wide  interest 

potent  results  of  any  Indian  battle  in  American  history 

Not  only  English  papers  in  the  mother  country  bul 
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French  and  German  newspapers  on  the  continent 

published  extended  articles  descriptive  of  the  battle, 

j   It  was  purely  a   frontier  encounter.  The  whites  were 

Virginia  Volunteers.  The  savages,  the  picked  fighters 

of  their  tribes,  led  by  their  greatest  warriors,  were 

unaided  by  even  a   single  white  man.  The  significance 

of  the  battle  was  many  fold  and  far-reaching.  It  was 

the  last  battle  fought  by  the  colonists  while  subjects 

under  British  rule. 

The  present  writer  in  a   monograph,  published  some 

ten  years  ago,  assented  to  the  claim  that  this  was  the 

first  battle  of  the  American  Revolution,  a   claim  that 

has  led  to  much  dispute  and  discussion.  Our  grounds 

for  that  view  were  that  in  this  frontier  contest  the 

Virginians  were  fighting  against  the  Indians,  not  merely 

from  retaliatory  motives,  but  in  defiance  of  the  Quebec 

Act,  for  they  were  proposing  to  invade  the  British 

royal  domain — the  Ohio  country — then  part  of  the 

province  of  Quebec,  and  attack  the  Ohio  Indians  who 

were  the  protected  wards  of  England  and  consequently 

allies  of  Parliamentary  power.  Moreover  did  not  the 

Virginians  have  for  their  ulterior  result  the  privilege 

of  settling  across  the  Ohio  in  a   territory  they  claimed 

to  be  part  of  their  colony?  In  brief  were  they  not  as 

Virginians  contending  for  colonial  rights  against  the 

mother  country?  The  unjust  and  usurping  features  of 

the  Quebec  Act  were  cause  for  one  of  the  clauses  of  the 

Declaration  of  Independence.  It  is  claimed,  on  the 

3ther  hand,  by  many  distinguished  authorities  that 

Dunmore,  perhaps  with,  perhaps  without,  the  conni- 

vance of  the  British  powers,  seeing  the  possible  out- 

:   break  of  the  Revolution,  concocted  this  campaign  in 
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order  to  lead  the  Virginians  into  the  horrors  of  an 

Indian  warfare  in  order  that  the  colonists  might  awake 

to  the  fact  that  in  case  of  a   rebellion  they  would  have 

to  meet  the  savage  hordes  of  the  Northwest,  and  such 

a   contingency  was  calculated  to  deter  them  from  taking 

steps  toward  independence. 

The  literature  on  this  subject  is  extensive  and  con- 

fusing. One  side  is  represented  by  Brantz  Mayer  in 

his  volume  on  Logan  and  Cresap,  wherein  he  says: 

“It  was  probably  Lord  Dunmore’s  desire  to  incite 
a   war  which  would  arouse  and  band  the  savages  of  the 

west,  so  that  in  the  anticipated  struggle  with  the 

united  colonies  the  British  home-interest  might  ulti- 

mately avail  itself  of  these  children  of  the  forest  as 

ferocious  and  formidable  allies  in  the  onslaught  on  the 

Americans.  ”   To  this  Roosevelt  in  his  “Winning  of  the 

West,”  replies:  “The  war  was  of  the  greatest  advan- 

tage to  the  American  cause;  for  it  kept  the  north- 

western Indians  off  our  hands  for  the  first  two  years 

of  the  Revolutionary  struggle;  and  had  Lord  Dunmore 

been  the  farseeing  and  malignant  that  this  theory 

supposes,  it  would  have  been  impossible  for  him  not 

also  to  foresee  that  such  a   result  was  absolutely  inevh 

table.  There  is  no  reason  whatever  to  suppose  that 

he  was  not  doing  his  best  for  the  Virginians ;   he  deservec 

their  gratitude;  and  he  got  it  for  the  time  being.  The 

accusations  of  treachery  against  him  were  after- 

thoughts, and  must  be  set  down  to  mere  vulgar  rancor 

unless,  at  least,  some  faint  shadow  of  proof  is  advanced.’ 
To  our  mind  Roosevelt  states  the  better  argument 

the  Janus-face  theory  concerning  Dunmore,  in  th< 

light  of  all  surrounding  circumstances,  appears  ridicu 

It 

Non 
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lous  and  puerile.  Lord  Dunmore  may  have  been 

capable  of  duplicity,  but  he  was  not  a   simpleton. 

Whatever  the  understanding  may  have  been  between 

Lord  Dunmore  and  the  royal  authorities,  or  between 

the  Indians  and  the  British  powers,  or  whether  there 

was  any  explicit  understanding  at  all,  in  either  case, 

that  battle  represented  the  initial  bloodshed  between 

the  allies  of  the  British  and  the  colonial  dependents. 

Had  Cornstalk  been  the  conqueror  in  that  battle,  the 

whole  course  of  subsequent  American  history  might 

have  been  different.  It  is  difficult  to  believe  that  the 

colonists  would  have  been  stunned  to  inaction  by  the 

blow  of  defeat  at  Point  Pleasant  and  the  further  fear 

of  an  extended  and  horrible  warfare  on  their  western 

borders,  but  in  the  event  of  Cornstalk’s  success  it  is 
more  than  likely  that  the  Ohio  northwest  country 

would  have  remained  the  great  western  province  of 

ithe  British  power  and  the  United  States  would  have 

been  restricted  to  the  domain  east  of  the  Alleghanies. 

101  puch  is  the  view  of  Hinsdale  in  the  “Old  Northwest” 

so!  pnd  Roosevelt  in  the  “Winning  of  the  West.” 

‘This  battle,”  says  Colonel  John  Stuart,  in  his  histor- 

lef  cal  memoir,  “was,  in  fact,  the  beginning  of  the  revolu- 
ionary  war,  that  obtained  for  our  country  the  liberty 

md  independence  enjoyed  by  the  United  States — and 

T   i   good  presage  of  future  success;  for  it  is  well  known 

it  hat  the  Indians  were  influenced  by  the  British  to 

c(  ommence  the  war  to  terrify  and  confound  the  people, 

efore  they  commenced  hostilities  themselves  the  fol- 

id|  3wing  year  at  Lexington.  It  was  thought  by  British 

oliticians,  that  to  excite  an  Indian  war  would  prevent 

combination  of  the  colonies  for  opposing  parliamen- 
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tary  measures  to  tax  the  Americans.  The 

therefore,  spilt  upon  this  memorable  battlefield,  will 

long  be  remembered  by  the  good  people  of  Virginia 

and  the  United  States  with  gratitude.” 
Virgil  A.  Lewis,  says  in  his  History  of  West  Virginia, 

“To  the  student  of  history  no  truth  is  more  patent 
than  this,  that  the  battle  of  Point  Pleasant  was  the 

first  in  the  series  of  the  Revolution,  the  flames  of  which 

were  then  being  kindled  by  the  oppression  of  the 

mother  country,  and  the  resistance  of  the  same  by  the 

feeble  but  determined  colonies.  It  is  a   well  known 

fact  that  emissaries  of  Great  Britain  were  then  inciting 

the  Indians  to  hostilities  against  the  frontier  for  the 

purpose  of  distracting  attention  and  thus  preventing 

the  consummation  of  the  union  which  was  then  being 

formed  to  resist  the  tyranny  of  their  armed  oppressors. 

It  is  also  well  known  that  Lord  Dunmore  was  an  enemy 

to  the  colonists,  by  his  rigid  adherence  to  the  royal 

cause  and  his  efforts  to  induce  the  Indians  to  cooperate 

with  the  English,  and  thus  assist  in  reducing  Virginia 

to  subjection.  It  has  been  asserted  that  he  intention- 

ally delayed  the  progress  of  the  left  wing  of  the  army 

that  the  right  might  be  destroyed  at  Point  Pleasant 

Then,  at  the  mouth  of  the  Great  Kanawha  River,  on 

the  ioth  day  of  October,  1774,  there  went  whizzing 

through  the  forest  the  first  volley  of  a   struggle  for 

liberty  which,  in  the  grandeur  and  importance  of  its 

results,  stands  without  a   parallel  in  the  history  of  the 

world.  On  that  day  the  soil  on  which  Point  Pleasant 

now  stands  drank  the  first  blood,  shed  in  defence  of 

American  liberty,  and  it  was  there  decided  that  the 

decaying  institutions  of  the  Middle  Ages  should  not 
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prevail  in  America,  but  that  just  laws  and  priceless 

liberty  should  be  planted  forever  in  the  domains  of 

the  New  World.  Historians,  becoming  engrossed  with 

the  more  stirring  scenes  of  the  Revolution,  have  failed 

to  consider  this  sanguinary  battle  in  its  true  import 

and  bearing  upon  the  destiny  of  our  country,  forgetting 

that  the  colonial  army  returned  home  only  to  enlist 

in  the  patriot  army,  and  on  almost  every  battlefield 

of  the  Revolution  represented  that  little  band  who 

stood  face  to  face  with  the  savage  allies  of  Great  Britain 

at  Point  Pleasant.” 

And  finally  we  cite  Mr.  Bancroft,  who  in  his  History 

of  the  United  States,  speaking  of  the  victory  won  at  the 

battle  of  Point  Pleasant,  thus  remarks:  “The  results 
inured  exclusively  to  the  benefit  of  America.  The 

Indians  desired  peace;  the  rancor  of  the  white  people 

changed  to  confidence.  The  royal  Governor  of  Vir- 

ginia and  the  Virginian  army  in  the  valley  of  the  Scioto 

nullified  the  act  of  Parliament  which  extended  the 

province  of  Quebec  to  the  Ohio,  and  in  the  name  of 

the  King  of  Great  Britain  triumphantly  maintained 

for  Virginia  the  western  and  northwestern  jurisdiction 

which  she  claimed  as  her  chartered  right.” 
The  fate  of  the  Northwest  Territory  was  at  stake  in 

that  battle  though  no  British  soldier  participated 

therein.  Surely  America  has  no  more  historic  soil 

than  the  ground  of  the  Kanawha  and  Ohio  point — 

reddened  that  October  day  by  the  blood  of  savage 

warriors  and  frontier  woodsmen.  The  battle  of  Point 

Pleasant,  as  might  easily  be  imagined,  inspired  many 

a   poetic  mind  and  several  rhyming  accounts  of  the 

event  were  produced,  some  by  poetasters  who  partici- 
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pated  in  the  contest;  as  a   sample  we  give  a   few  stanzas 

from  one  preserved  in  the  Draper  manuscripts: 

Brave  Lewis  our  Colonel,  an  officer  bold, 
At  the  mouth  of  Kanawha  did  the  Shawnees  behold. 

On  the  tenth  of  October,  at  the  rising  sun 
The  armies  did  meet  and  the  battle  begun. 

One  thousand,  one  hundred  we  had  on  Ohio, 
Two  thirds  of  this  number  to  the  battle  did  go, 
The  Shawnees  nine  hundred,  some  say  many  more, 
We  formed  our  battle  on  the  Ohio  shore. 

Like  thunder  from  heaven  our  rifles  did  roar, 
Till  twelve  of  the  clock,  or  perhaps  something  more, 
And  during  this  time  the  Shawnees  did  fly, 
Whilst  many  a   brave  man  on  the  ground  there  did  lie. 

Frorfl  twelve  until  sunset  some  shots  there  did  fly, 
By  this  kind  of  fighting  great  numbers  did  die, 
But  night  coming  on,  the  poor  Shawnees  did  yield, 
Being  no  longer  able  to  maintain  the  field. 

Forty  brave  men  on  the  ground  there  did  lie, 
Besides  forty  more  of  our  wounded  did  die, 
Killed  and  wounded  on  the  Ohio  shore, 
Was  one  hundred  and  forty  and  perhaps  something  more. 

What  the  Shawnees  did  lose  we  never  did  hear, 
The  bodies  of  twenty  did  only  appear, 
Into  the  Ohio  the  rest  they  did  throw, 
The  just  number  of  which  we  never  did  know. 

Cornstalk’s  warriors,  dejected  over  the  signal  success  I 

of  the  “Long  Knives,”  began  their  retreat,  the  long,  i 
wearisome  march  of  eighty  miles,  through  the  lonely 

wilderness  to  their  towns  on  the  Pickaway  Plains,  i 

There  the  conquered  but  unsubdued  chief  called  a 

council  of  his  people  to  consult  on  what  was  to  be  done.  • 

He  upbraided  the  other  chiefs  for  their  folly  in  not  ) 

accepting  his  previous  advice  to  make  peace  and  avoid 
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Map  of  the  Darby  and  Pickaway  Plains,  scene  of  Dun- 

more’s  encampment;  the  “Reconciliation”  treaty;  site 

of  Logan’s  home,  Cornstalk’s  Town  and  the  Grenadier 

Squaw’s  Town,  and  present  City  of  Circleville. 
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1'  1   we  had  on  Ohio, 

tmber  to  the  battle  did  go, 
i   •   -   i red ,   some  say  many  more, 
-the  Ohio  shore. 

'   h;  avcn  our  rifles  did  roar, 
.   or  j   erhaps  something  more, 

ing  thi  wxuses  did  fly, 
o   on  the  ground  there  did  lie. 
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vi  th*  ground  the  id  lie, 

’   jore  of  our  wounded  did  die, 
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ne  thing  moreJ 
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a   war.  They  were  now  at  the  mercy  of  the  Virginians 

who  under  Dunmore  were  rapidly  approaching  the 

Indian  capital,  and  ere  many  days  Lewis  would  also 

arrive  from  the  south.  “What, ”   said  the  desperate 

chief,  “will  you  do  now?  We  must  fight  or  we  are 

destroyed.”  But  the  braves,  lately  so  fierce  for  war, 
remained  silent,  their  wisdom  was  at  an  end.  Corn- 

stalk then  said  “let  us  kill  all  our  women  and  children 

and  go  and  fight  till  we  die.”  But  still  none  would 

answer.  Then  the  chief  arose  and  striking  his  toma- 

hawk in  the  post  in  the  center  of  the  council  house, 

exclaimed :   “   I’ll  go  and  make  peace,  ”   and  the  warriors 

all  grunted  “ough,  ough,  ough,  ”   their  form  of  assent. 

Runners  were  instantly  dispatched  to  Dunmore’s 
army  to  solicit  a   parley  and  bring  about  a   cessation 

of  hostilities.  The  envoys  of  peace,  several  Indians, 

accompanied  by  Mathew  Elliott,  a   white  man,  bearing 

a   flag  of  truce,  met  the  advance  soldiers  of  Dunmore 

when  the  latter  was  within  fifteen  miles  of  the  Shawnee 

towns.  Cornstalk’s  embassy  requested  the  assistance 
of  an  interpreter  and  an  audience  with  Lord  Dunmore. 

Captain  John  Gibson,  was  appointed  as  interpreter 

and  received  the  message  from  Cornstalk’s  runners  that 

peace  was  desired.  Lord  Dunmore,  however,  con- 

tinued his  advance  to  the  Shawnee  towns  and  on  Octo- 

ber 17  (1774)  encamped  on  the  Plains,  in  what  is  now 

Pickaway  Township,  Pickaway  County.  This  camp, 

named  “Charlotte,”  after  Lord  Dunmore’s  wife,  or  as 
some  state  after  the  wife  of  George  III.,  who  was  also 

a   Charlotte,  was  located  on  the  north  bank  of  Scippo 

Creek,  a   few  miles  from  Cornstalk’s  town,  the  Shawnee 
capital. 
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In  his  headquarters  in  Camp  Charlotte,  Dunmore  (on 

October  19th),  gave  audience  to  the  Indian  embassy. 

It  was  an  occasion  of  imposing  importance.  Major 

John  Connolly  acted  as  secretary;  John  Gibson  and 

Thomas  Nicholson  as  interpreters.  It  was  indeed  as 

Mr.  Lewis  says,  “a  great  day  away  out  in  that  western 
wilderness,  white  and  red  men  met  to  consummate  a 

treaty  of  peace,  after  a   march  of  two  thousand  four 

hundred  men  from  the  heart  of  Virginia  to  the  center 

of  the  then  known  American  wilderness.” 

The  officers  gathered  about  Lord  Dunmore  while 

the  Indian  leaders  acted  as  a   retinue  to  the  conquered 

Cornstalk.  In  all  the  dignity  and  passion  of  his  race, 

in  the  simple  but  picturesque  language  of  the  savage,  he 

recited  the  sufferings  of  his  people,  the  wrongs  done 

his  tribesmen,  and  plead  for  peace.  Captain  Benjamin 

Wilson,  who  was  present  at  this  council,  as  one  of 

Dunmore’s  officers,  wrote  of  Cornstalk,  “when  he 
arose,  he  was  in  no  wise  confused  or  daunted,  but  spoke 

in  a   direct  and  audible  voice,  without  stammering  or 

repetition  and  with  peculiar  emphasis.  His  looks, 

while  addressing  Dunmore,  were  truly  grand  and  majes- 

tic, yet  graceful  and  attractive.  I   have  heard  the 

first  orators  in  Virginia — Patrick  Henry  and  Richard 

Henry  Lee — but  never  have  I   heard  one  whose  powers 

of  delivery  surpassed  those  of  Cornstalk.” 



Chapter  V. 

LOGAN’S  SPEECH 





THE  day  following  the  hearing  of  the  Indian envoys  Lord  Dunmore  submitted  to  the 

reassembled  council  what  he  called  “The 
terms  of  our  reconciliation to  which  the 

Cornstalk  confederacy  agreed.  Those  terms  were  in 

substance:  the  Indians  were  to  restore,  without  reserve, 

all  white  prisoners  in  their  possession;  never  again  to 

wage  war  against  the  Virginia  frontier;  pay  for  all 

property  of  the  whites  destroyed  by  the  Indians  and 

return  all  horses  and  other  property  still  retained, 

taken  from  the  whites;  no  more  to  molest  the  boats 

of  the  whites,  descending  or  ascending  the  Ohio  River; 

nor  hunt  nor  visit,  except  for  trading  purposes,  in  the 

territory  south  of  the  Ohio;  to  give  hostages  as 

guaranty  for  fulfilling  above  agreements;  Governor 

Dunmore  agreed  that  no  white  people  should  be  per- 
mitted to  hunt  on  the  northern  or  Indian  side  of  the 

Ohio  River.  Cornstalk  could  do  no  other  than  haugh- 

tily accede  to  the  terms  required  by  the  Virginians. 

But  there  was  one  brave  distinguished  in  Indian 

affairs,  conspicuous  for  his  absence  from  that  treaty 

meeting.  He  had  sworn  implacable  enmity  against 

the  whites  and  had  taken — in  accordance  with  his 

vow — no  less  than  thirty  scalps  from  the  pale  face 

pioneers.  His  hostility  must  be  appeased.  It  was 

Tah-gah-jute,  the  Mingo  known  as  Chief  Logan, 

though  his  chieftaincy,  so  far  as  the  Mingoes  were 

concerned,  was  nominal  rather  than  real.  He  was  not 

in  the  battle  of  Point  Pleasant,  though  many  authori- 

ties assert  that  he  was,  especially  John  Clark  Ridpath 

in  his  popular  History  of  the  United  States,  in  which 

the  author  erroneously  says:  “Logan  had  fought 



110  THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

bravely  and  taken  many  scalps  at  Point  Pleasant.” 
The  evidence  is  conclusive  that  Logan  was  far  away 

from  the  scene  of  that  battle;  he  was  not  even  in  the 

army  of  Cornstalk.  Perhaps  like  Achilles  of  old,  he 

had  sulked  in  his  Mingo  quarters, — on  or  near  the 

Scioto — contemplating  the  entire  proceedings  with 

scorn  and  disdain.  “His  fellows,  when  questioned 
about  his  absence,  answered  that  he  was  like  a   mad 

dog,  whose  bristles  were  still  up;  and  when  he  was 

entreated  to  be  present,  he  responded  that  he  was  a 

warrior  and  not  a   councillor,  and  would  not  come.” 
But  his  influence  with  his  people  made  it  important 

that  his  concurrence  be  secured.  His  cabin,  where 

at  this  time  he  resided,  quite  isolated  from  most  of 

his  Mingo  tribe,  was  four  or  five  miles  from  Dunmore’s 
camp.  The  governor  sent  John  Gibson,  whose  squaw, 

murdered  at  Baker’s — as  before  stated — -   was  the  sister 

of  the  Mingo  chief,  to  urge  the  attendence  of  Logan. 

There  is  much  controversy  over  the  events  that 

immediately  ensued.  According  to  Brantz  Mayer,  a 

partisan  defender  of  Captain  Michael  Cresap,  in  his 

history  of  the  latter,  says,  “Gibson  found  Logan  some 
miles  off  at  a   hut  with  several  Indians;  and,  pretending, 

in  the  Indian  fashion,  that  he  had  nothing  in  view,  ' 

talked  and  drank  with  them  until  the  savage  touched 

his  coat  stealthily,  and,  beckoning  him  out  of  the  house,  J 

led  him  out  into  a   solitary  thicket,  where  sitting  down 

on  a   log,  he  burst  into  tears  and  uttered  some  sentences 

of  impassioned  eloquence,  which  Gibson,  immediately 

returning  to  the  British  camp,  committed  to  paper. 

As  soon  as  the  envoy  had  reduced  the  message  to 

writing,  it  was  read  aloud  in  the  council;  heard  by  the 
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soldiers;  and  proved  to  be  neither  a   speech,  a   message, 

nor  a   pledge  of  peace.”  Mayer  continues:  “Thus 
the  speech  of  Logan,  which  has  been  so  long  celebrated 

as  the  finest  specimen  of  Indian  eloquence,  dwindles 

into  a   reported  conversation  with,  or  outburst  from, 

a   blood-stained  savage;  excited  perhaps,  when  he 

delivered  it,  as  well  by  the  cruelties  he  had  committed 

as  by  liquor;  false  in  its  allegations  as  to  Cresap;  and, 

at  least,  after  being  conveyed  to  camp,  six  miles  distant, 

in  the  memory  of  Gibson,  written  down,  and  read  by 

proxy  to  the  council  of  Lord  Dunmore.  ” 
Logan  spoke  English  but  could  not  write  it;  Gibson 

was  versed  in  the  Indian  tongue  and  made  an  English 

transcription  of  the  speech,  unquestionably  preserving 

its  spirit  and  form  in  a   most  successful  degree.  In  the 

year  1781,  Thomas  Jefferson  wrote  his  “Notes  on  the 

State  of  Virginia.  ”   They  were  corrected  and  enlarged 
in  the  following  year,  and  published  in  1787.  In  these 

“Notes”  Mr.  Jefferson  describes  the  characteristics 

and  customs  of  the  American  Indian,  and  says:  “hence 
eloquence  in  council,  bravery  and  address  in  war, 

became  the  foundation  of  all  conquest  with  them.  To 

these  acquirements  all  their  faculties  are  directed.  Of 

their  bravery  and  address  in  war  we  have  multiplied 

proofs,  because  we  have  been  the  subjects  on  which 

they  were  exercised.  Of  their  eminence  in  oratory, 

we  have  fewer  examples,  because  displayed  chiefly  in 

heir  own  councils.  Some,  however,  we  have  of  very 

aiperior  lustre.  I   may  challenge  the  whole  orations 

>f  Demosthenes  and  Cicero,  and  of  any  more  eminent 

>rator,  if  Europe  has  furnished  any  more  eminent,  to 

>roduce  a   single  passage,  superior  to  the  speech  of 
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Logan,  a   Mingo  chief,  to  Lord  Dunmore,  when  governor 

of  this  state.  ”   Then,  after  stating  the  circumstances  ;j 
under  which  it  was  delivered  and  sent  by  messenger 

to  Dunmore,  Jefferson  quotes  the  speech:  “I  appeal 

to  any  white  man  to  say  if  ever  he  entered  Logan’s 
cabin  hungry  and  he  gave  him  not  meat;  if  ever  he 

came  cold  and  naked  and  he  clothed  him  not?  During 

the  course  of  the  last  long  and  bloody  war,  Logan 

remained  idle  in  his  camp,  an  advocate  for  peace. 

Such  was  my  love  for  the  whites  that  my  countrymen 

pointed  as  I   passed  and  said,  4   Logan  is  the  friend  of  the 

white  man.’  I   had  even  thought  to  have  lived  with 
you  but  for  the  injuries  of  one  man.  Colonel  Cresap, 

the  last  spring,  in  cold  blood  and  unprovoked,  murdered 

all  the  relations  of  Logan,  not  even  sparing  my  women 

and  children.  There  runs  not  a   drop  of  my  blood  in 

the  veins  of  any  living  creature.  This  called  on  me 

for  revenge.  I   have  sought  it.  I   have  killed  many. 

I   have  fully  glutted  my  vengeance.  For  my  country 

I   rejoice  at  the  beams  of  peace;  but  don’t  harbor  a,q 
thought  that  mine  is  the  joy  of  fear.  Logan  never 

felt  fear.  He  will  not  turn  on  his  heel  to  save  his  life.; 

Who  is  there  to  mourn  for  Logan?  Not  one.” 

Some  years  after  the  publication  of  the  “ Notes’1  i 
containing  the  speech,  Mr.  Jefferson  was  charged  ir 

public  prints  by  Luther  Martin  with  having  forgec 

or  “ manufactured”  this  address  of  Logan  or  at  leas 
the  part  of  it  in  which  the  Mingo  chief  attributed  th( 

murder  of  his  family  to  Michael  Cresap.  Luthe 

Martin  was  a   brilliant  lawyer  and  orator;  attorney 

general  of  Maryland  (1778);  an  ardent  Federalist  an< 

political  opponent  of  Jefferson;  he  had  married  th 
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aughter,  Mary,  of  Michael  Cresap.  As  is  fully  set 

>rth  in  “The  Olden  Time”  magazine,  edited  by 
■   eville  Craig,  Martin  in  1797  wrote  a   public  letter 

)   an  elocutionist,  who  had  recited  Logan’s  speech,  in 
hich  letter  Martin  defended  Michael  Cresap  as  to 

le  charge  that  he  killed  Logan’s  family  and  accused 
dferson  of  fictitiously  creating  the  speech,  saying: 

I   am  convinced  the  charge  exhibited  by  him  [Jefferson] 

>ainst  Colonel  Cresap  is  not  founded  in  truth;  and 

so,  that  no  such  specimen  of  Indian  oratory  was  ever 

diibited.  ” 

Mr.  Jefferson  tartly  replied  to  these  charges  in  an 

ien  letter  to  Governor  Henry  of  Maryland,  written 

December,  1797,  and  published  in  an  appendix  to 

s   “Notes”  in  the  edition  of  1801.  Mr.  Jefferson,  in 
ie  letter,  states  that  he  published  the  Logan  speech  as 

[Jefferson]  had  heard  it  related  at  Lord  Dunmore’s, 
f   the  latter  and  his  officers,  after  their  return  to 

filliamsburg  and  as  it  was  “circulated  in  the  news- 

ipers  through  all  the  then  colonies,  through  the  maga- 

|nes  of  Great  Britain  and  periodical  publications  of 

urope, ”   adding  “and  I   find  in  my  pocketbook  of 
iat  year  (1774)  an  entry  of  the  narrative  as  taken  from 

ie  mouth  of  some  person,  whose  name,  however,  is 

)t  noted,  nor  recollected,  precisely  in  the  words 

ated  in  the  ‘Notes  on  Virginia;’  the  speech  was 
lblished  in  the  Virginia  Gazette  of  that  time,  (I  have 

myself  in  the  volume  of  Gazettes  of  that  year)  and 

rni  ough  in  a   style  by  no  means  elegant,  yet  it  was  so 

J   imired,  that  it  flew  through  all  the  public  papers  of 

|l  e   continent.” 

1? 
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Mr.  Henry  S.  Randall  who  wrote  an  exhaustive  and 

most  faithful  biography  of  Jefferson,  verifies  the  latter’s  j 
testimony  concerning  his  authority  for  the  Logar 

speech,  even  to  the  finding  of  Jefferson’s  “pocket-book’ 
(of  1774)  containing  the  copy  taken  down  at  the  time 

Mr.  Jefferson  accompanies  his  appendix  letter  t( 

Governor  Henry  with  affidavits  concerning  the  speech 

These  affidavits  which  we  have  previously  quoted  ii  1 

connection  with  Cresap’s  alleged  guilt,  prove  unques  I 
tionably  that  Michael  Cresap  did  not  participate  in  th 

murder  of  Logan’s  relatives,  but  that  Logan  though 
Cresap  was  guilty  and  so  charged  in  his  speech,  whic 

was  reproduced  by  Jefferson  as  it  came  from  Dunmore: 
report,  and  this  version  has  been  the  accepted  one  i 

historical  literature.  In  addition  to  that  of  Jefferso 

there  are  two  other  versions,  immaterially  differing 

preserved;  one  of  these,  taken  from  a   letter  written  c 

Williamsburg,  February  4,  1775  found  its  way  into  tl 

American  Archives;  another,  also  extracted  from 

Virginia  letter  and  later  appearing  in  the  Archive  | 

was  published  in  New  York,  February  16,  1775. 

There  is  another  account  of  the  circumstances  und<  l 

which  the  speech  was  conveyed  to  Dunmore.  Th 

is  the  testimony  made  and  signed  by  Benjamin  Tor 

linson,  on  April  17,  1797.  Tomlinson  was  present 

the  Dunmore  treaty  proceedings  and  later  testifie 

44  Logan  was  not  at  the  treaty,  perhaps  Cornstalk,  til 
chief  of  the  Shawnee  nation,  mentioned,  among  oth 

grievances,  the  Indians  killed  on  Yellow  Creek;  but  I   b 

lieve  neither  Cresap  nor  any  other  person,  were  named 

the  perpetrators;  and  I   perfectly  recollect,  that  I   w> 

that  day  officer  of  the  guard,  and  stood  near  Dunmon 
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person,  that  consequently  I   saw  and  heard  all  that 

passed;  that  also  two  or  three  days  before  the  treaty, 

when  I   was  on  the  out-guard,  Simon  Girty  who  was 

passing  by,  stopped  with  me  and  conversed — he  said 

he  was  going  after  Logan,  but  he  did  not  like  his 

business,  for  he  [Logan]  was  a   surly  fellow — he  however, 

proceeded  on,  and  I   saw  him  return  on  the  day  of 

the  treaty,  and  Logan  was  not  with  him;  at  this 

time  a   circle  was  formed  and  the  treaty  begun,  I   saw 

John  Gibson  on  Girty’s  arrival,  get  up  and  go  out  of 
the  circle  and  talk  with  Girty  after  which  he  [Gibson] 

went  into  a   tent,  and  soon  after  returning  into  the 

circle,  drew  out  of  his  pocket  a   piece  of  clean  new 

paper,  on  which  was  written  in  his  own  handwriting — 

a   speech  for  and  in  the  name  of  Logan.  This  I   heard 

read  three  times,  once  by  Gibson,  and  twice  by  Dun- 

more;  the  purport  of  which  was,  that  he  [Logan]  was 

the  white  man’s  friend,  that  on  a   journey  to  Pittsburg 
to  brighten  this  friendship,  or  on  his  return  from  thence, 

all  his  friends  were  killed  at  Yellow  Creek,  that  now 

when  he  died  who  should  bury  him,  for  the  blood  of 

Logan  was  running  in  no  creature’s  veins; — but  neither 
was  the  name  of  Cresap,  or  the  name  of  any  other 

person  mentioned  in  this  speech.  But  I   recollect  to 

see  Dunmore  put  this  speech  among  the  other  treaty 

papers.” 
!   George  Rogers  Clark  in  a   letter  to  Dr.  Samuel  Brown 

(1798)  narrating  the  incident  of  the  speech  which  he 

heard  Gibson  and  Dunmore  read;  states,  “The  army 
knew  it  was  wrong  so  far  as  it  respected  Cresap  and 

afforded  an  opportunity  of  rallying  that  gentleman  on 

the  subject, — I   discovered  that  Cresap  was  displeased 
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and  told  him  that  he  must  be  a   very  great  man,  that 

the  Indians  shouldered  him  with  everything  that  had 

happened — he  smiled  and  said  he  had  a   great  mind  to 
tomahawk  Greathouse  about  the  matter.  What  is 

here  related  is  fact,  I   was  intimate  with  Cresap,  and 

better  acquainted  with  Logan  at  that  time  than  with 

any  other  Indian  in  the  Western  country,  and  had  a 

knowledge  of  the  conduct  of  both  parties.  Logan  is 

the  author  of  the  speech  as  related  by  Mr.  Jefferson, 

and  Cresap’s  conduct  was  such  as  I   have  related.” 
Consul  W.  Butterfield,  a   most  painstaking  and 

usually  accurate  historian,  in  his  “ History  of  the 

Girtys, ”   quotes  Tomlinson’s  testimony  and  then  says: 

“it  is  now  well  established  that  the  version  as  first 

printed  was  substantially  the  words  of  Logan,  but  it 

is  equally  certain,  that  he  [Logan]  in  attributing  the 

murder  of  his  relatives  to  Colonel  Cresap,  was  mis- 

taken. Girty  from  recollection,  translated  the  speech 

to  Gibson  and  the  latter  put  it  into  excellent  English, 

as  he  was  abundantly  capable  of  doing.”  Roosevelt 
in  his  allusion  to  this  controversy,  makes  the  comment, 

“he  [Tomlinson]  hints  but  does  not  frankly  assert,  that 

Gibson  was  not  sent  after  Logan,  but  that  Girty  was;” 

again,  “there  is  some  uncertainty  as  to  whether  Logan 
came  up  to  Gibson  at  the  treaty  and  drew  him  aside 

or  whether  the  latter  went  to  seek  him  in  his  wigwam.  ” 
To  this  Butterfield  very  emphatically  replies,  that 

Tomlinson’s  “hint”  is  about  as  plain  as  any  frank 

assertion  could  be,  and  that  he  (Butterfield)  is  abun- 

dantly satisfied  that  Tomlinson’s  testimony  in  this 

respect  is  to  be  relied  upon,  “Gibson,”  he  says,  “was 
not  ambitious  to  have  his  name  connected  with  thal 
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of  Girty,  after  it  became  odious,  ”   and  it  had  so  become 
when  Tomlinson  made  his  testimony.  Butterfield  was 

thoroughly  convinced  that  Logan  and  Gibson  never 

met  at  all  concerning  the  speech,  but  that  Logan  made 

it  to  Girty,  who  related  it  to  Gibson,  who  wrote  it 

down  and  passed  it  on  to  Dunmore.  But,  as  Roose- 

velt points  out,  Gibson’s  affidavit  was  to  the  effect  that 
he  (Gibson)  went  to  Logan  and  personally  received 

the  speech,  and  “ Gibson, ”   says  Roosevelt,  “was  a 

man  of  note  and  of  unblemished  character  and  through- 

out his  life  he  bore  a   reputation  for  absolute  truthful- 

ness.” Gibson’s  affidavit  (April  1800)  was  to  the 

effect:  “that  this  deponent  [Gibson],  at  the  request 
of  Lord  Dunmore  and  the  whole  of  the  officers  with 

him,  went  in;  that  on  his  arrival  at  the  towns,  Logan, 

the  Indian,  came  to  where  this  deponent  was  sitting 

with  the  Corn-Stalk,  and  the  other  chiefs  of  the  Shawa- 

nese,  and  asked  him  to  walk  out  with  him;  that  they 

went  into  a   copse  of  wood,  where  they  sat  down,  when 

Logan,  after  shedding  abundance  of  tears,  delivered 

to  him  the  speech,  nearly  as  related  by  Mr.  Jefferson 

in  his  Notes  on  the  State  of  Virginia;  that  he  the 

deponent  told  him  then  that  it  was  not  Colonel  Cresap 

who  had  murdered  his  relations,  and  that  although  his 

son  Capt.  Michael  Cresap  was  with  the  party  who  killed 

a   Shawanese  chief  and  other  Indians,  yet  he  was  not 

present  when  his  relations  were  killed  at  Baker’s  near 
the  mouth  of  Yellow  Creek  on  the  Ohio;  that  this 

deponent  on  his  return  to  camp  delivered  the  speech 

to  Lord  Dunmore;  and  that  the  murders  perpetrated 

as  above,  were  considered  as  ultimately  the  cause  of 

the  war  of  1774,  commonly  called  Cresap’s  war.” 
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John  J.  Jacob  in  his  “Life  of  Captain  Michael 

Cresap,  ”   after  discussing  this  episode  expresses  himself 

thus:  “now,  here  may  it  please  the  court,  is  a   witness 
[Tomlinson]  unimpeached  and  unimpeachable,  and 

fully  competent  to  bear  testimony,  who  declares  first, 

that  Logan  was  not  at  this  treaty;  that  the  pretended 

speech  was  made  by  Gibson,  whose  sensibility,  per- 

haps, was  a   little  wounded  by  the  loss  of  his  squaw, 

who  was  Logan’s  sister  and  unhappily  killed  at  Yellow 

Creek;  nor  yet  was  Cresap’s  name  in  the  speech,” 

and  thus  Jacob  pertinently  asks,  “Where  shall  we  ! 
look,  or  where  is  the  man,  that  can  unriddle  this 

mystery?” Sure  enough.  We  have  entered  into  this  discussion  j 

at  some  length  because  of  its  historic  interest.  Many 

more  witnesses  might  be  summoned  and  innumerable 

reviewers  of  the  evidence  might  be  heard,  for  the  trial 

has  been  going  on  for  over  a   century.  Probably  no 

additional  evidence  of  value  can  now  be  secured  on  either 

one  side  or  the  other.  The  conclusion  is  absolute  that  t 

Logan  made  the  speech  and  Gibson  reported  it,  prac- 

tically as  published  in  the  American  Archives  and 

reported  by  Jefferson.  Few  incidents  in  Ohio  annals 

are  more  romantic  or  more  worthy  of  careful  preserva- 

tion in  historic  annals.  Doubtless  every  reader  of 

these  pages  has  either  recited  that  speech  in  early 

youth  or  heard  it  spoken  to  intent  auditors,  in  assumed 

fervor  from  the  school  room  rostrum.  It  certainly  has 

been  accorded  unprecedented  praise  by  poets  and  prose 

writers.  Mayer  cleverly  notes  that  Logan  and  his 

appealing  lament  was  the  source  whence  the  English 
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*oet  Campbell  derived  his  conception  of  Outalissi,  in 

Gertrude  of  Wyoming,”  and  he  has  paraphrased,  in 
hyme,  the  passionate  outburst; 

Gainst  Brant  himself  I   went  to  battle  forth: — 

Accursed  Brant ! — he  left  of  all  my  tribe 
Nor  man,  nor  child,  nor  thing  of  living  birth! 
No!  not  the  dog  that  watched  my  household  hearth 
Escaped  that  night  of  death  upon  our  plains ! 

All  perished — I,  alone,  am  left  on  earth! 
To  whom  nor  relative,  nor  blood  remains, — 
No!  not  a   kindred  drop  that  runs  in  human  veins! 
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We  have  already  cited  Jefferson’s  comment  upon 
s   place  in  rhetorical  effort.  Roosevelt  characterizes 

le  speech  as  one,  “which  will  always  retain  its  place 
;   perhaps  the  finest  outburst  of  savage  eloquence  of 

hich  we  have  any  authentic  record,”  and  Alfred 
ee,  a   most  scholarly  and  discriminating  writer,  sec- 

tary to  Governor  Hayes  and  later  Consul-General 

*   Germany,  in  his  History  of  the  City  of  Columbus, 

>mmenting  on  Logan’s  speech  pays  this  tribute: 
Taken  in  connection  with  the  circumstances,  which 

e   said  to  have  inspired  it,  this  is  one  of  the  most 

ithetic  deliverances  in  all  literature.  In  brevity, 

nplicity  and  directness  of  appeal,  as  well  as  in  the 

imortality  of  its  thoughts,  it  bears  a   striking  reson- 

ance to  Abraham  Lincoln’s  dedicatory  address  at 

ettysburg.  ” 





Chapter  VI. 

RESULTS  OF  THE  DUNMORE  WAR 





THE  day  following  the  battle  of  Point  Pleasant, the  dead  were  buried  in  shallow  graves  and 

General  Lewis  began  the  reorganization  of 

the  victorious  but  depleted  forces.  Tem- 

)orary  intrenchments  were  erected  and  provision  made 

or  the  care  of  the  disabled.  Colonel  Fleming,  though 

eriously  wounded,  was  placed  in  command  of  the 

garrison  composed  of  some  three  hundred  men  and 

>fficers,  and  on  the  evening  of  October  17th,  General 

^ewis  crossed  the  Ohio  with  about  twelve  hundred 

nen  and  encamped  on  the  site  of  the  present  town  of 

Canauga,  in  Gallia  County,  Ohio.  Thence,  with  ten 

lays’  rations,  sixty-one  pack  horses  and  one  hundred 
nd  fifty  beeves,  the  little  army,  next  to  that  of  Dun- 
nore,  the  most  extensive  and  warlike  that  had  ever 

ppeared  on  Ohio  soil,  marched  along  the  Ohio  and 

ip  the  valley  of  Champaign  Creek.  On  the  22d  they 

eached  the  banks  of  Kinnickinnick  Creek,  in  the  north- 

astern  portion  of  Ross  County.  At  this  point,  within 

iteen  miles  of  Dunmore’s  camp  Charlotte,  Lewis  was 
fiet  by  the  Indian  chief  White  Fish,  bearing  the  news 

hat  the  Virginia  governor  had  made  a   treaty  with  the 

Cornstalk  confederacy.  Lewis’s  army  however  pro- 
eeded  on  to  Congo  Creek,  and  on  the  23  d   went  into 

amp  to  await  further  developments.  Lewis  was  now 

/ithin  four  and  one  half  miles  of  Dunmore’s  camp, 

"he  general  had  expected  that,  either  alone  before 
-aching  Dunmore  or  in  union  with  the  latter,  he  would 

lake  war  upon  the  Ohio  Indians  and  destroy  their 

cioto  towns.  In  this  expectation  the  soldiers  of  Lewis 

eartily  joined  as  the  battle  of  Point  Pleasant  had 

iven  them  a   bitter  taste  of  savage  warfare  and  aroused 
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their  vengeance  against  Cornstalk’s  tribesmen.  In  th 

various  published  accounts  of  Lewis’s  march,  it  i 
sometimes  stated  that  Dunmore,  learning  Lewis  wa 

advancing  upon  the  Shawnee  towns,  sent  message 

directing  Lewis  to  stop  and  return  to  the  Ohio  bu 

that  the  victor  of  Point  Pleasant  refused  to  obey  an 

continued  to  push  on  with  the  implacable  design  c 

punishing  the  Indians,  proposing  particularly  to  destro 

the  village  of  Old  Chillicothe,  which  stood  where  Wes* 
fall  now  is  and  which  was  one  of  the  strongholds  d 

Cornstalk.  Indeed  some  alleged  authorities  assert  the 

Lewis  mistrusted  the  good  faith  of  Dunmore,  suspec 

ing  the  governor  intended  no  serious  injury  to  tl 

Indians  but  on  the  contrary  wished  to  placate  them  an 

win  their  allegiance  to  the  British  cause.  Indeed 

is  stated  that  being  unable  to  stop  the  march  of  Lewi 

the  governor  proceeded  in  person  to  meet  Lewis  an 

reprimand  him  for  his  disobedience,  going  so  far  in  h 

insulting  treatment  as  to  strike  the  general  with  tl 
flat  side  of  his  sword. 

But  of  all  this  there  is  no  foundation  in  fact.  To  tl 

contrary  are  many  undoubted  testimonies.  Colon 

Fleming  in  his  journal,  kept  during  the  campaig 

after  relating  the  march  of  Lewis  to  the  vicinity  < 

Dunmore’s  camp,  says,  “the  Indians  were  struck  wil 
a   dread  that  we  were  going  to  attack  their  towns, 

we  by  a   mistake  of  the  guide  had  got  rather  betwi: 

his  Lordship’s  camp  and  the  towns  and  much  near 
than  we  imagined.  All  the  Indians  with  his  Lordshi 

immediately  quitted  his  camp,  except  White  Fish,  wl 

with  Gibson,  a   trader,  attended  his  Lordship  to  o 

army.  My  Lord  informed  us  the  Shawanise  he' 
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agreed  to  all  his  terms  and  that  our  presence  could  be 

of  no  service  but  rather  a   hindrance  to  the  peace  being 

concluded,  he  ordered  the  whole  to  return  which  we 

did  the  next  day.”  This  statement  of  Fleming  was 
written  at  Point  Pleasant,  where  he  remained  in  charge, 

from  a   report  made  to  him  by  Lewis  personally  on  the 

latter’s  return  to  the  scene  of  battle. 

Again  Captain  John  Stuart,  the  historian,  who  was 

present,  thus  tells  of  the  visit  of  Lord  Dunmore  to  the 

:amp  of  General  Lewis:  “When  the  governor  reached 

General  Lewis’s  camp  his  Lordship  requested  that 
officer  to  introduce  him  to  his  officers;  and  we  were 

accordingly  ranged  in  rank  and  had  the  honor  of  an 

ntroduction  to  the  Governor  and  Commander-in-chief 

vho  politely  thanked  us  for  services  rendered  on  so 

nomentous  occasion  and  assured  us  of  his  high  esteem 

ind  respect  for  our  conduct.” 
And  Colonel  William  Christian  who  accompanied 

^ewis,  wrote,  in  a   letter  of  November  8,  1774:  “This 
lay  3   weeks  (Oct.  18)  our  army  about  1150  in  number 

narched  from  the  Ohio,  and  on  the  Monday  evening 

ollowing  we  encamped  within  about  3   miles  from  A 

ihawnese  Town  where  their  greatest  force  were 

ssembled.  His  Lordships  Camp  was  then  about  7 

miles  from  us  &   about  6   miles  from  the  Town.  We 

Intended  for  his  Camp  but  passed  the  path  that  took 

ff  to  our  right  hand  expecting  he  had  encamped 

earer  the  Towns.  That  day  we  were  met  by  several 

xpresses  from  his  Lordship,  the  last  one  informing  us 

hat  he  had  concluded  a   peace.  As  we  went  on  further 

han  was  expected  The  Indians  who  watched  every 

lotion  of  our  army,  informed  the  Govr.  that  we  had 
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not  stopt  but  were  pushing  strait  for  their  Towns  l 

would  be  in  that  day  (which  we  could  have  done) 

His  Lordship  with  the  Interpreter  Mr.  Gibson  &   ai 

Indian  Chief  &   50  men  came  to  our  Camp  at  Dusk 

The  next  day  he  called  the  Captains  together,  tol< 

what  he  had  (done)  &   desired  us  to  return  home.  W 

began  our  March  that  day,  all  but  about  50  Fincastl ! 

men  who  went  to  the  other  Camp.  On  Friday  nigh 

we  reached  Point  Pleasant.  On  Sunday  evening  th 

greatest  part  of  the  Fincastle  &   Augusta  Troops  se 

out  for  home,  every  body  being  anxious.” 

On  the  25th  (October)  General  Lewis’s  army  lef 
the  Pickaway  Plains  and  took  up  what  Albach  in  hi 

“Western  Annals” — a   famous  work  in  its  day — call 

a   “bloodless  retreat,”  to  the  Ohio  River,  which  wa 
reached  in  four  or  five  days.  Crossing  the  river  t< 

Point  Pleasant,  the  army  of  Lewis  was  there  disbanded 

all  returning  to  their  homes,  save  those  detailed  t< 

remain  and  guard  the  breastworks  erected  to  protect  th< 

Kanawha  Point.  Lord  Dunmore  remained  at  camp  somis 

days  to  conclude  as  far  as  possible  the  desired  result 

of  the  Ohio  invasion.  That  his  Lordship  proposed  t( 

leave  behind  no  incomplete  victory,  is  best  related  if 

a   letter  written  by  Captain  William  Crawford  t( 

George  Washington.  The  letter  is  dated  Stewart’: 
Crossing,  November  14,  1774,  and  a   portion  of  i 

reads :   “Sir: — I   yesterday  returned  from  our  late  expe 
dition  against  the  Shawanese,  and  I   think  we  may  witl 

propriety  say  we  have  had  great  success;  as  we  hav( 

made  them  sensible  of  their  villainy  and  weakness,  and 

I   hope,  made  peace  with  them  on  such  a   footing  a* 

will  be  lasting,  if  we  make  them  adhere  to  the  terms 



OF  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 127 

of  the  agreement,  which  are  as  follows:  ‘First,  they 
have  to  give  up  all  the  prisoners  taken  ever  by  them  in 

war  with  white  people;  also  negroes  and  all  the  horses 

stolen  or  taken  by  them  since  the  last  war.  And 

further,  no  Indians  for  the  future  are  to  hunt  on  the 

east  side  of  the  Ohio,  nor  any  white  man  on  the  west 

side;  as  that  seems  to  have  been  the  cause  of  some  of 

the  disturbance  between  our  people  and  them.  As  a 

guarantee  that  they  will  perform  their  part  of  the 

agreement,  they  have  given  up  four  chief  men,  to  be 

kept  as  hostages,  who  are  to  be  relieved  yearly,  or  as 

they  may  choose.’  The  Shawanese  have  complied  with 
these  terms,  but  the  Mingoes  did  not  like  the  condi- 

tions, and  had  a   mind  to  deceive  us;  but  Lord  Dunmore 

discovered  their  intentions,  which  were  to  slip  off  while 

v/e  were  settling  matters  with  the  Shawanese.  The 

Mingoes  intended  to  go  to  the  Lakes  and  take  their 

prisoners  with  them  and  their  horses  which  they  had 

stolen. 

“Lord  Dunmore  ordered  myself  with  two  hundred 
and  forty  men  to  set  out  in  the  night.  We  were  to 

march  to  a   town  about  forty  miles  distant  from  our 

camp,  up  the  Scioto,  where  we  understood  the  whole 

of  the  Mingoes  were  to  rendezvous  upon  the  following 

day,  in  order  to  pursue  their  journey.  This  intelli- 

gence came  by  John  Montour,  son  of  Captain  Montour, 

whom  you  formerly  knew. 

“Because  of  the  number  of  Indians  in  our  camp  we 

marched  out  of  it  under  pretense  of  going  to  Hock- 

hocking  for  more  provisions.  Few  knew  of  our  setting 

off  anyhow,  and  none  knew  where  we  were  going  to 

until  the  next  day.  Our  march  was  performed  with  as 
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much  speed  as  possible.  We  arrived  at  a   town  called 

the  Salt-Lick  Town  the  ensuing  night,  and  at  daybreak 

we  got  around  it  with  one-half  our  force,  and  the  re- 

mainder were  sent  to  a   small  village  half  a   mile  distant. 

Unfortunately  one  of  our  men  was  discovered  by  an  In- 

which  the  man  was  creeping  up  to.  This  obliged  the 

man  to  kill  the  Indian.  This  happened  before  day- 

li  ght,  which  did  us  much  damage,  as  the  chief  part  of  the 

Indians  made  their  escape  in  the  dark;  but  we  got  four- 

teen prisoners,  and  killed  six  of  the  enemy,  wounding 

several  more.  We  got  all  their  baggage  and  horses, 

ten  of  their  guns,  and  200  (two)  white  prisoners.  The 

plunder  sold  for  four  hundred  pounds  sterling,  besides 

what  was  returned  to  a   Mohawk  Indian  that  was  there. 

The  whole  of  the  Mingoes  were  ready  to  start,  and 

were  to  have  set  out  the  morning  we  attacked  them.” 
It  should  be  noted  that  the  Mingoes  refused  to  be 

a   party  to  the  Camp  Charlotte  treaty;  their  hostility 

remained  unbroken,  which  fact,  in  large  part,  was  the 

justification  of  the  raid  upon  their  town  as  related  by 

Captain  Crawford. 

The  destruction  of  the  Mingo  towns,  which  were 

dian  who  lay  out  from  the  town  some  distance  by  a   log 

It  having  been  agreed  with  Cornstalk’s  chiefs  that 
a   supplemental  convention  or  treaty  should  be  held 

located  on  the  forks  of  the  Scioto,  meaning  says  Captain 

Alfred  Lee — in  his  “History  of  the  City  of  Columbus” — 

the  junction  of  the  Scioto  and  Whetstone,  “at  which 

now  stands  the  city  of  Columbus,”  by  the  Crawford 
expedition,  was  the  only  act  of  violence  done  to  the 

Indians  in  the  Ohio  interior,  during  the  Dunmore  in- 
vasion. 
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at  Pittsburg,  the  ensuing  spring,  to  ratify  and  confirm 

the  Camp  Charlotte  “reconciliation,”  Dunmore,  with 
several  Shawnee  and  Mingo  hostages  as  guaranty  of 

the  fulfillment  of  the  Indian  treaty,  broke  camp  on 

the  last  day  of  October,  departed  from  the  Pickaway 

Plains  and  reached  Fort  Gower  on  the  5th  day  of 
November. 

And  now  a   most  interesting  and  significant  event 

was  to  be  the  final  episode  to  the  Dunmore  campaign. 

While  the  armies  of  Lewis  and  Dunmore  were  conduct- 

ing their  movements  in  the  Indian  interior,  in  behalf  of 

the  rights  of  the  Virginia  backwoodsmen,  the  delegates 

to  the  first  Continental  Congress  had  assembled  at  Phila- 

delphia, September  5,  1774,  and  in  the  early  proceedings 

had  agreed  upon  a   declaration  of  rights,  by  which  it 

was,  among  other  things,  declared  that  the  inhabitants 

of  the  English  colonies  in  North  America,  by  the 

immutable  laws  of  nature,  the  principles  of  the  English 

Constitution  and  the  several  charters  or  compacts, 

were  entitled  to  life,  liberty  and  property;  and  that 

they  had  never  ceded  to  any  sovereign  power  whatever 

1a  right  to  dispose  of  either,  without  their  consent. When  Dunmore’s  army  reached  Fort  Gower,  the 
j   Virginian  pioneers  and  patriots  received  the  first  news 

.   of  the  action  taken  by  the  Continental  Congress.  On 

n   that  very  day  (November  5th),  the  officers  of  the  army 

d   held  a   meeting  and  passed  resolutions  which  we  repro- 

[C  duce  in  full  with  the  record  of  the  meeting  as  officially 
J   preserved  in  the  American  Archives: 

“Meeting  of  Officers  Under  Earl  of  Dunmore. — At 
A   1   meeting  of  the  officers  under  the  command  of  his 

jj  Excellency,  the  Right  Honorable  the  Earl  of  Dunmore, 
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convened  at  Fort  Gower,  November  5,  1774,  for  the 

purpose  of  considering  the  grievances  of  British 

America,  an  officer  present  addressed  the  meeting  in 

the  following  words: 

Gentlemen : — Having  now  concluded  the  campaign, 

by  the  assistance  of  Providence,  with  honor  and  advan- 

tage to  the  colony  and  ourselves,  it  only  remains  that 

we  should  give  our  country  the  strongest  assurance 

that  we  are  ready,  at  all  times,  to  the  utmost  of  our 

power,  to  maintain  and  defend  her  just  rights  and 

privileges.  We  have  lived  about  three  months  in 

the  woods  without  any  intelligence  from  Boston,  or 

from  the  delegates  at  Philadelphia.  It  is  possible, 

from  the  groundless  reports  of  designing  men,  that 

our  countrymen  may  be  jealous  of  the  use  such  a   body 
would  make  of  arms  in  their  hands  at  this  critical 

juncture.  That  we  are  a   respectable  body  is  certain, 
when  it  is  considered  that  we  can  live  weeks  without; 

bread  or  salt;  that  we  can  sleep  in  the  open  air  with- 1 
out  any  covering  but  that  of  the  canopy  of  Heaven; 

and  that  our  men  can  march  and  shoot  with  any  in  the 

known  world.  Blessed  with  these  talents,  let  usj 

solemnly  engage  to  one  another,  and  our  country  ir 

particular,  that  we  will  use  them  to  no  purpose  bull 

for  the  honor  and  advantage  of  America  in  general 

and  of  Virginia  in  particular.  It  behooves  us,  then 

for  the  satisfaction  of  our  country,  that  we  shoulc 

give  them  our  real  sentiments,  by  way  of  resolves 

at  this  very  alarming  crisis.’ 

“   Whereupon  the  meeting  made  choice  of  a   committe< 
to  draw  up  and  prepare  resolves  for  their  consideration 

who  immediately  withdrew,  and  after  some  time  spen; 
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therein,  reported  that  they  had  agreed  to  and  prepared 

the  following  resolves,  which  were  read,  maturely 

i   considered,  and  agreed  to,  nemine  contradicente ,   by  the 

meeting,  and  ordered  to  be  published  in  the  Virginia 
,   Gazette: 

“ Resolved :   That  we  will  bear  the  most  faithful 
t   allegiance  to  His  Majesty,  King  George  the  Third, 

r   whilst  His  Majesty  delights  to  reign  over  a   brave  and 

i!  free  people;  that  we  will,  at  the  expense  of  life,  and 

i   everything  dear  and  valuable,  exert  ourselves  in  support 

ie  of  his  crown,  and  the  dignity  of  the  British  Empire. 

3:  But  as  the  love  of  liberty,  and  attachment  to  the  real 

It  interests  and  just  rights  of  America  outweigh  every 

a'  other  consideration,  we  resolve  that  we  will  exert  every 

power  within  us  for  the  defense  of  American  liberty, 

and  for  the  support  of  her  just  rights  and  privileges; 

not  in  any  precipitate,  riotous  or  tumultuous  manner, 

but  when  regularly  called  forth  by  the  unanimous 

voice  of  our  countrymen. 

“ Resolved ,   That  we  entertain  the  greatest  respect 
1   or  His  Excellency,  the  Right  Honorable  Lord  Dun- 
nore,  who  commanded  the  expedition  against  the 

$hawanese;  and  who,  we  are  confident,  underwent 

he  great  fatigue  of  this  singular  campaign  from  no 

ther  motive  than  the  true  interest  of  this  country. 

“   Signed  by  order  and  in  behalf  of  the  whole  corps. 

“Benjamin  Ashby,  Clerk.” 
Unique  and  memorable  scene  on  the  soil  of  Ohio, 

n   the  banks  of  the  “beautiful  river;”  Virginia  fron- 
iersmen  celebrate  their  triumph  over  the  Western 

ndians,  the  wards  of  the  British,  by  proclaiming  their 

empathy  with  colonial  independence. 
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The  site  of  Fort  Gower,  to-day,  gives  little  evidence! 

of  its  historic  importance.  The  Ohio  at  this  pointi 

takes  a   plunge  due  south,  while  the  Hockhocking,  or 

Hocking,  as  it  is  usually  designated,  enters  the  Ohic 

by  a   curve  from  the  west.  The  exact  location  of  the 

almost  forgotten  stockade  enclosure,  as  determined  b~‘ 

the  best  traditionary  lore  obtainable,  “on  the  spot, 

by  the  present  writer — during  a   visit  of  inquiry  whi 

penning  this  account — was  upon  the  east  or  north  sic 
of  the  Hocking,  on  the  elevated  bank  of  the  Ohi< 

from  which  its  garrison  could  overlook  the  broai 

placid  sweep  of  the  majestic  river,  which  is  he] 

flanked  on  the  Virginia  side  by  a   chain  of  picturesqi 

hills,  the  tip  end  of  a   spur  of  the  Alleghany  rang 

The  palisaded  earthworks,  long  since  ploughed  awa; 

lay  on  the  outskirts  of  what  is  now  a   little  sleep 

hamlet  of  a   score  and  a   half  scattered  dwellings,  i 

which  abide  some  six  score  inhabitants,  who  live  tl 

simple  life  “far  from  the  madding  crowd’s  ignob! 

strife,”  whose  ancestors  gave  the  settlement  the  nan: 
of  Hockingport.  Surely  there  should  be  a   monumer 

on  that  spot  to  perpetuate  the  memory  of  those  patr 

otic  Virginian  officers,  who  in  Ohio,  in  that  prelude  t 

the  Revolution,  declared  their  willingness,  if  calle 

upon,  to  unsheath  their  swords  “for  the  defense  c 

American  liberty.”  That  was  six  months  before  th 
shot  was  fired  at  Lexington  and  Concord  that  Wc 

“heard  ’round  the  world.” 

Dunmore,  proceeding  by  way  of  Pittsburg,  whei 

he  left  some  of  the  Indian  hostages,  reached  William! 

burg  on  December  4th,  having  been  absent  one  hundre 

and  fifty  days.  He  was  given  a   hearty  welcome  an 
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f   reception  in  the  “ Palace”  as  the  official  residence  was 
called,  by  the  citizens  of  the  Virginia  capital,  and  the 

)!  city  officers  formally  took  action  in  which  they  con- 

(   gratulated  him  on  the  conclusion  of  a   dangerous  and 

1   fatiguing  service,  and  his  safe  return.  The  faculty 
of  William  and  Mary  College  also  passed  congratula- 

'   tory  resolutions.  The  council  of  the  Virginia  colony, 
a   body  occupying  the  relation  of  senate  to  the  House 

of  Burgesses,  likewise  extended  greetings  and  felicita- 

tions because  of  “his  Lordship’s  vigorous  opposition 

to  the  incursions  and  ravages  of  the  Indian  enemy” 

and  because  he  had  “   effectually  prevented  the  desola- 
tion of  a   growing  back  country  and  the  horrors  of 

human  carnage,”  etc.  The  authorities  of  several 
counties  joined  in  the  chorus  of  congratulations  and 

'   commendation. 

1   But  most  significant  of  all  was  the  resolution  passed 

tk  March  20,  1775,  by  the  Virginia  Convention,  then 

1   issembled  at  Richmond.  That  resolution  cordially 

ind  unanimously  thanked  “our  worthy  governor, 

ieI  ̂ ord  Dunmore,  for  his  truly  noble,  wise  and  spirited 
onduct  on  the  late  expedition  against  our  Indian 

nemy,  ”   etc.  That  convention  was  composed  of  the 
leroic  patriots  of  Virginia,  George  Washington  being 

ne  of  them.  Mr.  Virgil  Lewis  pertinently  asks  “does 
ny  one  think  that  if  there  had  been  the  least  suspicion 

f   treachery  on  the  part  of  Dunmore  in  that  war,  that 

lese  men,  or  any  of  them  would  have  voted  in  favor 

f   that  resolution?” 

The  doubt  cast  upon  the  honor  and  loyalty  of  Dun- 

lore  came  later,  when  on  the  sixth  of  June  (1775) 

>unmore  with  his  family  fled  from  his  Williamsburg 
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“ Palace”  and  took  refuge  aboard  the  British  man-of- 

war  “Fowey,  ”   lying  in  the  James  River.  Two  weeks 
later  his  civil  administration  of  Virginia  terminated. 

He  abandoned  his  office  and  his  adherence  to  the 

colony;  thenceforth  he  zealously  served  the  royal 

government  in  its  contest  with  the  colonial  rebels. 

Then  came  the  odium  that  overcast  his  previous 

service  to  the  Virginia  colony. 

This  odium  has  been  fostered  by  innumerable 

writers,  one  of  the  most  prominent  being  the  historian 

George  Bancroft,  who  in  his  chapter  on  Dunmore’s 

campaign,  in  which  he  concedes  “the  Virginia  army 
appearing  as  umpire  in  the  valley  of  the  Scioto,  nulli- 

fied the  statute  which  extended  the  jurisdiction  of 

Quebec  to  the  Ohio,”  severely  arraigns  the  rapacit 
and  cupidity  of  Dunmore,  charging  that  the  thrifty 

governor  had  strong  passion  for  land  and  fees  and  was 

“a  partner  in  two  immense  purchases  of  land  from  the 

Indians  in  Southern  Illinois.”  This  indictment  Ban- 

croft does  not  sustain  by  any  proof  or  authority.  In- 

deed it  is  claimed  there  are  no  records  of  registratior 

or  patents  either  in  America  or  England  confirming 

Colonial  land  possessions  in  favor  of  Lord  Dunmore 

Dunmore’s  reputation  in  this  matter,  moreover,  suf- 
fered greatly  at  the  hands  of  John  Penn,  Governor  o: 

Pennsylvania,  who  in  the  Virginia-Pennsylvania  bound 

ary  dispute,  bitterly  assailed  the  personal  charactei 

of  Lord  Dunmore;  but  in  this  Penn  gave  unrestrainec 

vent  to  his  passion  and  prejudice. 

As  to  the  wide-spread  statement  that  Dunmon 

formed  a   secret  alliance  with  the  Indians  to  assisi 

Great  Britain  in  the  expected  revolution  or  that  h(j 
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played  into  the  hands  of  Cornstalk’s  warriors  in  order 
to  curry  their  favor  against  the  Colonists,  the  evidence 

attainable  is  in  favor  of  Dunmore’s  steadfast  loyalty 
to  the  Colonists,  up  to  the  time  that  he  yielded  the 

governship.  Mr.  Alfred  Williams,  in  an  address  before 

the  Pickaway  Pioneer  Society,  in  1873,  declared  that 

he  wrote  General  Schenk,  then  American  Minister  to 

London,  and  obtained  from  him  “full  copies  of  the 

Dispatches  of  Lord  Dunmore  to  the  English  govern- 

ment, containing  a   detailed  account  of  the  origin,  pro- 

gress, and  execution  of  the  campaign  against  the  Scioto 

Indians.  *   *   *   These  private  confidential  dispatches,” 

continues  Mr.  Williams,  “contained  no  intimation  of 
any  design,  or  desire  even,  upon  the  part  of  Lord 

Dunmore  to  form  any  alliance  with  the  Indians 

against  the  Colonists.  On  the  contrary,  his  confidential 

report  to  his  government  establishes  the  fact  that  he 

acted  in  the  utmost  good  faith,  and  honestly  labored 

for  the  promotion  of  the  prosperity  of  the  colony  of 

which  he  was  governor.  ” 
The  initial  contest  of  the  Revolution  in  the  New 

England  colonies  threw  the  people  thereof  into  a   fever 

of  excitement  and  withdrew  their  attention  from  the 

distant  events  in  the  West.  But  the  opening  of  hostili- 

ties between  the  Crown  and  the  colonies  brought  about 

a   shifting  of  the  scenes  in  the  trans-Allegheny  country. 

Under  the  provisions  of  the  Quebec  Act  (1774) 

Detroit  was  made  the  capital  of  the  territory  northwest 

of  the  Ohio,  and  about  the  same  time  Captain  Arent 

Schuyler  de  Peyster  of  the  King’s  Regiment  was 

assigned  to  the  command  of  the  post  at  Michilimacki- 

nac,  with  the  superintendency  of  the  Lake  Indians, 
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comprising  sixteen  or  more  tribes,  inhabiting  the 

forests  and  prairies  on  both  sides  of  the  Mississippi  I 

from  the  Ohio  to  the  north  of  Lake  Superior. 

As  the  rumblings  of  the  approaching  Revolutionary 

War  in  the  colonies  reverberated  through  the  forests  of 

the  south  and  west,  the  tribesmen  were  struck  with 

consternation  and  confusion.  What  should  be  their  1 

position  in  the  contest  and  what  would  be  their  fate 

in  the  result? 

The  attitude  of  the  Six  Nations  was  a   matter  of  j 

great  solicitude  on  the  part  of  both  British  and  colonial 

authorities  and  each  side  hastened  to  bring  influences 

to  bear  on  the  great  Iroquois  Confederacy.  In  July, 

1775,  Lord  Dartmouth  forwarded  from  England, 

instructions  to  Colonel  Guy  Johnson,  the  Royal  Super- 

intendent  of  Colonial  Indian  Affairs,  “to  keep  the 
Indians  in  such  a   state  of  affection  and  attachment  to  1 

the  King  that  his  Majesty  may  rely  upon  their  assist- 

ance in  any  case  in  which  it  may  be  necessary,”  and 

as  to  the  Six  Nations  he  wrote,  “it  is  his  Majesty’s 

pleasure  that  you  lose  no  time  in  taking  such  steps  as  ! 

may  induce  them  to  take  up  the  hatchet  against  his 

Majesty’s  rebellious  subjects  in  America.” 
Colonel  Guy  Johnson,  who  had  much  the  same  I 

power  and  influence  over  the  Six  Nations  possessed  I 

by  his  late  father-in-law,  Sir  William  Johnson,  pro-  I 

ceeded  at  once  to  carry  out  the  behests  of  England.  1 

This  he  did  in  full  sympathy  for  he  was  a   Tory  in 

feeling  and  he  was  heartily  assisted  by  his  brother-  1 

in-law,  John  Johnson,  Sir  William’s  son,  and  by  the 
celebrated  Mohawk  chief  Joseph  Brant,  then  the  most 

able  and  influential  chieftain  of  the  Six  Nations.  The  1 
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Johnsons  went  so  far  as  to  raise  a   Tory  regiment  of 

five  hundred  men  and  fortify  Johnson  Hall  against 

the  expected  attacks  of  the  colonists.  Many  con- 

:erences  were  held  with  representatives  of  the  confeder- 
acy, the  outcome  of  it  all  being  that  the  Iroquois It 

ong  House  became  divided.  The  Mohawks,  Senecas, 

I!ayugas  and  Onondagas  gave  their  allegiance  to 

England;  while  the  Oneidas  and  Tuscarawas  cast  their 

ot  with  the  colonists. 

Meanwhile  the  sturdy,  hard-headed  Virginians  saw 

he  probable  danger  to  the  colonial  cause  because  of 

he  Western  Indian  hostility.  They  forwarded  peti- 

ions  of  alarm  and  caution  to  the  Continental  Congress, 

nd  on  July  12,  1775,  the  records  of  that  body  relate 

hat  the  report  of  the  committee  on  Indian  affairs  was 

aken  up  and  considered,  resulting  in  the  passage  of  a 

^solution  that  there  was  “too  much  reason  to  appre- 
end  that  the  British  Government  would  spare  no 

ains  to  excite  the  several  nations  of  Indians  to  take 

p   arms  against  these  colonies,  and  that  it  becomes 

5   to  strengthen  and  confirm  their  friendly  disposition 

§   Dward  these  colonies.” 

Congress  then  proceeded  to  create  three  Indian 

apartments,  to  superintend  Indian  affairs  in  behalf 

the  colonies.  The  Northern  Department  was  to 

o-l  elude  the  Six  Nations,  and  all  the  tribes  northward 

ldlid  eastward;  the  Southern  Department  was  to  com- 

il'ise  the  Cherokees,  and  all  the  Indians  that  might  be 
erluthward  of  them;  the  Middle  Department  embraced 

tlJe  Indian  nations  located  between  the  other  two 

ostl  partments — the  territory  of  the  Ohio  country.  Five 

llflmmissioners  were  then  appointed  for  the  Northern 
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Department  and  three  each  for  the  other  two  depart- 

ments. Appropriations  were  made  for  the  maintenance 

of  each  commission.  Benjamin  Franklin,  Patricl 

Henry  and  James  Wilson  were  elected  for  the  Middle 

Department.  Subsequently  Lewis  Morris  and  Dr 

Thomas  Walker  were  substituted  for  Franklin  an 

Henry,  who  found  other  duties  would  prevent  thei 

serving.  The  Journal  of  the  Virginia  House  of  Bur 

gesses  for  the  24th  of  June  (1775)  records  that,  “Certaii 
information  having  been  received  of  the  great  discon 

tent  of  the  Ohio  Indians,  by  reason  of  the  delay  of  th 

Ratification  of  the  late  treaty  of  Peace  concluded  upoi 

by  his  Excellency  the  Governor,  on  the  part  of  thi 

Colony  and  the  Cornstalk,  on  the  part  of  the  sai 

Indians,  and  that  the  Inhabitants  on  our  Frontier 

are  under  just  apprehensions  of  a   renewal  of  an  India 

War,  and  no  steps  having  been  pursued  by  his  Lore 

ship  for  carrying  on  the  said  Treaty,  or  delivering  u 

the  Indian  Hostages,  agreeable  to  the  terms  of  th 

said  Treaty;  resolved  that  said  Treaty  be  immediatel 

entered  upon.”  It  was  further  resolved  that  Georg 
Washington,  Thomas  Walker,  James  Wood,  Andre 

Lewis,  John  Walker  and  Adam  Stephen,  esquires, 

any  three  or  more  of  them  be  and  are  hereby  constitute 

a   commission,  on  the  part  and  behalf  of  this  Colon 

to  meet  the  chiefs  or  head  men  of  the  said  Ohio  Indian 

as  soon  as  the  same  can  be  done,  at  such  place  as  the 

shall  find  most  proper,  to  ratify  and  confirm  the  sa: 

treaty.  ” 
Washington  did  not  serve  on  that  Ohio  Indi 

treaty  commission;  he  had  become  otherwise  engag 

for  on  June  15th,  the  Continental  Congress  at  Phil 

h 
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delphia  had  proceeded  to  the  selection  of  a   commander- 

in-chief  of  the  Colonial  Army  and  all  members  had  at 

once  turned  toward  Washington;  with  characteristic 

modesty  he  shrank  from  the  preferred  honor,  deprecat- 

ing his  own  fitness  and  recommending  Andrew  Lewis, 

the  hero  of  Point  Pleasant,  as  better  qualified  for  the 

responsible  office.  But  Washington  was  the  unanimous 

choice  of  Congress  and  on  June  24th — one  week  after 

the  battle  of  Bunker  Hill — accompanied  by  that  bril- 
liant cavalcade  of  officers,  the  new  commander  was 

on  his  horseback  journey  to  Cambridge  to  assume 

charge  of  the  cause  of  American  Independence.  When 

the  Burgesses  of  Virginia  chose  Washington  as  a 

delegate  to  the  Fort  Dunmore  Treaty,  they  did  not 

know  that  he  was  then  on  that  greater  errand. 

On  September  15,  1775,  in  accordance  with  the  pre- 

vious agreement  at  Camp  Charlotte  between  Dunmore 

and  Cornstalk,  the  Indian  delegates  from  the  Ohio 

confederacy,  assembled  at  Fort  Dunmore  (Pittsburg) 

and  met  the  Continental  commissioners,  Walker, 

Wilson  and  Morris,  and  the  commission  representing 

the  Virginia  colony.  It  was  a   gathering  of  distin- 

guished chiefs;  Cornstalk,  Minwha,  Wryneck,  Silver 

Efeels,  Blue  Jacket,  and  fifteen  other  chiefs  from  the 

Shawnees;  Captain  White  Eyes,  Custaloga,  and  Cap- 

:ain  Pipe,  for  the  Delawares;  Flying  Crow  and  Kya- 

•huta  for  the  Six  Nations;  The  Half  King  for  the 

Wyandots;  The  White  Mingo  for  the  Mingoes;  Sha- 

;anaba  for  the  Ottawas;  Glikkikan,  Nathaneil  and 

Villiam,  influential  Christian  Indians,  represented  the 

)hio  Moravian  Missions;  and  many  other  orators  and 
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lesser  chiefs  of  the  Western  wilderness  were  present. 

Probably  there  had  never  been  such  an  assembly  of 

great  chiefs  from  the  Ohio  country. 

The  deliberations  with  all  the  picturesque  parapher- 

nalia and  dignified  formalities  lasted  some  five  weeks. 

Many  interpreters  were  kept  busy  day  and  night 

translating  the  speeches  and  recording  the  proceedings. 

It  was  a   serious  and  exciting  time  for  the  anxious  and 

perplexed  tribesmen.  It  was  difficult  for  the  Ohio 

nations  to  understand  the  nature  of  the  quarrel  between 

the  Americans  and  the  British  and  more  difficult  for 

them  to  decide  which  side,  if  any,  they  should  espouse. 

Heckewelder  in  his  Narrative  relates  some  of  the 

graphic  incidents  of  the  Pittsburg  conferences.  The 

Delawares,  from  Ohio,  particularly,  were  troubled  over 

the  situation  and  were  torn  asunder  in  their  views 

concerning  the  coming  war.  This  discord  developed 

into  two  factions  led  respectively  by  Captain  White 

Eyes,  at  that  time  head  chief  of  the  Ohio  Delawares — 

and  lately  the  guide  and  main  adviser  of  Lord  Dun 

more — and  Captain  Pipe,  or  Hopocan,  chief  of  the 

Monsey  or  Wolf  division  of  the  Delawares,  a   turbulent 

and  restless  band;  Pipe’s  residence,  at  that  time,  was 

on  the  Walhonding  about  fifteen  miles  from  Goshoch- 

gung,  at  the  forks  of  the  Muskingum.  White  Eyes 

openly  declared  in  favor  of  the  Americans,  which,  says 

Heckewelder,  so  chagrined  some  of  his  people  that 

: 

they  thought  proper  to  offer  a   check  to  his  proceed- 

ings, by  giving  him  a   haughty  tone  in  a   hint,  intended 

to  remind  him,  who  the  Delaware  Nation  were,  in 

the  Eyes  of  the  Six  Nations  (meaning  that  these  had 

no  will  of  their  own,  but  were  subordinate  to  the 

Nli M 
h 
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Six  Nations)  when  Capt.  White  Eyes,  long  since  tired 

of  this  language,  with  his  usual  spirit,  and  an  air  of 

disdain,  rose,  and  replied;  that  he  knew  well,  that  they, 

the  Six  Nations,  considered  his  Nation  as  a   conquered 

People — and  their  inferiours — ‘You  say’  (said  he)  ‘that 

|   You  had  conquered  me — that  You  had  cut  off  my  Legs — 
had  put  a   Petticoat  on  me,  giving  me  a   Hoe  and  Corn 

pounder  in  my  hands,  saying:  now  Woman!  Your 

business  henceforward  shall  be,  to  plant, — hoe  Corn, 

and  pound  the  same  for  Bread  for  us  Men  and  Warri- 

burs!’— ‘Look!’  (continued  White  Eyes)  ‘at  my  Legs! 
if,  as  You  say  You  had  cut  them  off,  they  have  grown 

again  to  their  proper  size! — the  Petticoat,  I   have 

,:hrown  away,  and  have  put  on  my  proper  dress! — The 

Corn  hoe  and  pounder  I   have  exchanged  for  these  fire 

\rms,  and  I   declare,  that  I   am  a   Man.’ — then  waiving 
lis  hand  in  the  direction  of  the  Allegheny  River,  he 

exclaimed — ‘and  all  the  Country  on  the  other  side  of 

hat  River  is  mine.’”  He  used  the  pronouns  I,  me, 
ny  and  mine,  in  the  Indian  sense,  meaning  his  tribe. 

Heckewelder  comments  to  the  effect,  that  perhaps  so 

>old  and  daring  an  address  was  never  made  heretofore 

0   any  council  of  Indians,  by  an  Indian  chief.  These 

earless  denunciations  were  replied  to  by  Captain 

’ipe.  The  dispute  finally  created  a   political  schism 
1   the  Ohio  Delawares,  the  Monseys  retiring  nearer  to 

.ake  Erie  and  taking  good  care  to  have  the  Six  Nations, 

specially  the  Senecas,  informed  that  they  were  friendly 
3   the  British. 

Every  article  in  the  treaty  at  Camp  Charlotte  in 

le  Autumn  of  1774  was  lengthily  discussed  and  passed 

pon.  All  articles  were  finally  confirmed  and  rati- 
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fied  and  says  Virgil  Lewis,  “when  this  convention 
adjourned,  every  Indian  nation  from  the  Upper 

Allegheny  to  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio,  and  from  that  river 

to  the  Lake  Erie — in  short  every  one  of  the  confederated 

nations  of  1771 — of  those  participating  in  the  prelimi- 
nary treaty  of  Camp  Charlotte,  and  in  the  supplemental 

treaty  of  Pittsburg — entered  into  a   pledge  of  peace 
and  friendship,  not  only  to  Virginia,  but  to  the  New 

Amsterdam  nation  as  well.  ”   How  they  kept  thal ! 
agreement  of  peace  and  friendship  will  hereafter  be 
related. 

About  the  time  of  the  close  of  the  Pittsburg  con 

ference,  Sir  Henry  Hamilton  was,  by  orders  of  th< 

Crown,  made  Lieutenant-Governor  and  Superintenden 
at  Detroit,  reaching  that  station  early  in  November 

1775.  Thus  the  settings  are  being  placed  for  th 

drama  of  the  American  Revolution  in  the  Ohio  country 



Chapter  VII. 

THE  WARPATH  OF  THE  REVOLUTION 





I 

“   V   ORD  DUNMORE’S  War,  urged  by  Americans 
for  the  good  of  America,  was  the  opening 

j   act  in  the  drama  whereof  the  closing  scene 

was  played  at  Yorktown.”  Such  are  the 

words  of  the  author  of  the  “ Winning  of  the  West.” 
Had  Cornstalk  and  his  savage  horde  defeated  the 

pioneer  army  of  Lewis  at  Point  Pleasant  and  subse- 

quently repulsed  Dunmore’s  invasion,  the  settlement 
of  the  Ohio  Valley  by  the  eastern  and  southern  colonies 

would  have  been  greatly  delayed  if  not  indeed  per- 

manently thwarted,  the  territory  remaining,  after  the 

Revolution,  in  the  possession  of  England  as  a   dependent 

portion  of  Quebec  Province. 

Dunmore’s  treaty  on  the  Pickaway  Plains  at  once 
Dpened  to  the  Virginians  the  untrod  but  fertile  fields 

}f  Kentucky.  As  the  northern  range  of  the  Alle- 

>hanies  was  the  natural  barrier  that  separated  the 

eastern  colonies  from  the  upper  Ohio  Valley,  so  the 

ower  or  southern  stretch  of  the  same  range,  known  as 

he  Cumberland  Mountains,  blocked  the  line  of  migra- 

ion  from  Old  Virginia  to  the  valleys  of  the  Cumber- 
and  and  Tennessee  rivers. 

But  the  time  had  arrived  for  that  barrier  to  be 

penetrated.  As  we  have  learned,  at  the  treaty  of 

rort  Stanwix  (1768)  the  western  boundary  of  the 
erritory,  south  of  the  Ohio,  ceded  by  the  Six  Nations 

0   the  English  was  to  be  the  Tennessee  River.  Corn- 

talk’s  agreement  at  Camp  Charlotte  (1774)  confirmed 
he  English  to  this  title  so  far  as  the  Ohio  Indians 

Duld  affirm  it  or  grant  entry  privileges  to  the  Virgin- 

ins.  The  latter  now  had  secured  “ quit-claim  deeds” 
)   their  western  empire;  one  from  the  Iroquois,  who 
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claimed  it  by  conquest  and  one  from  the  Ohio  Con- 

federacy, whose  tribes  had  disputed  the  Iroquois  claim. 

But  the  Virginians  had  still  a   third  claimant  to 

deal  with,  the  Cherokees,  who  were  in  possession  of 

the  country  in  question  and  who  would  not  acknow- 

ledge the  proprietory  rights  of  either  the  Six  Nations 

or  the  Ohio  Confederacy.  This  sturdy  Cherokee 

nation  practically  commanded  the  paths  from  Virginia 

and  the  Carolinas  to  the  Kentucky  country.  The 

result  of  the  Dunmore  War  opened  the  door  for  nego-  \ 

tiations  with  the  Cherokees,  and  Dunmore’s  soldiers  , 
had  hardly  reached  their  homes,  after  their  campaign  i 

to  the  Pickaway  Plains,  before  the  aggressive  settlers 

of  the  Old  Dominion  began  laying  their  plans  for  the 

western  expansion  of  Virginia. 

The  chief  protagonist  in  this  movement  was  Richard 

Henderson,  a   native  of  Virginia  but  at  the  time  in 

question  a   resident  of  North  Carolina  whither  he  had 

moved  in  1769  at  the  age  of  thirty-five.  He  was  all 

man  of  unusual  capacity  and  ambition;  a   lawyer  and 

an  associate  justice  of  the  North  Carolina  Superior 

Court.  For  some  years  he  had  been  in  close  business 

relations  with  Daniel  Boone  from  whom  he  had  learnec  j 

of  the  promising  prospects  in  the  Kentucky  country:  j 

Henderson  enlisted  several  associates,  among  then  I 

three  brothers,  Nathaniel,  David  and  Thomas  Hart  j 

and  formed  a   colonizing  organization  styled  the  Tran  ; 

sylvania  Company.  As  early  as  October,  1774,  thes<  1 

enterprising  colonizers  began  negotiations  with  th  j 

Cherokees  looking  to  securing  from  these  Indian  pos  ; 

sessors  the  right  of  settlement  on  their  lands.  I 

March,  1775,  a   great  council  was  held  at  the  Sycamor 
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Shoals  of  the  Watauga  River,  between  the  colonist 

company  and  twelve  hundred  Cherokees,  half  of  whom 

were  warriors,  who  had  been  assembled  at  the  behest 

of  the  chiefs  Oconostota,  Raven  and  Carpenter. 

The  proposed  purchase  by  the  company  was  approved 

by  the  chiefs  just  named  but  opposed  by  chief  Dragging 

Canoe,  who,  says  Roosevelt,  “   spoke  strongly  against 
granting  the  Americans  what  they  asked,  pointing  out, 

in  words  of  glowing  eloquence,  how  the  Cherokees,  who 

had  once  owned  the  land  down  to  the  sea,  had  been 

steadily  driven  back  by  the  whites  until  they  had 

reached  the  mountains,  and  warning  his  comrades  that 

they  must  now  put  a   stop  at  all  hazards  to  further 

encroachments,  under  penalty  of  seeing  the  loss  of 

!   their  last  hunting-grounds,  by  which  alone  their children  could  live.” 

But  the  treaty  purchase  was  concluded  and  for 

$50,000  worth  of  cloths,  garments,  utensils,  ornaments, 

fire  arms,  powder,  etc.,  the  Indians  ceded  to  Henderson 

and  his  partners  an  immense  grant  of  all  lands  lying 

south  of  the  Ohio  and  between  the  Kentucky  and 

Cumberland  rivers, — some  eighteen  million  acres  of 

land — a   domain  nearly  one-half  as  large  as  the  present 

state  of  Kentucky.  One  old  chieftain  said  to  Daniel 

Boone  who  was  present,  “   brother,  we  have  given  you  a 
fine  land,  but  I   believe  you  will  have  much  trouble 

in  settling  it.”  He  spoke  truer  than  he  knew.  Not 

only  did  the  proposed  settlers  find  the  territory  a   “dark 

and  bloody  ground,”  because  of  hostile  savages  on 
f   both  sides  of  the  Ohio  but  in  addition  Governors  Martin 

of  North  Carolina  and  Dunmore  of  Virginia  both  issued 

did  proclamation  against  the  great  purchase  as  being  with- 
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out  legal  sanction  from  either  the  English  government 

or  the  colonial  authorities;  indeed,  Martin  designated 

Henderson  and  his  partners  as  an  “   infamous  company 

of  Land  Pyrates,”  and  Dunmore  branded  the  colony 

as  “one  Richard  Henderson  and  other  disorderly 

persons,  his  associates.” 

But  the  “Pyrates”  defied  all  obstacles  and  proceeded 
to  enter  the  promised  land  to  which  they  had  acquired 

such  questionable  title.  Daniel  Boone  with  a   party 

of  enlisted  backwoodsmen  was  sent  ahead  to  open  the 

route  through  the  forest  to  the  Kentucky  interior  and 

there  locate  a   center  for  the  new  colony.  The  details 

of  this  expedition  and  the  experiences  and  exploits 

of  Boone  are  admirably  related  in  the  recently  published 

volume  by  H.  Addington  Bruce,  entitled  “Daniel  Boone 
and  the  Wilderness  Road.  ” 

With  his  little  band  of  path-breakers  Boone  passed 
through  the  famous  Cumberland  Gap,  at  the  extreme 

southwestern  point  or  toe  of  Virginia  and  amid  many 

difficulties  and  dangers — two  or  three  being  killed  by 
Indians  and  others  of  the  party  being  frightened  into 

abandoning  the  journey — threaded  their  way  through 

the  maze  of  forest  and  underbrush,  creating  that  his- 

toric route,  known  as  Boone’s  Wilderness  Road,  which 
ended  on  the  banks  of  the  Kentucky  River  at  the  mouth 

of  Otter  Creek.  They  arrived  on  this  site  in  April 

(i77S)  and  here  they  erected  a   blockhouse,  the  first 

“fort”  in  Kentucky  and  opened  a   land  office  where 

deeds  were  issued  by  the  company  as  “Proprietors  of 

the  Colony  of  Transylvania.  ”   They  called  this  setting 
of  civilization  in  the  heart  of  savagery,  Boonesborough, 

but  it  was  not  the  first  colonizing  nucleus  in  the  Ken- 
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tucky  country  for  James  Harrod  in  the  year  before 

(1774)  had  led  a   party  from  the  banks  of  the  Monon- 
gahela  to  a   branch  of  the  Salt  River,  a   site  fifty  miles 

west  of  Boonesborough.  Harrod’s  little  cluster  of 
cabins  was  designated  as  Harrodstown. 

There  were  also  one  or  two  other  smaller  settlements, 

notably  Boiling  Spring,  a   co-settlement  with  Harrods- 

town, and  St.  Asaph,  more  often  known  as  Logan’s 
Fort,  established  by  Benjamin  Logan.  These  last 

two — Boiling  Spring  and  Logan’s  Fort — were  not  far 
distant  from  those  already  mentioned.  Others  were 

soon  to  spring  into  being,  one  deserving  special  mention, 

on  the  headwaters  of  Licking  River,  was  known  at 

first  as  Hinkson’s,  later  Ruddell’s  Station.  We  need 
not  chronicle  the  career  of  these  settlements. 

Henderson  and  his  leading  confreres  soon  followed 

Boone’s  advance  guard  and  in  the  last  week  of  May, 
at  Boonesborough,  was  held  the  first  convention,  west 

of  the  Alleghanies,  for  the  formation  of  a   local  govern- 
ment. There  were  seventeen  or  eighteen  delegates 

to  this  civic  assembly, — a   constitutional  convention — 
representing  each  of  the  four  towns,  Boonesborough, 

Harrodstown,  Boiling  Spring  and  Logan’s  Fort.  The 

session  was  held  in  the  open  air  “   under  the  budding 
branches  of  a   gigantic  elm,  while  around  their  feet 

sprang  the  native  white  clover,  as  a   carpet  for  their 

hall  of  legislation.  ” 
Henderson  was  elected  President  of  the  new  govern- 

ment. Daniel  Boone  proposed  laws  for  the  protection 

of  game  and  improving  the  breed  of  horses,  the  beginning 

of  Kentucky’s  fame  in  that  respect.  Squire  Boone, 
brother  of  Daniel,  submitted  laws  for  preserving  the 
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cattle  ranges.  Henderson,  who  addressed  the  delegates, 

“much  as  a   crown  governor  would  have  done, ”   sug- 
gested the  laws  he  thought  wise  to  enact.  These 

provided  for  courts  of  justice,  for  regulating  the  militia,  j 
for  punishing  criminals,  fixing  the  fees  for  sheriffs, 

clerks,  etc.  The  only  clergyman  member,  Rev.  Joh 

Lythe,  an  Episcopalian,  gave  religious  coloring  to  th 

event  by  having  passed  a   law  forbidding  profane  sweai 

ing  and  Sabbath  breaking.  This  embryo  bill  of  right 

also  provided  for  “perfect  religious  freedom  and  genen 

toleration,”  and  complete  liberty  on  the  part  of  th 
settlers  to  conduct  colonial  affairs  according  to  thei 
needs. 

Such  was  the  romantic  inception  of  the  wildernes 

government  of  the  Transylvania  state.  But  it  wa 

short  lived,  for  the  backwoods  legislature  adjourne* 

to  meet  in  the  following  September  (1775),  but  ther 

is  no  authentic  record  of  that  second  meeting.  Th 

assembly  of  Virginia  vigorously  inhibited  the  stat 

scheme  for  Transylvania,  the  territory  of  which  wa 

then  within  the  far-reaching  limits  of  Fincastle  Count} 
Virginia,  and  hence  the  Henderson  settlement  cam 

under  the  jurisdiction  of  the  House  of  Burgesses  a 

Richmond.  Henderson  and  his  Transylvania  legisla 

ture  then  appealed  to  the  Continental  Congress  fo 

During  the  opening  years  of  the  American  Revolu 

tion,  1775  and  1776,  the  western  Indians  both  nortl 

and  south  of  the  Ohio,  remained  in  a   state  of  fear  anc 

recognition,  but  their  petition  met  a   cold  hearing  an< 

a   definite  refusal.  Congress  was  agitated  with  th 
affairs  of  the  American  Revolution  and  it  was  no  tim 

to  consider  the  creation  of  a   new  proprietary  colony. 
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doubt.  Dunmore’s  war  had  temporarily,  at  least, 
checked  the  aggressive  hostility  of  the  Shawnees  and 

confederate  tribes  of  Ohio,  while  the  Transylvania 

Company  purchase  from  the  Cherokees  quieted  the 

hostility  of  that  warlike  nation.  Meanwhile  both  the 

Crown  and  Colonial  authorities  were  exerting  every 

effort  to  respectively  secure  the  alliance  of  the  western 
tribesmen. 

In  1775,  that  arch-mischief-maker  Dr.  John  Connolly 
planned  a   union  of  the  northwestern  Indians  with  the 

British  troops.  Under  command  of  Connelly  a   com- 
bined force  of  English  and  Indians  was  to  rendezvous 

at  Detroit,  proceed  thence,  and  after  ravaging  such 

frontier  settlements  as  came  in  their  route,  the  expedi- 
tion was  to  enter  Eastern  Virginia  and  unite  with  Lord 

Dunmore  who  was  then  in  the  British  service.  In  the 

furtherance  of  this  plan,  Connolly,  after  visiting  General 

Gage  at  Boston  and  Lord  Dunmore  in  Virginia,  started 

with  concealed  instructions  from  the  latter,  for  Detroit, 

but  in  passing  through  Maryland,  his  perfidy  being 

suspected,  he  was  arrested  and  by  the  authority  of 

the  Continental  Congress  held  in  close  and  safe  custody 

in  Philadelphia  until  1781. 

During  the  latter  half  of  1775  and  the  first  half  of 

[776,  the  Ohio  Indians  remained  for  the  most  part 

nactive,  fearing  to  commit  themselves  to  either  side 

)f  the  contestants  in  the  Revolution.  Their  sympathy, 

low  ever,  was  with  the  British,  for  they  were  smarting 
mder  their  defeat  at  the  hands  of  Andrew  Lewis  and 

:he  humiliation  inflicted  upon  them  by  Lord  Dunmore. 

Moreover,  Hamilton,  Commandant  at  Detroit,  and 

Tarleton,  Governor-General  of  Canada,  were  putting li 



152 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

forth  every  inducement  to  secure  and  retain  the  Indian 

cooperation.  Hamilton  sang  the  war-song  and  fra- 

ternized familiarly  with  the  Indians  and  in  his  dis- 

patches to  his  superiors  gave  them  to  understand  that 

he  would  send  out  parties  of  Indians  “to  fall  on  the 

scattered  settlers  on  the  Ohio  and  its  branches,”  and 

he  selected  to  lead  these  raids  qualified  officers  “who 
would  be  troubled  by  no  compunctions  and  no  emotions 

of  pity  in  making  the  work  of  destruction  complete.” 
Detroit  became  the  great  center  for  tribal  gatherings 

There  a   frequent  scene  was  the  assembly  of  “hundreds 
of  painted  savages,  with  uplifted  tomahawks,  scalping 

knives  in  their  belts  and  fusils,  lead  and  flints  at  hand. 

All  the  materials  of  war  were  supplied  by  the  British 

“white  father”  and  all  were  to  be  used  against  the, 
American  rebels.  Everything  that  could  be  done  to 

attach  the  Indians  to  the  service  of  the  King  was  done 

in  unstinted  manner.  “They  were  coaxed  with  rum, 
feasted  with  oxen  roasted  whole,  alarmed  by  threats 

of  the  destruction  of  their  hunting-ground  and  supplied 

with  everything  that  an  Indian  could  desire.”  Mean 
while  Carleton  was  employing  similar  methods 

Montreal,  whither  the  Iroquois  and  Canadian  tribe 

were  constantly  summoned  and  plied  with  present 

and  arguments  in  favor  of  Great  Britain. 

On  the  other  hand  the  Continental  Congress  at  firsi 

during  this  period  (1775-6)  advocated  merely  the  polic) 

of  keeping  the  Indians  in  a   neutral  condition,  out  o 

the  contest  entirely,  and  instructions  to  that  effect  wen 

early  sent  to  the  American  Indian  commissioners  fo 

the  three  departments.  But  it  was  soon  evident  th< 

tribesmen  would  not  sit  idly  by  and  hold  aloof  and  a: 

it 

till 

it! 
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sarly  as  April,  1 776,  Washington,  who  knew  the 

fn|  Indians,  and  whose  keen  eyes  watched  every  feature 

Df  the  Colonial  cause,  wrote  to  Congress,  saying,  as 

he  Indians  would  soon  be  engaged  either  for  or  against 

hem,  he  would  suggest  that  they  be  engaged  for  the 

olonies.  Congress  considered  this  matter  and  in  June 

empowered  Washington  to  raise  two  thousand  Indians 

;o  be  employed  in  the  proposed  Canadian  campaign, 

md  he  was  authorized  to  offer  the  Indians  rewards  for 

mg|  Drisoners.  De  Haas  in  his  “Indian  Wars,”  adds  that 

refyhile  Congress  was  offering  “their  allies  of  the  woods 

•ewards  for  prisoners,  some  of  the  British  agents  gave 

;hem  money  for  scalps.” 
The  northwestern  and  the  Ohio  tribes  influenced  by 

England  assumed  more  and  more  an  aggressive  hostility 

md  the  entire  frontiers  of  Virginia  and  Pennsylvania 

ion  iow  became  the  theatre  of  renewed  Indian  depreda- 

M   lions.  The  Revolution  in  the  Ohio  Valley  was  the 

rea  ierce  and  sanguinary  war  of  the  tomahawk  and  scalping 

pH  :nife  against  the  rifle  of  the  backwoodsmen.  At  this 

>eriod  it  was  estimated  that  the  Indians  of  New  York, 

)hio  and  the  vicinity  of  the  lakes  could  bring  ten 

housand  warriors  into  the  field  and  if  they  could  be 

roused  and  united  an  appalling  fate  awaited  the 

>ioneer  patriots  of  the  trans-Alleghany  country. 

At  this  juncture  (April,  1776)  Colonel  George  Morgan 

/as  appointed  Indian  agent  for  the  middle  department, 

j/ith  headquarters  at  Pittsburg.  Morgan  is  described 

ji  Hildreth’s  “Pioneer  History”  as  a   man  of  un- 
measured activity,  great  perseverance,  and  familiar 

J,  jdth  the  Indian  manners  and  habits. 
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The  American  Archives  report  that  on  Tuesday, 

June  II,  1776,  Congress  having  made  an  appropriation  ; 

for  presents  to  be  distributed  to  the  Indians,  a   delega- 

tion of  the  latter  was  received  by  Congress  and  “the 
speech  agreed  to  was  delivered  as  follows : 

“ 4   Brothers :   We  hope  the  friendship  that  is  between 
you  and  us  will  be  firm,  and  continue  as  long  as  the 

sun  shall  shine,  and  the  waters  run;  that  we  and  you 

may  be  as  one  people,  and  have  but  one  heart,  and  be 
kind  to  one  another  like  brethren. 

44 4 Brothers:  The  King  of  Great  Britain ,   hearkening 
to  the  evil  counsel  of  some  of  his  foolish  young  men,  is 

angry  with  us,  because  we  will  not  let  him  take  away 

from  us  our  land,  and  all  that  we  have,  and  give  it  to 

them,  and  because  we  will  not  do  everything  that  he 

bids  us;  and  hath  hindered  his  people  from  bringing 

goods  to  us;  but  we  have  made  provision  for  getting 

such  a   quantity  of  them,  that  we  hope  we  shall  be  able 

to  supply  your  wants  as  formerly, 

44  4   Brothers:  We  shall  order  all  our  warriors  and  ; 

young  men  not  to  hurt  you  or  any  of  your  kindred, 

and  we  hope  that  you  will  not  suffer  any  of  your  young 

men  to  join  with  our  enemies,  or  to  do  any  wrong  tc 

us,  that  nothing  may  happen  to  make  any  quarre. 
between  us. 

44  4   Brothers:  We  desire  you  to  accept  a   few  neces-  j 
saries,  which  we  present  you  with  as  tokens  of  ou: 

good  will  toward  you.’ 
44 The  presents  being  delivered,  the  Indian  Chie 

begged  leave  to  give  a   name  to  the  President;  th< 

same  being  granted,  an  Onondaga  Chief  arose  anc 

saluted  the  President  by  the  name  of  Karanduaan  j 
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>r  the  Great  Tree,  by  which  name  he  informed  him  the 

Resident  will  be  known  among  the  Six  Nations.” 
Meanwhile  the  Kentucky  settlers  were  hovering 

lose  to  their  stockades  and  awaiting  anxiously  the 
rend  of  events. 

In  the  spring  of  1776,  George  Rogers  Clark,  who  had 

rst  visited  Boonesborough  the  year  before,  joined 

he  settlers  on  the  Kentucky  and  contributed  his 

ourage  and  sagacity  to  the  projects  of  the  Transyl- 
anians.  He  knew  the  doubtful  value  of  their  Chero- 

ee  title,  and  the  futility  of  their  efforts  to  get  recogni- 
ion  from  the  Virginia  House  of  Burgesses  or  from  the 

bntinental  Congress.  He  realized  that  the  followers 

f   Boone  and  Henderson  must  secure  permanency  for 

aeir  settlements  by  becoming  either  an  acknowledged 

ortion  of  Virginia  or  an  independent  commonwealth. Iln  June  (1776)  a   general  meeting  of  these  settlers as  held  at  Harrodsburg,  previously  Harrodstown,  at 

hich  convention  George  Rogers  Clark  and  Gabriel 

IDnes  were  chosen  members  of  the  Virginia  assembly, 
nd  armed  with  a   petition  signed  by  James  Harrod 

nd  eighty-seven  other  settlers,  the  two  envoys  made 

le  long  journey  over  the  Wilderness  Road  to  Rich- 
mond. 

The  Virginia  assembly  had  adjourned  when  they 

"rived  at  the  capital  and  Patrick  Henry,  then  governor 
:   Virginia,  referred  the  two  Kentucky  Envoys  to  the 

xecutive  Council  at  Williamsburg.  Matters  lay  in 

Deyance  till  the  Virginia  assembly  met  in  December, 

hen  Clark  and  Jones  and  Henderson  and  his  friends 

opealed  to  the  legislators  for  respective  recognition, 

he  result  was  that  the  Transylvania  region  was  made 
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a   political  part  of  Virginia  to  be  known  as  the  “county 

of  Kentucky,”  and  Harrodstown,  hereafter  to  be 
known  as  Harrodsburg,  was  made  the  county  seat, 

having  by  this  time  supplanted  Boonesborough  in 

importance.  With  a   large  consignment  of  powder 

to  be  used  by  the  Kentucky  settlers  in  their  defense 

against  Indian  attacks,  Clark  and  party  returned  b) 

the  Ohio  River  to  Harrodsburg. 

Through  the  firmness  and  tact  of  Colonel  Morgar 

and  the  diplomacy  and  leadership  of  Major  Clark,  a 

briefly  related,  a   general  Indian  war  on  the  Ohk 

frontier  had  thus  far  been  averted.  But  the  increasing 

amity  of  the  Ohio  tribes  only  awaited  an  opportunity 

for  an  explosion.  Most  of  the  western  tribes  wer 

allied  with  England,  but  the  Shawnees,  though  neve 

reconciled  to  a   friendship  for  the  Colonists,  had  as 

tribe,  since  the  Dunmore  treaty,  been  held  in  restrain 

by  the  powerful  influence  of  their  trusted  chief  Corn 

stalk.  But  at  length  they  too  yielded  to  the  poten 

arguments  of  the  British  agents  and  were  preparin 

to  go  upon  the  warpath  against  the  Kentuckians  an 

Virginians.  A   tragic  event  let  loose  the  dogs  of  wai 

Cornstalk,  true  to  his  treaty  agreement,  solicitou 

for  the  honor  and  welfare  of  his  people,  and  anxiou 

to  preserve  the  peace,  determined  to  visit  the  garriso 

at  Point  Pleasant  and  use  his  influence  to  avert  th 

threatened  bursting  of  the  storm. 

In  the  spring  of  1777,  accompanied  by  the  youn 

Delaware  chief  Red  Hawk,  who  fought  by  his  side  z 

Point  Pleasant,  Cornstalk  crossed  the  Ohio  and  pr< 

sented  himself  at  the  quarters  of  Captain  Matthe 

Arbuckle,  commander  of  Fort  Randolph,  as  the  stocl 
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.de  at  Point  Pleasant  had  been  named.  After  a 

rank  statement  by  the  chief  that  the  Shawnees  were 

planning  to  unite  with  the  northern  and  western  tribes 

nd  inaugurate  a   merciless  frontier  war,  the  news  was 

peedily  forwarded  to  Fort  Pitt,  then  commanded  by 

General  Edward  Hand;  to  Fort  Henry,  at  mouth  of 

Vheeling  River,  formerly  known  as  Fort  Fincastle; 

nd  the  information  was  also  posted  to  Richmond, 

apital  of  the  Virginia  government. 

Troops  were  at  once  raised  in  Augusta,  Bottetourt 

nd  Greenbriar  counties.  It  was  proposed  to  make 

nother  invasion  of  Ohio  Indian  country.  The  plan 

ras  for  the  volunteers  from  the  inland  Virginia  counties 

nd  the  contingent  from  Fort  Pitt  to  meet  at  Point 
leasant  and  thence  cross  the  Ohio  for  the  Indian 

owns.  Meanwhile  Cornstalk  and  Red  Hawk  had 

een  perfidiously  detained  at  Fort  Randolph  as  hostages 

>r  the  peaceful  behavior  of  their  tribes.  Ellinipsico, 

bn  of  Cornstalk,  worried  about  the  fate  of  his  father, 

:ft  his  Ohio  quarters  and  hastened  to  Fort  Randolph, 

here  he  was  affectionately  received  by  the  great  chief, 

ho  was  engaged,  says  Stuart,  “at  that  instant,  in 
le  act  of  delineating  a   map  of  the  country  and  the 

aters  between  his  Shawnee  towns  and  the  Miss- 

sippi,  at  our  request,  with  chalk  upon  the  floor.” 
/hat  followed  is  best  learned  from  the  account  of 

aptain  John  Stuart,  who  was  an  eye  witness  of  the 

Korrifying  scene. On  the  day  following  the  arrival  of  Ellinipsico, 

vo  young  Virginia  volunteers — Hamilton  and  Gilmore 

-crossed  the  Kanawha  to  hunt  deer;  on  their  return 
)   camp,  some  Indians,  concealed  on  the  further  bank 
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amongst  the  weeds,  fired  on  them,  killing  Gilmore. 

Soldiers  from  the  fort,  sprang  into  a   canoe,  hastened 

to  the  relief  of  Hamilton,  rescued  him  and  returned 

with  the  corpse  of  Gilmore,  covered  with  blood  anc 

scalped.  At  sight  of  the  mutilated  remains,  the  in- 

furiated soldiers  raised  the  cry  “let  us  kill  the  Indian; 

in  the  fort,”  and  guns  in  hand,  pale  with  rage,  the} 
rushed  into  the  stockade  to  wreak  their  vengeanct 

on  Cornstalk  and  his  companions.  Captain  ArbuckL 
endeavored  to  restrain  the  assailants  but  in  vain 

The  brave  chief,  at  once  realized  his  doom  was  in 

evitable  and  his  last  words  were  those  of  courage  t 

Ellinipsico,  “My  son,”  he  said,  “the  great  spirit  ha 
seen  fit  that  we  should  die  together  and  has  sent  yo- 
here  to  that  end.  It  is  his  will  and  let  us  submit 

it  is  all  for  the  best,  ”   and  turning  his  face  to  his  mui 
derers  at  the  door,  he  fell  without  a   groan,  pierce 
with  seven  bullets. 

That  he  had  for  some  time  felt  premonition  of  hi 

fate  was  evidenced  by  his  speech  the  day  before  h 

foul  taking  off;  for  while  conferring  with  his  whit 

captors  in  the  fort  he  said,  “when  I   was  a   young  ma 
and  went  to  war,  I   thought  that  might  be  the  laf 

time,  and  I   would  return  no  more.  Now  I   am  heii 

among  you;  you  may  kill  me  if  you  please;  I   can  d 

but  once;  and  it  is  all  one  to  me,  now  or  another  time. 

The  brave  and  magnanimous  chief,  one  of  tl 

greatest  of  his  race,  thus  passed  to  the  happy  huntin 

grounds  beyond,  the  victim  of  the  infamy  of  his  whi 

assassins  whose  voluntary  guest  he  was  that  he  migl 

befriend  them  in  the  impending  war.  Ellinipsi* 

quickly  followed  the  chiefs  untimely  fate,  and  w 
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shot  as  he  sat  upon  a   stool,  the  terrified  witness  of 

his  father’s  death.  Red  Hawk  attempted  to  escape 

up  the  chimmey  but  was  shot  down.  Captains  Ar- 

buckle  and  Stuart  gave  respectful  burial  to  Cornstalk 

and  those  who  perished  with  him.  The  grave  of  the 

illustrious  chief  is  today  located  in  the  court  house 

yard  at  Point  Pleasant  and  is  marked  by  a   modest 

monument  of  grey  limestone  upon  which  is  engraved 

simply  the  word  “Cornstalk.”  It  is  a   shrine  of  a 
noble  character,  a   blameless  hero  and  a   patriotic 

martyr.  The  historian  Lewis  notes  that  Cornstalk 

was  survived  by  a   son,  The  Wolf,  who  was  one  of  the 

Shawnee  hostages  taken  by  Dunmore  to  Williamsburg, 

md  who,  after  escaping,  was  connected  with  some 

of  the  events  on  the  border  in  the  early  years  of  the 

Revolution. 

The  governor  of  Virginia,  Patrick  Henry,  offered 

i   reward  for  the  apprehension  of  the  murderers.  Sev- 

eral soldiers  were  suspected  and  cited  for  trial  but 

ivere  acquitted  for  lack  of  evidence, — the  accused 

shielding  themselves  and  their  accomplices  by  false 

r   testimony  or  the  suppression  of  the  truth.  Congress, 

hrough  the  agency  of  Colonel  Morgan,  made  an 

effort  to  appease  the  Shawnees,  for  the  murder  of  their 

)rave  and  trusted  leader  but  the  offense  was  too  atro- 

cious to  be  condoned  and  the  tribesmen  of  the  slaugh- 

tered chief  justly  thirsted  for  the  blood  of  his  slayers. 

The  murder  of  Cornstalk  was  the  signal  that  aroused 

he  Ohio  tribes  to  take  up  the  tomahawk  and  go  upon 

he  warpath.  At  this  time  (1777)  it  must  be  noted 

hat  in  the  confines  of  what  later  became  the  State 

>f  Ohio,  there  were  no  white  settlements,  deserving 
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that  designation.  The  savages,  therefore,  of  the  Ohio 

Confederation  precipitated  their  warfaring  bands  over 

the  Kentucky  and  Virginia  borders.  As  one  historian 

says,  “It  was  a   year  of  siege,  of  struggle  and  of  suffering 
— but  the  gloomy  months  elicited  some  extraordinary 

instances  of  heroism  and  humanity.” 
It  was  the  American  Revolution  in  the  West.  These 

border  incursions  are  replete  with  incidents  of  thrilling 

interest,  but  we  hasten  on  to  events  greater  in  impor- 

tance and  particularly  pertinent  to  the  Ohio  country,  j 
And  before  we  enter  upon  this  drama  of  the  western 

Revolution,  it  is  desirable  that  we  acquaint  ourselves  j 

with  the  leading  dramatis  personce ,   some  of  whom 

have  already  been  mentioned. 

Foremost  among  the  personages  prominent  from 

now  on  were  the  Girty  Brothers,  Simon,  James,  George  | 

and  Thomas.  They  were  the  sons  of  Simon  Girty,  Sr., 

and  for  our  information  relating  to  this  remarkable 

family,  concerning  which  much  has  been  published, 

we  rely  mainly  upon  the  “History  of  the  Girtys,” 
by  Consul  Wilshire  Butterfield,  a   work  of  unusual  i 

completeness  and  rare  fidelity  to  historic  truth. 

Simon  Girty,  the  elder,  was  a   native  of  Ireland,  i 

whence  he  emigrated,  in  the  second  quarter  of  the  j 

eighteenth  century,  to  Lancaster  county,  Pennsylvania  j 

where  he  engaged  in  trading  with  the  Indians,  anc  ; 

married  an  English  girl  named  Mary  Newton.  Thei  ! 
first  child  was  Thomas,  born  1739;  the  second  wa: 

called  Simon  after  his  father,  born  1741;  the  third 

James,  arrived  in  1743  and  the  birth  of  the  fourth  j 
George,  was  in  1745.  There  were  no  daughters  ; 

tradition  to  the  contrary,  notwithstanding.  The  Girt;  \ 
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family  home,  during  the  advent  of  the  four  sons, Was 

at  Chamber’s  Mills,  on  the  Susquehanna,  at  the  mcuth 
of  Fishing  Creek,  not  far  from  the  present  sit<  of 

Harrisburg. 

The  early  years  of  the  life  of  Girty,  Sr.,  at  Chamblr’s 
Mills  and  his  wanderings  therefrom  are  clouded  )py 

tradition  and  conflicting  statements.  Certain  it  is, 

however  that  he  was  of  a   roving  disposition  ajid 

given  to  the  common  vice  of  his  class,  intemperan 

About  the  ending  of  the  year  1751,  Girty,  Sr.,  wis 

killed  “in  a   drunken  frolic”  by  an  Indian  named  “Tie 

Fish.”  One  John  Turner,  who  at  the  time  lived  wi 

the  family,  avenged  the  killing  of  Girty  by  “putti 

an  end  to  the  existence  of  The  Fish.  ”   Turner  receiv 

!!  his  reward  by  marrying  (1753)  the  widow  of  Girt 
“a  woman  of  unblemished  character.” 

During  the  vicissitudes  of  the  French  and  India 

War,  the  Turner-Girty  family  became  inmates  o 

Fort  Granville,  on  the  bank  of  the  Juniata,  near  presen 

site  of  Lewistown.  Fort  Granville  in  July,  1756,  was! 

attacked  by  a   party  of  twenty-three  Frenchmen  and 

one  hundred  Indians,  mainly  Delawares,  Shawnees 

and  Senecas.  The  besiegers  were  successful,  the  fort 

was  burned  and  Turner,  his  wife,  son  John  (Turner) 

and  step-sons  Girty,  were  prisoners  in  the  hands  of  the 

savages,  who  conducted  the  captive  family  to  Kittan- 

ning, “there  tied  Turner  to  a   black  post;  danced  around 

him;  made  a   great  fire;  and,  having  heated  gun-barrels 

redhot,  ran  them  through  his  body !   Having  tormented 

him  for  three  hours,  they  scalped  him  alive,  and  at 

last  held  up  a   boy  with  a   hatchet  in  his  hard  to  give 

him  the  finishing  stroke.” 
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Hhis  scene,  inhuman  but  not  infrequent  in  the  annals 

of  the  Indian  frontier,  was  witnessed  by  the  crazed 

wie,  who  was  compelled,  with  her  four  boys — Thomas, 

Sinon,  James  and  George — and  babe  John  in  her 
ams,  to  sit  upon  a   log,  the  horrified  spectators  of  ] 

tbir  step-father’s  agony. 

test 

1   tki 

lit 

The  separation  of  the  family,  divided  among  the  In- 
dan  captors,  followed  the  burning  of  the  father.  The 

nother  and  babe,  John,  were  taken  to  the  wilderness 

\y  the  savages.  In  the  turn  of  events,  Thomas  was 
cscued  by  white  settlers  and  taken  to  Fort  Pitt, 

rhere  he  became  a   trader  for  the  ensuing  fifteen  or 

wenty  years;  glimpses  are  caught  of  him  now  and 

hen  as  he  wanders  in  his  trading  business  through 

;he  Ohio  country.  The  adventures  of  the  other  three 

Drothers,  Simon,  James  and  George,  furnish  the  mate- 
rial for  many  a   volume  of  history,  tradition  and  fiction. 

Simon  was  made  a   prisoner  by  a   party  of  Delawares, 

Shawnees  and  French,  finallf  being  delivered  to  the 

Senecas,  whose  language  he  speedily  mastered.  James 

was  allotted  to  the  Shawnee^,  with  whom  he  became 

thoroughly  habituated  in  speech  and  manner  of  life. 

George  was  adopted  by  the  Delawares. 

This  “distribution”  of  thb  Girty  Brothers,  be  it 
remembered,  was  in  the  y6ar  1756.  Simon  Girty, 
through  his  ability,  bravery  and  tactful  manners,  made, 
himself  popular  and  influential  not  only  in  the  Delaware 
tribe,  but  with  all  the  tribesmen  with  whom  he  came 

in  contact.  He  was  a   trader,  an  interpreter,  a   diplo- 
mat. He  spent  much  of  his  time  at  Fort  Pitt,  taking 

an  interest  in  public  affairs  and  ingratiating  himself 
in  the  fdvor  of  the  white  settlers.  In  the  colony; 

m 
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>oundary  line  dispute  he  figures  as  an  advocate  for 

Virginia.  In  the  Dunmore  War  we  saw  Simon  act 

is  a   guide  and  interpreter  for  the  royal  governor  in 

iis  Ohio  campaign,  and  we  noted  his  participation  in 

he  treaty  proceedings  on  the  Pickaway  Plains. 

In  February,  1775,  the  Virginia  court  at  “Fort 

)unmore”  ordered  all  militia  officers  should  take 

'the  oath  of  allegiance,  the  oath  of  supremacy,  tie 

est  oath  and  the  oath  of  abjuration.”  Simon  Girt 
hen  a   lieutenant  in  the  Pittsburg  militia,  organiz 

*y  Connolly,  took  the  prescribed  oath,  and  did  si 

erely  promise  and  swear  that  he  would  be  “faithf 
nd  bear  allegiance  to  his  Majesty  King  George  th 

hird.”  “There  can  be  no  doubt,”  remarks  Butterfield1 

lat  at  this  time  “Girty,  notwithstanding  there  wa 
rouble  of  a   serious  nature  between  the  colonies  and  th 

lother  country,  was  well-disposed  toward  the  latter.  ” 

In  the  summer  of  this  same  year  (1775),  the  Virginia 

louse  of  Burgesses,  distrusting  the  attitude  of  Lord 

)unmore  and  with  the  intent  of  holding  the  allegiance 

f   the  Ohio  Indians  in  conformity  with  the  “Camp 

Charlotte”  agreement,  decided  to  summon  the  Ohio 
ndians  to  a   meeting  at  Pittsburg.  One  James  Wood 

ras  appointed  a   commissioner  to  meet  the  Indians 

the  proposed  conference  and  Wood  was  also  in- 

ducted to  make  an  extended  trip  into  the  Ohio  wilder- 
ess  and  invite  the  Indians  to  the  intended  meeting, 

iirty  was  chosen  as  the  guide  and  interpreter  for 

/ood,  who  kept  a   most  interesting  journal  of  the 

mbassy,  a   journal  subsequently  published,  portions 

f   it  appearing  in  Kercheval’s  “History  of  the  Valley 

f   Virginia.” 
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They  started  out  in  July  (1775)  and  visited  the 

Wyandots  on  the  Sandusky  and  the  towns  of  the 

Mingoes,  Shawnees  and  Delawares,  including  Pluggy’s 
Town  on  the  Scioto,  apd  Goschochgung,  then  the 

principal  village  of  the  Delawares  on  the  present  site 

of  Coshocton.  They  met  several  of  the  chiefs,  es- 

pecially conferring  with  White  Eyes  at  one  of  the 

Moravian  towns.  In  this  trip  Girty  seems  to  have 

been  friendly  to  the  Virginian  cause,  at  all  events  not 

openly  loyal  to  the  British.  Shortly  after  the  return  oi 

Wood  and  Girty  to  Pittsburg,  Connolly  disbanded 

and  discharged  his  militia  and  Girty  thereby  lost  his 

office  as  lieutenant. 

In  September  of  this  year  Captain  John  Neville, 

under  orders  from  Virginia,  took  possession  of  the 

dilapidated  Fort  Dunmore,  built  and  so-called  b) 

Connolly,  and  restored  the  same  as  Fort  Pitt.  Th< 

Indian  conference  followed,  in  which  the  Munseys 

Shawnees,  Mingoes,  Wyandotjs  and  Ottawas  from  Ohic 

agreed  to  maintain  a   strict  neutrality  as  between  th< 

mother  country  and  the  colonies;  an  agreement,  how 

ever,  soon  broken  by  all  save  the  Delawares.  On  th* 

arrival  at  Pittsburg  of  the  colonial  colonel  Georg* 

Mason,  in  April,  1761,  Girty  was  made  one  of  hi 

official  interpreters,  holding  this  position  three  months 

when  he  was  discharged  “for  ill  behavior.”  Girt 

was  surdy  shifting  to  the  skle  upon  which  he  reall; 
belonged. 

In  the  summer  of  this  year  (1776)  Colonel  Morgan 
in  the  continued  effort  to  restrain  the  Ohio  Indian 

from  allying  themselves  with  the  British,  held  a   counc 

at  Fort  Pitt.  At  this  conference  were  present,  Kia 
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  1   

shuta,  the  Mingo  chief,  Captain  Pipe,  the  Delaware, 

The  Shade,  a   Shawnee  chief,  and  Shegenaba,  a   aon 

of  Pontiac.  The  latter  was  the  recipient  of  a   present 

from  Colonel  Morgan  for  saving  the  life  of  an  Olio 

white  settler.  Shegenaba,  who  at  this  time  resided 

on  the  Maumee,  declined  to  accede  to  Hamiltoii’s 
summons  to  report  at  Detroit  and  prepare  for  tie 

warpath  against  the  Americans.  It  was  about  this 

time,  however,  that  the  Ohio  Indians,  in  spite  of  their 

previous  professions  of  neutrality,  began  to  display 

increased  enmity  towards  the  border  whites  and  t\ 

commit  open  acts  of  hostility.  Before  the  close 

this  year  the  Mingoes,  living  at  Pluggy’s  Town  01 
the  Scioto,  were  guilty  of  a   number  of  depredation* 

across  the  Ohio,  between  the  mouths  of  Captina  Creekl 

and  the  Great  Kanawha. 
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Chapter  VIII. 

FIRST  SIEGE  OF  FORT  HENRY 





BOTH  the  Continental  Congress  and  the  Vir- ginia legislature  realized  by  this  time  that 

great  danger  threatened  the  western  settle- 

ments. The  House  of  Burgesses  resolved 

■   hat  the  garrisons  at  Fort  Pitt  and  Fort  Randolph 

Ihould  be  augmented  and  that  Fort  Fincastle,  at  the 

louth  of  the  Wheeling  River,  should  be  repaired,  occu- 

ied  by  a   small  force  and  its  name  changed  to  Fort 

lenry,  in  honor  of  the  patriot  Patrick,  who  had  beer 

jtiosen  governor  of  Virginia  after  the  treacherous 

ight  of  Lord  Dunmore. 

Henry  Hamilton  at  Detroit  had  already  been  busy 

reparing  to  arm  the  savages  of  the  northwest  and 

md  them  under  command  of  British  officers  “to 
Lake  a   diversion  and  excite  an  alarm  on  the  frontiers 

|f  Virginia  and  Pennsylvania,”  as  expressed  by  Ger- 
lain,  but  in  the  words  of  Chatham  “to  let  loose  the 

Drrible  hell-hounds  of  savage  war.  ” 
In  the  spring  of  this  year  (1777)  before  Hamilton 

ad  received  positive  orders  to  arm  the  Indians, 

.   arrodsburg,  Boonesborough  and  Logan’s  Fort  had 

.1  been  attacked  by  Ohio  Indians,  chiefly  the  fierce 
iiawnees,  the  dominating  tribe  in,  what  was  to  be, 

antral  and  southern  Ohio.  Their  towns  were  numer- 

als, several  of  the  chief  ones  being  known  as  “Chilli- 

othe,”  a   word  said  to  mean,  “the  place  where  the 

pople  live,”  or  a   village.  The  ones  which  will  figure 
uiefly  in  our  history  as  designated  by  Prof.  R.  W. 

HcFarland,  in  the  publications  of  the  Oho  State 

.rchseological  and  Historical  Society,  are:  the  (1) 

ffiillicothe  on  the  Great  Miami,  on  the  present  site 

<   Piqua;  (2)  Chillicothe,  often  called  “Old  Chillicothe’ 
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located  about  three  miles  north  of  Xenia;  (3)  Chilli- 

cothe, also  often  called  “Old  Chillicothe, ”   on  the  west 
bank  of  the  Scioto,  at  present  location  of  village  of 

Westfall— the  Chillicothe  spoken  of  in  connection  with 

Dunmore’s  War;  (4)  Chillicothe,  now  called  Hopetown, 

— often  designated  as  “Old  Town” — three  miles  north 
of  modern  Chillicothe,  present  county  seat  of  Ros 

county;  this  county  seat  Chillicothe  does  not  figure 

in  the  Indian  historic  list;  (5)  Chillicothe,  now  Frank 

fort,  Ross  county,  likewise  frequently  called  “Ole 
Town.”  All  these  five  historic  Chillicothes  wen 

Shawnee  villages  and  the  indiscriminate  use  of  the 

name  has  led  to  great  confusion  and  many  misstate 

ments  by  historical  writers.  These  Chillicothes,  witl 

many  neighboring  villages  bearing  other  names,  wer 

the  centers  of  Indian  activity  during  the  Revolution 

ary  period  of  Ohio  history. 

During  the  summer  of  1777 — known  as  the  “blood 

year  of  the  three  sevens” — the  Mingoes,  Wyandot 
Shawnees  and  a   few  Delawares,  under  the  directio: 

of  Hamilton  at  Detroit,  planned  a   campaign  for  th 

capture  of  Fort  Henry.  The  leaders  and  many  follow 

ers  set  out  from  Detroit,  At  Goschochgung,  (Cos 

hocton)  they  were  re-enforced,  says  Butterfield,  b 

some  Senecas,  Ottawas,  Chippewas,  Pottawattomk 

and  by  “ja  few  French  Canadians.” 
This  hpstile  array,  consisting  of  near  four  hundre 

savages, 

colors,  a 

with  some  Detroit  Rangers  flying  the  Britis 

L   well  supplied  with  arms  and  ammunitio 

from  Hanilton,  crossed  the  Ohio  and  on  the  mornin 

of  September  first  appeared  before  the  bastions  ( 

Fort  Henry.  Many  alleged  authorities  state  th 

* 
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;avage  army  was  under  guidance,  if  not  the  command, 

Ilf  Simon  Girty.  The  testimony  on  this  point  is  veiry 

■conflicting.  Abraham  Rogers,  an  inmate  of  the  Fort 

it  the  time  of  the  siege  and  “a  distinguished  actor  in 

he  scene,”  in  a   newspaper  account,  published  in  183^, 
peaks  of  the  attacking  body  of  Indians  as  consisting 

>f  about  500  men  “commanded  by  the  infamous  Simon 

3irty. ”   Lewis  in  his  “History  of  West  Virginia 15 
daces  Girty  in  command  of  the  besiegers.  On  the 

ontrary  McKnight  in  “Our  Western  Border,”  states'* 

‘the  official  records  at  Fort  Pitt  show  that  he  (Girty] 
vas  then  at  that  post  and  serving  in  the  patriot  ranks,  M 

nd  he  adds  the  Moravian  records  confirm  this,  “andl 
f   this  beleaguering  force  was  commanded  by  a   Girty 

t   all,  it  must  have  been  by  George  or  James  Girty, 

yho  were  then  living  among  the  savages,  the  former 

eing  a   leader  of  some  influence.  ”   Butterfield  declares 
irty  was  not  with  the  attacking  party.  The  better 

vidence  is  in  favor  of  Girty’s  absence.  Indeed  many 
atures  of  this  siege  are  obscured,  by  unsupported 

raditions  and  contradictory  accounts.  Not  a   few  of 

hese  perplexing  anacronisms  arise  from  the  fact  that 

writers  confuse  the  two  sieges  of  Fort  Henry — 

he  one  in  September,  1 777,  and  the  one  in  September, 

782 — sieges  similar  in  the  main,  but  differing  in  many 

triking  incidents.  There  was  another  “siege” — so- 

alled — in  1781  but  it  was  unimportant  c.nd  of  no 

istorical  value.  From  the  superabundant  literature 

n   the  subject,  we  endeavor  briefly  to  extract  the  more 

nportant  facts  concerning  the  siege  of  1777- 

General  Edward  Hand  at  this  time,  as  previously 

loted,  was  commandant  at  Fort  Pitt  while  Colonel 
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George  Morgan  was  the  Indian  agent  located  at  the 

same  post.  The  other  stockades  in  the  vicinity  in- 

cluding Fort  Henry  were  mostly  self-garrisoned  by 

the  neighboring  settlers. 

Fort  Henry  stood  upon  the  Virginia  bank  of  the 

Ohio  River  about  a   quarter  of  a   mile  above  the  mouth 

of  Wheeling  Creek.  The  fort  enclosed  over  half 

an  acre  of  ground  and  was  a   parallelogram  of  square! 

oak  pickets,  ten  or  twelve  feet  high  and  pointed  at 

the  top,  with  bastions  and  sentry  boxes  at  the  corners. 

Inside  were  log  barracks,  a   storehouse,  a   well,  and 

cabins  for  families,  the  captain’s  or  commandant’s 

house  having  two  stories,  “   with  the  top  adapted  so  as  tc 

work  one  small  cannon.”  Back  of  the  fort  and  be- 

tween it  and  a   rising  hill,  the  land  had  been  cleared 

and  twenty-five  or  thirty  log  cabins  erected  by  the 

settlers;  one  of  these  cabins  was  the  home  of  Colone 

Ebenezer  Zane.  Colonel  David  Shepherd  was  ir 

command  of  the  fort  with  a   little  force  variously 

stated  to  be  from  twelve  to  two  score  men;  one  whc 

claimed  to  be  of  the  number,  said,  “the  little  garrisor 
who  were  able  to  bear  arms  did  not  exceed  fifteen  ir 

number  and  of  those  several  were  between  the  age: 

of  twelve  and  eighteen,  but  they  were  sharp-shooters.  ’ 
On  the  morning  of  September  1st,  concealed  partly 

by  a   rivet  fog  and  partly  by  the  brush  and  tall  corn 

the  Indians  crossed  the  Wheeling  Creek  in  their  advana 

upon  the  fort.  Captains  Samuel  Mason  and  Josepl 

Ogle  (or  (j)gal)  who  with  two  small  companies  of  som< 

twenty  each,  had  previously  arrived  from  Fort  Pitt 

having  been  warned  of  the  proposed  attack,  salliec 
forth  to  meet  the  invaders.  The  brave  defenders  fel 
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into  an  ambuscade  and  were  nearly  all  shot  down 

amid  the  blood-curdling  yells  of  the  “   screeching, 

murdering  demons.”  Captains  Mason  and  Ogle,  both 
badly  wounded,  regained  the  fort,  the  garrison  of 

which  was  now  reduced  to  only  ten  or  twelve  men 

and  boys. 

The  Indians  gloatingly  demanded,  in  the  name  olf 

Hamilton  and  the  British  government,  an  immediate 

surrender  but  the  “ little  Spartan  band”  returned 
vord  that  they  would  all  perish  rather  than  yield 

hemselves  to  the  besiegers.  The  infuriated  assailants 

hereupon  made  a   desperate  assault  “to  force  the  gates 

nd  try  the  strength  of  the  pickets  by  a   united  effort.  ” 
They  were  repulsed  and  the  unerring  fire  from  the 

>ortholes  held  them  at  bay.  The  siege  was  stubbornly 

>rotracted  from  early  morning  till  ten  or  eleven  o’clock 
t   night,  the  ensuing  hours  of  which  were  made  hideous 

nd  fearful  by  the  yells  of  the  tribesmen  and  firing 

f   guns  and  the  hurling  of  fire  brands,  at  the  stockade. 

Jot  a   man  in  the  fort  was  killed  but  the  loss  on  the 

art  of  the  Indians  was  great,  being  variously  esti- 

lated  from  twenty  to  one  hundred,  the  exact  number 

eing  unknown,  as  their  dead,  after  the  manner  of 

le  Indians,  were  carried  off  or  concealed. 

The  bravery  and  coolness  of  the  fort  inmates  were 

C01  ̂ surpassed;  the  courage  and  determination  of  the 

omen  being  no  less  conspicuous  than  that  displayed 

y   the  men.  Mrs.  Elizabeth  Zane,  wife  of  Ebenezer 

id  sister  of  the  McCullough  brothers,  “rendered 
uch  actual  service  to  the  men  by  running  bullets, 

itting  patches,  making  cartridges,  cheering  and  en- 

mraging  by  her  presence,  exhortations,  and  assistance? 

.e:; 
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the  sometimes  almost  exhausted  efforts  of  the  brave 

defenders  of  the  fort.  ” 
The  succeeding  day  the  persistent  but  somewhat 

discouraged  redmen  prepared  to  renew  the  attack, 

when  Colonel  Andrew  Swearingen  with  a   force  ol 

some  twenty  armed  men  arrived  from  Holliday’ 
neighboring  stockade  and  succeeded  in  entering  the 

fort.  And  now  the  heroic  and  master  event  of  the 

siege  was  enacted.  A   few  hours  after  the  entry  o 

Swearingen’s  band,  Major  Samuel  McCullough,  fre 

quently  spelled  McCulloch, — “   whose  daring  achieve 

ments  in  Indian  warfare  fill  the  pages  of  history”— 

“at  the  head  of  forty  gallant  mounted  men  from  Shor 
Creek,  put  in  an  appearance,  and  made  an  impetuou 

rush  for  the  great  gate,  which  was  joyfully  throw]; 

open  to  admit  them.” 
At  the  instant  of  the  approach  of  Major  McCul 

lough’s  cavalcade,  the  Indian  besiegers  reappeare 
and  made  a   precipitate  dash  to  forestall  the  entranc 

of  the  relief  party  to  the  fort.  All  the  Short  Cree 

horsemen,  however,  succeeded  in  entering  the  stockadf 

except  the  gallant  major,  who,  anxious  for  the  safet 

of  his  men,  held  back  until  his  own  chance  of  entr 

was  entirely  cut  off.  Finding  himself  entrapped  b 

the  savages,  prepared  to  deal  with  him  without  mere; 

he  spurred  his  horse  at  full  speed  in  the  direction  < 

the  hill  back  of  the  fort  and  village,  hoping  to  escaj 

to  Van  plater’s  stockade,  a   few  miles  distant. 
At-  'thei  brow  of  the  hill  he  encountered  a   band 

Indians  returning  from  a   plundering  expedition  amor 

the  nearby  settlements.  Thus  cornered  there  was  r 

way  of  escape  unless  by  a   leap  over  the  precipice 
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he  Wheeling  Creek  bottom  below.  It  was  the  only 

.lternative — that  or  become  the  prey  of  his  howling, 

lemoniac  pursuers,  facing  him  on  every  side,  save 

he  brink  of  the  bluff.  It  was  “death  among  the  roc] 

nd  brambles  or  by  the  knife  and  fagot.” 

Without  a   moment’s  hesitation,  the  baffled  but 
ndaunted  horseman,  firmly  braced  himself  in  the 

addle,  grasped  tightly  the  bridle  reins  with  his  left 

and  and  gripping  his  rifle  in  the  right,  forced  hist 

nfaltering  horse  over  the  yawning  brink — “a  plunge, 
crash,  crackling  timber  and  tumbling  rocks,  were 

11  the  wondering  savages  could  see  or  hear.” 

The  red  warriors  were  stupefied,  “the  hill,”  says 

IcKnight,  “where  this  rash  and  reckless  foe  had  gone 
vev  was  nearly  three  hundred  feet  high,  and  in  some 

laces  the  slope  was  almost  precipitous;  while,  there- 

>re,  they  could  not  but  admire  his  audacity  and  re- 

j)ice  that  their  most  inveterate  enemy  was  finished 

:   last,  they  regretted  that  he  had  been  so  unexpectedly 

pared  their  tortures;  they  crowded  to  the  edge  of 

e   cliff;  but  what  was  their  amazement  and  disgust 

>   see  the  fiery  steed,  with  the  invulnerable  major 

Itting  erect  upon  his  back,  dashing  across  the  creek 

hich  ran  at  the  base  of  the  hill,  and  then  careering 

cross  the  peninsula  at  a   free  and  rapid  stride.” 
It  was  one  of  the  most  daring  feats  ever  accomplished 

ad  is  often  cited  as  the  companion  piece  of  the  hill- 

de  descent  of  the  intrepid  Israel  Putnam. 

A   careful  investigation  of  the  facts  seems  to  reveal 

tat  McCullough’s  feat  was  a   clear  leap  of  some  fifty 

1st  from  the  top  of  the  cliff  to  a   landing  on  the  tree 

ad  brush-clad  slope,  from  which  he  dashed  down  a 
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steep  incline  of  two  hundred  and  fifty  feet  to  the 

river  bottom.  The  distance  covered  by  the  intrepid 

horseman  in  the  feat,  is  therefore  stated  by  some  to 

be  two  hundred  feet,  which  was  the  perpendicular 

height  of  the  cliff,  and  by  others  put  at  three  hundred, 

the  incline  distance  covered  by  the  fearless  rider. 

The  heroic  leap  of  McCullough  was  the  final  in- 

cident that  immortalized  the  first  siege  of  Fort  Henry. 

It  was  not  characteristic  of  the  Indians  to  prolong  a   | 

siege  or  campaign;  the  quality  of  perseverance  or  per- 

sistency was  strikingly  lacking  in  the  savage.  The>  j 

were  impatient  of  quick  results  and  when  such  were  noi  ! 

forthcoming,  the  enterprise,  whatever  its  nature,  was 

speedily  abandoned.  The  reenforcement  of  the  for 

by  McCullough’s  troops  completed  the  discourage 
ment  of  the  besieging  hosts  and  after  firing  a   few  fare 

well  shots  at  the  stockade,  44  they  folded  their  tents 

like  the  Arabs,  and  quietly  stole  away.”  Not,  how 

ever,  did  they  depart,  until  they  had  'wantonly  kille<  | 
upwards  of  three  hundred  head  of  cattle,  horses  am 

hogs  belonging  to  the  Wheeling  settlers  and  not  unt 

they  had  burned  most  of  the  cabins  that  were  locate 

in  the  vicinity  of  the  fort  to  which  the  di^tresse  | 

families  had  fled  for  protection. 

The  Ohio  tribesmen  mostly  returned  to  their  wi£ 

warn  or  cabin  centers,  but  some  fifty  or  more  Wyandol 

under  thfc  leadership  of  their  chief,  called  the  Ha 

King,  returned  to  the  vicinity  of  Fort  Henry  in  th 

latter  p^/t  of  September  with  intent  to  commit  furthf 

depredations.  A   company  of  twenty-five  fronth 

volunteers  under  Captain  William  Foreman,  who  can 
to  the  defense  of  the  fort,  was  ambuscaded  and  al 
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^eluding  the  captain  and  his  two  sons,  were  mercilessly 

laughtered.  It  was  a   sanguinary  epilogue  to  the 

rort  Henry  siege  and  the  culminating  outrage  commit- 
ed  by  the  Ohio  savages  in  the  dreadful  months  of 

he  year  1 777. 

The  tragic  fate  of  the  gallant  Foreman  and  his 

•arty  inspired  a   local  poet  to  celebrate  their  fame  in 

erse,  some  of  which  read : 

Beneath  the  shadow  of  yon  frowning  steep 
The  blue  Ohio  rolled  along; 

The  woods  and  waves  were  lulled  to  sleep 

By  many  a   sweet  bird’s  soothing  song. 
They  came,  those  men  of  lion  hearts; 

They  came  along  that  pathless  shore, 
Nor  deemed  the  tomahawks  nor  darts 

Would  soon  decide  their  marches  o’er. 

As  leaps  the  lightning  from  the  cloud, 
As  on  their  prey  the  tigers  spring, 

So  on  them  rush’d  the  savage  crowd, 
The  woods  with  yells  unearthly  ring. 

An  hundred  warriors  round  them  stand. 

An  hundred  more  rushed  down  the  hill, 
To  wreak  upon  that  little  band 

Their  demon  wrath  and  thirst  to  kill. 

Not  on  the  squadron  cover’d  field 

I   Amid  the  bugle’s  cheering  notes, 
Where  bulwarks  high  are  strong  to  shield, 

And  their  proud  flag  above  them  floats, 

0,  not  amid  war’s  pageantry 
Where  paeans  of  glory  rung, 

Were  those  brave  soldiers  doom’d  to  die, 
They  fell  all  lonely  and  unsung. 

Such  were  the  opening  scenes  of  the  American 

evolution  in  the  Ohio  country.  While  the  fires  of 

^dependence  were  sweeping  the  seaboard  colonies, 

e   trans-Allegheny  west  and  the  more  distant  north- 

~st  was  in  the  powerful  and  almost  undisputed  pos- 
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session  of  Great  Britian.  This  vast  territory  from  th 

forks  of  the  Ohio  to  its  mouth  at  the  Mississippi  an 

thence  north  to  the  Great  Lakes  was  almost  sole] 

inhabited  by  the  Indians,  with  the  few  and  far  betwee, 

French  settlements,  which  had,  since  the  French  ar 

Indian  War,  become  British  garrisons  and  supply  post 

But  this  great  background  was  to  be  the  arena 

Revolutionary  scenes  fully  as  potent,  if  not  so  spectai! 

ular,  as  those  being  enacted  in  the  valleys  of  the  9 

Lawrence,  the  Hudson  and  the  Susquehanna.  It  wll 

not  only  the  policy  of  England  to  hire  Hessians 

fight  its  battles  on  the  Colonial  front,  but  also  its  me 

dastardly  scheme  to  subsidize  the  savages  of  the  w 

and  bribe  them  to  assault  and  massacre  the  colon  1 

settlers  on  the  western  frontier. 

The  commanders  of  the  British  posts  at  the  w<t 

and  northwest  spared  no  effort  or  means  to  instigee 

the  tribesmen  against  the  Americans.  They  arm( 

sent  forth  and  directed  the  bloody  and  mercil 

expeditions  of  the  redmen.  Hamilton  at  Detroit  v 

the  chief  instigator  and  plotter  of  the  savage  warf; 

and  won  the  opprobrious  title  of  “the  hair-buyd” 

because  of  the  incentives  and  rewards  he  offered  je 

redmen  for  white  scalps.  In  all  this  he  acted  not  o   y 

with  the  knowledge  but  direct  orders  of  the  Canad  n 

authorities  and  the  department  at  London  for  colorial 

affairs,  at  the  head  of  which  was  Lord  George  Germs® 

It  remained  for  some  brave  and  sagacious  Ameriui) 

leader  to  comprehend  the  immeasurable  importax 

of  checking  and  destroying  the  British  power  in 

northwest  and  of  conquering  that  territory  for 
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olonial  confederacy.  The  man  to  conceive  that  idea, 

>lan  and  carry  out  its  execution  was  George  Rogers 

dark. 

Before  entering  upon  the  recital  of  Clark’s  remark- 
ble  campaign  we  must  note  some  events  transpiring 

i   Kentucky  and  Ohio.  We  left  the  backwoodsmen 

f   the  Kentucky  settlement  unsuccessfully  struggling 

)r  independent  government.  But  independent  gov- 

rnment  was  not  so  necessary  to  the  existence  of  the 

immunity  as  was  the  commodity  of  salt.  Its  trans- 

ortation  from  the  east,  accomplished  only  by  horse- 

ack,  was  cumbersome  and  expensive.  There  were 

"   5   we  have  noticed,  rich  salt  springs  at  the  Lower 

J   lue  Lick  on  the  Licking  River,  to  which  the  Kentucky 
ittlements  must  resort  for  saline  supplies. 

'   Early  in  January  (1778)  a   party  of  thirty  salt-makers 
W   ft  Boonesborough,  under  the  guidance  of  Daniel 

fljoone,  for  the  springs  just  mentioned.  The  work 

a   id  progressed  satisfactorily  when  early  in  February, 

i;  ider  cover  of  the  falling  snow,  the  salt  camp  was 

Suddenly  surrounded  by  a   party  of  one  hundred  Ohio 

ufiiawnee  Indians,  commanded  by  the  Shawnee  chief 

d :   flack  Fish,  and  guided  by  two  Canadian  scouts, 

>t<j  the  English  employ,  and  it  is  claimed  accompanied 

James  and  George  Girty,  then  in  the  service  of 

0I0J  igland. 

rn The  salt-makers,  outnumbered  by  the  foe,  were 

nerii  sily  made  prisoners  and  the  jubilant  redmen,  with 

ortlxme  and  his  party,  started  on  their  return,  having 

iidr  their  destination  Detroit,  that  they  might  there 

ion  liver  to  Hamilton  their  captives  and  receive  his 
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promised  reward  which  was  twenty  pounds  or  #ioo.c 

apiece  for  American  prisoners  received  by  him  alii 
and  well. 

It  was  a   long  and  tedious  journey,  across  the  Oh 

river  in  a   buffalo-hide  boat,  and  then  through  the  fore 
wilds  in  the  cold  of  winter.  A   stop  was  made  at  littjl 

Chillicothe,  about  three  miles  above  the  prese:  i 

Xenia.  Here  a   jollification  was  held  by  the  India  | 

over  the  success  of  their  expedition;  and  here  Boo.1:  I 

and  sixteen  of  his  companions,  were  selected  for  the  j 

superior  qualities  and  adopted,  with  the  usual  cei-  j 
monies,  into  the  Shawnee  tribe;  Boone  was  initiatl  j 

as  a   “son”  into  the  family  of  Black  Fish,  who  ga; 
his  captive  the  name  of  Sheltowee,  or  Big  Turtle. 

It  was  the  last  of  March  when  the  warriors  wii 

their  marketable  captives,  accompanied  by  Boo? 

and  his  “father,”  Black  Fish,  reached  Detroit.  Ha- 
ilton  was  greatly  pleased  with  the  opportunity  f 

meeting  the  most  famous  and  intrepid  backwoodsrm 

of  the  day,  Daniel  Boone,  and  offered  Black  Fish  3 

less  than  $500.00  for  this  prize  prisoner.  But  Bla'k 

Fish  would  not  sell  and  with  his  “son”  returrdj 

“from  the  flats  of  Michigan,  covered  with  bruji- 
choken  forest,  to  the  rolling  valley  of  the  Miam,  j 

with  its  hillsides  clothed  in  their  rich,  open  wo(;is 

of  maple  and  beech,  then  just  bursting  into  bloon”i 
At  little  Chillicothe,  the  home  of  Black  Fish,  Boae 

simulating  contentment,  entered  into  the  Indian  1 

engaging  in  their  games,  hunts  and  activities  as  if 
fully  reconciled  to  his  Shawnee  adoption.  Thus 

spring  passed  when  the  Indians  began  preparati 

1S* 

for  an  invasion  of  Kentucky  and  an  attack  on  Boors- 
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orough.  For  this  campaign  not  only  the  Shawnees, 

ut  the  Mingoes,  Ottawas,  and  many  Delawares  began 

3   assemble  until  Boone  saw  “four  hundred  and  fifty 
f   the  choice  warriors  of  the  west,  painted  in  the  most 

xquisite  war  style,  and  armed  for  battle.”  He 
rembled  for  the  fate  of  his  home  in  Kentucky. 

It  was  in  the  middle  of  June,  that  the  wily  and  daunt- 

iss  Boone,  at  the  break  of  day,  unseen  and  unheard, 

ipped  from  his  wigwam  and  sped  for  the  Ohio  river, 

ver  a   route  he  well  knew.  For  four  successive  days, 

t   the  rate  of  forty  miles  a   day,  with  but  one  meal 

uring  all  that  time,  he  stealthily  picked  his  circui- 

ts way  to  the  Blue  Licks  and  thence  on  to  Boones- 

orough,  to  the  surprised  and  rejoicing  settlers  of 

hich  he  told  the  story  of  his  captivity  and  gave  the 

iarm  of  the  intended  assault.  He  had  been  absent 

i   >ur  and  a   half  months  and  his  wife  and  children  having 

ven  him  up  for  dead  had  returned  to  the  old  Carolina 

i   ome  on  the  Yadkin. 

Aided  by  the  faithful  residents  of  Boonesborough, 

nong  whom  Simon  Kenton  was  now  sojourning, 

oone  made  careful  preparation  for  the  expected  siege, 

i   he  enemy  appeared — September  7th — four  hundred 

11  arriors  under  Black  Fish,  and  forty  or  fifty  French- 

r   anadians,  under  Captain  Du  Quesne,  with  British 

I   id  French  colors  flying.  They  surrounded  the  stock- 

0   ie  and  demanded  its  capitulation  in  the  name  of 

s   Britannic  Majesty.  The  threats  of  the  besiegers 

3   :ere  spurned  by  the  forty  or  fifty  defenders  of  the 

1   rt.  The  siege  lasted  ten  days;  one  of  the  most  re- 

t   arkable  in  the  history  of  savage  warfare  in  the  west, 

oi  l   tie  assault,  in  which  all  the  treacherous  tricks  and 
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dashing  surprises  known  to  the  redmen  were  attempted 

was  in  vain,  and  the  baffled  warriors,  after  the  los 

of  forty  or  fifty  braves,  suddenly  disappeared  in  th 

night  and  began  their  retreat  to  their  Ohio  towns. 

Boone’s  men  picked  up  a   hundred  and  twenty 
five  pounds  of  flattened  bullets  that  had  been  fire< 

at  the  log  sides  of  the  stockade,  and  it  is  estimates 

an  additional  hundred  pounds  of  lead  were  buried  i: 

the  slabs  of  only  one  of  the  bastions. 

While  the  events  just  recited  were  transpiring  o 

the  lower  Ohio  and  in  the  valleys  of  the  Scioto  an 

the  Miamis,  the  Revolution  was  progressing  in  Easter 

Ohio.  In  this  section,  and  later  in  other  wester  ? 

regions,  three  personages  take  prominent  part.  The 

were  known  as  the  “ three  white  renegades,”  because 
of  their  despicable  desertion  from  the  American  causlj 
to  that  of  Great  Britain.  This  notorious  triumvirat 

was  Simon  Girty,  Mathew  Elliott  and  Alexande 

McKee.  With  the  first  we  have  already  become  a< 

quainted;  the  other  two  deserve  a   brief  introductioi 

Mathew  Elliott,  an  Irishman  by  birth,  had  formerlij 

resided  in  Pennsylvania,  east  of  the  Allegheny  mour ! 

tains,  and  after  the  French  and  Indian  War^  took  ufl 

his  residence  at  Fort  Pitt,  whence  he  engaged  quin 

extensively  in  the  Indian  trade.  He  was  there  en 

ployed  when  the  war  broke  out  between  the  Oh: 

tribes  and  the  Virginians.  He  participated  in  tl 

war  inaugurated  by  Lord  Dunmore,  and  as  we  sa\ 

was  with  the  Shawnees  on  the  Scioto  at  the  approac 

of  Dunmore  and  acted  as  a   messenger  for  the  trib<  j 

to  the  Virginia  army,  carrying  a   flag  of  truce  to  tl 

Virginia  governor  and  asking  terms  of  peace  for  til 
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'ornstalk  confederacy.  After  the  treaty  of  Camp 
ffiarlotte,  Elliott  resumed  his  residence  at  Pittsburg, 

mewing  his  traffic  with  the  Ohio  Indians.  In  October, 

776,  when  he  was  plying  his  business  with  the  tribes- 

len  on  the  Muskingum,  Elliott  was  seized  by  a   band 

f   Wyandots  and  his  goods  confiscated.  He  escaped 

)   Detroit,  where  Hamilton,  later  treating  him  as  a 

3y — though  it  is  believed  there  was  a   traitorous 

Dmpact  between  them — sent  him  as  a   prisoner  to 

'uebec,  in  which  guise  he  was  retained  until  late  in 

777.  Released  on  parole — or  pretending  to  be,  for 

I   reality  he  had  received  a   captain’s  commission  from 
le  British  and  was  in  their  service — Elliott  returned 

)   Pittsburg  where  we  find  him  in  the  spring  of  1778. 

II  this  time  he  was  at  heart  a   Tory  and  in  sympathy 

ith  the  British,  unscrupulous  and  deceitful,  though 

isuming  loyalty  to  the  Americans. 

Alexander  McKee,  a   native  of  Pennsylvania  and 

r   years  a   neighbor  of  Elliott,  likewise  was  an  Indian 

ader  with  headquarters  at  Pittsburg.  He  served 

deputy-Indian  agent  under  Sir  William  Johnson 

am  1772  until  the  death  of  the  latter  in  1774.  McKee 

id  by  his  commerce  with  the  Indians  acquired  con- 
ierable  wealth  and  much  influence  in  and  about 

ttsburg.  But  his  allegiance  to  Virginia  and  the 

mericans  was  under  suspicion  and  as  early  as  April, 

76,  he  had  been  put  upon  his  parole,  by  the  colonial 

ithorities  at  Pittsburg,  not  to  give  any  aid  or  comfort 

the  British.  44 He  must  be  an  enemy  to  the  United 

ates,”  wrote  Commandant  Arbuckle,  from  Fort 

iandolph,  to  General  Hand  at  Fort  Pitt,  44  for  the 
j   enadier  squaw  and  her  friends,  who  are  now  at  this 
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garrison — (Point  Pleasant) — say  that  he  has  engage 
his  Indian  friends  to  carry  off  his  effects  to  their  town 

which  being  accomplished,  he  would  then  make  hi 

escape  to  Detroit.  ” 
This  traitorous  triad,  Girty,  McKee  and  Ellioti 

had  secretly  been  acting  together  and  on  the  last  da 

of  March  (1778)  fled  the  vicinity  of  Fort  Pitt  and  wer 

directly  to  the  Delawares  on  the  Muskingum,  and 

the  Moravian  Records  recite,  came  near  changing  th 

neutrality  of  that  tribe  to  open  hostility  against  th 

Americans. 

When  these  white  savages,  “an  ignoble  trio  of  gc 

betweens  and  desperadoes,”  arrived  in  Goschochgun 
(Coshocton)  a   series  of  dramatic  scenes  ensued.  T1 

fugitive  emissaries  of  the  British,  joined  by  some  twent 

deserting  soldiers,  Tory  sympathizers,  spread  fal* 

reports  among  the  Delawares  that  the  American  trooj 

in  the  east  had  been  cut  to  pieces  by  the  British  an 

that  Washington  was  killed;  that  Congress,  the 

sitting  at  Yorktown,  had  ceased  to  exist;  that  the  ren 

nant  of  the  colonial  troops  was  retreating  west  an 

would  attack  the  Ohio  tribesmen. 

Great  consternation  prevailed  among  the  Indiai 

and  Captain  Pipe,  friendly  to  the  British  and  seekir 

this  opportunity  to  overthrow  his  rival  Captain  Whi 

Eyes,  urged  the  Delawares  to  seize  the  hatchet  ar 

go  upon  the  warpath  against  the  Americans;  “Go 
chochgung  rang  with  the  war  song,  rifles  were  cleane 

and  tomahawks  sharpened  and  the  warriors  painte 

their  faces  and  selected  their  plumes.”  But  Whi 
Eyes  plead  for  delay  until  the  truth  could  be  learne 

Meanwhile  Heckewelder  and  a   companion,  John  Sh k 
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bosch,  hastened  from  the  Moravian  towns  to  Pittsburg, 

where  they  received  confirmation  of  the  news  of  the 

victories  of  the  Colonists  and  the  falsity  of  the  reports 

of  the  renegade  trio.  Hurrying  to  Goschochgung, 

Heckewelder  and  Shebosch  secured  a   reluctant  hearing 

by  the  Delawares  and  contradicted  the  rumors  of 

the  Girty  party;  reassured  the  Delawares  and  aided 

by  the  earnest  and  eloquent  appeal  of  White  Eyes, 

who  remained  true  to  his  friendship  to  the  Americans, 

counteracted  the  mischief  spread  by  the  white  traitors. 

But  it  was  a   critical  moment  for  the  Delawares, 

the  Moravians  and  the  frontiersmen.  Heckewelder 

has  graphically  described  his  mission  to  Goschochgung; 

his  cold  and  disheartening  reception  by  the  hesitating 

and  suspicious  warriors;  the  counter  speeches  of  Cap- 

tain Pipe  and  White  Eyes;  the  wavering  of  the  per- 

plexed savages  and  their  final  decision  to  remain  on 

the  side  of  the  Long  Knives.  The  foul  plot  to  alienate 

the  Delawares  was  frustrated. 

At  one  of  the  meetings  of  the  council,  Heckewelder 

handed  White  Eyes  a   newspaper  containing  the  account 

of  Burgoyne’s  surrender;  the  captain  held  it  aloft  so 
the  assembled  braves  might  gaze  upon  it  and  said, 

“see  my  friends  and  relatives,  this  document  contains 

great  events;  not  the  song  of  a   bird,  but  the  truth.” 
He  then  gave  Heckewelder  his  hand  and  welcomed 

him  to  the  Delaware  wigwam.  The  “horrid  brood 

of  refugees,”  slunk  away  and  leaving  the  Delawares, 

proceeded  westward,  “inflaming  the  Shawnees  and 
other  tribes  to  a   white  heat  of  rapacity  against  the 

border  settlements.”  Thence  they  continued  on  to 

Detroit.  They  were  thereafter  the  aiders  and  abet- 
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tors  of  the  Indian  and  British  incursions  into  Kentucky 

and  Virginia.  One  of  these  raids,  for  example,  was 

in  May,  when  a   number  of  Wyandots  and  Mingoes 

under  Pomoacan,  Half  King  of  the  Wyandots,  crossed 

the  Ohio  and  assaulted  Fort  Randolph  at  Point  Pleas- 

ant. In  this  same  month  Congress,  closely  watching 

the  Ohio  events,  resolved  to  raise  two  regiments  from 

Virginia  and  Pennsylvania,  to  serve  for  one  year,  for 

the  protection  of  the  western  frontier  and  for  operation 

thereon. 



Chapter  IX. 

CLARK’S  CONQUEST  OF  THE  WEST 



i 
I 



WHILE  the  American  Revolution  in  the  Ohio country,  during  the  spring  and  summer  of 

1778,  was  presenting  the  counter-plays  of 
the  Canadians  and  tribesmen,  Moravians 

and  frontiersmen,  George  Rogers  Clark  was,  in  the 

Illinois  country,  entering  upon  that  remarkable  con- 

quest, the  recital  of  which  is  more  suggestive  of  romance 

than  staid  history. 

The  disheartening  gloom  of  Valley  Forge  had  given 

way  to  the  promise  of  brighter  days  for  the  Americans 

and  the  fickle  goddess  of  victory  was  bestowing  her 

gifts  upon  the  Colonists  in  the  East.  Henry  Hamilton 

at  Detroit,  Sir  Guy  Carleton,  Governor-General  of 

Canada,  and  even  Lord  George  Germain,  Colonial 

Secretary  in  the  British  Cabinet,  clearly  understood 

that  the  hopes  of  England,  in  this  contest,  lay  peculiarly 

in  the  great  Northwest;  that  territory  bounded  by  the 

Ohio,  the  Mississippi  and  the  chain  of  Great  Lakes,  a 

vast  domain  of  two  million  four  hundred  thousand 

square  miles,  inhabited  by  countless  savages  and 

occupied  at  various  points  by  British  garrisons.  That 

empire,  larger  than  any  European  kingdom  except 

Russia,  must,  at  all  events,  be  saved  to  England,  what- 

ever might  be  the  fate  of  the  sea-board  colonies. 

Thwaites  in  the  essay  on  Clark  in  his  Western  His- 

tory, notes  the  strongholds  of  the  English  in  the  North- 

west as  follows:  “At  Detroit,  Mackinac,  Vincennes, 
Kaskaskia,  and  Cahokia,  were  small  forts  built  of  logs. 

These  structures  had  originally  been  erected  by  the 

French  fur-traders  to  protect  their  stocks  of  goods,  and 

in  times  of  danger  served  as  rallying-points.  When 

the  English  took  possession  they  were  considerably 
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strengthened,  and  under  this  remodelling  some  of  them 

came  to  be  formidable  fastnesses  in  a   wilderness  where 

besiegers  were  chiefly  savages,  without  artillery.  As 

a   rule,  the  curtains  were  guarded  at  the  four  corners 

by  solidly  built  blockhouses,  serving  as  bastions,  these 

houses  being  generally  two  stories  in  height  and  pierced 

for  rifles  and  cannon.  One  or  more  of  the  curtains 

were  formed  by  the  rear  walls  of  a   row  of  log-cabins, 

the  others  being  composed  of  palisades,  great  logs 

standing  on  end,  the  bottoms  well  buried  in  the  ground 

and  the  tops  sharp-pointed;  around  the  inner  edge 

of  these  wooden  ramparts,  the  roofs  of  the  cabins 

formed  a   gallery,  on  which  crouched  those  of  the 

defenders  who  were  not  already  engaged  in  the  block- 

houses. The  heavy-timbered  gate,  with  its  massive 

forged  hinges  and  bolts,  was  guarded  with  particular 

tenacity.  In  the  event  of  the  enemy  forcing  this, 

or  making  a   breach  in  the  curtains  by  burning  or 

scaling  the  palisades,  the  blockhouses  were  the  last 

towers  of  refuge,  around  which  the  contest  was  waged 

to  the  bitter  end.  ” 
The  Indians  it  should  be  noted  did  not  build  forts. 

Their  mode  of  warfare  did  not  admit  of  the  use  of 

enclosed  defenses. 

It  was  given  to  George  Rogers  Clark,  the  “ Washing-: 

ton  of  the  West,”  then  a   young  man  of  twenty-six, 
to  rescue  this  domain,  so  coveted  by  England,  from 

the  latter’s  possession.  Clark’s  well  matured  plan 
was  that  of  a   courageous  general  and  a   farseeing 

statesman.  With  a   proper  military  force  he  proposed 

to  descend  the  Ohio,  proceed  by  the  river  or  land  to 
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Kaskaskia,  and  thence  march  to  Detroit  by  way  of 

the  chief  British  strongholds,  capturing  each  as  he 

advanced. 

It  was  late  in  December  (i 777)  that  Clark  submitted 

his  bold  and  patriotic  project  to  Governor  Patrick 

Henry  and  his  counsellors,  Thomas  Jefferson,  George 

Wythe  and  George  Mason.  They  endorsed  the  sagacity 

and  bravery  of  the  scheme  but  neither  the  Continental 

Congress  nor  the  Virginia  Legislature  could  supply 

the  necessary  money  or  furnish  the  five  hundred  troops 

required  by  Clark.  The  campaigns  in  the  East  and 

South  absorbed  the  soldiery  and  sinews  of  war  which 

the  Continental  powers  had  at  command.  But  Vir- 

ginia, ever  the  head  and  front  of  the  Revolution,  must 

somehow  promote  this  effort  to  deprive  England  of 

its  western  province,  a   large  portion  of  which  Virginia 

claimed  as  its  exclusive  property. 

With  the  approval  of  the  legislature,  Governor 

Henry  gave  Clark  the  commission  of  colonel  and 

authority  to  raise  seven  companies,  each  of  fifty  men, 

who  were  to  enlist  as  militia  and  paid  as  such.  These 

soldiers  were  to  be  enrolled  solely  from  the  frontier 

counties  west  of  the  Blue  Ridge,  “so  as  not  to  weaken 
the  people  of  the  sea  coast  region  in  their  struggle 

against  the  British.”  They  were  to  be  paid  by  Vir- 
ginia and  as  a   further  incentive  or  reward,  it  was 

agreed  that  in  the  event  of  success  each  private  volun- 

teer would  be  given  three  hundred  acres  of  land, — 

officers  in  greater  proportion — “out  of  the  lands  which 

may  be  conquered  in  the  country  now  in  the  possession 

of  the  Indians.” 
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Some  twelve  hundred  pounds  in  the  depreciated 

Continental  paper  money  was  voted  Clark  by  the 

Legislature  for  this  enterprise,  which  was  really  the 

individual  undertaking  of  the  colonel,  rather  than  a 

state  or  national  effort.  The  progress  and  result  of 

this  heroic  campaign  has  been  recited  innumerable 

times  by  American  authors,  notably  in  detail  by  Consul 

Wilshire  Butterfield;  with  inexhaustible  research  by 

William  H.  English,  and  with  graphic  terseness  by 

Theodore  Roosevelt;  but  doubtless  the  most  accurate 

accounts  are  found  in  the  “Memoir”  of  Colonel  Clark 

and  the  “Journal”  of  Captain  Bowman. 
Colonel  Clark  succeeded  in  raising  only  about  one 

hundred  and  fifty  men,  whom  he  divided  into  three 

companies,  placed  respectively  under  Captains  Joseph 

Bowman,  second  in  command,  Leonard  Helm,  and 

Williams  Herrod.  Each  of  these  officers  had  seen 

frontier  service  and  had  been  associated  with  Clark 

in  his  Kentucky  exploits. 

Thwaites  describes  this  soldiery  thus:  “They  were 
a   rough,  and  for  the  most  part  unlettered  folk,  these 

Virginia  backwoodsmen  who  formed  Clark’s  little 
army  of  conquest.  There  was  of  course  no  attempt 

among  them  at  military  uniform,  officers  in  no  wise 

being  distinguished  from  men.  The  conventional  dress 

of  the  eighteenth  century  borderers  was  an  adaptation 

to  local  conditions,  being  in  part  borrowed  from  the 

Indians.  Their  feet  were  encased  in  moccasins.  Per- 

haps the  majority  of  the  corps  had  loose,  thin  trousers 

of  homespun  or  buckskin,  with  a   fringe  of  leather 

thongs  down  each  outer  seam  of  the  legs;  but  many 

wore  only  leggings  of  leather  and  were  as  bare  of  knee 
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and  thigh  as  a   Highland  clansman;  indeed,  many  of 

the  pioneers  were  Scotch-Irish,  some  of  whom  had 
been  accustomed  to  this  airy  costume  in  the  motherland. 

(Common  to  all  were  fringed  hunting  shirts  or  smocks, 

generally  of  buckskin — a   picturesque,  flowing  garment 
reaching  from  neck  to  knees,  and  girded  about  the  waist 

by  a   leathern  belt,  from  which  dangled  the  tomahawk 

md  scalping-knife.  On  one  hip  hung  the  carefully 

>craped  powder-horn;  on  the  other,  a   leather  sack,  serv- 

ng  both  as  game-bag  and  provision-pouch,  although 
>ften  the  folds  of  the  shirt,  full  and  ample  above  the  belt, 

vere  the  depository  for  food  and  ammunition.  A   broad- 

)rimmed  felt  hat,  or  a   cap  of  fox-skin  or  squirrel-skin, 

!   vith  the  tail  dangling  behind,  crowned  the  often  tall  and 
ilways  sinewy  frontiersman.  His  constant  companion 

vas  his  home-made  flint-lock  rifle — a   clumsy,  heavy 
weapon,  so  long  that  it  reached  to  the  chin  of  the  tallest 

nan,  but  unerring  in  the  hands  of  an  expert  marksman, 

uch  as  was  each  of  these  backwoodsmen.” 

With  this  “army”  and  “a  considerable  number  of 

amilies  and  private  adventurers,”  Clark  set  out — 

day  12,  1778 —   from  Redstone  on  the  Monongahela. 

lis  “flotilla  of  clumsy  flat  boats,  manned  by  tall 

iflemen,  ”   after  touching  at  Pittsburg,  floated  down 
he  Ohio.  It  was  two  weeks  before  the  expedition 

eached  the  rapids,  and  camped  upon  “Corn  Island,” 
lidstream,  opposite  the  site  of  Louisville.  Here  a 

Kentucky  company,  under  Captain  John  Montgomery, 

ras  added  to  the  “regiment,”  which  still  numbered, 
11  told,  less  than  two  hundred,  for  there  were  not  a 

pw  deserters.  Simon  Kenton  here  joined  Clark  as  his 
lost  trusted  woodsman  and  scout. 
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On  June  24th,  the  “ flotilla”  resumed  its  course  with 

Ohio’s  current.  On  the  north  bank  of  the  river,  al 
the  gate  of  Fort  Massac,  they  moored  their  flat  boats 

and  disembarked  to  enter  upon  an  overland  journey  to 

Kaskaskia,  through  a   wilderness,  dense  with  woods 

and  brush,  interspersed  with  streams  and  swamps, 

across  prairies  and  level  meadows,  the  entire  route 

beset  by  wild  animals  and  hostile  savages.  This 

little  army  in  this  unknown  country  was  nearly  a   thou- 

sand miles  from  their  base  of  supplies.  Did  any  Con- 

tinental regiment  in  the  East  display  such  hardihood 

or  patriotism?  Reynolds  in  his  <£Pioneer  History  oi 

Illinois,”  notes:  “Clark’s  warriors  had  no  wagons 
pack-horses  or  other  means  of  conveyance  of  theii 

munitions  of  war  or  their  baggage  other  than  thei] 

robust  and  hearty  selves,”  adding,  “the  country 
between  Fort  Massacre  (Massac)  and  Kaskaskia  al 

that  day  (1778)  was  a   wilderness  of  one  hundred  anc 

twenty  miles,  and  contained,  much  of  it,  a   swamp  anc 

difficult  road.” 
On  the  evening  of  the  4th  of  July,  the  invading  force 

approached  the  Post  of  Kaskaskia,  mainly  inhabitec 

by  the  French,  its  first  settlers  in  the  early  days  o: 

French  discovery.  Clark’s  soldiers  halted  in  the  distarn 
woods  till  after  sunset  and  then,  veiled  in  darkness 

silently  crossed  the  river  and  encircled  the  settlement 

the  people  of  which,  French,  Creoles  and  Indians,  hac 

for  the  most  part  assembled  in  the  large  room  of  th< 

stockade,  runs  the  popular  and  oft  repeated  story,  anc 

were  dancing  and  revelling  after  the  French  mirth 

loving  fashion.  Before  anyone  was  aware  the  “town’ 
was  captured,  for  not  a   gun  had  been  fired  or  a   sentine 
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disturbed,  Clark  unobserved  entered  the  ball  room  and 

when  discovered,  with  folded  arms  coolly  announced  to 

he  startled  revellers  that  they  might  dance  on,  “only 
;o  remember  they  were  now  dancing  to  Virginia  and 

lot  Great  Britain.” 

Such  in  briefest  terms  is  the  “tale”  of  one  of  the 

nost  romantically  told  incidents  in  the  campaign  of 

□ark.  The  picture  of  the  Kaskaskia  capture  has  been 

lone  in  graphic  colors  by  many  a   writer,  particularly 

>y  Henry  Cabot  Lodge  in  his  brilliantly  written  “   Story 

>f  the  Revolution.”  But  the  testimony  of  the  Draper 
Manuscripts  robs  the  scene  of  much  of  its  alleged 

omance.  After  repeating  the  event  as  usually  por- 

rayed,  Thwaites  remarks:  “It  is  a   picturesque  hero 
ale.  One  fastidious  might  say  it  smacked  over  much 

f   melodrama;  but  I   almost  wish  it  were  true,  for 

ften  sombre  western  history  seems  now  and  then  to 

eed  a   lurid  touch  like  this.” 

M.  Phillip  Rocheblave,  a   Frenchman,  but  the  British 

ommandant  of  the  post,  was  rudely  awakened  from 

is  slumbers,  in  his  official  quarters,  made  prisoner  and 

Is  such  sent,  under  guard,  to  Williamsburg.  At  first 

Dnsternation  and  fear  swept  the  people  of  the  post — 
le  French  were  in  mortal  terror  as  the  British  officers 

ad  made  them  believe  the  Americans  were  little 

etter  than  savage  brutes  and  would  outdo  the  Indians 

t   inflicting  untold  indignities.  The  Indians  in  and 

Dout  the  post  were  friendly  to  the  British  and  liable  to 

immon  the  neighboring  tribesmen  and  spring  fiendlike 

irt  3on  the  brave  little  army  of  Virginia.  It  required  great 

J| :>u rage,  coolness,  patience  and  tact  on  the  part  of  Clark 

til  »   calm  the  disturbed  and  diverse  elements  of  hostility. 
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But  Colonel  Clark  was  master  of  the  situation.  He 

reassured  the  French,  advising  Father  Pierre  Gibault, 

who  for  ten  years  had  been  the  spiritual  adviser  and 

friend  of  the  French  Catholics,  that  they  should  in 

no  wise  be  disturbed  in  their  religion,  for  the  Americans 

always  allowed  free  worship,  and  he  explained  also 

the  political  situation  and  the  causes  of  the  American 

Revolution  and  told  them  of  the  recent  friendly  alliance 

between  the  United  Colonies  and  France.  They  were 

convinced  and  appeased.  Father  Gibault  became  the 
warm  and  steadfast  friend  of  Clark  and  the  American 

nation.  The  French  were  persuaded  to  the  side  of  the 

little  invading  host.  Indeed  the  terror,  created  by 

the  arrival  of  Clark,  was  turned  to  rejoicing  and  the 

French  dwellers  at  the  Kaskaskia  British  post,  willingly 

took  the  oath  of  allegiance  to  the  new  American 

Republic.  Greater  tact  was  required  to  keep  the 

Indians  in  check.  This  was  accomplished  by  plausible 

speeches  and  the  presentation  of  such  gifts  as  the 

soldiers  could  spare  from  their  meagre  possessions. 

Some  seventy  miles  above  Kaskaskia  on  the  Missis- 

sippi River  was  the  ancient  village  of  Cahokia,  con- 

sisting of  a   hundred  families,  mostly  French  or  Creole 

and  the  center  and  rallying  point  of  many  Indian  tribes, 

all  friendly  to  England,  strongly  impregnated  with 

hostility  to  the  Virginia  Long  Knives.  While  Clark 

remained  in  Kaskaskia  to  thoroughly  complete  hi* 

bloodless  occupation  of  that  post,  he  detailed  Captair 

Itc 

Joseph  Bowman,  with  thirty  mounted  men, — the  Kas 

kaskians  supplying  the  Indian  ponies — to  proceed  tc 
Cahokia  and  place  it  under  the  American  flag. 
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Bowman  wrote  a   very  succinct  account  of  this  detour. 

The  smaller  settlements  of  Prairie  du  Rocher,  fifteen 

miles  from  Kaskaskia,  and  St.  Phillips,  nine  miles 

higher  up,  unhesitatingly  capitulated  to  the  dashing 

surprise  of  Bowman’s  cavalcade.  Cahokia  promptly 
; responded  to  the  demand  for  a   surrender  and  Bowman, 

leaving  squads  of  his  cavalrymen  to  hold  the  posts  he 

so  easily  secured,  reported  the  success  of  his  detour 

to  Clark,  who  then  wrote,  in  his  memoir,  “Post  St. 
Vincent,  a   town  about  the  size  of  Williamsburg  was  the 

iext  object  in  my  view.” 
This  stockaded  settlement,  known  as  Vincennes,  was 

iext  to  Detroit,  the  greatest  stronghold  of  England 

n   the  Northwest.  It  was,  however,  at  this  time, 

ilmost  exclusively  inhabited  by  the  French,  its  original 

;ettlers.  Father  Pierre  Gibault,  now  the  trusty  ad- 
lerent  of  Clark  and  the  Virginians,  believed  he  could 

proceed  to  Vincennes,  with  a   few  civilian  companions, 

md  peacefully  induce  the  people  of  that  post  to  deliver 

he  little  fort — called  Sackville — and  its  surrounding 
mts  into  the  hands  of  the  Americans. 

Clark  implicitly  accepted  Gibault’s  services  as  pro- 
posed, and  the  good  Father,  with  a   small  escort, — 

ncluding  Simon  Kenton  as  scout — reached  Vincennes 
n   a   few  days  and  diplomatically  made  known  his 

peculiar  errand.  The  few  British  subjects,  naturally 

esisted  the  strange  and  bold  proposal  but  being  in  a 

pelpless  minority,  were  allowed  to  leave  the  town,  while 

he  French  inhabitants  readily  acceded  to  Gibault’s 

lan  and  “   all  went  in  a   body  to  the  church,  where  the 
ath  of  allegiance  was  administered  to  them  in  the 

lost  solemn  manner,”  by  the  good  Father  Gibault. 
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The  savages  in  and  about  Vincennes  presented  a   more 

difficult  problem.  They  must  be  reconciled,  and  were 

informed  that  their  “ Old  Father,”  the  French  King, 
had  come  to  life  again.  A   Piankeshaw  chief,  known  as 

the  Big  Gate  or  Big  Door  because  through  his  influence 

he  controlled  the  lower  portion  of  the  Wabash  River, 

was  lavishly  complimented  by  Father  Gibault  and 

further  placated  by  gifts.  Big  Door  and  his  father 

Old  Tobacco,  gathered  their  tribesmen  for  a   “talk,” 
which  won  their  friendliness  to  the  Gibault  mission. 

By  August  ist,  Kenton,  with  dispatches  from  Clark, 

set  out  for  Kentucky  and  Virginia.  At  the  same  time 

Father  Gibault  returned  to  Kaskaskia  and  reported; 

the  complete  success  of  his  unique  errand.  The  Amer 
‘ 

ican  flag  now  floated  over  the  fort  of  Vincennes  tc 

which  Captain  Leonard  Helm  and  a   handful  of  soldier? 

were  sent  to  act  as  a   protectory  garrison. 

Thus  far  Clark’s  advance  and  achievements  seemec 

to  be  under  the  star  of  propitious  fate.  But  the  pluck} 

colonel  now  faced  a   serious  situation.  He  was  maste 

of  a   vast  territory  and  many  posts,  with  but  a   mer 

bagatelle  of  soldiers.  They  were  hundreds  of  mile 

from  home,  weary,  ill-fed,  poorly  clothed  and  uncertaii 
of  the  future  before  them.  Their  term  of  service  wa 

up  and  they  were  determined  to  end  it  all  and  retun 

to  their  Virginia  homes.  Clark  knew  the  result  o 

his  singular  victories  depended  on  the  continued  servic 

of  his  troops.  By  presents  and  promises  he  induce' 

more  than  half  the  volunteers  to  re-enlist  for  eigh 

months.  The  number  consenting  to  remain  with  thei 

doughty  commander  was  not  enough.  His  wits  devise 

a   plan  to  make  good  the  deficiency.  He  announce 
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to  the  French  dwellers  in  the  posts,  under  his  charge, 

that  he  must  abandon  them  to  their  fate,  that  of 

desertion  from  England  and  consequent  punishment 

therefor,  unless  they  enter  the  ranks  of  his  recruits 

and  swell  his  army  to  the  requisite  strength.  This 

logical  plea  was  not  in  vain.  The  alarmed  and  adven- 

turous young  Creoles  were  at  once  anxious  to  take 

service  and  Clark  commissioned  some  French  officers 

and  enrolled  a   sufficient  number  of  the  post  dwellers 

to  fill  up  all  four  companies  to  their  original  comple- 

;   ment. 

Clark  now  took  up  the  more  difficult  and  delicate 

task  of  pacifying  the  many  Indian  tribes,  “the  huge 

horde  of  savages,”  who  roamed  the  forests  from  the 
Lakes  to  the  Mississippi.  He  summoned  the  chiefs  and 

their  braves  to  Cahokia  for  a   council.  It  was,  he  says, 

with  astonishment,  that  he  “viewed  the  amazing 
number  of  savages  that  soon  flocked  into  the  town  of 

Cohos  (Cahokia)  to  treat  for  peace  and  to  hear  what 

the  Big  Knives  had  to  say.”  They  came  from  all 
over  the  Illinois  and  Wabash  country,  some  of  them 

from  a   distance  of  five  hundred  miles;  “Chipeways, 
Ottoways,  Potowatomies,  Misseogies,  Puans,  Sacks, 

Foxes,  Sayges,  Tauways,  Maumies,  and  a   number  of 

other  tribes,  all  living  east  of  the  Mississippi,  and  many 

Bof  them  at  war  against  us.” But  the  “Washington  of  the  West,”  was  no  novice 
in  Indian  experience;  he  knew  the  redmen  and  with 

well  seasoned  alertness  and  tried  ability  he  dealt 

wisely  with  the  wily  and  treacherous  members  of  that 

forest  assembly.  Roosevelt  draws  the  picture:  “The 
straggling  streets  of  the  dismayed  little  town  were 



200 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

thronged  with  many  hundreds  of  dark-browed,  sullen- 

looking  savages,  grotesque  in  look  and  terrible  in 

possibility;  they  strutted  to  and  fro  in  their  dirty 

finery,  or  lounged  round  the  houses,  inquisitive,  impor- 

tunate and  insolent,  hardly  concealing  a   lust  for  blood- 

shed and  plunder  that  the  slightest  mishap  was  certain 

to  render  ungovernable.” 
Indeed  some  of  the  bolder  ones  conspired  to  capture 

Clark  and  went  so  far  as  to  surround  his  lodgings  anc 

attempt  an  entrance,  when  Clark,  informed  of  the 

plot,  instantly  ordered  the  French  militia  to  seize  the 

conspirators  and  put  them  in  irons.  The  affair  createc 

a   great  uproar  in  the  town  and  no  one  could  foretel 

the  outcome  should  the  Indians  be  generally  aroused 

Assuming  a   manner  of  perfect  indifference  to  th< 

danger,  Clark  summoned  the  tribesmen  and  defiantb 

denounced  their  cowardice  and  treachery,  told  then 

of  the  war  between  the  Americans  and  the  British 

and  warned  them  of  the  dire  results  if  they  took  uj 

arms  against  the  Long  Knives.  It  was  for  the  tribes) 

men  to  choose  whether  they  would  be  friends  or  foe 

of  the  Americans.  The  warriors  were  over-awed  an< 

persuaded.  In  Clark  they  were  dealing  with  a   whit 

antagonist,  honest,  just  and  fearless,  whom  they  mus; 
at  once  fear  and  admire. 

Clark’s  expedition  had  been  so  skilfully,  so  swift! 
and  so  stealthily  executed  that  its  success  was  we 

nigh  complete  before  the  British  authorities  knei 

of  it.  Butterfield  puts  it,  “   Clark’s  success,  thus  far 
extraordinary  though  it  was,  cannot  be  said  to  hav 

been  any  display  of  military  genius.  *   *   *   But  thei 
was  one  element  in  his  success  that  the  greatest  an 
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wisest  of  generals  do  not  fail  to  invoke  as  one  of  the 

:   most  important  factors  in  military  science — and  that 

was  secrecy —   *   *   *   it  was  the  secrecy  which  he  so 

[•  completely  maintained  as  to  the  real  object  of  his 

i   undertaking,  that,  in  the  end,  insured  his  triumph.” 
It  was  not  until  the  8th  of  August,  that  a   French 

missionary  reached  Detroit  with  the  startling  announce- 

r   ment  that  the  American  “ rebels”  had  invaded  the 

i   Illinois  country,  captured  Kaskaskia,  Cahokia,  and 

ft  many  smaller  posts  and  were  then  approaching  Vin- 

k   :ennes.  Hamilton  hurried  the  news  to  Captain  de 

t   Peyster,  commandant  at  Michilimackinac,  to  Lieu- 

r   :enant-Colonel  Bolton  at  Niagara,  and  to  Governor 

:e  Guy  Carleton  at  Quebec.  The  decision  was  not 

I   delayed  that  the  American  soldiers  must  be  dislodged 

tl  ’rom  the  Illinois  and  Wabash  country  and  the  Indians 
ei  .iet  upon  the  war-path  to  devastate  the  frontier  settle- 
is  inents. 

The  latter  part  of  June  (1778)  Sir  Frederick  Haldi- 

nand  succeeded  Sir  Guy  Carleton  as  Governor-General 

>f  Canada.  Haldimand  was  a   Swiss  soldier  of  fortune, 

injvho  in  1756,  with  his  friend  and  countryman,  Henry 

Apouquet,  came  to  the  British  colonies  in  America. 

m|pe  remained  and  distinguished  himself  in  the  British 

ervice.  He  was  a   man  of  great  ability  and  unusual 

fijusterity  of  temperament.  It  was  a   long  distance 

wlkom  Quebec  to  Detroit  and  the  news  of  this  guber- 

nepatorial  change  was  many  weeks  in  reaching  Hamilton, 

fldio  meantime  was  incessant  in  his  policy  of  holding 

ia|he  western  tribesmen  steadfast  to  England,  and 

lei  ldefatigable  in  his  efforts  to  send  forth  marauding 

anil  arties  to  the  frontiers. 
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It  was  late  in  June  that  Hamilton  called  a   great 

council,  at  Detroit,  of  all  the  western  tribes.  It 

proved  to  be  one  of  the  largest  ever  held  in  the  West; 

nearly  seventeen  hundred  Indians,  warriors  and  their 

wives  and  children,  encamped  about  the  fort.  Eight 

of  the  leading  western  tribes  were  represented  and  from 

Ohio  came  Hurons,  Miamis,  Mingoes  and  even  Dela- 

wares. There  were  many  prominent  Canadian  officers, 

among  whom  mingled  Alexander  McKee,  so  lately 

fled  from  Fort  Pitt.  The  speeches  of  the  Indian  orators 

were  all  reassuring;  the  tie  of  friendship  was  tightened; 

the  war-songs  reverberated  along  the  river  bank  and 

the  war-dance  raised  the  warriors  to  a   high  pitch  of 

excitement.  In  his  account,  Hamilton  wrote  (June! 

17):  “Some  Delawares  are  this  day  arrived,  who  are 
desirous  of  showing  their  intention  of  joining  then 

brethren,  and  have  presented  me  two  pieces  of  driec  il 

meat  (scalps);  one  of  which,  I   have  given  to  the 

Chippewas,  the  other  to  the  Miamis,  that  they  may 

show  in  their  villages  the  disposition  of  the  Delawares.  ’ 

Butterworth  adds:  “There  is  no  possibility  of  misj 
taking  this  brutality;  nor  can  it  be  denied  that  th< 

Lieutenant-Governor,  by  this  deed  placed  himsel 

upon  record  as  acting  in  a   manner  at  once  barbarou  > 

and  bloodthirsty.” 
The  voluminous  correspondence  between  Hamiltoi 

and  Carleton  and  Haldimand  sufficiently  establishe 

the  knowledge,  consent  and  even  direction,  of  th 

British  authorities  to  the  Indian  atrocities,  inflicte* 

upon  the  Americans,  at  the  instigation  of  Hamiltor. 

This  subject  has  created  not  a   little  acrimoniou 

controversy.  The  British  historians,  as  would  b 
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iexpected,  deny  the  participation  or  even  sanction  of 

the  governmental  authorities  in  the  bloody  deeds  of 

their  allies,  the  savages.  This  denial  is  echoed  by  a 

few  Anglo-maniac  American  writers.  But  the  facts 

Df  history  reveal  the  truth.  Says  Mr.  John  R.  Spears 

in  his  “ History  of  the  Mississippi  Valley:”  “Any 

attempt  to  gloss  over,  or  palliate  this  matter — the 

British  use  of  the  Indians — even  though  done  to  pro- 

mote international  harmony,  is  but  a   form  of  foolish 

lying;  and  no  good  can  be  promoted  by  a   lie.”  Winsor, 
Fiske  and  Roosevelt,  treat  this  subject  without  reserva- 

tion and  give  their  witnesses.  The  unvarnished  truth 

Is  that  “the  British  authorities  from  the  King  down 
:hrough  the  ministers,  and  the  local  rulers,  to  the  Tory 

partisans,  deliberately  approved  the  use  of  Indians,” 
md  they  approved  the  most  diabolical  use  of  these 

inrestrained  brutes. 

Much  stress  is  laid,  by  the  American  apologists  for 

m   ;he  British,  upon  the  fact  that  Lord  Germain  and  even 

Mr  Haldimand  in  their  instructions  to  Hamilton,  while 

®   lrging  the  arming  and  sending  forth  of  the  Indians 

:o  slaughter  and  pillage,  requested  the  Detroit  com- 

n®  nandant  to  admonish  the  savages,  in  their  assaults 

ipon  the  American  “ rebels,”  to  treat  leniently  the 
:hildren  and  the  aged!  Infuriate  the  war  passions 

till  )f  the  redmen,  sharpen  their  tomahawks  and  scalping 

Hi  knives,  but  tell  them  to  use  some  discretion  in  butcher- 

ng  their  victims!  And  this  is  soberly  set  forth,  by 

ome  American  writers,  as  atoning  for  the  British 

)olicy  in  employing  the  tribesmen  to  devastate  the 

iflii  rontiers.  Roosevelt  in  his  “ Winning  of  the  West,” 

Id  I   nits  it  thus:  “   Hamilton  and  his  subordinates,  both 
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red  and  white,  were  engaged  in  what  was  essentially 

an  effort  to  exterminate  the  borderers;  it  was  a   wai 

of  extermination  waged  with  appalling  and  horribh 

cruelty;  it  brings  out  in  bold  relief  the  fact  that  in  th( 

West  the  War  of  the  Revolution  was  an  effort  on  th< 

part  of  Great  Britain  to  stop  the  westward  growtl 

of  the  English  race  in  America  and  to  keep  the  regioi 

beyond  the  Alleghenies  as  a   region  where  only  savage' 

should  dwell.  ”   Mr.  William  H.  English  in  his  scholarh 

and  exhaustive  history  of  Clark’s  campaign,  close 

his  discussion  on  this  topic  with  the  conclusion:  “th 
evidence  is  now  positive  that  Hamilton  first  propose< 

to  the  higher  authorities  that  the  raids  (Indian)  b 

made  and  the  higher  authorities  ordered  them  mad 

upon  Hamilton’s  suggestion.” 
In  the  first  official  letter,  written  by  Lord  Georg!) 

Germain  to  Guy  Carleton  (March  26,  1 777),  orderin 

the  raids  to  be  made,  he  advises  that  the  Indians  b 

restrained  “from  committing  violence  on  well  affecte 

and  inoffensive  inhabitants,”  which  meant  the  Torie 

and  British  partisans,  a   list  of  the  leading  ones  bein!-' 
enclosed  with  his  advice.  In  a   letter  to  Carleton  fror 

Hamilton,  the  latter  speaking  of  the  “falling  upon  th 

scattered  settlers  by  the  warrior  parties,”  makes  tfl| 

significant  remark,  that  the  Americans  through  “the: 
arrogance,  disloyalty,  and  impudence  had  justly  draw 

upon  them  this  deplorable  sort  of  war.  ” 

Hamilton,  the  “hair-buyer”  was  indeed  the  plottf 
and  instigator  of  the  damnable  barbarities  committe 

by  the  Indians  upon  the  American  “rebels,”  but 
was  all  done  with  full  knowledge,  and  therefore  guilt 

complicity  of,  the  Governor-General  of  Canada  an 

; 
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alfthe  Cabinet-Secretary  Sir  George  Germain.  These 

n   Indian  outrages  fill  the  foulest  and  bloodiest  pages  in 

he  history  of  the  shame  of  England. 

As  soon  as  possible  (October  8)  Hamilton  set  out 

tl  rom  Detroit  with  a   mixed  force,  about  equally  com- 

wt|)osed  of  British  regulars,  Canadian  militiamen  and 

volunteer  Indians,  some  two  hundred  all  told.  In 

ifteen  boats,  with  food,  clothing,  ammunition  and 

quantity  of  presents,  Hamilton  dropped  down  the 

Detroit  River,  thence  glided  thirty  miles  across  the 

:orner  of  Lake  Erie  to  the  mouth  of  the  Maumee,  up 

vhich  he  pushed  his  transports,  arriving  at  the  “   Miami 

Town” — site  of  F ort  W ayne — after  a   two  weeks’  j ou  rney . 
iere  several  bands  of  Indians  were  met  and  united  to 

he  expedition,  which  was  further  recruited  by  a   captain 

nd  some  forty  British  regulars. 

From  the  headwaters  of  the  Maumee  to  the  Little 

liver,  a   headstream  of  the  Wabash,  was  a   portage  of 

line  miles;  the  boats  and  baggage  were  carried  over 

n   “ten  carts  and  six  carriages.”  It  was  a   heavy  and 
edious  lift,  but  the  reembarkation  was  accomplished 

nd  the  water  route  resumed  on  the  Wabash — then 

ailed  Ouabache — down  which  the  progress  was  slow, 

eing  beset  with  difficulties  and  obstacles.  At  every 

;,tkj  ndian  village,  it  was  necessary  to  stop  and  cajole  the 

warriors,  who  continued  to  recruit  Hamilton’s  train 
ntil  it  numbered  five  hundred  in  all,  about  four-fifths 

eing  savages. 

At  last  the  Wea  village — alluded  to  in  previous 

ages  as  Ouiatanon — was  reached.  Here  many  of 

lie  Wabash  chiefs  who  had  professed  friendship  for 

dark  at  the  Cahokia  conference,  awaited  Hamilton 
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and  promptly  tendered  him  their  allegiance.  This 

was  strictly  in  harmony  with  the  flexible  character  of 

the  noble  redman.  By  the  middle  of  December  (1778), 

seventy-one  days  after  the  departure  from  Detroit 
Hamilton  with  his  savage  host  and  choice  veterans 

from  the  King’s  Eight,  reached  Vincennes. 
Captain  Helm  with  less  than  fifty  soldiers,  only  twcj 

of  whom  were  Americans,  was  utterly  unable  to  hole 

the  town  and  fort,  called  Sackville,  “a  wretched 
miserable  stockade  without  a   well,  barrack,  platfor: 

for  small  arms,  or  even  lock  to  the  gate.”  But  th t 
demand  of  surrender  by  Major  Hay,  the  advance 

officer  of  Hamilton,  brought  the  reply  from  Captai 

Helm  that  he  would  only  yield  with  the  honors  o 

war.  The  terms  were  granted  and  the  tradition  is  tha 

Captain  Helm,  deserted  by  his  French  recruits,  cooll 

marched  out  with  the  sole  escort  of  two  soldiers,  on 

bearing  aloft  the  American  flag.  It  was  a   scene  fo 

a   comedy,  rather  than  an  act  in  the  “pomp  and  cir 

cumstance  of  war.  ”   Vincennes  was  again  in  the  hand 
of  the  British  and  Hamilton  required  the  inhabitant 

some  six  hundred  in  all,  to  forswear  the  oath  of  alle 

giance  to  the  American  cause,  and  renew  their  fealt 

to  Great  Britain. 

Hamilton  restored  the  fort,  erected  blockhouses  an< 

embrasures  and  rested  securely  on  his  laurels,  feelin; 

no  uneasiness  over  the  situation,  for  he  knew  Clark’ 
forces  were  paltry  and  widely  scattered.  In  due  tim 
the  British  commander  intended  to  move  on  to  th 

towns  occupied  by  Clark  and  retake  them  as  he  ha< 
Vincennes.  Meanwhile  he  sent  back  to  Detroit  mos 
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>f  the  Canadian  militia  and  allowed  the  Indians  to 

Irift  back  to  their  villages  for  the  winter. 

But  in  Clark,  the  self-sufficient  Hamilton  had  an 

ntagonist,  whose  alertness,  daring  and  indomitable 

nergy  “   raised  him  head  and  shoulders  above  every 
ther  frontier  leader.”  The  moment  Clark  learned 

f   Hamilton’s  occupation  of  Vincennes,  he  resolved  to 
etrieve  the  loss.  He  marshalled  his  land  forces  into 

hree  companies,  officered  respectively  by  Captains 

tichard  M’Carty,  John  Williams  and  Francis  Charle- 
ille,  the  latter  a   Frenchman  with  a   company  of  Kas- 

askians.  Major  John  Bowman  was  made  second  in 

ommand  of  the  army  which  was  augmented  by  a 

navy,”  consisting  of  “a  large  boat  prepared  and 
igged,  mounting  two  four-pounders,  four  large  swivels, 

nd  manned  by  forty-six  soldiers  commanded  by 

ieutenant  John  Rogers.  ”   This  backwoods-built  “gun 

oat,”  christened  the  “ Willing, ”   was  loaded  with 
applies,  launched  at  Kaskaskia  and  rowed  down  that 

ver  to  the  Mississippi,  thence  to  be  propelled  up  the 

'hio  and  the  Wabash  to  a   designated  point  below 
incennes. 

Meanwhile,  on  February  5,  1779,  one  day  after 

le  “ Willing”  cast  her  moorings  for  her  voyage, 
olonel  Clark,  with  the  blessing  of  Father  Gibault 

rt  forth  with  his  little  army  of  one  hundred  and 

:   venty,  overland,  a   tramp  of  two  hundred  and  fifty 

arl  iles,  for  Vincennes.  It  was  a   terrible  conflict,  not 

to  1   ith  the  enemy,  but  the  elements;  the  streams  were 

3t  yollen,  the  ground  water-soaked,  sleet  and  snow 

:   >vered  the  ground  and  the  rains  were  frequent,  while 

mi  lie  cold  winds  of  winter  multiplied  their  sufferings. 
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The  fatigues,  hardships  and  privations  of  those  plucky, 

persistent  and  patriotic  soldiers  are  not  surpassed  by  j 

the  annals  of  any  similar  expedition  in  history.  The 

immortal  veterans  of  Napoleon  on  their  march  tc  j 

Moscow,  deserve  not  praise  greater  than  that  merited 

by  the  frontier  heroes  of  Colonel  Clark. 

For  three  weeks  this  little  invading  host  followed  th 

“Vincennes  trace,”  wading  the  creeks  and  swamps 

sleeping  in  frost-coated  blankets  on  frozen  ground 

they  carried  no  provisions,  relying  for  food  on  th 

wild  forest  game,  which  the  bleak,  ice-ridden  winte 

had  made  scarce  and  uncertain;  benumbed  with  cold 

their  clothes  water  soaked  they  unfalteringly  struggles 

on.  Roosevelt  admirably  abbreviates  Clark’s  journal 
“Of  course  he  and  the  other  officers  shared  ever 

hardship  and  led  in  every  labor.  He  encouraged  th 

men  to  hunt  game;  and  to  ‘feast  on  it  like  India 

war-dancers,’  each  company  in  turn  inviting  th 
others  to  the  smoking  and  plentiful  banquets.  On 

day  they  saw  great  herds  of  buffaloes  and  killed  man 

of  them.  They  had  no  tents;  but  at  nightfall  the 

kindled  huge  camp-fires,  and  spent  the  evenings  merril 

round  the  piles  of  blazing  logs,  in  hunter  fashion,  feas 

ing  on  bear’s  ham,  buffalo  hump,  elk  saddle,  venisc 
haunch,  and  the  breast  of  the  wild  turkey,  some  singir 

of  love  and  the  chase  and  war,  and  others  danci 

after  the  manner  of  the  French  trappers  and  woo< 

runners.  ” 

On  February  17th,  Major  Bowman’s  diary  recite 

“About  an  hour  by  sun  we  got  near  the  river  Embarra; 
found  the  country  all  overflowed  with  water.  V 

strove  to  find  the  Wabash,  traveling  till  eight  o’clo<: 
lie 
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at  night)  in  mud  and  water,  but  could  find  no  place 

o   encamp  on.  Still  kept  marching  on.  After  some 

ime,  Mr.  Kennedy  and  his  party  returned.  Found 

t   impossible  to  cross  Embarrass  river.  We  found 

he  water  fallen  from  a   small  spot  of  ground;  stayed 

here  the  remainder  of  the  night.  Drizzly  and  damp 

weather.  And  18th.  At  break  of  day  heard  Governor 

lamilton’s  morning  gun;  set  off  and  marched  down 
he  river.  About  two  o’clock  came  to  the  bank  of 
he  Wabash.  Made  rafts  for  four  men  to  cross  and 

nl  hen  up  to  town  and  steal  boats,  but  they  spent  a   day 

:ol  nd  night  in  the  water  to  no  purpose  and  there  was 

■   ot  one  foot  of  dry  land  to  be  found.  19th.  Captain 

ra  1’Carty’s  company  made  a   canoe  which  was  sent 
vt  own  the  river  to  meet  the  batteau  [the  Willing]  with 

rders  to  come  on  day  and  night  that  being  our  last 

ope  and  we  starving.  No  provisions  of  any  sort  for 

vo  days.” 

Five  days  later,  after  “one  of  the  coldest  nights  we 

id,”  the  little  column  plunged  waist  deep  through  a 
tt  vamp,  to  dry  land,  many  of  the  men  so  weak  they 

id  to  be  supported  by  companions  and  literally 

ted  out  of  the  water.  They  stood,  half  starved, 

ilf  frozen,  before  the  bastion  of  Fort  Sackville. 

ke  so  many  spectres  from  the  bleak  forests  they 

ddenly  emerged  to  the  astonished  Hamilton  who  was 

tally  unapprised  of  their  approach.  Indeed  the 

rprise  of  the  “ hair-buyer”  must  have  been  akin  to 
at  which  shook  with  fear  the  bloody  Macbeth  when 

Id  of  the  approach  of  Birnam  Wood  to  Dunsinane, 

r   the  wily  Virginian  leader  so  deployed  his  eight 

’ct  ore  soldiers  and  wheeled  them  right  and  left  and 

real 
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up  and  down  on  the  rolling  ridges  before  the  Sackville 

fort  that  their  number  was  many  times  multiplied  in 

appearance.  Clark  supplemented  this  ruse  with  the 

bravado  of  Ethan  Allen  at  Ticonderoga,  and  sent  a 

written  proclamation  to  the  people  of  Vincennes, 

demanding  immediate  surrender  and  renewal  of  their 

allegiance  to  American  authority.  The  demand  wa . 
repelled  and  the  next  day  the  columns  were  formed  in 

attack  array,  the  drums  were  beaten  and  the  firing  upor 

the  stockade  begun.  Portions  of  the  attacking  forc< 

entered  the  town  at  unprotected  points. 

Once  in  the  town,  the  invading  “ rebels”  receivet 
immediate  aid  from  the  friendly  French,  with  whon  j 

Hamilton’s  domination  had  been  far  from  popular 
the  Creoles  furnished  Clark’s  soldiers  ammunitior  i 

and  the  Piankeshaw  “Big  Door,”  promptly  gathere 
his  warriors  and  offered  them  as  allies  to  the  American:  j 

The  siege,  a   desultory  fusilade,  continued  all  nigh  j 

during  which  the  occupation  of  the  town  was  mac  | 

complete,  but  the  fort  still  held  out.  By  noon,  hov 

ever,  of  the  second  day,  the  British  garrison,  seeing  tl 

inevitable  result  of  the  attack,  began  to  negotia 

for  terms  of  capitulation.  There  was  much  parleyiij  I 
back  and  forth,  but  it  ended  in  the  surrender  of  tl  i 

seventy-nine  soldiers  under  Hamilton,  who  in  reporti);l|;|1 
his  defeat  to  his  superiors,  acknowledged  his  chagrt  j 

in  being  compelled  to  yield  “to  a   set  of  uncivilizi 

Virginian  backwoodsmen  armed  with  rifles.” 
Hamilton  and  his  principal  officers  were  sent  5 

prisoners  to  Williamsburg,  where  he  was  later  parole,  j 
at  the  request  of  Washington.  The  French  citizefljf 

of  this  much-captured  Vincennes  were  again  swci  i 
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to  the  American  cause.  It  was  their  third  change 

Df  allegiance  in  a   few  months,  during  which  time  they 

must  have  become  adepts  in  the  exercise  of  oath  taking. 

Clark  had  hoped  to  push  on  to  Detroit  and  seize 

the  western  capital  of  the  British,  but  his  force  was  too 

depleted  and  his  soldiers  too  exhausted  to  be  urged 

to  further  efforts.  The  completion  of  Clark’s  plans 
must  be  deferred.  But  he  had  practically  achieved 

lis  purpose.  His  conquest  of  the  West  had  pre-empted 

:or  the  Americans,  that  vast  country  and  prevented  its 

'ich  valleys  and  rolling  plains  from  becoming  the  ren- 
dezvous of  British  troops  and  the  arena  for  the  centrali- 

:ation  and  confederation  of  Indian  tribes,  which  might 

Irive  the  Americans  beyond  the  Ohio  and  save  the 

Northwest  to  England. 

Clark  had  won  for  the  new  republic  a   territory, 

nany  times  the  extent  of  New  England.  He  was  duly 

:omplimented  by  the  Virginia  legislature,  which  on 

vlarch  io,  1779,  passed  an  act  organizing  the  Illinois 

ountry  into  the  County  of  Illinois;  and  legislation 

ollowed  providing  for  the  establishment  of  a   county 
overnment  with  its  seat  at  Vincennes  and  Colonel 

ley!  ohn  Todd,  Jr.,  was  named  as  Lieutenant  or  Comman- 
lant  of  the  county,  with  a   force  of  five  hundred  militia, 

diich  was  “to  march  immediately  into  said  county  to 

arrison  forts  and  protect  said  county,”  and  exclude 
i   he  British  and  hold  the  tribesmen  in  check. 

Such  was  the  romantic  struggle  and  heroic  triumph 

f   George  Rogers  Clark; — had  it  not  been  for  his  con- 
uest  of  Illinois,  the  surrender  of  Yorktown  would 

ave  been  robbed  of  more  than  half  its  significance  and 
lory. 
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Chapter  X. 

McIntosh  builds  fort  laurens 





IT  will  be  recalled  that  the  autumn,  winter  and spring  of  1777-8  was  the  period  of  the  low  ebb 

of  the  Colonial  cause.  Howe’s  victory  at  Brandy- 
wine gave  him  the  possession  of  Philadelphia. 

The  encounter  at  Germantown  a   month  later  added 

to  the  discomfiture  and  discouragement  of  the  American 

army.  Washington  led  his  defeated  and  depleted 

troops  to  the  barren  banks  of  the  Schuylkill,  where 

they  took  up  their  quarters  amid  the  snow  and  ice 

of  Valley  Forge,  only  twenty  miles  away  from  the 

luxurious  city  lodgings  of  Howe.  The  fate  of  the  new 

nation  seemed  all  but  doomed.  Howe  was  exultantly 

awaiting  the  cheery  season  of  spring  before  pouncing 

upon  Washington  to  annihilate  the  remnant  of  the 

“ ragamuffin  army”  of  the  rash  rebel  general. 
Then  it  was  that  the  hope  and  effort  of  independence 

looked  to  a   new  field  in  the  Ohio  country.  The  war 

drama  is  transferred  to  the  trans-Allegheny  stage. 
The  western  headquarters  of  the  British,  at  Detroit, 

held  the  key  to  the  vast  northwestern  territory,  the 

retention  of  which  was  so  necessary  to  British  success. 

In  the  autumn  of  1777,  the  “ hair-buying”  commander 
at  Detroit,  summoned  the  tribesmen  to  a   council  and 

inaugurated  that  policy  of  sending  into  the  Ohio 

country  bands  of  savages  augmented  by  Canadian 

soldiers  and  commanded  by  British  officers,  to  plunder 
and  massacre  the  American  settlers.  It  was  to  be  a 

guerrilla  warfare  of  bloody  and  merciless  annihilation. 

It  was  in  the  late  spring  of  1778 — while  Washington 

was  just  emerging  from  Valley  Forge — that  George 
Rogers  Clark  entered  upon  his  daring  expedition  to 
save  the  Northwest  to  the  Colonies.  Meanwhile 
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rumors  reached  Fort  Pitt  that  a   great  Indian  expedition 

would  advance  on  that  post,  and  the  Continental 

Congress  determined  to  act  on  the  offensive  and  “carry 
the  war  into  Africa” — into  the  head  centers  of  the 
Ohio  Indians. 

The  rumors  of  the  Indian  advance  were  made  good 

by  the  unsuccessful  attack,  in  February  (1778),  of  two 

hundred  Shawnees,  upon  Fort  Randolph,  a   bold  at- 

tempt to  avenge,  upon  the  very  scene  of  its  occurrence, 
the  treacherous  murder  of  their  leader  Cornstalk. 

But  the  assault  was  unavailing.  At  the  very  same 

time  General  Edward  Hand,  learning  that  the  British 

had  a   quantity  of  stores — consisting  of  arms,  ammuni- 

tion, provisions  and  clothing — gathered  in  the  Dela- 

ware town  on  the  Cuyahoga  for  the  purpose  of  support- 
ing the  savages  in  their  incursions  into  the  border 

settlements,  decided  to  effect  their  destruction.  With 

a   force  of  some  five  hundred  backwoodsmen,  General 

Hand  proceeded  upon  his  errand;  among  his  men  was 

Simon  Girty,  this  being  the  only  time,  says  Butterfield, 

in  which  “he  ever  marched  against  the  foe  under  the 

American  flag.”  He  doubtless  acted  as  guide  for  the 
general.  The  destination  of  the  party  was  about  one 
hundred  miles  from  Fort  Pitt. 

At  “a  point  a   considerable  distance  above  the  mouth 

of  the  Beaver,  on  the  Mahoning  river,  ”   the  cautiously 
advancing  force  reached  the  site  of  an  Indian  camp, 

“supposed  to  contain  between  fifty  and  sixty  Indians.” 

“But  to  my  great  mortification,”  wrote  the  com 

mander,  “only  one  man,  with  some  women  and  children, 

was  found.  ”   The  Indian  and  one  of  the  squaws  were 

killed,  one  squaw  captured,  “   and  with  difficulty  saved,” 

'I 
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who  reported  that  the  Munsey  Indians  were  making 

salt  about  ten  miles  further  up  the  Mahoning.  A 

small  detachment  under  Girty,  was  sent  to  secure 

:hem.  The  result  of  the  detour  of  this  capturing  band 

Droved  more  inglorious  than  the  first.  The  enemy 

Turned  out  to  be  four  women  and  a   boy,”  wrote 

dand,  “of  whom  only  one  woman  was  saved.”  “In 

performing  these  great  exploits,  ”   the  general  ironically 

ecites,  “I  had  but  one  man — a   captain — wounded  and 

>ne  drowned.”  The  “exploits”  were  not  continued 
is  the  melting  snows  and  falling  rains  prevented 

urther  progress  and  the  disgusted  general  led  his 

:avalcade,  for  his  “soldiers”  were  mounted,  back  to 

?ort  Pitt,  having  thus  “accomplished”  the  first  Ohio 
xpedition  in  the  American  Revolution,  an  expedition 

diich  was  thereafter  known  as  the  “Squaw  Campaign.” 
Stirring  events  followed  the  Squaw  Campaign.  Less 

han  a   month  after  the  return  of  General  Hand  to 

'ort  Pitt,  the  renegade  trio,  Simon  Girty,  Alexander 
dcKee  and  Mathew  Elliott,  deserted  the  Colonial 

ause  and  joined  the  enemy.  On  the  other  hand 

"aptain  White  Eyes  and  John  Killbuck,  the  Delaware 
hiefs,  made  report  to  Pittsburg  of  their  visit  to 

)etroit,  the  previous  December.  They  stated  the 

♦ritish  forces  under  the  command  of  Hamilton,  were 

do  few  to  cause  the  Americans  any  uneasiness, 

am  It  was  this  same  month  (March)  that  Daniel  Sullivan 

^turned  and  made  report  of  his  “spying”  experience 
t   Detroit.  Sullivan  had  been  employed  the  year 

dre  efore  (1777)  by  the  State  of  Virginia,  to  act  as  a   spy 

t   i   the  Indian  country.  He  was  well  qualified  for  the 

:rvice.  He  had  lived  nine  years  as  a   captive  boy 

;oi 

ins. 

col 
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among  the  Delaware  tribesmen.  He  coveted  not  his 

to  the  Indian  life,  he  preferred  it  to  any  other.  He 

therefore  readily  entered  (April,  1 777)  upon  General 

Morgan’s  scheme  to  send  him  to  Detroit  attired  in 
the  garb  of  an  Indian.  Sullivan  joined  a   fur  trader 

ahoga  to  Detroit,  a   water  journey  of  eight  days.  As  j 

a   pretended  friendly  savage  he  met  General  Hamilton  j 

became  fully  informed  of  the  British  strength  and  the  j 

payment  of  high  prices  for  all  scalps,  to  massacre  th<  ! 

white  frontiersmen.  Sullivan,  however,  was,  after  j|  i 

time,  identified  by  a   son  of  “the  notorious  banditt  |:r 

chief”  Pluggy,  who  betrayed  the  spy  to  Hamilton  I 
Sullivan  was  arrested  and  in  irons  sent  to  Quebec  | 

whence  later  he  was  conducted  with  other  prisoner  j 

to  New  York,  and  there  released  on  parole.  Hi  j 

report  at  Fort  Pitt,  made  about  the  time  of  the  arrive  j 

of  White  Eyes  and  his  companions,  confirmed  th  ffc 
statements  of  the  Indians  concerning  the  wester  j 

situation.  The  Colonial  commission  for  Indian  affaii  \ 

at  once  ordered  six  large  boats  to  be  built  and  equippe  1 

with  a   four  pound  cannon  each,  for  the  defense  of  th| 

navigation  between  the  military  posts  on  the  Ohio-  I 
a   sort  of  patrolling  navy. 

In  April  (1778)  the  plan  was  revived  of  making  a   j 

overwhelming  invasion  into  the  enemy’s  territor  ! 

The  campaign  was  modeled  after  Dunmore’s  wa 
four  years  previous.  The  Continental  troops  could  n< 

be  spared,  for  Washington  was  just  planning  to  lea"\ 
Valley  Forge,  and  the  forces  for  this  expedition  mu 

release,  made  in  1773,  for  he  had  become  so  attached 

and  in  a   batteau  coasted  from  the  mouth  of  the  Cuy- 

policy  of  the  commander  to  induce  the  Indians,  b) 
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2   forthcoming  from  the  Virginia  mountains,  that 

gion  which  was  ever  appealed  to  in  the  hour  of  need 
id  hich  seemed  inexhaustible  in  its  resources  for 

ei|rave  and  ready  fighters. 

The  force  demanded  was  three  thousand  men;  nine- 
:nths  of  whom  were  to  come  from  the  counties  east 

:   the  Alleghenies.  This  army  was  to  be  in  two  divi- 
ons  of  fifteen  hundred  each;  one  division  was  to  as- 

jmble  and  march  through  Greenbrier  down  the  Big 

anawha  to  Fort  Randolph;  the  other  division  was 
>   assemble  at  Fort  Pitt  and  in  batteaux  descend  the 

hio  to  the  former  point,  just  designated,  whence 

:er  le  united  forces  would  cross  the  river,  invade  the 

di  !   terior  and  destroy  the  Indian  towns  and  crops,  and 

ltd  ish  on  to  Detroit.  Hildreth,  in  his  Pioneer  History, 

A   Ives  the  detailed  figures  in  the  estimate  for  the  re- 

)H(  fired  provisions,  live  stock,  to  be  driven  along  on 

ot,  and  the  horses  needed  for  the  transportation;  the 

:ri  itter  were  to  number  no  less  than  3,800  for  the  carrying 

i :   the  flour  alone  and  236  additional  pack  horses  for 

:st(  !   e   salt.  The  whole  expense  of  this  expedition  was 

la  jtimated  at  over  #600,000,  ”   not  in  depreciated  paper 

ipji  jirrency,  but  in  silver  dollars  or  its  equivalent,”  for 
it  e   national  paper  money  was  well  nigh  worthless, 

ihiol  Washington  put  it  about  that  time,  a   wagon  load 

•   Continental  paper  would  not  buy  a   wagon  load  of 

ngl,  ovisions. 

itol  Congress — then  a   fugitive  at  York,  Pa. — in  May, 

in  dorsed  this  pretentious  plan,  voting  to  raise  the 

Idljen  and  to  appropriate  #900,000  for  the  necessary 

lei  <   pense.  This  same  month  General  Hand  requested 
[ini  be  recalled  from  Pittsburg  and  be  transferred  to 
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the  immediate  command  of  Washington.  He  pre 

ferred  scientific  warfare  to  the  dare-devil  savagery  o 
the  West,  although  he  hailed  from  Ireland  and  was 

doughty  fighter.  His  subsequent  career  was  patrioti 

and  eminent.  Washington  named  as  Hand’s  successo 

Brigadier  General  Lachlan  McIntosh,  “an  officer  c 

worth  and  merit,”  a   Scotlander  by  birth  (1727 
and  an  American  since  1736,  when  his  parents  settle 

in  Georgia.  Washington  wrote  Congress,  from  Valle 

Forge,  “I  part  with  this  gentlemen  with  much  reluc 
tance.  I   know  his  services  here  are  and  will  be  mater 

ally  wanted.  His  firm  disposition  and  equal  justice 

his  assiduity  and  good  understanding,  added  to  h: 

being  a   stranger  to  all  parties  in  that  quarter  [F01 

Pitt  and  the  West],  pointed  him  out  as  a   proper  persor 

and  I   trust  extensive  advantages  will  be  derived  froi 

his  command,  which  I   could  wish  was  more  agreeable 

He  will  wait  on  Congress  for  their  instructions.” 
Washington  at  the  same  time  forwarded  certai 

detachments  of  “regulars”  to  report  at  Fort  Pit 
among  these  troops  were  sections  of  regiments  und< 

Colonel  Daniel  Brodhead — often  spelled  Broadhead- 
Colonel  William  Crawford,  the  personal  friend  < 

Washington,  and  Colonel  John  Gibson,  he  of  Loga 

speech  fame.  In  August,  General  McIntosh  reache 

his  quarters  at  Fort  Pitt,  but  there  was  a   suspensic 

of  the  Ohio-Detroit  campaign  plans,  which  Washinj 

ton,  himself,  helped  perfect  during  his  encampmer 

at  Valley  Forge. 

Meanwhile  the  Indian  commissioners  proposed 

Congress  that  a   treaty  with  the  Indians  be  held 

Pittsburg  as  soon  as  the  Ohio  tribes  could  be  notifies 
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:   was  September  17th  before  the  parties  met  for  con- 
rence.  Andrew  Lewis  and  Thomas  Lewis  represented 

irginia.  Messengers  carrying  the  usual  persuasive 

resents  had  been  dispatched  to  the  Delaware,  Shaw- 

*e  and  some  other  tribes.  It  was  especially  desirable 
lat  the  Americans  get  permission  from  the  Delawares 

)   march  through  the  latter’s  territory  on  the  way  to 
'etroit. 

The  Shawnees  refused  to  accept  the  invitation  to 

ie  conference.  The  Delawares — still  proving  friendly 

tc  >   the  Americans — alone  appeared,  being  represented 
\{  their  three  principal  chiefs,  Captain  White  Eyes, 

aptain  Pipe  and  John  Killbuck,  Jr.  The  attendance 

f   this  tribe  was  the  more  to  the  credit  of  the  loyalty 

ra  id  bravery  of  the  Delawares,  as  the  British  were 

fq  I   taring  no  effort  to  secure  their  alliance;  Hamilton 

al  id  even  gone  so  far  as  to  send  messengers  from  De- 

Joit  to  Gnaddenhutten,  commanding  the  Moravian issionaries  to  arm  their  Indians — mostly  Delawares 

PI -and  lead  them  against  the  “rebels”  beyond  the 
mi  tbio,  whom  they  were  indiscriminately  to  attack,  and 

;ad  |iy  without  mercy;  and  bring  the  scalps  to  Detroit, 
ldfbreats  were  added,  that  if  the  Moravians  refused 

obey  this  infamous  bequest  of  the  British,  the  latter 

Duld  regard  them  as  enemies  and  treat  them  accord- 

gi  y- 

At  this  Pittsburg  meeting,  however,  a   treaty  was 

*ned  by  which  the  American  army  was  to  be  permitted 

1   pass  over  the  Delaware  domains  and  be  allowed  to 

edW  set  a   post  therein,  and  the  Delawares  even  agreed 

Jdl  furnish,  for  the  American  army,  “such  a   number 
till  their  best  and  most  expert  warriors,  as  they  could 
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spare,  consistent  with  their  own  safety.”  In  thi 

treaty — the  first  treaty  ever  made  by  the  Unitei 

States  and  an  Indian  tribe — White  Eyes,  says  on< 

writer,  displayed  the  qualities  of  a   statesman,  for  th 

sixth  article  of  this  treaty  read:  “It  is  further  agreei 
on  and  between  the  contracting  parties,  should  it  fo 

the  future  be  found  conducive  for  the  mutual  interes 

of  both  parties,  to  invite  any  other  tribes  who  hav 

been  friends  to  the  interests  of  the  United  States, 

join  the  present  confederation,  and  to  form  a   State 

whereof  the  Delaware  nation  shall  be  the  head,  an< 

have  a   representative  in  Congress.” 
White  Eyes  then  dreamed  of  an  Indian  State 

the  confederated  American  Union;  but  his  dream  wa 

of  short  duration,  for  only  a   month  after  this  treat) 

this  chief  who  had  offered  his  services  to  MclntosI 

died  from  smallpox,  that  dread  disease  that  mad 

such  fearful  havoc  among  the  red  race.  His  takin 

off  was  at  Tuscarawas,  the  Delaware  capital  on  th 

Muskingum.  De  Schweinitz,  the  biographer  of  Zeis 

berger,  pays  a   fitting  tribute  to  the  departed  chiel 

“White  Eyes  was  one  of  the  greatest  and  best  of  th 

later  Indians  *   *   *   where  his  remains  are  resting  no  ma 
knows;  the  plowshare  has  often  furrowed  his  grav( 

But  his  name  lives;  and  the  Christian  may  hope  tha 

in  the  resurrection  of  the  just,  he  too,  will  be  foun 

among  the  great  multitude,  redeemed  out  of  ever 

kindred  and  tongue  and  people  and  nation.” 
The  place  of  the  burial  of  White  Eyes,  howevei 

seems  to  be  in  dispute.  Brodhead  wrote  from  Pitt 

burg,  (June  22,  1779)  to  the  Delawares,  expressin 

sorrow  over  the  death  of  White  Eyes,  saying  “he  w 
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m   honest  man,  a   great  counselor  and  very  good  man,  ” 
md  he  (Brodhead)  was  grieved  for  the  loss  of  his  wise 

md  good  counsel.  Brodhead  adds,  “I  buried  him  in 
he  firm  place  and  put  a   shade  over  the  grave  to  keep 

he  rain  storms  and  sun  off.”  But  he  does  not  in- 

licate  the  location  of  the  burial  place. 

Butterfield  says  that  White  Eyes  was  buried  at 

Pittsburg,  but  this  must  be  an  error,  as  the  statement 

>f  his  death  at  Tuscarawas  is  from  the  manuscript  of 

>eisberger,  who  certainly  knew,  and  the  body,  espe- 

iially  as  the  death  was  from  a   contagious  disease,  could 

iot  have  been  borne  to  Pittsburg.  Heckewelder  has 

t   that  White  Eyes  died  44  while  accompanying  General 

dclntosh’s  army  to  Tuscarawas.”  It  probably  oc- 
urred  at  Tuscarawas  after  the  army  arrived  there. 

Tie  death  of  White  Eyes,  who,  though  unbaptized, 

mi  /ad  stood  so  faithfully  and  fearlessly  for  the  Moravians, 

Jo  [/as  a   great  blow  to  their  missions,  for  Killbuck  was  a 

/eak  supporter,  while  Large  Cat — more  often  called 

2   Jig  Cat — was  an  enemy  of  the  converts  of  Zeisberger. 

i   The  death  of  this  great  and  useful  man  was  severely 

imented  by  and  a   great  loss  to  the  nation;  and  al- 

ju  hough  his  ambitious  and  political  opponent,  Captain 

,r3  *ipe,  with  an  air  of  prophesy,  uttered;  44 the  Great 
pirit  had  probably  put  him  out  of  the  way  that  the 

f01  .ation  (Delaware)  might  be  saved;”  it  was  not  so 
el1  tonsidered  by  the  faithful  post.  His  death  was 

nnounced  to  all  the  surrounding  nations,  who  all 

ondoled  the  Delawares  on  the  loss, 

pj;  The  directing  of  the  Delaware  nation  now  devolved 

pon  three  chiefs,  Gelelemund,  known  as  Killbuck; 

lachingwe — Puschis,  or  Large  Cat  and  Tetepachski. 
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Killbuck  and  Large  Cat  kept  up  a   lively  correspond- 

ence with  Colonel  Brodhead,  then  commandant  at 

Fort  McIntosh  and  with  Colonel  George  Morgan,  the 

Indian  agent.  Captain  Pipe,  heretofore  inclined  to 

the  English  side  and  probably  at  this  very  time  under 

pay  of  Hamilton  as  a   spy,  continued  his  intrigues  to  ; 

deceive  his  people  and  play  them  into  the  hands  o: 
the  British. 

General  McIntosh  now  blazed  a   roadway  from  Pitts- 

burg to  Beaver  Creek,  where  just  below  its  mouth 

on  the  east  bank  of  the  Ohio,  he  built,  with  the  aic 

of  five  hundred  men,  who  accompanied  him,  a   stockad( 

post,  with  picket  enclosure  and  four  bastions,  defender 

by  six  pieces  of  artillery.  He  called  it  Fort  Mclntosl 

and  it  was  to  be  the  “ covering  point”  of  the  projectec 
campaign,  and  to  this  post  the  headquarters  of  th< 

army  were  transferred  from  Fort  Pitt. 

The  preparations  for  the  expedition  moved  slowly 

the  want  of  necessary  supplies,  the  price  of  which  ha< 

greatly  risen,  prevented  an  immediate  departure.  Th 

Greenbrier-Kanawha  division  of  the  army  was  neve 

assembled  and  the  original  plans  of  the  expeditioi 

were  abandoned.  But  early  in  November  alarming 

intelligence  reached  General  McIntosh  from  the  west 

ern  wilderness  that  all  the  Ohio  Indians  were  abou 

to  unite  on  the  Tuscarawas  to  oppose  his  progressijl 

it  being  understood  by  them  that  Detroit  was  th 

objective  point  of  his  march.  Orders,  by  the  com 

mander,  were  immediately  issued  for  twelve  hundred 

men  to  prepare  for  the  expedition. 

The  contingent  set  forth  on  November  5th  and,  afte 

a   fourteen  days’  tedious  march,  over  the  same  rout 
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mrsued  by  Colonel  Henry  Bouquet  in  1764,  a   distance 

)f  seventy  miles  was  covered,  bringing  the  army  to 

he  Tuscarawas.  It  was  at  this  point,  or  near  it,  that 

he  soldiers  expected  to  encounter  the  Indian  forces 

.nd  give  them  battle;  “but  only  a   few  Delawares  from 
Coshocton  and  some  Moravian  Indians  met  them  and 

hey  were  friendly.”  It  was  here  that  McIntosh 
earned  that  the  winter  supplies  he  had  expected  from 

he  East  had  not  reached  Fort  McIntosh  and  hence 

tis  base  of  relief  was  unavailing  and  he  was  reluctantly 

ompelled  to  abandon  his  cherished  plan  of  reaching 

nd  reducing  Fort  Detroit,  the  capture  of  which  was 

till  his  ambition. 

:d  That  his  efforts  might  not,  however,  be  entirely  with- 

:   >ut  results,  he  decided  to  build  upon  the  Tuscarawas 

strong  stockade  and  leave  as  many  men  as  provisions 

/ould  permit  to  protect  it  until  the  next  spring.  Such 

4   military  post  would  at  least  act  as  a   barrier  to  the 
h   urther  eastern  encroachments  of  the  Indians  and 

T|  i/ould  be  another  defensive  milestone  in  the  westward 

a   progress  of  the  Colonists. 

[ti  The  site  selected  for  this  post  was  close  to  that 

nil  i   pon  which  Colonel  Bouquet  had  erected  one  in  his 

ve  xpedition  fourteen  years  earlier.  It  was  on  the  west 

^   ank  of  the  Tuscarawas,  below  the  mouth  of  Sandy 

,rd  dreek,  something  more  than  a   mile  south  of  the  present 

illage  of  Bolivar.  The  usual  approach  to  it  from 

coi  ort  McIntosh  was  from  the  mouth  of  Yellow  Creek 

|nd  down  the  Sandy,  which  latter  stream  heads  with 

he  former  and  puts  off  into  the  Tuscarawas,  just 

j   bove  the  fort  site.  The  entire  force  was  employed 

roI  1   the  erection  of  the  stockade,  which  was  a   regular 
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rectangular  fortification,  enclosing  less  than  an  acre 

of  land.  This,  the  first  fort  erected  by  Americans 

within  the  present  Ohio  state  boundaries,  was  named 

Fort  Laurens  in  honor  of  the  President  of  Congress. 

The  fort  partially  completed,  McIntosh,  leaving 

(December  9th)  a   garrison  of  one  hundred  and  fifty 

men,  a   part  of  the  13th  Virginia  regiment,  with  scanty 

supplies,  under  Colonel  John  Gibson,  returned  tc 

Fort  McIntosh,  where  the  militia  under  his  commanc 

were  discharged  “precipitately.”  After  the  departure 
of  McIntosh  and  the  main  army,  Colonel  Gibsor 

continued  the  work  upon  the  fortification.  “I  hav 

already  finished  setting  up  the  pickets,”  he  wrote 

before  the  close  of  the  month,  “and  in  a   few  days 

think  I   can  bid  defiance  to  the  enemy.”  “The  dis 

tressed  condition  of  the  men,”  he  continued,  “prevent 
the  work  from  going  on  as  briskly  as  it  otherwis 

would.”  Meanwhile  he  opened  negotiations  with  th 
friendly  Delawares  at  Coshocton  (Goschochgung). 

To  the  hostile  tribes,  this  placement  of  Fort  Lauren 

in  the  enemy’s  country,  by  McIntosh,  who  then  re 

treated  to  his  headquarters  on  the  Ohio,  was  “lik 

poking  a   bumble-bee’s  nest  and  then  running  away, 
for  the  savages  came  swarming  out  of  the  woods  fror 

every  direction  like  so  many  angry  insects. 

Here  temporarily  we  leave  the  little  stockade  an 

its  brave  band  of  defenders, — who  knew  how  to  endur 

hardship  and  suffering,  for  they  belonged  to  the  1 3 1 

Virginia  Continental,  and  had  been  with  Washingto 

at  Valleys  Forge, — while  we  pick  up  the  thread  of  th 

career  of  Simon  Girty,  who  is  to  be  a   conspicuou 
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figure  in  the  coming  attack  on  Fort  Laurens;  recounting 

at  the  same  time  the  exploits  of  his  more  noted  asso- 
ciates. 

«   Simon  Girty’s  desertion  from  Fort  Pitt,  as  already noted,  was  in  March  of  this  year  (1778).  In  June, 

he,  with  his  companions,  McKee  and  Elliott,  after 

leaving  the  Shawnee  towns  and  passing  en  route 

through  the  Wyandot  villages  of  the  Sandusky  River, 

arrived  at  Detroit,  where  he  became  a   well  compensated 

agent  of  the  British,  as  interpreter  and  guide.  He 

took  part  in  the  Indian  councils,  summoned  by  Hamil- 

ton, and  was  a   forceful  instigator  and  director  of 

savage  marauding  expeditions.  McKee’s  services  re- 

ceived hearty  recognition  and  Elliott’s  services  were 
similarly  employed  in  a   less  degree.  James  Girty 

likewise  engaged  in  the  British  service  and  often 

cooperated  with  his  brother,  Simon. 

The  main  fields  of  activity  of  these  renegade  recruits 

were  among  the  Mingoes  and  the  Shawnees,  whose 

centers  lay  between  Detroit  and  Pittsburg.  The  vil- 

lages of  the  Mingoes,  at  this  time,  lay  along  the  Scioto, 

from  the  mouth  of  the  Olentangy  to  its  headwaters, 

while  some  were  located  on  the  upper  waters  of  the 

Mad  River.  There  were  two  principal  routes  from 

Detroit  to  the  Mingo  country,  one  down  the  Detroit 

River  and  across  the  head  of  Lake  Erie  to  the  Sandusky 

Bay,  thence  up  the  Sandusky  River  and  across  the 

portage  to  the  waters  of  the  Scioto;  another  ran  around 

ij  the  west  end  of  the  lake,  crossing  the  Maumee,  and 

lgl  leading  thence  to  the  Mingo  towns. 

>!  The  Shawnees  occupied  a   more  extensive  region. 

:ufl  Their  villages  were  not  only  on  the  lower  Scioto,  but 
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west  of  that  on  the  Big  and  Little  Miamis,  with  several 

in  the  Mad  River  region.  The  routes  to  them  from 

Detroit  were  but  continuations  of  those  to  the  Mingo 

towns.  Roosevelt  in  his  “ Winning  of  the  West,” 
locates  the  Shawnees  or  portions  of  them  on  the  San- 

dusky River,  but  there  were  very  few,  if  any,  Shawnees 

on  the  Sandusky  or  any  of  its  tributaries. 



Chapter  XI. 

CAPTIVITY  OF  SIMON  KENTON 





SIMON  KENTON  was  at  this  time  and  had been  since  1771,  when  he  was  sixteen  years 

of  age,  living  under  the  assumed  name  of  Simon 

Butler.  The  use  of  this  fictitious  surname  had 

its  origin  in  the  result  of  an  encounter  between  Kenton 

sand  an  associate,  while  the  former  was  a   resident  of 

the  county  of  Fauquier,  Virginia,  during  the  year 

above  noted.  It  was  a   fisticuff  fight  growing  out  of 

a   love  affair.  Kenton,  in  ring  parlance,  knocked  out 

bis  antagonist  and  left  him  for  dead,  though  he  had 

10  intention  of  effecting  so  fatal — as  he  supposed — a 
result.  The  victim  recovered  but  not  until  after 

ECenton,  fearing  for  his  life,  had  fled.  He  assumed 

:he  name  Butler  and  took  refuge  at  Fort  Pitt,  where 

ae  met  Simon  Girty  and  between  them  a   mutual 

:riendship  was  formed.  Girty  had  not  then  revealed 
:he  yellow  streak  in  his  nature.  Kenton  typified  the 

noblest  class  of  backwoodsmen.  Over  six  feet  in 

leight,  possessed  of  a   “   stout  heart  and  a   robust  set 

)f  limbs,”  with  the  strength  and  alertness  of  a   trained 
ithlete,  fearless  almost  beyond  compare,  cool  and 

piick-witted,  he  was  extraordinarily  adapted  to  the 

backwoods  life  he  led.  He  was  honest  to  a   fault, 

oyal  and  steadfast  to  his  friends  and  their  cause. 

tVe  cannot  follow  the  fascinating  details  of  Kenton’s 
experiences,  which  have  been  related  at  length  in 

VlcClung’s  “ Biographical  Sketches”  (1832)  and  Mc- 

Donald’s “ Sketches  of  Western  Adventure”  (1838). 
These  works  are  now  classics  in  pioneer  literature  and 

)ortray  history  at  first  hand,  for  the  authors  personally 

knew  many  of  the  characters  concerning  whom  they 
vrote. 
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        ;           

We  saw  Kenton  as  a   guide  for  Dunmore  in  the  latter’s 
Ohio  invasion.  He  was  with  Captain  Crawford  when 

the  later  destroyed  the  Mingo  towns  on  the  Scioto. 

We  saw  him  among  the  earliest  settlers  of  Kentucky,  \ 

where  he  met  and  became  attached,  in  ties  of  compan- 

ionship, to  Daniel  Boone;  they  were  similar  heroes  in 

character  and  career,  and  associated  in  the  beginnings 

of  Boonesborough  and  Harrodsburg  and  in  the  struggles 

of  the  Transylvania  company.  As  scout,  he  was  with 

George  Rogers  Clark  in  the  early  part  of  the  Illinois  ! 

campaign  and  after  the  capture  of  Kaskaskia  was 

dispatched  by  his  commander  to  the  Kentucky  settle-  I 

ments  with  the  news  of  Clark’s  success. 

Kenton  arrived  at  Harrodsburg  from  Kaskaskia,  j 

shortly  after  Boone  had  reached  his  home  in  Boones-  i 

borough,  following  his  escape  from  the  Ohio  Indians  I 

as  related  heretofore.  Restless  and  adventurous,  these  ri 

two  backwoodsmen  were  ever  ready  for  a   game  hunt  ! 

in  the  wild  forest  or  a   venture  on  the  warpath.  They  i 

at  once,  in  the  summer  of  1778,  concerted  an  expedition  : 
against  a   small  town  on  Paint  Creek,  not  far  from  the 

present  site  of  Chillicothe.  With  a   party  of  nineteen,  1 

chosen  from  the  Boonesborough  garrison,  they  crossed 

the  Ohio  and  proceeded  part  way  to  Paint  Creek  when  i 

they  were  surprised  and  attacked  by  a   band  of  Indians  • 

superior  in  number.  Further  progress  was  useless  and!  i 

Boone  and  his  followers,  except  Kenton  and  a   compan- 

ion, returned  safely  to  Boonesborough,  arriving  in  time  tc 

take  part  in  the  siege  of  that  post.  Kenton  and  his  com- 

rade remained  in  the  Shawnee  country  longenough  to  cap- 

ture two  horses  each,  with  which,  by  a   rapid  night’s  travel 
they  crossed  the  Ohio  and  got  beyond  danger  of  pursuit, 



SIMON  KENTON 

Born,  Fauquier  County,  Va.,  1755.  Famous  Indian 

trader,  and  backwoodsman.  Scout  in  armies  of  Dun- 
more,  Clark  and  Wayne.  Present  at  the  battle  of  the 
Thames.  Died  and  buried  at  Zanestown,  Logan  County, 
in  1836.  Later  his  body  was  moved  to  the  cemetery  at 
Urbana,  where  a   monument  marks  his  grave.  From  a 

painting  made  near  the  close  of  his  life. 
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Kenton  now  impatiently  abided  an  opportunity 

for  another  sortie  into  the  country  of  the  Shawnees, 

who  were  the  most  restless  and  harassing  enemies 

of  the  white  settlers.  The  opportunity  came  early  in 

September  (1778),  when  Colonel  John  Bowman,  of 

Harrodsburg,  ordered  him  to  take  two  trusty  compan- 

ions and  go  on  a   secret  embassy  to  Chillicothe  (Old- 

town),  an  Indian  center  on  the  Little  Miami,  against 

which  Colonel  Bowman  was  contemplating  an  attack 

and  the  condition  of  which  he  desired  to  learn.  Kenton 

accompanied  by  two  aids,  named  George  Clark  and 

Alexander  Montgomery,  respectively,  immediately  set 

out  and  stealthily  and  successfully  reached  his  desti- 

nation. In  the  night,  the  desired  observations  were 

made  and  the  three  were  about  to  start  on  their  return, 

when  they  stumbled  upon  a   pound  in  which  were  a 

number  of  Indian  horses.  “The  temptation  was  too 

great,  and  each  mounted  a   horse  and  led  off  another.” 
They  dashed  with  all  speed  to  the  Ohio,  which  they 

cached  after  a   ride  of  two  days,  at  the  mouth  of  Eagle 

Creek. 

Meanwhile  the  redmen  had  sprung  from  their  wig- 

wams and  followed  in  hot  pursuit.  The  purloined 

lorses  balked  at  the  banks  of  the  Ohio,  the  waters  of 

which  were  high  and  boisterous.  A   day’s  delay  in 
attempting  to  cross,  proved  the  doom  of  the  party. 

The  Indian  pursuers  were  upon  them.  Clark  escaped; 

Montgomery  was  shot  and  scalped;  Kenton  was  too 

;reat  a   prize  to  be  killed,  and  after  a   desperate  struggle 

v\th  several  assailants,  who  beat  him  with  their  ram- 

ods,  the  intrepid  scout  was  made  prisoner.  Night 

yas  upon  them  and  that  Kenton  might  not  get  away 
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the  captors  thus  secured  him:  “They  passed  a   stout 
stick  at  right  angles  across  his  breast,  to  each  extremity 

of  which  his  wrists  were  fastened  by  thongs  made  of 

buffalo  hide.  Stakes  were  then  driven  into  the  earth 
i   i   rv\  i   I   m 

near  his  feet,  to  which  they  were  fastened  in  a   similar 

manner.  A   halter  was  then  tied  around  his  neck  and 

fastened  to  a   sapling  which  grew  near  and  then  a 

strong  rope  was  passed  under  his  body,  lashed  strongly 

to  the  pole  which  lay  transversely  on  his  breast,  and 

finally  wrapped  around  his  arms  at  the  elbows  in  such 

a   manner  as  to  pinion  them  to  the  pole  with  a   painful 

violence,  and  render  him  literally  incapable  of  moving 

hand,  foot,  or  head  in  the  slightest  manner.  During 

the  whole  of  this  operation  neither  their  hands  nor 

their  tongues  were  by  any  means  idle.  They  cuffed 

him  from  time  to  time  with  great  heartiness,  until 

his  ears  rang  again,  and  abused  him  for  a   ‘tief,’  a   hoss 

steal,  a   rascal,  and  finally  for  a   ‘d   d   white  man.’ 

“Kenton  remained  in  this  painful  attitude  through 
out  the  night,  looking  forward  to  certain  death,  and 

most  probably,  torture,  as  soon  as  he  should  reach 

their  town.  Their  rage  against  him  seemed  to  increase 

rather  than  abate,  from  indulgence,  and  in  the  morning 

it  displayed  itself  in  a   form  at  once  ludicrous  and  cruel.’ 
When  they  were  ready  to  set  off  the  next  morning 

they  selected  the  wildest  horse  in  the  company,  ar 

unbroken  colt,  and  lashed  their  prisoner,  Mazeppa 

like,  thereon.  Let  the  story  be  continued  by  McDon 

aid,  who  personally  knew  Kenton  and  from  hin 

learned  and  “in  his  presence”  wrote  (1830) — Kentoi 

died  in  1836 — the  incident  herewith  repeated:  “Th 
horse  being  very  restive,  it  took  several  of  them  to  hol< 
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im,  whilst  the  others  lashed  the  prisoner  on  the  horse, 

'hey  first  took  a   tug,  or  rope,  and  fastened  his  legs 
nd  feet  together  under  the  horse.  They  took  another 

nd  fastened  his  arms.  They  took  another  and  tied 

round  his  neck,  and  fastened  one  end  of  it  around  the 

prse’s  neck;  the  other  end  of  this  same  rope  was  fas- 

med  to  the  horse’s  tail,  to  answer  in  place  of  a   crupper, 

'hey  had  a   great  deal  of  amusement  to  themselves, 
s   they  were  preparing  Kenton  and  his  horse  for  fun 

rid  frolic.  They  would  yelp  and  scream  around  him, 

nd  ask  him  if  he  wished  to  steal  more  horses.  Another 

ipe  was  fastened  around  his  thighs,  and  lashed  around 

le  body  of  the  horse;  a   pair  of  moccasins  was  drawn 

^er  his  hands,  to  prevent  him  from  defending  his 

ice  from  the  brush.  Thus  accoutered  and  fastened, 

le  horse  was  turned  loose  to  the  woods.  He  reared 

id  plunged,  ran  through  the  woods  for  some  time, 

>   the  infinite  amusement  of  the  Indians.  The  Indians 

loved  towards  Chillicothe,  and  in  three  days  reached 

le  town.  At  night  they  confined  their  prisoner  in 

le  following  manner:  He  was  laid  on  his  back,  his 

gs  extended,  drawn  apart,  and  fastened  to  two 

tplings  or  stakes  driven  in  the  ground.  His  arms 

ere  extended,  a   pole  laid  across  his  breast,  and  his 

'ms  lashed  to  the  pole  with  cords.  A   rope  was  tied 

'ound  his  neck,  and  stretched  back  just  tight  enough 

pt  to  choke  him,  and  fastened  to  a   tree  or  stake  near 

ji  s   head.  In  this  painful  and  uncomfortable  situation, 
spent  three  miserable  nights,  exposed  to  gnats,  and 

osquitoes,  and  weather. 

“On  the  third  day  they  came  within  a   few  miles 
Chillicothe.  Here  the  party  halted  and  dispatched 
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a   messenger  to  inform  the  village  of  their  arrival 

in  order,  I   suppose,  to  give  them  time  to  prepare  fo 

his  reception.  In  a   short  time,  Blackfish,  one  of  thei 

chiefs,  arrived,  and,  regarding  Kenton  with  a   sten 

countenance,  thundered  out,  in  very  good  English 

‘You  have  been  stealing  horses?’  ‘Yes,  sir.’  ‘Di< 

Captain  Boone  tell  you  to  steal  our  horses?’  ‘Nc 

sir;  I   did  it  of  my  own  accord.’  This  frank  confessio 
was  too  irritating  to  be  borne.  Blackfish  made  n 

reply;  but,  brandishing  a   hickory  switch  which  he  hel 

in  his  hand,  he  applied  it  so  briskly  to  Kenton’s  nake 
back  and  shoulders  as  to  bring  the  blood  freely  an 

occasion  acute  pain. 

“When  the  Indians  came  within  about  a   mile  c 

the  Chillicothe  town,  they  halted  and  camped  for  tbj 

night,  and  fastened  the  poor  unfortunate  prisoner  J 

the  usual  uncomfortable  manner.  The  Indians,  your 

and  old,  came  from  the  town  to  welcome  the  retui 

of  their  successful  warriors,  and  to  visit  their  prisone 

The  Indian  party,  young  and  old,  consisting  of  aboi 

one  hundred  and  fifty,  commenced  dancing,  singin 

and  yelling  around  Kenton,  stopping  occasionally  ar 

kicking  and  beating  him  for  amusement.  In  tb 

manner  they  tormented  him  for  about  three  houi 

when  the  cavalcade  returned  to  town,  and  he  was  k 

for  the  rest  of  the  night,  exhausted  and  forlorn,  to  t   ‘ 
tender  mercies  of  the  gnats  and  mosquitoes.  As  sou 

as  it  was  light  in  the  morning,  the  Indians  began  ) 

collect  from  the  town,  and  preparations  were  ma^ 

for  fun  and  frolic  at  the  expense  of  Kenton,  as  he 

now  doomed  to  run  the  gauntlet.  The  Indians  forml 

in  two  lines,  about  six  feet  apart,  with  each  a   stit 
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|i  his  hands,  and  Kenton  placed  between  the  two nes,  so  that  each  Indian  could  beat  him  as  much  as 

e   thought  proper,  as  he  ran  through  the  lines.  He 

ad  not  run  far  before  he  discovered  an  Indian  with 

is  knife  drawn  to  plunge  it  into  him;  as  soon  as  Kenton 

cached  that  part  of  the  line  where  the  Indian  stood 

ho  had  the  knife  drawn,  he  broke  through  the  lines, 

nd  made  with  all  speed  for  the  town.  Kenton  had 

|een  previously  informed  by  a   negro  named  Caesar, 

ho  lived  with  the  Indians  and  knew  their  customs, 

lat  if  he  could  break  through  the  Indians’  lines,  and 
:rive  at  the  council-house  in  the  town  before  he  was 

/ertaken,  that  they  would  not  force  him  a   second 

me  to  run  the  gauntlet.  When  he  broke  through 

leir  lines,  he  ran  at  the  top  of  his  speed  for  the  council- 

ouse,  pursued  by  two  or  three  hundred  Indians, 

idling  and  screaming  like  infernal  furies.  Just  as 

\i  had  entered  the  town,  he  was  met  by  an  Indian 
isurely  walking  towards  the  scene  of  amusement, 

rapped  in  a   blanket.  The  Indian  threw  off  his  blanket ; 

i   he  was  fresh,  and  Kenton  nearly  exhausted,  the 

idian  soon  caught  him  and  threw  him  down.  In  a 

oment  the  whole  party  who  were  in  pursuit  came  up, 

)J  id  fell  to  cuffing  and  kicking  him  at  a   most  fearful 

asl  te-  They  tore  off  all  his  clothes,  and  left  him  naked 

tJ  id  exhausted.  After  he  had  lain  till  he  had  in 
me  degree  recovered  from  his  exhausted  state,  they 

ought  him  water  and  something  to  eat.  As  soon  as 

s   strength  was  sufficiently  recovered,  they  took  him 

the  council-house,  to  determine  upon  his  fate.  Their 

anner  of  deciding  his  fate,  was  as  follows:  Their 

arriors  were  placed  in  a   circle  in  the  council-house; 

IS* 
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an  old  chief  was  placed  in  the  center  of  the  circle, 

with  a   knife  and  a   piece  of  wood  in  his  hands.  A 

number  of  speeches  were  made.  Kenton,  although  he 

did  not  understand  their  language,  soon  discovered  b} 

their  animated  gestures,  and  fierce  looks  at  him,  thai 

a   majority  of  their  speakers  were  contending  for  hi 

destruction.  He  could  perceive  that  those  who  pleat 

for  mercy  were  received  coolly;  but  few  grunts  o 

approbation  were  uttered  when  the  orators  closet 

their  speeches.  After  the  orators  ceased  speakin 

the  old  chief  who  sat  in  the  midst  of  the  circle,  raise 

up  and  handed  a   war-club  to  the  man  who  sat  nex 

the  door.  They  proceeded  to  take  the  decision  c 

their  court.  All  who  were  for  the  death  of  the  prisone 

struck  the  war-club  with  violence  against  the  grounc 

those  who  voted  to  save  the  prisoner’s  life,  passed  tl 
club  to  their  next  neighbor  without  striking  the  groum 

Kenton,  from  their  expressive  gestures,  could  easilj 
distinguish  the  object  of  their  vote.  The  old  chi 

stood  to  witness  and  record  the  number  that  vote 

for  death  or  mercy;  as  one  struck  the  ground  wi 

the  war-club,  he  made  a   mark  on  one  side  of  his  pie 

of  wood;  and  when  the  club  was  passed  without  strikin 

he  made  a   mark  on  the  other.  Kenton  discover 

that  a   large  majority  were  for  death. 

“   Sentence  of  death  being  now  passed  upon  t|; 

prisoner,  they  made  the  welkin  ring  with  shouts  jf 

joy.  The  sentence  of  death  being  passed,  anotlt 

question  of  considerable  difficulty  now  present  l 

itself  to  the  consideration  of  the  council;  that  w;, 

the  time  and  place,  when  and  where,  he  should  * 
burnt.  The  orators  again  made  speeches  on  te 

ill 
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ubject,  less  animated  indeed  than  on  the  trial;  but 

ome  appeared  to  be  quite  vehement  for  instant 

xecution,  whilst  others  appeared  to  wish  to  make 

jiis  death  a   solemn  national  sacrifice.  After  a   long 

ilebate,  the  vote  was  taken,  when  it  was  resolved  that 

he  place  of  his  execution  should  be  Wapatomika  (now 

j'anesfield,  Logan  county).  [This  Wapatomika,  also 
nown  as  Wakatomica,  etc.,  should  be  distinguished 

rom  the  town  of  the  same  name  situated  on  the  Mus- 

ingum  at  the  junction  of  the  White  Woman  Creek 

r   Walhonding.l  The  next  morning  he  was  hurried 

way  to  the  place  destined  for  his  execution.  From 

'hillicothe  to  Wapatomika,  they  had  to  pass  through 
vo  other  Indian  towns,  to-wit:  Pickaway  and 

lachecheek.  At  both  towns  he  was  compelled  to 

in  the  gauntlet;  and  severely  was  he  whipped  through 

le  course.  While  he  lay  at  Machecheek,  being  care- 

ssly  guarded,  he  made  an  attempt  to  escape.  Noth- 

tg  worse  than  death  could  follow,  and  here  he  made 

bold  push  for  life  and  freedom.  Being  unconfined, 

b   broke  and  ran,  and  soon  cleared  himself  out  of 

j;
 ' 

ght  of  his  pursuers.  Whilst  he  distanced  his  pursuers, 

id  got  about  two  miles  from  the  town,  he  accidentally 

et  some  Indians  on  horseback.  They  instantly 

irsued,  and  soon  came  up  with  him,  and  drove  him 

ick  again  to  the  town.  He  now,  for  the  first  time, 

ive  up  his  case  as  hopeless.  Nothing  but  death 

ared  him  in  the  face.  Fate,  it  appeared  to  him, 

;id  sealed  his  doom;  and  in  sullen  despair,  he  deter- 

mined to  await  that  doom,  that  it  was  impossible 

r   him  to  shun. 
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“When  the  Indians  returned  with  Kenton  to  the 

town,  there  was  a   general  rejoicing.  He  was  pinioned, 

>nc 

and  given  over  to  the  young  Indians,  who  dragged 

him  into  the  creek,  tumbled  him  in  the  water,  and 

rolled  him  in  the  mud,  till  he  was  nearly  suffocated 

with  mud  and  water.  In  this  way  they  amused  them- 1 

selves  with  him  till  he  was  nearly  drowned.  He  now 

thought  himself  forsaken  by  God.  Shortly  after  thill 

his  tormentors  moved  with  him  to  Wapatomika.  ” 
At  this  point  we  permit  McClung  to  take  up  th< 

narrative:  “Here  [Wapatomika]  he  was  again  com 
pelled  to  run  the  gauntlet,  in  which  he  was  severe! 

hurt;  and,  immediately  after  this  ceremony,  he  wa 

taken  to  the  council-house,  and  all  the  warriors  one 
more  assembled  to  determine  his  fate. 

“He  sat  silent  and  dejected  upon  the  floor  of 
cabin,  awaiting  the  moment  which  was  to  deliver  hii 

to  the  stake,  when  the  door  of  the  council-house  openei 

and  Simon  Girty,  James  Girty,  John  Ward  and  „ 

Indian  came  in  with  a   woman  (Mrs.  Mary  Kenned}  v] 

as  a   prisoner,  together  with  seven  children  and  seve 

scalps.  Kenton  was  instantly  removed  from  the  com 

cil-house,  and  the  deliberations  of  the  assembly  we 

protracted  to  a   very  late  hour,  in  consequence  of  tl 

arrival  of  the  last  named  party  with  a   fresh  drove 

prisoners. 

“At  length  he  was  again  summoned  to  attend 

council-house,  being  informed  that  his  fate  was  decide. 

Regarding  the  mandate  as  a   mere  prelude  to  the  sta : 

and  fire,  which  he  knew  was  intended  for  him,  * 

obeyed  it  with  the  calm  despair  which  had  now  si- 

ceeded  the  burning  anxiety  of  the  last  few  days.  Up'i 

I 

pie: 
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ritering  the  council-house,  he  was  greeted  with  a 

ivage  scowl,  which,  if  he  had  still  cherished  a   spark 

f   hope,  would  have  completely  extinguished  it.  Simon 

irty  threw  a   blanket  upon  the  floor,  and  harshly 

dered  him  to  take  a   seat  upon  it.  The  order  was 

3t  immediately  complied  with,  and  Girty,  impatiently 

izing  his  arm,  jerked  him  roughly  upon  the  blanket, 

id  pulled  him  down  upon  it. 

“In  the  same  rough  and  menacing  tone,  Girty  then 

terrogated  him,  asking,  ‘What  is  your  name  ?’  ‘Simon 

utler!’  replied  Kenton.  Never  did  the  annunciation 
<   a   name  produce  a   more  powerful  effect.  Girty  and 

.enton  (then  bearing  the  name  of  Butler)  had  served 

<   spies,  together,  in  Dunmore’s  expedition.  The 
Inner  had  not  then  abandoned  the  society  of  the 

|   mites  for  that  of  savages,  and  had  become  warmly 

Cached  to  Kenton  during  the  short  period  of  their 

f   s   rvices  together.  As  soon  as  he  heard  the  name, 

1(j  1   became  strongly  agitated;  and  springing  from  his 

.   sit,  he  threw  his  arms  around  Kenton’s  neck,  and 
eibraced  him  with  much  emotion. 

.   “Then  turning  to  the  assembled  warriors,  who 
.   rnained  astonished  spectatofs  of  this  extraordinary 

.   s   :ne,  he  addressed  them  in  a   short  speech,  which  the 

c   ̂p  earnestness  of  his  tone,  and  the  energy  of  his 

g.ture,  rendered  eloquent.  He  informed  them  that 

t ;   prisoner,  whom  they  had  just  condemned  to  the 

s   ke  was  his  ancient  comrade  and  bosom  friend;  that 

t   *y  had  traveled  the  same  war-path,  slept  upon  the 

.   tj  ne  blanket,  and  dwelt  in  the  same  wigwam.  He 

-   reated  them  to  have  compassion  upon  his  feelings; 

I   h   spare  him  the  agony  of  witnessing  the  tortures  of 
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an  old  friend  by  the  hands  of  his  adopted  brothers: 

and  not  to  refuse  so  trifling  a   favor,  as  the  life  of  a 

white  man,  to  the  earnest  intercession  of  one  who  hac 

proved,  by  three  years’  faithful  service,  that  he  wa 
sincerely  and  zealously  devoted  to  the  cause  of  th< 

Indians. 

“The  speech  was  listened  to  in  unbroken  silence 
As  soon  as  he  had  finished,  several  chiefs  expresse 

their  approbation  by  a   deep  guttural  interjection,  whi 

others  were  equally  as  forward  in  making  known  the 

objections  to  the  prospoal.  They  urged  that  his  fa 

had  already  been  determined  in  a   large  and  solem 

council,  and  that  they  would  be  acting  like  squav 

to  change  their  mind  every  hour.  They  insisted  upo 

the  flagrant  misdemeanors  of  Kenton;  that  he  h 

not  only  stolen  their  horses,  but  had  flashed  his  gun 

one  of  their  younger  men;  that  it  was  vain  to  suppc 

that  so  bad  a   man  could  ever  become  an  Indian 

heart,  like  their  brother  Girty;  that  the  Kentuckiaj  j 

were  all  alike,  very  bad  people,  and  ought  to  be  kill!  ' 
as  fast  as  they  were  taken;  and  finally,  they  observe,  j 

that  many  of  their  people  had  come  from  a   distal  j 

solely  to  assist  at  the  torture  of  the  prisoner,  ai 

pathetically  painted  the  disappointment  and  chag;(i  1 

with  which  they  would  hear  that  all  their  troue 

had  been  for  nothing.  |Jj 

Girty  listened,  with  obvious  impatience,  to 

,   a young  warriors  who  had  so  ably  argued  agains 

reprieve,  and  starting  to  his  feet  as  soon  as  the  otl 

hs, 

had  concluded,  he  urged  his  former  request  with  gil 

earnestness.  He  briefly  but  strongly  recapituk 

his  own  services,  and  the  many  and  weighty  install 

W( 

Ri 
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>f  attachment  which  he  had  given.  He  asked  if  he 

ould  be  suspected  of  partiality  to  the  whites?  When 

i ad  he  ever  before  interceded  for  any  of  that  hated 

ace?  Had  he  not  brought  seven  scalps  home  with 

im  from  the  last  expedition?  And  had  he  not  sub- 

mitted seven  white  prisoners  that  very  evening  to  their 

escretion?  Had  he  expressed  a   wish  that  a   single 

ne  of  the  captives  should  be  saved?  This  was  his 

rst  and  should  be  his  last  request:  For  if  they  re- 

used to  him  what  was  never  refused  to  the  intercession 

:   one  of  their  natural  chiefs,  he  would  look  upon  him- 

lf  as  disgraced  in  their  eyes,  and  considered  as  un- 

orthy  of  confidence.  Which  of  their  own  natural 

arriors  had  been  more  zealous  than  himself?  From 

hat  expedition  had  he  ever  shrunk?  What  white 

an  had  ever  seen  his  back?  Whose  tomahawk  had 

hen  bloodier  than  his?  He  would  say  no  more.  He 

iked  it  as  a   first  and  last  favor — as  an  evidence  that 

ley  approved  of  his  zeal  and  fidelity — that  the  life 

c   his  bosom  friend  might  be  spared.  Fresh  speakers 

Jose  upon  each  side,  and  the  debate  was  carried  on, 

'■'W  an  hour  and  a   half,  with  great  heat  and  energy. 

“During  the  whole  time,  Kenton’s  feelings  may 
ridily  be  imagined.  He  could  not  understand  a 

lift  liable  of  what  was  said.  He  saw  that  Girty  spoke  with 

cep  earnestness,  and  that  the  eyes  of  the  assembly 

v   re  often  turned  upon  himself,  with  various  expres- 

gaiJs  ns.  He  felt  satisfied  that  his  friend  was  pleading 

ie®'  his  life,  and  that  he  was  violently  opposed  by  a 

itl  l.  ge  part  of  the  council.  At  length  the  war-club  was 

pitfcbduced,  and  the  final  vote  taken.  Kenton  watched 

instill  progress  with  thrilling  emotion,  which  yielded  to 
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the  most  rapturous  delight  as  he  perceived  that  thos( 

who  struck  the  floor  of  the  council-house  were  decidedly 
inferior  in  number  to  those  who  passed  it  in  silence 

Having  thus  succeeded  in  his  benevolent  purpose 

Girty  lost  no  time  in  attending  to  the  comfort  of  hi 

friend.  He  led  him  into  his  own  wigwam,  and  fro 

his  own  store  gave  him  a   pair  of  moccasins  and  legging 

a   breech-cloth,  a   hat,  a   coat,  a   handkerchief  for  h 
neck,  and  another  for  his  head. 

“For  the  space  of  three  weeks,  Kenton  lived 

perfect  tranquillity.  Girty’s  kindness  was  unifon 
and  indefatigable.  He  introduced  Kenton  to  his  ow 

family,  and  accompanied  him  to  the  wigwams  of  tlj 

principal  chiefs,  who  seemed  all  at  once  to  have  turn 

from  the  extremity  of  rage  to  the  utmost  kindne 

and  cordiality.  Fortune,  however,  seemed  to  ha 

selected  him  for  her  football,  and  to  have  snatch. ; 

him  from  the  frying-pan  only  to  throw  him  into  t- 
fire.  About  twenty  days  after  his  most  provident  h 

deliverance  from  the  stake  he  was  walking  in  compa  rrj 
with  Girty  and  an  Indian  named  Redpole,  whilfl 

another  Indian  came  from  the  village  toward  the 

uttering  repeatedly  a   whoop  of  peculiar  intonatkif 

Girty  instantly  told  Kenton  that  it  was  the  distr  s   i 

halloo,  and  that  they  must  all  go  instantly  to 

council-house.  Kenton’s  heart  involuntarily  flutters 

fee 

at  the  intelligence,  for  he  dreaded  all  whoops,  cjl 

hated  all  council-houses,  firmly  believing  that  neit^r 
I 

boded  him  any  good.  Nothing,  however,  could  )C mi 

done  to  avoid  whatever  fate  awaited  him,  and  u 

sadly  accompanied  Girty  and  Redpole  back  to  f 
village. ■Iroi i 
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“The  debate  quickly  commenced.  Kenton  looked 
agerly  toward  Girty,  as  his  last  and  only  hope.  His 

•iend  looked  anxious  and  distressed.  The  chiefs  from 

distance  arose  one  after  another,  and  spoke  in  a 

rm  and  indignant  tone,  often  looking  at  Kenton 

ith  an  eye  of  death.  Girty  did  not  desert  him,  but 

is  eloquence  appeared  wasted  upon  the  distant  chiefs. 

Ifter  a   warm  debate,  he  turned  to  Kenton  and  said, Veil,  my  friend,  you  must  die !’  One  of  the  stranger 
liefs  instantly  seized  him  by  the  collar,  and  the  others 

irrounding  him,  he  was  strongly  pinioned,  committed 

>   a   guard,  and  instantly  marched  off. 

“His  guards  were  on  horseback,  while  the  prisoner 
as  driven  before  them  on  foot,  with  a   long  rope  round 

s   neck,  the  other  end  of  which  was  held  by  one  of 

le  guard.  In  this  manner  they  had  marched  about 

vo  and  a   half  miles,  when  Girty  passed  them  on  horse- 

ick,  informing  Kenton  that  he  had  friends  at  the 

ixt  village,  with  whose  aid  he  hoped  to  be  able  to 

)   something  for  him.  Girty  passed  on  to  the  town, 

it  finding  that  nothing  could  be  done,  he  would  not 

e   his  friend  again,  but  returned  to  Waughcotomoco 

Vapatomica]  by  a   different  route. 

“They  soon  reached  a   large  village  upon  the  head- 
aters  of  the  Scioto,  where  Kenton,  for  the  first  time, 

iheld  the  celebrated  Mingo  chief,  Logan,  so  honorably 

entioned  in  Mr.  Jefferson’s  ‘Notes  on  Virginia.’ 

e|bgan  walked  gravely  up  to  the  place  where  Kenton 
:3od,  and  the  following  short  conversation  ensued: 

Veil,  young  man,  these  young  men  seem  very  mad 

you!’  ‘Yes,  sir,  they  certainly  are.’  ‘Well,  don’t 
1   disheartened,  I   am  a   great  chief.  You  are  to  go 
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to  Sandusky;  they  speak  of  burning  you  there,  but 

I   will  send  two  runners  tomorrow  to  speak  good  foi 

you.’  Logan’s  form  was  striking  and  manly,  his 
countenance  calm  and  noble,  and  he  spoke  the  Englis 

language  with  fluency  and  correctness.  Kenton 

spirits  instantly  rose  at  the  address  of  the  benevolen 

chief,  and  he  once  more  looked  upon  himself  as  pro 

videntially  rescued  from  the  stake. 

“On  the  following  morning  two  runners  were  dis 
patched  to  Sandusky,  as  the  chief  had  promised,  an< 

until  their  return  Kenton  was  kindly  treated,  bein 

permitted  to  spend  much  of  his  time  with  Logan,  wh 

conversed  with  him  freely  and  in  the  most  friendl 

manner.  In  the  evening  the  two  runners  returnee 

and  were  closeted  with  Logan.  Kenton  felt  the  mos  i 

burning  anxiety  to  know  what  was  the  result  of  the 

mission,  but  Logan  did  not  visit  him  until  the  ne?  i 

morning.  He  then  walked  up  to  him,  accompanie 

by  Kenton’s  guards,  and,  giving  him  a   piece  of  brea< 
told  him  that  he  was  instantly  to  be  carried  to  Sai 

dusky;  and,  without  uttering  another  word,  turne 

upon  his  heel  and  left  him. 

“Again  Kenton’s  spirit  sank.  From  Logan’s  mann 
he  supposed  that  his  intercession  had  been  unavailin 

and  that  Sandusky  was  destined  to  be  the  scene 

his  final  suffering.  This  appears  to  have  been  til 

truth.  But  fortune,  who,  to  use  Lord  Lovat’s  expre 
sion,  had  been  playing  at  cat  and  mouse  with  hi 

for  the  last  month,  had  selected  Sandusky  for  V 

display  of  her  strange  and  capricious  power.” 
The  prisoner  and  his  escort  now  continued  the 

journey  till  they  came  in  view  of  the  Upper  Sandusl' 
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,iwn.  The  Indians,  young  and  old,  came  out  to  meet 

l   id  welcome  the  warriors  and  view  their  noted  prisoner, 

ho  at  this  place  was  spared  the  tortures  of  another 

mntlet.  But  a   grand  council  was  immediately  con- 
med  to  determine  the  fate  of  Kenton.  This  was  the 

urth  council  which  was  held  to  dispose  of  the  life 

<   the  prisoner,  who,  by  this  time,  one  would  imagine, 
ould  welcome  death  as  the  end  of  further  tortures 

.   id  sufferings. 

“As  soon  as  this  grand  court  was  organized,  and 
:ady  to  proceed  to  business,  a   Canadian  French- 
:   an,  one  Pierre  Druillard  who  usually  went  by  the 

:ime  of  Peter  Druyer,  was  a   captain  in  the  British 

;   rvice,  and  dressed  in  the  gaudy  appendages  of  the 

ritish  uniform,  made  his  appearance  in  the  council, 

'his  Druyer  was  born  and  raised  in  Detroit — he  was 
>nnected  with  the  British  Indian  agent  department 

j-was  their  principal  interpreter  in  settling  Indian 
Fairs;  this  made  him  a   man  of  great  consequence 

nong  the  Indians.  It  was  to  this  influential  man, 

iat  the  good  chief  Logan,  the  friend  of  all  the  human 

mily,  sent  his  young  men  to  intercede  for  the  life 

1   Kenton.  His  judgment  and  address  were  only 

lualed  by  his  humanity.  His  foresight  in  selecting 

ie  agent  who  it  was  most  probable  could  save  the 

e   of  the  prisoner,  proves  his  judgment  and  his  know- 
dge  of  the  human  heart.  As  soon  as  the  grand 

>uncil  was  organized,  Captain  Druyer  requested  per- 
ission  to  address  the  council.  This  permisison  was 

stantly  granted.  He  began  his  speech  by  stating, 
hat  it  was  well  known  that  it  was  the  wish  and  interest 

1   the  English  that  not  an  American  should  be  left 
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alive.  That  the  Americans  were  the  cause  of  the 

present  bloody  and  distressing  war —   that  neither  peace 

nor  safety  could  be  expected,  so  long  as  these  intruders 

were  permitted  to  live  upon  the  earth.’  This  part  oi 
his  speech  received  repeated  grunts  of  approbation 

He  then  explained  to  the  Indians,  ‘that  the  war  to  b( 
carried  on  successfully,  required  cunning  as  well  a: 

bravery — that  the  intelligence  which  might  be  ex 

torted  from  a   prisoner,  would  be  of  more  advantage 

in  conducting  the  future  operations  of  the  war,  thai 

would  be  the  lives  of  twenty  prisoners.  That  he  ha( 

no  doubt  but  the  commanding  officer  at  Detroit  cou 

procure  information  from  the  prisoner  now  before  them 

that  would  be  of  incalculable  advantage  to  them  ii 

the  progress  of  the  present  war.  Under  these  circumi 

stances,  he  hoped  they  would  defer  the  death  of  th 

prisoner  till  he  was  taken  to  Detroit,  and  examine* 

by  the  commanding  general.  After  which  he  coul 

be  brought  back,  and  if  thought  advisable,  upo 

further  consideration,  he  might  be  put  to  death  i 

any  manner  they  thought  proper.’  He  next  noticec 

‘that  they  had  already  a   great  deal  of  trouble  an 
fatigue  with  the  prisoner  without  being  revenged  upo 

him;  but  that  they  had  got  back  all  the  horses  th 

prisoner  had  stolen  from  them,  and  killed  one  of  h: 

comrades;  and  to  insure  them  something  for  the 

fatigue  and  trouble,  he  himself  would  give  one  hundre 

dollars  in  rum  and  tobacco,  or  any  other  article  the 

would  choose,  if  they  would  let  him  take  the  prison* 

to  Detroit,  to  be  examined  by  the  British  General 

The  Indians,  without  hesitation,  agreed  to  Captai 

Druyer’s  proposition,  and  he  paid  down  the  ransom 
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\s  soon  as  these  arrangements  were  concluded,  Druyer 

ind  a   principal  chief  set  off  with  the  prisoner  for  Lower 

Sandusky.  From  this  place  they  proceeded  by  water 

o   Detroit,  where  they  arrived  in  a   few  days.  Here 

he  prisoner  was  handed  over  to  the  commanding 

officer,  and  lodged  in  the  fort  as  a   prisoner  of  war. 

ie  was  now  out  of  danger  from  the  Indians,  and  was 

reated  with  the  usual  attention  of  prisoners  of  war 

n   civilized  countries.  The  British  commander  gave 

he  Indians  some  additional  remuneration  for  the  life 

)f  the  prisoner,  and  they  returned  satisfied  to  join 

heir  countrymen  at  Wapatomika.” 

Kenton  was  taken  prisoner  about  the  first  of  Sep- 

ember  (1778),  and  arrived  at  Detroit  about  the  first  of 

November,  his  tortures  and  trials  thus  extending  over 

ixty  days.  That  he  had  survived  his  experience  was 

evidence  of  the  tremendous  and  inexhaustible  powers 

)f  endurance  vouchsafed  him.  Until  June  (1779)  he 

vas  kept  a   closely  guarded  prisoner  in  Detroit  but 

Iiis  incessant  plans  for  an  escape  were  finally  realized md  with  two  other  captives  he  “ stole  away”  and 
striking  west  from  the  Wabash  followed  it  to  the  Ohio 

md  thence  to  his  Harrodsburg  home,  at  which  he 

irrived  in  July,  a   month  after  his  escape  from  the 

British  post.  “Thus  terminated,”  adds  McClung, 

‘one  of  the  most  remarkable  adventures  in  the  whole 

*ange  of  Western  History.  ” 





Chapter  XII. 

SIEGE  OF  FORT  LAURENS 





DURING  the  detention  of  Kenton  at  Detroit, Simon  Girty,  as  described  by  De  Schweinitz 

“an  inveterate  drunkard,  a   blustering  ruf- 
fian, seduced  by  British  gold  to  forsake  the 

Americans,  whose  interpreter  he  had  been,  was  now 

espousing  the  royal  cause  with  all  the  baseness  of  his 

character,”  and  became  active  as  one  of  the  most 
trusted  subordinates  of  Governor  Hamilton  and  served 

not  only  as  the  bearer  of  his  despatches  but  the  guide 

and  often  the  director  of  the  marauding  parties  sent 

out  from  the  British  headquarters  at  Detroit. 

The  building  of  Fort  Laurens  awakened  Hamilton 

to  the  courage  and  audacity  of  the  Americans  and 

Girty  was  especially  directed  to  watch  the  movements 

of  the  military  forces  at  Fort  Pitt  and  at  Fort  Laurens. 

On  the  sixth  of  January  (1779)  Girty  set  out  from  the 

upper  Scioto,  to  reconnoitre  the  situation  at  Fort 

Laurens,  and  “take  some  scalps,  particularly  Colonel 

Gibson’s.”  He  was  accompanied  by  some  twenty-five 

Indians,  mostly  Mingoes.  But  the  secret  of  Girty’s 
movements  became  known  to  Killbuck,  the  Del- 

aware chief,  and  he  at  once  dispatched  the  news 

to  Colonel  Gibson,  who  thereby  was  placed  upon  his 

guard. 

Meanwhile,  Girty  approached  Fort  Laurens,  but 

on  arriving  in  its  vicinity  took  good  care  not  to  discover 

himself  and  his  savages  to  the  garrison  but  instead 

lay  in  ambush  at  a   safe  distance.  And  now  while 

the  British  expedition  under  the  personal  direction  of 

Governor  Hamilton  was  re-occupying  Fort  Sackville 

at  Vincennes,  on  the  banks  of  the  lower  Wabash,  the 

siege,  led  by  Girty,  of  Fort  Laurens  on  the  Tuscarawas, 



was  in  progress.  The  American  Revolution  in  t] 

western  country  thus  presented  strange  and  contrastii 
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events. 

More  than  half  of  January  (1779)  was  spent  withou 

results  by  the  pent  up  soldiers  of  the  little  fort,  whei  j 

quartermaster  Samuel  Semple,  sent  by  Colonel  Gibsoi  ] 

to  Coshocton  for  provisions,  had  one  man  killed  am 

another  seriously  wounded  by  treacherous  Delawares  a 

A   few  days  later  another  party,  under  Captain  Joh]  j 

Clark,  who  had  successfully  transported  provision  j 

from  Fort  Pitt  to  Fort  Laurens,  on  his  return  wit'  \ 

fifteen  men,  was  attacked  by  Girty’s  band,  some  thre  1 
miles  from  the  latter  post;  two  of  his  men  were  kille<  i 

four  wounded,  and  one  taken  prisoner.  The  remaindeii 

of  the  party  fought  their  way  back  to  Fort  Laurens  a 

In  this  encounter  Girty  secured  from  Captain  Clar  ! 

important  letters  written  by  Gibson  to  MclntosI  j 

With  his  prisoners  and  these  documents  Girty  hastene  ] 

to  Detroit  to  report  to  Captain  Lernoult — then  i 

command  there — for  Hamilton  had  been  captured  an  ; 

was  on  his  way  under  escort  as  a   prisoner  to  Williams  i 

burg.  Girty  also  bore  with  him  strings  of  wampur 

from  the  Mingoes,  Shawnees  and  Sandusky  Wyandot 

and  from  a   few  Delawares  as  evidence  of  their  allegianc  [ 
to  the  British. 

The  news  of  the  capture  of  Governor  Hamilton  an 

the  repossession  of  Fort  Sackville  by  George  Rogei 

Clark  had  a   depressing  effect  upon  the  Ohio  Indiar 

and  even  upon  Girty  for  Heckewelder  wrote  at  th 

time  to  Colonel  Brodhead,  at  Fort  Pitt,  that  Girtj 

had  “gone  to  Detroit — but  seemed  to  be  very  lo 

spirited.” 
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But  Girty,  implacable  and  tireless,  was  the  chief 

conspiring  agent  of  the  British.  At  Detroit  he  de- 

clared that  seven  or  eight  hundred  warriors,  Mingoes, 

Shawnees,  Wyandots  and  even  Delawares,  could  be 

assembled  at  Upper  Sandusky  and  marched  to  the 

beleaguerment  of  Fort  Laurens.  For  this  purpose 

Girty  asked  of  Captain  Lernoult,  not  only  arms  and 

ammunition,  but  earnestly  solicited  that  an  English 

officer  might  be  sent  to  command  them,  and  “see  how 

they  would  behave.”  Captain  Henry  Bird,  of  the 

8th  or  King’s  Regiment,  and  ten  soldiers  were  at  once 
dispatched  with  Girty  to  Upper  Sandusky,  to  aid 

in  the  proposed  undertaking.  By  the  latter  part  of 

l   February  one  hundred  and  twenty  savages,  mostly 

Wyandots  and  Mingoes,  the  latter  under  the  immediate 

lead  of  Girty,  all  under  command  of  Bird,  and  all 

plentifully  armed  and  supplied  with  ammunition  from 

Detroit,  set  out  from  Upper  Sandusky  and  placed 

themselves  in  ambush  about  Fort  Laurens. 

The  little  band  of  Gibson’s  soldiers,  though  suffering 
for  provisions  and  from  the  unusually  cold  weather, 

Dravely  faced  all  dangers.  The  commander  pluckily, 

3y  messenger,  sent  word  to  McIntosh:  “You  may 

depend  on  my  defending  the  fort  to  the  last  extremity.  ” 
The  story  of  this  siege  is  one  of  bloody  deeds  and 

r   Drave  suffering.  Girty’s  siege  was  inaugurated  with 
i   cunning  but  shocking  butchery,  as  related  by 

Stone,  in  his  “Life  of  Joseph  Brant,  the  Mohawk 

:hief. ”   “The  horses  of  the  garrison  were  allowed  to 
orage  for  themselves  upon  the  herbage,  among  the 

dried  prairie  grass  immediately  in  the  vicinity  of  the 

ort — wearing  bells,  that  they  might  be  the  more  easily 



found  if  straying  too  far.  It  happened  one  morning 

in  January,  that  the  horses  had  all  disappeared,  but 

the  bells  were  heard,  seemingly  at  no  great  distance. 

of  the  tall  prairie  grass,  the  Indians  formed  an  am- 

buscade, at  the  farthest  extremity  of  which  they 

caused  the  bells  to  jingle  as  a   decoy.  The  artifice  was 
successful. 

“A  party  of  sixteen  men  was  sent  in  pursuit  of  the 
straggling  steeds,  who  fell  into  the  snare.  Fourteen! 

were  killed  upon  the  spot,  and  the  remaining  two  taken 

prisoners,  one  of  whom  returned  at  the  close  of  the 

war,  and  of  the  other  nothing  was  ever  heard.”  This! 
incident  as  recited  by  Stone,  has  however,  it  should! 

be  noted,  been  questioned  by  Hildreth  who  says  thai 

about  the  fort,  although  none  had  been  seen  for  « 

few  days,  a   party  of  seventeen  men  went  out  for  th< 

purpose  of  carrying  in  firewood,  which  the  army  ha< 

cut  before  they  left  the  place,  about  forty  or  fiftt' 
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/ould  not  be  watching  the  fort  in  such  cold  weather. 

lut  on  that  fatal  morning,  the  Indians  had  concealed 

hemselves  behind  the  mound,  and  as  the  soldiers 

assed  round  on  one  side  of  the  mound,  a   part  of  the 

ndians  came  round  on  the  other,  and  enclosed  the 

food  party,  so  that  not  one  escaped.  ” 

Girty’s  party,  however,  not  long  after  their  arrival, 
flowed  themselves  and  openly  invested  the  post.  In 

rder  to  deceive  the  fort  inmates  as  to  their  number, 

ie  besieging  Indians,  painted  and  in  full  costume  of 

ar,  so  disposed  themselves  amid  the  surrounding 

>rest,  maneuvering  in  single  files,  wheeling  and  coun- 
irmarching,  that  they  appeared,  to  the  soldiers  of 

•ibson,  to  be  many  times  their  actual  strength.  In- 
sed  their  number  was  estimated  as  high  as  eight 

undred.  This  however,  seems  to  have  been  a   common 

ise  in  backwoods  Indian  warfare.  Clark  successfully 

nployed  it  in  his  capture  of  Fort  Vincennes. 

The  siege  was  a   remarkable  one  and  continued  until 

le  garrison  was  reduced  to  the  verge  of  starvation; 

quarter  of  a   pound  of  sour  flour  and  an  equal  weight 

spoiled  meat  constituting  a   daily  ration  for  each; 
e   cold  was  intense  and  exit  from  the  stockade  could 

)t  be  made  for  fuel  or  food;  the  plucky  soldiers  suffered 

the  verge  of  life;  it  was  a   veritable  Valley  Forge 

Ji  the  banks  of  the  Tuscarawas.  But  the  assailants emselves  were  being  worn  out  from  exposure  and 

1   ivations. 
j 
i   It  was  the  end  of  March  (1779)  that  General  Mcln- 

I   sh  with  a   force  of  five  hundred  men  including  Penn- 
filvania  militia  and  Continental  troops  set  out  from 

l»rt  Pitt  for  the  relief  of  Gibson.  Arriving  at  the 
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T-
 

fort,  he  found  the  siege  abandoned  and  the  savage* 

gone.  The  assailing  tribesmen  had  been  outstarvec 

and  outwitted  by  the  soldiers  of  the  invincible  garrison 

But  the  latter  were  in  a   most  deplorable  condition 

For  nearly  a   week  their  only  subsistence  had  beei 

raw  hides  and  such  roots  as  they  could  find  in  th 

vicinity  after  the  Indians  had  departed. 

Leaving  about  a   hundred  men  of  the  8th  Pennsyl 

vania  Regiment,  under  command  of  Major  Frederic 

Ward  Vernon  and  a   supply  of  food  for  two  month 

General  McIntosh  returned  to  his  quarters  and  a   fe\ 

weeks  later  (April,  1779),  dispirited  and  ill,  retire* 
from  the  command  of  the  western  department.  Mean 

time  (March  5)  Washington,  anticipating  McIntosh 

resignation,  had  chosen  Colonel  Daniel  Brodheacl 

commander  of  the  8th  Pennsylvania  Regiment,  a 
successor  to  McIntosh.  The  selection  was  well  mad( 

It  was  doubtless  on  the  return  of  the  besiegin 

Indians,  under  Bird,  to  Upper  Sandusky,  that  Girt 

made  the  dastardly  attempt  to  waylay  and  murd 

Zeisberger.  Heckewelder  in  his  “   Narrative,  ”   state 

that  Girty,  McKee  and  Elliott,  “   whose  hostility  t 
the  United  States,  appeared  unbounded,  were  coi 

tinually  plotting  the  destruction  of  the  Christia 

Indian  Settlements  as  the  only  means  of  drawing  tf 

Delaware  nation,  and  with  these  the  Christian  Indian 

into  the  War.”  “The  missionaries  in  particular  wei 
as  a   thorn  in  their  eyes,  being  not  only  considered  i\ 

the  cause  that  the  Delawares  would  not  join  in  tl 

War;  but  they  also  mistrusted  these  of  informing  tl 

American  government,  the  part  they  (renegades)  we: 

acting  in  the  Indian  country.  ” 

upi 

lid 
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Heckewelder  then  relates,  as  does  also  De  Schweinitz, 

1   the  “Life  of  Zeisberger, ”   that  Girty,  on  returning 
■om  the  first  siege  of  Fort  Laurens  planned  with 
Dnfederates  to  seize  Zeisberger  as  he  was  journeying 

•om  Litchneau  to  Schoenbrunn.  Zeisberger  had  pro- 
dded part  way  to  a   fork  in  the  trail,  when  Girty  and 

is  band  of  miscreant  Mingoes,  eight  in  number, 

lddenly  stepped  forth.  “That’s  the  man,”  cried 

irty  to  his  Indians,  pointing  at  Zeisberger,  “Do  now 

hat  you  have  been  told  to  do.”  But  at  that  instant 
lere  burst  through  the  bushes  two  or  three  Delawares, 

among  them  the  great  Glikkikan,  ”   who  fearing  for 
le  safety  of  Zeisberger  had  followed  him.  The  con- 

)irators  slunk  away;  Girty  following,  “gnashing  his 

eth  in  impotent  rage.” 
On  the  other  hand  Captain  Bird  when  arriving  at 

pper  Sandusky,  on  his  way  to  Detroit,  learned  that 

number  of  Delawares,  stimulated  by  a   reward  of 

j>ht  hundred  dollars,  offered  by  the  Americans  for 

1   irty’s  scalp,  actually  went  in  pursuit  of  the  renegade, 

Ijit  failed  to  secure  their  victim.  In  reporting  this Captain  Lernoult,  Captain  Bird  wrote,  “I  assure  you, 
!   r,  Girty  is  one  of  the  most  useful,  disinterested  friends 

this  deportment  that  the  government  has.” Before  following  further  the  movements  of  Girty, 

To  was  the  fascinating  villain  in  the  scenes  being 

<   picted,  we  conclude  the  siege  of  Fort  Laurens. 

The  condition  of  this  post  early  engaged  the  atten- 
bn  of  Brodhead.  Scarcely  had  Major  Vernon  taken 

(mmand,  in  place  of  Colonel  Gibson,  when  small 

I   rties  of  Indians  made  their  appearance  and  con- 

t   ued  the  blockade  of  the  impregnable  little  post 
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that  stood  like  a   Gibraltar  in  the  very  midst  of  th 

enemy’s  country.  The  hardships  and  privations  o|| 
the  garrison  were  unabated,  and  well-nigh  unparalleled 

They  could  not  make  foraging  expeditions  and  th 

portage  of  supplies  into  the  stockade  was  attendee 

with  difficulties  and  dangers  that  made  it  nearly  in 

possible.  But  Washington,  who  amid  all  his  othe 

cares  and  responsibilities  never  let  the  Tuscaraws 

outpost  escape  his  attention,  wrote  General  Brodheac 

the  Tuscarawas  post  is  to  be  preserved,  if  under 

full  consideration  of  circumstances,  it  is  judged  a   po: 

of  importance  and  can  be  maintained  without  runnirj 

too  great  a   risk,  and  if  the  troops  in  general  und< 

your  command  are  disposed  in  the  manner  best  cai 

culated  to  cover  and  protect  the  country  on  a   defensr  ' 

plan.”  He  feared  its  abandonment  would  give  ho] 
and  courage  to  the  British  at  Detroit  and  their  Indi; 

allies. 

But  Major  Vernon  could  not  remain  without  relic 

and  he  wrote  Brodhead,  the  last  of  April,  “shoui  j 
you  not  send  us  provisions  in  a   very  short  time,  neco 

sity  will  oblige  us  to  begin  on  some  cowhides  t   ;   j 

Indians  left.”  Such  soldiers  as  could  with  safety  I   < 
exported  to  Fort  Pitt  were  there  sent  until  in  Ms, 

Vernon’s  force  was  reduced  to  twenty-five.  The  kM 
■ 
i 

of  this  month  their  handful  of  men  had  reached  t 

limit  of  endurance;  they  were  living  on  herbs,  salt  a 

cowhides,  when  a   relief  expedition  rescued  them  frcifci 

approaching  death. 

This  relief  came  through  a   company  of  regular, 

commanded  by  Captain  Robert  Beall.  To  avoid  & 

ambuscade  by  the  besieging  savages,  Beall  conduct'd 

i 
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is  party  by  boat  from  Fort  McIntosh  down  the  Ohio 

d   the  deserted  Mingo  town,  at  the  mouth  of  Cross 

>eek;  thence  across  country  to  Fort  Laurens.  The 

slief  party  found  the  post  inmates  in  the  last  stages 

f   starvation,  many  of  them  being  unable,  through 

xhaustion  and  weakness,  to  stand  on  their  feet.  As 

Don  as  possible  the  revived  men  were  removed  to 

ort  Pitt,  and  in  June  the  post  was  relieved  by  seventy- 
ve  fresh  troops  well  supplied  with  provisions,  under 

Dmmand  of  Lieutenant  Colonel  Campbell.  The  siege 

radually  subsided  until,  after  being  once  more  serious- 

r   threatened  by  the  Indian  assailants,  Fort  Laurens, 
irly  in  August  (1779)  was  evacuated;  orders  to  that 

feet  having  been  sent  by  Colonel  Brodhead. 

As  it  was  thought  that  it  might  again  be  occupied, 

olonel  Campbell  was  instructed  not  to  destroy  the 

»rt.  It  was,  however,  never  again  garrisoned.  The 

.11,  sharp-pointed,  picket  walls  and  the  crude  over- 
inging  corner  bastions  stood  undisturbed  for  more 

tan  three  score  years  and  were  described  to  the  present 

riter,  as  he  stood  upon  the  spot  but  two  years  past, 

r   a   venerable  farmer,  born  and  raised  within  a 

one’s  throw  of  the  site  of  the  fort,  remains  of  the 
Doden  bastions  of  which  were  still  in  evidence  during 

e   early  boyhood  of  the  writer’s  informant.  More’s 
e   pity,  if  not  the  shame  that  the  state  or  nation  has 

:   >t  erected  on  the  site,  now  the  prey  of  the  relentless 

pwshare,  a   fitting  monument  to  the  Heroes  of  the 

-   nerican  Revolution,  who  here  died  or  endured  un- 

ld  sufferings  and  sacrifices,  than  which  there  are 

i;  ne  greater  nor  more  patriotic  in  the  annals  of  the 

:   5   *uggle  of  our  forefathers  for  national  independence. 
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Meanwhile  Brodhead  was  keeping  a   sharp  eye  or 

the  movements  of  the  enemy  both  civilized  and  savage 

in  the  western  country.  It  was  in  May,  1780,  thal 

Brodhead,  having  learned  that  an  army  of  BritisI 

and  Indians  was  assembling  on  the  Sandusky  River 

in  preparation  for  an  attack  on  Fort  Pitt,  directec 

Captain  Samuel  Brady  to  go  to  the  Sandusky  and  leai 
the  situation  in  the  Indian  center. 

Samuel  Brady  was  one  of  the  “ dare-devil”  heroe 
of  the  Indian-Revolutionary  times.  He  was  a   Penn 

sylvanian  by  birth  and,  it  is  said,  was  a   playmate  ii 

boyhood  days  of  Simon  Girty.  Brady  was  a   famou 
war  scout  and  Indian  killer.  He  had  an  intense  hatre< 

of  the  redmen  for  they  had  killed  both  his  fathei 

John  Brady,  and  his  brother,  James  Brady.  Samue 

was  a   soldier  in  the  Pennsylvania  lines  and  was  sta 

tioned  (1778)  at  Fort  Pitt,  whence  he  had  gone  forth  i 

several  raids  against  the  tribesmen  on  the  Uppe 

Allegheny.  On  this  particular  errand  (1780)  to  th 

Sandusky,  Brady  was  accompanied  by  two  or  thre 

companions,  all  dressed  and  painted  like  savages. 

It  was  a   long  and  perilous  journey,  for  travel  coul 

only  be  made  by  night,  from  Fort  Pitt  to  the  India 

headquarters  on  the  Sandusky.  Under  cover  of  darl 

ness,  Brady  and  his  comrades  waded  from  the  rive 

banks  on  to  the  island  opposite  the  Indian  town 

Lower  Sandusky  (Fremont),  where  they  lay  in 

thicket  all  the  next  day,  watching  the  Indians  enjoyir 

a   horse-race  near  the  river  bank.  The  town,  sa] 

Hassler,  was  “overcrowded  with  warriors,  and  the  fien 
festivities  indicated  preparations  for  the  warpath, 

though  the  horse-race  could  hardly  have  been  regarde 
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| as  a   warlike  demonstration.  Brady  and  his  compan- 
ions stealthily  hurried  away  from  their  concealment 

pn  the  island,  thereafter  known  as  Brady’s  Island, 
and  experiencing  many  hazardous  encounters,  reached 

Fort  Pitt,  after  an  absence  of  thirty-two  days. 
Perhaps  before  parting  with  Captain  Brady,  whom 

we  may  not  again  meet,  we  should  make  note  of  the 
most  famous  achievement  with  which  his  name  is 

connected.  It  is  his  feat,  popularly  known  as  “   Brady’s 

heap.”  The  exact  date  of  this  exploit  seems  to  have 
escaped  authentic  record,  but  it  must  have  been  in 

:he  year  1780  or  1781,  probably  not  long  after  the 

;pying  journey  just  related.  The  story  of  this  “leap” 
las  been  told  by  many  relaters  and  with  a   great  variety 

)f  embellishments,  perhaps  the  most  “fetching”  one 

is  to  details,  real  or  imaginary,  being  that  in  “Tract 

19,”  of  the  publications  of  the  Western  Reserve  His- 
orical  Society,  published  in  the  year  1875. 

There  is  also  another  interesting  account  in  the 

Draper  Manuscripts.  Both  these  recitals  are  “re- 

collections” of  what  was  told  the  writers  either  by 
3rady  himself  or  one  who  had  it  from  Brady.  In 

)rief,  the  relation  is,  that  Brady,  when  on  a   scouting 

rip  into  the  Sandusky  country,  was  surprised,  over- 
)owered  and  taken  prisoner.  He  was  conducted  to 

he  Sandusky  Wyandot  capital  and  the  tribesmen, 

greatly  rejoicing  over  the  capture  of  an  enemy  so  hated 

nd  feared,  gathered  to  enjoy  his  tortures  and  burning 

t   the  stake.  Girty,  the  old-time  friend  of  Brady,  was 

present  but  turned  a   deaf  ear  to  the  appeals  of  the 

lelpless  prisoner.  All  preparations  were  made  for  the 

xecution,  the  prisoner  was  tied  to  the  stake  and  the 
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fires  lighted,  when  Brady,  who  was  possessed  of  unusual 

physical  powers,  suddenly  snapped  the  withes  that 

bound  his  arms  and  leaping  forth  seized  a   squaw  by 

the  head  and  shoulders  and  hurled  her  on  the  burning 

fagots.  In  the  midst  of  the  turmoil  thus  created,  he 

dashed  away,  getting  a   good  start  of  his  pursuers, 

as  he  was  an  athlete  with  marvelous  agility  and  powers 

of  endurance;  he  was  moreover  intimately  versed  in 

all  the  arts  of  frontier  woodcraft  and  in  the  practices; 
of  the  redmen. 

The  chase  continued,  so  runs  the  story  in  64 Tract 

29,”  a   distance  of  a   hundred  miles,  until,  after  man 
exciting  incidents,  the  Cuyahoga  River  was  reached 

at  the  narrow  gorge,  in  the  now  town  of  Ken 

(Portage  County)  and  the  Indians  close  on  his  trad 

behind;  he  had  not  a   moment  to  spare  and  as  it  wa 

life  or  death  with  him,  he  made  the  famous  Brady 

leap  across  the  Cuyahoga  River.  The  gorge  here 

say  the  Draper  Manuscripts,  was  very  narrow,  som 

twenty-two  feet  from  one  precipitous  bank  to  the  other 
He  landed  on  the  eastern  bank,  catching  himself  ii 

the  bushes  some  five  feet  from  the  top.  Pulling  him 

self  together  and  regaining  the  bank  level,  he  “kep 

on  rapidly  to  the  beautiful  pond  or  lake”  which  ha 
ever  since  borne  his  name,  just  two  miles  from  th 

narrows  where  he  made  his  memorable  leap.  Hi 

enemies  still  pursuing  him  44 with  the  ferocity  of  bloo 

hounds,”  for  they  had  crossed  at  a   ford  close  b) 

Brady  plunged  into  the  pond  and  44  hid  himself  unde 
a   large  chestnut  tree  which  had  fallen  into  the  water. 

The  pond  lilies  and  flags  screened  him,  as  he  lay  sul 

merged,  all  but  his  head,  which  was  hidden  by  th 
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•ranches  of  the  overhanging  tree,  while  his  pursuers 

oncluding  he  was  drowned  “gave  up  the  fruitless 

hase  and  returned.” 

A   visit,  to-day,  to  the  scene  of  Brady’s  leap  is  disap- 
ointing  as  there  are  now  no  indications  of  the  natural 

onditions  prevailing  at  the  time  of  the  famous  achieve- 

ment.   The  Cuyahoga  River  flows  through  the  center  of 

pe  town  of  Kent.  At  the  exact  spot  designated,  the 

ver,  in  early  days,  found  its  narrowest  passage,  some 

venty-two  feet  in  width.  The  banks  on  both  sides  were 

len  of  a   perpendicular  height  of  twenty-five  or  more  feet, 
ime  and  the  encroachments  of  civilization  have  leveled 

Dwn  these  banks  until  they  now  rise  only  a   few  feet 

Dove  the  river’s  surface;  moreover  the  rocky  formation 

-formerly  the  base  of  the  earthen  banks  —   flanking 

ich  side  the  river  channel  has  been  worn  away  by  the 

ater’s  current  and  the  blasting  by  engineers  to  facili- 

te  the  river  transportation,  until  the  stream  is  to-day 

nee  the  width  it  was  when  Brady  cleared  the  chasm 
a   bound. 

I   Other  exploits  equally  unusual  and  herculean  are 
lated  of  Samuel  Brady,  who,  in  spite  of  the  many 

nazing,  and  no  doubt  partly  true,  tales  accredited  to 

m,  was  a   brave  and  patriotic  figure  in  those  days  of 

Iventure  and  peril. 

From  such  romantic  incidents,  we  return  to  the 

•lot  ality  of  our  history. 
* 
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IT  was  the  last  of  May  (1779) —   some  authorities, especially  Withers,  erroneously  state  July — that 
Colonel  John  Bowman,  of  Harrodsburg,  he,  who 

had  sent  out  the  spying  embassy  under  Kenton, 

he  previous  autumn,  perfected  his  plans  for  a   raid 

ipon  the  Shawnee  center  of  Chillicothe,  or  Oldtown 

>n  the  Little  Miami,  about  three  miles  above  Xenia, 

bowman  decided  “to  command  in  person  this  first 
egular  enterprise  to  attack,  in  force,  the  Indians 

•eyond  the  Ohio,  ever  planned  in  Kentucky.  ”   Accord- 
ngly  the  most  formidable  force  that  had  up  to  that 
ime  been  assembled  for  an  Ohio  raid  rendezvoused  at 

be  mouth  of  the  Licking,  site  of  Covington,  Ky.  The 

ttle  army  numbered  nearly  three  hundred  men, 

ivided  into  companies  under  captains  Benjamin 

,ogan,  Silas  Harlan,  Levi  Todd,  John  Holder,  and 
/illiam  Harrod. 

These  frontier  fighters  were  volunteers  not  only  from 

.entucky,  but  the  Ohio  Valley  as  far  up  as  Redstone, 

n   the  Monongahela.  With  George  Clark  and  William 

/hitley  as  pilots  and  George  M.  Bedinger  as  adjutant 

id  quartermaster,  the  cavalcade,  for  they  were 

ounted,  crossed  the  Ohio  and  pushed  rapidly  on  to 

Id  Chillicothe — called  in  the  Draper  Manuscripts  Little 
hillicothe,  located  on  the  Little  Miami,  three  miles 

)rth  of  the  present  town  of  Xenia — within  a   mile  of 
hich  they  arrived  in  the  early  night,  without  having 

-   armed  the  enemy.  It  was  planned  that  Captain  Logan 

1   th  one-half  the  force  should  turn  to  the  left  and  march 

]   If  way  around  the  town,  while  Colonel  Bowman  com- 

unding  the  remainder  should  take  the  right;  both 

<   lumns  were  thus  in  silence  and  darkness,  to  encircle 
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the  town.  Logan  executed  his  orders  and  concealing  hi 

men  in  the  high  grass,  awaited  the  arrival  of  Bowman 

Daylight  appeared,  but  Bowman  did  not.  For  som 

unexplained  cause  the  commander-in-chief  fell  short 

of  his  appointment. 

The  Shawnee  warriors,  one  hundred  strong,  unde 

their  chiefs,  Black  Fish,  Black  Hoof  and  Black  Beard 

rallied  to  the  council-house,  as  a   fortress,  while  th 
two  hundred  squaws  and  children  were  hurried  int 

the  woods  along  a   pathway  not  occupied  by  th( 

assailants.  Logan  ordered  his  men  to  occupy  th( 

deserted  huts,  which  they  did  under  fire  from  th< 

Indian  stronghold.  The  situation  determined  Logai 

to  move  directly  to  the  attack  of  the  cabin,  in  whic 

the  warriors  had  taken  refuge,  and  ordering  his  mei 

to  advance,  he  was  already  marching  on  the  foe,  whei 

he  was  overtaken  by  an  order  from  Colonel  Bowma 

to  retreat.  It  is  supposed  this  order  of  retreat  wa 

given  because  a   false  report  was  started  among  th 

soldiers  that  Simon  Girty  and  a   hundred  Shawneei 

from  the  Indian  village  of  Piqua,  twelve  miles  distani 

were  marching  to  the  relief  of  Black  Fish. 

There  was  nothing  for  Logan  to  do  but  obey  th 

orders  of  his  superior,  and  retreat  was  directed.  1 

disorganized  the  soldiers,  who,  after  setting  fire  t 

the  thirty  or  more  huts  as  they  fled,  scattered  to  th 

woods,  while  the  Indians  sallied  forth  to  give  battl 

A   curious  incident  occuring  in  the  retreat  of  tl 

Kentuckians  during  this  encounter,  is  related  in  tl 

Draper  Manuscripts.  In  the  advance  of  Bowman 

men  into  the  village,  a   party  of  the  front  colum.jjj. ̂  
under  heavy  fire  from  the  Indians,  took  refuge  in  si 

p 
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mpty  cabin.  When  the  order  to  retreat  came  they 

ere  “put  to  it”  as  to  how  they  could  leave  the  cabin 
ad  retire  without  receiving  the  volleys  of  the  Indians 

ow  pressing  upon  their  place  of  refuge.  Finally, 

iys  Draper’s  account, — written  from  letters  and 
iaries  of  those  who  participated  in  the  event — a   novel 
lan  was  hit  upon;  each  one  provided  himself  with  a 

lank  torn  off  the  door  or  floor  of  the  cabin,  and  holding 

upon  his  back  slantingly  so  as  to  protect  his  body 

om  the  bullets  of  the  savages,  started  on  the  run. 

his  “movable  back  work — rather  than  breastwork — 

roved  amply  sufficient  to  save  the  lives  of  all.” 
Captains  Logan  and  Harrod  succeeded  in  partially 

Hying  the  retreating  men  and  in  charging  the  pur- 

ling savages,  who  boldly  returned  the  enemy’s  fire 
itil  they  saw  their  chief  Black  Fish  fall,  mortally 

Dunded,  when  the  savages  in  turn  took  to  flight.  It 

as — say  the  Draper  Manuscripts — in  a   well-planned 
targe  of  Major  Bedinger  with  a   party  of  forty  or 

ty  of  the  backwoods  soldiers,  (mostly  Mononga- 

lians)  of  the  expedition,  that  Black  Fish  was  mortally 

funded;  the  Indians  were  seen  to  hurriedly  place 

i   eir  fallen  chief  upon  a   horse,  with  a   faithful  warrior 

lounted  behind  him,  and  then  flee  toward  their  town. 
was  observed  that  Black  Fish  was  dressed  in  a 

1   autiful  white  shirt  richly  trimmed  with  brooches 

id  other  silver  ornaments;  and  from  white  prisoners 

no  subsequently  escaped  or  were  liberated,  it  was 

icertained  that  the  brave  Shawnee  chief  expired  as 
1   entered  the  town. 

J   Little  Chillicothe  was  for  the  most  part  destroyed 

1   fire  and  the  adjacent  crops  were  laid  waste.  The 
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frontiersmen,  having  had  nine  men  killed  and  a   fev 

wounded,  returned  to  the  Ohio  with  one  hundred  anc 

sixty-three  Indian  ponies  and  other  plunder,  chief!) 

silver  ornaments  and  clothing,  amounting  in  all  to  th 

value  of  $160,000,  Continental  money,  “each  ma 
getting  goods  or  horses  to  the  amount  of  about  $500, 

in  the  same  paper  valuation.  The  method  of  distri 

bution  was  as  follows :   The  plunder  was  sold  at  auctio 

and  any  soldier  of  the  expedition  could  bid  in  th 

property  to  the  amount  of  $500.  If  the  bidder  bougf 

in  excess  of  that,  he  paid  the  difference  in  money, 

less,  he  was  entitled,  from  the  general  surplus,  a 

amount  in  money  to  make  good  his  share. 

It  was  an  inglorious  victory,  though  “the  newspape 
of  the  day  regarded  the  expedition  as  an  undoubt 

success.”  One  of  the  best  summaries  of  Bowmai 

campaign  is  that  recently  published  by  Danske  Da 

ridge  in  the  life  of  George  Michael  Bedinger.  Drap 

closes  his  recital  of  the  expedition  by  saying:  “Th 

ended  the  celebrated  campaign  of  1779 — a   campai 

it  should  be  remarked,  the  real  history  of  which  hi 

been  but  imperfectly  understood.  Made  at  so  ear'  1 
a   day,  and  not  as  fortunate  in  its  results  as  some  f   : 

r 

* 

its  successors,  it  is  not  strange  that  its  true  characi 

should  have  been  misconstrued  or  undesignedly  m 

represented.  Bowman,  when  too  late  to  retrieve  .1 

error,  seems  to  have  felt  keenly  the  miscarriage  f 

the  expedition,  and  to  have  given  himself  up  to  <- 

spondency  and  inaction.  Nor  is  it  at  all  certain,  tit 

he  should  be  made  the  scapegoat  for  the  failure  >f 

the  enterprise.  The  numbers  engaged  were  am  yl . 

sufficient,  the  officers  confessedly  brave  and  ex> 
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enced;  and  withal,  they  reached  the  Indian  town 

itirely  undiscovered;  they  evidently  found  less  than 

s   full  quota  of  warriors  there,  and  the  plan  of  attack 

:emed  proper  and  judicious.  And  notwithstanding 

1   these  auspicious  circumstances,  superadded  to  their 

eat  superiority  of  numbers,  the  campaign  was  well- 

gh  a   total  failure. 

Many  of  the  participants  in  this  campaign  had  been 

ildiers  in  the  Revolution  and  were  fresh  from  the 

( mps  and  battle  fields  of  the  East,  having  fought  in 

i   e   early  encounters  of  the  colonists  against  the  British; 

J’ajor  Bedinger,  for  instance,  had  been  with  Dunmore 
i   the  Ohio  campaign  and  had  taken  part  in  the  siege 

I   Boston. Logan  was  easily  the  hero  of  the  expedition  while 

vdonel  John  Bowman,  who  was  a   brother  of  Joseph 

bwman,  one  of  the  chief  captains  under  George  Rogers 

,   (ark  in  the  Illinois  conquest,  barely  escaped  damage 

his  otherwise  deserved  reputation  for  sagacity  and 

avery  in  Indian  warfare. 

This  expedition  of  Bowman,  however,  while  it  left 

j   fierce  forest  warriors  in  no  “   degree  daunted  or 

cppled,  ”   struck  consternation  throughout  the  tribes 
ad  impressed  the  British  authorities  with  the  reali- 

z   ion  that  the  backwoodsmen  of  Kentucky  were  a 

f(  of  no  trivial  consideration.  Indeed  this  raid  upon 

Shawnee  center  on  the  Little  Miami,  was  not 

whout  its  immediate  effect,  for  it  checked,  in  another 

qirter,  the  movements  of  the  British  and  Indians. 

C stain  Henry  Bird,  following  the  abandonment  of 

1   siege  of  Fort  Laurens,  had  collected  two  hundred 

iiiians  at  the  Mingo  town  and  was  about  to  start 
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for  an  invasion  of  the  Kentucky  border  when  news  o 

Bowman’s  strike  at  Chillicothe  reached  Bird’s  cam 

Quickly  Bird’s  Indian  force  dissolved  in  a   panic,  man 
hastening  to  defend  their  towns,  now  exposed,  as  the 

supposed  to  the  Kentuckians;  some  of  the  alarme 

tribesmen  even  advised  making  peace  with  the  Amer 

cans. 

The  solicitude  prevailing  at  Detroit  is  revealed 

a   letter  of  July  3,  1779,  just  after  Bowman’s  exploi 
written  by  Captain  D.  Brehm  to  General  Haldiman 

in  which  he  reported  that  Captain  Alexander  McKe 

“of  the  Indians  and  commissary  of  the  same,”  arrive 

here  the  3d  instant  and  says  “that  the  Chanes  [Sha\ 
nees],  Delawares  and  Sandusky  Indians  are  so  muc 

frightened  by  the  encroachment  of  the  Rebells  that  1 

doubts  of  their  resisting  them  much  longer,  if  no  troo 

be  sent  to  co-operate  with  them,”  saying  al 
that  their  pretended  Fathers  [British]  only  ma 

a   cat’s  paw  of  them,  by  setting  them  on  when  th 
can  spare  no  men  to  support  them;  that  they  will  a 

must  drop  them  and  consequently  must  fall  a   sacrif 

if  they  do  not  in  time  take  their  [American’s]  advil 

and  keep  neutral.  And  Brehm  adds:  “All  meas 
are  taken  to  persuade  the  Indians  to  the  contrary,  al 

encourage  them  to  fight,  but  they  believe  not  furtlr 

than  they  can  see  and  fear  acts  stronger  on  them  tbjnj 

all  the  arguments  that  can  be  made  use  of  to  convire 

them  of  the  enemy’s  ill  designs  against  their  lai  s 
and  so  forth;  they  seeing  themselves  unable  to  disloc e 

the  enemy  out  of  the  forts  in  and  near  their  coun  y 

and  the  enemy’s  daily  threats  and  cunning  disperses 

among  them.” 
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The  Girtys  at  this  period,  it  is  seen,  were  the  prime 

sprits  in  all  Indian  activities.  James  and  George, 

iswell  as  Simon,  were  much  at  Detroit,  plotting  mis- 

:bf  with  Lernoult  and  subsequently  with  Major 

i   nt  Schuyler  de  Peyster,  a   Knickerbocker  Tory  from 

;w  York,  placed  in  charge  of  Detroit  in  October  by 

zf  Canadian  general,  Frederick  Haldimand.  The 

be  Girtys,  together  with  McKee  and  Elliott,  appear 

xjstantly  here  and  there,  directing  or  guiding  the 

n*auding  excursions  of  the  Ohio  Indians. 

,   sample  of  these  “ renegade”  activities  is  a   counter- 

vnt  to  Bowman’s  raid,  enacted  in  early  October 
179),  in  which  month  David  Rogers,  returning  from 

;.fjv  Orleans  where  he  had  been  sent  by  the  Virginians 

3   supplies,  moored  his  two  keel-boats,  carrying 
e   ;nty  men,  on  the  Kentucky  side  about  three  miles 

e>w  the  Little  Miami.  His  temporary  camp  was 

uienly  attacked  by  a   band  of  Shawnees,  Mingoes, 

ibndots  and  a   few  Delawares,  under  the  leadership 

4 Simon  Girty,  George  Girty  and  Matthew  Elliott, 
1   had  reached  the  Ohio  the  evening  prior  to  the 
rival  of  Rogers,  and  apprised  of  his  approach  had 

rfcsed  the  river  and  prepared  for  his  arrival.  It  was 

merciless  and  prodigious  slaughter,  for  forty- two  or 

k   e   of  the  party,  including  Rogers  himself,  were 

M   down  and  tomahawked  in  cold  blood.  The  spoil 

n«ie  victors  was  “   forty  bales  of  dry  goods,  a   quantity 

t   im  and  fusees,  together  with  a   chest  of  hard  specie.  ” 
itiese  scenes  of  blood  and  murder  had  however 

oJj’  mixture  of  comedy,  grim  colored  though  it  may 
,eif  -   been.  Among  the  wounded  in  Rogers’  force 

a   Captain  Robert  Benham,  who  was  shot  through 
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both  hips,  the  bones  being  shattered.  Falling  to 

ground  he  managed  to  drag  himself  under  the  branch 

of  a   recently  fallen  tree  and  lay  concealed  and  ha 

famished  until  the  second  day,  when  the  Girty  ba 

had  completed  their  looting  and  returned  across  t 

Ohio.  Perceiving  a   raccoon  descending  a   nearby  trj 

he  shot  it  hoping  to  devise  some  means  of  securi 

it  and  make  a   meal.  The  crack  of  his  rifle  was 

sponded  to  by  the  cry  of  a   human  voice,  eviden 

produced  by  one  not  far  off.  Halloos  followed  ah: 

the  helpless  Benham  was  approached  by  a   Kentucky 

member  of  Rogers’  party.  This  Kentuckian  had  a) 
escaped  from  the  encounter  but  with  both  arms  brolii 

by  rifle  balls  of  the  enemy.  His  hands  were  there 

useless.  Collins  in  his  “ History  of  Kentucky”  gi 
the  entertaining  details  of  the  mutual  and  combi 

efforts  of  these  two  disabled  men  to  assist  one  anotlr, 

Benham  having  the  perfect  use  of  his  arms,  col 

load  his  gun  and  kill  the  game  with  great  readins, 

while  his  armless  friend,  whose  name  seems  lost4 

itl 

fame,  could  kick  the  game  to  the  spot  where  sat  le 

“dislegged”  shooter,  who  was  able  to  dress  the  gae 
•   •   •   1 1 S   ' and  roast  the  same  before  burning  sticks  which 

“disarmed”  assistant  would  kick  within  reach  offl 

companion,  who  in  turn  fed  the  walking  membeioi 

this  strange  firm.  Benham  dressed  his  comrajl 

wounds  with  strips  of  their  torn-up  shirts.  Tf 

method  of  getting  water  should  not  pass  unrecord 

Benham  took  his  own  hat  and  placed  the  rim  betvei 

the  teeth  of  his  companion,  who  then  waded  into 

Licking  Creek  up  to  his  neck,  dipped  the  hat 

the  water  by  sinking  his  head;  the  receptacle 

Id 

it,f( 
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i   vd  was  borne  to  Benham  who  could  do  the  rest. 

I   ey  thus  lived  several  weeks,  their  wounds  meantime 

jI  vly  healing,  until  late  in  November  they  were  able 

cc  hail  a   boat  passing  down  the  Ohio  which  bore  them 

cc  Louisville,  where  after  a   few  weeks  of  nursing  they 

rove  red  from  their  injuries,  and  their  strange  ad- 

yuture  became  one  of  the  most  unique  stories  of 

ntier  life. 

fhe  early  part  of  the  year  1780  was  a   disastrous 

ill  depressing  one  for  the  colonists  in  the  American 

R volution,  especially  on  the  seaboard.  While  matters 

at re  progressing  slowly  in  the  north,  Sir  Henry  Clinton, 

n   the  south,  invested  Charleston,  which  in  April 

irendered  to  the  British  besiegers.  Savannah  was 

i   ady  in  the  possession  of  the  enemy  and  thus 

Trgia  and  South  Carolina  seemed  lost  to  the  Ameri- 

as.  This  gave  renewed  courage  to  the  British 

ihorities  at  Detroit  and  their  agents  who  were  tire- 

el  in  their  efforts  to  keep  the  Indians  on  the  warpath, 

if  the  American  affairs  were  going  badly  in  the 

v   England  and  southern  states,  the  frontiersmen 

^Pennsylvania,  Virginia  and  Kentucky  were  sturdily 

t   ggling  in  the  cause  of  their  country  amid  the 

ic'ors  of  savage  warfare  on  the  obscure  battlefields 
f   he  Ohio  interior: 

“Those  western  pioneers  an  impulse  felt, 
Which  their  less  hardy  sons  scarce  comprehend : 

Alone,  in  Nature’s  wildest  scenes  they  dwelt. 
And  fought  with  deadly  strife  for  every  inch  of  ground.  ” 

s   early  as  the  middle  of  March  the  Indians  began 

h   r   customary  depredations.  A   band  of  Munseys, 

Oelaware  clan  living  to  the  westward,”  under  their 

-c  er,  Washnash,  attacked  near  the  mouth  of  Captina 
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Creek,  a   party  of  whites  descending  the  Ohio  in  fla 

boats.  Many  men  were  killed,  two  of  the  boa 

captured  and  twenty  or  thirty  prisoners  taken,  amor 

whom  was  the  family,  a   wife  and  seven  children, 

Peter  Malott,  who  himself  being  in  another  bo 

escaped.  One  of  the  captured  children  of  Malott  w 

a   handsome  daughter,  then  in  her  teens,  named  Cat 

erine,  who  shortly  thereafter  became  the  wife  of  Sim .   j 

Girty.  The  Indian  band  which  made  this  foray  at 

capture  on  their  way  home,  on  the  Walhondirl 

stopped  at  the  Muskingum  quarters  of  the  Delaware 

from  which  place  the  news  of  the  Munsey  raid  vs 

borne  to  Zeisberger,  who  at  once  reported  it  to  Colop 

Brodhead  at  Fort  Pitt,  an  incident  illustrating 

constant  friendliness  of  the  Moravians  for  the  Am<^ 

cans. 

About  this  time  (March)  we  find  the  three  Girtl 

Simon,  George  and  James,  at  Detroit,  called  thit:r 

by  de  Peyster  to  counsel  over  the  plans  of  furti 

border  depredations.  A   general  campaign  of  offem' 
operations  was  contemplated.  The  tide  of  emigrali 

from  the  East,  down  the  Ohio,  was  constantly  inert 

ing.  Flatboats,  containing  families  seeking  hometii) 

the  Kentucky  region,  were  often  passing  to  the  t<l 

of  Louisville,  which  had  been  originally  founded  )y 

George  Rogers  Clark  and  was  later  established  by 

act  of  the  Virginia  Legislature  and  which  had  ift 

some  thirty  cabins  and  nearly  two  hundred  inhabits ^ 

one  of  whom  was  the  Western  hero,  George  Ro 

Clark,  who  by  direction  of  Thomas  Jefferson,  Gove 

of  Virginia,  had  erected  a   fort  on  the  east  side  of  h 

Mississippi  River,  five  miles  below  the  mouth  ofh 

IS,’  D33 
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)hio,  upon  the  lands  of  the  Chickasaws  and  Choctaws; 

It  was  named  Fort  Jefferson  and  marked  the  military 

dvance  of  the  Virginians  to  the  Father  of  Waters. 

iOuisville  was  protected  by  two  block  houses  and  a 

tockade,  called  Fort  Slaughter,  after  the  colonel  of 

hat  name,  who  with  one  hundred  and  fifty  Virginia 

roops  garrisoned  the  growing  station. 
Louisville  was  an  irritation  to  the  British  officers 

t   Detroit;  its  growing  strength  was  a   menace  to  the 

ndians.  Louisville,  like  Carthage  of  old,  must  be 

estroyed.  De  Peyster  organized  an  expedition  to 

xecute  the  decision  to  efface  or  capture  Louisville, 

or  this  purpose  Captain  Henry  Bird  was  selected  as 

Dmmander  with  the  three  Girtys  as  guides  and  scouts. 

)ne  hundred  and  fifty  Canadians  and  British  soldiers 

rere  rendezvoused  at  Detroit,  joined  by  one  hundred 

ndians,  “ from  the  Upper  Lakes.  ”   Carrying  two  small 
annon,  they  proceeded  in  boats,  by  way  of  the  Maumee 

ortage  and  the  Miami,  to  the  mouth  of  the  latter, 

hence  they  were  to  drop  down  the  river  to  Louisville, 

.rriving  at  the  Great  Miami,  near  the  confluence  of 

oramie’s  Creek,  the  Detroit  force  was  augmented 
y   no  less  than  three — some  say  six — hundred  Ohio 

idians — mostly  Shawnees — under  the  guidance  of 
aptain  Alexander  McKee. 

Before  leaving  Detroit  or  any  rate  by  the  time 

ley  reached  the  Miami,  knowledge  of  the  strength 

the  Louisville  station  and  its  great  distance  from 

ly  base  of  supplies  or  source  of  reenforcement, 

lused  Colonel  Bird  and  his  renegade  and  Indian  allies, 

>   change  the  destination  of  the  campaign;  and  instead 

going  down  the  Ohio,  they  ascended  the  river  to 
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the  Licking  up  which  they  proceeded  to  its  forks, 
where  the  men  and  munitions  of  war  were  landed. 

Withers  tells  the  sequel:  Not  far  from  the  place  o 

debarkation  was  Ruddell’s  Station,  so  called  in  honor 
of  its  first  settler,  Captain  Isaac  Ruddell — often 

spelled  Ruddle — whose  wife  Elizabeth  was  sister  to 
the  brothers  Joseph  and  John  Bowman. 

The  “ station”  comprised  at  this  time  several  fam- 
ilies and  many  adventurers  and  was  protected,  like 

all  such  settlements,  by  a   blockhouse;  in  this  case 

bearing  the  impressive  name  “Fort  Liberty.”  Thi; 
station,  McKee  with  two  hundred  of  the  Indians  ... 

stealthily  approached  and  surrounded  almost  befor< 

the  settlers  were  aware  that  the  enemy  were  in  th< 

Kentucky  country.  Next  day  Bird  and  the  remainde 
of  his  force  reached  the  station  and  after  a   few  shot 

at  the  stockade,  Simon  Girty  was  sent  forward  wit  / 

a   flag  of  truce,  demanding  the  immediate  surrender  o 

the  place.  Captain  Ruddell  agreed  upon  the  conditio] 

that  the  prisoners  should  be  protected  by  the  Britis. 
soldiers  and  not  suffered  to  be  mistreated  or  held  b 

the  Indians.  This  condition  was  accepted  by  Birc 

But  upon  the  opening  of  the  gates  of  the  stockade  i 

which  were  huddled  the  terror-stricken  families,  th 

savages  rushed  in  “tore  the  poor  children  from  thei 

mothers’  breasts,  killed  and  wounded  many,  ”   and  mad 
captive  the  survivors,  nearly  three  hundred  in  numbe 

Strange  to  relate,  the  next  day,  the  Ohio  Indians- 

but  not  the  Lake  Indians — released  their  prisoner  fej 
to  Captain  Bird.  All  the  cattle  at  the  post  were  she 

down  by  the  uncontrollable  savages,  an  act  whic 

“in  the  end  proved  a   serious  affair.”  After  Ruddell 
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itation  had  been  completely  sacked  and  the  prisoners 

lisposed  of,  the  Indians  clamored  to  be  led  against 

dartin’s  Station,  then  only  five  miles  distant.  Bird 
efused  to  conduct  them  to  further  depredations 

nless  they  promised  the  prisoners  should  be  under 

is  safeguard.  To  this  the  Indians,  for  a   time  dissent- 

ig,  finally  agreed,  with  the  concession  from  Bird  that 

he  plunder  should  be  theirs.  Martin’s  Station  was 
asily  encircled  and  it  capitulated  on  the  first  summons, 

nd  the  prisoners  and  plunder  divided  as  agreed. 

The  facility  with  which  these  conquests  were  made 

xcited  the  Indian  thirst  for  more  and  they  urged  an 

dvance  upon  Lexington  and  Bryant’s  Station.  But 
>ird  realized  he  could  not  progress  further,  on  the 

ontrary  must  hasten  back,  as  his  supplies  were  nearly 

xhausted  and  the  infuriated  savages  had  wantonly 

illed  all  the  cattle  they  might  have  kept  and  eaten, 

he  prisoners,  between  three  and  four  hundred,  were 

1   danger  of  starving  and  besides  Captain  Bird  reported 

le  rains  were  heavy  and  “ rotted”  his  “peoples’  feet.” 

Ife  moved  rapidly  as  possible  back  to  the  Ohio,  taking is  Canadian  soldiers  in  the  boats,  while  the  Indians 

ith  the  prisoners  heavily  laden  with  the  plunder 

larched  across  the  country.  The  captives,  whose 

rength  gave  out  in  bearing  the  burdens  on  the  way, 

ere,  after  the  Indian  custom,  tomahawked  and  then 

-spoiled  and  thrown  by  the  trail  side.  Having  at- 

tined  the  Ohio  side,  the  Indians  dispersed  to  their 

llages,  except  the  Lake  Indians  who  with  Bird  and 

te  troops  returned  as  they  came  by  the  Miami  and 

ie  Maumee,  reaching  Detroit,  August  4th,  1780. 
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This  expedition  was  regarded  by  de  Peyster  as  a 

master  stroke  and  so  far  as  actual  results  were  con- 

cerned it  was  undoubtedly  the  most  successful  against 

the  Kentucky  settlements  of  any  during  the  Revolution; 

and  but  for  the  “ intractability”  of  the  Indian  allies 
still  greater  results  might  have  been  accomplished; 

but  regarded  from  the  point  of  its  original  purpose, 

the  expedition  was  of  course  a   signal  failure. 

In  the  expedition  of  Bird  to  the  Kentucky  settle- 

ments, we  catch  a   glimpse,  probably  the  last,  recorded 

in  history,  before  his  death,  of  Logan,  the  famous 

Mingo  chief.  His  biographer  Brantz  Mayer,  gives  the 

Draper  Manuscripts  as  authority  for  the  knowledge 

that  Logan  accompanied  Bird,  “appearing  again  tc 
have  cast  aside  his  humanity,  and  to  have  engaged 

in  the  savage  employment  of  scalping  or  at  least  oi 

taking  prisoners.”  Mayer  continues:  “Our  Indiar 
hero  must  have  been  well  nigh  fifty-five  years  of  age 
and  it  may  be  supposed  that  so  relentless  and  fitfu 

a   life  of  natural  impetuosity  and  artificial  stimulus 

was  drawing  near  its  close.  But  his  checkered  caree: 

of  crime,  passion  and  occasional  humanity,  with  al 

its  finer  features  obliterated  by  the  habitual  use  o 

intoxicating  drinks,  was  doomed  to  end  tragically.’ 
Logan,  the  last  few  years  of  his  life,  had  been  mor< 

relentless  and  roving  than  usual.  He  had  lived  oi 

the  Scioto,  at  the  mouth  of  the  Olentangy;  at  Pluggy’. 
Town  (Delaware) ;   thence  moved  to  the  headwaters  o 

the  Mad  River  and  later  “pitched  his  tent”  in  the  neigh 
borhood  of  Detroit.  While  at  the  last  residence 

according  to  the  Draper  Manuscripts,  shortly  afte 

the  return  of  Bird’s  force  from  the  Kentucky  foray 
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Logan  attended  an  Indian  council  at  Detroit,  and 

became  wildly  drunk,  during  which  state  “he  pros- 
trated his  wife  by  a   sudden  blow  and  she  fell,  apparently 

dead.”  Fearing  the  penalty  for  the  supposed  murder, 

he  fled,  and  while  traveling  alone  and  “still  confused 

by  liquor  and  fear  of  vengeance,”  he  was  overtaken 
in  the  forest  between  Detroit  and  Sandusky,  by  a 

band  of  Indians,  among  whom  was  Todkahdohs, 

called  “The  Searcher,”  cousin  or  nephew  to  Logan. 
Bewildered  and  infuriated  with  liquor,  the  Mingo  chief, 

exclaimed  that  “the  whole  party  should  fall  beneath 

his  weapon.”  Fearing  for  the  party,  Todkahdohs 

leaped  from  his  horse,  “leveled  a   shot-gun  within  a 

few  feet  of  the  savage  and  killed  him  on  the  spot.” 

Logan’s  second  or  Shawnee  wife  survived  the  chief. 
Many  versions  of  the  death  of  Logan  have  appeared 

in  print,  differing  widely  from  each  other,  but  the 

above,  abbreviated  from  Draper,  is  doubtless  the  most 

authentic,  as  Mr.  Draper  received  the  statement  from 

Dahganondo,  also  known  as  Captain  Decker,  as  it  was 

related  to  Dahganondo  by  the  selfsame  Todkahdohs; 

and  Dahganondo,  says  Mr.  Draper,  “was  a   venerable 
Seneca  Indian  and  the  best  Indian  chronicler  I   have 

met  with.  His  narratives  are  generally  sustained  by 

other  evidence  and  never  seem  confused  or  improb- 

able. ”   Dahganondo  personally  knew  Logan,  the  Min- 
go chief.  Todkahdohs,  mentioned  above,  better  known 

as  Captain  Logan,  left  children,  two  of  whom  Draper 
also  met  and  interviewed. 

Thus  Logan,  perhaps  one  of  the  best  known  of  all 

Ohio’s  great  chiefs,  met  with  a   tragic  and  ignoble  end, 

“four  miles  south  of  Brown’s  Town,  on  the  bank  of 
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a   small  creek  upon  the  trail  leading  to  Sandusky  and 

his  town  on  the  Scioto.”  The  place  of  his  burial  is 
not  known,  though  it  is  frequently  stated  the  Wyandots 

buried  him  near  their  Sandusky  town.  But  his  fame 

will  not  perish  while  the  memory  of  his  race  is  the 

heritage  of  the  white  man’s  literature.  He  had  the 
traits  of  a   lofty  character,  and  Benjamin  Sharp  in 

the  “ American  Pioneer”  says:  “My  brother-in-law 
Captain  John  Dunkin,  an  intelligent  man,  had  several 

conversations  with  him  on  the  trip,  his  last  journey. 

He  said  Logan  spoke  both  English  and  French  and 

he  told  Captain  Dunkin  that  he  knew  he  had  two 

souls,  the  one  good  and  the  other  bad;  when  the  good 

soul  had  the  ascendant,  he  was  kind  and  humane;  and 

when  the  bad  soul  ruled,  he  was  perfectly  savage, 

and  delighted  in  nothing  but  blood  and  carnage.” 
Many  are  the  poetical  tributes  to  the  Mingo  hero 

of  which  that  of  Joseph  D.  Canning  was  written  as  a 
-rvTY'k-nr'ic^ri  pnitonn  Tr^r  a   T   nrro n   mnmi m pnt  axt n   1   r*  n   ixrac proposed  epitaph  for  a   Logan  monument,  which  was 
never  erected : 

“Logan!  to  thy  memory  here, 
White  men  do  this  tablet  rear; 

On  its  front  we  grave  thy  name — 
In  our  hearts  shall  live  thy  fame. 

While  Niagara’s  thunders  roar; 
Or  Erie’s  surges  lash  the  shore 
While  onward  broad  Ohio  glides, 
And  seaward  roll  her  Indian  tides, 

So  long  their  memory,  who  did  give 
These  floods  their  sounding  names,  shall  live. 
While  time,  in  kindness,  buries  low 

The  gory  axe  and  warrior’s  bow, 
0,  Justice!  faithful  to  thy  trust, 

Record  the  virtues  of  the  just!” 

Jl 
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On  learning  of  Colonel  Bird’s  raid  up  the  Licking 
River  and  the  terrible  blow  it  dealt  the  two  Kentucky 

settlements,  George  Rogers  Clark,  then  at  Fort  Jeffer- 
son, entered  at  once  upon  a   retaliatory  expedition  to 

the  Ohio  Shawnee  towns  on  the  Miami  and  Mad  rivers. 

With  two  companies  of  his  Fort  Jefferson  force,  he 

marched  through  the  dense  wilderness  to  Harrodsburg, 

a   long  and  perilous  journey,  through  thick  forests  and 

amid  hostile  Chickasaws  and  Choctaws,  to  deceive 

whom  Clark  and  his  soldiers  painted  their  faces  and 
attired  themselves  like  Indians.  The  soldiers  relied 

on  Buffalo  and  other  game,  which  they  might  shoot, 
for  food. 

At  Harrodsburg,  scores  of  brave  backwoodsmen 

flocked  to  Clark’s  standard,  among  them  James  Harrod, 
John  Floyd,  Simon  Kenton  and  Daniel  Boone.  All 

gathered  at  the  mouth  of  the  Licking,  the  site  of  so 

many  warlike  scenes  in  the  frontier  days.  It  was  a 

typical  motley  force  of  rough  and  ready  riflemen, 

regulars  from  Fort  Jefferson,  militia  from  Louisville 

and  volunteers  from  the  back  river  settlements,  the 

whole  numbering  slightly  less  than  a   thousand;  a   body 

of  sturdy  men,  mostly  unacquainted  with  the  tactics 

of  scientific  warfare  but  all  at  home  with  the  flint-lock 

and  on  the  forest  trail  and  fearless  in  the  face  of  savage 

foes.  It  was  a   laborious  and  tedious  task  to  ferry 

this  armament  across  the  Ohio,  to  the  mouth  of  the 

Little  Miami,  where  two  blockhouses  were  built,  in 

which  provisions  could  be  stored  and  to  which  the 

wounded  might  be  carried  and  cared  for.  These  war- 

purposed  cabins,  says  Butterfield,  were  the  first  build- 

ings erected  upon  the  site  of  Cincinnati,  though  that 
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settlement  does  not  date  its  founding  from  the  time 

of  their  being  built.  The  advance  was  begun,  the 

columns  following  along  the  river,  in  two  parallel  lines 

with  a   space  between  for  the  horses  and  one  small 

cannon,  a   three  pounder — the  weight  of  the  ball  carried 
by  this  cannon  is  variously  given  from  two  to  six 

pounds — strapped  to  a   pack  horse.  At  night  the  j 
encampment  was  in  the  form  of  a   hollow  square  with 

the  baggage  and  horses  in  the  middle.  The  journal 

kept  by  one  of  the  soldiers  recites  that  “in  the  cam- 
paigns of  these  days  none  but  the  officers  thought  of 

tents — each  man  had  to  provide  for  his  own  comfort.  | 

Our  meat  was  cooked  upon  sticks  set  up  before  the  - 

fire;  our  beds  were  sought  upon  the  ground  and  he 

was  a   most  fortunate  man  that  could  gather  small 

branches,  leaves  and  bark  to  shield  him  from  the  ground 

in  moist  places.” 

Old  Chillicothe,  the  scene  of  Bowman’s  former  semi- 
failure, was  reached  August  6th,  1780  just  two  days 

later  than  the  day  that  Bird  reached  Detroit  on  his 

return  from  his  Kentucky  raid.  Certainly  Clark’s 
retaliation  was  swift  winged.  But  the  Indians  had 

anticipated  Clark’s  approach,  though  by  only  a   few 
hours,  for  after  learning  of  his  advance,  they  hardly 

had  time  before  his  arrival,  to  fire  their  huts  and  flee 

for  Piqua. 

Leaving  the  burning  and  deserted  Chillicothe,  Clark, 

after  a   night’s  encampment,  pushed  on  to  the  Shawnee 
capital,  Piqua,  twelve  miles  distant  and  about  five  miles 

south  of  modern  Springfield.  Piqua  was  a   pretentious 

and  populous  Shawnee  tribal  settlement,  the  name 

denoting  in  Indian  parlance,  a   “village  that  arises 
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from  its  ashes.”  Here  was  the  seat  of  the  Shawnee 
national  council,  and  here  was  born  (1768)  the  greatest 
chief  of  his  nation  and  one  of  the  foremost  men  of  his 

race,  Tecumseh,  who  as  a   boy  of  twelve  is  said,  by 

rradition,  to  have  been  present  and  to  have  witnessed 

:he  attack  upon,  and  destruction  of,  his  home  and 

lative  hamlet.  It  was  picturesquely  and  strategetic- 
dly  situated,  as  a   visit  to  its  location  will  reveal. 

The  situation  is  upon  an  elevated  plain  on  the  north 

)anks  of  the  Mad  River  which  here  gracefully  curves 

ind  winds  its  course  southwesterly  till  it  unites  with 

he  Big  Miami  near  Dayton.  Piqua — not  to  be  con- 

ounded  with  the  modern  city  of  Piqua — was  sub- 
tantially  built  and  was  laid  out  in  the  manner  of  a 

?rench  village;  the  stout  built  log  huts,  standing  far 
tpart,  stretched  in  a   narrow  row  three  miles  along 

he  ridge  of  the  upland  and  at  places  straggled  down 

i   nto  the  plain  below.  Many  of  the  cabins  were  sur- 

i   ounded  with  “ truck  patches”  or  gardens  for  the 
iis  aising  of  beans  and  corn.  The  town  contained,  within 

ts  limits,  on  the  elevation,  a   stockade  in  the  shape  of 

A   spacious  rude  log  cabin  surrounded  by  pickets;  it 
:   /as  the  citadel  and  capital,  the  fort  and  council-hall. 

Ilj  The  view  from  the  higher  portions  of  Piqua,  in  its 

lee  ristine  primitiveness,  must  have  been  of  unusual 

eauty;  in  front  and  below,  stretching  away  to  the 

rk,  'est  and  south,  was  the  spacious  and  fertile  valley, 

iee  |rhose  green  center  was  cut  by  the  gentle  flowing 
]ei  tream;  the  eastern  horizon  was  fringed  by  a   range 

3Ui  f   low  rising  hills;  in  the  immediate  background  of 

$   ie  town  were  the  broad  areas  of  cornfields,  which  in 

jsei  arvest  season  gave  to  wigwams  and  huts  a   golden 
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setting,  beyond  which  lay  an  expanse  of  lofty  fores 

almost  impenetrable  in  its  density. 

Into  the  plain  between  the  river  and  the  hill-capped 

town,  marched  the  soldiers  of  Clark,  who  resorted  tc 

the  customary  tactics  of  dividing  his  force  into  twc 

divisions,  one  of  which  he  led  in  front  of  the  village  i 

the  other  under  Benjamin  Logan  was  directed  to  mak( 

u   anrl  occail  t   town  -frr\m  tVif*  nnnpr  <=»nrl  a   nr a   detour  and  assail  the  town  from  the  upper  end  anc 

the  rear,  and  thus  prevent  the  Indians  from  making 

any  escape.  But  in  this  Logan  did  not  succeed,  a 

his  column  of  four  hundred  became  “ entangled”  ii 
the  grass  enveloped  swamp,  that  impeded  his  progress 

At  the  sight  of  Clark’s  formidable  army,  the  Shawne 
warriors,  estimated  at  some  seven  hundred  in  numbe 

for  the  most  part,  precipitately  fled,  leaving  abou 

one  hundred — with  whom  were  Simon  Girty  and  Jame 

Girty — to  sustain  the  attack. 

The  fighting  continued,  in  a   skirmishing  manne 

for  most  of  the  day;  the  Indians  skulking  behind  th 

blockhouse  and  cabins  and  adjacent  bushes  and  tree 

The  little  three  pounder  was  finally  mounted  an 

brought  into  use,  and  the  savages,  outnumbered  a 

outarmed,  were  finally  compelled  to  abandon  the  fiel 

and  to  scatter  to  the  forest  depths.  The  losses  c 

each  side  are  variously  stated,  but  did  not  surpass 

score  of  killed  in  either  case;  the  wounded  were  r 

greater  in  number.  The  town  was  destroyed,  ar 

under  the  torch  of  Clark  returned  to  its  ashes;  and 

growing  crops  roundabout  were  likewise  the  prey 

the  fire-fiend. 

One  of  the  sad  incidents  of  this  battle  was  the  dea 

of  a   cousin  to  Colonel  Clark,  viz.,  Joseph  Rogei 

i 
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who  was  with  the  colonel  in  the  Illinois  campaign  and 

who  commanded  the  river  boat  “ Willing”  in  the 
Vincennes  attack.  Rogers  was  a   prisoner  of  the  Shaw- 

lees  at  Piqua,  and  in  the  attempt  to  escape  to  Clark’s 
irmy,  in  the  midst  of  the  battle,  was  shot  and  fatally 

vounded,  but  succeeded  in  reaching  the  American 

ine,  where  he  died  in  the  arms  of  Clark.  This  incident 

las  been  greatly  exaggerated  and  distorted  by  different 

vriters,  most  of  them  crediting  Rogers  with  being  a 

enegade  and  a   reprobate  who,  after  the  Illinois  cam- 
paign deserted  to  the  Indians.  William  English,  in  his 

laborate  biography  of  Clark,  gives  the  authoritative 

:   acts,  finally  commenting  on  the  event  thus:  “What 

nust  have  been  his  (Clark’s)  feelings  when  he  realized 

t   was  the  bright  and  beloved  son  of  his  mother’s 
rother,  whom  he  had  influenced  to  leave  his  house 

i   Virginia,  only  to  find  captivity,  death  and  an  un- 

M   nown  grave  in  the  western  wilderness  ?   ” 
It  j   On  August  ioth,  two  days  after  the  battle,  the  army, 

[re  | d   successful  in  its  undertaking,  began  the  march 

:   omeward,  and  at  the  mouth  of  the  Licking  the  soldiers 

la  ispersed  and  “each  individual  made  his  best  way 

:Hi  jome.” 

e$  The  invasion  of  the  heart  of  the  enemy’s  country 

d   y   Clark’s  regiment  of  backwoodsmen,  was  hailed  by 
>re  !   le  Kentuckians  with  great  rejoicing.  The  two  most 

,   nportant  of  the  Indian  towns  had  been  burned;  de 

aJi  eyster’s  plans  had  been  disconcerted;  the  fierce 

J   'hawnees  checked,  at  least  for  a   time;  and  McKee 
rote  from  Wapatomica  to  de  Peyster,  August  22, 

780:  “The  loss  of  their  corn  will  be  a   very  distressing 

M   lie  to  their  families.”  Roosevelt  appraises  the  result: 
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“The  Indians  were  temporarily  cowed  by  their  loss 
and  the  damage  they  had  suffered,  and  especially  by 

the  moral  effect  of  so  formidable  a   retaliatory  foray 

following  immediately  on  the  heels  of  Bird’s  inroad. 
Therefore,  thanks  to  Clark,  the  settlements  south  oi 

the  Ohio  were  but  little  molested  for  the  remaindei 

of  the  year.  The  bulk  of  the  savages  remained  north 

of  the  river,  hovering  about  their  burned  towns 

planning  to  take  vengeance  in  the  spring.” 



Chapter  XIV. 

BRODHEAD  DESTROYS  GOSCHOCHGUNG 





IN  the  summer  and  autumn  of  1780,  Washington in  his  letters  to  Colonel  Brodhead  at  Fort  Pitt, 

urged  the  great  advantage  that  would  accrue  from 

the  seizure  of  Detroit,  thereby  depriving  the 

British  of  their  western  stronghold.  If  that  were 

impracticable  because  of  the  inability  of  Congress  to 

furnish  the  required  men  and  supplies,  then  an  inroad 

should  be  made  upon  the  Ohio  Indian  centers  on  the 

Muskingum  and  the  Sandusky,  to  chastise  the  savages 

and  acquaint  them  with  the  strength  of  the  Americans 

md  the  certainty  of  the  latter’s  success. 
Brodhead  was  the  man  to  do  either,  if  properly 

supported,  for  he  had  shown  his  bravery  and  general- 
ship in  most  effective  campaigns,  particularly  that  of 

;he  summer  of  1779,  against  the  Iroquois  allies  on  the 

Jpper  Allegheny  and  in  the  Wyoming  Valley.  But 

Congress,  even  at  the  earnest  solicitation  of  Washing- 
on,  was  powerless  to  sustain  a   Detroit  expedition. 

The  distressing  condition  of  Brodhead  at  Fort  Pitt  is 

)est  revealed  by  a   letter  from  him  to  Mr.  Reed,  Presi- 

dent of  Congress,  written  January  22,  1781:  “A 
'rand  council  of  British  and  other  Savages  is  now 

lolding  at  Detroit,  and  I   am  informed  they  are  pre- 

meditating a   descent  on  this  post;  and  as  I   cannot  rely 

>n  a   private  Contract,  which  may  or  may  not  be  made, 

is  shall  best  suit  the  Contractors,  and  it  is  at  most  in- 
efficient; this  and  the  other  circumstances  I   have 

uentioned,  have  induced  me  to  send  Mr.  Duncan, 

Col.  Blaine’s  Deputy)  to  apply  for  money  to  purchase 
nd  lay  in  provisions  for  the  Troops  that  are  or  may 

>e  under  my  Command,  if  possible,  before  Spring,  so 

hat,  if  I   should  be  unfortunate  enough  not  to  be 
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sufficiently  reinforced  to  enable  me  to  pursue  some 

hostile  measures  against  the  Enemy,  I   may  not  be 

under  the  disagreeable  necessity  of  shamefully  abandon- 

ing posts  of  the  first  consequence  committed  to  my  ; 

care,  and  suffering  the  already  much  distressed  In- 

habitants to  be  slaughtered  by  the  merciless  Savages 
and  their  abettors. 

“The  Soldiers  are  almost  naked,  and  will  not  have 
a   rag  to  cover  their  nakedness  by  the  first  of  March 

I   conceive  it  will  be  very  difficult  for  me  to  quiet  then 

much  longer. 

“I  have  never  been  furnished  with  goods  of  an} 
kind,  nor  a   penny  of  money  to  enable  me  to  transac 

business  with  the  Indians;  neither  has  any  person  beei 

appointed  to  take  the  trouble  of  them  off  my  Hands 

And  yet,  if  I   can  serve  my  Country,  I   shall  be  happy 

but  it  is  necessary  I   should  be  supported,  and  a   littl 

hard  money  to  give  rewards  to  partizans  will  be  highf 

expedient. 

“The  Indian  Captains  appointed  by  the  Britis 
Commandant  at  Detroit,  are  clothed  in  the  mos 

elegant  manner,  and  have  many  valuable  present 

made  them.  The  Captains  I   have  Commissioned  b; 

authority  of  Congress  are  naked,  and  receive  nothin 

but  a   little  Whiskey,  for  which  they  are  reviled  b; 

the  Indians  in  general;  So  that,  unless  a   change  c 

System  is  introduced,  I   must  expect  to  see  all  Indian 

in  favor  of  Britain,  in  spite  of  every  address  in  m 

power.  ” A   month  later  Brodhead  seems  to  have  been  mor 

discouraged  than  ever  for  he  wrote  Mr.  Reed:  “M 
force  being  too  much  reduced  to  admit  my  undertakin 
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tny  offensive  measures,  I   shall  probably  obtain  leave 

o   wait  upon  your  Excellency  at  Philadelphia  where 

or  several  reasons  I   have  for  some  time  past  wished 

o   be,  and  as  much  as  may  be  promote  the  welfare  of 

his  new  country.  ” 
In  reply  to  pressing  appeals  direct  from  Brodhead, 

Vashington  wrote  Congress  on  April  14,  1780,  vigor- 

msly  demanding  that  there  be  deposited  at  Fort  Pitt, 

is  he  had  previously  directed,  “   2,400  barrels  of  flour, 
,000  barrels  of  salt  meat  or  salt  equivalent  to  put  up 

hat  quantity  on  the  spot  and  7,000  gallons  of  spirit.  ” 
$ut  before  any  supplies  or  relief  reached  Brodhead, 

ie  valiantly  advanced  into  the  country  of  the  enemy, 

s   meanwhile  the  necessity  of  offensive  and  decisive 

^ar  upon  the  Indians  of  eastern  Ohio,  was  augmented 

>y  the  movements  of  the  tribesmen  in  the  winter  of 

780-81,  for  during  that  time  Captain  Pipe  had  trans- 

ported his  band  of  Monseys — often  spelled  Munceys — 

rom  his  village  on  the  Walhonding,  some  fifteen  miles 

rom  Goschochgung,  to  the  Sandusky,  there  building 

is  town  on  both  sides  of  the  Tymochtee  Creek,  in 

diich  position  he  was  nearer  to  the  British,  whose 

lly  he  was  and  whose  aid  he  thus  the  more  easily 
btained. 

The  Delawares  on  the  Muskingum,  with  their  main 

uarters  at  Goschochgung,  heretofore  friendly,  in 

irge  part,  to  the  Americans,  were  now  rapidly  drifting 

3   the  British  standard.  The  Moravian  Indians  had 

rarned  Brodhead  of  the  Delaware  disaffection,  and 

leckewelder  himself,  in  February,  had  written  the 

Dmmander  at  Fort  Pitt:  “the  people  (Indians)  at 
oshocton  have  been  very  busy  trying  to  deceive  you 
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this  long  time;  I   believe  the  greater  part  of  them  w 
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be  upon  you  in  a   few  days.”  The  leader  of  these  I 
hostile  Delawares  was  a   war  chief  called  Wingenund. 

It  was  time  for  action  and  Brodhead,  who  had  justify 

returned  from  a   campaign  of  devastation  among  the 

Indians  of  the  Upper  Allegheny,  and  was  in  fighting 

trim,  determined  to  carry  the  war  west  into  the  homes: 

of  the  Delawares  on  the  Muskingum. 

De  Peyster,  watchful  of  every  movement  in  the 

Ohio  country,  learned  of  the  growing  war  spirit  o: 

the  Delawares,  from  a   message  they  sent  him  in  whicl 

they  requested  the  visit  to  their  settlements  of  British 

traders,  with  whom  they  might  deal,  thereby  revealing 

that  the  tribesmen  had  repudiated  the  Americans 

De  Peyster  made  a   most  conciliatory  and  flattering 

reply,  in  which  he  said:  “I  am  pleased  when  I   se> 
what  you  call  live  meat  because  I   can  speak  to  it  an<, 

get  information;  scalps  serve  to  show  that  you  hav 

seen  the  enemy,  but  they  are  of  no  use  to  me;  I   canno 

speak  to  them.”  By  “live  meat”  de  Peyster  mean; 
prisoners  of  war,  and  the  statement  is  quoted  b 

Butterfield  as  indicative  that  de  Peyster  was  mor 

humane  in  his  methods  than  his  “hair-buyer”  predel  : 
cessor,  Hamilton.  This  message  of  de  Peyster  wa 

borne  from  Detroit  to  Coshocton  by  Simon  Girt) 

who,  early  in  1781,  at  the  express  direction  of  d 

Peyster,  had  taken  up  his  residence  at  Upper  Sandusk) 

among  the  Wyandots,  as  it  was  believed  his  service 
would  be  most  useful  in  that  location. 

On  April  7,  1781,  Colonel  Brodhead  set  out  fron 

Fort  Pitt,  with  one  hundred  and  fift 

were  reenforced,  when  he  reached 
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qual  number  of  Virginia  militia  under  Colonel  David 

hepherd  and  Captains  Jonathan  Zane  and  William 

ffawford;  several  friendly  Indians,  one  being  Pekillon, 

Delaware  chief,  accompanied  the  troops  and  one  of 

le  guides  was  John  Montour.  The  published  accounts 

f   this  important  invasion  are  numerous,  but  the 

etails  in  many  instances  inaccurate  and  the  statements 

E   different  writers  conflicting.  But  the  main  facts 

re  easily  obtained  from  official  records  and  letters; 

ich  as  the  Pennsylvania  Archives  and  Washington’s 
ersonal  correspondence. 

Crossing  the  Ohio,  the  little  army  pushed  rapidly 

ito  the  enemy’s  country.  When  near  Salem,  the 
loravian  town,  Colonel  Brodhead,  sent  a   courier  to 

eckewelder,  then  resident  there,  informing  him  of 

le  approaching  troops;  requesting  a   small  supply  of 

■'ovisions  and  expressing  a   desire  to  see  Heckewelder. 
avid  Zeisberger,  during  these  events,  was  temporarily 

>sent  in  Pennsylvania.  The  supplies  were  readily 

rnished  and  Heckewelder  repaired  to  the  camp  of 

Dlonel  Brodhead,  who  stated  that  he  was  anxious  to 

oil  low  before  proceeding  further,  whether  any  Christian 

dians  were  out  hunting  or  on  business  in  the  direc- 

)n  the  army  was  moving,  as  he  did  not  wish  to  do 

.   y   harm  to  their  (Moravian)  people,  “as  these  Indians 
d   conducted  themselves  from  the  commencement  of 

e   war,  in  a   manner  that  did  them  honor;  that  neither 

rvil1! e   English  nor  the  Americans,  could  with  justice 

loroach  them  with  improper  conduct  in  their  situa- 

fiJi  >n.  ”   However,  continues  Heckewelder  in  his  Nar- 

dfl1  :ive,  “while  the  Colonel  was  assuring  me,  that  our 
1   dians  had  nothing  to  fear,  an  officer,  coming  with 
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great  speed  from  one  quarter  of  the  camp,  reportec 

that  a   division  of  the  militia  was  preparing  to  brea 

off,  for  the  purpose  of  destroying  the  Moravian  settle 

ments  up  the  river,  and  that  he  feared  that  they  coul< 

not  be  restrained  from  so  doing.” 
Colonel  Brodhead  and  Colonel  Zane  instantly  too 

measures  to  prevent  the  threatened  calamity.  Th 

colonel,  with  his  troops,  then  hurried  forward,  knowin 

the  hostile  Indians  would  learn  of  the  approachin 

army.  He  reached  Goschochgung  (Coshocton)  in  th 

midst  of  a   heavy  rain.  The  right  wing  of  the  arm 

was  directed  to  occupy  a   position  above  the  towr 

which  was  mainly  on  the  east  side  of  the  river;  th: 

left  was  to  assume  a   stand  below,  while  the  cente 

marched  directly  upon  it.  The  Indian  inhabitant: 

ignorant  of  the  fact  that  the  enemy  was  in  their  vicinit} 

were  completely  surprised  and  all  made  prisoner 

without  the  firing  of  a   gun.  The  village  was  pillage 

and  laid  waste  and  the  surrounding  crops  burne 

These  usual  warlike  measures  were  followed  by 

horrible  incident  reflecting  great  discredit  on  th 

American  soldiers  if  not  upon  their  commande 

Among  the  prisoners  sixteen  warriors  were  pointed  oi 

by  Pekillon,  as  being  especially  known  for  their  hosti. 

and  “ diabolical”  deeds,  and  therefore  fit  subjects  fc 

retributive  justice.  “A  little  after  dark,”  a   counc 
of  war  decreed  their  death  and  they  were  taken 

short  distance  below  the  town,  and  “dispatched  wit 

tomahawks  and  spears  and  then  scalped.”  The  oth 
captives  were  committed  to  the  care  of  the  militi 

to  be  conducted  to  Fort  Pitt.  But  other  crimes  we 

to  follow.  The  next  morning,  after  the  capture 
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ie  town,  an  Indian  made  his  appearance  on  the 

oposite  bank  of  the  river,  which  owing  to  the  swollen 

aters  the  soldiers  had  not  crossed,  and  called  out 

>r  the  “Big  Captain,”  meaning  Colonel  Brodhead, 

ho  demanded  what  the  Indian  wanted.  “I  want 

liace, ”   he  replied.  “Then  send  over  spme  of  your 

liefs,  ”   said  the  colonel.  “Maybe  you  kill,  ”   responded 

,ie  peace  messenger.  But  the  commander  prom- 

ed  they  would  be  safe.  Relying  on  this  assurance, 

ie  of  their  chiefs,  “a  well  looking  man,”  got  over 

ie  river  and  entered  into  a   “talk”  with  the  colonel, 

I   hen  one  of  the  soldiers  stole  up  behind  the  chief  and 
awing  a   tomahawk  from  beneath  his  hunting  shirt 

;alt  him  a   blow  on  the  head,  which  felled  him  dead. 

The  destruction  of  Goschochgung  was  accompanied 

t   the  demolition  of  Lichtenau,  formerly  the  Moravian 

Illage  on  the  river  not  far  below  Coshocton,  but  which wing  to  its  exposure  to  the  hostile  Delawares,  had 

t   en  abandoned  in  the  spring  of  1780,  when  the  chapel 

’is  pulled  down,  “that  it  might  not  be  applied  to 

lathenish  purposes;”  after  its  desertion  by  the  Mor- 
gan Indians,  who  took  refuge  at  Salem,  the  hostile 

blawares  occupied  the  site,  naming  their  village 

1   lich  was  to  be  so  short  lived,  Indaochaie. 

Colonel  Brodhead  with  the  prisoners  and  a   large 

<   antity  of  plunder  started  on  the  return  march. 

Others  is  responsible  for  the  statement  that  they 

1   d   proceeded  but  a   mile  or  less  from  Coshocton, 

^len  the  militia  guarding  the  prisoners  commenced 

1   ordering  them  and  “in  a   short  space  of  time  a   few 

'   'men  and  children  alone  remained  alive,  ”   some 

t   enty  warriors  having  been  butchered  like  so  many 
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sheep.  Brodhead  proceeded  up  the  Tuscarawas  Rivei 

to  Newcomers  town,  or  Gekelemukpechunk,  the  famou: 

Delaware  capital,  where  there  were  about  thirty 

friendly  Delawares  and  from  there,  as  well  as  from  the 

towns  of  Schoenbrunn,  Gnadenhutten  and  Salem,  th< 

three  Moravian  missions,  strung  closely  together  alonj 

the  Tuscarawas,  the  soldiers  obtained  a   sufficien 

supply  of  provisions  for  themselves  and  enough  prov 

ender  for  their  horses,  to  serve  them  till  they  reache< 

Wheeling,  which  they  did  on  April  28th,  the  invasioi 

having  occupied  exactly  three  weeks. 

Let  Colonel  Brodhead  make  his  own  report,  as  sen 

to  Congress,  May  22d:  “In  the  last  letter  I   had  th 
honor  to  address  to  your  Excellency,  I   mentioned  m 

Delaware  Towns.  I   have  now  the  pleasure  to  infc 

you,  that  with  about  three  hundred  men,  (nearly  1 

the  number  Volunteers  from  the  Country),  I   surpri 

the  Towns  of  Cooshasking  and  Indaochaie,  kil 

fifteen  Warriors  and  took  upwards  of  twenty  old  m 

women  and  children.  *   *   *   After  destroying  the  To\ 
with  great  quantities  of  poultry  and  other  stores  c 

killing  about  forty  head  of  cattle,  I   marched  up 

River,  about  seven  miles,  with  a   view  to  send  for  sc 

craft  from  the  Moravian  Towns,  and  cross  the  Ri 

to  pursue  the  Indians;  But  when  I   proposed  my  p 

to  the  Volunteers,  I   found  they  conceived  they  1 

done  enough,  and  were  determined  to  return,  whe 

fore  I   marched  to  Newcomerstown,  where  a   few  India 

intention  to  carry  an  expedition  against  the  revolte 

who  remain  in  our  Interest  had  withdrawn  themseh 

not  exceeding  thirty  men.  The  Troops  experiem 

great  kindness  from  the  Moravian  Indians  and  th 
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l   Newcomerstown  and  obtained  a   sufficient  supply 
t   meat  and  corn  to  subsist  the  men  and  Horses  to 

le  Ohio  River.  Captain  Killbuck  and  Captain  Lu- 

irne,  upon  hearing  of  our  troops  being  on  the  Mus- 
ngum,  immediately  pursued  the  Warriors,  killed  one 

:   their  greatest  Villains  and  brought  his  scalp  to  me. 
he  plunder  brought  in  by  the  Troops,  sold  for  about 

ghty  thousand  pounds  at  Fort  Henry.  *   *   *   The 
roops  behaved  with  great  Spirit  and  although  there 

as  considerable  firing  between  them  and  the  Indians, 

had  not  a   man  killed  or  wounded,  and  only  one  horse 

tot.  ” 

But  Brodhead’s  brief  summary  of  his  campaign,  by 
)   means  tells  the  substantial  results.  His  expedition, 

ith  its  harrowing  features  of  wanton  bloodshed  and 

king  of  life,  for  which  the  colonel  may  not  have  been 

itirely  to  blame,  wrought  havoc  among  the  near- 
>rder  Indian  settlements.  The  Delawares  fled  west- 

ard,  drawing  back  to  the  Scioto  and  the  Sandusky, 

here  British  encouragement  awaited  them,  in  the 

ape  of  ample  supplies. 

The  blight  of  war  fell  heavily  on  the  Moravian 

issions,  and  their  faithful  ministers,  David  Zeisberger 

id  John  Jungmann  at  Schoenbrunn;  Gottlob  Sense- 
an  and  William  Edwards  at  Gnadenhutten;  John 

eckewelder  and  Michael  Jung  at  Salem.  These 

wns  lay  in  the  direct  path  of  the  hostile  posts  of  Pitts- 

Ijirg  and  Detroit  and  through  their  peaceful  streets 

jj arched  in  turn  the  soldiers  of  the  contending  nations. 

1   any  of  the  Christian  Delawares  at  these  settlements, 

i   rough  which  Brodhead  passed,  fearing  the  hostile 
]   besmen,  put  themselves  under  the  protection  of  the 
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American  army  and  accompanied  it  to  Fort  Pitt.  In 

deed  Brodhead  proposed  that  all  the  Moravian  Indian: 

and  missionaries  take  refuge  with  him  in  Pennsylvania 

but  they  mostly  stood  bravely  by  their  Christian  homes 

As  De  Schweinitz  testifies,  these  Christian  Indians  am 
Moravian  missionaries  were  neutral  in  this  Americai 

Revolution,  but  while  they  never  attempted  to  inter 

fere  with  the  legitimate  warfare,  the  case  was  differen 

in  regard  to  the  massacres  perpetrated  or  propose< 

by  the  Indians.  They  exerted  every  effort  to  preven 

the  scenes  of  butchery;  “it  was  not  enough  to  theoriz 
in  the  Delaware  council  upon  the  wickedness  of  burnin 

homesteads  and  butchering  women  and  children;  thei 

sacred  office  and  religious  faith  compelled  them  t 

prevent  treacherous  slaughter  and  save  non-combatant 
from  being  the  victims  of  the  indiscriminate  tomahaw 

and  the  scalping-knife.”  In  this  they  were  imparti; 
but  their  motives  were  misunderstood  and  their  actior 

looked  upon  with  suspicion  by  both  the  British  an 

the  Americans,  though  much  the  less  so  by  the  latte 

As  early  as  the  first  week  in  June  (1781),  followi 

the  departure  of  Brodhead,  an  Indian  force  hosti 

to  the  Moravians,  appeared  before  the  three  mission 

“The  first  party,”  reports  De  Schweinitz,  “reache 
Salem  with  a   painful  attempt  at  martial  array. 

Most  of  the  invading  Indians  were  mounted  and  roc 

in  the  following  order:  the  Half-King,  Pomoacai 
and  his  men,  from  Upper  Sandusky;  Abraham  Coo 

a   white  man  adopted  and  made  captain  by  the  Wyai 

dots,  led  that  tribe  from  Lower  Sandusky;  Wyando 

from  Detroit;  Mingoes  from  the  Scioto  and  Mad  river 

the  two  Shawnee  captains,  John  and  Thomas  Snak 

H 
B I*:: 
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Captain  Pipe  and  Captain  Wingenund,  accompanied 

nth  Monseys  and  Delawares;  Mathew  Elliott,  in  his 

apacity  as  British  captain,  attended  by  Alexander 

/IcCormick,  an  ensign,  bearing  a   British  flag;  also  five 

ther  Englishmen  and  Frenchmen;  with  stragglers  from 

arious  tribes  bringing  up  the  rear;  the  whole  troop 

I   umbering  one  hundred  and  forty  men.  They  en- 
amped  before  Salem,  the  British  flag  being  raised 

ver  Elliott’s  tent.  They  were  welcomed  and  entertained 

y   Heckewelder,  who  minutely  recites  the  subsequent 

vents  in  his  Narrative.  Soft  words  were  uttered  in 

le  ears  of  Heckewelder  by  Pomoacan  and  Elliott, 

hile  some  of  the  party  proceeded  to  Gnadenhutten 

ad  Schoenbrunn.  The  object  of  this  martial  embassy 

as  to  do  away  with  the  missions,  if  not  by  the  toma- 

awk  and  the  torch,  certainly  by  securing  the  mission- 

ies,  their  assistants  and  chief  converts,  numbering 

i   all  about  one  hundred  families,  who  were  to  be 

irried  captive  to  Detroit.  The  story  is  one  of  pathetic 

id  tragic  details;  of  hypocrisy  and  honeyed  lies  by  the 

idians;  of  suffering  and  anguish  on  the  part  of  the 

Loravians,  whose  houses  were  looted  and  property 

jstroyed;  whose  peaceful  and  picturesque  villages 

tcame  the  scenes  of  drunken  riot,  hideous  dancing 

id  indescribable  yells  and  war  whoops.  The  mission- 

ies  of  the  three  towns  were,  after  many  days,  as- 

mbled  at  the  encampment  in  Elliott’s  tent.  The 
oils  of  the  three  villages  were  divided  among  the 

yandots,  who  “dressed  themselves  in  the  clothes 

lich  they  had  stolen,  and  strutted  about  the  camp 1th  childish  vanity.  ”   De  Schweinitz  sympathetically Is  of  the  departure:  “On  the  morning  of  Monday, 
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the  eleventh  of  September,  the  whole  body  of  Christiar 

Indians,  with  the  missionaries  and  their  families,  lef 

Salem,  closely  guarded  by  some  Delaware  and  Wyando 

warriors.  They  travelled  in  two  divisions,  the  on 

in  canoes  on  the  Tuscarawas,  the  other  on  land  drivin 

the  cattle,  of  which  there  was  a   large  herd. 

“It  was  a   sad  journey.  They  were  turning  thei 

backs  upon  the  scenes  of  more  than  eight  years’  in, 
dustry,  and  of  a   Christian  communion  never  equale 

in  the  history  of  the  Indians.  They  were  leavin 

behind  rich  plantations,  with  five  thousand  bushe. 

of  unharvested  corn,  large  quantities  of  it  in  stort 

hundreds  of  hogs  and  young  cattle  loose  in  the  wood 

poultry  of  every  kind,  gardens  stocked  with  an  abui 

dance  of  vegetables,  three  flourishing  towns,  each  wit 

a   commodious  house  of  worship,  all  the  heavy  artich 

of  furniture  and  implements  of  husbandry — in  shor 
their  entire  property,  excepting  what  could  be  carri( 

on  pack-horses  or  stowed  in  canoes.” 
The  little  band  of  exiles,  entering  upon  a   twen 

year  period  of  wanderings  in  strange  lands,  follow, 

the  river  to  the  site  of  Goschochgung,  whence  mar 

of  the  Indians  dispersed,  leaving  the  captives  in  char1 

of  the  Half-King  and  the  Wyandots,  “who  grew  hari 
and  insolent,  in  their  treatment  of  their  prisone, 

striking  their  horses  until  they  were  mad  with  frigt 

and  plunged  through  swamps  at  a   fearful  rate,  refusi^ 

the  mothers  time  to  nurse  their  babies,  and  pushi^ 

forward  in  a   wild,  reckless  career.”  By  the  first  f 
October,  the  party  reached  the  Sandusky,  and  h<e 

Pomoacan,  “not  deigning  a   word  of  explanation 
an  offer  of  assistance,  drew  off  his  band  to  Upper  Sc 
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asky  and  left  the  captives  to  their  fate.”  Deserted 
us  in  a   howling  wilderness,  without  provisions  and 

]   >   game  to  be  seen,  they  were  thrown  upon  their  own 

sources.  Selecting  a   site  on  the  river,  suitable  for 

leir  habitation,  they  erected  small  log  cabins  and 

[thered  once  more  about  their  forest  altars.  It  is 

•   lied  by  De  Schweinitz,  “Captives’  Town,”  and  was  one 
lie  above  the  junction  of  the  Sandusky  and  Broken 

<eek,  in  what  is  now  Antrim  Township,  Wyandot 

<   jmnty.  Their  little  hamlet  built,  Pomoacan,  sudden- 

1   appeared,  proclaimed  himself  their  chief  and  “an- 
i   unced  that  he  would  organize  them  into  war  parties 

id  lead  them  against  the  Americans.”  Before  how- 

( er,  he  could  carry  out  this  intended  iniquity,  Winge- 

i   nd  and  Captain  Pipe’s  brother  brought  them  a 

immons  from  de  Peyster  to  appear  at  Detroit  “for 

1   al.  ”   It  was  a   journey  of  peril  and  suffering  that 
(ded  on  November  8,  1781,  when,  says  Heckewelder, 

Saving  survived  a   dreadful  night,  we  were  approach- 

ib  a   fine  town,  in  which  we  hoped  to  be  so  fortunate 

&   to  meet  with  some  one  hospitable  person,  who  could 

finish  us  with  an  early  and  warm  breakfast  which 

v   were  so  much  in  need  of;  we  had  to  stand  on  the 

uwb ridge  a   long  time,  until  the  pleasure  of  the 

c   nmandant,  who  resided  at  the  east  end  of  the  town 

t   s   known;  we  were  permitted  to  proceed;  curiosity 

I   d   drawn  the  inhabitants  into  the  street  to  see  what 

l   id  of  people  these  were;  the  few  cloaths  we  had  on 

cr  backs,  and  those  tattered  and  torn,  might  cause 

tbm  to  cast  looks  of  contempt  on  us;  but  we  did  not 

1   d   this  to  be  the  case.  After  standing  some  time 

1   the  street,  opposite  the  dwelling  of  the  commandant, 
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we  were  brought  in  before  him,  where  we,  on  an  emp 

stomach,  shivering  with  cold,  worn  down  by  t; 

journey,  and  not  free  from  rheumatic  pains,  a   gat. 

had  to  stand,  until  we  had  undergone  a   kind  of  dj 

amination.  ”   Here  we  temporarily  leave  the  Moravi  1 
exiles  while  we  resume  the  course  of  events  in  t;] 

Ohio  country.  *   »j 
Clark,  now  located  at  Louisville,  had  never  abs- 

doned  his  determination  to  accomplish  the  capture  f 

Detroit  and  thus  destroy  the  British  stronghold  in  Xt 

west.  In  the  autumn  of  the  year  1779,  Clark,  s 

colonel  of  the  Illinois-Virginia  regiment,  had  callecab 
council  of  war  at  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio,  to  consider  te 

practicability  of  a   military  expedition  against  te 

British,  either  at  Detroit  or  the  Floridas,  for  the  lat  r 

were  then  in  the  British  possession.  Several  Kentucy 

captains  were  present  at  this  council,  but  nothing  ca 

of  the  deliberations  as  Colonel  Clark  was  occup  d 

the  ensuing  year,  and  more,  with  military  movemeis 

which  we  have  related.  But  Clark  was  indefatigab. 

Towards  the  close  of  1780  we  find  him  in  Virgim, 

assisting  the  Continental  forces  in  resisting  the  captie 

of  Richmond  by  the  British.  At  this  time  Chi 

secured  the  approval  of  Governor  Jefferson,  to  lie 

proposed  Detroit  expedition.  Washington  also  su- 

ported  the  proposition,  by  writing  to  Jefferson  v<y 

minute  suggestions  as  to  the  equipment  of  Claris 

proposed  army  of  two  thousand.  Washington  Id 

long  contemplated  the  purpose  of  this  expedite  1. 

hoping  the  Continental  powers  might  enter  into  t. 

Disappointed  in  this  he  said:  “The  State  of  Virgi  a 
has  determined  to  undertake  an  expedition  whic  I 
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ave  ever  had  in  view,  and  which  I   wished  to  carry 

ito  execution  by  a   Continental  force;  but  you  (Brod- 
ead)  are  sufficiently  acquainted  with  the  situation 

f   our  affairs,  both  as  to  men  and  supplies,  to  know 

tat  it  has  been  impossible  to  attempt  it.  It  is  the 

eduction  of  the  post  at  Detroit.” 
Following  the  lengthy  instructions  of  Washington, 

lovernor  Jefferson  on  February  13,  1781,  wrote 

eneral  Clark  that  preparations  were  on  foot  to  execute 

le  proposed  plans.  Jefferson  and  the  Virginia  au- 

lorities  made  Clark  a   Brigadier-General  of  the  forces 
:   the  expedition.  Colonel  John  Gibson  was  to  be 

lark’s  second  in  command  and  was  to  gather  the 
nmunition  and  supplies  at  Fort  Pitt.  But  conditions 

•oved  most  unfavorable  to  the  project.  Clark  wanted 
70  thousand  men.  They  could  not  be  spared  from 

ie  Continental  Army,  which  the  Revolution  had 

duced  to  a   dangerous  degree  of  depletion.  And  the 

lonies  of  Pennsylvania  and  Virginia,  which  were 

pected  to  supply  Clark’s  recruits,  were  in  no  position 
respond;  the  men  of  the  fighting  population  felt 

at  they  were  needed  nearer  home,  and  moreover 

!>ntinental  money  had  become  so  worthless  that 

:   :ruits  were  likely  to  go  practically  unpaid.  Other 

i-ans  of  raising  men  failing,  a   military  draft  was 

tempted.  But,  as  revealed  by  the  reports  of  the 

<unty  lieutenants,  in  the  Virginia  State  Papers,  the 

(   position  was  well  nigh  irresistible.  But  Clark,  says 

1'*  historian,  English,  failing  at  one  point  turned 
lpefully  to  another  and  never  relaxed  his  efforts. 

1   was  found  that  Gibson,  then  in  command  at  Fort 
ftt,  and  his  regiment  could  not  be  spared  for  the 



308 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

campaign  and  Clark  hastened  to  Fort  Pitt,  whence  h 

wrote  most  appealing  letters  to  Washington  and  Jeffer 

son  for  aid.  Finally,  Clark,  undaunted  by  failure  o: 

every  hand,  left  Fort  Pitt,  June  15,  1781,  not  wi 

two  thousand  men  as  contemplated,  but  with  les 

than  four  hundred.  Additional  troops  were  expecte< 

to  overtake  him,  on  the  way,  but  none  ever  did.  0 

August  4th,  Clark’s  command  reached  Fort  Hen 
at  Wheeling,  at  which  point  a   delay  was  intended  unt 
the  arrival  of  a   force  under  Colonel  Archibald  Loch 

— sometimes  printed  Laughery — but  Clark’s  soldiei 
were  restless  and  disposed  to  desert  and  Clark  r< 

luctantly  pushed  on  down  the  river. 

Colonel  Archibald  Lochry  was  the  county  lieutena 

of  Westmoreland  County,  Pennsylvania,  and  at  Clark 
earnest  solicitation  had  assembled  a   command  of  01 

hundred  and  twenty  county  militia,  comprising 

company  of  volunteer  riflemen  raised  by  Capta 

Robert  Orr,  and  two  companies  of  rangers  und 

Captains  Samuel  Shannon  and  Thomas  Stockley-r 

lir 

also  spelled  Stokely — and  a   company  of  horsemu 
mi 

under  Captain  William  Campbell.  These  “   companie  ’ 

were  of  course  small,  as,  says  English,  “   there  were  b: 
one  hundred  and  seven  men  in  the  party  when  thr 

passed  down  the  Ohio.  ” 

Lochry’s  reenforcement  reached  Fort  Henry 
August  8th,  four  days  after  the  departure  of  Clai, 

who  had  now  gone  twelve  miles  further  down  the  riv, 

leaving  for  Lochry  some  provisions  and  a   travelli? 

boat  with  directions  to  follow  as  soon  as  possibf* 

Lochry’s  men,  after  preparing  some  temporary  bo 
for  the  transportation  of  men  and  horses,  which 



)F  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 309 

:upied  ten  days,  proceeded  to  overtake  Clark.  Arriv- 

ng  at  the  latter’s  last  stopping  point,  they  found  he 
lad  gone  on  down  the  river  the  day  before,  leaving  behind 

or  Lochry’s  benefit,  Lieutenant  Creacraft — or  Cray- 
;roft — with  a   few  men  and  a   boat  for  transportation 
>f  horses,  but  without  either  provisions  or  ammunition, 

>oth  of  which  Lochry  greatly  needed.  Clark  also  left 

vord  that  he  would  wait  the  arrival  of  Lochry  at  the 

nouth  of  the  Kanawha,  but  when  the  belated  party 

eached  that  point  they  found  that  Clark  had  been 

>bliged,  in  order  to  keep  his  men  from  deserting,  to 

>roceed  down  the  river,  leaving  only  a   letter  affixed 

o   a   pole,  directing  Lochry  to  follow  on  down  the  river. 

Sut  the  river  was  low  and  none  of  the  Lochry  party 

:new  the  channel  and  their  supplies  were  so  exhausted 

hat  they  abandoned  the  attempt  to  overtake  Clark 

nth  their  whole  force,  deciding  rather  to  send  Captain 

Shannon  with  seven  men  in  a   “ swift  moving  boat,” 
o   overtake  Clark,  if  possible,  and  inform  him  of  the 

listressing  situation. 

During  the  absence  of  Captain  Shannon,  Lieutenant 

saac  Anderson  was  left  in  command  of  his  company. 

This,  says  English,  under  ordinary  circumstances,  was 

,   wise  determination,  and  would  doubtless  have  been 

uccessful  but  for  an  overwhelming  and  unexpected 

lisaster  which  occurred  to  Captain  Shannon  and  most 

>f  his  men.  They  were  captured  by  the  Indians  and 

nth  them  the  letter  to  Clark,  unfortunately  disclosing 

he  helpless  condition  of  Lochry’s  party  and  also 

evealing  the  fact  that  Clark’s  party  had  preceded 
nd  the  American  forces  were  thus  divided.  In  short 

he  whole  scheme  of  advance  was  made  known  to 



310 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

the  Indians,  who  hastily  collected,  three  hundred 

strong,  from  various  tribes,  under  able  leaders,  aboui 
eleven  miles  below  the  mouth  of  the  Great  Miami 

The  Indians  forced  Shannon’s  party,  under  promis< 
of  release,  to  station  themselves  at  the  upper  end  o 

an  island,  now  called  Lochry,  located  about  three  mile.' 
below  a   creek,  also  called  Lochry,  which  flows  into  th< 

Ohio  from  Indiana,  a   small  stream,  the  course  of  whicl, 

is  the  dividing  line  between  Ohio  and  Dearborn  coun 

ties.  These  “ decoy  prisoners”  of  Shannon’s  company 

were  to  hail  Lochry’s  soldiers  when  appearing  an< 
induce  them  to  surrender  on  the  plea  that  the  India] 

warriors,  gathered  on  the  adjacent  shore,  were  over; 

whelmingly  in  the  ascendancy.  The  Lochry  part 

however  were  attacked  before  reaching  the  islanc 

probably  at  or  near  the  mouth  of  the  Lochry  Creel 

where  the  Americans  had  stopped  their  boats  an 

taken  their  horses  ashore  to  graze.  It  was  Augus 

24th  and  Lieutenant  Anderson  in  his  journal  say 

“   Colonel  Lochry  ordered  the  boats  to  land  on  th 
Indiana  shore,  about  ten  miles  below  the  mouth  c 

the  Great  Meyamee  (Miami)  River,  to  cook  provisior 

and  cut  grass  for  the  horses,  when  we  were  fired  o 

by  a   party  of  Indians  from  the  bank.  We  took  t 

our  boats,  expecting  to  cross  the  river,  and  were  fire 

on  by  another  party  in  a   number  of  canoes,  and  soc 

we  became  a   prey  to  them.  They  killed  the  colon 

and  a   number  more  after  they  were  prisoners.  Tin 

number  of  ours  killed  was  about  forty.  They  marchei 

us  that  night  about  eight  miles  up  the  river  and  ei 

camped.”  It  was  an  indescribable  massacre,  fort; 
two  were  shot  or  tomahawked  and  scalped  in  co: 
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lood,  among  them  Colonel  Lochry.  The  surviving 

•|  tty-two  men  were  made  prisoners.  The  assaulting 
J   dians  divided  the  plunder  and  the  prisoners  and  set 

<:  next  day  for  their  Ohio  towns,  meeting  before 

iparating,  a   party  of  British — one  hundred  rangers, 

;   cording  to  Butterfield — and  numerous  Indians,  all 
uder  Captains  Alexander  McKee,  Andrew  Thompson 

;   d   Simon  Girty. 

The  main  portion  of  this  force  hastened  on  to  the 

(   lio  to  watch  Clark  and  his  army,  which  had  taken 

carters  at  Louisville.  The  gory  disaster,  which 

( stroyed  Lochry’s  force  and  put  an  end  to  Clark’s 
jms  was  followed  by  an  episode  of  thrilling  interest, 

( ncerning  which  authorities  are  somewhat  in  conflict, 

1 1   which  must  not  go  unrecorded  in  our  narrative. 

According  to  the  Draper  Manuscripts  and  the 

bshington-Irvine  correspondence,  George  Girty  and 
jseph  Brant,  the  celebrated  Mohawk  chief,  were  with 

id  presumably  directed  the  Indians  who  intercepted 

;   d   killed  or  captured  the  members  of  Lochry’s  party. 
J st  why  Brant  should  have  been  there,  so  far  away 

f   »m  home,  at  that  time,  is  not  clear  and  Stone,  the 

bgrapher  of  Brant,  makes  no  mention  of  it.  But  the 

t   itimony  of  the  above  authorities,  accepted  by  Butter- 

f   ld,  is  that  after  the  defeat  of  Lochry,  when  George 

(rty  and  Brant,  having  started  on  their  return  to 

Indian  centers,  met  the  British  force  under  McKee 

d   Simon  Girty,  the  latter  and  Brant  fell  into  a   serious 

ercation.  Captain  Brant,  so  runs  the  story,  elated 

seer  the  success  of  his  encounter  with  Lochry,  and 

rfther  excited  by  potations  of  fire  water,  unduly 

[.l  isted  of  his  prowess  and  achievements  before  Simon 
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Girty,  whose  envy  was  unduly  aroused.  The  renegad 

probably  also  under  the  influence  of  his  favorite  beve 

age,  bluntly  told  the  imperious  Brant  that  he  lie< 

The  insult  was  instantly  resented  and  the  sava^ 

Thayendanego  (Brant),  according  to  the  person, 

statement  (in  1864)  to  Mr.  Draper  by  Mrs.  Sara 

Munger,  then  the  only  surviving  child  of  the  famoi 

Simon  Girty,  “   struck  a   sword  blow  across  the  rigl 

side  of  Girty’s  head,  inflicting  an  ugly  wound  over  tl 
right  ear  to  the  top  of  his  head,  so  that  the  beatii 

of  his  brain  was  plainly  discernible — the  wound  w; 
three  inches  long  and  when  healed  over  could  lay  one 

finger  lengthwise  in  the  place.  ”   It  came  nearly  te  , 
minating  the  career  of  the  venturesome  Girty,  who, , : 

soon  as  he  was  able  retired  to  Upper  Sandusky  whe 

he  remained  during  the  winter  of  1781-2.  He  ev 
after  carried  a   deep  scar  upon  his  forehead,  alwa 

explaining  that  he  had  received  the  saber-cut  in  battl 
Mrs.  Munger,  further  stated  to  Mr.  Draper  that  aft 

the  affair,  “   Brant  shed  tears  and  fell  on  his  knees  ar 

begged  Girty’s  forgiveness  and  Girty  forgave  hir 
they  subsequently  served  together  but  Girty  alwa 

represented  that  Brant  never  placed  himself  whe 

there  was  danger.  ” 

It  was  quite  certain  now  that  Clark’s  invasion 
the  interior  was  frustrated  and  it  required  mm 

persuasion  on  the  part  of  McKee  and  Brant  to  indu 

the  Indians  to  proceed  further  toward  the  Falls 

pursuit  of  Clark.  On  September  9th,  when  with 

thirty  miles  of  Louisville,  the  Indian  leaders  learn^ 

that  Clark  had  abandoned  his  expedition,  whereup< 

the  British  and  many  Indians  immediately  began  1 



CHIEF  JOSEPH  BRANT 

Born  about  1742  and  died  1807.  Mohawk  Indian  chief 

and  most  distinguished  warrior  of  the  Six  Nations.  He 

took  part  in  Pontiac’s  Wars.  His  sister  Molly  was  the 
wife  of  Sir  William  Johnson. 
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disperse  and  set  out  for  their  Canadian  and  Ohio 

settlements.  However,  according  to  Butterfield,  two 

hundred  Wyandots  and  Miamis,  under  McKee  and 

Brant,  moved  southward  into  Kentucky  “to  attack 
some  of  the  small  forts  and  infest  the  roads.”  McKee 

and  Brant’s  party,  with  which  was  George  Girty, 
succeeded  in  killing  a   number  of  men,  women  and 

children  at  Long  Run;  after  which,  these  warriors, 

too,  returned  to  their  homes. 

Clark’s  men  found  their  way  back  to  their  Kentucky, 
Pennsylvania  and  Virginia  homes  as  best  they  could 

and  thus  ended  the  fond  dream  of  the  intrepid  com- 
mander that  he  might  be  the  hero  of  the  capture  of 

Detroit. 

“I  am  sorry  to  hear,”  afterwards  wrote  Washington, 

“of  the  failure  of  General  Clark’s  expedition,  of  which 
I   was  always  doubtful,  as  it  was  to  be  carried  on  with 

militia.  But  of  this  I   am  convinced,  that  the  pos- 

session or  destruction  of  Detroit  is  the  only  means  of 

giving  peace  and  security  to  the  western  frontier,  and 

that  when  it  is  undertaken,  it  should  be  by  such  a 

force  as  should  not  risk  a   disappointment.” 





Chapter  XV. 

THE  MORAVIAN  MASSACRE 





[F  the  disappointment  of  Clark  was  great,  that  he could  not  accomplish  his  long-cherished  plan  to 
seize  the  British  stronghold  on  the  Detroit  River, 

it  must  have  been  in  great  measure  alleviated 

y   the  fact  that  when  his  disbanded  men,  after  wearied 

ourneyings,  reached  their  homes,  they  learned  of  the 

unerican  victory  and  the  British  surrender  at  York- 

Dwn,  which  occurred  on  October  19,  1781. 

On  the  6th  of  November,  1781,  General  Irvine  made 

fficial  announcement  of  “the  great  and  glorious  news” 
f   the  surrender  of  Cornwallis,  and  ordered  thirteen 

ieces  of  artillery  to  be  fired  in  Fort  Pitt  at  ten  o’clock, 

jid  Mr.  Chapman,  in  “Old  Pittsburgh  Days,”  adds, 

ae  further  glorious  proclamation  was  that  “The  com- 
lissaries  will  issue  a   gill  of  whiskey,  extraordinary,  to 

le  non-commissioned  officers  and  privates  upon  this 

)yful  occasion.”  As  the  higher  officials  and  the  citi- 
ens  were  not  limited  to  a   gill,  extraordinary,  there  is 

0   doubt  that  the  glad  news  was  ratified  in  right 

)yal  style  in  the  good  town  of  Pittsburg. 

American  independence  was  assured  and  the  Rev- 
lution  in  the  Seaboard  States  was  at  an  end.  Not 

)   however  in  the  trans-Allegheny  country.  There 

le  story  with  many  bloody  and  harrowing  details 
as  to  continue  for  more  than  a   decade. 

We  left  captive  Moravian  missionaries  in  the  pres- 

ice  of  de  Peyster,  on  that  bleak  November  day  after 

leir  journey  of  more  than  two  hundred  miles  from 

leir  Ohio  homes.  Their  examination  was  delayed  by 

ie  French  commandant,  until  the  arrival  of  Captain 

ipe,  who  was  to  be  the  principal  witness,  if  not  the 

ain  accusant.  Hearing  that  the  wily  chief  had  come 
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and  lay  encamped  near  the  Detroit  fort,  Zeisberge 

trustfully  turned  to  him  for  friendly  treatment,  sendin 

him  a   string  and  speech,  imploring  him  to  appeal  t( 

de  Peyster  in  behalf  of  the  captive  missionaries  tha 

they  might  be  restored  to  their  Ohio  homes  and  Indiai 

converts.  “How  sad  it  is,”  Zeisberger  writes  in  hi 

journal,  “to  know  that  our  fate  depends  upon  a   savagi 
and  he,  the  bitter  enemy  of  the  Gospel,  when  we  ar< 

H 

among  persons  who  call  themselves  Christians.”  Cap 
tain  Pipe  accepted  the  string  and  speech  but  made  n< 

promises.  The  trial  took  place  in  the  council-chambe 

of  de  Peyster’s  quarters,  the  next  day  after  Captaii 
Pipe  entered  Detroit  with  his  Delaware  and  Ming* 

bands,  exultantly  whooping  and  brandishing  the  scalp 
of  their  victims.  The  Delaware  chief  addressed  d 

Peyster  in  “a  very  remarkable  and  spirited  manner, 
stating  he  had  obeyed  orders  and  brought  the  Christia 

Indians  captive  to  Detroit  and  then  he  briefly  plea 

for  the  safety  of  the  Moravians,  stating  they  were  in 

nocent  of  wrong  against  the  British.  After  a   searchin 

examination  of  the  missionaries,  during  which  Zeis 

berger  made  a   lengthy  statement  of  the  Moravia 

attitude  towards  the  British  and  Americans,  d 

Peyster  gave  his  verdict  which  was  that  he  was  nc 

opposed  to  these  missionaries  preaching  the  Gosp< 

among  the  Indians,  but  that  they  must  not  medd 

with  the  war;  they  could  return  to  their  converts  an 

that  they  might  do  so  with  comfort  he  would  suppl 

them  with  clothing  from  the  public  stores. 

De  Schweinitz  in  commenting  on  the  above  even 

justly  remarks,  that  the  readiness  with  which  c 

Peyster  accepted  the  explanation  of  Captain  Pip 
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presents  his  character  in  a   favorable  light  when  com- 

pared with  that  of  Hamilton.  Like  his  predecessor, 

de  Peyster  encouraged  the  cruelties  of  Indian  warfare, 

“but  these  belonged  to  that  inhuman  policy  which 
the  Americans  had,  by  this  time,  learned  almost  as 

well  as  the  English.”  But  while  Hamilton  pursued  it 
with  violent  vindictiveness,  de  Peyster  regarded  it 

as  a   necessary  evil.  “The  one  was  a   vulgar  ruffian; 

the  other,  a   high-toned  gentleman.” 
Thus  honorably  released,  Zeisberger  and  his  party 

hastened  back  to  their  families  and  people  at  Cap- 

tives’ Town,  where  they  related  to  their  rejoicing  friends 
:he  narrative  of  their  journey  and  happy  acquittal. 

The  Moravian  exiles  longed  for  their  homes  on  the 

Tuscarawas,  but  those,  alas,  were  desolate  and  ruined; 

he  ruthless  result  of  the  destructive  invasion  of  Po- 

noacan,  Captains  Elliott  and  Pipe  and  their  British 

ind  tribal  forces,  in  the  early  fall  of  1781,  as  previously 

lescribed.  The  heartless  despoilers  however  had  left 

1   few  Indian  converts  in  the  three  Tuscarawas  centers, 

>ut  these  remaining  Moravian  dwellers  were  in  im- 

nediate  danger  not  only  from  the  hostile  Indians  of 

he  West  but  also  from  the  suspicious  whites  on  the 

)hio  frontier.  It  was  deemed  best  by  the  colonial 

lilitary  authorities  that  these  Moravian  villages  be 

ompletely  broken  up  and  the  few  tribesmen,  lingering 

lerein,  be  persuaded  to  move  further  away  or  seek 

ort  Pitt  for  protection.  To  carry  this  decision  into 

ffect,  a   company  of  some  seventy-five  Pennsylvania 

orderers,  commanded  by  Colonel  David  Williamson, 

"t  out  for  these  towns,  in  November  1781.  This  was 
hile  the  Zeisberger  exiles  were  on  their  way  to  Detroit. 

I 
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Colonel  Williamson,  on  arriving  at  the  Tuscarawas 

villages,  found  them  practically  destroyed  and  nearly 

deserted,  only  a   few  Indians  remaining  in  them.  These 

he  made  prisoners,  among  them,  Shebosh,  the  famous 

half-breed  convert,  and  carried  them  to  Fort  Pitt. 

But  Colonel  John  Gibson,  at  that  time  commandant 

of  the  fort,  released  them,  and  they,  in  spite  of  threaten- 

ing dangers,  returned  to  their  devastated  villages. 

The  Detroit  refugees,  therefore,  resolved  to  remain 

at  Captives’  Town  and  pursuant  to  that  determination 

and  as  a   thank  offering  for  their  deliverance,  they  pro- 

ceeded to  erect  a   temple  of  worship,  which  by  the 

first  of  December  was  completed  and  dedicated 

“a  structure  of  poles  laid  horizontally  between  up- 

right stakes,  the  crevices  being  filled  with  moss” 
a   crude  structure  but  harboring  the  faith  of  a   simpl 

folk  as  steadfast  and  ardent  as  that  of  the  early  Chris 

tian  martyrs. 

But  their  religious  zeal  did  not  put  clothing  or 

their  backs  nor  nourishing  food  in  their  starving  bodies 

It  was  a   winter  of  unusual  severity;  the  provisions  a 

Captives’  Town  soon  gave  out  and  there  was  no  sourc< 

of  supply  to  make  good  the  want.  “Many  a   time,’ 

in  that  winter,  wrote  Mrs.  Zeisberger,  “the  Indian 
shared  their  last  morsel  with  me,  for  many  a   time 

spent  eight  days  without  any  food  of  my  own.”  Ill 
the  midst  of  this  distress,  some  of  the  converts,  whor 

Williamson  had  carried  off  to  Pittsburg,  returning! 

took  refuge  amid  their  friends  at  Captives’  Town. 
When  the  suffering  and  want  was  at  its  worst,  Pc 

moacan,  the  Wyandot  Half-King,  to  whose  supei 

vision  they  were  subject,  visited  the  mission  an 

\k 

:'r0r 
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arned  of  their  desperate  condition,  and  while  rudely 

pressing  his  disapproval  of  their  preaching  and  pray- 
:   g,  he  granted  their  request  to  be  permitted  to  send 

;   portion  of  their  number  to  the  grain  fields  about 

i   eir  Tuscarawas  towns  where  corn  of  the  previous 

N   ar’s  husbandry  still  hung  unplucked.  It  was  late 
i   February  (1782),  as  soon  as  the  snow  began  slightly 

1   subside,  that  “about  one  hundred  and  fifty  Christian 

Idians” — the  younger  and  stronger  members  of  the 

iission — left  the  Captives’  Town  for  the  Tuscarawas, 
parcely  had  they  departed  when  a   runner  arrived  at 

zisberger’s  cabin,  summoning  him  to  the  Half-King’s 
\jlage.  There  he  found  a   council  of  Wyandots  and 

lillawares,  and  with  them  Simon  Girty,  who  brought 

a   message  from  de  Peyster  again  summoning  the 

nci  .chers  and  their  families  to  Detroit.  Little  wonder 
hi  iir  hearts  sank  within  them,  for  they  had  once  more 

b$ed  their  hopes  on  a   permanent  mission  on  the 

e   S   idusky,  which  should  be  as  prosperous  as  the  pre- 

)dief  us  ones  had  been  in  the  valley  of  the  Tuscarawas. 

n$I'  was  a   terrible  blow  to  their  leader  Zeisberger. 

ouif  i :   we  were  to  be  slain  it  would  be  better,  we  should 
Jin  be  relieved  of  all  our  troubles;  but  now  we  seem 

M(  be  reserved  for  many  deaths,  ”   he  wrote  in  his 
it#  mal. 

jiving  a   pledge  to  Girty  that  in  two  weeks  he  would, 

h   the  teachers  and  their  families,  meet  him  at 

ver  Sandusky,  Zeisberger  dispatched  runners  to  the 

ntry  round  about  and  to  the  Tuscarawas  to  recall 

-rjlj  converts,  that  all  might  prepare  for  the  departure 

>tthe  teachers.  Those  near  by  came  at  once,  but 
tise  from  the  Tuscarawas  came  not.  A   second  mes- 
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senger  was  sent  for  them  and  still  not  one  returnee 

Suddenly  there  arrived  in  the  Captives’  Town  a   Dela 
ware  warrior  with  the  startling  announcement  that  th 

Moravians  on  the  Tuscarawas  had  been  slaughters 

by  American  militia.  Zeisberger  could  not  credit  t 

story,  there  must  be  some  mistake,  or  it  was  a   fak 

rumor.  Gathering  his  faithful  followers  about  hii 

with  pathetic  exhortations  that  they  “stand  fast  i 

the  faith  and  endure  to  the  end,”  Zeisberger  and  h 
little  company  of  assistants,  Heckewelder  and  Sens 

man  and  their  families,  started  on  their  journey,  und 

guidance  of  the  Frenchman  Lavallie,  to  Lower  Sa 

dusky,  thence  they  were  escorted  to  Detroit  by  Sim 

Girty,  whom  Albach  charges  with  being  responsit 

for  their  recall  by  de  Peyster  on  the  charge  of  t 

renegade  that  the  Moravians  were  in  friendly  cori 

spondence  with  the  Americans  at  Pittsburg.  We  ca 

not  follow  that  weary  and  sad  journey  to  Detroit, 

we  have  more  heart-rending  scenes  to  recount. 
We  have  already  seen,  in  the  history  of  their  missi 

towns,  how  the  Moravian  Indians  were  the  subje<> 

of  suspicion,  hostility  and  ravaging  war  from  the  tv- 
fold  enemy;  on  the  one  hand,  the  British  and  th r 

savage  allies,  especially  the  Shawnees,  Mingoes  al 

Wyandots;  on  the  other,  at  times,  the  frontiersrri 

across  the  Ohio  on  the  borders  of  Pennsylvania  a;i 

Virginia.  The  location  of  the  Moravian  villages,  o 

well  chosen  for  their  proselyting  purpose,  was  on  e 

dividing  line  between  the  bitterly  contending  nation 

Both  sides,  took  advantage  of  the  Christian  neutral y 

of  these  devoted  Disciples  of  the  Prince  of  Peace, 

used  the  Moravian  villages  as  “half-way  houses,” -t 
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Which  to  “halt  and  refresh  themselves  whether  starting 

on  a   foray  or  returning  with  scalps  and  plunder.” 
The  hostile  tribesmen  regarded  the  Christian  Indians 

as  traitors  to  their  race  and  the  British  regarded  their 

‘neutrality”  as  a   guise  under  which  they  aided  the 
:olonists.  Moreover  the  marauding  tribesmen,  unable 

:o  goad  or  cajole  the  Moravians  into  complicity  with 

:hem,  took  malicious  pleasure  in  trying  to  embroil  them 

n   the  racial  conflict  and  on  returning  from  raids 

against  over-the-Ohio  settlements,  often  passed  through 
heir  towns  and  tarried  there  for  rest  and  carousal 

hereby  arousing  the  suspicion  of  the  frontiersmen 

hat  the  friendliness  of  the  Indian  converts  to  the  whites 

vas  not  sincere.  Colonel  Gibson  offered  them  pro- 

ection  at  Fort  Pitt;  de  Peyster  urged  them  to  take 

efuge  at  Detroit.  Loskiel  puts  it;  the  Half-King  of 

he  Wyandots,  tried  to  pursuade  them  to  abandon 

heir  dangerous  position  and  to  come  well  within  the 

British  lines,  saying:  “Two  mighty  and  angry  gods 
tand  opposite  to  each  other  with  their  mouths  wide 

>pen,  and  you  are  between  them,  and  are  in  danger  of 

)»eing  crushed  by  one  or  the  other  or  by  both.  ” That  the  frontier  settlers  should  have  preserved  full 

aith  in  and,  at  the  risk  of  their  lives,  protected  the 

Moravians,  there  was  every  reason  in  the  world;  the 

military  authorities  at  Fort  Pitt  knew  perfectly  well 

hat  the  Indians  of  the  missions  were  not  only  what 

ihey  pretended  to  be,  but  that  they  had  frequently 

eceived  information  from  them  of  intended  Indian 

aids  among  the  settlements  that  enabled  the  colonists 

b   defend  themselves.  Still  among  the  backwoodsmen 

his  knowledge,  for  obvious  reasons,  did  not  prevail 
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and  the  opinion  constantly  gained  ground  that  th<j| 
Moravian  settlements  on  the  Muskingum  were  simpl) 

temporary  quarters  for  the  “wild  Indians”  on  their I 
plundering  and  scalping  tours  and  that  the  frontiers- 1 
men  would  get  no  permanent  relief  until  those  village:  r.; 

were  once  for  all  wiped  out.  That  attempt  had  in  ? 
deed  already  been  made,  and  all  but  accomplished 

by  the  British  and  hostile  Indians,  and  the  doomec 

centers  of  Schoenbrunn,  Salem  and  Gnadenhutten,  a 

we  saw,  were  well-nigh  depopulated,  but  at  this  momen 

the  Christian  Indians,  who  rashly  remained  after  th< 

invasion  of  Pomoacan,  were  augmented  by  the  relief  r 

seeking  party  from  Captives’  Town;  the  absentees  tha  ‘ 
did  not  return  at  the  call  of  Zeisberger.  Strang 

destiny  that  these  peace-seeking  Moravians  shoul 
meet  their  dreadful  doom  at  the  hands  of  those  the 

had  befriended.  They  were  neutral,  it  is  true,  equall 

to  both  sides,  so  far  as  any  warlike  activity  was  con 

cerned,  but  their  sympathy  lay  with  the  Americanjij 

and  the  occasions  were  numerous  when  they  gav 
•   •   .   }   ii  ■ 
information,  often  life-saving,  to  the  frontiersmer 

This  was  the  complaint  of  the  British  and  the  charg 

of  the  tribesmen,  and  critical  authorities  have  not  faile 

to  note  that  in  their  plea  before  de  Peyster,  at  th 

first  hearing,  Zeisberger  and  his  assistants  madj  : 

stronger  denial  of  their  alleged  assistance  to  the  Amen 

cans,  than  the  actual  facts  warranted.  Even  if  tha| 

be  true,  the  customs  of  war,  if  not  the  rights  of  triam 

justified  the  averments  of  Zeisberger.  But  his  cha: 
acter  and  his  career  forbid  for  an  instant  the  belie 

that  he  intentionally  varied  from  the  strictest  trutl 
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It  should  be  also  acknowledged  that  one  cause  for 

iome,  at  least  slight,  justification  for  the  increasing 

tnmity  of  the  bordermen  for  the  Moravians,  was  the 

act,  inevitable  under  the  circumstances,  that,  at  times, 

ome  of  the  young  Christian  Indians  would  repudiate 

heir  conversion,  rejoin  their  heathen  brethren  and 

bith  the  latter  go  upon  the  warpath  against  the 
Americans. 

Events  during  the  winter  of  1781-2  were  especially 

xasperating  to  the  Ohio  frontiersmen.  The  “wild 

ndians,  ”   as  Roosevelt  calls  them,  from  the  Ohio 
iterior  had  made  many  petty  raids,  committing 

rutal  murders  in  the  unprotected  or  unwarned  back- 
roods  settlements.  These  deeds  and  the  recent  whole- 

ale  slaughter  of  Lochry’s  party,  cried  aloud  for  ven- 
eance,  and  this  sentiment  of  retaliation  against  the 

Moravians  was  perhaps  fanned  into  a   flame  in  Feb- 
aary,  when  a   band  of  savages  crossed  the  Ohio  at 

le  mouth  of  Yellow  Creek  and  stealthily  proceeding 

ong  the  dividing  ridge  between  King’s  and  Travis 
’eeks  attacked  the  cabin  of  Robert  Wallace.  The 
ock  was  killed,  the  cabin  looted  and  set  on  fire  and 

Irs.  Wallace  and  her  three  children,  one  an  infant, 

irried  away  prisoners.  The  mother  being  unable  to 

*ep  up  the  required  pace  of  rapid  retreat,  on  account 
the  burden  of  her  babe,  both  were  tomahawked  and 

-lried  in  a   hidden  grave  by  the  trailside. 
The  return  route  of  the  marauders  took  them  to 

le  Moravian  villages,  and  it  is  credibly  stated  by 

•me  chroniclers  that  the  blood-stained  dress  of  Mrs. 

rallace  was  found  in  the  possession  of  the  Christian 
idians.  The  date  and  details  of  the  Wallace  murder 

I 
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are  not  uniformly  related  by  its  various  reciters,  but 

be  that  as  it  may,  the  incident  in  the  main  is  typical 

of  the  period  and  representative  of  those  that  directly 

or  indirectly  led  to  the  massacre  at  Gnadenhutten. 

The  clamor  for  bloody  measures  at  last  reached  its 

climax  and  word  was  passed  along  in  Washington 

county,  Pennsylvania,  for  the  assembly  of  a   company 

willing  to  enter  upon  desperate  work. 

We  are  persuaded  that  careful  perusal  of  all  the 

available  evidence  in  this  affair  will  lead  to  the  con- 

viction that  the  expedition,  about  to  be  described,  was 

in  its  inception  and  execution  a   purely  volunteer  one 

and  without  any  county  or  state  authority,  military, 
or  civil. 

As  Mr.  William  M.  Farrar  shows,  in  his  thorough 

study,  the  results  of  which  were  presented  in  an  address 

to  the  Ohio  State  Archaeological  and  Historical  Society, 

the  affair  had  no  official  sanction,  much  less  direction 

“This  expedition  which  originated  in  the  western 
township  of  Washington  County,  Pennsylavnia,  during 

the  fall  and  winter  of  1781,  has  been  represented  a 

a   military  one,  authorized  by  the  lawfully  constitutec 

military  authority  of  that  county,  commanded  by  < 

regularly  commissioned  militia  officer,  and  called  ou 

in  the  regular  way.  And  yet  no  such  order  has  eve 

been  found,  nor  is  there  any  muster  roll  in  existenc 

giving  the  list  of  names  of  the  officers  and  private 

composing  the  expedition,  showing  to  what  companie 

or  battalion  of  the  enrolled  militia  of  the  country  the] 

belonged,  nor  has  any  claim  for  services  rendered ( 
damages  sustained,  provisions  furnished,  arms  pro 

vided,  or  property  lost,  ever  been  presented  eithe 
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igainst  the  state  or  general  government,  by  any  person 

claiming  to  have  been  a   member  of  the  expedition. 

Neither  is  there  any  official  report  of  the  expedition 

extant,  made  by  either  Col.  Williamson,  the  officer  in 

:ommand,  or  by  James  Marshal,  the  lieutenant  of  the 

:ounty  who  was  responsible  for  it,  if  any  such  expedition 

vas  ordered  out,  or  by  Brigadier  General  Irvine,  the 

commandant  at  Fort  Pitt  in  whose  department  it 

xxurred.” 
|   With  the  above  conclusion,  as  Mr.  Farrar  admits, 

Vlr.  Butterfield,  “an  accurate  and  careful  historian,” 
las  taken  issue.  But  Mr.  Butterfield  bases  his  opinion 

lpon  a   single  statement  made  by  General  Irvine  in 

i   letter  written  from  Fort  Pitt — two  months  after  the 

nassacre — May  3,  1782,  to  President  Moore  of  the 
Executive  Council  of  Pennsylvania.  In  September 

1781)  General  Brodhead  relinquished  his  office  to 

Colonel  John  Gibson  who  in  turn  was  superseded, 

)ctober  11,  by  General  William  Irvine,  as  commandant 

)f  the  Western  Military  Department.  General  Irvine 

vas  a   native  of  Ireland,  of  Scotch  descent,  a   graduate 

>f  the  Unversity  of  Dublin,  had  served  the  colonial 

:ause  in  the  Revolution  and  was  a   most  capable  and 

jtccomplished  officer. 
In  the  letter  mentioned  above,  General  Irvine  wrote: 

‘On  receipt  of  your  excellency’s  letter  of  the  13th  of 
kpril,  I   wrote  to  Colonel  James  Marshal,  who  ordered 

>ut  the  militia  to  go  to  Muskingum  [to  that  branch 

:nown  as  the  Tuscarawas]  for  his  and  Colonel  William- 

on’s  report  of  the  matter;  Colonel  Williamson  com- 
nanded  the  party.  Inclosed  you  have  their  letters 

o   me  on  the  subject  by  way  of  report.”  Mr.  Farrar, 
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after  quoting  the  above,  concludes:  “That  Genera 
Irvine  wrote  to  Marshal  and  Williamson  for  theii 

reports  of  the  matter,  and  transmitted  the  letten 

received  from  them  in  reply  to  the  President  of  the 

Council,  ‘by  way  of  report/  as  stated,  is  no  doub 
correct.  But  to  assume  that  these  were  the  officia 

reports  of  the  transaction  is  not  warranted.”  Perhap 
the  most  convincing  bit  of  evidence  of  the  guerrilL 

character  of  the  expedition  is  the  letter  of  Presiden 

Moore  to  General  Irvine,  on  May  30,  1782,  nearh 

three  months  after  the  event,  in  which  letter  Mr 

Moore  says:  “Your  favors  of  the  2d,  3d  and  9th  o 
the  present  month,  with  the  representations  made  b; 

Colonel  Williamson  and  Colonel  Marshal  have  bee] 

read  in  Council  and  shall  be  immediately  laid  befor 

Congress  as  a   matter  of  high  importance  to  the  rep 

utation  of  this  State  and  to  the  general  interest  an< 

honor  of  the  United  States;  we  request  that  you  wi 

continue  you  enquiries  on  this  subject  and  transmi 

us  such  information  from  time  to  time,  as  may  com 

to  your  knowledge  tending  to  elucidate  this  dark  tram 

action.”  This  apparently  exculpates  the  state  an 
national  authorities  from  any  sanction  or  even  fore 

knowledge  of  “this  dark  transaction.” 
A   letter  from  Lieutenant-Colonel  Edward  Cook  c 

Westmoreland  county,  to  President  Moore,  in  th 

following  September,  reveals  the  public  sentiment 

“The  Savages  have  been  tolerable  these  few  week 
Past,  what  they  are  about  we  Cannot  Determine, 

am  Informed  that  you  have  it  Reported  that  the  Mas 

sacre  of  the  Moravian  Indians  Obtain  the  Approbatio 

of  Every  man  on  this  side  of  the  Mountains,  which 
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assure  your  Excellency  is  false,  that  the  Better  Part 

}f  the  Community  are  of  Opinion  the  Perpetrators  of 

:hat  Wicked  Deed  ought  to  be  Brought  to  Condein 

[Punishment,  that  without  something  is  Done  by  Gov- 

ernment in  the  Matter,  it  will  Disgrace  the  Annals  of 

;he  United  States,  and  be  an  Everlasting  Plea  and 

Pover  for  British  Cruelty.” 
This  controversy,  however,  as  to  the  authority  or 

ion-authority  for  the  expedition  is  not  pertinent  to 

he  relation  of  the  facts  of  the  campaign;  the  discussion, 

ather,  is  evoked  for  the  purpose  of  mitigating,  if  pos- 

sible, the  responsibility  of  the  proceedings  by  relieving 

he  American  military  and  civil  officers  of  all  blame 

>y  the  plea  that  it  rested  on  a   “mob”  of  unlicensed 
>ackwoodsmen.  That  many  of  these  men  were  of 

igh  standing  among  their  neighbors,  there  is  no 

oubt  and  not  a   few  belonged  to  the  militia,  though, 

s   Roosevelt  suggests:  “It  was  of  course,  just  such  an 
xpedition  as  most  attracted  the  brutal,  the  vicious 

nd  the  ruffianly;  but  a   few  decent  men,  to  their 

hame,  went  along.”  But  that  the  company  was 

unofficial”  is  clearly  established.  General  Irvine 
Duld  not  have  issued  orders  for  its  organization  or 

ction  and  Albach  notes  that  “as  soon  as  General 

'ibson  heard  of  their  designs,  he  dispatched  messengers 

)   the  Indians  to  warn  them  of  their  danger,  but  they 

rrived  too  late.” 

It  was  “on  Monday,  the  4th  of  March,”  says  Mr. 

arrar,  when  “men  in  couples,  squads  and  singly,  on 
)rseback  and  on  foot,  appeared  suddenly  on  the 

ist  bank  of  the  River  Mingo  [in  Ohio],  crossed  over 

•   the  west  side,  where,  when  all  had  assembled,  they 



330 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

chose  officers,  and  on  the  next  morning  disappeared, 

going  west  along  the  old  Moravian  trail  up  Cross 

Creek.” 
They  numbered  between  eighty  and  ninety,  when 

assembling  at  the  Mingo,  some  fifty  more  had  started 

from  Washington  county;  but  the  Ohio  River  being 

high  and  difficult  to  cross  and  the  weather  cold  and 

stormy,  one-third  of  the  original  volunteers  abandoned 

the  undertaking  and  turned  back.  Many  of  these  men 

had  not  told  their  own  families  of  the  purpose  of  theii 

departure  or  where  they  were  going;  each  man  furnishe 

his  own  ammunition,  arms,  and  provisions;  and  those 

who  were  mounted  furnished  their  own  horses.  Ai 

Mingo  Bottom  they  elected  David  Williamson  captain 

a   choice  probably  well  agreed  upon  by  the  prospective 

volunteers  before  the  expedition  was  under  way,  fo 

Williamson  was  a   native  Pennsylvanian  of  the  age  o 

thirty;  a   captain  in  the  county  militia;  possessed  o 

all  the  qualities  of  a   brave  and  heroic  frontiersman 

On  Wednesday  evening  they  encamped  within  on< 

mile  of  Gnadenhutten,  carefully  concealing  their  ap 

proach  until  the  next  morning,  when  dividing  thei 

force,  they  moved  upon  the  village  from  both  sides  o 

the  river,  Williamson  sending  one  company  to  strik 

the  river  below  the  town,  a   second  to  cross  the  strear 

above  and  cut  off  retreat  in  that  direction,  while  th 

third  company,  forming  the  center,  should  advanc 

upon  the  place  directly. 

Their  coming  was  discovered  by  Joseph  Shebosl 

— son  of  John  Joseph  Shebosh,  an  early  convert — 

half-breed  and  one  of  the  most  prominent  Christia 

Indians,  who  was  killed  and  scalped  while  piteousl 

id 
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eading  for  his  life.  Others  were  shot  or  tomahawked 

ffore  the  town  was  entered.  They  found  most  of 

lie  Indians  in  the  adjacent  fields,  quietly  gathering  the 

I   >rn.  Heckewelder  in  his  Narrative  implies  that  their 

;ry  occupation  and  appearance  was  evidence  of  their 

pn-combative  disposition:  “The  Christian  Indians 
jere  well  known  by  their  dress,  which  was  plain  and  de- 

nt., no  sign  of  paint  to  be  seen  on  their  skin  or  cloathes 

-no  feathers  about  their  heads,  nor  these  shaved  and 
immed,  as  every  Indian  warrior  does ;   but  wearing  their 

lir  as  we  do.  These,  with  other  marks  on  them,  were 

one  sufficient  to  prove  that  they  were  not  warriors.” 

And  Mr.  Stone,  in  his  “Life  of  Brant,”  pays  this 

ibute  to  the  Moravians:  “A  more  humble,  devout, 
id  exemplary  community  of  Christians,  probably, 

as  not  at  that  day  to  be  found  in  the  new  world, 

nder  the  untiring  instructions  of  their  missionaries, 

ey  had  been  taught  the  dress  and  practices  of  civil- 
td  life.  They  were  tillers  of  the  soil,  and  had  become 

I   well  acquainted  with  the  usages  of  society,  and  were 
I   well  furnished  with  the  necessaries  and  some  of  the 

xuries  of  life,  that  they  could  set  a   comfortable  table 

-   id  a   cup  of  coffee  before  a   stranger.  ” 
Feigning  a   friendly  behavior,  the  Americans  re- 

vested them  to  assemble  in  the  village  and  “even 
;   etended  to  pity  them  on  account  of  the  mischief 

one  to  them  by  the  English  and  the  savages;  assuring 

em  of  the  protection  and  friendship  of  the  Ameri- 

ins.”  The  confiding  converts,  not  knowing  of  the 
:   arders  already  committed,  returned  to  their  village 

|   its  and  offered  to  the  Americans  such  hospitality 

they  could  provide. 
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With  resignation  the  Indians  received  the  infoi 

mation  that  they  would  not  be  permitted  to  return  t 

the  Sandusky  but  would  be  taken  to  Fort  Pitt,  wher 

they  would  be  free  from  any  harm  either  by  the  Britis. 

or  by  the  “wild  Indians.”  Relying  upon  this  assurance 

“they  cheerfully  delivered  their  guns,  hatchets  an 
other  weapons,  to  the  murderers;  who  promised  t 

take  care  of  them  and  in  Pittsburg  to  return  ever 

article  to  its  rightful  owner.” 
Meanwhile  one  or  more  of  the  beguiled  Indians 

accompanied  by  members  of  Williamson’s  company 
were  despatched  to  Salem  to  summon  the  Moravian 

at  that  place  to  Gnadenhutten.  These  Salem  Indians 

likewise,  unquestionably  accepted  the  message  tha 

on  their  arrival  at  Gnadenhutten  they  would  be  prc 

tected  by  the  Americans  and  taken  to  Pittsburg 

where  they  believed  they  would  be  well  cared  for.  Bu 

the  confiding  trust  of  the  Salem  party,  in  their  pre 

tended  protectors,  was  of  short  duration,  for  as  the 

entered  Gnadenhutten  they  were  at  once  surrounde 

by  the  armed  frontiersmen,  robbed  of  their  guns  an 

even  of  their  pocket-knives  and  conducted,  bound  an 

defenseless,  into  the  village,  where  they  were  divide 

and  confined  in  two  of  the  log  houses,  in  which  th 

Gnadenhutten  Indians  had  been  imprisoned,  th 

women  and  children  in  one  and  the  men  in  the  othe: 

Among  the  assailants  there  were,  however,  some  i 

whom  conscience  and  humanity  were  not  entirel 

extinct  and  their  non-compliance  with  the  most  extrem 

measures  led  the  company  to  deliberate  during  th 

day  of  the  seventh,  on  what  should  be  the  fate  of  the 

victims.  Some  of  Williamson’s  men,  realizing  th 
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lormity  of  their  original  purpose,  were  in  favor  of 

leasing  the  Indians,  or  at  worst  taking  them  captive 

>   Fort  Pitt,  where  the  United  States  authorities  would 

i   responsible  for  the  sequence;  “some  were  for 

irning  them  alive,  others  for  taking  their  scalps.” 

oddridge  in  his  notes  reports:  “A  council  of  war  was 

pld  to  decide  their  fate.  The  officers,  unwilling  to 

ke  on  themselves  the  whole  responsibility  of  the  awful 

incision,  agreed  to  refer  the  question  to  the  whole 

limber  of  men.” 

The  men  were  accordingly  drawn  up  in  line  and  the 

mmandant  Captain  Williamson,  who,  it  is  claimed, 

las  opposed  to  violent  measures,  put  the  question  to 

em:  “   Whether  the  Moravian  Indians  should  be 

ken  prisoners  to  Pittsburg  or  put  to  death?”  and 

■quested  that  all  those  who  were  in  favor  of  saving 

'   eir  lives  should  step  out  of  rank.  On  this,  eighteen, 

one  in  five — “a  paltry  eighteen,”  stepped  forward 

;   d   formed  themselves  into  a   second  line;  “but  alas! 

i   is  line  of  mercy  was  far  too  short  for  that  of  ven- 

jance.”  The  mode  of  execution  created  not  a   little 

(bate.  At  last  it  lay,  says  De  Schweinitz,  between 

t   o   proposals;  one,  to  set  fire  to  the  guard-houses  and 

1   rn  the  captives  alive;  the  other,  which  prevailed, 

t   tomahawk  and  scalp  them.  The  fate  of  the  Mora- 

tms  was  thus  decided  and  they  were  told  to  prepare 

I*  death.  Captain  Williamson,  one  of  his  company 

«   erwards  testified,  “did  what  he  could  in  a   mild,  argu- 

fk  sort  of  way,”  to  avert  the  carrying  out  of  the 
cpadful  decision,  but  all  to  no  avail.  This  was  the 

ebning  of  the  seventh,  the  very  day  the  Moravians 

hi  previously  agreed  upon  to  set  out  on  their  return 



334  THE  RISE  AND  PROGRES 

to  Captives’  Town  with  the  provisions  of  relief  fi 
their  distressed  brethren.  But  the  terror-stricke 

prisoners  from  the  time  they  were  disarmed  and  place 

in  confinement,  foresaw  their  fate  and  “   began  the; 

devotions  of  singing  hymns,  praying  and  exhortin': 

each  other  to  place  a   firm  reliance  in  the  mercy  of  tl 

Savior  of  Men.  ” 

When  their  fate  was  told  them,  “these  devot 
people  embraced,  kissed,  and  bedewing  each  other 

faces  and  bosoms  with  their  mutual  tears,  asked  pardc 

of  the  brothers  and  sisters  for  any  offense  they  migl 

have  given  them  through  life.  ”   Solemnly  protestir 
their  innocence,  they  nevertheless  declared  themselv 

willing  to  die  and  asked  no  favor  other  than  time 

prepare  for  death.  This  was  granted  them  and 

following  morning  fixed  for  the  execution. 

“There  now  ensued  a   scene  that  deserves  to  find 

place  in  the  history  of  the  primitive  martyrs;  shut 

in  their  two  prisons,  the  converts  began  to  sing  ai 

pray,  to  exhort  and  comfort  one  another,  to  mutual 

unburden  their  consciences  and  acknowledge  the 

sins.”  “As  the  hours,”  says  De  Schweinitz,  “wo 
away,  and  the  night  deepened,  and  the  end  drew  nea 

triumphant  anticipations  of  heaven  mingled  with  the 

hymns  and  prayers;  converted  heathens  taught  the 

Christian  slayers  what  it  means  to  die,  as  more  th;f 

conquerors.” 
At  last  the  morning  broke,  “the  air  was  raw  ai 

chilly,  and  gusts  of  wind  and  soft  snow  would  at  tim 

sweep  through  the  air,”  and  the  slayers,  impatie 
to  begin  their  work  of  blood,  brutally  called  to  th«r 

captives,  whether  they  would  not  soon  be  ready. 
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ire  now  ready,”  was  the  reply.  Several  of  the  butch- 
srers  immediately  seized  Abraham,  surnamed  the 

VIohiean,  one  of  the  patriarchs  of  the  converts,  “   whose 
ong,  flowing  beard  had  attracted  their  notice  the  day 

before  as  fit  for  making  a   fine  scalp,  tied  him  and 

mother  convert  with  a   rope,  and  dragged  them  to 

the  cooper  shop,  the  “slaughter  house,”  selected  for 
the  killing  of  the  men.  The  two  were  deliberately 

>lain  and  scalped.  The  rest,  says  De  Schweinitz, 

vhose  account  we  are  closely  following,  suffered  in 

the  same  way,  two  by  two.  When  all  the  men  and 

Doys  were  dead,  the  women  and  small  children  were 

Drought  out,  two  by  two  as  before,  taken  to  the 

‘slaughter  house”  selected  for  the  women,  and  “dis- 

Datched  with  the  same  systematic  barbarity.  ”   Toma- 
lawks,  mallets,  war-clubs,  spears,  and  scalping  knives 
Arere  used  to  effect  the  slaughter. 

It  appears  only  a   portion  of  the  Williamson  company 

icted  as  assassins,  the  remainder  approvingly  witness- 
ng  the  butchery,  save  the  eighteen  who  voted  against 

:he  wholesale  murder;  these  heroes  of  humanity  would 

lot  even  countenance  the  crime  by  their  presence 

md  betook  themselves  to  a   position  on  the  river  bank 

Adhere  they  might  not  see  the  enactment  of  the  dam- 
lable  taking  off  of  the  innocent  Indians. 

“Thus,”  reports  Loskiel,  “ninety-six  persons  mag- 
lified  the  name  of  the  Lord,  by  patiently  meeting 

i   cruel  death.”  Sixty-two  were  grown  persons  and 
hirty-four  were  children.  Five  of  the  adults  were 

‘most  valuable  assistants” — teachers  of  the  Moravian 
aith;  one  being  Isaac  Glikkikan,  formerly  the  great 

varrior,  and  chief  of  the  Wolf  clan  of  the  Delawares, 
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after  his  conversion  one  of  the  most  illustrious  and 

faithful  of  the  Indian  converts;  likewise  his  wife,  Anna 

Benigna,  who  took  the  pony  of  one  of  the  Sandusky 

warriors  and  rode  all  night  to  notify  the  garrison  at 

Fort  McIntosh  of  the  proposed  Indian  attack  on  Fort 

Henry;  another  was  Captain  Johnny,  the  chief  of  the 

Turtle  clan  of  the  Delaware  tribe.  Only  two  escaped, 

Jacob,  a   young  boy,  who  slipped  through  a   trap  door 
into  the  cellar  of  the  house  in  which  were  slain  the 

women  and  children;  escaping  he  hid  in  a   clump  of 

hazel  bushes  and  was  afterwards  joined  by  another 

Indian  boy,  Thomas,  who,  struck  on  the  head  by  a 

mallet,  and  scalped,  lay  as  if  dead  until  night,  when 

he  got  away  and  joined  Jacob.  In  their  place  of 

secretion  these  two  lads,  of  fourteen  and  fifteen  years 

of  age,  watched  the  murderers  set  fire  to  the  “   slaughter 

houses”  and  umake  merry  over  the  result  of  their 
work  and  then  with  savage  shouts  and  oaths  start  for 

Schoenbrunn,  ”   where  they  expected  to  repeat  the  crime 
committed  at  Gnadenhutten. 

But  the  dwellers  at  Schoenbrunn  had  received  news; 

by  messengers  of  the  attack  on  Gnadenhutten  and 

providentially  made  their  escape  and  when  William- 

son’s band  appeared  they  found  the  village  deserted 
and  were  obliged  to  satiate  their  war-lust  by  looting 

the  houses  and  setting  the  town  on  fire.  Returning  to 

Gnadenhutten  the  incendiary  work  was  made  complete 

by  the  burning  of  the  “slaughter  houses,”  the  bloody 
bodies  of  the  dead  therein  being  reduced  to  heaps  of 

ashes.  Seizing  the  plunder,  a   rapid  retreat  was  made 

for  their  home  settlements.  “They  must  have  traveled 

all  night,”  according  to  Farrar,  “for  they  reached 
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Mingo  late  in  the  afternoon  of  Saturday,  where  they 

lalted  only  long  enough  to  readjust  the  packages  of 

blunder  to  their  horses,  when  they  recrossed  the  river 

md  disappeared  from  public  notice  as  completely  as 

f   they  had  perished  in  crossing  the  stream.” 

In  the  stories  of  “Our  Western  Border,”  by  Charles 
McKnight,  the  harrowing  details  of  the  Moravian 

nassacre  are  presented  as  told  by  the  Rev.  Edward 

Christy,  who  as  a   member  of  Williamson’s  company, 

vas  “a  protesting  and  horrified  witness  of  the  dreadful 

Irama,  ”   being  one  of  the  eighteen  who  refused  to 

>articipate  in  the  infamous  slaughter.  Christy’s  re- 
ital,  told  in  language  of  such  lurid  realism  as  to  well 

dgh  suggest  dramatic  exaggeration,  gives  the  final 

cene  as  follows:  “Hastily  gathering  up  their  ill- 
otten  and  blood-stained  plunder,  they  started  for 
ome,  driving  before  them  about  fifty  stolen  horses, 

ome  two  weeks  later  a   band  of  Williamson’s  men 
narched  to  Smoky  Island,  opposite  Fort  Pitt;  attacked 

settlement  of  peaceful  and  friendly  Delawares  dwell- 

lg  there,  under  Killbuck  and  Big  Cat.  The  assaulting 

ordermen  killed  several  of  the  Indians.  The  rest, 

rith  their  chief,  fled  to  Sandusky.  The  borderers, 
fter  the  devastation  of  Smoky  Island  proceeded  to 

ittsburg,  boasting  of  their  inhuman  atrocities,  and 

iding  their  brutalities  by  having  a   public  vendue  of 

11  the  blankets,  guns,  horses  and  other  booty  so  vilely 

id  meanly  stolen.” 

We  grant  the  last  word  concerning  this  “deed  of 

readful  note”  that  reddens  the  bloodiest  page  in 

merican  history,  an  ensanguined  story  that  “all  the 

-rfumes  of  Arabia  cannot  sweeten,”  to  Edmund  De 
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Schweinitz,  who  was  the  principal  speaker  at  the 

dedication  of  the  monument,  June  5,  1872,  at  Gnaden- 

hutten,  when  the  marble  shaft  now  standing  in  the 

village  cemetery,  near  the  scene  of  the  slaughter,  was 

put  in  place  to  commemorate  the  event  of  ninety  years 

before.  There  was  then  present  a   concourse  of  people 

among  whom  there  mingled  with  equal  interest  and 

veneration,  descendants  of  the  martyred  Moravians 

and  of  the  men  under  Williamson.  In  his  life  of  Zeis- 

berger,  De  Schweinitz  closes  his  description  of  that 

never  to  be  forgotten  day,  in  March,  1781,  in  these 

words:  “It  was  not  carnage  perpetrated  in  the  flush 
of  victory,  ere  the  heat  and  passion  of  battle  have 

passed  away.  It  was  not  as  when  a   long-beleagurec 

city  is  taken,  and  half-intoxicated  horsemen  dasl 
through  the  streets,  hewing  right  and  left  with  thei 

sabers,  and  sparing  neither  age  nor  sex.  It  was 

butchery  in  cold  blood,  without  the  least  excitatioi 

of  feeling,  as  leisurely  and  dispassionately  done  a 

when  animals  are  slaughtered  for  the  shambles.  ” 



Chapter  XVI. 

THE  EXPEDITION  AGAINST  SANDUSKY 





IN  “Annals  of  the  West,”  the  author,  James  R. Albach — an  interesting  writer  but  a   fallible  author- 

ity—erroneously  asserts:  “The  success  of  the  ex- 
pedition of  Williamson,  excited  the  borderers  to 

prepare  another  invasion  of  the  Indian  country,  to 

inish  the  destruction  of  the  Christian  Indians  by  the 

nassacre  of  the  fugitives  at  Sandusky;  it  was  set  on 

:‘oot  immediately  after  the  return  of  Williamson’s 

party  from  the  Muskingum.” 
Public  sentiment  among  the  borderers,  as  we  have 

ilready  shown,  would  not  have  tolerated  another 

:rime  like  that  at  Gnadenhutten.  Preparations, 

lowever,  were  at  once  set  on  foot  for  an  expedition 

igainst  the  Indians  of  Sandusky,  but  it  was  directed 

ligainst  the  hostile  tribesmen,  the  allies  of  England, 

dwelling  at  that  place,  and  not  against  the  Moravians, 

is  Albach  would  have  it  believed. 

The  British  defeated  and  the  Revolution  at  an  end 

n   the  East,  the  hopes  of  England  and  the  efforts  of 

ter  waning  power  centered  in  the  Northwest,  and  de 

Oyster  pushed  with  redoubled  energy  his  policy  of 

allying  and  urging  forth  the  Ohio  tribes  against 

iirther  encroachments  by  the  borderers.  De  Peyster 

ad  not  abandoned  plans  against  Fort  Pitt,  while  the 

unericans  now  renewed  their  long  cherished  designs 

p   possess  Detroit.  The  Revolution  was  indeed  to 

ontinue  to  rage  with  unabated  savagery  in  the  Ohio 

Duntry. 

It  was  the  memorable  year  of  1782,  the  “bloody 

ear,”  in  which  were  enacted  so  many  woeful  and 

’agic  events.  The  Wyandot  settlement  known  as 
andusky,  became,  during  this  period,  the  storm  center 
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of  the  contending  British-Indian  and  American  forces 
It  was  in  the  midst  of  the  territory  in  which  were  locatec 

the  Wyandots,  Shawnees,  Delawares  and  Mingoes. 

Referring  to  the  modern  map  of  Ohio,  it  will  be  seen 

that  the  Sandusky  River,  originating  at  the  “Palmer 

Springs’’  in  Springfield  township,  Richland  county, 
where  it  is  called  the  Little  Sandusky,  flows  west 

through  Crawford  county,  Bucyrus  now  being  on  its 

banks,  into  Wyandot  county,  in  which  it  turns  north 

and  finds  its  way  through  Seneca  and  Sandusky  coun- 
ties, watering  the  present  towns  of  Tiffin  and  Fremont 

and  finally  emptying  into  the  Sandusky  Bay.  Just 

before  emerging  from  Wyandot  county,  the  Sandusk) 

or  Little  Sandusky  River,  is  joined  by  the  Tymochtee 

a   Wyandot  word  meaning  “around  the  plains.”  Th( 

“plains”  was  the  level  section  bounded,  in  general 
on  the  north  by  the  (Little)  Sandusky,  on  the  east  b) 

the  Olentangy,  on  the  south  by  the  Scioto,  and  or 

the  west  by  the  Tymochtee. 

These  “plains”  lying  between  the  headwaters  o 
the  Sandusky  and  Tymochtee,  that  flowed  north  an 

those  of  the  Olentangy  and  Scioto  that  flowed  south 

were  in  those  Indian  days  overgrown  with  high  coars 

grass,  with  here  and  there  slight  surface  elevation 

called  “islands”  which  were  covered  with  timber 

Over  these  “Sandusky  Plains,”  some  forty  miles  h 
extent,  east  and  west,  and  perhaps  reaching  twent; 

miles,  north  and  south,  says  Butterfield,  “birds  of 

strange  plumage”  flew  and  “prairie  hens  sailed  awa> 
slowly  dropping  into  the  grass,  while  sand-hill  crane 

blew  their  shrill  pipes;”  “prairie  owls,  on  cumbrou 
wings,  fluttered  away  in  the  distance  and  the  nois 
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bittern  was  heard  along  the  streamlets;  wild  geese  were 

frightened  from  their  nests,  and  occasionally  a   bald 

or  gray  eagle,  soared  far  above  them;  many  fox- 
squirrels  were  seen  and  rattlesnakes  were  also  found  to 

be  very  numerous.  ”   Deer,  turkeys  and  pheasants  there 

were  in  abundance.  Little  wonder  that  “   these  plains 

jwere  always  a   favorite  hunting-ground  for  the  Indians.  ” 
In  these  “plains”  the  Wyandots  had  chosen  the 

ocation  of  their  most  eastern  headquarters,  and  called 

the  town  Sandusky  after  the  river  upon  which  it  was 

ocated.  The  Wyandots  were  numbered  among  the 

thief  allies  of  the  British  and  the  council-house  of  their 

Northwestern  Confederacy  was  at  the  site  of  Browns- 
:own  on  the  Detroit  River.  There  was  the  permanent 

residence  of  their  Half-King,  but  in  the  later  years  of 
:he  Revolution,  when  affairs  between  the  British  and 

\mericans  became  acute,  Pomoacan  took  up  his  tem- 
porary abode  at  Sandusky.  The  latter  therefore 

)ecame  a   town  of  great  importance.  This  fierce 

varrior  tribe  had  gradually  pushed  from  the  northwest 

akes  into  the  Ohio  country;  their  favorite  abodes 

>eing  on  the  Sandusky  River,  on  the  bay  of  which 

vere  their  first  Ohio  villages. 

As  with  all  Indian  tribes,  according  to  the  exigencies 

>f  peace  and  war,  their  towns  were  changed,  from  time 

o   time,  both  as  to  location  and  name,  thus  causing 

auch  confusion  in  the  recital  of  their  history.  From 

!he  mouth  of  the  river,  they  naturally  worked  up  the tream  into  the  interior  and  “the  name  Sandusky,  as 
pplicable  to  their  principal  town  upon  that  river 

eems  to  have  come  into  use  after  the  occupation  of 

he  western  posts,  by  the  English,  in  1760.” 
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The  Sandusky  town,  concerning  which  we  now 

speak,  the  Wyandot  center,  so  prominent  in  Indian 

affairs  through  the  Revolutionary  period,  was  situated 

on  the  west  bank  of  the  river  bearing  the  same  name, 

five  miles  below,  that  is  north  of,  the  present  town  of 

Upper  Sandusky.  Much  confusion  arises  from  the 

indiscriminate  use,  by  writers,  of  the  names  Sandusky 

and  Upper  Sandusky,  their  sites  being  in  such  juxta- 

position, though  the  towns  under  those  respective 

names  did  not  exist  contemporaneously.  The  old 

Wyandot  Sandusky  was  called  even  in  its  day  Upper 

Sandusky.  The  latter  as  a   town  was  established 

many  years  later,  became  the  final  Ohio  home  of  the! 

Wyandots,  the  location  of  their  mission,  and  later  was 

made  the  site  of  the  county  seat.  Four  miles  north- 

east of  the  present  Upper  Sandusky  there  was  a   Wyan- 

dot town  called  Upper  Sandusky,  also  Crane’s  Town, 
which  was  the  residence  of  Tarhe,  the  Crane,  a   famous 

Wyandot  chief,  of  whom  we  shall  hear  much  anon. 

In  1818  the  Wyandots  transferred  their  council-house 

from  the  Crane’s  Town  to  the  site  of  the  present  Upper 
Sandusky,  giving  it  at  the  time  of  their  removal,  that 
name. 

Sandusky  was  near  the  point  of  portage  on  that 

famous  waterway  between  Lake  Erie  and  the  Ohio. 

From  time  out  of  mind,  the  travel  and  trade  between! 

Canada  and  the  Mississippi  found  a   favorite  water 

route,  by  way  of  the  Sandusky  River,  from  its  bay  up 

the  stream  to  the  junction  of  the  west  branch,  known 

as  the  Little  Sandusky,  thence,  at  a   point  about  five- 

miles  west  of  the  site  of  Bucyrus,  over  a   portage  to 

the  Little  Scioto,  the  northeast  branch  of  the  Scioto 
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Tis  portage,  over  which  the  barks  and  canoes  were 

arried,  was  from  four  to  two  miles  in  extent  and  it 

claimed  even  less,  according  to  the  season  of  high 

r   low  waters  in  the  rivers.  Through  Sandusky, 

herefore,  passed  the  traders  and  the  going  and  coming 

ands  of  warriors.  It  was  not  only  a   chief  trading 

ost  for  the  tribesmen  and  the  British,  but  it  was  made 

he  principal  depot  in  the  Ohio  interior  from  which 

he  British  distributed  their  arms  and  provisions  to 

heir  Indian  allies,  making  it  also  the  rendezvous  at 

finch  they  could  rally  the  tribesmen  for  border  forays, 

uch  was  Sandusky  at  the  time  our  narrative  has 

"ached.  It  was  the  menacing  outpost  of  the  British 
nd  the  stronghold  of  the  Wyandots,  who  had  many 

ther  but  smaller  villages  down  the  river  and  in  the 

ountry  to  the  west,  it  being  estimated  that  in  Sandusky 

id  immediate  vicinity,  not  far  from  seven  hundred 

j/yandots  found  their  home  and  that  their  war  chief 
puld  summon  no  less  than  four  hundred  warriors  from 

le  country  round  about.  It  was  from  this  Sandusky 

pighborhood  that  Pomoacan  and  Elliott,  with  their 

tvage  band  marched  (1781)  against  the  Moravian 

llages  on  the  Muskingum  and,  after  looting  the  towns, 
irried  the  missionaries  and  the  Christian  Indians 

ptive  to  the  Sandusky  River,  locating  them  some 

ven  miles  south  of  Sandusky,  in  the  territory  of  the 

plains,”  where,  says  Loskiel,  “the  exiles  pitched 

)on  the  best  spot  they  could  find  in  this  dreary  waste.  ” 
Upon  the  Tymochtee,  near  the  present  site  of 

irawfordsville,  eleven  miles  from  the  Wyandot  San- 

isky,  the  Delawares  had  a   village,  called  Pipe’s  Town, 
lere  resided  the  warrior  chief  Captain  Pipe.  Some 
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thirty  miles  east  of  Sandusky,  close  to  the  presen 

location  of  Leesville,  was  another  Delaware  village 

which,  at  this  time,  was  the  abode  of  the  noted  wa 

chief  Wingenund.  It  was  this  “   country  of  the  enemy 5 
that  the  borderers  now  proposed  to  invade,  penetratin 

to  its  very  stronghold,  which  must  be  destroyed. 
General  Irvine  was  absent  from  Fort  Pitt  at  th 

time  of  the  Moravian  massacre  at  Gnadenhutter 

Upon  his  return  shortly  thereafter,  he  gave  his  attentio 

to  the  renovation  and  reparation  of  the  fort,  which  hjj 

found  in  a   sorry  condition,  and  to  the  strengthens 

and  reequipment  of  the  garrison  force,  which  consiste 

of  only  about  two  hundred  men  fit  for  service,  and  q 

these  a   number  were  detached  for  duty  at  Fort  McL 
tosh  and  elsewhere. 

The  matter  of  an  offensive  warfare  against  the  0h; 
Indians,  especially  the  proposed  scheme  against  Sai 

dusky,  promptly  received  the  attention  of  the  sagaciot 

and  courageous  commander.  The  Washington-Irvii 
correspondence  reveals  that,  as  early  as  April,  c 

expedition  against  Sandusky  was  being  considere 

Besides  the  question  of  their  offensive  military  mov 

ment,  there  was  “ another  kind  of  enterprise”  the 

agitating  the  borderers.  Irvine  outlines  this  “entei 

prise”  in  a   letter  to  Washington,  written  in  Ap 

(1872):  “Emigrations  and  new  states  are  mu< 
talked  of;  advertisements  are  set  up,  announcing i 
day  to  assemble  at  Wheeling  for  all  who  wish  to  becor 

members  of  a   new  state  on  the  Muskingum.”  P 

proceeds  to  say  further  “should  these  people  actual r 

emigrate,  they  must  be  either  entirely  cut  off,  or  ii* 
.   a   4-  4-  «   1»  ^   m   a   4-  rv  m   -C  m   a   *4-  k   ✓“v  "D  «< «   4-  «   It  ̂    ̂   i   I 

mediately  take  protection  from  the  British,”  whii k 
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le  fears  is  the  real  design  of  some  of  the  party,  though 

le  thinks  “a  great  majority  have  no  other  views 

han  to  acquire  lands.”  The  20th  of  May  was  the 
lay  appointed  for  these  Ohio  emigrants  to  rendezvous 

!it  Wheeling. 

It  was  evident  General  Irvine  regarded  the  “new 

tate  scheme”  as  a   dangerous  one  and  doubtless  was 
herefore  the  more  ready  to  enter  upon  the  enterprise 

gainst  Sandusky  as  a   counter  undertaking;  besides 

tublic  sentiment  was  growing  in  favor  of  the  latter, 

ieneral  Irvine  gave  the  plan  his  sanction  but  rather 

han  resort  to  his  authority  to  call  out  the  regular 

lilitia  for  his  expedition  he  advocated  the  call  for 

olunteers,  with  the  understanding  that  when  enrolled, 

hey  should  place  themselves  under  his  orders,  to  be 

1   all  respects  subject  to  the  military  laws  governing 

he  state  or  county  militia,  the  same  as  if  called  out 

y   his  requisition.  Three  hundred  was  regarded  as 

he  least  number  required.  As  it  was  out  of  the  power 

f   the  military  authorities  to  furnish  any  material 

id  to  the  expedition,  either  of  arms,  provisions  or 

quipment,  each  volunteer  was  therefore  expected  to 

apply  himself  with  a   horse,  as  all  were  to  be  mounted, 

nd  equipment,  with  rifle,  rations  and  necessaries, 
eneral  Irvine  further  made  it  known  that  those 

ntering  upon  the  expeditions  must  not  expect  to  make 

"ttlements  in  the  country  to  be  invaded  and  that  any 
inquests  they  might  make  should  be  in  behalf  of  and 

>r  the  United  States.  There  was  a   general  desire  that 

vine  should  command  the  expedition,  for  he  was  a 

rave  and  popular  officer,  a   native  of  Ireland,  and 

lerefore  fearless  in  fight;  and  in  the  American  Rev- 
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olution  his  career  had  been  a   highly  honorable  one 

both  as  a   patriot  and  a   soldier.  But  he  declined,  foi 

good  reasons,  to  lead  the  Sandusky  campaign  and  sc* 

it  was  agreed  that  the  volunteers  should  select  thei; 

own  officers. 

The  20th  of  May — the  same  date  set  for  the  gathering 

of  the  Ohio  Emigrants — was  the  day  fixed  for  th< 

rendezvous  and  the  place,  Mingo  Bottom. 

The  project,  says  Butterfield,  was  as  carefulh 

considered,  and  as  authoritatively  planned,  as  an;  J 
military  enterprise  in  the  West,  during  the  Revolution 

the  scheme  being  “not  irruptive  in  its  origin  bu 

smooth  and  steady-flowing,”  and  its  promoters  wer 

“a  large  proportion  of  the  best  known  and  most  ini2! 

fluential  private  citizens.” 

The  early  days  of  May  saw  the  settlers  in  the  valley  ' 
of  the  Monongahela  and  the  Youghiogheny  astir  witP® 

preparations  for  the  Sandusky  campaign,  and  by  th 

fifteenth  many  were  on  their  way  to  place  of  rende;1 
vous.  The  volunteers  knew  that  they  were  enterin 

upon  serious  business  for  many  of  them  “   execute#  wc 
deeds  in  consideration  of  love  and  affection,  and  man 

witnesses  were  called  to  subscribe  to  last  wills  an 

testaments.”  Among  the  latter  was  William  Crawai 
ford,  who  bequeathed  his  property,  both  real  an] 

personal,  to  his  wife,  children  and  grandchildren. 

They  were  prepared  to  “do  or  die,”  were  the;  lie 
sturdy,  backwoodsmen,  gathering  at  Mingo  Botton 

It  must  have  been  a   picturesque  as  well  as  a   warlil 

group.  Butterfield  describes  the  appearance  of  th  pi 

volunteer:  “His  hunting-shirt,  reaching  half-way  do^fcia 
his  thighs,  was  securely  belted  at  the  waist,  the  boso:  m\ 
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irving  as  a   wallet.  The  belt,  tied  behind,  answered 

veral  purposes  besides  that  of  holding  the  wide  folds 

:   the  shirt  together.  Within  it  on  the  right  side,  was 
ispended  his  tomahawk;  on  the  left  his  scalping  knife, 

is  equipage  was  very  simple.  Strapped  to  his  saddle 

as  the  indispensable  knapsack,  made  of  coarse  tow 

oth,  in  which  were  several  small  articles,  placed 

tere,  perhaps,  by  a   loving  wife  or  a   thoughtful  mother 

I*  sister.  From  the  pommel  of  his  saddle  was  sus- 

jmded  a   canteen — a   very  useful  article,  as  the  weather 
as  unusually  warm  for  the  season.  Flour  and  bacon 

>nstituted  his  principal  supply  of  food.  His  blanket, 

ied  as  a   covering  for  his  saddle,  answered  for  a   bed 

night. ”   He  carried  a   flint-lock  rifle;  a   powder-horn 
:curely  fastened  to  a   strap,  passing  over  his  left 

oulder,  under  the  right;  a   leather  pouch,  either 

:   stened  to  his  belt  or  thrust  into  his  bosom,  was  filled 

Sith  bullets,  bullet-patches  and  extra  flints.  These 
,)ung,  active,  venturesome  and  undaunted  Irish  or 

lotch-Irish  volunteers,  threaded  their  way,  through 

le  woods,  along  the  bridle-paths  or  the  banks  of 

{'reams  to  the  Ohio. 
On  Friday  morning,  May  24th,  all  had  crossed  the 

yer  and  the  cavalrymen  in  motley  attire,  assembled 

{   the  place  of  meeting.  The  exact  number  was  four 

l.ndred  and  eighty  men,  mostly  from  Washington 

c d   Westmoreland  counties,  Pennsylvania;  a   few  were 

bm  Virginia.  They  assembled,  at  noon,  to  organize 

c   d   elect  officers,  distributing  themselves  into  eighteen 

c   mpanies,  each  company  choosing  a   captain,  a   lieu- 

t   lant  and  an  ensign.  This  plan  of  a   small  company, 

c|  less  than  fifty  each,  was  the  frontier  method,  as 
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small  bands  could  be  best  commanded  and  handlec 

in  contending  with  the  Indians  who  fought  largel} 

under  cover  and  in  scattered  groups.  The  “army’ 
as  a   whole  then  chose  one  colonel  commandant,  fou; 

field  majors,  and  one  brigade-major.  The  candidate: 
for  commander  were  Colonel  David  Williamson  anc 

Colonel  William  Crawford.  Upon  counting  the  votes 

it  was  found  that  two  hundred  and  thirty  were  cast  fo 

Williamson  and  two  hundred  and  thirty-five  for  Craw 

ford.  The  latter  we  have  frequently  met  with  befor< 

in  our  history.  He  was  the  surveyor  boy  with  Wash 

ington  in  the  Shenandoah  Valley;  was  with  Washingtoi 

at  Braddock’s  defeat  and  the  Forbes  expeditioi 
against  Fort  Duquesne;  in  1767  he  took  up  his  hom 

on  the  banks  of  the  Youghiogheny  and  became  th 

land  agent  of  Washington,  accompanying  him  down  th 

Ohio;  he  was  with  Dunmore  in  1774  and  destroyed  th 

Mingo  town,  near  the  present  site  of  Columbus;  h 

had  in  charge  the  building  of  Fort  McIntosh,  an< 

aided  in  the  building  of  Fort  Laurens.  During  th 
Revolution  he  did  valiant  service  at  the  head  of 

Virginia  regiment,  gaining  the  confidence  of  Washing 

ton  as  a   “brave  and  active  officer.”  He  was  i 
command  of  Fort  Pitt  in  1778,  under  his  superic 

Brigadier-General  Edward  Hand. 
The  choice  of  a   leader  of  the  Sandusky  campaig 

could  not  have  been  better  made,  for  Crawford  wa 

courageous,  judicious  and  intimately  acquainted  witfcj 
Indian  warfare.  David  Williamson  was  made  secon 

in  command;  Thomas  Gaddis  and  John  McClellan 

were  chosen  third  and  fourth  field  majors.  The  othe 

officers  were  Major  Brinton,  fifth  in  command;  Dani< 
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pbet,  Brigade-Major;  Dr.  John  Knight,  surgeon; 

hn  Slover  and  Jonathan  Zane,  “pilots”;  and  John 

Ipse,  aide-de-camp  to  Colonel  Crawford.  This  Lieu- 

linant  Rose,  “a  very  vigilant,  active,  brave  young 

{ ntleman,  well  acquainted  with  service  and  a   surgeon,” 
nils  the  romantic  figure  of  this  expedition,  a   man  of 

jystery.  He  had  recently  served  as  aid  to  General 

Spine,  having  previously  rendered  conspicuous  service 

i   the  Revolution  at  the  beginning  of  which  he  had 

tendered  his  aid  to  the  American  colonists.  It  de- 

^   loped,  two  years  after  Crawford’s  expedition,  that 
1   was  one  Baron  Gustave  Henri  De  Rosenthal,  from 

Ivonia,  Russia,  whence  he  had  fled  in  disguise  to 

nerica,  before  the  Revolution,  having  killed  a   fellow 

nbleman  in  a   duel.  He  assumed  the  name  of  John 

bse,  and  “fought  long  and  gallantly  for  American 

]   dependence.  ”   He  spoke  the  languages  fluently, 
(pecially  French  and  German.  After  the  Revolution 

|   was  pardoned  by  the  Russian  authorities,  and 

i   turned  to  his  native  country  and  the  United  States 

j   vernment,  in  recognition  of  his  service  in  the  cause 

(   Independence,  granted  him  bounty  lands  in  Ohio. 

1   has  been  said  that  “this  accomplished  man  and 

lend  of  our  country  is  the  only  Russian  on  the  Ameri- 

cn  side  in  the  war  of  Independence.” 
The  presence  of  Rose  at  Mingo  Bottom  gave  much 

$   tisfaction,  says  Butterfield,  to  such  of  the  volunteers 

;   had  previously  made  his  acquaintance  at  Fort  Pitt. 

/I  were  captivated  by  his  fine  appearance,  urbanity 

cd  warm-heartedness.  Colonel  Crawford  was  also 

spompanied  by  his  only  son,  John  Crawford,  “the 
i   >1  of  his  father,  a   young  man  greatly  and  deservedly 
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esteemed  as  a   soldier  and  citizen”;  by  his  son-in-law 
William  Harrison;  and  his  nephew  William  Crawford 
son  of  Valentine  Crawford. 

It  was  the  morning  of  Saturday,  May  25,  1782,  tha 

this  little  army,  the  men  and  officers  of  which  wer< 

eager  for  the  campaign,  took  up  their  march  fron 

and  fifty  miles,  in  a   straight  course.  But  the  rou 
chosen  was  not  the  most  direct  one  but  one  that  k 

Tuscarawas,  Holmes,  Ashland,  Richland  and  Crawfoi 

to  the  center  of  Wyandot.  The  journey,  as  plannee 

involved  a   march  of  one  hundred  and  seventy-fiv 

miles,  a   somewhat  circuitous  route,  as  it  was  the  poke 

of  Crawford  to  avoid  Indian  trails  and  the  region 

usually  traveled.  Crawford  expected,  however,  t 

reach  his  destination  in  seven  days.  We  need  nc 

follow  each  step  of  the  way;  this  has  been  done  b 

Butterfield  in  his  “ Crawford’s  Expedition.” 
As  the  author  just  mentioned  indicates,  the  hillj  tJ 

swamps  and  tangled  growth  of  forests  and  the  stream 

to  be  crossed,  made  the  advance  less  rapid  than  ant 

cipated.  From  the  moment  of  starting,  every  pr< 

caution  was  taken  against  surprises  or  ambuscades  b 

the  Indians.  On  Thursday,  the  fourth  day  of  tf 

march,  the  army  reached  the  Muskingum,  up  tf 

western  side  of  which  they  marched  to  the  site  of  tf 

charred  remains  of  Schoenbrunn,  or  New  Schoenbrum 

where  they  made  their  fourth  encampment.  The 

had  thus  far  proceeded  sixty  miles,  making  an  avera^ 

of  only  fifteen  miles  per  day.  Here  the  horses  we 

plentifully  fed  “in  the  fields  upon  corn  from  the  stalk 

Mingo  Bottom  to  Sandusky,  a   distance  of  one  hundn 

through  the  present  counties  of  Jefferson,  Harrisoi 
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which  was  found  still  ungathered  and  in  abundance — 

the  unharvested  crop  of  the  previous  year”  left  by 
the  exiled  Moravians. 

From  the  outset  of  the  expedition,  the  knowledge 

Df  the  project  and  its  every  movement  were  known  to 

the  Indians.  Simon  Girty,  who  seems  to  have  been 

jalmost  omnipresent  by  his  swift  flittings,  “like  a   host 

of  evil  spirits,”  from  village  to  village  in  the  Sandusky 
:ountry,  had  reported  to  de  Peyster  that  the  expedition 

was  on  foot  and  that  immediate  and  adequate  measures 

I   must  be  taken  to  meet  it.  De  Peyster  at  once  re- sponded by  getting  ready  a   vessel,  the  “Faith,”  to 
convey  a   body  of  British  Rangers  to  the  Sandusky 

River.  Girty  exerted  himself  to  the  utmost,  in  aiding 

:he  Half-King,  Dunquat,  of  the  Wyandots  at  Sandusky, 
:o  call  in  all  the  absent  warriors  and  hunters  of  the 

lation:  the  Delawares  at  Wingenund’s  camp,  near 
i   what  is  now  Crestline  and  those  on  the  Tymochtee  at 

3ipe’s  Town.  Runners  were  also  sent  to  the  Mingoes 
ind  Shawnees  informing  them  of  the  approach  of  the 

Americans  and  the  impending  conflict. 

The  force  forwarded  by  de  Peyster  consisted  of 

6 two  companies  of  white  soldiers”  from  Detroit, 

[known  as  Butler’s  Rangers,  commanded  by  Captain •Villiam  Caldwell,  and  a   band  of  “Lake  Indians”  from 
:he  Detroit  regions.  This  force,  the  horses  of  the 

Rangers  and  two  field  pieces  being  sent  around  by 

and,  crossed  Lake  Erie  to  Lower  Sandusky,  whence 

hey  marched  in  all  haste  to  Upper  Sandusky,  where 

hey  arrived  “just  in  time  of  need,”  meeting  there  a 

‘wild  assemblage  of  whooping  and  stamping  Wyandots 

Itnd  Delawares  and  some  Mingoes.”  The  combined 
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Indian  force  numbered  not  less  than  two  hundred. 

These  with  the  white  troops  were  gathered  at  the 

Half-King’s  town  on  June  4th  to  meet  and  give  battle 

to  Crawford’s  advancing  army.  In  command  of  the 
entire  army  was  Captain  Caldwell;  under  him,  to 

direct  the  Indians,  was  Captain  Mathew  Elliott; 

Dunquat,  aided  by  Simon  Girty,  had  immediate  com- 
mand of  the  Wyandots;  Captain  Pipe,  aided  by  George 

Girty,  had  direct  oversight  of  the  Delawares. 

On  May  29th,  Crawford’s  army  resumed  the  march. 
Leaving  their  encampment  on  the  Muskingum,  they 

advanced  to  Killbuck  Creek,  near  the  present  site  of 

Millersburg,  up  which  stream  they  moved  to  a   point 

about  ten  miles  south  of  Wooster.  From  this  point, 

after  a   night’s  encampment,  the  army  moved  westward 
to  the  Rocky  Fork  of  the  Mohican,  up  which  they 

traveled  to  near  the  site  of  Mansfield;  then  passing  due 

west  into  Crawford  county,  they  reached  the  head- 
waters of  the  Sandusky,  not  far  from  the  present 

village  of  Leesville,  three  miles  west  of  Crestline. 

Slover  here  announced  to  Crawford  that  the  open 

country  known  as  the  Sandusky  Plains  was  but  a   few 

miles  away  in  a   southwest  direction.  Slover,  though 

a   Virginian  by  birth,  was  “at  home”  in  this  region.  ® 
He  had  been  brought  up  among  the  Ohio  Indians, 

having  been  taken  captive  by  the  Miamis  when  only!  ̂  

eight  years  of  age,  his  father  being  killed  at  the  time 

of  the  boy’s  capture  on  New  River,  Virginia.  Slover 
was  adopted  into  the  Miami  tribe  and  given  the  name  of 

Mannucothe.  After  a   captivity  of  six  years  among 

the  Miamis,  Slover  was  sold  to  a   Delaware  Indian 

who  put  him  in  the  hands  of  a   white  trader  by  whom  ̂  
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n   time  he  was  transferred  to  the  Shawnees  upon  the 

Scioto,  where  he  remained  six  years  longer.  In  1773 

le  deserted  the  Indian  life  and  at  Fort  Pitt  declared 

lis  allegiance  to  the  whites,  subsequently  serving  in 

he  Continental  army  in  the  Revolution.  No  one  was 

nore  familiar  than  he  with  the  country  at  the  head- 

waters of  the  Sandusky  River  and  the  Miamis. 

'   On  the  morning  of  the  3d  of  June,  “   the  army  emerged 
rom  the  dark  woods,  which  had  so  long  enshrouded 

hem,  into  the  sunlight  of  the  open  country.”  The 
landusky  Plains  lay  before  them,  the  Olentangy  being 

o   the  south.  On  the  4th,  the  mouth  of  the  Little 

iandusky  was  reached,  from  which  three  trails  led 

■ff:  one  southwest  through  the  plains  to  Owl  Creek, 

low  Vernon  River,  leading  thence  down  the  Walhond- 

ag;  one  up  the  east  side  of  the  Little  Sandusky,  to 

he  portage;  the  third  southwest  to  the  Shawnee  towns 

n   the  Mad  and  Miami  rivers.  The  invading  army 

ow  moved  with  greatest  caution  up  the  river  to  the 

Wyandot  town,  Sandusky,  or  Upper  Sandusky  Old 

own;  the  location  was  three  miles  in  a   southeasterly 

irection,  from  the  site  of  the  present  town  of  Upper 

andusky.  To  their  consternation  the  village  was 

jeserted  and  “all  was  solitude.” 
The  movements  of  the  converging  armies,  at  this 

oint  of  our  narrative,  are  somewhat  obscure,  owing  to 

ae  imperfect  and  contradictory  accounts  of  various 

uthorities.  Indeed  many  of  the  oft-quoted  partic- 

lars  rest  mainly  on  tradition. 

|   Upon  the  morning  of  the  4th,  while  Crawford  was 

reparing  to  move  northward  from  his  camp,  distant 

oout  twenty  miles  from  Pipe’s  Town,  the  Delaware 
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war  chief  set  out  from  his  village  with  about  two  hun- 

dred of  his  braves.  He  soon  reached  the  place  ap- 

pointed for  the  assemblage  of  the  allied  forces — a   spot 

nearly  two  miles  southwest  of  the  town  of  the  Half- 

King  (Dunquat).  Here  Captain  Pipe  found  the 

Wyandot  warriors  under  their  chief,  Zhausshotoh. 

The  combined  Indian  force  now  outnumbered  the 

approaching  Americans.  But  two  hundred  Shawnee 

warriors  were  also  on  their  way  from  their  towns  to 

the  west.  It  was  on  the  morning  of  the  4th,  also,  that 

the  Detroit  Rangers  and  “Lake  Indians”  left  Lower 
Sandusky  for  the  scene  of  action,  having  with  them 

Mathew  Elliott,  “in  the  full  uniform  of  a   British 

Captain,”  who,  when  the  place  of  rendezvous  was 

reached,  assumed  command  of  the  Indians,  “a  position 

he  was  eminently  qualified  to  fill.” 

A   brief  hour  terminated  the  halt  of  Crawford’s 

army  at  the  deserted  Wyandot  town.  He  crossed 

the  Sandusky  and  marched  to  the  present  site  of  Uppe 

Sandusky.  The  men  at  this  point  began  to  lose 

courage  as  they  feared  an  ambuscade  by  Indians  in 

overwhelming  numbers.  A   council  of  war  was  held 

followed  by  a   cautious  advance  some  two  miles  north 

east,  toward  a   “beautiful  island,  or  grove,  which  seemed 

to  beckon  them  from  the  fierce  heat  of  the  sun.  ”   Hen 

they  halted  and  dismounted  for  a   short  rest.  Whilf 

moving  leisurely  on  from  the  grove,  that  for  a   hal 

hour  had  sheltered  them,  they  suddenly  came  in  ful 

view  of  the  foe,  running  directly  toward  them. 

The  Indians  had  chosen  a   favorable  point  for  th( 

assembling  of  their  forces;  “it  was  not  far  distant  fron 

two  traces — the  one  leading  northeast  to  the  Half 

'Dill 



)F  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 357 

King’s  town;  the  other,  northwest  to  Pipe’s  town.” 
The  Delaware  warriors  under  Captain  Pipe,  who  was 

itccompanied  by  Chief  Wingenund  and  Simon  Girty, 

vere  rapidly  hastening  to  secure  the  grove  before  it 

:ould  be  reached  by  Crawford’s  force.  Crawford 
mmediately  drew  his  men  in  lines  to  meet  the  enemy. 

[The  Indians  were  first  at  the  grove,  taking  full  posses- 

ion, but  the  brisk  and  brave  attack  by  Crawford’s 
nen  drove  the  dusky  warriors  into  the  open  prairie 

beyond,  thus  giving  the  Americans  the  grove — ever 
fter  known  as  Battle  Island,  three  miles  north  and  a 

talf  mile  east  of  the  present  Upper  Sandusky  and  about 

wo  miles  southwesterly  of  the  Upper  Sandusky  Old 

"own  of  1782.  It  was  the  afternoon  of  June  4th,  when 
his  contest,  designated  as  the  Battleof  Sandusky,  began. 

Girty,  dressed  as  an  Indian,  “the  very  incarnation 

f   fierceness  and  cruelty,”  was  conspicuous  in  his 
ixcitement  and  endeavors.  Among  the  Americans, 

Lose,  “cool  and  collected,”  riding  the  best  horse  in 

he  army,  “galloped  up  and  down  the  lines  carrying 
'   he  orders  of  his  commander,  his  gallantry  and  martial 

earing  attracting  general  attention.” 
The  Indians  were  sheltered  by  the  tall  grass  which 

irew  so  high  and  rank  on  the  plains.  The  Americans 

ere  protected  by  the  grove — on  Battle  Island — they 

ad  so  bravely  secured.  The  battle  raged  with  varying 

idvantage  to  each  side  until  finally  dusk  began  to 

eil  the  field  of  war,  when  the  Indians  drew  farther 

ito  the  grass-covered  plains.  The  foe  had  five  killed 

id  eleven  wounded,  among  the  latter  Captain  Cald- 

ell,  who  was  compelled  to  leave  the  field  at  the 

sginning  of  the  action. 
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The  second  day  dawned  upon  the  combatants  ready 

for  renewed  and  decisive  efforts.  The  enemy  were  re- 

enforced by  one  hundred  and  forty  Shawnees,  who  had 

just  arrived  from  their  Miami  quarters,  and  more 

Canadian  troops,  with  whom  were  captains  Alexander 

McKee,  and  James  Girty.  Thus  three  of  the  Girty 

brothers  aided  the  foe  that  met  Crawford;  tradition 

has  it  that  George  Girty  “behaved  well  on  the  battle 

field,”  while  Simon  Girty  rode  upon  a   white  horse — 

appropriately  says  Butterfield — “death  on  a   pale 

horse.  ” 
The  positions  of  the  opposing  contestants  were  un- 

changed, the  Indians  on  the  plains,  the  Americans 

in  the  grove,  into  the  trees  of  which  the  soldiers  would 

climb  and  “from  their  bushy  tops  take  deadly  aim  at 

the  heads  of  the  enemy  as  they  rose  above  the  grass.” 
The  battle  of  the  second  day,  the  5th,  was  a   waiting 

game,  Crawford  deciding  to  make  no  offensive  attack 

until  after  nightfall  and  Caldwell  holding  his  Rangers 

and  savage  allies  in  check  for  a   favorable  moment. 

The  unexpected  presence  of  Butler’s  Rangers,  and  the 
arrival  of  the  reserve  Shawnees,  led  Crawford,  after  it 

a   council  of  war,  to  the  conclusion  that  in  an  offensive,  id 

action  he  certainly  would  be  overpowered  by  superior 
numbers  and  that  there  was  no  other  safe  alternative 

but  to  await  the  darkness  of  night  and  then  attempt 

a   stealthy  retirement  in  the  direction  whence  they  had 

come.  “Prudence,  therefore,  dictated  a   retreat, 
wrote  Rose  to  Irvine  at  Fort  Pitt, 

and  preparations  at  once  begun, 

Orders  were  given 

m 

for  a   retrograde 

movement,  ”   to  commence  at  nine  o’clock.  The  whole 
body  was  to  form  in  four  lines,  keeping  the  nineteen ft 
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wounded  in  the  center.  The  killed — five — were  buried 

and  by  sundown  all  arrangements  were  completed. 

The  narrative  of  Anthony  Dunlevy,  John  Rose  and 

others — simple  but  graphic  statements  of  eye-witnesses 

ff  the  event — tell  the  sad  and  tragic  sequel  of  that 
retreat. 

It  was  no  sooner  dark  than  the  columns  were  formed, 

is  silently  as  possible,  the  fires  being  left  burning  so 

[as  to  deceive  the  Indians,  and  the  whole  army  set  in 
notion  with  Crawford  at  their  head.  The  Indians  in 

:he  front  lines  of  their  encampments  at  once  compre- 
hended the  intention  of  the  Americans  and  opened  a 

‘hot  fire.”  The  line  of  retreat  lay  toward  the  south- 

west— “directly  between  the  two  camps  of  the  sav- 

ages. ”   There  was  no  other  way.  Confusion  followed, 
and  Major  McClelland,  who  led  the  first  division,  was 

soon  engaged  with  the  Shawnees  and  Delawares. 

Some  in  the  front  ranks  hurried  off,  crowded  by  many 

rushing  forward  from  the  rear.  The  brave  Major  fell 

:rom  his  horse,  desperately  wounded.  He  fell  into  the 

lands  of  the  enemy  and  “frightful  tortures  were  doled 

lut  to  him  afterward.”  The  panic  became  general, 
and  the  slaughter  of  the  Americans  would  have  been 

terrible  had  it  not  been  that  the  Indians  in  their  un- 

:ertainty,  feared  the  retreat  was  a   feint — “a  ruse  or 

naneuver  of  some  kind,  not  a   flight,” — and  the  body 

iff  the  Americans  got  away  before  the  real  situation  was 
mderstood  by  the  red  warriors  and  their  Canadian 
lilies. 

The  flight  of  the  Americans  became  a   disorderly 

'out,  the  three  columns  plunging  into  the  plains  and 
with  great  disorder  hastening  on  till  break  of  day. 
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when  they  came  to  the  site  of  the  deserted  village  of 

the  Wyandots — Upper  Sandusky  Old  Town — when  a 
halt  was  called  and  the  distracted  men,  exhausted  and 

hungered,  endeavored  to  regain  order,  attend  the  sick 

a   more  direct  route  and  had  already  arrived,  “ii 
regularly  and  in  much  confusion,  at  the  Old  Town. 

Detached  and  belated  parties  continued  to  arrive  a 

the  deserted  village,  until  the  re-assembling  fore 

numbered  upwards  of  three  hundred.  Besides  th 

dead  and  wounded  left  behind,  and  the  stragglers  tha 

had  not  yet  caught  up,  there  were  many  missing- 

both  of  men  and  officers — among  the  latter  Crawfor 

himself,  and  the  command  of  the  distracted  army  no^ 

fell  upon  Colonel  Williamson. 

The  retreating  army,  it  must  not  be  supposed,  ha 

been  permitted  to  pursue  its  way  unmolested  or  fre 

from  danger  and  disaster.  Soon  after  entering  th 

open  country  east  of  the  Little  Sandusky,  a   large  bod 

of  the  enemy  consisting  of  mounted  Indians  and  Britis 

light  cavalry,  was  discovered  rapidly  overtaking  th 

rear  columns  of  the  Americans.  In  a   few  hours  the 

were  not  only  upon  the  retreating  troops  but  flankin 

them  both  right  and  left.  It  was  in  the  early  afternoo 

of  the  6th,  when  the  Americans  were  brought  to 

standstill  by  the  pursuers,  not  far  from  a   small  branc 

of  the  Olentangy  Creek — then  called  the  Whetstone- 
the  Indian  for  which  was  Keenhongsheconsepung.  I 

was  a   tributary  of  the  Scioto.  Here  the  American 

made  their  stand,  fronting  to  the  west  to  meet  th 

and  wounded  and  learn  the  extent  of  their  loss. 

McClelland’s  division,  after  the  loss  of  their  commadei 
more  demoralized  than  the  other  divisions,  had  take 
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ejemy,  whose  superiority  of  numbers  was  painfully 

eident.  Colonel  Williamson  encouraged  his  weary 

rm  to  the  utmost,  and  Rose,  “ whose  cheerfulness, 

slavity  and  coolness,  were  only  equalled  by  his  wonder- 

f   skill  and  intrepidity,”  exhorted  and  enthused  the 
r   :n  to  heroic  deeds. 

The  contest  lasted  but  an  hour,  during  which  the 

eemy,  “ daring  and  furious,”  attacked  in  front  and 
d   the  flanks,  gave  way  on  all  sides.  It  was  called 

Battle  of  Olentangy — in  which,  reported  Rose, 

|ye  had  three  killed  and  eight  wounded.”  The  pur- 
s   ng  enemy  tarried  no  longer  but  beaten  off  and 

wakened  by  losses,  never  ascertained,  slowly  returned 

t<  the  Sandusky  Plains.  “It  was  a   welcome  adieu; 
n|t  a   single  savage  or  British  Ranger  was  afterward 

S'  n   by  the  army,  ”   of  the  Americans,  who  thereafter 
cutinued  their  homeward  march  without  further 

anoyance,  reaching  Mingo  Bottom  and  crossing  the 

Cio  on  June  13th.  They  were  discharged  on  the 

1.  h,  the  expedition  having  occupied  less  than  a   month 

ad  the  entire  loss  having  numbered  about  seventy, 

k ted,  captured,  missing  and  those  who  died  of  wounds. 

Ilyas  an  unexpected  “miscarriage,”  and  on  the  16th  of 
Jhe,  General  Irvine  forwarded  to  General  Washington 

tl  report,  he  had  just  received  from  Colonel  William- 

sc  and  aide-de-camp  Rose,  of  the  disastrous  outcome 

dthe  Sandusky  expedition  and  Washington  replied 

rn  Newburgh,  “I  cannot  but  regret  the  misfortune, 
*1  more  especially  for  the  loss  of  Colonel  Crawford, 

-Oiwhom  I   had  a   very  great  regard.” 



1 



Chapter  XVII. 

THE  BURNING  OF  WILLIAM  CRAWFORD 





AT  the  halt  of  the  retreating  army,  on  June 6th,  Colonel  Crawford,  his  son  John  Craw- 

ford, his  son-in-law  William  Harrison,  William 

Crawford,  his  nephew,  Dr.  Knight,  the  sur- 

eon,  and  John  Slover,  the  pilot,  were  counted  among 

he  missing.  The  fate  of  those  men  is  the  tragic 

nale  to  the  failure  of  the  expedition. 

The  confusion  incident  to  the  commencement  of 

he  retreat  of  the  Americans  from  their  Battle  Island 

amp  under  the  veil  of  night,  June  5th,  was  the  cause 

f   the  separation  of  Crawford  from  his  command, 

ust  as  the  army  began  its  excited  exit  from  the  grove 

he  commander  missed  his  son,  son-in-law  and  nephew, 

/hose  welfare  was  naturally  uppermost  in  his  mind. 

)r.  Knight  was  at  his  side  and  joined  with  the  colonel 

1   calling  aloud  for  the  missing  men,  as  the  retreating 

blumns  straggled  by.  There  was  no  response.  The 

onfusion  as  the  lines  emerged  from  the  forest,  became 

orse  confounded,  the  firing  of  the  approaching  Indians, 

riving  the  American  soldiers  forward,  added  to  the 

anger,  while  the  onrush  of  the  savages  cut  off  the 

)lonel  and  his  companion  from  the  fleeing  army. 

1   the  recital  of  Crawford’s  capture  we  follow  closely 
ie  narrative  of  Dr.  Knight,  than  whom  there  is  no 

-tter  authority,  as  originally  printed  in  Pittsburg, 

September,  1782.  The  colonel  and  the  doctor  were 

impelled  to  flee  for  their  lives  in  a   northerly  direction, 

vay  from  the  conflict  and  along  paths  most  likely 

1   give  them  security;  they  were  later  joined  by  other 
gitive  soldiers. 

On  the  afternoon  following  the  night  of  their  flight, 

ey  came  upon  the  route  which  had  been  taken  by 
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the  retreating  army  and  they  were  not  far  dista; 

when  the  Battle  of  Olentangy  was  being  wage. 

Avoiding  the  Indian  and  British  forces,  the  color! 

and  his  companion  continued  their  stealthy  flig't 
until  past  midday  of  the  7th,  when,  picking  their  w   \ 

cautiously  along  the  banks  of  the  Sandusky,  near  tp 

present  Leesville,  “several  Indians  suddenly  start] 
up  within  fifteen  or  twenty  steps  of  the  colonel  a   I 

me.”  The  escaping  party  had  fallen  into  an  ambv- 
cade  of  the  Delaware  Indians,  from  Chief  Wingenun*  s 

camp,  which  was  only  half  a   mile  away,  to  which  Cra  - 
ford  and  Knight  were  speedily  taken,  and  to  whin 

within  a   few  hours  nine  other  prisoners  were  brougl , 

the  captors  in  addition  boastfully  waving  the  sea  s 

of  two  American  captains.  The  news  was  quid y 

conveyed  to  the  nearby  villages  that  the  “Big  Captai ” 
of  the  Americans  had  been  taken.  His  doom  v.s 

foreordained,  for  at  the  news  of  Crawford’s  intened 
expedition  the  chiefs  of  the  Indian  allies  had  deend 

that  all  prisoners  taken  were  to  be  tortured  and  kil  d 

either  by  the  fagot  or  the  tomahawk. 

Nothing  less  than  burning  at  the  stake  would  sufl:e 

to  appease  the  vengeance  of  the  Delawares  in  the  c>e 

of  Crawford.  But,  according  to  Butterfield,  1   is 

method  of  death  had  become  “an  obsolete  custm 

with  the  Wyandots,”  though  still  practiced  by  ie 

Delawares  and  other  tribes.  The  Delawares,  Cr«vT 

ford’s  captors,  therefore,  did  not  dare  to  inflict  li 
form  of  death  penalty  within  the  territory  of  v 

Wyandots  without  the  consent  of  the  Half-Kig 

Pomoacan,  in  whose  Sandusky  country  the  Delawces 

were  “tenants  at  will.”  This  consent  Captain  Ipe 



COLONEL  WILLIAM  CRAWFORD 

The  unfortunate  hero  of  Crawford’s  expedition.  He 
was  the  personal  friend  of,  and  land  agent  for  Washington. 

This  picture  represents  him  at  the  age  of  thirty-five.  It  is 
from  a   likeness  in  the  possession  of  his  descendants. 
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the  retreatjgg^gjg,  M^iA^IiaMiSonot  far  dis 
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cautiously  along  the  banks  of  the  Sandusky,  near 

present  Leesville,  “several  Indians  suddenly  sta 
up  within  fifteen  or  twenty  steps  of  the  colonel 

me.”  The  escaping  party  had  fallen  into  an  am 
cade  of  the  Delaware  Indians,  from  Chief  Wingenu 

camp,  which  was  only  half  a   mile  away,  to  which  C 

ford  and  Knight  were  speedily  taken,  and  to  v 

within  a   few  hours  nine  other  prisoners  were  brou 

the  captors  in  addition  boastfully  waving  the  sc 

of  two  American  captains.  The  news  was  qu: 

conveyed  to  the  nearby  villages  that  the  “Big  Capt 
of  the  Americans  had  been  taken.  His  doom 

foreordained,  for  at  the  news  of  Crawford’s  inte 
expedition  the  chiefs  of  the  Indian  allies  had  de* 

tha:  ali  ;   'i  oi  '   rs  taken  were  to  be  tortured  and  1 
either  b   the  m a   hawk. 

>tl  Me  at  the  stake  would  n 

to  appease  che  vengeance  of  the  Delawares  in  th< 

Crawford.  But,  according  to  Butterfield, 

:nr of  death  had  become  “an  obsolete  cl 

with  rne  Wyandois,”  though  still  practiced  b 
Delawares  and  other  tribes.  The  Delawares,  < 

ford’s  cap  s,  therefore,  did  not  dare  to  inflic 
form  of  cie  penalty  within  the  territory  <r 

Wyandots  w   i   hout  the  consent  of  the  Half 

Pomoacan,  in  whose  Sandusky  country  the  Del  a 

were  “tenants  at  will.”  This  consent  Captain 
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id  Chief  Wingenund  obtained  through  a   messenger 

:nt  to  the  Sandusky  quarters  of  Pomoacan,  though 

is  alleged  the  permission  was  obtained  through  a 

ibterfuge  on  the  part  of  the  Delaware  chiefs,  they 

king  merely  that  the  Wyandot  Half-King  permit 

iem  to  “ accomplish  a   project  in  view,”  which  they 
dently  wished  to  carry  out — not  specifying  the 
ecution  intended.  Yet  it  would  seem  that  Pomoacan 

Duld  have  readily  acceded  to  the  request  of  the 

elawares,  if  the  purpose  of  the  request  had  been 

lly  known,  as  only  a   few  months  before,  two  of  the 

ns  of  the  Wyandot  Half-King  had  been  killed  on 
e   banks  of  the  Ohio,  by  the  noted  Indian  pursuers, 

e   Poe  Brothers,  Adam  and  Andrew,  whose  adventures 

’   ve  furnished  material  for  many  a   thrilling  story  of :   >ntier  life. 

On  Monday,  the  ioth,  Crawford  and  Knight,  with 

\‘i  nine  other  prisoners,  under  guard  of  seventeen 

Hawares,  were  “ paraded”  to  march  to  Sandusky, 
i   ne  thirty  miles  distant.  On  arriving  at  the  Half- 

j   ng’s  town,  Crawford’s  hopes  of  possible  delivery 
1   re  aroused  by  meeting  Simon  Girty,  whom  he  had 

( en  met  before,  and  to  whom  he  “made  earnest 

Deal  for  his  safety,  ”   even  offering  the  renegade  a 

trnsand  dollars  ransom.  Girty  “promised,  with  no 

i   sntion  of  keeping  his  word,  ”   at  the  same  time  in- 
f   ming  Crawford  that  his  nephew  William  Crawford 
a   1   son-in-law  William  Harrison  had  been  taken 

b   the  Shawnees  “but  pardoned  at  their  towns.” 
1   s   latter  statement  was  not  true.  They  had  been 

d posed  of  in  some  way,  probably  tomahawked; 

bat  became  of  them  is  entirely  unknown — tradition, 
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even,  is  silent  concerning  them.”  John  Crawfol, 
e only  son  of  the  Colonel,  likewise  disappeared,  his  f; 

remaining  unrecorded;  it  being  generally  suppo 
that  he  was  tortured  to  death  in  the  wilderness. 

Crawford  and  Knight  well  knew  their  fate  vs 

sealed,  for  Captain  Pipe,  Wingenund  being  a   witn;s 

and  reluctant  to  take  part,  for  he  had  often  been  I   Jtt}' 
friended  by  both  Crawford  and  Knight,  painted  te 

faces  of  the  prisoners  black,  the  first  ordeal  in  ie 

preparation  of  those  condemned  for  the  stake.  Guarcd 

by  the  two  Delaware  chiefs,  and  an  escort  of  tlir 

tribesmen,  the  blackened  captives  were  led  sev(al 

pi 

miles  from  the  Half-King’s  village  to  the  banks  of 
Little  Tymochtee  Creek.  Here  five  of  the  prison! jftoer, 

thus  far  accompanying  the  colonel  and  the  doctor,  wrens 

tomahawked  by  a   party  of  squaws  and  boys,  one  idflig 

squaw  cutting  off  the  head  of  John  McKinley  .isfciea 

“ kicking  it  about  on  the  ground.”  The  reeking  sens 
of  the  slain  were  dashed  in  the  faces  of  Crawford  .Jin, 

Knight.  The  party  then  moved  on,  perhaps  a   iuHritn, 

farther,  to  the  spot  selected  for  the  execution,  on  ie  3W] 

east  bank  of  the  Tymochtee,  about  three-quarter; of 

a   mile  from  the  Delaware  village,  in  Crawford  towns.p,  fee 

Wyandot  county,  the  spot  now  marked  by  a   singly  jjj, 

monument  in  an  open  lot,  a   short  distance  north*; st  n   j 

of  the  town  of  Crawfordsville;  at  which  spot  each  yar  ̂  

the  county  pioneer  association,  in  the  midst  of  kg 

gatherings  of  people,  commemorates  with  fitting  xr  ̂ 

ercises  the  never-to-be-forgotten  event. 

It  was  about  4   o’clock  in  the  afternoon  of  Tuese}  ' 

June  11,  1782,  that  the  frightful  torture  and  ories 

were  inaugurated,  “   exceeding  in  fiendish,  ferocH 
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evilish  cruelty  and  barbarity,  anything  recorded  in 

avage  annals.”  Simon  Girty,  Captain  Pipe,  Chief 
Vingenund  and  probably  Mathew  Elliott  were  present. 

l   post,  about  fifteen  feet  high,  was  firmly  set  in  the 

round;  fagots,  sticks  and  stubble,  gathered  nearby, 

^ere  heaped  in  a   pile  for  the  fire,  some  eighteen  or 

wenty  feet  from  the  stake  to  which  Crawford  was 

led.  The  colonel  was  stripped  naked  and  ordered 

d   sit  down  by  the  fire  and  “then  they  beat  him  with 

ubs  and  their  fists.”  Albach  is  responsible  for  the 

:atement  that  after  “   Crawford  was  bound  to  the 

ital  post,  the  surrounding  Christian  Indians  were 

died  upon  to  come  forth  and  take  vengeance  on  the 

risoner,  but  they  had  withdrawn  and  their  savage 

Nations  stepped  forward  in  their  stead.”  It  is,  how- 
ler, highly  improbable  that  any  Christian  Indians 

ere  near  enough  to  the  scene  to  be  invited  as  partic- 

iants.  We  let  Dr.  Knight,  who,  guarded  by  an 

idian  named  Tutelu,  was  obliged  to  sit  upon  a   log 

id  witness  the  horrible  spectacle,  describe  the  scene 

his  own  rugged  words: 

“They  then  tied  a   rope  to  the  foot  of  a   post  about 

teen  feet  high,  bound  the  Col’s  [Colonel’s]  hands 
diind  his  back  and  fastened  the  rope  to  the  ligature 

itween  his  wrists.  The  rope  was  long  enough  for 

m   to  sit  down  or  walk  round  the  post  once  or  twice 

id  return  the  same  way.  The  Col.  then  called  to 

irty  and  asked  if  they  intended  to  burn  him? — Girty 

swered,  yes.  The  Col.  said  he  would  take  it  all 

tiently.  Upon  this  Captain  Pipe,  a   Delaware  chief, 

ide  a   speech  to  the  Indians,  viz:  about  thirty  or 

rty  men,  sixty  or  seventy  squaws  and  boys. 
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“When  the  speech  was  finished  they  all  yelled  , 
hideous  and  hearty  assent  to  what  had  been  said 

The  Indian  men  then  took  up  their  guns  and  shot  pow 

der  into  the  Colonel’s  body,  from  his  feet  as  far  up  as  hi 
neck.  I   think  not  less  than  seventy  loads  were  dis 

charged  upon  his  naked  body.  They  then  crowde 

about  him,  and  to  the  best  of  my  observation,  cut  o: 

his  ears;  when  the  throng  had  dispersed  a   little,  I   sa^ 

the  blood  running  from  both  sides  of  his  head  in  cor 

sequence  thereof. 

“The  fire  was  about  six  or  seven  yards  from  the  pof 
to  which  the  Colonel  was  tied;  it  was  made  of  sma 

hickory  poles,  burnt  quite  through  in  the  middL 

each  end  of  the  poles  remaining  about  six  feet  in  lengtl. 

Three  or  four  Indians  by  turns  would  take  up,  iij 
dividually,  one  of  these  burning  pieces  of  wood  an 

apply  it  to  his  naked  body,  already  burnt  black  with  tl 

powder.  These  tormentors  presented  themselves  c 

every  side  of  him  with  the  burning  fagots  and  pole 

Some  of  the  squaws  took  broad  boards,  upon  whic 

they  would  carry  a   quantity  of  burning  coals  and  h< 

embers  and  throw  on  him,  so  that  in  a   short  time  he  he 

nothing  but  coals  of  fire  and  hot  ashes  to  walk  upon. 

“In  the  midst  of  these  extreme  tortures,  he  called 
Simon  Girty,  and  begged  of  him  to  shoot  him;  bi. 

Girty  making  no  answer,  he  called  to  him  again.  Gir 

then,  by  way  of  derision,  told  the  Colonel  he  had  i 

gun,  at  the  same  time  turning  about  to  an  Indian  wl» 

was  behind  him,  laughed  heartily,  and  by  all  his  ge- 

tures  seemed  delighted  at  the  horrid  scene.” 
For  three  hours  Colonel  Crawford  endured  the  mo: 

excruciating  agonies  with  sublime  patience,  wh< 



BURNING  OF  CRAWFORD 

Imaginary  picture,  from  an  old  print,  of  the  burning  of 

Crawford.  The  figure  of  Simon  Girty  is  shown  in  the  fore- 
ground on  the  left.  Dr.  Knight  is  sitting  upon  the  log  in 

the  foreground  on  the  right. 
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‘When  WSrJwsbtd  they  all  yell.. 

_bjdV4  3-rtmtH4'J  fce,§tfi^bl§?&ffl£>l  tpUi#^Jnife4  been 1   heT<&dd&ii  tpp^tb^#iguteta^  shot  v 

der^i^mM^'i  ^®..^o^Wfg%tla,mr  up TMgn  anf  no  Dnnoi§9ioT  arlJ  r 
neck.  I   think  not  less  than  seventy  loads  were 

charged  upon  his  naked  body.  They  then  crcr. 

about  him,  and  to  the ’best  of  my  observation,  cm 
his  ears;  when  the  throng  had  dispersed  a   little,  i 

the  blood  running  from  both  sides  of  his  head  in 

sequence  thereof.  .   | 

“The  fire  was  about  six  or  seven  yards  from  the 
to  which  the  Colonel  was  tied;  it  was  made  of 

hickory  poles,  burnt  quite  through  in  the  nr 

each  end  of  the  poles  remaining  about  six  feet  in  le  v 

Three  or  four  Indians  by  turns  would  take  up, 

dividually,  one  of  these  burning  pieces  of  wood 

apply  it  to  his  naked  body,  already  burnt  black  wic h 

powder.  These  tormentors  presented  themselv 

every  side  of  him  with  the  burning  fagots  and  m. 

Some  of  i   i ‘ :   r   jr.i  us  took  broad  boards,  upon  wi 

they  would  carry  a   quantity  of  burning  coals  and 

embers  and  throw  on  him,  so  that  in  a   short  time  he  j 

nothing  bur  oals  of  fire  and  hot  ashes  to  walk  uffl 

“In  ;   ,   ,   »   '.hese  extreme  tortures,  he  caM 
Simon  Gin  '..-egged  of  him  to  shoot  him M 

Girty  making  ,   -   ,.ver,  he  called  to  him  again.  1 

then,  by  way  of  amnion,  told  the  Colonel  he  him 

gun,  at  the  same  time  turning  about  to  an  IndialB 

was  behind  him,  L   tghed  heartily,  and  by  all  h i#| 

tures  seemed  delighud  at  the  horrid  scene.” 
For  three  hours  Colonel  Crawford  endured  the  J 

excruciating  agonies  with  sublime  patience, 
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faint  and  almost  exhausted,  with  the  faith  and  fortitude 

oi  a   religious  martyr  of  the  olden  days,  he  commended 
bis  soul  to  God,  and  fell  upon  his  face,  prone  upon 

die  bed  of  burning  coals.  One  of  the  savages,  who 

vere  dancing  about  the  victim  like  incarnate  fiends, — 
Jeisberger  in  his  Diary  says  it  was  a   Moravian  Indian 

—then  scalped  him  and  repeatedly  swung  the  scalp 

nto  the  face  of  Knight,  saying,  “he  is  your  great 

Captain.”  An  old  withered  squaw  then  seized  a 
>oard  with  which  she  poured  scorching  coals  and  ashes 

pon  his  back  and  head.  In  one  final  effort,  he  raised 

imself  upon  his  feet  but  strength  failed  him  and  he 
ank  into  the  welcome  arms  of  death.  The  scene 

eggars  description  and  the  hand  palsies  in  repeating 

le  recital  of  Knight.  Judge  James  Anderson  closes 

is  address,  delivered  on  the  scene  of  the  event,  a   few 

ears  ago,  with  this  just  tribute:  “If  Socrates  died 
ke  a   philosopher,  and  Jesus  Christ  like  a   God,  then 

erily  the  manly,  calm,  courageous  soul,  whose  sufferings 

ere  a   thousand  fold  greater,  died  like  a   hero,  and 

itriot  and  martyr.  His  name  shall  live  in  the  great 

merican  heart,  and  in  the  pantheon  of  history, 

bile  true  patriotism  is  cherished,  and  the  memory 

the  father  of  our  country  revered.  ” 
That  this  indescribable  murder  of  Crawford  was 

eted  out  as  a   special  retaliation  by  the  Delawares, 

r   the  Moravian  massacre  by  Williamson  and  his 

m,  was  often  asserted  by  writers,  conspicuously  by 

e   Moravian  missionaries  whose  accounts  were  con- 

nporaneous  with  the  event.  And  later  historians 

•   ve  accepted  this  retributive  motive  as  accounting 

\   ’   the  fiendish  deed  of  the  infuriated  tribesmen  of 
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Pipe  and  Wingenund;  “it  had  been  regarded  as  an 
inscrutable  act  of  Providence  that  Crawford  should 

fall  into  the  hands  of  the  savages,  exasperated  by  the 

murder  of  the  Moravians,  and  suffer  tortures  unheard 

of  in  the  annals  of  men,  as  a   consequence  of  William- 

son’s wickedness  and  ferocity,”  wrote  Charles  Whittle- 
sey in  his  account  in  the  American  Pioneer.  Many 

other  rewriters  of  the  event  express  similar  reflections. 

To  our  mind,  however,  neither  the  facts  nor  the  prob- 

abilities sustain  this  theory  of  “ special  punishment,” 
by  the  Delawares.  Neither  Captain  Pipe,  an  impla- 

cable enemy  of  the  Americans,  nor  Chief  Wingenund, 

scarcely  less  hostile,  were  friendly  to  the  Moravians; 

indeed  the  indifference,  if  not  downright  hatred  to  the 

Christian  Indians,  was  invariably  exhibited  by  these 

chiefs  when  occasion  offered.  They  could  hardly  have 

been  so  “wrought  up”  over  the  Gnadenhutten  slaugh- 
ter, as  the  writers  would  have  us  infer.  But  it  was,  as 

Butterfield  suggests,  quite  natural,  that  these  two 

chiefs,  the  arch-fiends  in  the  damnable  drama,  “   should 
afterward  assign  it  as  a   reason,  when  these  cruelties 

made  them  odious  at  Detroit.”  Indeed  Wingenund: 

“was  so  bold  as  to  deny  complicity  on  his  part,  in 

any  cruelties  inflicted  upon  the  prisoners.” 
Doddridge,  in  his  Notes,  evidently  taking  his  cue 

from  Zeisberger’s  Diary  and  Heckewelder’s  Narrative, 

says  Crawford’s  expedition  “in  one  point  of  view  at 
least,  is  to  be  considered  as  a   second  Moravian  cam- 

paign, as  one  of  its  objects  was  that  of  finishing  the 

work  of  murder  and  plunder  with  the  Christian  Indians 

at  their  new  establishments  on  the  Sandusky.”  The 
second  object  was  that  of  destroying  the  Wyandot 

He 
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towns  on  the  same  river;  “it  was  the  resolution  of  all 
those  concerned  in  this  expedition  not  to  spare  the 

life  of  any  Indians  that  might  fall  into  their  hands, 

whether  friends  or  foes.”  This  is  unquestionably  the 
view  of  the  Moravian  missionaries  who  were,  however, 

at  this  time,  scarcely  in  a   frame  of  mind  to  pass  im- 

partial judgment  upon  the  motives  or  actions  of  the 
western  frontiersmen.  There  is  no  evidence  that 

Crawford’s  expedition  was  other  than  a   campaign 
against  the  Indians  as  the  allies  of  Great  Britain  and 

the  dangerous  foes  of  the  new  American  nation.  The 

further  persecution  of  the  Moravian  converts  was  not 

even  a   secondary  motive  with  Crawford’s  men — that 
idea  was  the  shadowy  supposition  of  the  Moravian 
mind. 

On  the  other  hand,  as  intimated,  there  is  no  need  of 

seeking  a   justification  or  even  explanation  on  the  part 

of  the  Delawares  for  the  unparalleled  atrocities  of 

[Crawford’s  burning,  through  the  motive  of  retribution 

for  the  previous  massacre  by  Williamson’s  men.  The 
savage  allies  of  Great  Britain  fully  realized  that  from 

that  point  on  the  contest  between  the  bordermen  and 
the  tribal  warriors  would  be  one  of  extermination  of 

the  latter  from  their  Ohio  country. 

When  death  had  put  an  end  to  the  frightful  suffer- 
ngs  of  the  brave  and  immortal  colonel,  the  fagots 

vere  heaped  together,  his  burned  body,  now  a   mass  of 

'aw  flesh,  was  placed  upon  the  glowing  embers  and 
/around  his  charred  remains  danced  the  delighted 

savages  for  many  hours.” 
The  shocking  orgies  having  been  completed,  Simon 

3irty  returned  to  Lower  Sandusky,  where  he  found 
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the  disabled  Captain  Caldwell,  to  whom  he  made  report 

of  Crawford’s  execution. 

Doctor  Knight,  “a  small  and  weak-looking  man,” 

was  taken  to  Captain  Pipe’s  house,  and  his  face  again 
blackened,  evidence  that  there  awaited  him  the  doom 
that  had  been  meted  out  to  his  commander.  Under 

guard  of  Tutelu,  who  rode  horseback,  driving  Knight 

on  foot  before  him,  the  two  set  out  for  a   Shawnee 

town,  forty  miles  distant.  During  the  encampment 

of  the  first  night,  the  captive  doctor  slipped  his  bands 

from  his  wrists,  sprang  to  his  feet  and  seizing  a   large 

stick,  smote  the  “ burly  savage”  on  the  back  of  the 
head  as  he  was  stooping  over  the  fire,  into  which  the 

blow  felled  him.  Howling  with  pain,  the  Indian 

sprang  into  the  woods  leaving  Knight  to  make  good 

his  escape,  which  he  did,  reaching  Fort  McIntosh, 

after  three  weeks  of  adventures  and  sufferings,  sub- 

sisting “   altogether  on  wild  gooseberries,  young  nettles, 

a   raw  terrapin  and  two  young  birds.”  : 
John  Slover,  the  pilot,  made  even  a   more  remarkable 

escape,  as  he  subsequently  related  to  a   Mr.  Brackin- 
ridge  of  Pittsburg,  who  wrote  out  and  published  the 

account,  to  which  he  added  “some  observations  with 

regard  to  the  animals,  vulgarly  called  Indians.” 
Slover  was  paraded  through  many  Shawnee  towns, 

examined  by  several  Indian  councils,  and  finally  sen- 
t? tenced  to  death  at  Wapatomica  on  the  Muskingum, 

where  a   trial  was  held  in  the  council-house,  there 

being  assembled  fifty  to  one  hundred  warriors,  but 

only  the  chiefs  or  head  warriors  having  the  privilege 

of  speaking,  the  head  warriors  being  so  designated 

from  the  number  of  scalps  or  prisoners  they  had  taken. 
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Captain  Alexander  McKee  was  present,  “   dressed  in 

gold  lace  clothes,  ”   and  the  day  after  the  council, 
r about  forty  warriors,  accompanied  by  George  Girty, 

:ame  early  round  the  house  where  I   was,”  said  Slover. 

He  continues,  “the  squaws  put  a   rope  round  my  neck, 

tied  my  arms  behind  me  in  the  usual  manner.  ”   George 
Girty  told  him  he  would  get  what  he  deserved.  Slover 

A^as  beaten,  made  to  run  the  gauntlet,  and  tied  to  a 

:ree,  awaiting  the  preparation  of  the  post  and  fire. 

The  ususal  stake  was  set  up,  and  “three  piles  of  wood 

milt  about  three  feet  high  and  four  feet  from  the  post.  ” 
ie  was  tied  to  the  post  and  the  piles  of  wood  set  aflame. 

Slover  tells  the  almost  incredible  result:  “The  day 

vas  clear,  not  a   cloud  to  be  seen;  *   *   *   I   heard  no 
hunder,  or  observed  any  sign  of  approaching  rain; 

ust  as  the  fire  of  one  pile  began  to  blaze,  the  wind 

ose;  from  the  time  they  began  to  kindle  the  fire  and 

o   tie  me  to  the  post,  until  the  wind  began  to  blow  was 

bout  fifteen  minutes;  the  wind  blew  a   hurricane,  and 

he  rain  followed  in  less  than  three  minutes;  the  rain 

ell  violent,  and  the  fire,  though  it  began  to  blaze  con- 
iderably,  was  instantly  extinguished;  the  rain  lasted 

bout  a   quarter  of  an  hour;  when  it  was  over  the  sav- 
ges  stood  amazed  and  were  a   long  time  silent;  at  last 

ne  said,  we  will  let  him  alone  till  morning,  and  take 

whole  day’s  frolic  in  burning  him.” 
Slover  was  loosened  from  his  bonds,  beaten  and 

icked  and  wounded  till  the  Indians  were  weary  and 

eepy.  He  was  taken  to  a   blockhouse,  tied  with  a 

>pe  of  Buffalo  hide  about  his  neck  to  a   beam,  in  such 

manner  as  to  be  allowed  to  lie  down.  His  watching 

idians  smoked  and  jibed  their  prisoner,  with  comments 
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upon  the  tortures  awaiting  him  the  next  day,  asking 

him  how  he  would  like  to  eat  fire,  etc.,  till  slumbei 

overcame  them  all.  It  was  daybreak  and  he  “   heard: 

the  cock  crow,”  before  he  could  unloose  his  bindings, 

He  then  “ slipped  over  the  warriors  as  they  lay,”  and 
once  out  of  the  house,  ran  through  the  town  into  a 

corn  field,  where  he  caught  a   horse,  “   strong  and  swift, 
which  brought  him  in  a   few  hours  to  the  Scioto,  for 

he  took  the  direction  opposite  to  that  which  his  captors 

would  expect,  hoping  thereby  to  completely  deceive 

them,  which  he  did.  In  a   few  days  he  reached  Wheel- 
ing and  his  miraculous  escape  became  one  of  the  tales 

foremost  in  interest  among  the  innumerable  ones 

incident  to  the  expedition  of  Crawford. 



Chapter  XVIII. 

CLOSE  OF  THE  REVOLUTION  IN  OHIO 





THE  Crawford  campaign,  with  its  chief  event the  “Sandusky  Battle,”  sometimes  erro- 

neously spoken  of  as  the  “only  battle  of  the 

American  Revolution  fought  in  Ohio” — 
erroneously  so  designated  because,  as  we  have  seen, 

it  was  really  only  one  of  a   score  of  lesser  encounters 

that  were  inseparable  events  of  the  Revolution — 
marked  the  high  tide  of  the  bitterly  contested  war 

between  the  British-Indian  allies  and  the  Colonists 

in  the  year  1782.  But  the  end  was  not  yet.  The 

defeat  and  retreat  of  Crawford’s  army,  roused  the 
courage  and  fury  of  the  savages  to  the  highest  pitch 

of  animosity  and  fierceness.  All  was  renewed  activity 

[about  the  British  headquarters  at  Detroit  and  the Indian  centers  of  Sandusky  and  Wapatomica,  located 

on  what  is  now  the  site  of  Zanesfield,  Logan  county. 

War  was  to  be  carried  across  the  Ohio,  both  south  and 

{east.  The  sanguinary  encounter  known  as  the  Battle of  Blue  Licks  was  the  immediate  result. 

In  June  (1782),  immediately  after  the  events  upon 

the  Sandusky  Plains,  there  were  assembled  at  Wapa- 

Itomica,  a   host  of  the  redmen,  representing  Ottawas, Chippewas,  Wyandots,  Delawares,  Shawnees,  Munseys, 

Mingoes  and  even  Cherokees.  There  were  present, 

also,  Simon  Girty,  Mathew  Elliott  and  Alexander 

McKee,  the  advice  of  which  three  was  profuse  and 

i   nflammatory  and  in  general  acted  upon.  The  settle- 
ments in  Kentucky  were  designated  as  most  likely  to 

dford  fields  for  destructive  raids. 

The  Haldimand  Papers  and  the  Washington-Irvine 

correspondence  reveal  the  scheming  activities  of  the 

ribesmen  at  this  time.  Captain  Snake  of  the  Shaw- 
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nees,  immediately  after  the  Sandusky  battle,  requester 

of  de  Peyster  that  the  latter  permit  his  Rangers  t< 

remain  at  Lower  Sandusky  a   few  days  until  prepara 

tions  could  be  made  for  a   march  to  Wapatomica,  witj 

the  idea  of  advancing  thence,  with  added  forces  fror 

Detroit,  to  an  attack  on  Fort  Henry.  De  Peyste 

acceded  to  this  plan  and  to  augment  the  soldiery  c 

Captain  Caldwell  at  Wapatomica,  the  Detroit  com 

mander  dispatched  Captain  Andrew  Bradt  with 

company  of  forty  Rangers.  But  alarming  rumoi 

from  Pittsburg,  to  the  effect  that  George  Roger 

Clark  was  again  in  the  field  and  with  a   formidabl 

force  was  moving  from  Kentucky  towards  Wapatomicr 

led  Caldwell  and  his  army  of  Rangers  and  redme 

to  change  their  plans.  Instead  of  proceeding  towarc 

Fort  Henry,  they  decided  to  march  south  and  west  an; 

meet  the  expected  enemy  at  or  near  Piqua,  whern 

Clark  had  driven  the  Shawnees  two  years  befor 

It  was  a   great  army  that  set  out  under  Caldwe) 

“we  had,”  wrote  McKee,  “on  this  occasion,  the  grea 
est  body  of  Indians  collected,  on  an  advantageoi 

piece  of  ground  near  the  Picawee  (Piqua)  village  th. 

has  been  assembled  in  this  quarter  since  the  commenc 

ment  of  the  war.”  Caldwell  wrote  de  Peyster,  ‘i 
had  eleven  hundred  Indians  on  the  ground  and  thn 

hundred  more  within  a   day’s  march.” 

But  at  Piqua  there  was  no  enemy  in  sight,  on  t.‘ 
contrary  it  was  learned  that  the  report  of  Clark 

advance  was  false.  That  intrepid  hero  was  at  Lou  - 
ville,  engaged  in  other  plans.  With  no  fight  in  vie, 

the  disappointed  warriors,  in  large  numbers,  desert! 

and  struck  for  their  villages,  leaving  only  three  hundr  1 
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savages,  with  sixty  Rangers,  under  Caldwell,  to  march 
on  to  the  banks  of  the  Ohio.  On  the  eve  of  their 

departure  Simon  Girty  harangued  the  warrior  host 

and  with  all  the  power  of  his  fiery  tongue,  urged  them 

to  seize  the  coming  opportunity  to  exterminate  the 

Long  Knives — the  rebel  enemies  of  their  father,  the 

British  King — from  Kentucky,  the  favorite  hunting 
ground  of  the  Indians. 

The  point  aimed  at  was  Bryant’s  Station,  in  what  is 
now  Fayette  county,  Kentucky.  The  sequel  has  been 

told  by  many  writers,  notably  by  McClung,  with  profuse 

but  often  inaccurate  detail,  and  more  recently  by  Roose- 

velt in  his  “Winning  of  the  West,”  and  by  Colonel  Ben- 
nett H.  Young  in  the  publications  of  the  Filson  Club. 

It  was  in  the  night,  probably  the  15th  of  August 

(1782),  that  Caldwell  with  his  Rangers  and  Indians, 

the  latter  accompanied  by  McKee,  Elliott  and  the 

Girtys,  Simon  and  George,  arrived  at  Bryant’s  Station, 
vhich  then  comprised  about  forty  cabins,  arranged 

n   three  parallel  lines  and  connected  by  strong  palisades 

n   the  usual  form  of  a   stockade  fort.  “They  came,” 
vrites  Young,  a   most  careful  and  reliable  narrator, 

‘like  the  pestilence  that  walks  in  the  darkness,  un- 

expected and  unseen,”  having  crossed  the  Ohio  at 

he  mouth  of  Licking  River,  “no  spy  or  scout  had 

>rought  tidings  of  the  coming  storm.  ”   “That  night,  ” 

ays  Roosevelt,  “the  Indians  tried  to  burn  the  fort, 
hooting  flaming  arrows  onto  the  roofs  of  the  cabins 

nd  rushing  up  to  the  wooden  wall  with  lighted  torches; 

ut  they  were  beaten  off  at  each  attempt.” 
Runners  meantime  had  stealthily  evaded  the  Indian 

nes  and  hastened  to  the  neighboring  settlements  and 
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within  forty-eight  hours,  during  which  the  little  garri 
son  in  the  stockade  held  the  assailants  at  bay,  then 

came  to  the  relief  of  the  beleaguered  station  companie 

of  backwoodsmen  officered  by  Levi  Todd,  his  brothe 

John  Todd,  Stephen  Triff,  Hugh  McGarry,  Sila 

Harlan,  the  intrepid  Daniel  Boone,  accompanied  by 

his  youngest  son,  and  others  of  lesser  renown,  th 

force  in  all  numbering  one  hundred  and  eighty-tw< 

mostly  mounted  and  “   fully  one-third  of  these  wer 
officers,  who,  in  many  a   combat  and  many  an  expedi 

tion,  had  shown  their  skill  and  their  courage.”  Th 
plucky  little  band  in  the  station  stockade  stubbornly 

refused  to  surrender,  even  in  the  face  of  the  vastly 

superior  numbers  and  the  assailants  had  made  n< 

headway  when  the  relief  companies  began  to  appear 

The  Indians  of  Caldwell’s  force,  thinking  discretion 
was  the  better  part  of  valor,  suddenly  commenced  t< 

raise  the  siege  and,  after  burning  a   few  cabins  an< 

destroying  the  surrounding  crops,  under  cover  of  night 

withdrew,  leaving  their  fires  brightly  burning  to  deceiv 

the  enemy  as  to  their  departure.  When  dayligh 

revealed  the  retirement  of  the  besiegers,  the  Kentuck 

ians  decided  to  pursue  the  enemy  without  delay  an< 

easily  following  the  trail  taken  by  the  retreating  army 

the  mounted  frontiersmen,  on  the  afternoon  of  th 

1 8th,  precipitately  rushed  ahead.  They  encampe< 

that  night  in  the  woods  and  on  the  following  da; 

“reached  the  fatal  boundary  of  their  pursuit, ”   comin 
within  view  of  the  retreating  enemy  at  what  waj 

known  as  the  Blue  Licks,  on  the  Licking  River.  I 

halt  was  made  for  consultation,  in  which  Daniel  Boon 
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advised  delay  until  the  arrival  of  Colonel  Benjamin 

Logan,  who  was  known  to  be  approaching  with  ad- 
ditional men.  But  the  Kentuckians  were  impatient 

of  delay  and  under  the  leadership  of  the  impetuous 

McGarry,  mounted  their  horses  and  spurred  them  on 

across  the  Licking  River  and  up  an  ascent  to  a   bare  and 

open  ridge,  flanked  by  bushy  and  timber  covered 

ravines,  filled  with  the  ambuscading  Indians  who  then 

held  the  entrapped  Kentuckians  as  in  “the  wings  of 

a   net.”  The  forest  warriors  were  under  cover,  while 
their  helpless  victims  were  fully  exposed  to  the  terrible 

fire  that  suddenly  poured  upon  them  from  all  sides. 

The  mortality  was  tremendous;  one-fourth  of  the 

Kentuckian  force,  among  them  officers  John  Todd, 

Trigg,  Harlan,  Bulger,  McBride  and  Gordon,  went 

fown  at  the  first  volley  of  the  enemy,  like  stricken 

talks  of  corn,  never  to  rise  again.  The  whole  action 

lad  not  lasted  much  over  five  minutes;  “there  had 
)een  no  time  to  reload,  nor  did  the  enemy  intend  to 

^ive  them  opportunity  for  any  such  purpose,  but 

ushed  out  with  tomahawk  and  scalping-knife  and 

orced  a   hand-to-hand  encounter.” 
The  brave  Kentuckians  could  do  naught  else  than 

curry  from  the  death  trap;  there  was  not  even  time 

d   succor  the  wounded,  much  less  bear  off  the  dead, 

'he  survivors  took  instant  flight,  each  for  himself, 
nd  crossing  the  river,  “plunged  into  the  trackless 
>rests  on  the  opposite  shore  of  the  Licking,  but  the 

ntibush  had  accomplished  its  deadly  purpose”;  of  the 
zemg  frontiersmen,  forty-one  per  cent. — seventy — 
ere  killed  and  many  wounded  and  captured;  some  of 

ie  latter  being  spared  to  suffer  death  amid  Indian 
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tortures.  The  deserted  horses  of  the  Kentuckians 

were  seized  by  the  Indians  and  “on  these  they  rode 
among  the  fleeing  white  men,  cutting  them  down  with 

their  tomahawks  or  waited  to  slay  them  as  they  ran 

down  the  hillside.” 

Boone’s  son,  Israel,  among  the  mortally  wounded, 
was  borne  from  the  field  by  the  dauntless  father, 

carried  across  the  river  and  laid  upon  the  banks  tc 

die.  Many  were  the  deeds  of  heroism  and  bravery  oi 

the  Kentuckians  witnessed  on  that  fatal  day;  especially 

the  resolute  actions  of  Robert  Patterson  and  Benjamir 

Netherland,  who  finally  rallied  the  fleeing  frontiers- 
men and  checked  the  slaughter  being  inflicted  by  the 

pursuing  Indians,  on  that  bloody  day,  for  says  Young, 

“in  Kentucky’s  history,  there  is  nothing  more  tragic 
or  more  dreadful  than  the  Battle  of  Blue  Licks.” 

The  victorious  Indians,  “glutted  with  vengeance 
recrossed  the  Ohio  and  vanished  into  the  Northern 

forests,”  Captain  Caldwell  and  his  Rangers  returning 
to  Wapatomica  and  thence  going  to  Upper  Sandusky 

In  his  report  to  de  Peyster,  written  August  26th; 

Captain  Caldwell  grandiosely  wrote  of  the  Blue  Lick: 
victory: 

“We  killed  and  took  one  hundred  and  forty-six 
Amongst  the  killed  is  Col.  Todd  the  Commander,  Col 

Boon,  Lt.  Col.  Trigg,  Major  Harlin,  who  commanded 

their  infantry,  Major  Magara  and  a   number  more  o 

their  Officers.  Our  loss  is  Monsr.  La  Bute  killed  q 

he  died  like  a   warrior  fighting  arm  to  arm,  six  Indian 
killed  and  ten  wounded.  The  Indians  behaved  ex 

tremely  well  and  no  people  could  behave  better  thai 

both  Officers  and  men  in  general.  The  Indians 

:: 
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had  with  me  were  the  Wyandots  and  Lake  Indians. 

The  Wyandots  furnished  me  with  what  provision  I 

wanted,  and  behaved  extremely  well.  ” 
Captain  Caldwell,  after  reaching  Upper  Sandusky, 

was  soon  compelled  to  leave  for  Detroit,  being  very 

ill  with  intermitting  fever.  George  Girty  went  with 

the  Delawares  to  the  Mad  River  and  Simon  Girty 

with  the  Wyandots  to  the  Half-King’s  Town  on  the 
Sandusky.  The  close  of  the  Revolution  in  the  East 

gave  harbinger  of  peace  in  the  Ohio  country  and  in 

the  latter  part  of  August,  de  Peyster  received  from 

Brigadier  General  Powell  at  Fort  Niagara  orders 

directing  the  Detroit  commandant  to  thereafter  act 

inly  on  the  defensive  in  his  operations  in  the  Ohio 

:ount.ry.  De  Peyster  therefore  at  once  dispatched 

nstructions  to  Captain  Andrew  Bradt,  then  with  a 

:ompany  of  Rangers  at  Wapatomica  and  to  Captain 

Alexander  McKee  in  the  same  locality  ordering  them 

‘not  to  make  any  incursions  into  the  enemy’s  country.  ” 
hit  the  courier  with  these  orders  did  not  reach  Wapa- 

omica  until  after  Captain  Bradt  had  departed  with 

he  forty  Rangers  and  all  the  Indians  he  could  muster 

-two  hundred  and  forty  in  number — destined  for 
Wheeling  and  the  reduction  of  Fort  Henry,  which 

ad  been  the  original  destination  of  Caldwell’s  ex- 
edition a   few  weeks  before. 

The  surrender  of  Cornwallis  had  become  known  to 

le  Ohio  Indians  and  they  in  large  measure  compre- 

snded  its  probable  effect  in  bringing  about  a   con- 
usion  to  the  war  and  the  consequent  submission  of 
le  tribesmen  to  the  American  authorities.  The 

vages  were  therefore  easily  persuaded  to  another 
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effort  against  the  white  borderers.  The  Rangers 

under  Bradt  and  the  Indians  allies  accompanied  by 

James  Girty — and  not  Simon  Girty  as  most  accounts 

state,  nor  George  Girty  as  others  assert — hastened 
over  the  usual  trail  to  the  Ohio  banks  opposite  Wheel 

in  g. 

It  was  on  the  nth  of  September  (1782)  that  th^ 

assailing  force  was  discovered  approaching  Fort  Henry 

which  stood  on  a   bluff,  on  the  Virginia  side  of  the 

Ohio,  overlooking  the  river.  In  shape  the  fort  was  a 

parallelogram,  being  about  three  hundred  and  fifty-sb 
feet  in  length  and  one  hundred  and  fifty  in  width  1 

It  was  enclosed  by  a   stockade  fence  twelve  feet  high, 

with  a   walk,  three  feet  wide,  running  around  the  in 

side  and  with  bastions  at  each  corner,  large  enougf 
to  contain  six  defenders.  The  blockhouse  was  twc 

stories  high,  the  second  story  projecting  out  severa 

feet  over  the  first  and  thus  commanding  the  space 

beneath.  The  thick  white  oak  walls  of  the  palisade 

and  bastions  were  pierced  with  portholes.  Besides 
the  blockhouse  there  were  a   number  of  cabins  locatec 

within  the  stockade.  Outside  the  fort,  not  more  than 

one  hundred  yards  distant,  on  a   site  slightly  elevated 

above  the  level  of  the  fort,  was  the  dwelling  of  Colone 

Ebenezer  Zane;  it  was  an  unusually  spacious  log-hewr 
cabin  being  two  stories  high  in  the  form  of  a   blockhouse 

with  loopholes  for  the  use  of  musketry  in  case  of  attack 

Colonel  Zane  was  in  charge  of  the  station  and  at  his 

cabin  kept  a   portion  of  the  military  stores  required 

for  the  fort.  Occupying  the  house,  besides  Colonel 

Zane,  was  his  wife,  his  brother  Jonathan,  Molly  Scott 

and  Miss  McColloch,  daughter  of  Colonel  Samue 
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vlcColloch,  one  of  the  officers  of  the  fort,  and  two 

ervants.  Colonel  Zane  had  placed  his  brother  Silas 

ane  in  charge  of  the  fort,  the  garrison  of  which  properly 

onsisted  of  eighteen  men  and  all  told  did  not  exceed 

3rty-two,  including  “the  boys  and  women  who  could 

andle  rifles.”  Among  the  latter  was  Elizabeth  Zane, 

le  only  sister  of  the  Zane  brothers,  a   dark  eyed,  oval- 

iced,  fine-featured,  high-spirited  beauty,  who  was 

le  favorite  of  all,  not  merely  for  her  charms  of  person 

ut  for  “the  ability  she  displayed  in  the  acquirements 
emanding  a   true  eye,  a   fleet  foot,  a   strong  arm  and 

aring  courage,”  for  she  could  ride  like  an  Indian, 
loot  with  unerring  skill,  and  push  a   canoe  over  the 

ost  difficult  place. 

Upon  the  approach  of  the  attacking  enemy,  Colonel 

me  dispatched  Captain  Boggs,  to  warn  and  rouse  the 

lighboring  settlements.  Captain  Bradt,  flying  the 

ritish  flag,  with  pipe  and  drum  playing,  marched  up 
the  fort  and  demanded  its  surrender  in  the  name  of 

ing  George.  It  was  emphatically  refused,  when  the 

siegers,  numbering  about  three  hundred,  immedi- 

•   ely  opened  fire  upon  the  fort  and  rushed  forward 

the  assault  with  great  impetuosity.  They  were 

nt  by  a   brisk  and  well-directed  fire  from  the  portholes 

<   Colonel  Zane’s  house,  as  well  as  from  the  stockade 

lj't,  the  women  moulding  bullets,  loading  guns  and 
1   nding  them  to  the  men,  thus  enabling  the  latter  to 

b   so  often  and  effectively  as  to  give  the  enemy  the 
ka  that  the  garrison  force  was  greatly  in  excess  of 

t '   true  numbers. 

'Affien  the  night  came  the  Indians  made  desperate 

e   leavors,  but  in  vain,  to  fire  and  destroy  Zane’s 
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house,  which  so  formidably  commanded  the  approac 

to  the  fort.  Attempts  were  likewise  made  to  set  fi; 

to  the  palisades  of  the  stockade  and  to  shoot  flamiJ 

arrows  onto  the  roofs  of  the  enclosed  structure.  Bn 

the  little  garrison  was  equal  to  every  emergency.  T1 

night  wore  away,  the  yells  and  war-whoops  of  tl 

savages  subsided  and  daylight  revealed  that  tl; 

assailants  were  held  at  bay,  though  still  surging  aboi 

the  fort  and  renewing  their  showers  of  arrows  ail 

volleys  of  musketry.  Many  are  the  romantic  ail 

heroic  incidents  that  mark  the  siege — the  firing  jf 

the  French  swivel  from  the  portholes  of  the  bastioi; 

the  arrival  of  a   pirogue,  loaded  with  cannon  balls  froi 

Fort  Pitt,  under  Captain  Sullivan  and  a   crew  of  thrj; 

men,  and  their  plucky  and  hazardous  entrance  in) 

the  fort;  the  improvising  of  a   cannon,  by  the  IndiaijJ 

with  a   hollow  log,  which  at  the  firing  exploded  ail 

created  amusing  havoc  among  the  savages;  the  bra; 

attempt  to  reenforce  the  garrison,  by  Francis  Dulf, 

with  a   party  from  the  stockade  of  his  father-in-la, 

Colonel  David  Shepherd,  and  the  tragic  death  of  Du ; 

at  the  gate  of  the  fort  he  gallantly  sought  to  rescuer 

but  for  those  interesting  exploits  the  reader  must  se: 

the  detailed  accounts  of  which  there  are  many.  B: 

one  must  not  go  unrecorded  here,  for  it  scarcely  h> 

its  parallel  in  history. 

During  the  second  day’s  siege,  the  supply  of  powd' 
in  the  fort,  by  reason  of  the  long  continuance  of  t; 

savage  fire  and  the  necessity  for  reciprocal  respond 

became  almost  exhausted,  a   few  loads  only  remainin. 

There  was  no  alternative  but  to  replenish  the  sto«: 

of  the  fort  from  the  supply  in  the  cabin  of  Color l 
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Jt’Zane,  but  that  was  a   hundred  yards  away  and  the 

'   open  intervening  space  was  swept  by  the  bullets  and 
‘   arrows  of  the  surrounding  Indians.  It  was  evident 

^   lowever  that  the  garrison,  now  almost  empty  handed, 

^   :ould  not  resist  another  assaulting  charge  of  the  foe. 
V   volunteer  was  called  for,  one  who  dared  in  the  face 

:   >f  death,  to  make  the  run  from  the  fort  to  Colonel 

I   Dane’s  house  and,  if  successful  in  reaching  it,  attempt he  return  with  a   supply  of  powder.  The  proposed 

ndeavor  was  such  as  might  cause  the  stoutest  heart 

o   hesitate.  But  it  was  the  life  of  one  for  the  many, 
nd  those  backwoodswomen  no  less  than  the  men 

rere  schooled  to  peril  and  sacrifice.  There  were 

olunteers  and  among  them  Elizabeth  Zane,  or  Betty, 

s   she  was  called.  There  were  many  protests  against 

Betty’s  bold  proposal  and  when  told  a   man  would 
acounter  less  danger  by  reason  of  his  greater  fleetness, 

le  is  said  to  have  replied:  “And  should  he  fall,  his 
>ss  will  be  more  severely  felt;  you  have  not  one  man 

)   spare;  a   woman  will  not  be  missed  in  the  defense  of 

le  fort.”  Her  daring  but  determined  offer  was 
ductantly  accepted.  Divesting  herself  of  some  of 

*r  outer  skirts,  that  her  progress  might  be  less  im- 
ided,  she  stood  prepared  for  the  perilous  venture; 

id  “when  the  gate  was  opened  she  bounded  forth 
ith  the  buoyancy  of  hope  and  in  the  confidence  of 

access.”  “Wrapt  in  amazement,”  says  one  writer, 
the  Indians  beheld  her  spring  forward,  and  only 

claiming,  ‘a  squaw,  a   squaw,’  no  attempt  was  made 

interrupt  her  progress.”  Not  a   shot  did  they  fire. 
ie  yells  of  the  astonished  warriors  rang  all  along 

e   river  front,  showing  that  the  entire  Indian  force 
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had  witnessed  the  slight  figure  gracefully  and  fearlessl 

moving  across  the  open  and  ascending  the  gent) 

slope  to  the  Zane  cabin.  Speedily  “a  long  blac 
stream  of  the  precious  stuff  was  piled  up  in  a   littl 

hill  in  the  center  of  the  table;  then  the  corners  of  th 

table-cloth  were  caught  up,  turned  and  twisted  anj 

the  bag  of  powder  was  thrown  over  Betty’s  shoulder, 
and  fastened  about  her  waist. 

Again  she  ventured  forth,  this  time  with  her  pric< 

less  burden.  The  Indians  now  recognized  the  purpos 

of  her  errand  and  were  no  longer  passive.  Her  succe: 

meant  their  doom.  The  rifles  cracked  and  the  bulle': 

sped  about  her  like  hail;  “ scattering  pebbles  in  h 
path,  striking  up  the  dust  and  ploughing  little  furro 

in  the  ground.”  It  was  over  in  a   moment;  the  spir 
of  her  bravery  and  patriotism  shielded  her  from  harn 

she  reached  the  fort;  the  huge  gate  creaked  and  swum 

open  and  then  closed  upon  one  of  the  most  hero 

acts  in  the  annals  of  bravery. 

The  strange  spectacle  to  which  the  besiegers  ha 

just  been  witnesses  was  well  calculated  to  damp 

the  ardor  of  their  courage  and  create  admiration  f( 

the  dogged  grit  of  the  garrison.  But  the  paint 

warriors  and  their  British  allies  continued  the  sieg 

keeping  up  an  incessant  fire  the  remainder  of  the  da 

The  bastion  or  “ elevated  tower”  was  the  sped. 

(lie 

object  of  their  fire,  for  from  it  came  the  most  dead) 

shots.  It  was  occupied  by  Jonathan  Zane  and  h 

sister  Betty,  who  did  the  rapid  loading  while  tlj 

brother  did  the  effective  firing.  Betty  Zane  herse 

related  in  subsequent  years  how  she  would  have  1 

stop  in  her  work,  to  pull  out  the  splinters,  drive 
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into  her  hands  and  arms,  as  they  were  torn  off  the 

white  oak  logs  by  the  bullets  of  the  savages.  The 

second  night  was  made  hideous  with  the  yells  of  the 

Indians  as  they  made  assault  upon  the  impregnable 

stockade.  Bands  of  the  frantic  warriors  would  rush 

against  the  gate;  with  fire  brands  and  bundles  of  hemp 

they  sought  to  set  fire  to  the  palisades;  the  whistle 

of  the  bullet  and  the  echo  of  the  war-whoop  added  to 

the  terror  of  the  gloomy  night. 

The  next  morning  Bradt  and  the  chiefs  counseled 

together  as  to  further  plans,  when  the  news  reached 

the  invaders  that  a   force  of  seventy  frontiersmen  was 

on  the  way  to  the  relief  of  the  fort.  It  would  be 

rashness  to  continue  the  siege  in  the  face  of  greater 

md  renewed  resistance. 

Leaving  one  hundred  of  their  number  to  lag  behind 

:o  scour  and  lay  waste  the  country,  the  remainder  of 

:he  army,  on  the  morning  of  the  13th,  retreated  across 

;he  Ohio  and  encamped  at  Indian  Spring,  five  miles 

rom  the  river,  and  the  next  day  the  vanquished 

avages  took  up  the  journey  homeward. 

It  is  perhaps  due  to  the  truth  of  history  to  here 

lote  that  the  question  of  the  identity  of  the  heroine 

|>f  the  “ powder  feat”  has  been  raised  by  some  his- 
orical  writers,  owing  to  the  fact  that  in  1849  Mrs. 

^ydia  Cruger,  then  eighty-four  years  of  age,  who 

/as  an  inmate  of  the  fort  and  a   witness  to  the  event, 

lade  and  published  a   statement  that  Molly  Scott 

nd  not  Betsy  Zane  was  the  courageous  carrier  of 

be  powder.  Molly  Scott  lived  to  be  eighty  years 

f   age  and  according  to  the  testimony  of  J.  F.  Scott 

er  grandson:  “She  has  told  me,  and  in  my  presence, 

I   1 
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many  times,  about  the  exploit  of  Betsy  Zane  carrying 

the  powder  in  her  apron  from  Col.  Zane’s  dwelling 
to  the  Fort.”  There  is  no  evidence  whatever  that 
Molly  Scott  ever  claimed  the  honor  attributed  to 

her,  on  the  contrary  she  always  accorded  it  to  Betsy 

Zane.  Moreover,  there  is  the  trustworthy  testimony 

of  several  who  saw  the  feat  that  Betsy  Zane  was 
the  true  heroine  and  as  to  that  there  is  not  the  least 

doubt. 

It  was  a   memorable  siege,  distinguished  for  the 

numbers  engaged  in  the  assault,  the  almost  incom- 
parable bravery  of  the  small  garrison  in  defense,  but 

above  all  else  for  the  fortitude  displayed  by  the  women 

in  the  fort,  to  whom  De  Haas  in  his  “Indian  Wars 

of  Western  Virginia,”  pays  the  following  glowing  trib- 

ute, after  describing  the  horrors  of  the  second  night’s 

siege:  “The  women,  during  the  whole  of  that  long 
and  perilous  night,  proved  themselves  heroines  of  no.; 

ordinary  type.  They  stood  at  their  posts  like  soldiers) 

of  a   dozen  campaigns,  cooling  and  loading  the  rifles 

of  their  husbands,  brothers  and  lovers.  Such  women 

were  worthy  the  love  and  devotion  of  men  like  these. 

No  timid  shrieks  escaped  them;  no  maidenly  fears 

caused  them  to  shrink  from  their  self-imposed  and  most 

onerous  task.  Such  were  the  pioneer  mothers  of  the 

west — women  whose  souls  and  bodies  were  so  sorely 
tried  in  the  fierce  fire  of  our  Indian  wars.  Through 

the  whole  of  that  long  and  terrible  night,  without 

food  and  without  rest,  did  these  brave  and  noble 

women  stand  to  their  duty,  regardless  of  fatigue,  but 

nerving  their  hearts  to  the  contest,  and  animating? 

the  men  with  hope  and  courage.  The  Greek  matron, 
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vho  urged  her  son  to  the  conflict,  charging  him  to 

Return  with  his  shield  or  upon  it,  displayed  no  more 

'eal,  devotion,  and  true  courage,  than  these  hero- 
vomen  of  the  west.  History  is  full  of  examples  of 

:emale  heroism.  Israel  had  her  Judith  and  Deborah, 

"ranee  glories  in  her  Joan  and  Lavalette; — two  of 
hem  unsexed  themselves  in  the  excitement  of  battle; 

me  ingloriously  stained  her  hands  in  human  gore; 

Imd  the  other  had  nothing  to  lose  by  her  successful flForts;  but  the  western  heroines,  without  the  eclat  of 

emale  warriors,  displayed  more  true  courage  through- 

>ut  the  long  and  stormy  days  of  our  Indian  warfare, 

nd  exhibited  more  of  the  true  spirit  of  heroism,  than 

ny  example  in  ancient  or  modern  history.” 
While  the  expedition  against  and  the  siege  of  Fort 

lenry  was  in  progress  the  Kentuckians  were  busily 

ngaged  in  a   retaliatory  invasion  of  Ohio.  The 

attle  of  Blue  Licks  was  fought  on  the  19th  of  August. 

)n  the  next  day,  the  retreating  remnant  of  the  Ken- 

iicky  force,  on  their  way  from  the  scene  of  the  terrible 

isaster  to  Bryant’s  Station,  met  Colonel  Benjamin 
.ogan  at  the  head  of  three  hundred  men  whom  he 

ad  enrolled  for  the  rescue  of  Bryant’s  Station,  but 
hich  they  failed  to  reach  until  after  Caldwell  and 

is  force  had  withdrawn.  On  learning  of  the  fatal 

-Suit  at  Blue  Licks,  Logan  pressed  forward  to  the 

attlefield  to  bury  the  dead  and  avenge  their  death 

the  enemy  should  still  be  in  reach.  But  the  red 

arriors,  flushed  with  victory  and  brandishing  their 

alps  and  trophies,  had  skurried  to  their  Ohio  homes, 

he  field  of  battle  presented  to  Logan’s  soldiers  a 
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horrible  spectacle — all  was  still  as  the  very  deac 

that  lay  uncovered  where  they  had  fallen;  “not  r 
sound  was  to  be  heard  but  the  hoarse  cry  of  the  vulture 

flapping  her  wings  and  mounting  into  the  air,  alarmec 

at  the  intrusion  of  man.”  The  dead,  mangled  anq 
disfigured  by  the  tomahawk  and  scalping  knife,  wen 

unrecognizable  and  undistinguished,  all  were  alike 

consigned  to  a   silent  grave,  the  bodies  of  the  dead 

being  interred  in  long  trenches  and  heaped  ovei 

with  stones  and  logs.  The  whole  Kentucky  country 

was  aroused  to  action  by  the  disaster  of  Blue  Licks 

and  at  once  the  backwoodsmen  looked,  as  they  had 

so  often  looked  before  in  hours  of  distress,  to  George 

Rogers  Clark,  who  was  stirred  to  his  old-time  energy 

at  his  post  at  the  Ohio  Falls  (Louisville),  where  foi 

many  months  he  had  been  busy  strengthening  the 

fort  and  providing  means  to  protect  the  Kentucky 
border.  1; 

One  of  these  means  was  the  construction  of  a   “gun- 

boat” to  patrol  the  Ohio  from  Louisville  to  the  mouth 

of  the  Licking,  site  of  Cincinnati.  This  naval  achieve- 

ment was  a   flat  bottomed  row  boat  manned  by  forty 

men  and  carrying  two  swivel  cannon.  An  interesting 

correspondence  concerning  this  gunboat  passed  be- 

tween Clark  and  the  Virginia  authorities,  in  which 

Clark  asked  for  funds  to  defray  the  expense  for  the 

building  of  a   “man  of  war.”  The  governor  of  the 

state  replied  to  Clark’s  request:  “I  am  sorry  tc  . 
inform  you  that  we  have  but  four  shillings  in  the 

(state)  treasury,  and  no  means  of  getting  any  more.” 
But  Clark  built  the  boat.  He  promptly  responded 

to  the  call  that  he  raise  and  command  a   force  that 
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should  proceed  to  the  leading  Indian  towns  on  the 

Miami  River,  destroy  the  villages  and  chastise  the 

savages. 

The  call  for  volunteers  was  extended  throughout 

the  Kentucky  settlements  and  responses  came  from 

all  directions.  The  Falls  of  the  Ohio  and  Bryant’s 
Station  were  selected  as  the  places  for  the  troops  to 

meet  and  colonels  John  Floyd  and  Benjamin  Logan 

vere  selected  to  command  the  two  divisions  as  they 

should  assemble.  The  last  of  October,  both  divisions 

fnet  and  united  at  the  mouth  of  the  Licking,  where Hark  took  supreme  command.  His  force  numbered 

one  thousand  and  fifty  mounted  riflemen.  With 

oeeves,  pack-horses,  and  supplies  in  abundance  the 

irmy  left  the  banks  of  the  Ohio  on  November  4th 

ind  moving  up  the  Miami  Valley  reached  the  Miami 

:owns  in  six  days.  The  enemy,  apprised  of  the  ap- 

)roach  of  the  Kentuckians,  hurriedly  fled  to  the 

voods,  taking  their  squaws  and  children.  Their 

light  was  too  sudden  to  permit  their  carrying  away 

my  property.  There  was  nothing  for  Clark’s  soldiers 

o   do  but  seize  the  “ belongings”  the  Indians  had  left, 
>urn  the  deserted  cabins  and  great  quantities  of  corn 

nd  provisions. 

From  the  writings  of  Father  William  Bigot,  a   learned 

rrench  priest,  who  resided  for  thirty  years  at  Loramie, 
ow  Berlin,  on  Loramie  Creek,  and  who  made  a   careful 

tudy  of  the  history  of  that  noted  site,  we  learn  that 

1   this  campaign  of  Clark,  when  he  reached  Lower  Piqua 

t   the  Great  Miami,  “he  met  a   peaceful  people  and 

o   damage  was  done  them.  ”   From  there  he  proceeded 
d   Upper  Piqua,  where  there  was  an  Indian  fort  which 
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| 
the  Kentucky  commander  destroyed;  thence  he  pro- 

ceeded to  Loramie’s  store,  which  he  surprised,  plundered 

and  burned;  Pierre  Loramie  “ escaped  that  night 
from  the  hands  of  his  enemy  and  took  refuge  with 

the  Shawnees  at  Wapaconatre,  ’’(Wapakoneta).  This 

Loramie’s  store  was  undoubtedly  the  British  trading 

post,  mentioned  in  Clark’s  official  report,  in  which 
after  describing  the  destruction  of  the  first  Shawnee 

towns  reached,  he  says:  “The  British  trading  post 
at  the  head  of  the  Miami  and  Carrying  Place  to  the 

waters  of  the  Lakes,  shared  the  same  (fate)  by  a   party 

of  one  hundred  and  fifty  horse  commanded  by  Colonel 

Logan  and  property  to  a   great  amount  was  also  de- 
stroyed; the  quantity  of  provisions  burnt  far  surpassed 

any  idea  we  had  of  their  stores.” 

It  was  Clark’s  soldiers  that  destroyed  the  post, 
but  they  were  under  the  command  of  Logan.  The 

trading  post  was  never  rebuilt;  Loramie  left  the  Ohio 

country  for  a   residence  among  the  Western  Indians,  w 

The  Indians  could  not  be  prevailed  upon  to  attempt 

an  encounter  with  Clark;  Alexander  McKee  endeav- 
ored to  rally  the  Wyandot  and  Shawnee  warriors 

for  the  defensive;  but  only  a   small  number  would 

join  him  and  they  were  speedily  scattered  at  the  ap- 

proach of  the  Kentucky  frontiersmen.  Clark’s  fame 
as  a   conqueror,  with  a   thousand  determined,  rifle- 

armed horsemen  under  him,  was  an  antagonist  the 

wiley  warriors  dared  not  encounter.  There  was  no 

battle  in  the  campaign;  the  loss  of  the  Indians  was 

ten  scalps,  seven  prisoners  and  two  whites  recaptured; 

“after  laying  part  of  four  days  in  their  towns,”  writes 

Clark,  “and  finding  all  attempts  to  bring  them  to 
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a   general  action  fruitless,  we  retired,  as  the  season 

was  far  advanced  and  the  weather  threatening.” 

The  expedition  “ returned  in  triumph”  and  the  Ken- 

:uckians  “   regained  their  self-confidence.  ” 
Alluding  to  this  expedition,  which  ended  forever 

ill  formidable  Indian  invasions  of  Kentucky,  and  to 

Its  leader  Clark,  Justin  Winsor,  in  his  “ Westward 
Vlovement”  makes  the  comment,  “it  was  the  last 
)rilliant  dash  of  a   man  who,  amid  the  whirls  of  dis- 

ippointment,  was  soon  to  surrender  himself  to  evil 

labits,  and  drop  out  of  memorable  history.  He  had 

low  made  the  final  rude  onset  against  British  power In  the  northwest,  as  he  had  made  the  first  four  years before. ” 

During  the  summer  of  1782,  a   “fierce  determination 

possessed  the  borderers  to  crush  the  red  vipers”  along 

he  Sandusky  River  “and  arrangements  were  made,” 

eports  Withers,  “to  invade  the  Indian  country  once 
lore  as  soon  as  the  wheat  and  oats  were  harvested.” 
l   conference  was  held  between  members  of  the  Penn- 

sylvania Supreme  Council  and  members  of  Congress, 
diich  resulted  in  a   recommendation  to  General  Wash- 

lgton  that  a   general  campaign  against  the  savages 

lould  be  inaugurated.  The  Fort  Henry  siege  empha- 

zed  the  necessity  of  such  a   campaign  and  Washing- 

bn  agreed  that  three  expeditions  should  move  simul- 
meously  on  the  Indians.  One  was  to  be  sent  by  the 

itate  of  New  York  against  the  Iroquois  in  the  neigh- irhood  of  Oswego;  another  was  to  proceed  from 

anbury,  Pennsylvania,  into  the  settlements  of  the 

mecas  in  the  Genesee  Valley;  a   third,  to  be  com- 

anded  by  General  Irvine,  was  to  move  from  Fort 
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Pitt  against  the  Wyandots  and  Delawares  on  the 

Sandusky  River. 

General  Lincoln,  then  Secretary  of  War,  proposed 

that  Irvine’s  force  should  consist  of  twelve  hundred 

men,  regulars,  rangers  and  volunteers  and  that  the 

army  should  set  forth  on  October  8th.  But  on  that 

date  no  troops  were  forthcoming  and  after  a   wait  of 

two  weeks,  General  Irvine  received  word  from  Phil- 

adelphia that  the  Indian  war  was  regarded  as  at  an 

end,  and  his  expedition  was  countermanded.  But 

as  we  have  seen,  George  Rogers  Clark  proceeded  with- 

out hesitation  or  delay  with  his  Kentucky  expedition 

against  the  Indians  on  the  Miami.  But  at  the  same 

time,  as  the  Washington-Irvine  correspondence  amply 

reveals,  General  Sir  Guy  Carlton,  who  had  recently 

been  appointed  commander-in-chief  of  the  British 

forces  in  America,  issued  a   manifesto  ordering  a   ces- 

sation of  Indian  depredations,  which  had  been  carried 

on  with  such  terrible  results  for  six  years.  It  was 

upon  the  knowledge  of  this  action  of  Carlton  that 

Washington  countermanded  the  Indian  expeditions 

proposed  as  above  stated.  Hassler  in  “Old  West- 

moreland” takes  evident  satisfaction  in  stating  that 

General  Carlton’s  order  concluded  the  Indian  war  of 

the  American  Revolution.  He,  of  course,  permits 

Clark’s  expedition  to  be  carried  through.  But  he 

truly  claims  that  Carlton’s  action  ended  the  incur- 
sions of  the  savages  as  the  allies  of  Great  Britain, 

“ acting  with  British  aid  and  under  the  direction  of 

British  officers,”  but  it  did  not  altogether  stop  the 
personal  depredations  of  the  Ohio  savages;  indeed 

those  lawless  raids  were  continued  into  the  spring 
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:   1783,  when  small  parties  of  Shawnees  and  Wyandots 
rossed  the  Ohio  and  invaded  with  the  tomahawk 

ad  rifle,  the  border  settlements  of  Pennsylvania, 

imon  Girty  was  particularly  active  and  persistent 

|l  keeping  up  the  hostile  raids  of  the  warriors,  a   band 

'   whom  he  led  from  the  Sandusky  to  within  five  miles 

:   Fort  Pitt,  on  the  very  day  Lieutenant  Colonel 
:ephen  Bayard,  then  temporarily  in  command  of 

le  post,  was  firing  a   salute  in  celebration  of  the  con- 

*mation  of  the  news  of  peace  between  Great  Britain 
id  the  United  States.  This  raid,  says  Butterfield, 

as  the  last  of  Girty’s  border  exploits  during  the 

merican  Revolution;  he  “ never  again  imbued  his 

mds  in  the  blood  of  his  countrymen,”  but  removing 
Detroit,  remained  in  the  pay  of  the  British  Indian 

department  as  an  intrepreter. 

Appeals  were  made  to  Congress  by  the  bordermen 

j|r  protection  and  John  Dickinson,  President  of  the 

hnnsylvania  Council,  wrote  Congress,  April  29,  1783, 

(fling  attention  to  the  Indian  “ calamities”  still 
Ijing  perpetrated  and  asking  Congress  to  inform  them 

I   authority  that  peace  had  been  made  with  Great 

litain,  “that  the  back  country  with  all  the  forts,” 
i   thereby  ceded  to  us;  that  they  (Indians)  must  now 

‘lepend  upon  us  for  their  preservation,”  and  unless 
Gy  cease  their  activities  the  American  armies  would 

e   irpate  them. 

To  carry  this  message  to  the  savages,  Congress 

abointed  Major  Ephraim  Douglas,  who,  accompanied 

b.  Captain  George  Cully,  set  out  from  Fort  Pitt, 

J   re  7,  1783.  Carrying  a   white  flag  of  peace,  they 
r<|  e   to  the  Sandusky  River,  which  they  reached  on 
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June  1 6th.  They  visited  the  Wyandots,  Shawnee* 

and  Delawares,  conferring  with  Captain  Pipe,  anc 

Dunquat,  the  Half-King.  All  then  proceeded  to 
Detroit  where  they  were  civilly  received,  on  July  4 

by  de  Peyster,  who  consented  to  an  Indian  council 

which  was  attended  by  the  chiefs  of  eleven  tribes 

representing  nearly  all  the  Indians  from  the  Scioto 

to  Lake  Superior,  viz.,  the  Shawnees,  Delawares,  Wy 

andots,  Miamis,  Piankeshaws,  Senecas,  Kickapoos 

Weas,  Chippewas,  Ottawas  and  Pottawattomies.  Lon; 

“ talks”  were  had  with  chiefs  to  convince  them  th 
war  was  over  and  the  Americans  would  insist  on  th 

peaceful  behavior  of  the  tribesmen.  Douglas  ant 

Cully  then  proceeded  to  Fort  Niagara,  where  the; 

met  the  Mohawk  chief  Joseph  Brant,  who  was  assuretj 

that  the  victorious  Americans  felt  kindly  toward  an 

wished  peace  with  the  Six  Nations. 



Chapter  XIX. 

THE  NORTHWEST  TERRITORY 





St  ■   "AHE  surrender  of  the  British  at  Yorktown October  19,  1781,  practically  ended  the  war 

J   with  the  mother  country,  but  the  official 

negotiations  required  to  bring  about  the 

results  of  peace  moved  slowly  in  those  days  when 

there  were  no  telegraph  cables,  by  which  conversation 

could  be  conducted  with  the  government  at  London, 

and  no  steamships  by  which  documents  could  in  a 

few  days  be  speeded  across  the  Atlantic.  Franklin, 

Jay  and  Adams  acted  in  behalf  of  the  victorious  young 

republic  and  the  preliminary  treaty  was  signed  in 

Paris,  November  30,  1782.  The  definite  treaty  re- 
ceived the  signatures  of  the  representative  ministers 

at  Paris,  on  September  3,  1783.  Three  months  later 

Washington  took  leave  of  his  officers  at  Fraunce’s 
Tavern,  his  New  York  headquarters,  and  three  weeks 

later  resigned  his  commission  as  general  of  the  army 

and  retired  to  private  life.  We  need  not  enter  upon 

Ithe  details  of  that  famous  Peace  Treaty  of  1783,  as only  a   few  features  bear  upon  our  story. 

By  the  Quebec  Act  of  1774,  it  will  be  recalled,  the 

boundaries  of  the  Province  of  Quebec  were  extended 

by  England  to  the  Mississippi  River  on  the  west  and 

the  Ohio  on  the  south  with  prohibitive  measures  as 

to  its  settlement  by  the  American  colonists,  and  other 

oppressive  features  which  were  grievances  the  colonists 

inserted  in  their  Declaration  of  Independence.  By 

the  treaty  of  peace  resulting  from  the  American 

Revolution,  the  boundaries  of  the  new  and  independent 

republic  were  acknowledged  to  be  Florida,  then 

belonging  to  Spain,  on  the  south;  the  Mississippi 

River  on  the  west,  the  vast  and  unexplored  country 
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beyond  being  the  possession  of  Spain;  while  the 

southern  line  of  Canada,  a   line  that  could  not  then 

be  absolutely  fixed,  was  the  northern  extent  of  the 

United  States.  This  gave  the  great  “   Northwest : 
territory  to  the  new-born  American  nation  of  which 

Count  d’Aranda  who  represented  Spain  in  the  treaty 

negotiations  wrote,  at  the  time:  “The  federal  republic 

is  born  a   pigmy,”  but  prophetically  added  “ a   day  will 
come  when  it  will  be  a   giant,  even  a   colossus,  formidable 

to  these  [European]  countries.”  But  the  peace  de- 
clared with  England  in  the  Paris  Treaty  was  to  be 

far  from  such  in  actual  results. 

In  New  England  the  war  ended,  in  fact;  but  in  the 

trans-Allegheny  country  it  was  to  continue  in  a   desul- 
tory and  fitful,  and  at  times  most  sanguinary,  way 

for  some  thirteen  years  yet  to  come.  This  continua- 
tion of  the  war  was  to  be  mainly  by  the  Indians, 

acting  as  the  allies  and  agents  of  Great  Britain.  In 

the  fourth,  fifth  and  sixth  articles  of  the  Paris  Treaty 

(1783)  it  was  agreed  that  the  creditors  on  either  side 

should  meet  with  no  lawful  impediment  to  the  recovery 

of  the  full  value  in  sterling  money  of  all  bona  fide  debts 

contracted  before  the  war;  Congress  was  to  recommend 

to  the  states  that  they  provide  for  the  restitution  oi 

all  estates,  rights  and  properties  which  had  been  con- 
fiscated from  the  British  subjects.  The  treaty  saic 

nothing  as  to  indemnity  or  security  by  the  Unitec 

States  for  the  enforcement  of  those  provisions,  while  I 

England  agreed  “with  all  convenient  speed,”  tc 

withdraw  all  “armies,  garrisons,  and  fleets  from  th< 
said  United  States  and  from  every  post,  place  anc 

harbor  within  the  same.”  Anticipating  this  featun 

bed 

H 
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of  the  final  peace  agreement,  Congress  in  the  summer 

of  1783  authorized  Washington  to  arrange  with  the 

British  officers  to  receive  the  posts,  heretofore  occupied 

by  them,  at  Mackinac,  Detroit,  Niagara,  Oswego, 

Osewegatchie  (Ogdenburg),  Erie,  Point-au-Fer  and 

Dutchman’s  Point,  and  incidentally  the  Ohio  posts 
at  the  mouth  of  the  Maumee  and  of  the  Sandusky. 

Washington  at  once  dispatched  Baron  Von  Steuben 

to  execute  this  errand.  But  when,  at  Sorel,  the  Baron 

met  General  Haldimand,  the  British  governor  of 

Canada,  and  delivered  his  message,  the  British  general 

diplomatically  but  emphatically  stated  that  he  had 

received  no  orders  to  “turn  over  the  posts”  in  question 
and,  as  we  shall  see,  they  remained,  without  shadow 

of  right,  garrisoned  by  and  in  the  possession  of  England 

until  their  evacuation  in  June,  1796,  as  one  of  the 

terms  of  the  “Jay  Treaty,”  made  with  the  British 
government  in  the  fall  of  1794. 

The  unsupported  pretention  of  England  to  this 

high-handed  business  was  that  the  retention  of  the 

posts  was  in  the  form  of  a   security  for  the  payment 

by  the  Americans  of  the  claims  of  the  despoiled  or 

creditor  Loyalists.  England’s  real  motive  was  to 

continue  the  protection  of  her  fur  trade  in  the  North- 

west, and  to  instigate  the  Indians  to  renewed  hostilities 

against  the  western  settlers,  for  Great  Britain  held 

to  the  hope  that  the  American  league  of  states  would 

prove  a   “rope  of  sand”  which  would  soon  be  torn 
asunder  and  then  from  the  western  posts  might  she 

regain  a   part  at  least  of  her  lost  territory. 

The  tribesmen,  ever  credulous  of  the  blandish- 

ments of  the  agents  of  the  Great  Father  beyond  the 
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sea,  were  assured  of  the  friendship  and  aid  of  their 

former  English  allies,  and  were  given  to  understand 

that  they  would  be  cared  for.  With  this  “   moral  ” 
support  at  his  back,  the  Indian  was  not  slow  in  re- 

newing his  protest  against  the  occupation  by  the 

Americans  of  his  beloved  Ohio  Valley.  Indeed  the 

Indian  claim  to  this  Ohio  country  was  two-fold  though 
conflicting.  As  already  set  forth,  the  Iroquois  had 

always  claimed  it  by  right  of  conquest,  a   proprietary 

right,  while  their  “ tenants,”  the  Ohio  tribes,  denied 
this  assumption  of  the  Six  Nations  and  claimed  the 

territory  by  both  right  of  ownership  and  right  of 

perpetual  possession.  Although  England  was  now 

so  profuse  in  her  protestation  of  friendship  and  alle- 
giance to  the  Indian,  she  had  utterly  ignored  them 

in  the  treaty  of  Paris  and  had  failed  to  make  any 

provision  for  either  the  Iroquois  nation  or  the  trans- 
Allegheny  tribes.  This  serious  and  unjust  neglect 
General  Haldimand  hastened  in  some  measure  to 

repair  by  offering  the  New  York  Mohawks  a   home 

on  the  Grand  River  in  Canada,  an  offer  accepted  by 
the  warrior  tribe. 

With  these  Indian  claims  to  the  Ohio  country  in 

mind  we  turn  to  others  even  more  complex  and  prob- 
lematical. 

Whatever  might  be  the  relation  of  the  Indian  to 

the  territory  in  question,  the  relation  of  the  colonies 

was  a   more  pressing  and  direct  one.  The  United 

States  had  wrested  by  conquest  the  Northwest  Terri- 
tory from  England.  Where  was  the  title  to  this 

vast  domain  described  by  Mr.  Gladstone  as  “a  natural 
base  for  the  greatest  continuous  empire  ever  established 
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by  man”?  Was  it  at  the  disposal  of  the  National 
Government  as  common  territory  or  did  it  belong 

iistributively  to  the  several  states  by  reason  of  their 

original  colonial  charters?  The  latter  persistently 

Dressed  their  alleged  rights.  There  were  seven  “claim- 

mt”  states,  a   majority  of  the  United  States.  Three 
)f  these,  Georgia,  North  and  South  Carolina,  each 

aying  claim  to  the  extensions  of  territory  west  to 

he  Mississippi,  do  not  enter  into  our  discussion  as 

hey  do  not  intrude  upon  the  Northwest  Territory. 

Before  considering  the  four  claimants  to  the  trans- 

Ulegheny  country,  we  must  pick  up  another  thread 

n   the  proceedings  of  the  Revolution.  The  very  day 

lat  the  Continental  Congress  appointed  a   committee 

o   draw  up  a   Declaration  of  Independence,  it  also 

amed  a   committee  to  prepare  a   form  of  government. 

Tie  report  of  the  latter  committee,  a   report  known 

s   the  “ Articles  of  Confederation,”  was  adopted 
y   Congress  in  1 777.  The  assent  of  every  one  of 

le  thirteen  colonies  was  required  to  bring  the  proposed 

Dnfederation  into  operation.  By  the  end  of  1779 

le  articles  were  ratified  by  all  the  colonies  except 

laryland  which  held  off  until  1781.  Before  that  time 
le  success  of  the  Revolution  was  assured  and  the 

roblem  of  the  disposal  of  the  Northwest  Territory 

as  already  in  debate.  Maryland  having  no  claim, 

irough  its  colonial  charter,  upon  the  territory  in 

sue,  demanded  that  the  northwest  should  become 

lblic  domain,  the  property  of  the  new  confederate 

wernment,  and  declared  she  would  not  subscribe 

»   the  “ articles”  until  that  question  was  decided  in 
:cordance  with  her  position.  The  Continental  Con- 
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gress  naturally  championed  this  view  of  Maryland 

and  early  in  1780,  by  resolution,  made  pledge  thai 

if  the  lands  in  dispute  were  ceded  by  the  disputant 

states  to  the  confederation  they  should  be  disposec 
of  for  the  common  benefit  of  all  the  states  and  the 

territory  when  ceded  should  be  divided  into  new 
states  and  admitted  into  the  Union  as  confederatec 

states  on  equal  footing  with  the  original  thirteen. 

The  four  claimant  states,  which  at  first  obstinatel) 

held  out  for  their  respective  sections,  were  Mas 

sachusetts,  New  York,  Connecticut  and  Virginia.  W< 

consider  their  demands  in  the  order  named,  demand, 

which  all  grew  out  of  the  original  colonial  charter 

or  grants,  bestowing  territory  between  certain  degree 
of  latitude  on  the  Atlantic  coast  westward  as  fa 

as  the  land  should  go,  the  western  limit  being,  a 

the  time  of  the  grants,  unknown;  even  designate( 

as  the  “ south  sea.”  These  western  extensions,  how 
ever,  since  the  treaty  of  1783  must  perforce  end  a 

the  Mississippi,  beyond  which  all  was  Spanish  soil 

Massachusetts,  with  most  vaulting  ambition,  claime< 

that  the  territorial  width  of  her  charter  rights,  beyon< 

the  New  York  colony,  whose  grant  cut  through  th 

Bay  State  strip,  and  beyond  Lake  Erie,  which  als« 

lay  in  her  way,  entitled  her  to  a   continuation  in  wha 

are  now  southern  portions  of  Michigan  and  Wisconsin 

But  New  York  denied  the  western  resumption  0 

Massachusetts,  which  so  boldly  over-leaped  itself,  an< 
New  York  claimed  that  the  Bay  State  stopped  a 

the  eastern  boundary  of  the  Empire  State,  the  charte 

of  the  latter  and  not  that  of  Massachusetts,  continuin 

on  west  to  the  banks  of  the  “Father  of  Waters. 

u 
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More  than  this,  New  York  claimed  the  territory 

west  and  north  of  the  Ohio  River  by  reason  of  her 

various  treaties  with  the  Iroquois  who  had  ceded 

their  western  territorial  conquest  titles  to  the  British 

authorities  in  the  treaties  we  have  already  mentioned, 

and  now  the  result  of  those  treaties  reverted  to  the 

New  York  State.  These  New  York  claims  have  been 

characterized  as  the  “   vaguest  and  most  shadowy  of 

all”  the  colonial  demands.  But  they  were  seriously 
put  forth. 

Connecticut,  with  Yankee  thrift  and  tenacity,  stepping 

over  the  southern  ocean  edge  of  New  York,  demanded 

a   strip  of  Pennsylvania,  and  then  a   continuation 

through  the  northern  part  of  Ohio  and  on  to  the  Mis- 

sissippi, a   claim  conflicting,  beyond  Pennsylvania,  with 

both  New  York  and  Virginia. 

A   full  presentation  of  Virginia’s  plea,  which  sur- 
passed all  others  in  extent,  though  interesting,  would 

be  too  lengthy  for  recital  here.  In  brief  her  claim  was 

based  on  the  Charter  of  1609,  which  granted  the 

Virginia  colony  a   stretch  along  the  Atlantic  coast, 

two  hundred  miles  each — four  hundred  in  all — north 

and  south  from  Old  Point  Comfort  and  “up  into  the 

land  throughout  from  sea  to  sea,  west  and  northwest.  ” 

This  latter  expression,  “west  and  northwest,”  says 

Avery  in  his  History  of  the  United  States,  was  “wonder- 

fully vague  and  led  to  serious  controversy.  ”   It  made 
great  difference  which  line  was  drawn  northwest. 

If  the  northwest  extending  line  was  drawn  from  the 

southern  end  of  the  four  hundred  miles  of  the  coast, 

the  domain  thus  limited  would  constitute  a   triangle 

of  moderate  area.  If,  on  the  other  hand,  explains 
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Mr.  Avery,  one  line  was  drawn  westerly  from  the 

southern  of  the  two  coast  points  and  the  remaining 

boundary  line  drawn  northwesterly  from  the  northern 

of  the  coast  points,  then  the  included  territory  would 

“   embrace  a   great  part  of  the  continent  and  extend 

from  sea  to  sea.” 

The  first  construction  of  the  charter  took  in  two- T 

thirds  of  Ohio;  the  second  interpretation,  which 

Virginia  adopted,  included  all  of  Ohio  and  the  entire 

Northwest  Territory.  This  latter  claim,  Virginia  further 

strengthened  by  the  plea,  that,  at  her  expense  alone 

and  under  her  sole  direction,  the  Northwest  had  been 

rescued  from  England  by  the  expedition  of  George 

Rogers  Clark. 

The  problem  of  the  claimant  states  bode  fair  for 

a   while  to  bring  disaster  to  the  new  confederation. 

But  gradually  the  spirit  of  patriotism  and  unity  pre- 

vailed and  early  in  1780  the  New  York  legislature 

took  the  lead  and  “gracefully”  passed  an  act  pledging 
a   cession  of  her  claims  to  the  Union.  The  act  of  cession 

by  New  York,  however,  in  which  she  agreed  to  give 

up  all  claim  to  lands  west  of  a   north  and  south  line  | 

drawn  through  the  western  end  of  Lake  Ontario,  did 

not  take  effect  until  March  1,  1781.  On  the  strength 

of  this  action  of  New  York  and  similar  action  fore- 

shadowed by  the  other  claimants,  Maryland  on  Feb- 

ruary 1,  1781,  ratified  the  “Articles  of  Confederation.” 
Virginia,  which  had  strenously  considered  the  subject 

and  really  had  the  most  to  yield,  was  the  next  to 

respond.  She  dickered  not  a   little  over  the  subject 

with  Congress,  making  tentative  offers  which  were 

refused  but  finally  on  March  1,  1784,  her  cession,  with 
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ertain  reservations,  became  effective.  She  ceded 

11  her  territory  north  and  west  of  the  Ohio  River,  but 

eserved  that  part  of  Ohio  lying  between  the  Little 

j.  liami  and  the  Scioto  rivers,  from  a   line  between 

x   heir  respective  sources,  to  the  Ohio  River;  it  com- 
rised  6,570  square  miles  and  4,504,800  acres  of  land; 

.   .   was  thereafter  known  as  the  Virginia  Military  Dis- 

fict  of  Ohio  and  was  reserved  for  the  sole  purpose 

,   f   satisfying  the  bounties  promised  by  Virginia  to 

er  officers  and  soldiers  who  had  served  either  in  the 

M   fionial  or  Continental  army  during  the  Revolutionary 

Jar.  Another  reservation  by  Virginia  was  that  of 

le  hundred  and  fifty  thousand  acres  of  land,  promised 

Y   the  state  to  General  George  Rogers  Clark  and  the 

..  ficers  and  soldiers  of  his  regiment,  “who  marched 
ith  him  when  the  posts  of  Kaskaskia  and  Vincennes 

ere  reduced,”  etc.  The  lands  so  reserved  were  lo- 

ited  north  of  the  Ohio,  “at  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio, 

the  county  of  Illinois.”  Certainly  staunch  old 
irginia  was  true  to  her  sons  and  her  pledges  to  them. 

Massachusetts  followed  suit  on  April  19,  1785, 

e   tenth  anniversary  of  the  battle  of  Lexington  and 

)ncord,  when  she  yielded  to  the  federal  government 

r   claims  to  all  lands  west  of  New  York. 

Connecticut  came  last,  ‘ ‘   reluctantly,  tardily,  thrift- 

It  was  not  until  May  26,  1786,  that  she  relin- 

<   ished  “all  right,  title  and  interest,  jurisdiction 

;   d   claim”  to  lands  within  her  chartered  limits  “lying 
Vst  of  a   line  one  hundred  and  twenty  miles  west  of 

;   d   parallel  with  the  western  boundary  line  of  the 

{ ite  of  Pennsylvania.  ”   But  all  within  her  chartered 

1   fits  for  one  hundred  and  twenty  miles  westward 
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from  Pennsylvania  and  lying  between  latitudes  4 

and  420  2'  north,  she  reserved  from  conveyance  a 

this  retained  territory  became  known  as  the  “Weste 

Reserve  of  Connecticut.”  This  cession,  says  AlfJ 

Mathews  in  his  “Ohio  and  the  Western  Reservcjl 

was  a   “   bargain  of  the  proverbial  Yankee  trader  kindlf 
for  what  Connecticut  gave  up  in  her  far  west  clairw 

was  “a  few  thousand  miles  of  atmosphere,  elusr, 

intangible”;  she  gave  it  for  a   “sure  title  to  a   tract if* 
solid  ground  with  definite  boundaries,  as  large  as  tii 

mother  state,”  a   tract  of  three  and  a   quarter  millh 
acres. 

Charles  Moore,  in  his  “   Northwest  under  This 

Flags,”  tersely  sums  up  the  effect  of  the  cession 

“New  York,  by  giving  up  early  what  she  never  h;, 
won  great  credit;  Virginia  generously  made  a   distir t 

sacrifice  of  dearly  conquered  territory  over  wh 

she  was  actually  exercising  jurisdiction;  Massachuse 

quit-claimed  a   title  she  could  not  defend;  and  Conner- 

cut  gained  an  empire  to  which  she  was  not  entitlq 

but  which  she  put  to  the  very  best  uses.” 

Thus  the  Northwest  Territory — “a  vast  empi, 

larger  than  any  country  in  Europe,  save  Russia’ 
became  the  public  domain  of  the  confederated  stat . 

But  the  aboriginal  inhabitant  and  possessor  was  s   i 

there;  the  Indian  claimant  was  still  to  be  dealt  wi , 

and  to  the  general  government  of  the  United  Stat  , 

now  belonged  the  exclusive  right  to  extinguish,  eitlr 

by  purchase  or  by  conquest,  the  Indian  title  of  occ*j 

pancy. 

While  Haldimand  and  the  British  authorities  w<jj 

making  every  endeavor  to  retain  the  favor  of  te 
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— 

x   Nations  and  the  western  tribes,  Washington  and 

ongress  sought  to  placate  the  tribesmen  by  bringing 

iem  under  the  care  of  the  Federal  government 

.ther  than  leave  them  to  be  dealt  with  by  the  several 
ates.  With  this  in  view  a   conference  was  called 

;   Fort  Stanwix,  the  present  site  of  Rome,  New  York, 

October,  1784.  It  was  an  event  of  great  moment 

American  history;  the  parleyings  continued  for 

tree  weeks,  with  the  usual  prolonged  ceremonies 

id  lengthy  “ talks.”  The  United  States  government 
as  represented  by  Oliver  Olcott,  Richard  Butler  and 

rthur  Lee.  The  Iroquois  tribes,  Mohawks,  Onon- 

igas,  Senecas,  Cayugas,  Tuscarawas,  and  Seneca- 
beal,  were  present  in  the  persons  of  their  chiefs  and 

chems;  among  whom  the  most  conspicuous  were 

ed  Jacket  and  Cornplanter.  This  latter  was  a 

meca  chief,  his  especial  following  being  known  as 

le  “Seneca-O’beal,  ”   as  his  father  was  said  to  be  a 

hite  trader  named  John  O’Bail  or  O’Beel.  The 
lief’s  mother  was  a   full-blooded  Seneca.  Corn- 
anter,  in  his  native  tongue  Garganwahgah,  at  the 

me  of  the  Stanwix  Treaty  some  fifty  years  of  age, 

as  a   splendid  specimen  of  his  race  and  of  commanding 

fluence.  He  had  sided  against  the  English  in  the 

rench  and  Indian  War,  but  was  a   zealous  adherent 
the  British  in  the  American  Revolution. 

Cornplanter  ardently  urged  harmony  between  the 

iw  government  and  the  tribesmen.  He  “   saw  the  folly 
waging  war  single-handed  against  the  whole  power 

the  confederacy  and  exerted  all  his  power  for  peace,” 
it  he  wisely  sought  to  avoid  a   definite  treaty,  with- 
it  the  concurrence  of  the  western  tribes.  On  the 
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contrary  Red  Jacket — Sagoyewatha,  “he  keeps  thei 

awake” — was  boldly  opposed  to  “burying  the  hatchet 
he  would  yield  no  land,  concede  no  right.  Red  Jack 

was  some  twenty  years  younger  than  Cornplante, 

he  had  also  been  the  friend  of  the  British  in  the  Rev 

lution,  though  he  was  never  prominent  as  a   warric 

and  his  fame  and  influence  rested  mainly  upon  h 

powers  of  oratory,  in  which  according  to  many  write 

of  his  time,  he  had  no  superior,  perhaps  hardly  c 

equal,  among  his  race.  His  appeal  for  the  independei 

stand  of  his  people  was,  says  Lafayette,  who  w; 

present  “a  masterpiece  and  every  warrior  who  heai 

him  was  carried  away  with  his  eloquence.  ” 
But  the  treaty  was  finally  agreed  upon  and  signe 

in  which  among  other  features  the  Six  Nations  wei 

to  be  secured  in  the  possession  of  the  lands  they  wei 

then  occupying  but  practically  yielded  to  the  Unite 

States  all  their  interest  in  and  right  to  the  territor 

west  and  north  of  the  Ohio.  This  treaty  gave  gres 

dissatisfaction  to  the  Ohio  and  western  tribes — “thos 

on  the  soil” — for  these  tribes,  unrepresented  at  Fo 
Stanwix  had  ever  refused  to  acknowledge  that  th 

Six  Nations  could  deed  away  the  Ohio  lands. 

There  was  one  great  chief,  “conspicuous  for  hi 

absence,”  at  the  Fort  Stanwix  Treaty.  It  was  th 
Mohawk  Brant,  who,  while  Cornplanter  and  Re 

Jacket  were  contending  over  the  policy  of  the  Si 

Nations,  was  in  Quebec  for  the  purpose  of  securin 

title  to  the  Grand  River  reservation  for  the  Mohawks 

He  not  only  opposed  the  results  of  the  Stanwix  Treaty 

but  hastened  to  visit  the  western  and  northern  tribe 

in  the  endeavor  to  form  a   confederacy  for  the  pro 
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tection  of  the  western  lands  “as  far  south  as  the  Ohio. ” 

With  the  aim  of  still  further  welding  the  claims  of 

the  Six  Nations,  especially  the  Mohawks,  upon  the 

British,  he  visited  England  in  the  following  year 

(1785).  His  stay  of  several  months  in  London  forms 

a   chapter  full  of  picturesque  and  novel  scenes,  for 

Brant  was  the  lion  of  the  day.  Royalty  and  nobility 

avished  their  most  luxurious  hospitality  upon  this 

Mohawk  chief;  his  polished  and  dignified  manners 

and  ready  conversation  gave  him  easy  entry  to  the 

>alons,  not  only  of  fashion,  but  of  letters,  and  “among 

lis  most  frequent  guests,”  says  his  biographer  Stone, 

‘were  Fox,  Burke  and  Sheridan,  and  others  of  that 
plendid  galaxy  of  eloquence  and  intellect,  the  master 

pirits  of  the  House  of  Commons.  ”   But  he  seems  to 
lave  returned  laden  with  naught  but  empty  honors 

o   the  new  Canadian  home  of  his  Mohawk  subjects. 

The  Fort  Stanwix  Treaty  whatever  else  it  accom- 

>lished,  certainly  cleared  the  northwest  of  the  cloud 

f   the  Iroquois  title.  It  remained  for  the  Federal 

Government  to  make  settlement  with  the  Ohio  tribes. 

Tis  was  done  at  the  Treaty  of  Fort  McIntosh,  held 

January,  1785.  George  Rogers  Clark,  Richard 

Sutler  and  Arthur  Lee  spoke  for  the  Government, 

hile  sachems  and  warriors  represented  the  Wyandot, 

)elaware,  Chippewa,  and  Ottawa  nations.  At  the 

xaty,  among  other  stipulations,  a   new  boundary 

ne  was  agreed  upon  for  the  tribes  just  named.  This 

oundary  began  at  the  mouth  of  the  Cuyahoga  River 

in  up  said  river  to  the  portage  between  that  and 

le  Tuscarawas  branch  of  the  Muskingum;  then 

3wn  the  Tuscarawas  as  far  as  the  crossing  place 
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above  Fort  Laurens;  then  westwardly  to  the  portage 

of  the  Great  Miami;  then  along  the  portage  to  the 

Maumee;  down  the  Maumee  to  Lake  Erie  and  the 

shore  of  the  lake  to  the  mouth  of  the  Cuyahoga  where 

the  boundary  began. 

Within  this  territory,  including  nearly  three-fourths 

of  the  state  of  Ohio,  the  Delawares,  Wyandots  and 

Ottawas  were  to  “live  and  hunt”  unmolested  and 

should  “any  citizen  of  the  United  States,  or  other 

person,  not  being  an  Indian”  attempt  to  settle  on 

the  lands  thus  allotted  to  the  tribesmen  named,  “the 

Indians  may  punish  him  as  they  please.”  The 
Indians  who  signed  this  treaty,  for  themselves  and 

in  behalf  of  their  tribes,  acknowledged  the  lands 

east,  south  and  west  of  the  lines  described  “to  belong 

to  the  United  States;”  and  “none  of  their  tribes 
shall  presume  to  settle  upon  the  same  or  any  pari 

of  it.”  In  this  treaty,  however,  there  were  reserved 
in  the  Indian  territory  described,  sites  for  posts,  usually 

six  miles  square,  respectively,  at  the  mouth  of  the 

Miami,  portage  of  the  Big  Miami,  site  of  Old  Fort 

Sandusky,  and  at  “lower  rapids  of  Sandusky  River, ’l 

which  posts,  and  the  lands  annexed  to  them,  “shal 
be  to  the  use  and  under  the  government  of  the  Unitecj 

States.  ” 
The  treaty  at  Fort  McIntosh  dealt  only  with  the 

Wyandots,  Delawares  and  Ottawas  in  Northwesterr 

Ohio.  It  was  followed  a   year  later,  January  1786 

by  the  treaty  of  Fort  Finney,  a   post  establishec 

for  the  occasion,  at  the  mouth  of  the  Great  Miami 

The  clearing  was  made  and  the  stockade  erected 

in  the  late  autumn  of  1785,  by  Captain  William  Finney 
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with  a   detachment  of  infantry  from  Fort  McIntosh. 

The  proceedings  of  the  council  are  related  at  length 

n   the  journal  of  Richard  Butler,  who  with  George 

Rogers  Clark  and  Samuel  H.  Parsons  acted  as  treaty 

lelegates  for  the  government.  The  tribes  represented 

vere  the  Delawares,  Wyandots  and  Shawnees.  Many 
>ther  Wabash  and  western  tribes  had  been  invited 

mt  failed  to  appear;  their  absence  being  attributed 

0   the  agents  of  England,  especially  Captain  William 

Caldwell  and  Simon  Girty,  the  latter  making  every 

•ossible  effort  to  keep  the  tribesmen  from  the  council, 

articularly  the  Shawnees,  “the  most  conceited  and 
warlike  of  the  aborigines,  the  first  in  battle  and  the 

ist  at  a   treaty.  ” 

General  Butler’s  journal  gives  a   graphic  account 
f   the  proceedings.  The  Shawnees  appeared  at  the 

Duncil  house  in  their  “war  paint  and  feathers”  but 
le  presence  of  troops  from  Fort  Harmar  prevented 

ay  outbreak.  Many  “big  chiefs”  of  the  Wyandots 

id  Delawares  took  part  in  the  “talks,”  Tarhe, 
aptain  Pipe,  Wingenund,  Big  Cat  and  White  Eyes; 

it  the  treaty  as  finally  signed  applied  only  to  the 

lawnees,  who  “acknowledged  the  United  States 
be  the  sole  and  absolute  sovereign  of  all  the  terri- 

ry  ceded  by  Great  Britain.”  The  treaty  allotted 
e   Shawnees  lands  with  a   territory  mainly  between 

e   Great  Miami  and  the  Wabash,  within  which  they 

ire  not  to  be  disturbed  by  other  settlers,  at  the 

!'  me  time  the  Shawnees  relinquished  to  the  United 

1   ates  “all  title  or  pretense  of  title”  to  the  lands 

<jst,  west  and  south  of  the  territory  reserved  to 
‘   em. 
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But  the  Fort  Finney  Treaty  proved  a   mere  pape 

one.  The  Shawnees  promptly  disregarded  it  an 

the  other  nations,  not  participating,  utterly  ignore 

it.  Instigated  by  McKee,  Elliott  and  Girty,  to 

western  tribes,  especially  those  on  the  Ohio,  renewej 

hostilities  against  the  whites.  The  Kentuckians  agai, 
  -«_1   1   1   I.  !         T>     /^1   1_  cc   U 
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the  Kentuckians  encountered  were  the  famous  chi*  Jin 

Blue  Jacket,  Little  Turtle,  Tecumseh  and  the  oil 

Shawnee  chieftain  Molunthe,  who  had  favored  pea‘ 

with  the  whites,  but  was  now,  in  this  campaign,  aft* 
a   personal  conflict  with  Colonel  Patterson,  mai 

prisoner  and  then  foully  murdered  by  the  “dare 

renegade  named  McGarry,  ”   whom  Roosevelt 
calls  a   scoundrel. 
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Meanwhile  Brant  was  holding  conferences  with 

the  British  agents  and  the  chiefs  of  the  western  and 

ake  tribes,  keeping  alive  the  hostility  of  the  Indians 

to  the  Americans  as  the  latter  sought  by  treaties 

with  the  various  nations  to  secure  possession  of  the 

trans-Allegheny  country.  This  memorable  year  (1786) 

dosed  with  a   great  gathering  of  the  western  tribes 

it  the  mouth  of  the  Detroit  River.  More  than 

:wenty  of  the  leading  nations  were  present  and  made 

protest  at  the  policy  of  the  United  States  in  making 

.reaties  with  separate  tribes,  instead  of  with  the 

luthorities  of  “the  whole  confederacy.”  It  was  the 
:iaim  of  the  great  Indian  chiefs  that  the  possession 

md  occupancy  of  the  Northwest  Territory  belonged 

o   the  Indians  as  a   race  and  not  in  severalty  to  the 

rarious  tribes.  Therefore  a   general  consent  was 

lecessary  to  any  treaty  by  the  United  States  for 

oj  itle  to  the  lands  occupied  by  the  tribesmen. 

During  the  years  that  the  states  were  ceding  their 

rritorial  claims  to  the  Government  and  the  latter 

ras  entering  into  agreements  with  the  Indian  occu- 

ants  for  possession  of  the  land  and  the  right  to  make 

^ttlements  thereon,  Congress  was  considering  a   form 

f   government  for  this  vast  and  newly  acquired  territory. 

On  the  20th  of  May,  1785,  Congress  passed  an 

rdinance  for  the  survey  and  disposition  of  that 

ortion  of  the  territory  which  had  been  purchased 

om  the  Indians  by  the  treaties  of  Forts  Stanwix  and 

Iclntosh.  To  carry  this  ordinance  into  effect  one 

irveyor  was  appointed  for  each  state  and  placed 

ider  the  direction  of  Thomas  Hutchins,  geographer 

the  United  States  and  who  was  engineer  of  the 
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expedition  to  Ohio  of  Colonel  Henry  Bouquet  in  1764 

Rufus  Putnam  was  the  surveyor  chosen  from  Mas- 

sachusetts, but  being  at  the  time  engaged  in  the  survey 

of  Maine,  for  the  state  of  Massachusetts,  he  coulc 

not  attend  to  the  duty  and  General  Benjamin  Tupper 

was  appointed  in  his  place  “   until  Mr.  Putnam  shal 
actually  join  the  geographer  and  take  the  same  upon 

himself.  ” 
The  territory  was  to  be  surveyed  into  townships 

of  six  miles  square,  by  lines  running  due  north  and 

south  and  others  crossing  at  right  angles.  The  first 

survey  was  to  begin  at  the  point  where  the  western 

boundary  of  Pennsylvania  intersects  the  northerr 

bank  of  the  Ohio  River.  From  this  point,  a   bas( 

line  known  as  the  Geographer’s  Line,  was  to  be  rur 
due  west.  North  and  south  lines  six  miles  apari 

were  to  divide  the  territory  into  “ ranges”  and  easi 
and  west  lines  six  miles  apart  were  to  divide  eac 

range  into  townships.  Each  township  therefore  con 

tained  six  square  miles  and  each  was  to  be  dividec 

into  thirty-six  lots,  subsequently  called  sections,  eac 
one  mile  square.  Lot  sixteen  of  each  township  wa 

to  be  reserved  for  the  maintenance  of  public  school 

within  that  township  and  reservations  were  mad< 

for  the  patriot  refugees  from  Canada  and  Nova  Scotk 
and  for  the  Moravian  Indians  of  Gnadenhutten 

Schoenbrunn  and  Salem.  The  remaining  lands  wer< 

to  be  sold  at  auction  for  not  less  than  a   dollar,  sped* 

value,  an  acre  and  the  cost  of  surveying.  But,  a 

we  shall  see,  before  any  lands  were  sold  under  thi 

system,  Congress  authorized  the  sale  of  large  tract 

at  much  lower  prices  to  land  companies  or  syndicates 
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The  inauguration  of  this  survey  was  notice  to  the 
Indian  inhabitants  that  the  white  invader  was  indeed 

preparing  to  come  to  stay.  Hostile  bands,  regardless 

>f  all  treaties,  made  the  labors  of  the  surveyors  most 

hazardous,  and  in  November  1785,  a   detachment  of 

iroops  under  Major  John  Doughty  was  sent  to  the 

nouth  of  the  Muskingum  River  and  there  erected 
1   stockade  to  be  thereafter  known  as  Fort  Harmar. 
1 
3ut  the  menace  of  Fort  Harmar  could  not  cover  the 

proposed  field  of  the  surveyor’s  operations  and  owing 
o   the  Indian  hostility  the  survey  was  not  begun 

intil  the  summer  of  1786.  It  was  thereafter  continued 

vith  many  interruptions  and  amid  great  dangers — 
he  surveyors  often  requiring  the  presence  of  troops 

p   prevent  the  attacks  of  the  savages.  It  was  the 

utumn  of  1787  before  the  survey  of  the  first  seven 

anges — extending  forty- two  miles  west  from  Penn- 

jzlvania  on  the  Geographer’s  Line — was  completed, 
’his  Geographer’s  Line  as  determined  in  1785,  by 

’homas  Hutchins,  the  United  States  Geographer,  was 

>cated  on  latitude  40°  38'  02",  north,  and  was  the 
□rthern  boundary  line  of  the  famous  Seven  Ranges 

irvey. 





Chapter  XX. 

THE  ORDINANCE  OF  1787 





A   S   early  as  the  fall  of  1776  and  at  various 

/   %   times  later,  up  to  the  final  peace  agreement 

l   ̂    of  1783,  Congress  by  resolution  pledged 
bounty  lands  to  those  (officers)  who  served 

n   the  Continental  Army.  But  until  the  cession  of 

;he  claimant  states,  Congress  had  no  lands  at  its 

lisposal  to  fulfill  its  pledges.  But  the  western  tern- 

ary was  constantly  in  sight,  and  April  7, 1783,  Timothy 

dickering,  member  of  Congress,  wrote  a   friend  that 

‘there  is  a   plan  for  the  forming  of  a   new  state  westward 
)f  the  Ohio.  Some  of  the  principal  officers  of  the 

irmy  are  heartily  engaged  in  it.  The  propositions 

especting  it  are  in  the  hands  of  General  Huntington 

nd  General  Putnam.”  Neither  Huntington  nor 
fickering  is  heard  of  again  in  the  matter.  But  Rufus 

hitnam  pressed  it  upon  General  Washington  in 

epeated  letters,  which  Washington  answered,  affirm- 

ig  his  own  interest  in  the  scheme  and  saying  he  had 

rged  it  upon  Congress. 

In  June  1783,  at  Newburg,  Washington’s  head- 

uarters,  nearly  three  hundred  officers  of  the  Con- 

nental  line  “who  were  about  to  exchange  the  hard- 

lips  of  war  for  the  sufferings  of  poverty”  petitioned 

'ongress  to  “work  out  a   district  between  Lake  Erie 

[id  the  Ohio  River  as  the  seat  of  a   new  colony,” 

tys  Mr.  Avery,  “in  time  to  be  admitted  as  one  of 

le  confederated  states  of  America.”  Rufus  Putnam 

as  the  prime  mover  in  this  petition — and  in  large 

easure  its  author — but  nothing  came  directly  of 

ie  project. 

Probably  the  same  month  (June)  of  this  year  (1783) 

e   army  officers  petitioned  Congress  for  the  benefits 
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of  the  western  lands,  and  Theodoric  Bland,  at  Was! 

ington’s  suggestion  and  supported  by  Alexander  Hami 
ton,  moved,  in  Congress,  the  adoption  of  an  OrdinantB 

looking  to  the  division,  settlement  and  governmer 

of  the  western  lands,  which  was  referred  to  a   “gra 

committee,”  composed  of  a   member  from  each  stat 
but  the  Bland  Ordinance  seems  to  have  slept  undi 

turbed  in  the  grand  committee. 

In  October  of  this  same  year  (1783)  before  t 

United  States  had  received  title  to  any  of  the  weste 

domain,  Congress  appointed  a   committee,  of  whicj 

Thomas  Jefferson  was  chairman,  to  consider  the  for; 

of  government  for  the  anticipated  territory,  and  c 

March  1,  1784,  the  very  day  Virginia  made  her  cessio 

which  was  accepted  by  Congress,  Jefferson  report< 

what  is  known  as  his  Ordinance,  providing  for 

dividing  into  districts  of  all  the  western  lands  “ced 

or  to  be  ceded,”  and  for  a   temporary  governme 

therefor.  Henry  S.  Randall,  in  his  “Life  of  Thom 

Jefferson,”  presents  this  Ordinance  in  full,  whi< 
we  need  not  repeat  here.  In  brief  this  Ordinan 

of  Mr.  Jefferson  embraced  all  the  public  territoj 

east  of  the  Mississippi  River,  between  latitudes  3’ 

and  470  north,  which  vast  domain  was  to  be  divide 
into  seventeen  states  by  lines  of  latitude  two  degree 

apart,  intersected  by  two  meridians  of  longituc. 
Ten  of  the  states  were  to  be  north  of  the  Ohio  Riv.1 

and  were  to  bear,  after  their  natural  characteristic 

the  classic  and  significant  names  of  Sylvania,  Micl- 

gania,  Cherronesus,  Assenisipia,  Metropotamia,  lip, 

noia,  Saratoga,  Washington,  Polypotamia  and  Pe| 

sipia.  Under  this  classic  checker-board  arrangemei, 
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*   he  eastern  part  of  Ohio  would  have  been  Washington, 

1   vhile  the  northwestern  section  would  have  fallen  into 

vfetropotamia,  the  middle  western  into  Saratoga 

md  the  southwestern  section  into  Pelisipia,  “Pelisipy 

>eing  another  name  discovered  for  the  Ohio  River.  ” 
The  proposed  states  were  to  remain  forever  a   part 

>f  the  United  States;  and  in  them  slavery  should 

ease  after  the  year  1800.  The  only  persons  dwelling 

n   this  vast  domain  at  that  time  were  about  three :   tl 
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housand  Louisiana  French,  mostly  on  the  lower 

ississippi,  and  the  scattering  French  settlers  in 

he  northwest  among  whom  were  a   few  slaves.  The 

ettlers  of  the  French  towns  in  the  territory  taken 

y   George  Rogers  Clark  claimed,  after  the  Revolution, 

d   be  citizens  of  Virginia.  The  settlers  in  each  of 

fie  propose,d  ten  northern  states,  according  to  Jeffer- 

m’s  plan,  were  to  have  a   temporary  government, 

hich  was  to  continue  until  the  state  reached  a   popu- 

ition  of  twenty  thousand ;   then  it  could  have  a   delegate 

i   Congress  and  when  its  population  should  reach 

census  equal  to  any  of  the  least  numerous  of  the 

lirteen  original  states  it  might  be  admitted  into  the 

nion  on  an  equality  with  the  original  states. 

Congress  duly  considered  this  Ordinance  and  after 

veral  modifications,  chiefly  the  rejection  of  the 

avery  clause  and  the  repudiation  of  the  bounds  and 

assical  names  of  the  proposed  states,  the  Ordinance 

as  passed  April  23,  (1784).  It  was  the  end  of  Jeffer- 

>n’s  labors  in  connection  with  his  own  Ordinance, 

*   any  other,  for  within  three  weeks  after  the  passage 
this  Ordinance,  viz.,  on  May  10,  1784,  Jefferson 

signed  his  seat  in  Congress,  in  order  to  accept  the 
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appointment  of  minister  plenipotentiary  to  act  i 

conjunction  with  Mr.  Adams  and  Dr.  Franklin,  i 

negotiating  treaties  of  commerce  with  foreign  nation; 
On  this  mission  he  remained  abroad  till  the  close  c 

the  year  1789. 

The  Jefferson  Ordinance  remained  nominally  i 

force  for  three  years,  until  the  passage  of  the  famou 

and  better  one  of  1787.  The  Northwest  continue 

meantime  an  unorganized  wilderness,  for  theOrdinanc 

of  1784  “left  everything  inchoate”  and  with  all  it 
merits  was  a   nullity  In  the  meantime  Congres 

continued  to  consider  the  question  of  the  settlemen 

and  government  of  this  great  domain  and  betwee 

the  adoption  of  the  Ordinance  of  1784  and  the  fine 

one  of  1787,  no  less  than  three  ordinances,  eac 

differing  from  the  others,  were  reported  to  Congres 

and  discussed  by  that  body. 

Committees  on  the  subject  of  the  Ordinance  wer 

appointed,  by  Congress,  from  time  to  time,  unt 

on  the  19th  of  September,  1786,  a   committee  whic 

had  been  selected  for  the  purpose  devised  a   plan  fo 

a   temporary  government  of  the  Northwest  Territory 

which  plan  was  debated  and  altered  from  time  to  tim 

until  April  26,  1787,  when  a   definite  Ordinance  wa 

submitted  to  Congress.  It  was  read  the  secon< 

time  and  was  amended  May  9th,  its  third  readin 

being  assigned  for  the  following  day.  But  on  the  iotb 

further  progress  was  suddenly  arrested  by  a   serie 

of  interesting  events.  On  May  9th,  General  S.  E 

Parsons,  of  Connecticut,  arrived  in  New  York 

negotiate  the  purchase,  from  Congress,  of  a   tract  0 

land  for  the  “Ohio  Company  of  Associates.”  Th 
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roject  presented  by  Mr.  Parsons  was  referred  to  a 

ommittee  of  five — Edward  Carrington,  Rufus  King, 

Jathan  Dane,  James  Madison  and  Egbert  Benson; 

|nd  there  the  matter  rested  until  renewed  some  two 

lonths  later.  Action  on  the  Ordinance  for  the  North- 

est  Territory  was  likewise  suspended  as  from  May 

pth  to  July  4th,  Congress  failed  to  have  a   quorum 

id  no  session  was  held  during  that  interval. 

On  July  5th,  the  day  Congress  resumed  business, 

:iys  William  F.  Poole,  the  librarian  of  the  Boston 

ibrary  and  later  of  the  Cincinnati  Library — in  his 

Lonograph  on  the  “   Ordinance  of  1787,”  a   “   dusty 

•aveller,  in  the  garb  of  a   New  England  clergyman,” 
rrived  in  New  York  and  drove  up  in  his  one-horse 

llky,  to  the  “Plow  and  Harrow”  tavern  in  the 
owery,  having  left  his  home  in  the  town  of  Ipswich, 

lassachusetts,  twelve  days  before.  And  now  the 

hio  Company  purchase,  represented  by  that  “dusty 
•aveller”  —   Manasseh  Cutler  —   becomes  the  main 

ictor  in  the  progress  of  the  Ordinance,  which  on  July 

jth,  was  referred  to  a   new  committee — Carrington 

id  Lee  (Richard  H.)  of  Virginia,  Dane  of  Massachu- 

itts,  Kean  of  South  Carolina,  and  Smith  of  New  York, 

n   the  day  following  Dr.  Cutler,  in  response  to  an 

ivitation  of  the  committee,  submitted  in  writing 

is  views  touching  the  Ordinance;  on  the  nth  the 

immittee  reported  and  on  the  13  th,  after  receiving 

>me  amendments,  the  report  was  adopted  by  the 

nanimous  vote  of  the  eight  states  present  and  the 

nanimous  vote  of  the  individual  members  except 

ates  of  New  York,  who  opposed  the  measure.  The 

rdinance  of  1787  had  become  a   law.  The  literature 
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concerning  its  history  and  provisions  is  very  great 

the  most  concise  and  complete  presentation  being 

perhaps,  that  of  Jay  A.  Barrett,  in  his  “Evolutioi 

of  the  Ordinance  of  1787,”  published  by  the  University 
of  Nebraska. 

We  briefly  summarize  the  provisions  of  this  Ordi 

nance.  The  first  clause  provides  that  for  a   temporary 

government  the  territory  northwest  of  the  Ohio  shoul< 

be  treated  as  one  district,  “   subject,  however,  to  bl 
divided  into  two  districts,  as  future  circumstance 

may,  in  the  opinion  of  Congress,  make  it  expedient.5 
Regulations  are  made  for  the  descent  and  conveyanc 

of  estates;  the  property  of  those  dying  intestat 

was  to  be  divided  equally  among  the  legal  heirs;  th 

process  of  bequeathing  property  by  will  was  mad 

very  simple,  as  was  the  conveyance  of  realty,  bu 

the  French  and  Canadian  inhabitants  were  permitte< 

to  retain  their  own  laws  as  to  descent  and  conveyanc 

of  property. 

As  to  the  government  of  the  territory,  Congres 

was  to  appoint  a   governor  for  three  years;  he  was  t<j 
reside  in  the  district  and  must  own  a   thousand  acre 

of  land;  Congress  should  appoint  a   secretary  for  fou 

years  who  must  own  five  hundred  acres  of  land 

Congress  was  to  appoint  a   court,  consisting  of  thre 

judges,  who  were  to  have  a   common  law  jurisdiction 

and  hold  office  during  good  behavior;  these  judge 

and  the  governor  were  to  adopt  criminal  and  civi 

laws,  which  were  to  be  binding  until  a   general  assembl; 

should  be  organized. 

The  governor  was  to  be  commander-in-chief  of  th 

militia  and  commission  all  officers  below  grade  0 
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general;  the  governor  also  was  to  lay  out  the  districts, 

where  Indian  titles  were  extinguished,  into  temporary 

counties  and  townships,  and  had  power  to  appoint 

the  civil  officers  for  these  districts. 

When  there  were  five  thousand  free  male  adult 

inhabitants,  they  could  for  every  five  hundred  such 

inhabitants  elect  representatives,  from  their  counties, 

to  serve  for  two  years  in  a   general  assembly;  such 

representatives  must  have  been  residents  of  the  United 

States  or  of  the  territory  for  three  years  and  be 

land  holders.  The  general  assembly  was  to  consist 

of  the  governor,  a   house  of  representatives,  and  a 

legislative  council  of  five  members,  the  latter  to  be 

chosen  by  Congress  from  ten  persons  nominated  by 

the  territorial  house  of  representatives;  the  members 

of  the  council  were  to  serve  five  years,  must  be  residents 

of  the  territory  and  own  five  hundred  acres  of  land. 

A   bill  in  order  to  become  a   law  must  receive  a   majority 

vote  in  both  council  and  house,  and  have  the  assent 

of  the  governor.  The  council  and  house,  acting 

together,  had  authority  to  elect  a   delegate  to  Congress, 

who  had  the  privilege  of  the  floor  but  not  the  right 

of  voting. 

Following  those  provisions,  which  were  in  the  nature 

of  a   preamble,  there  follow  six  articles  to  complete 

the  Ordinance;  they  are  introduced  by  a   prefatory 

clause  to  the  effect  that  these  “articles  shall  be  con- 

sidered a   compact  between  the  original  states  and 

the  people  and  states  in  the  said  territory,  and  forever 

remain  unalterable  unless  by  common  consent.” 

Article  I   guaranteed  freedom  of  worship  and  reli- 
gious sentiment. 
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Article  II  guaranteed  the  right  of  trial  by  jury  anc 

habeas  corpus;  bail,  except  for  capital  crimes;  com 

pensation  for  property  taken  for  public  benefit;  th( 

inviolability  of  private  contracts. 

Article  III  declared  that  “religion,  morality  anc 
knowledge,  being  necessary  to  good  government  anc 

the  happiness  of  mankind,  schools  and  the  meam 

of  education  shall  forever  be  encouraged”;  the  rights 
and  property  of  the  Indians  were  to  be  protected  anc 

war  was  not  to  be  waged  against  them  except  by 

authority  of  Congress. 

Article  IV  asserted  that  “said  territory  and  the  states 
which  may  be  formed  therein,  shall  forever  remain  a   part 

of  this  Confederacy  of  the  United  States  of  America” 
the  people  residing  therein  were  to  pay  their  share  01 

public  debt,  taxes,  etc.;  navigable  waters  leading  fron 

the  district  to  the  Mississippi  and  the  St.  Lawrence  anc 

the  carrying-places  between  the  same  were  to  becommor 
highways  and  free  to  the  citizens  of  the  United  States. 

Article  V   provided  for  the  division  of  the  territory 

into  not  less  than  three  nor  more  than  five  states;  the 

boundaries  of  these  prospective  states  were  designated 

when  any  one  of  these  states  should  contain  sixty 

thousand  free  inhabitants,  such  state  should  be  admitted 

by  its  delegates  into  Congress  and  should  be  at  liberty 

to  form  a   permanent  constitution  and  state  govern- 
ment; but  it  must  be  a   republican  form  of  government. 

Article  VI  declared,  “there  shall  be  neither  slavery 
nor  involuntary  servitude  in  said  territory,  otherwise 

than  in  punishment  of  crime,  whereof  the  party 

shall  have  been  duly  convicted”;  but  fugitive  slaves 
escaping  into  the  territory  might  be  reclaimed. 
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Such  is  an  epitome  of  the  Ordinance  of  1787. 

The  underlying  principles  of  this  great  national 

document,  the  political  and  patriotic  motives  influenc- 

ing the  men  who  initiated  it  and  framed  its  completion, 

it  is  not  our  province  to  discuss.  It  stands  next 

and  almost  equal  to  the  Constitution  of  the  United 

States,  which  was  being  wrought  out  at  the  same 

time  in  the  Constitutional  Convention  then  in  session 

in  Philadelphia.  Of  the  Ordinance,  Mr.  Webster 

declared,  in  a   well-known  passage:  “We  are  accus- 

:omed  to  praise  the  law-givers  of  antiquity;  we  help 

:o  perpetuate  the  fame  of  Solon  and  Lycurgus,  but 

1 .[  doubt  whether  one  single  law  of  any  law-giver, 

indent  or  modern,  has  produced  effects  of  more  dis- 

inct,  marked  and  lasting  character  than  the  Ordinance 

>f  1787.”  The  greatest  statesmen,  political  writers 
ind  patriotic  orators  have  lavished  their  richest 

mcomiums  upon  it,  but  we  pass  directly  to  the  events 

hat  largely  under  the  guidance  of  Manasseh  Cutler 

md  his  “ associates”  brought  about  the  passage  of 
his  Magna  Charta  of  the  Northwest. 

The  authorship  of  this  Ordinance  has  been  the 

ubject  of  long  and  spirited  controversy.  Daniel 

Vebster  in  his  reply  to  Senator  Hayne,  speaking  of 

he  Ordinance,  said:  “That  instrument  was  drawn  by 
Jathan  Dane,  then  and  now  a   citizen  of  Massachusetts, 

t   was  adopted,  as  I   think  I   have  understood,  without 

single  alteration.”  To  this  Senator  Benton  at  once 

eplied :   “Mr.  Dane  was  no  more  the  author  of  that 
finance,  Sir,  than  you  or  I.  That  Ordinance  and 

specially  the  non-slavery  clause  was  not  the  work 

'   f   Nathan  Dane  of  Massachusetts,  but  of  Thomas 
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Jefferson  of  Virginia.”  As  to  the  Ordinance,  as 
whole,  probably  Nathan  Dane  had  more  to  do  wit 

its  construction  than  any  other  one  member  of  Congres, 

for  to  him  was  assigned  the  task  of  drawing  up  tl 

document  in  accordance  with  the  various  articl 

proposed.  But  he  is  not  entitled  to  the  credit  of  beii 

its  author,  a   credit  however  he  did  not  hesitate  to  tal 

to  himself  in  letters  written  by  him  to  Rufus  Kiri 

(1787) ,   to  Daniel  Webster  (1830) ,   and  to  J.  H.  Farnhai 

(1831).  The  authorship  of  the  anti-slavery  clam 

has  especially  evoked  discussion.  It  has  been  attri- 

uted  respectively  to  Jefferson,  Dane,  King  ail 

Cutler.  Jefferson’s  Ordinance  of  1784  provided  1 

its  fifth  article,  that  “neither  slavery  nor  involuntar 

servitude”  should  exist  in  the  (Northwestern)  stat> 
after  the  year  1800,  except  for  the  punishment  f 

crimes.  It  did  not  prohibit  slavery  immediately  frci 

and  after  the  passage  of  the  Ordinance.  On  Marl 

16,  1785,  Rufus  King,  then  member  from  Massach- 

setts,  who  served  on  several  of  the  committees  tht 

were  appointed  on  the  Ordinance,  introduced  asi 

proposed  article  of  the  Ordinance,  a   resolution  “tht 
there  shall  be  neither  slavery  nor  involuntary  servitufe 

in  any  of  the  states  described  in  the  resolve  of  Congns 

of  the  23d  of  April  1784,  otherwise  than  in  the  punis- 

ment  of  crimes,”  etc.,  and  “this  regulation  shall  e 
an  article  of  compact,  and  remain  a   fundamen 

principle  of  the  Constitutions  between  the  thirte 

original  states  and  each  of  the  states  described  in  Sc 

resolve  of  April  23,  1784.”  This  resolution — prohib- 

ing  slavery  at  the  outset —   was  referred  to  the  comm- 

tee  of  the  whole — Congress — and  was  never  thereafir 
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called  up  for  further  action,  and  before  the  Ordinance 

was  finally  passed,  in  1787,  Rufus  King  withdrew 

from  Congress  to  take  part  in  the  proceedings  of  the 
Constitutional  Convention  of  which  he  was  elected 

a   member  and  which  convened  at  Philadelphia  in 

May,  1787.  The  anti-slavery  article,  however,  with 
the  fugitive  slavery  reclamation  attachment,  which 

was  finally  incorporated  in  the  Ordinance,  was  sub- 

mitted by  Mr.  Dane,  on  July  12,  1787.  But  to  Mr. 

King  is  due  the  original  introduction  of  the  anti-slavery 
clause  and  its  resulting  insertion  in  the  Ordinance  by 
motion  of  Mr.  Dane.  That  Manasseh  Cutler  as  the 

lobbying  agent  of  the  Ohio  Company  and  the  solicited 

adviser  of  Mr.  Dane,  was  most  potent  not  only  in 

securing  the  passage  of  the  Ordinance  but  in  assisting 

in  the  final  touches  to  its  construction,  there  is  ample 

evidence.  It  is  generally  acknowledged  that  Cutler 

proposed  the  clauses  in  the  Ordinance  relating  to 

religion  and  education,  and  he  was  also  an  ardent 

advocate  of  the  anti-slavery  clause  and  probably  sug- 
gested the  fugitive  slavery  reclamation  addition  in 

order  to  thereby  secure  the  votes  of  the  southern 

members.  Mr.  Rufus  King — grandson  of  Rufus  King 

of  the  Ordinance — in  his  succinct  History  of  Ohio 

(1891)  in  the  American  Commonwealth  Series,  per- 

tinently says:  “The  authorship  of  this  Ordinance 
las  lately  been  made  a   subject  of  curious  speculation, 

it  is  certain  that  some  eminent  men  were  differing 

lpon  it  a   year  before  its  passage.  But  that  Nathan 

3ane  had  the  chief  hand  in  forming  it  as  it  ultimately 

ippeared,  was  never  doubted  during  his  life  or  that 

>f  his  contemporaries.  Mr.  Webster  asserted  it  with 
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emphasis  in  both  of  his  speeches  in  the  great  debat 

in  January,  1830,  concerning  the  public  lands.  Chic 

Justice  Chase  reiterated  it  in  1833  in  the  historic; 

sketch  prefixed  to  his  compilation  of  the  statutes  c 

Ohio.  Recent  discoveries,  however,  are  supposed  t 

displace  him,  and  Dr.  Cutler  is  brought  forward  £ 

having  given  the  paper  its  stamp  and  character.  Til 

subject  seems  to  have  fallen  under  that  morbid  infirmit 

in  literature  which  delights  in  denying  Homer  an 

Shakespeare  their  works,  and  sometimes  has  n<l 

spared  even  Holy  Writ  from  its  rage.”  The  potei 
influence  of  Dr.  Cutler  in  the  construction  and  passag 

of  the  Ordinance  is  convincingly  set  forth  in  the  “Li; 

and  Journals  of  Manasseh  Cutler,”  by  his  gran<- 
children,  William  Parker  Cutler  and  Julia  Perk:. 
Cutler. 

Poole  in  his  monograph  puts  it  that  “the  Ordinano 
of  1787  is  a   condensed  abstract  of  the  Massachuset; 

Constitution  of  1780;  every  principle  contained  1 

the  former,  either  in  a   germinal  or  developed  forr, 

except  that  relating  to  the  obligations  of  contrac; 

and  some  temporary  provisions  relating  to  the  organ- 
zation  of  the  territorial  government,  is  found  in  tb 

latter,  and  often  in  the  same  phraseology.”  UndoubI 
edly  the  Ordinance  was  the  composite  of  many  mims 

and  the  outgrowth,  in  large  measure,  of  the  tentatrr 

documents  of  Bland  and  Jefferson.  But  we  lea^; 
the  Congressional  proceedings  concerning  the  gret 

Ordinance  in  order  that  we  may  take  up  and  foiled 

the  chain  of  events  that  brought  Manasseh  Cutlr 

into  participation  in  its  enactment. 



Chapter  XXI. 

THE  OHIO  COMPANY  OF  ASSOCIATES 





IT  was  truly  said  that  the  colonies  achieved  their independence  “at  the  price  of  the  lives  of  many 
and  the  fortunes  of  all  its  defenders.”  The 
newborn  republic  had  no  credit;  it  could  not 

borrow  money;  had  no  power  to  enforce  a   tax  and 

no  property  with  which  to  pay  its  debts.  The  con- 
tinental specie  certificates  with  which  it  bought  supplies 

and  paid  its  soldiers,  had  depreciated  to  about  one- 
sixth  their  par  vlaue.  The  unpaid  officers,  as  we  have 

seen,  appealed  to  Congress  at  the  suggestion  of  Thomas 

Pickerington  and  on  the  petition  drawn  up  by  Rufus 

Putnam.  This  latter  now  becomes  the  distinguished 

protagonist  about  whom  revolve  the  events  that  lead 
to  the  settlement  of  Ohio. 

In  the  center  of  Massachusetts,  most  picturesquely 

located  on  the  divide  between  the  valleys  of  the  Con- 
necticut and  Merrimac  rivers  is  the  historic  little 

village  of  Rutland,  called  the  “Cradle  of  Ohio,” 
because  there  resided  Rufus  Putnam,  in  whose  house, 

still  standing,  was  inaugurated  the  “Ohio  Company 
of  Associates.  ” 
Who  and  what  was  Rufus  Putnam  ?   He  descended 

from  the  sturdiest  Anglo-Saxon  stock  that  came  from 
Old  England  in  the  early  colonial  days.  He  was  born 

at  Sutton,  Mass.  (1738),  in  the  fifth  generation  from 

John  Putnam  who  with  his  family  came  to  America 

from  their  Buckinghamshire  home  in  1634.  When 

the  boy  was  but  seven  years  of  age  his  father  died  and 

the  succeeding  stepfather,  Captain  John  Sadler,  illiter- 
ate and  unsympathetic,  denied  the  boy  the  most 

meagre  means  of  education.  But  it  was  the  familiar 

story  of  the  irresistible  efforts  of  an  ambitious  youth  to 
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learn  and  succeed.  Rufus  persistently  and  eve 

stealthily  mastered  the  rudiments  of  the  “larnin 
of  his  environment.  An  athlete  in  size  and  strengt 

and  with  the  adventurous  blood  of  youth  he  entere 
the  colonial  ranks  in  the  French  and  Indian  Wa 

in  which  he  came  in  touch  with  the  distinguishe 

cousin  of  his  father,  Captain  Israel  Putnam,  froi 

whom  the  boy  learned  many  lessons  of  both  sava£ 

and  civilized  warfare.  He  acquitted  himself  bravely  i 

many  a   thrilling  scene  of  this  war,  at  the  close  of  whic 
he  returned  to  his  New  Braintree  home.  In  the  interv, 

between  the  French  and  the  Indian  War  and  tl 

Revolution,  Putnam  pursued  the  vocations  of  farming 

mill-building  and  surveying,  in  the  latter  of  whicj 
he  became  most  proficient. 

Shortly  after  the  “ affair”  at  Lexington,  Putnai 
entered  the  colonial  army  as  lieutenant-colonel  c 

Colonel  David  Brewer’s  regiment.  We  cannot  folio 
in  detail  the  rise  to  influence  and  fame  of  this  gallar 

and  sagacious  officer.  He  is  his  own  best  biographe 

for  he  kept  a   complete  journal  of  the  events  throug 

which  he  passed,  and  these  memoirs  have  been  ac 

mirably  compiled  and  annotated  by  Miss  Rowen 

Buell  and  published  by  the  Colonial  Dames  in  th 
State  of  Ohio. 

Rufus  Putnam  achieved  national  distinction  i 

the  Revolution  by  his  ingenuity  and  expertness  z\ 

a   military  engineer.  It  was  he  who  erected  the  d< 

fenses  at  Roxbury  and  proximate  points.  He  ha 

early  attracted  the  attention  and  won  the  confidenc 

of  Washington,  and  it  was  his  construction  of  tb 

“ chandelier” — timber  and  bundles  of  brush — fort 



RUFUS  PUTNAM 

Called  the  “Founder  and  Father  of  Ohio.”  Born  in 
Sutton,  Mass.,  1738.  Served  in  French  and  Indian  War 
and  was  one  of  the  most  famous  military  engineers  in  the 

American  Revolution.  With  Benjamin  Tupper  organized 

the  Ohio  Company  and  was  its  leader  in  the  Marietta  settle- 

ment. Appointed  Surveyor-General  of  the  Northwest 
Territory.  Died  at  Marietta,  April  7.  1788.  Reproduc- 

tion of  an  early  engraving  from  an  original  portrait. 

HOME  OF  RUFUS  PUTNAM 

House  at  Rutland,  Mass.,  owned  by  Rufus  Putnam,  and 

occupied  by  him  at  the  time  he  planned  the  Ohio  Company. 
The  house  was  built  in  1760  by  Colonel  John  Murray, 

a   Tory.  Colonel  Murray  fled  at  the  outbreak  of  the 
American  Revolution;  his  house  was  confiscated  by  the 
Colonists  who  sold  it  to  Rufus  Putnam.  The  Home  is 

now  owned  and  cared  for  by  the  Rufus  Putnam  Memorial 
Association. 
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fixations  on  Dorchester  Heights,  and  their  cunning 

placement  in  the  darkness  of  night  that  dumfounded 

the  troops  of  General  William  Howe  and  compelled 

their  evacuation  of  Boston.  This  feat  led  Congress 

to  appoint  Putnam  an  engineer  with  rank  of  colonel 

and  he  became  one  of  Washington’s  chief  and  most 
trusted  confidents;  and  his  adroit  resourcefulness  and 

cooperation  were  constantly  in  demand  wherever 

the  Continental  troops  were  striving  for  advantage. 

In  the  winter  of  1780,  while  serving  with  the  “ legion” 

of  Anthony  Wayne,  the  “flower”  of  the  Revolutionary 
Army,  Putnam  under  leave  of  absence,  visited  his 

family  and  during  this  furlough  purchased  the  Rutland 

homestead  which  had  been  confiscated  by  the  colonists 

from  its  Tory  owner,  Colonel  John  Murray.  From 

now  on  to  the  close  of  the  Revolution,  Putnam  is 

found  amid  the  vicissitudes  of  the  war,  sustaining 

his  reputation  for  abilty,  sagacity,  resourcefulness 

and  indubitable  courage.  He  became  not  only  the 

trusted  assistant,  but  the  beloved  friend  of  Washington, 

and  retired  from  the  Revolutionary  service  with  the 

rank  of  brigadier-general.  As  early  as  the  beginning 
of  1781,  Putnam  foresaw  the  prospective  difficulties 

of  providing  for  the  Continental  veterans,  penniless 

and  homeless  as  they  surely  would  be  at  the  end  of 

the  war.  We  have  already  noted  that  in  June  (1783) 

following  the  peace  and  before  the  final  disbandment 

Df  the  army  at  New  Windsor,  the  officers  submitted 

to  Congress,  a   petition,  drawn  up  by  Putnam,  asking 

for  a   grant  of  land  in  the  western  country.  Wash- 

ngton  favored  and  endorsed  this  petition,  for  no  one 

setter  than  Washington  knew  the  needs  of  the  veterans 
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nor  the  opportunities  for  their  relief  afforded  by  th 

lands  of  the  great  west.  Washington  had  been  dowi 

the  Ohio  (1770);  he  had  seen  the  possibilities  of  th 

Ohio  country  and  it  was  from  their  commander  tha 

the  officers  of  the  Continental  Army  learned,  as  the 

sat  with  him  about  the  camp-fires  of  the  Revolution 

definite  knowledge  of  the  beauty  and  richness  of  th 

west.  Washington  acknowledged  that  at  times  h 

seriously  contemplated  removing  his  home  to  hi 

lands  washed  by  the  waters  of  the  beautiful  river  an 

in  the  dark  hours  of  the  “ storm  and  stress”  of  th< 

struggle  for  independence,  he  looked  to  the  Ohi 

country  as  a   safe  refuge  for  the  colonists,  to  whicl 

they  might  retreat  and  where,  protected  by  th< 

natural  barriers  of  lake,  river  and  mountain,  the 

could  set  up  their  republic,  if  the  armies  of  the  Kin 

should  drive  the  American  rebels  beyond  the  Alleghe 

nies.  Washington  was  therefore  in  full  sympathy 

with  the  purposes  of  the  Continental  officers,  am 

to  him  Putnam  wrote  in  April,  1784:  “We  are  growing 
quite  impatient,  and  the  general  inquiry  now  is 

when  are  we  going  to  the  Ohio?”  The  following 
year  came  the  Ohio  land  survey  ordinance;  the  appoint 

ment  of  Putnam  as  surveyor  for  Massachusetts  am 

the  temporary  substitution  of  Benjamin  Tupper  ii 

his  place.  This  expedient  brings  another  interesting 

personage  into  the  chain  of  events  we  are  following 

Benjamin  Tupper’s  life  runs  singularly  paralle 
to  that  of  Rufus  Putnam.  Tupper  was  born  at  Stough 

ton,  Mass.,  the  same  year  that  saw  the  birth  of  Rufu; 

Putnam.  While  a   mere  lad  Benjamin’s  father  diec 
and  left  the  plucky  boy  to  get  his  education  in  th< 
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chool  of  self-support  and  hard-knocks.  He  was 

private  soldier  in  the  French  and  Indian  War  and 

»ne  of  the  first  to  enlist  in  the  Colonial  ranks  at  the 

utbreak  of  the  Revolution.  He  entered  as  lieutenant 

f   a   company,  but  for  bravery  and  activity  in  service 

e   was  rapidly  promoted  until  at  the  close  of  hostilities, 

ke  Putnam,  he  bore  the  title  of  brigadier-general. 

Jso  like  Putnam  he  became  expert  as  a   surveyor 

nd  in  his  military  career  came  in  contact  with  both 

kitnam  and  Washington.  Owing  to  obstacles  which 

re  have  noted,  the  Hutchins  surveying  party  of  which 

upper  was  a   member,  got  no  farther  west  than 

ittsburg  until  after  the  treaty  with  the  savages 

lade  by  General  Parsons  and  other  United  States 

gents  on  the  Miami  in  July,  1786.  General  Tupper 

^turned  to  Massachusetts  in  the  winter  of  1785-6, 

ut  left  again  for  the  west  in  June  1786,  when  the 

irvey  of  the  seven  ranges  was  completed  under 

is  direction.  In  his  first  visit  to  the  “   Forks  of  the 

hio,”  Tupper  obtained  full  and  enthusing  knowledge 

:   the  fertility  and  beauty  of  the  trans-Allegheny 
mntry.  He  returned  to  his  New  England  home  to 

port  to  his  war-impoverished  neighbors  the  prospects 

the  promised  land  in  the  West.  He  most  naturally 

istened  to  the  home  of  his  old  friend  Rufus  Putnam, 

ccordingly  these  two  military  comrades,  strength- 

led  and  seasoned  by  the  experience  of  two  wars, 

it  in  the  prime  of  life  and  their  powers,  met  on  the 

h   of  January,  1786,  at  that  historic  homestead 

Rutland.  The  two  projectors  of  the  enterprise 

t   up  the  entire  night  discussing  and  maturing  plans 

at  were  to  result  in  the  founding  of  a   western  empire. 
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What  would  we  give  for  a   snap-shot  of  those  tvl 

nation-builders  seated  before  that  spacious  old  fir- 

place  in  their  wigs  and  knee  breeches,  smoking  the; 

pipes  and  no  doubt  refreshing  their  “   inner  mar.’ 
with  draughts  that  cheered,  as  they  consulted  ma ; 

of  the  Ohio  country  and  eagerly  considered  wa ; 

and  means?  It  was  a   dream  of  empire  to  be  realizd 

beyond  the  imagination  of  man.  The  result  of  th ; 

memorable  conference  was  that  the  two  promotes 

united  in  a   publication  which  appeared  in  the  pub 

papers  of  New  England  on  the  25th  of  January,  178, 

headed  “Information,”  and  dated  January  iot, 
1786,  and  signed  Rufus  Putnam,  Benjamin  Tuppe 

The  “Information”  was  a   public  notice  address  l 

to  all  officers  and  soldiers  who  served  in  the  “lae 

war”  and  who  were  by  ordinance  of  Congress  (178) 
to  receive  certain  tracts  of  land  in  the  Ohio  countr 

and  also  “all  other  good  citizens  who  wished  tobecori 

adventurers  in  that  delightful  region”  to  meet  1 
certain  towns  specified  in  the  different  counties  f 

the  commonwealth  of  Massachusetts — and  inhal- 

tants  in  other  states  as  should  be  subsequently  agrejl 

upon — to  appoint  delegates  to  a   meeting  to  be  hd 

in  Boston,  March  1,  1786,  at  the  Bunch  of  Graps 

Tavern — in  the  Revolutionary  days  the  resort  ad 

political  headquarters  of  the  ultra  whigs — to  form  1 

association  by  the  name  of  the  Ohio  Company.  Tt 

counties  and  towns  for  the  respective  meetings  wc2 

named  in  the  notice.  In  accordance  with  the  varies 

county  and  town  meetings  held,  there  met  at  ts 

Bunch  of  Grapes  Tavern  on  the  date  agreed  (Mari 

1),  delegates  chosen  from  eight  counties.  They  wei: 
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Vinthrop  Sargent  and  John  Mills,  from  Suffolk; 

danasseh  Cutler,  from  Essex;  John  Brooks  and 

Tomas  Cushing,  from  Middlesex;  Benjamin  Tupper, 

rom  Hampshire;  Crocker  Sampson,  from  Plymouth; 

lufus  Putnam,  from  Worchester;  John  Patterson  and 

ahlaliel  Woodbridge,  from  Berkshire,  and  Abraham 

Villiams,  from  Barnstable.  This  meeting  elected 

Jeneral  Rufus  Putnam  chairman  of  the  convention 

nd  Major  Winthrop  Sargent,  clerk.  Putnam,  Tupper 

nd  others  glowingly  described  the  Ohio  country  and 

:s  advantages  as  a   place  of  settlement.  A   committee 

onsisting  of  Putnam,  Cutler,  Brooks,  Sargent  and 

Pushing,  was  named  to  draw  up  articles  of  association. 

Tie  “ convention ”   met  again  March  3d,  to  hear  the 
eport  of  the  committee.  These  articles  of  agreement 

Dr  “   constituting  an  association  of  the  Ohio  Company” 
fere  lengthy  and  elaborate.  The  articles  state  the 

esign  of  the  association  to  be  to  raise  a   fund  in  con- 

inental  specie  certificates  “for  the  sole  purpose  and 

ntire  use”  of  purchasing  lands  in  the  western  territory, 

"he  fund  was  not  to  exceed  one  million  dollars  in 

ontinental  specie  certificates  and  one  year’s  interest 
lereon.  Each  share  to  be  one  thousand  dollars, 

nd  each  shareholder  was  to  contribute,  in  addition 

d   one  year’s  interest  on  the  certificates,  ten  dollars 

1   specie,  as  an  expense  fund.  No  person  was  per- 

litted  to  hold  over  five  shares.  Five  directors,  a 

'easurer  and  a   secretary  were  to  be  appointed.  Busi- 
ess  affairs  moved  slowly  in  those  old  days  and  the 

ext  meeting  of  the  proposed  association,  called  by 

Decial  advertisement,  was  held  March  8,  1787,  in 

oston  at  Bracket’s  Tavern — formerly  “Cromwell’s 
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Head”  Tavern.  At  this  meeting  it  was  reporte 

that  two  hundred  and  fifty — of  the  one  thousan 

shares — had  been  subscribed.  Of  the  five  directoi 

provided  by  the  articles  of  agreement,  three  were  the 

elected:  General  Samuel  H.  Parsons,  General  Rufu 

Putnam  and  Rev.  Manasseh  Cutler;  Major  Winthro 

Sargent  was  chosen  secretary  and  Colonel  Richar 

Platt,  treasurer  of  the  company.  The  selection  cl 

the  two  other  directors  was  postponed  until  the  nex 

meeting,  when  General  James  Varnum  was  mad 

fourth  director,  the  fifth  one  left  unselected  or 

chosen  was  unrecorded.  The  directors  appointe 

General  Parsons,  one  of  their  number,  to  apply  t 

Congress,  then  assembled  in  New  York,  for  a   purchas 

of  lands.  He  made  the  application  on  the  9th  of  May 

but  after  the  nth  of  that  month  there  was  no  quorur 

till  the  4th  of  July.  General  Parsons  having  returne* 

home,  the  directors  appointed  Manassseh  Cutler  a 

the  special  agent  of  the  association,  to  make  a   contrac 

with  the  “ Continental  Congress”  for  a   tract  of  land  ill 

the  Great  Western  Territory  “of  the  Union.”  An< 
now  the  trend  of  events  herein  related,  center  in  an< 

depend  upon  Manasseh  Cutler  —   a   man  wonderfully 

well  equipped  and  endowed  for  the  mission.  Hi 

influence  in  the  settlement  of  Ohio  and  the  large 

movement  of  the  political  organization  of  the  North 

west  Territory  can  hardly  be  overestimated. 

Manasseh  Cutler,  a   native  (1742)  of  Killingly 

Conn.,  the  descendant  of  James  Cutler,  the  first  o 

his  family  to  emigrate  (1734)  from  England  to  America 

had  the  advantage  of  such  schooling  as  the  neighboring 

country  afforded  and  also  the  rarer  care  of  privat* 



MANASSEH  CUTLER 

Born,  Killingly,  Conn.,  1742.  Graduate  of  Yale,  1765. 

Teacher,  preacher,  physician,  scientist.  Served  as  chap- 
plain  in  American  Revolution.  Became  interested  in 

the  Ohio  Company  of  Associates  and  acted  as  its  agent 

before  Congress.  One  of  the  most  interesting  and  influen- 
tial men  of  his  day,  and  with  Rufus  Putnam  brought  about 

the  success  of  the  Ohio  Company.  He  is  buried  atjHam- 
ilton  in  the  cemetery  near  his  home. 

THE  HOME  OF  MANASSEH  CUTLER 

Home  of  Cutler,  known  as  “The  Hamlet,  ”   at  Hamilton, 
formerly  Ipswich,  Mass.  A   spacious  mansion  in  which 
Cutler  lived  during  the  time  he  was  acting  as  agent  of  the 

Ohio  Company  of  Associates. 
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tutors.  His  home  was  within  short  distance  of  New 

Haven,  where  he  attended  Yale  College  from  which 

he  graduated  in  1765  with  honor.  He  was  a   prodigy 

of  intellectual  progress  and  attainment.  He  taught 

school,  studied  law  and  engaged  in  its  practice;  entered 

the  field  of  theology  and  was  ordained  pastor  of  the 

Congregational  Church  at  Ipswich  Hamlet  (now 

Hamilton),  Mass.,  in  1771.  Says  one  biographer:  “He 
was  a   man  of  unusual  breadth  and  solidity  of  character; 

and  while  performing  his  pastoral  duties  with  great 

fidelity  and  acceptance,  he  gave  much  time  and 

thought  to  political  and  scientific  investigation.” 
No  study  in  the  then  field  of  learning  escaped  his 

attention;  he  became  an  authority  in  botany,  astronomy 

and  many  of  the  sciences;  wrote  and  published  scholarly 

discourses  on  lines  of  study  and  investigation,  natural, 

political,  theological,  literary;  he  was  a   voluminous 

writer;  carried  on  correspondence  with  the  leading 

scholars  of  Europe  and  America,  and  kept  a   journal 

jin  which  the  details  of  his  daily  labors,  narrations 
of  current  events  and  his  meditations  were  most 

entertainingly  set  down.  He  served  as  chaplain  in 

the  Revolution  but  on  his  return  to  his  home  in  1779, 

le  wrote  in  his  diary:  “I  have  spent  considerable  of 
m   estate  in  the  support  of  my  family  and  am  now 

driven  to  the  practice  of  physic,”  whereupon  “he 

*ead  medicine  assiduously,  studied  anatomy,  prepared 
nedicines  and  attended  the  sick,  in  addition  to  his 

lsual  pastoral  duties.”  In  1782  he  opened  “in  his 

>wn  house”  a   private  boarding  school  which  he  con- 

inued  for  twenty-five  years,  instructing  the  youthful 

>atrons  in  all  subjects  known  to  the  pedagogue  of  those 
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days.  Many  a   distinguished  contemporary  sent  hi 

son  to  the  school  of  the  learned  Dr.  Manasseh  Cutlei 

the  paragon  of  industry  and  intelligence.  The  Ohi< 

Company  at  once  enlisted  his  interest  and  cooperation 

and  now,  say  the  annotators  to  his  life  and  journals 

“At  the  age  of  forty-five,  he  enters  upon  one  of  thos 
peculiar  episodes  of  human  life  that  would  seem  lik 

detaching  a   well-regulated  planet  from  its  orbit,  an< 

sending  it  off  on  an  errand  fraught  with  immense! 

greater  results  than  any  that  could  have  been  accom 

plished  in  its  ordinary  course.  He  did  not  ignore  o 

abandon  his  chosen  profession,  or  slacken  his  pursui 

of  the  higher  branches  of  knowledge.  He  rathe 

brought  to  bear  upon  his  new  enterprise  all  the  ac 

quisitions,  experience,  sound  judgment  and  elevate* 

aspirations  of  his  life  hitherto.  He  therefore  entere* 

upon  the  Ohio  business  with  a   zeal  and  enthusiam  tha 

called  forth  all  his  energies.’’  Rufus  Putnam  was  th 
protagonist  and  general  of  the  Ohio  Company,  bu 

Manasseh  Cutler  was  its  sage,  diplomat  and  statesman 

and  it  is  not  too  much  to  say  that  but  for  the  ability 

and  practical  shrewdness  of  this  man,  the  project  o 

the  settlement  of  Ohio  would  have  temporarily,  a 

least,  failed,  and  probably  the  course  of  early  Ohi( 

history  would  have  been  far  different.  We  saw  tha 

in  accordance  with  the  “Information”  of  Putnan 

and  Tupper,  Manasseh  Cutler,  represented  his  count] 

at  the  first  meeting  at  the  Bunch  of  Grapes  Tavern 

at  the  second  meeting  a   year  later  after  the  failure  o 

the  mission  to  Congress  of  Mr.  Parsons  in  May  (1787) 

Mr.  Cutler  was  made  the  agent  to  accomplish  the  tasl 

of  securing  the  purchase  of  the  lands.  Dr.  Cutle 
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relates  the  story,  with  great  particularity  in  his  journal. 

Dr.  Cutler  arrived  in  New  York,  with  some  fifty 

letters  of  introduction  to  leading  congressmen  and 

government  officials,  and  immediately  (July  6th) 

presented  his  petition  for  the  purchase  of  lands  for 

the  Ohio  Company  with  the  proposed  terms  and 

conditions  of  purchase.  The  matter  was  immediately 

referred  to  a   committee  and  the  negotiations  continued 

for  three  weeks,  during  which  period  Dr.  Cutler  had 

many  hearings  before  the  Congressional  committees 

and  exerted  various  influences  upon  the  members  to 

bring  about  the  consummation  of  his  efforts.  The  first 

week  was  mainly  taken  up  with  the  disposal  of  the 

Ordinance  of  1787”  in  which,  as  we  have  seen,  Dr. 
Cutler  took  a   most  important  part;  it  was  a   pre- 

requisite that  the  Ordinance  pass,  for  the  Ohio  Asso- 
:iates  would  hardly  be  persuaded  to  buy  lands  in  a 

:erritory  without  the  protective  law  and  government 
)f  the  United  States. 

Congress  was  not  at  first  favorable  to  the  conditions 

>f  the  purchase  as  proposed  by  Cutler.  The  Govern- 
nent  desired  certain  reservations,  in  certain  localities, 

or  schools,  religion  and  future  congressional  dis- 
)ositions.  These  stipulations  were  not  satisfactory 

0   Dr.  Cutler  and  in  the  midst  of  quibbles  and  delays 
ie  threatened  to  leave  New  York  and  abandon  the 

nterprise,  when  other  parties  entered  the  negotiations 

nd  changed  the  situation. 

Colonel  William  Duer,  an  Englishman,  resident 

1   the  United  States  since  1768,  a   colonel  of  Colonial 

lilitia,  delegate  to  the  Continental  Congress  (1777-8), 
ssisted  Alexander  Hamilton  in  organizing  the  Treasury 
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if 

t 

Department  in  1788-9,  and  a   man  of  keen  business 
instincts  and  wide  experience  in  large  transactions 

“came  to  me”  says  Cutler,  “with  proposals  from 
number  of  the  principal  characters  of  the  city,  tc 

extend  our  contract  and  take  in  another  company— 
but  that  it  should  be  kept  a   profound  secret.  H( 

explained  the  plan  they  had  concerted  and  offered  m( 

generous  conditions  if  I   would  accomplish  the  busines 

for  them.  The  plan  struck  me  agreeably.” 
Duer  had  been  quick  to  see  the  advantage  the  sal< 

of  lands  by  Congress  to  the  Ohio  Company  would  b< 

to  the  public  credit  and  the  value  that  would  therein 

be  given  to  the  lands  adjoining  the  purchase,  “by  ; 
systematic  settlement  of  such  men  as  composed  th< 

Ohio  Company.”  Duer  had  in  mind  the  Scioto 

Company  “speculation.”  Dr.  Cutler  continues  ii 

his  diary:  “I  spent  the  evening  closeted  with  Colone 
Duer  and  agreed  to  purchase  more  land,  if  term 

can  be  obtained,  for  another  company,  which  wil 

probably  forward  the  negotiation.”  The  next  da 
he  told  members  of  Congress  that  if  they  woul< 

“accede  to  the  terms  I   had  proposed  I   would  extern 
the  purchase  to  the  tenth  township  from  the  Ohio  an< 

to  the  Scioto  inclusive,  by  which  Congress  could  pa;  L 

near  four  million  dollars  of  the  National  debts.  ”   Thj  sin 

“lobbying” — for  such  it  was  by  the  astute  Cutler- 
was  vigorously  renewed  and  pressure  was  brough 

to  bear  upon  the  opposing  Congressmen.  “In  orde 

to  get  some  of  them,”  writes  Cutler,  “so  as  to  wor 
powerfully  on  their  minds,  we  were  obliged  to  engag  ̂  

three  or  four  persons  before  we  could  get  at  them 

in  some  instances  we  engaged  one  person,  who  engage*  Bri] 
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a   second,  he  a   third,  and  so  on  to  the  fourth  before 

we  could  effect  our  purpose.”  Surely  among  the 
many  other  matters  of  which  Cutler  was  master,  the 

art  of  “persuasion”  was  not  wanting.  It  had  been 
the  purpose  to  make  General  S.  H.  Parsons  governor 

of  the  new  territory,  but  finding  General  St.  Clair, 

then  president  of  Congress,  would  be  more  interested 

in  the  project  of  the  purchase  if  the  governorship 

should  fall  to  him,  Cutler  shifted  to  St.  Clair  and 

embraced  the  opportunity  to  declare  that  he  “heartily 
wished  that  His  Excellency  General  St.  Clair  might 
be  Governor  and  that  I   would  solicit  the  eastern 

members  [of  Congress]  to  favor  such  an  arrangement.” 

Then  “matters  went  on  much  better,”  and  “we  now 
entered  into  the  true  spirit  of  negotiations  with  great 

oodies;  every  machine  in  the  city  that  it  was  possible 

:o  set  to  work  we  now  put  in  motion.  ” 
On  July  27th,  Congress  passed  the  ordinance  of 

purchase,  by  which  “we  obtained  the  grant  of  near 
dve  million  acres  of  land,  amounting  to  three  millions 

ind  a   half  of  dollars,  one  million  and  a   half  acres 

or  the  Ohio  Company,  and  the  remainder  for  a 

)rivate  speculation,  in  which  many  of  the  prom- 
nent  characters  of  America  are  concerned;  without 

:onnecting  this  speculation,  similar  terms  and  advan- 
ages  could  not  have  been  obtained  for  the  Ohio 

Company.” 
The  day  the  Ohio  purchase  bill  passed  Congress, 

)r.  Cutler  started  for  home  which  he  reached  in  one 

yeek  after  completing  “one  of  the  most  interesting 

nd  agreeable  journeys  I   ever  made  in  my  life,”  a 
Durney,  with  its  side  detours,  of  nearly  nine  hundred 



452 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRES 

miles,  all  in  the  “one-horse  sulky.”  On  August  29 
he  went  to  Boston  and  at  a   meeting  in  the  Bunch  o 

Grapes  Tavern,  made  an  extended  report  of  his  dealing 

with  Congress,  ending  with  the  purchase.  The  con 

tract  with  the  Government  for  this  purchase,  however 

was  not  consummated  until  October  27,  (1787)  whei 

Dr.  Cutler  wrote  in  his  journal:  “This  day  complete! 
our  contract  with  the  Board  of  Treasury  for  near  si: 

millions  of  acres  of  land,  and  Major  Sargent  and  mysel 

signed  the  Indentured  Agreement  on  parchment  ii 

two  distinct  contracts;  one  for  the  Ohio  Company 

and  the  other  for  the  Scioto  Company;  the  greates 

private  contract  ever  made  in  America.” 
The  contract  for  the  sale  by  the  government  wa: 

signed  on  the  day  just  named,  by  Samuel  Osgood  anc 

Arthur  Lee  of  the  Board  of  Treasury  of  the  Unitec 

States  and  by  Manasseh  Cutler  and  Winthrop  Sargen 

for  the  Ohio  Company.  The  contract  stipulated  tha 
for  the  consideration  of  five  hundred  thousand  dollar: 

: 

in  specie,  loan  office  certificates  reduced  to  speci( 

or  certificates  of  the  liquidated  debt  of  the  Unitec 

States,”  paid  to  the  treasurer  and  upon  the  furthei 
payment  of  a   similar  sum,  when  the  exterior  line  o: 

the  contracts  had  been  surveyed  by  the  geographer 

or  proper  officer  of  the  United  States.  The  tract 

of  land  secured  was  bounded  on  the  east  by  the  seventh 

range  of  townships,  south  by  the  Ohio,  west  by  the 

west  boundary  of  the  seventeenth  range,  extending 
so  far  north  that  an  east  and  west  line  would  embrace 

the  number  of  acres,  besides  the  reservations,  which 

were  section  sixteen  for  schools,  twenty-nine  foi 

religion,  eight,  eleven  and  twenty-six  to  be 
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)f  by  Congress  and  two  townships  for  a   university. 

The  land  for  the  Scioto  Company — the  “   private 

speculation” — lay  between  the  north  and  west  lines 

)f  the  Ohio  Company’s  purchase,  and  the  north  line 
)f  the  tenth  township  of  the  seventh  range  and  the 

vest  line  of  the  seventeenth  range  and  the  Scioto  River 

—in  all  about  four  million,  five  hundred  thousand 

teres.  The  payments  on  the  “ private  speculation” 
vere  to  be  two-thirds  of  a   dollar  per  acre  in  public 

securities  in  four  semi-annual  installments,  the  first 
ailing  due  six  months  after  the  exterior  line  of  the 

ract  had  been  surveyed  by  the  government. 

For  the  sake  of  continuity  in  its  history,  we  antic- 
pate  a   few  years  as  to  the  outcome  of  the  Ohio 

Company  purchase.  The  Company  made  its  first 

equired  payment,  but  failure  of  some  of  the  share- 

lolders  to  make  good  their  obligations,  “the  expenses 
>f  the  Indian  War,  the  losses  sustained  through  their 

reasurer,” — Colonel  Richard  Platt — so  embarrassed 
he  company  that  it  was  impossible  for  them  to  pay 

he  remaining  #500,000.  Early  in  1792  the  directors 

)f  the  company  met  in  Philadelphia  and  memorialized 

Congress  for  relief.  Congress  finally  modified  the 

original  contract  by  authorizing  a   conveyance  for 

hat  half  of  the  tract  already  paid  for  (750,000  acres) ; 

mother  conveyance  for  214,285  acres  (one  seventh 

>f  the  original  purchase),  to  be  paid  for  within  six 

nonths  by  warrants — army  vouchers — issued  for 

>ounty  rights ;   and  a   third  conveyance  for  one  hundred 
housand  acres  which  was  to  be  transferred  in  tracts 

>f  one  hundred  acres  as  a   bounty  to  each  male  person 

>f  eighteen  years  of  age,  becoming  an  actual  settler — 
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this  was  known  as  the  Donation  Tract.  On  May 

io,  1792,  President  Washington  issued  to  the  Ohic 

Company,  the  three  patents  covering  the  above 

three  transfers.  The  fortunes,  or  rather  the  mis 

fortunes,  of  the  Scioto  Company  purchase  we  wil| 
follow  later  on. 

Meetings  of  the  directors  and  agents  of  the  Ohic 

Company  were  held  at  Bracket’s  Tavern,  Boston 

November  21,  178 7,  and  at  Rice’s  Tavern,  Providence 
R.  I.,  on  March  5,  1788.  At  these  meetings,  detail 

as  to  the  surveying,  dividing  and  allotting  the  lan 

to  be  settled  were  arranged;  four  thousand  acre 

“near  the  confluence  of  the  Ohio  and  Muskingum’ 

were  designated  for  “a  city  and  commons”;  anc 
contiguous  to  this,  one  thousand  lots  of  eight  acre 

each  were  to  be  surveyed  and  platted.  Ebeneze 

Sproat,  Anselm  Tupper — son  of  Benjamin  Tupper 
John  Mathews,  and  R.  J.  Meigs  were  chosen  surveyors 

and  General  Rufus  Putnam  “superintendent  of  al 

the  business  aforesaid”  and  “he  is  to  be  obeyed  an< 
respected  accordingly. 

At  the  last  meeting,  held  at  Bracket’s  Tavern,  i 
was  ordered  that  for  the  initial  party  of  settlers,  fou 

surveyors  be  employed;  that  twenty-two  men  shoul< 
attend  the  surveyors;  that  there  be  added  to  thi 

number  twenty  men,  including  six  boat  builders,  fou 

house  carpenters,  one  blacksmith,  and  nine  commoi 

workmen;  their  wages  were  to  be  four  dollars  a   montll 

and  “subsistence,” — except  the  superintendent — Rufu 
Putnam — who  received  forty  dollars  per  month  an< 

the  steward — Major  Haffield  White — and  surveyor 

twenty-seven  dollars;  all  these  men  were  to  be  pre 
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prietors  in  the  Ohio  Company.  Each  man  was  to 

furnish  himself  “with  a   good  small  arm,  bayonet, 
six  flints,  a   powder-horn  and  pouch,  priming  wire  and 
brush,  half  pound  of  powder,  one  pound  of  balls  and 

one  pound  of  buckshot,”  in  addition  would  be  their 

i tools  and  “one  axe  and  one  hoe  to  each  man  and thirty  pounds  weight  of  baggage.” 
By  the  advice  of  Thomas  Hutchins,  the  geographer 

of  the  United  States,  the  tract  for  the  initial  settlement 

of  the  Ohio  Company  was  located  on  the  Ohio  and 

Muskingum  rivers.  Mr.  Hutchins  considered  it  “the 

best  part  of  the  whole  western  country,”  and  he  had 
visited  the  country  from  Pennsylvania  to  the  Illinois. 

It  was  therefore  decided  at  the  Bracket’s  Tavern 
meeting  that  a   tract  of  five  thousand  seven  hundred 

and  sixty  acres  of  land  near  the  confluence  of  the 

Muskingum  and  Ohio  rivers  be  reserved  for  a   city 

and  commons ;   and  it  was  resolved  among  other  things 

:hat  “the  house  lots  shall  consist  of  ninety  feet  front 

land  one  hundred  and  eighty  feet  in  depth.”  Other 
details  of  the  plan  of  the  first  settlement  were  agreed 

apon.  The  name  proposed  for  the  settlement  was 

‘Adelphia, ”   which  Mr.  Cutler  said, “strictly  means 
brethren,  and  I   wish  it  may  ever  be  characteristic  of 

:he  Ohio  Company.”  The  land  secured  and  plans 
perfected,  nothing  remained  but  the  execution. 

In  accordance  with  all  the  preliminaries,  twenty- 
wo  of  the  number  who  were  boat-builders  and  mechan- 

cs,  assembled  at  Danvers,  Mass.,  on  December  i, 

787  under  command  of  Major  Haffield  White;  the 

emainder  of  the  company  gathered  at  Hartford, 

-onn.,  early  in  January  (1788).  Those  who  met  at 
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Danvers  were  the  first  to  start  for  their  new  possessions 

called  by  many  who  derided  and  ridiculed  this  scheme 

“ Putnam’s  Paradise”  and  “ Cutler’s  Indian  Heaven.’ 

Some  of  the  party  started  from  Dr.  Cutler’s  home  a 
Ipswich.  He  prepared  a   large,  well-built  wagor 
for  their  use,  covered  with  black  canvas,  on  whici 

he  himself  had  painted  in  large  white  letters  “For  the 

Ohio.”  Dr.  Cutler  personally  accompanied  the  com 
pany  to  Danvers,  where  he  bade  them  a   farewell  or 

their  departure,  November  30,  1787.  Dr.  Cutlei 

never  went  to  Marietta  as  a   resident,  but  visited  the 

settlement  in  the  summer  of  1788.  His  son,  Jervi 

Cutler,  was  one  of  the  Danvers’  party  and  it  is  said, 
was  the  first  to  leap  ashore  at  the  landing  of  the 

“Mayflower.  ”   Two  other  sons — Ephraim  and  Temple 
— of  Manasseh  Cutler  later  joined  the  Marietta  colony. 

The  route  of  Major  White’s  party  was  along  the 
old  military  road  across  Pennsylvania  and  over  the 

Alleghenies.  After  a   journey  of  nearly  eight  weeks, 

they  arrived  at  SumrilPs  Ferry,  now  West  Newton, 

Pa.,  on  January  23,  1788,  where  they  remained  till 

April  1st,  engaged  in  the  building  of  the  boats  that1 1 
were  to  carry  them  down  the  Ohio  to  their  destination. 

The  second  division  of  the  company  rendezvoused 

at  Hartford,  Connecticut,  on  the  first  of  January, 

1788.  They  were  there  met  by  General  Rufus  Putnam 

who  was  personally  to  have  commanded  their  journey, 

but  as  he  says  in  his  journal,  “was  under  the  necessity 
of  going  by  New  York,  so  the  company  went  forward 

in  command  of  Colonel  Ebenezer  Sproat.” 
Dispatching  his  business  at  New  York,  Rufus 

Putnam  pressed  forward  and  overtook  the  Sproat 
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livision  at  “Lincoln’s  Run  near  Sweetterret  (Swatara) 

Creek”  foot  of  the  Tuscarawas  Mountains.  They 

eached  Sumrill’s  Ferry,  where  they  found  the  White 

)arty,  February  14,  1788.  After  the  arrival  of  Put- 

lam’s  party  the  work  of  boat  building  was  redoubled. 
Te  largest  convoy  built  was  at  first  named  the 

^Adventure  Galley”  afterwards  called  the  “May- 

lower  ”   in  remembrance  of  the  vessel  that  landed 

t   Plymouth  (1620),  and  had  among  her  famous 

assengers,  ancestors  of  some  of  the  Ohio  Company. 

Te  second  “   Mayflower,  ”   forty-five  feet  long  and 
;   welve  feet  wide,  with  a   burden  of  fifty  tons,  was 

uilt  with  stout  timbers  and  knees  like  a   galley,  with 

he  bottom  raking  fore  and  aft,  and  decked  over  all 

dth  planks.  The  deck  was  sufficiently  high  for  a 

lan  to  walk  upright  under  the  beams  and  the  sides 

0   thick  as  to  resist  a   rifle  bullet.  The  steersman  and 

>   owers  were  thus  safely  sheltered  from  the  attack 

f   enemies  on  the  banks.  But  the  “ Mayflower” 

as  not  ample  enough  to  carry  the  “   forty-eighters  ” 

ith  all  their  horses,  wagons,  baggage,  tools  and  pro- 

visions, so  an  additional  large  fiat  boat  called  the 

Adelphia”  and  three  small  canoes  were  constructed. 

1   this  little  fleet  the  advance  corps  of  the  Ohio  Com- 

any  “set  sail,”  April  1,  1788,  under  command  of 
ufus  Putnam.  There  were  forty-seven  men  in  the 

tpedition  according  to  the  list  of  names  given  by 

.ildreth  in  his  “Pioneer  History  of  the  Ohio  Valley”; 

le  number  forty-eight  is  usually  given  by  the 

ithorities,  but  that  number  includes  the  name  of 

ol.  R.  J.  Meigs  who  did  not  arrive  until  the  12th 

April.  There  were  no  women  or  children  accom- 
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panying  this  advance  contingent.  The  families  wer 

brought  on  later,  many  of  them  not  arriving  unt 

the  spring  of  the  following  year. 

It  was  an  illustrious  band;  they  were  men  of  ex 

ceptional  character,  talents  and  attainments;  the 

were  the  best  of  New  England  culture;  they  wer 

Revolutionary  heroes;  said  Senator  George  F.  Hoari 

his  magnificent  oration  at  the  hundredth  anniversar 

of  the  Marietta  settlement:  “ Never  did  the  grea 
Husbandman  choose  his  seed  more  carefully  then  whe 

he  planted  Ohio;  I   do  not  believe  the  same  numbej 

of  persons  fitted  for  the  highest  duties  and  respon 

sibilities  of  war  and  peace  could  ever  have  been  foun< 

in  a   community  of  the  same  size  as  were  among  th 

men  who  founded  Marietta  in  the  spring  of  1788 

or  who  joined  them  within  twelve  months  thereafter. 

“No  colony  in  America,”  said  Washington,  “wa 
settled  under  such  favorable  auspices  as  that  whic 

has  just  commenced  at  the  Muskingum;  informatior 

property,  and  strength  will  be  its  characteristics ;   I   kno\ 

many  of  the  settlers  personally,  and  there  never  wer 

men  better  calculated  to  promote  the  welfare  of  a   com 

munity. ”   “I  knew  them  all,”  said  Lafayette,  “I  kne\ 
them  all;  I   saw  them  at  Brandywine,  Yorktown  ant 

Rhode  Island;  they  were  the  bravest  of  the  brave.” 
The  flotilla  bearing  this  heroic  and  historic  compan; 

glided  with  the  current  down  the  Youghiogheny  int< 

the  Monongahela  and  then  passing  under  the  shadow 

of  Fort  Pitt  swung  into  the  “broad  bosom  of  th 

Ohio.”  The  story  of  that  journey  is  an  oft  repeater 

tale.  “For  several  days  and  nights,”  says  Walkei 

the  historian  of  Athens  county,  “they  pursued  thei 



THE  GALLEY  ADVENTURE 

The  main  boat  in  which  the  first  emigrants  of  the  Ohio 

Company  from  New  England  traveled  (1788)  from  Sum- 

rill’s  Ferry  to  Marietta.  It  was  also  called  the  “Second 

Mayflower.  ’   ’   This  boat  was  forty-five  feet  long  and 
twelve  feet  wide.  The  picture  herewith  produced  is  that 

of  a   miniature  model  of  the  boat  now  preserved  at  Marietta. 

THE  CAMPUS  MARTIUS 

Fortress  and  stockade  built  by  the  first  settlers  at 

Marietta.  The  smaller,  wall-enclosed,  square  was  called 

the  “   Capitolium,  ”   the  larger  one  the  “   Quadranaou.  ”   A 
broad,  graded  road  leading  from  the  Quadranaou  to  the 

river  was  called  the  “   Via  Sacra/j 
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solitary  travel,  urged  along  only  by  the  current  of 

the  beautiful  river,  whose  banks  gave  no  signs  of 

:ivilized  life,  nor  of  welcome  to  the  pioneers;  occasion- 

ally, a   flock  of  wild  turkeys  in  the  underbrush,  or  a 

startled  deer,  drinking  at  the  water’s  edge,  would 
iraw  the  fire  of  the  riflemen  from  the  boats;  and  now 

and  then  the  dusky  form  of  an  Indian  could  be  seen 

darting  into  the  forest.”  A   little  after  sunrise  on  the 
norning  of  the  seventh,  they  came  in  sight  of  Fort 

Harmar,  just  below  which  amid  fog  and  rain,  they 
lauled  to  about  noon.  The  current  had  carried  them 

Deyond  their  intended  landing  point.  The  com- 
nandant  of  the  fort,  Major  Doughty,  sending  some 

soldiers  to  their  aid,  Putnam’s  little  band  towed  the 
xaats  up  stream,  and  crossing  the  Muskingum,  landed 

apon  the  site  of  Marietta.  The  “adventurers”  were 
welcomed  by  a   party  of  about  seventy  Wyandot  and 

Delaware  Indians,  warriors,  women  and  children, 

)f  whom  the  famous  Captain  Pipe  was  the  principal 

:haracter.  The  landing  of  the  stores  and  baggage 

vas  begun  at  once  as  well  as  the  erection  of  General 

Putnam’s  large  tent,  known  as  a   “marquee,”  a   portion 

)f  the  plunder  taken  by  General  Putnam’s  regiment 

rom  the  British  at  the  surrender  of  Burgoyne’s  army 
n   the  Revolution.  Thus  was  planted  the  Marietta 

settlement,  the  first  purely  colonial  one  in  the  North- 
vest  Territory  after  its  organization.  There  were 

nany  white  settlers  in  various  localities,  traders’ 
stations,  missionary  posts,  etc.,  west  of  the  Alleghenies 

)revious  to  the  arrival  of  the  Ohio  Company  immi- 
grants, but  the  latter  was  the  first  distinct  permanent 

American  western  settlement. 
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“ Under  the  broad  roof,”  says  Hildreth,  “of  his] 
hempen  house,”  Putnam  resided  and  “transacted  thej 

; 

business  of  the  colony  for  several  months,  until  the 

blockhouses  of  Campus  Martius,  as  their  new  garrison 

was  called,  were  finished.  ”   The  site  selected  for  their 
town  was  a   level  plain,  thirty  feet  above  the  Mus- 

kingum, on  its  eastern  side,  “where  once  the  Mound 
Builders  had  made  a   resting  place,  setting  up  an  arrow 

factory  and  heaping  up  piles  of  dirt  for  the  scientists 

to  battle  over  to  this  day.”  It  was  spring  time  and 
nature  was  in  her  bright  and  cheery  garb.  The  place 

was  picturesque;  the  soil  rich;  the  climate  “exceedingly 

healthy”;  there  were  buffaloes  in  droves,  plenty  oi 

deer  and  “turkies  innumerable”;  and  “corn  grew 

nine  inches  in  twenty-four  hours.”  Certainly  it 
was  a   land  of  promise.  Of  this  locality  Washington 

wrote  Richard  Henderson,  under  date  of  June  19. 

1788,  in  a   letter  from  which  we  quoted  his  views  oi 

the  settlers:  “If  I   was  a   young  man,  just  preparing 
to  begin  the  world,  or  if  advanced  in  life,  and  had  a 

family  to  make  provision  for,  I   know  of  no  country 

where  I   should  rather  fix  my  habitation  than  in  some 

part  of  the  region  [mouth  of  Muskingum] — for  which 

the  writer  of  the  queries  seems  to  have  a   predilection.’ 
That  Washington  had  intelligent  faith  in  the  pros- 

pects of  the  Ohio  country  is  evidenced  by  the  facl 

that  he  had  purchased,  several  years  before,  frorr 

Revolutionary  veterans,  warrants  for  three  thou- 
sand acres  and  more  of  bounty  lands  in  the  Virgini 

Military  District  of  Ohio,  and  had  them  located  ir 
what  are  now  Clermont  and  Hamilton  counties.  The 

tracts  covered  by  these  warrants  were  being  surveyec 
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at  the  time  (spring  of  1788)  that  Washington  was 

writing  this  endorsement  of  the  Ohio  country.  He 

held  his  Ohio  lands  until  his  death,  invoicing  them 

in  the  appraisal  of  his  estate  attached  to  his  will, 

at  fifteen  thousand  dollars  and  regarding  them  as 

among  the  most  valuable  pieces  of  his  realty.  The 

subsequent  loss  to  Washington’s  estate  of  these  Miami 
lands,  through  non-compliance  as  to  technical  records 
by  the  surveyor,  and  the  interminable  legislation  of 

Congress,  extending  even  to  the  present  day,  touching 

the  same,  forms  a   most  curious  recital,  which  the 

writer  has  fully  set  forth  in  the  publications  of  the 

Ohio  State  Archaeological  and  Historical  Society. 

The  delighted  pioneers  began  at  once  to  survey  the 

eight-acre  lots  and  “lay  out  the  town,”  which  they 

at  first  called,  at  the  suggestion  of  Dr.  Cutler,  “Adel- 

phia,”  city  of  “brothers,”  but  a   few  weeks  later 
formally  resolved  to  name  Marietta,  an  abbreviation 

oi  Marie  Antoinette,  the  “fair  queen  of  France,  a 
lady  who  had  treated  the  minister  of  the  Young  Ameri- 

can Republic,  the  venerable  Franklin,  when  at  the 

Court  of  Louis  XVI,  with  all  the  respect  and  kindness 

due  to  her  own  father.”  Roosevelt,  that  singular 
embodiment  of  the  Rough  Rider  and  the  cultured 

collegiate,  curiously  enough  jeers  at  the  Marietta 

settlers  for  the  “dreadful  pseudo-classic  cult”  bestowed 
in  their  names  on  some  of  the  most  prominent  objects 

in  the  ruins — Mound  Builders’  remains — of  the  ancient 

town.  The  smaller,  wall-enclosed,  square  was  called 

the  4   ‘Capitolium,  ”   the  larger  one  the  “Quadranaou,” 
and  the  broad  graded  road  with  high  embankments 

Dn  each  side  leading  up  from  the  river  to  Quadranaou, 
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was  called  “ Sacra  Via.’’  But  Roosevelt  should  hav 
remembered  that  many  of  these  Marietta  settlers  wer 

college  graduates  bearing  degrees  from  Harvard  an 

Yale  and  representing  the  best  culture  of  New  England 
and  the  wild  west  could  not  eradicate  the  literar 

flavor  engrafted  in  their  nature.  The  capital  cit; 

of  the  Northwest  Territory,  for  such  Marietta  was 

had  temporary  rules  and  regulations  of  governmenl 

which  “were  written  out  and  posted  up  on  the  smoot 

trunk  of  a   large  beech  tree,”  on  July  4th,  on  whic 

day  a   patriotic  celebration  was  held;  a   sumptuouj 

dinner  provided,  says  Hildreth,  and  “eaten  under 
bowery  which  stretched  along  on  the  bank  of  th 

Muskingum.”  The  table  was  supplied  with  venison! 
bear  meat,  buffalo,  roast  pig  and  a   variety  of  fish 
The  officers  of  Fort  Harmar  sat  at  this  feast  with  th 

pioneers  and  regular  toasts  were  responded  to;  Genera 

James  Mitchell  Varnum  delivered  an  oration;  whic] 

for  rhetorical  flights,  ornate  expression,  patrioti 

sentiments  and  poetical  thought  is  hardly  to  be  sur 

passed.  From  General  Varnum’s  oration  we  cite  on 
paragraph  with  the  accompanying  poetical  quotation 

“The  fertility  of  the  soil — the  temperature  and  salu 

brity  of  the  air — beautifully  diversified  prospects— 
innumerable  streams,  through  a   variety  of  channel 

communicating  with  the  ocean,  and  the  opening  pros 

pects  of  a   prodigious  trade  and  commerce,  are  amonj 

the  advantages  which  welcome  the  admiring  stranger.’ 

“Sweet  is  the  breath  of  early  mom,  her  rising  sweet 
With  charm  of  earliest  birds;  pleasant  the  sun, 
When  first,  on  this  delightful  land,  he  spreads 
His  orient  beams  on  herb,  tree,  fmit,  and  flower 

Glist’ning  with  dew;  fertile  the  fragrant  earth, 



FORT  HARMAR 

Erected  in  1785  by  Major  John  Doughty.  Its  walls 
were  formed  of  large  horizontal  timbers,  the  bastions  being 

fourteen  feet  high,  set  firmly  in  the  earth.  Back  of  the 

Fort  Major  Doughty  laid  out  an  orchard  in  which  he 

raised  the  familiar  “Doughty  Peach.”  This  picture 
represents  the  fort  in  1 790. 



462 THE  RISE  AND  PROGP  W® 

was  called/4 Sacra  Via/’  .   Rut, Roosevelt  should  h; 

college  I^S^§at-^IEbe#rfegIfId%|%^irfiJe(6in;HWfVai  .   , 
-xt  |   art  npMw  ni  bisrlpio  a£  Juo , bisl  vfciaj/oG  ior£MT ^10%-, 

Y   ale  AM<?^s**m8  qffiHff  sPJjSJfcEngla 
and  the  wild  west  could  .a^^nrew^rfctatestliee  lit 

flavor  engrafted  in  their  nature.  The  capital 

of  the  Northwest  Territory,  for  such  Marietta  M 

had  temporary'  rules  and  regulations  of  governing 

which  “were  written  out  and  posted  up  on  the  smol 

trunk  of  a   large  beech  tree,”  on  July  4th,  on  wh 
day  a   patriotic  celebration  was  held;  a   sumpt* 

dinner  provided,  says  Hildreth,  and  “eaten  unci- 
bowery  which  stretched  along  on  the  bank  of 

Muskingum.”  The  table  was  supplied  with  vem* 
bear  meat,  buffalo,  roast  pig  and  a   variety  of  fi 
The  officers  of  Fort  Harmar  sat  at  this  feast  with 

pioneers  and  regular  toasts' were  responded  to;  Gem 
James  Mitchell  Varnum  delivered  an  oratioii;  \\b 

for  rhetorical  flights,  ornate  expression,  patrk 

sentiments  and  poetical  thought  is  hardly  to  b 

passed.  From  General  Varnum’s  oration  we  cite 

paragraph  with  the  accompanying  poetical  quota tij 

“Tht  u   •   T_  of  the  soil  the  temperature  and 
brii  lie  air— beautifully  diversified  prosper 
innumerable  streams,  through  a   variety  of  cha 

communicating  with  the  ocean,  and  the  opening 

pects  of  a   prodigious  trade  and  commerce,  are  a 

the  advantages  which  welcome  the  admiring  stranjaj 

“Sweet  is  the  breath  of  early  mom,  her  rising  sweet 
With  charm  of  earliest  birds;  pleasant  the  sun, 
When  first,  on  this  delightful  land,  he  spreads 
His  orient  beams  on  herb,  tree,  fruit,  and  flower 

Glist  ’ning  with  dew;  fertile  the  fragrant  earth, 
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After  mild  showers,  and  sweet  the  coming  on 
Of  grateful  evening  mild;  the  silent  nights, 
With  this  her  solemn  bird,  and  this  fair  moon, 

And  these  the  gems  of  heaven,  her  starry  train.” 
Congress  had  appointed  Arthur  St.  Clair  governor 

of  the  new  territory;  James  M.  Varnum,  Samuel 

H.  Parsons  and  John  Armstrong,  judges;  and  Winthrop 

Sargent,  secretary.  These  distinguished  names  were 

\   typical  of  the  New  England  stock  which  comprised 

the  pioneer  officials  and  statesmen  of  the  Northwest. 

;   Of  Arthur  St.  Clair  we  shall  learn  much  in  subsequent 

>   pages.  Varnum  was  from  Massachusetts,  a   grad- 

1   aate  of  Brown  University,  a   general  in  the  Revolu- 
i   tionary  Army  and  a   member  of  the  Continental 

i Congress.  Parsons  was  from  Connecticut,  a   graduate 

)f  Harvard,  for  eighteen  sessions  a   member  of  the 

f *   Connecticut  Assembly  and  a   general  in  the  Revolu- 
i   ion.  Armstrong  was  a   Pennsylvanian,  a   student 

it  Princeton  when  he  enlisted  in  the  Revolutionary 

;   Vrmy,  in  which  he  became  a   major;  he  was  the  author 

)f  the  4   ‘Newburgh  Addresses,  ”   written  at  the  end  of  the 
i   var  to  induce  the  army  to  demand  its  just  dues  from 

i   Congress.  Sargent  was  a   Massachusetts  man,  a 

graduate  of  Harvard  and  served  as  a   major  in  the 

Revolutionary  Army.  Subsequently  John  Cleve 

Mymmes  was  substituted  for  Mr.  Armstrong  who  de- 

fined the  appointment. 

The  good  people  of  Marietta,  says  Charles  Moore, 

‘had  reason  to  be  proud  of  their  new  officials,  and 

articularly  of  their  governor.  ”   St.  Clair  was  a 
f-  cotch-American  soldier,  born  at  Thurso,  Caithness- 

hire,  Scotland,  educated  at  the  University  of  Edin- 

urgh,  emigrating  to  America  in  1758,  at  the  age 
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Secretary  Sargent.”  The  interesting  details  of  the 
initial  proceedings,  military,  civil  and  judicial,  of 

the  new  government,  are  amply  related  by  William 

Henry  Smith,  in  his  sketch  of  Arthur  St.  Clair,  prefa- 

tory to  the  publication  of  the  “St.  Clair  Papers.” 
The  first  laws  for  the  government  of  the  territory 

were  published  by  the  governor  and  judges  at  Marietta. 

They  embraced  acts  regulating  and  establishing  the 

militia;  for  creating  general  courts  of  quarter  session 

of  the  peace  and  for  establishing  county  courts  of 

common  pleas,  and  the  offices  of  sheriff,  justices,  etc.; 

the  time  of  convening  courts  and  the  rules  regulating 

their  procedure.  These  are  set  forth  in  the  historical 

preface  to  Chase’s  Statutes  of  Ohio. 
The  laws  respecting  crimes  quite  remind  one  of 

the  penal  codes  of  the  New  England  colonies.  There 

were  laws  for  the  suppression  and  prevention  of  pro- 

fanity, irreverent  and  obscene  language,  and  compelling 

the  observance  of  the  Sabbath.  The  “ punishments 
for  theft  and  minor  offenses  consisted  of  fines,  whipping, 

confinement  in  the  stocks  and  binding  out  to  hard 

labor  for  a   limited  time.”  Pillories,  whipping  posts 

and  stocks,  in  addition  to  the  jail,  were  “ emblems  of 
justice  that  were  continued  in  Marietta  as  late  as  the 

year  1812.”  Governor  St.  Clair  at  once  proceeded 
to  create  the  boundaries  of  the  first  county  in  the  new 

territory;  it  was  named  Washington.  Its  boundaries 

were  practically  all  of  eastern  and  southern  Ohio 

which  had  been  reserved  to  the  government  in  the 

treaties  setting  aside  the  northwestern  portion  of  the 

state  (to  be)  for  the  Indian  reservation,  viz. : 



WASHINGTON’S”  OHIO  LAND  WARRANT 

Photographic  reproduction  of  the  land  warrant  issued  to 

George  Washington,  for  3,000  acres  of  land  in  Ohio- Vir- 

ginia Military  District.  This  land  was  located  by  Wash- 

ington’s surveyor  in  what  is  now  Clermont  and  Hamilton 
counties.  Washington  bought  the  original  land  warrant 

in  1774  from  one  John  Rootes,  to  whom  the  warrant  was 
issued  in  1763  for  services  in  the  French  and  Indian  War. 

Washington  owned  this  land  at.  the  time  of  his  death. 
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They  embraced  acts  regulating  and  establishing  19 

militia;  for  c rearing  general  courts  of  quarter  sessii 

of  the  peace  and  for  establishing  county  court*  ̂  

common  pleas,  and  the  offices  of  sheriff,  justices,  el 

the  time  of  convening  courts  and  the  rules  regular^ 
their  procedure.  These  are  set  forth  in  the  historil 

preface  to  Chase’s  Statutes  of  Ohio. 
The  laws  respecting  crimes  quite  remind  one  j 

the  penal  codes  of  the  New  England  colonies.  Tha 

were  laws  for  the  suppression  and  prevention  of  pi 

fanity,  irreverent  and  obscene  language,  and  compel 

the  observance  of  the  Sabbath.  The  “punishrm 
for  theft  and  minor  offenses  consisted  of  fines,  whipp 

confinement  in  the  stocks  and  binding  out  to  M 

in  time.”  Pillories,  whipping  p 

and  sick  .s.  mi  addition  to  the  jail,  were  “emblei* 
justice  that  were  continued  in  Marietta  as  late  as 

year  1812.  ”   Governor  St.  Clair  at  once  prove* 
to  create  the  boundaries  of  the  first  county  in  the  j 

territory;  it  was  named  Washington.  Its  boundM 

were  practically  all  of  eastern  and  southern  I 

which  had  been  reserved  to  the  government  far] 

treaties  setting  aside  the  northwestern  portion  <m 

state  (to  be)  for  the  Indian  reservation,  viz.: 
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“   Beginning  on  the  bank  of  the  Ohio  River,  where 
the  western  boundary  line  of  Pennsylvania  crosses 

it,  and  running  with  that  line  to  Lake  Erie;  thence 

along  the  southern  shore  of  said  lake  to  the  mouth 

of  Cuyahoga  River;  thence  up  said  river  to  the  portage 

between  that  and  the  Tuscarawas  branch  of  the  Mus- 

kingum; thence  adown  the  branch  to  the  forks,  at 

the  crossing  place  above  Fort  Laurens;  thence  with 

a   line  to  be  drawn  westerly  to  the  portage  of  that 

branch  of  the  Big  Miami,  on  which  the  fort  stood 

that  was  taken  by  the  French  in  1752,  until  it  meets 

the  road  from  the  lower  Shawanese  town  to  the  San- 

dusky; thence  south  to  the  Scioto  River;  down  that 

to  its  mouth;  and  thence  up  the  Ohio  River  to  the 

place  of  beginning.  ” 

On  Monday,  July  21,  1788,  Dr.  Cutler’s  diary  reads: 

“ Set  out  from  Ipswich  on  a   journey  to  the  Ohio  and 

Muskingum.”  He  started  in  that  well-worn  sulky 
and  kept  a   daily  journal  in  which  he  described  his 

experiences  with  great  minutiae.  His  versatility  was 

in  full  play  duing  this  journey  for  he  preached  at  points 

on  the  way  and  administered  emetic  and  cathartics 

to  some  bilious  companions  with  whom  he  fell  in.  He 

passed  through  Pennsylvania,  touching  at  Harrisburg; 

ascended  the  Blue  Mountain,  “long  and  steep”; 
came  to  Horse  Valley  where  he  left  his  sulky ;   and  thence 

continued  on  horseback,  for  thus  he  could  proceed 

faster.  In  mid-August  he  reached  Coxe’s  Fort,  on 
the  Ohio,  and  there  embarked  on  a   big  flatboat; 

“assisted  by  a   number  of  people,  we  went  to  work  and 
constructed  a   machine  in  the  form  of  a   screw  with  short 

blades  and  placed  it  in  the  stern  of  the  boat,  which 
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we  turned  with  a   crank.”  In  this  “propeller”  they 
proceeded  to  Marietta  which  they  reached  August 

19th,  “being  very  politely  received  by  the  Honorable  i 

Judges,  General  Putnam  and  friends.”  During  his 

stay,  he  was  the  guest  at  General  Putnam’s  “marquee.” 
His  sojourn  of  three  weeks  was  a   continuous  round 

of  interesting  incidents.  He  was  the  guest  not  only 

of  the  leading  citizens,  but  the  Indian  camps  nearby, 

in  which  he  met  several  of  the  chiefs  of  note,  Guy- 

asutha,  Cornplanter,  and  others.  He  made  close  ; 

observations  in  all  fields  of  study  to  which  he  was 

inclined.  It  was  Dr.  Cutler’s  first  care  on  his  return 

to  Massachusetts  to  secure  the  services  of  a   gospel 

minister  for  the  Marietta  settlement.  He  obtained 

the  Rev.  Daniel  Story,  “a  tall,  slender,  cultivated 

young  man,”  a   graduate  of  Dartmouth,  who  reached 
his  new  pastorate  on  the  Muskingum  in  the  spring 

of  1789. 



Chapter  XXII. 

SYMMES  PURCHASE  AND  THE 

FRENCH  COLONY 



\ 

! 

i 

1 

I 
1 

I 

i 

l 

| 



A   T   the  date  which  we  have  now  reached,  west- 

ern  immigration  progressed  with  accelerated 

y   \   speed;  a   stream  of  eastern  colonists  poured 

into  the  great  West;  as  John  Bach  McMaster 

observes,  in  New  England,  “   every  small  farmer  whose 
barren  acres  were  covered  with  mortgages,  whose 

debts  pressed  heavily  upon  him  or  whose  roving  spirit 

gave  him  no  peace,  was  eager  to  sell  his  homestead 

for  what  it  would  bring,  save  what  he  could  from  the 

general  wreck  and  begin  life  anew  on  the  banks  of 

the  Muskingum  or  the  Ohio.”  The  Ohio  was  alive 
i   with  the  descending  flatboats  and  their  migrating 

<   passengers.  One  observer  notes  that  in  April,  1787, 

fifty  flatboats  left  Fort  Pitt;  another  at  Fort  Finney 

saw  thirty-four  pass  in  thirty-nine  days;  and  a   chron- 

!   icier  at  Fort  Harmar  recorded  that  from  October,  1786, 

to  May,  1787,  one  hundred  and  seventy-seven  boats, 

;   “   carrying  upwards  of  2,700”  people  passed  the  garri- 
son. But  in  New  England  this  increasing  exodus 

became  a   serious  problem;  as  McMaster  notices,  it 

was  taking  the  best  brain,  blood  and  sinew  from  the 

old  colonies  to  the  new  country  and  efforts  were  made 

to  check  the  trans-Allegheny  schemes.  The  induce- 

ments of  their  promoters  were  denounced  in  the  colonial 

'   coffee  houses  and  in  the  public  prints,  “the  poor  fools,” 

it  was  said,  “were  being  enticed  from  comfortable  homes 
under  the  promise  that  they  were  going  to  a   land  of 

more  tropical  richness,  to  a   land  where  they  would 

reap  without  having  sown  and  gather  without  having 

ploughed,  but  in  truth,”  declared  the  detractors,  “the 
climate  was  cold,  the  land  sterile  and  sickly,  and  the 

woods  full  of  Indians,  panthers  and  hoop-snakes.” 
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Penny  pamphlets  were  issued,  embellished  with  car- 

toons, intended  to  ridicule  the  western  movement. 

But  the  tide  ceased  not  to  flow.  In  the  year  (1788)  of 

its  settlement,  ten  thousand  westward  movers  passed 

Marietta,  which  grew  apace  and  by  1790  it  had  a 

hundred  cabins,  and  branch  settlements  were  planted 

at  Belpre  on  the  Ohio  and  at  Big  Bottom,  thirty  miles 

up  the  Muskingum. 

Meanwhile  the  Miami  country,  though  neglected  by 

the  Ohio  Company,  was  falling  into  other  enterprising 

hands.  In  the  spring  of  1786  Major  Benjamin  Stites, 

then  a   resident  of  Redstone,  on  the  Monongahela, 

embarked  upon  a   trading  trip  down  the  Ohio,  in  one 

of  the  typical  flatboats,  “loaded  with  flour,  whiskey 

and  other  warres.  ”   He  landed  at  the  Kentucky  port, 
then  called  Limestone,  (now  Maysville).  At  the  time 

of  his  arrival  the  section  thereabouts  had  just  been 

raided  by  a   daring  band  of  Shawnees,  from  across  the 

Ohio.  Stites,  fond  of  adventure,  readily  accepted  the 

leadership  of  a   Kentucky  retaliatory  party,  which  at 

once  started  in  pursuit  of  the  marauders.  After  cross- 

ing the  Ohio  the  pursuers  followed  the  Indian  trail 

some  sixty  miles,  through  the  so-called  “Miami 

Slaughter  House,”  a   name  given  the  locality  because 

it  had  been  the  scene  of  constant  bloody  encounters — 

many  of  which  we  have  related — between  the  Indians 

and  pioneers.  Stites’  party  reached  Old  Town  or 
Old  Chillicothe  and  unable  to  recover  the  stolen  prop- 

erty or  punish  the  Shawnee  raiders,  they  crossed 

over  to  the  Great  Miami,  twenty  miles  farther  west 

and  followed  its  course  back  to  the  Ohio.  This  detour, 

fruitless  as  to  warfare  results,  brought  to  the  notice 

1 



JOHN  CLEVES  SYMMES 

Native  of  Long  Island  (1742).  Teacher  and  surveyor; 

Colonel  in  the  American  Revolution;  lawyer  and  jurist; 

judge  of  Northwest  Territory  (1787).  Projected  the 
Symmes  Purchase  of  land  between  the  Big  and  Little 
Miamis.  He  died  in  Cincinnati,  February  26,  1814. 
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hundred  cabins,  and  branch  settlements  were  plants 

at  Belpre  on  the  Ohio  and  at  Big  Bottom,  thirty  mil 

up  the  Muskingum. 

Meanwhile  the  Miami  country,  though  neglected  hjj 

the  Ohio  Company,  was  falling  into  other  enterprising 
hands.  In  the  spring  of  1786  Major  Benjamin  StiteJ 

then  a   resident  of  Redstone,  on  the  MonongahelJ 

embarked  upon  a   trading  trip  down  the  Ohio,  in  o\m 

of  the  typical  flatboats,  “loaded  with  flour,  whiskeJ 

and  other  warres.  ”   He  landed  at  the  Kentucky  pom 
then  called  Limestone,  (now  Maysville).  At  the  titn 

of  his  arrival  the  section  thereabouts  had  just  beA 

raided  by  a   daring  band  of  Shawnees,  from  across  t   h   * 

Ohio.  Stites,  fond  of  adventure,  readily  accepted  till 

leadership  of  a   Kentucky  retaliatory  party,  which  at 

once  started  in  pursuit  of  the  marauders.  After  croaJ 

ing  the  Ohio  the  pursuers  followed  the  Indian  trail 

some  sixty  miles,  through  the  so-called  “Mia 

Slaughter  House,’'  a   name  given  the  locality  becaul 
it  had  been  the  scene  of  constant  bloody  encounters 

many  of  which  we  have  related — between  the  India 

and  pioneers.  Stites’  party  reached  Old  Town  or 
Old  Chillicothe  and  unable  to  recover  the  stolen  prop- 

erty or  punish  the  Shawnee  raiders,  they  crossed 

over  to  the  Great  Miami,  twenty  miles  farther  west 

and  followed  its  course  back  to  the  Ohio.  This  detour, 

fruitless  as  to  warfare  results,  brought  to  the  notice 
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of  Stites  the  value  of  the  rich  country  he  had  traversed, 

every  acre  of  which  he  declared  was  “   worth  a   silver 

dollar.”  He  resolved  to  form  a   colony,  get  possession 
of  this  land  and  settle  thereon.  He  hastened  to  New 

_   York,  where  Congress  was  then  in  session,  the  story 

•   being  that  the  hardy  Stites  walked  the  entire  distance. 

In  New  York  Stites  met  with  one  of  the  congressmen 

from  New  Jersey,  John  Cleves  Symmes,  a   native  of 

Long  Island  (born  1742)  and  in  early  life  a   teacher  and 

surveyor,  later  a   colonel  in  the  Revolution,  an  eminent 

jurist,  married  to  the  daughter  of  Governor  Livingston 

-(New  Jersey),  and  as  previously  noted,  appointed 

(1787)  one  of  the  judges  of  the  Northwest  Territory. 

■   Symmes  impressed  with  the  reports  of  Stites,  visited, 
in  the  summer  of  1787,  the  Miami  country,  the  glories 

}f  which  he  found  had  not  half  been  told.  On  his 

1   xturn  to  the  East,  Symmes,  at  once  organized  a   com- 

pany of  twenty-four,  among  whom  were  Benjamin 

Stites,  General  Jonathan  Dayton,  .a  member  of  Con- 

gress, Elias  Boudinot,  Dr.  John  Witherspoon,  president 

)f  Princeton  College,  and  others.  A   petition  was 

Presented,  by  Symmes,  to  Congress,  August  29,  1787, 

>n  behalf  of  himself  and  associates,  that  the  Treasury 

loard  be  authorized  to  make  them  a   grant,  on  the  same 

erms  that  had  been  conceded  to  the  Ohio  Company,  for 

11  the  lands  between  the  two  Miami  rivers,  from  the 

)hio  south  to  a   north  line,  which  should  be  a   continua- 

ion  of  the  “   western  termination  of  the  northern  bound- 

ry  line  of  the  grant  to  Messrs.  Sargent  and  Cutler 

k   Company.”  The  acreage  embraced  was  then  un- 
nown.  Congress  referred  the  matter  to  the  Treasury 

>oard,  and  without  awaiting  its  decision,  and  “in 
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credulous  reliance  that  the  grant  would  be  just  whai 

he  had  asked,”  Symmes  proceeded  to  issue  his  cele- 

brated circular  “To  the  Respectable  Public”  giving 

“Terms  of  Sale  and  Settlement  of  Miami  Lands,’ 

of  which  his  prospectus  gave  glowing  accounts,  “anc 
promised  health,  wealth  and  blessings  too  numerou 

to  mention.”  Indeed  before  closing  his  proposec 
contract  with  the  Government  he  began  the  sale  o 

lands  to  ready  purchasers  and  even  gave  title  fo 

some  twenty  thousand  acres,  located  at  the  moutl 

of  the  Little  Miami,  to  Benjamin  Stites.  Othe 

presumptive  titles  were  bestowed,  one  for  a   section—! 

six  hundred  and  forty  acres — immediately  oppositi 
the  mouth  of  the  Licking  River,  to  Mathias  Denmai 

of  New  Jersey.  It  would  be  tedious  and  unprofitabl 

to  recite  the  complicated  negotiations  of  Symme; 

with  Congress  and  the  Treasury  Board,  or  with  th< 

many  purchasers  of  lands,  which  Symmes  never  securec 

and  which  the  buyers  had  later  to  rebuy  from  th 

Government.  Suffice  it  to  say  that  Symmes  securec 

the  right  to  some  six  hundred  thousand  acres,  anq 

finally,  in  May,  1792,  obtained  and  paid  for,  abou 

three  hundred  thousand  acres,  extending  along  th< 

Ohio,  the  entire  distance  between  the  two  Miamis 

Before  this  actual  purchase,  viz.,  in  1788-90,  Israe 

Ludlow  and  John  S.  Gano  were  employed  to  survey  th< 

Symmes  Purchase.  Meanwhile  projects  for  towi 

settlements  were  developed.  We  mention  briefly  th< 
more  historic  ones. 

It  was  November  17,  1788,  or  within  the  weel 

following,  that  Stites  4 ‘with  a   strong  party  of  friend; 

and  followers”  an  “adventurous  troop”  of  a   dozei 
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or  more,  landed  just  below  the  Little  Miami,  on  a 

c   low  lying  plain  exceedingly  fertile,  a   portion  of  which 

was  known  as  “Turkey  Bottom,”  having  been  for 
years  cultivated  by  the  Indians.  In  a   few  days  Stites 

erected  theron  some  huts  and  a   blockhouse  and  gave 

the  town  the  name  of  Columbia,  which  Stites  hoped 

would  eventually  become  the  “Queen  of  the  West.” 
But  nature  and  destiny  declared  against  him  and  the 

“city,  ”   in  its  own  identity  never  advanced  much 
beyond  the  plan  and  original  settlement;  its  site 

eventually  becoming  merged  within  the  present  cor- 

porate limits  of  Cincinnati. 

Meanwhile  Symmes  remained  at  Limestone,  waiting 

for  the  conclusion  of  the  treaty  which  the  Government 

was  then  holding  with  the  Ohio  tribes  at  Fort  Harmar. 

That  council  over,  Symmes  started  up  the  river  for 

:he  Denman  section,  but  high  waters,  which  had 

submerged  Columbia,  drove  him  back  to  the  site  of 

'forth  Bend,  in  the  township  he  had  reserved  for  his 

,)wn  use  and  where  he  had  already  constructed  a   tem- 

porary habitation  and  which  he  now — latter  part  of 

fanuary,  1789 — laid  out,  under  protection  of  soldiers 
rom  Fort  Harmar,  as  a   permanent  settlement  and  by 

lonating  some  of  the  lots  to  incomers,  he  “succeeded 

n   starting  a   respectable  village,”  which  afterwards 
)ecame  noted  as  the  home  and  burial  place  of  William 

ienry  Harrison,  Ohio’s  first  President,  whose  wife 
vas  Anna,  daughter  of  Judge  Symmes.  Symmes 

luring  this  colonization  at  North  Bend  received 

1   delegation  of  Shawnees  led  by  the  Chief  Black  Beard, 

vho,  after  conference  with  the  colonizing  party  and 

fter  partaking  of  their  hospitality  which  included 
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much  “fire  water,”  expressed  himself  as  satisfiec  1 
with  the  peaceable  intentions  of  the  pale  faces  of  the ; 

“ thirteen  fires.” 

But  the  planting  of  the  “City  of  Ohio,”  is  yet  tc 
be  related,  though  it  occured  prior  to  the  settlement^ 

of  North  Bend.  Its  founders  were  Mathias  Denman. 

John  Filson  and  Robert  Patterson,  named  in  the 

inverse  order  of  their  importance  in  this  work.  6   ‘Math- 

ias Denman,”  says  Charles  Theodore  Greve  in  hist 

complete  and  authoritative  “History  of  Cincinnati’1  ; 

(1904),  “was  in  no  sense  a   pioneer,  but  simply  a   specu-  j* 
lator  in  lands  in  the  new  country  and  a   member  ol 

the  Jersey  (Symmes)  Company;  he  never  lived  on 

his  purchase  and  contributed  little  if  anything  to  thel 

life  of  this  community;  after  his  early  visits  to  this 

neighborhood,  he  returned  to  New  Jersey  and  so  far 

as  known  remained  there  until  the  day  of  his  death,  : 

having  sold  (1795)  his  interests  in  that  purchase. 

One  of  the  most  attractive  figures  in  the  period  ol 

which  we  are  writing  is  that  of  John  Filson.  His 

life  and  personality  have  been  set  forth  in  a   volume  , 

written  by  the  distinguished  historical  student  and( 

charming  author,  Colonel  Reuben  T.  Durrett,  president 

of  the  Filson  Club  (Louisville,  Ky.),  which  received  1 

its  name  from  the  subject  in  question.  Filson  was  1 

born,  probably  in  1747,  and  raised  near  Brandywine, 

Pennsylvania.  His  education  was  far  above  the  usual 

in  those  times.  He  delved  in  the  classics,  Latin  and 

Greek,  and  acquired  a   practical  knowledge  of  French. 

He  taught  school  before  and  after  emigrating  to  Ken- 

tucky, whither  he  went  in  1783,  locating  at  Lexington 

and  buying  lands  of  Daniel  Boone.  In  the  midst  of 



ROBERT  PATTERSON 

Born,  1754.  Died,  1827.  One  of  the  promoters  of 
Transylvania  University  (1785),  the  first  college  in  the 
West.  One  of  the  three  founders  of  Cincinnati.  Served 

in  Dunmore’s  War  and  famous  in  subsequent  pioneer 
events  in  Kentucky  and  Ohio.  Distinguished  for  his 
services  in  the  Indian  wars.  One  of  the  first  settlers  at 

Dayton.  Buried  in  Woodland  Cemetery,  Dayton,  Ohio. 
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his  backwoods  life  and  pioneer  hardship,  his  literary 

bent  was  unsuppressed.  He  wrote  a   history  of  the 

I   4 ‘Discovery  and  Settlement  of  Kentucke,  ”   described 

by  Durrett  as  “a  quaint  little  leather-bound  octavo 

of  one  hundred  and  eighteen  pages,”  published  (1784) 
in  Wilmington,  N.  J.  It  was  accompanied  by  a   map, 

“a  masterly  work  produced  more  from  conversations 
with  pioneers  than  from  the  use  of  the  compass  and 

chain.”  An  article  in  the  appendix,  of  thirty-three 

pages,  was  devoted  to  “the  adventures  of  Colonel 

Daniel  Boone,  formerly  a   hunter,  containing  a   narra- 

tive of  the  Wars  of  Kentucke.”  It  was,  says  Durrett, 

,   “a  little  fountain  from  which  have  flowed  so  many 
1   enchanting  streams  of  Indian  conflict  and  pioneer 

adventure  in  this  dark  and  bloody  ground.”  Filson 

was  moreover  a   “verse-maker”  and  upon  occasion 
would  break  into  poetry  of  no  mediocre  quality. 

The  third  of  these  city  founders  was  Robert  Patter- 

1   son,  who,  as  we  learn  from  the  felicitous  pages  of  the 

volume  entitled  “Concerning  the  Forefathers,”  by 
!   Charlotte  Reeve  Conover,  was  a   fearless  pioneer  and 

gallant  soldier  in  the  Indian  wars.  His  daring,  enter- 

'   prise  and  patriotism  propelled  him  through  a   career 
of  remarkable  experiences.  A   native  of  Pennsylvania, 

of  Scotch-Irish  descent,  he  was  at  the  age  of  twenty, 

with  Dunmore  in  the  latter’s  Ohio  campaign,  immedi- 
ately following  which  Patterson  settled  in  Kentucky 

and  made  the  first  clearing  on  the  site  of  Lexington. 

He  appears  with  credit  and  distinction  in  nearly 

every  important  pioneer  event  of  Kentucky  and  Ohio; 

a   sergeant  under  George  Rogers  Clark  in  the  Illinois 

campaign;  with  Bowman  in  the  succeeding  Ohio  raid; 
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with  Clark  in  each  of  his  three  Miami  expeditions 

one  of  the  most  courageous  in  the  siege  of  Bryant’: 
Station  and  the  Battle  of  Blue  Licks;  his  militar)!, 

talent  and  bravery  made  him  captain  and  then  colone 

in  the  Virginia  line  “of  the  finest  set  of  men  tha' 

ever  crossed  the  Ohio.  ”   He  was  one  of  the  thre( 

petitioners  to  the  Virginia  Legislature  for  a   charte: 

for  an  advanced  school  to  be  known  as  the  “Tran 

sylvania  University”  which  was  formally  openec 
in  1785  and  was  the  first  regular  institution  of  learning 

in  the  great  West.  Such  in  cursory  brevity  wa: 

Robert  Patterson  to  the  time  in  question. 

Patterson  and  Filson  had  become  associates  anc 

friends  in  their  life  at  Fort  Lexington.  Both  ambitiou: 

and  adventurous  in  business  opportunities,  they  unitec 

with  Denman  in  the  purpose  of  settling  the  Denmar 

tract,  a   one-third  undivided  interest  in  which  he 

respectively  sold  to  Patterson  and  Filson.  This  com 

tract  of  sale  and  triple  partnership  was  entered  intc 

in  August,  1788. 

The  events  that  followed  have  been  recited  b \ 

innumerable  authors  in  volumes  more  or  less  exhaustive 

and  more  or  less  unreliable.  It  was  on  Septembei 

22,  (1788)  that  a   company  from  Kentucky  led  by 

Patterson  and  Filson  landed  on  the  site  chosen.  Filsor 

began  surveying  the  lines  for  the  streets  of  “Losanti- 

ville, ”   which  singular  name  for  the  new  “city”  he 
had  constructed  from  the  initial  L,  for  Licking,  the 

Latin  os,  meaning  mouth,  the  Greek  anti,  meaning 

opposite  to,  and  the  French  ville ,   meaning  city — the 

combination  literally  interpreted  reading  “the  mouth  i 

opposite  the  city,”  but  supposed  by  the  law  of  reversion  1 
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to  signify  the  ‘   ‘city  opposite  the  mouth  of  the  Licking.  ” 
Much  humor  has  been  provoked  by  this  specimen  of 

polyglot  nomenclature;  for  instance  the  historian 

jMcMaster  cold-bloodily  remarks  that  a   few  weeks 

after  Filson  had  coined  this  name,  Losantiville,  the 

Indians  scalped  him.  It  may  have  been  true,  but  not 

from  the  cause  jocosely  intimated,  for  while  the  survey- 

ing of  the  location  was  yet  in  progress,  Symmes  arrived 

from  Limestone  and  he  with  Filson,  Patterson,  Denman 

and  Ludlow,  engaged  in  a   surveying  expedition  to 

the  region  watered  by  the  Big  Miami.  During  their 

meanderings  in  the  interior,  Filson  separated  himself 

from  his  companions  and  started  back  alone  to  Los- 

antiville. He  disappeared  in  the  woods  and  “was 

never  more  seen.”  Neither  his  remains  nor  any  of 
his  effects  were  ever  found.  His  fate  has  remained 

a   mystery.  Although  many  conjectures  as  to  the 

manner  of  his  decease  have  been  put  forth,  one  author 

— Miller,  in  “Cincinnati’s  Beginnings” — gives  a   detailed 
and  graphic  imaginary  account  of  the  mortal  blow  as 

it  was  struck  by  an  Indian  assailant. 

This  inexplicable  disappearance  of  Filson  seems  to 

have  interrupted  the  proceedings  at  Losantiville. 

The  Denman  party  returned  to  Limestone  where  a 

new  agreement  was  made,  to  which  Ludlow  became 

a   party  in  Filson’s  place.  Denman  returned  to  New 

Jersey,  Patterson  to  Kentucky,  leaving  the  new  settle- 

ment in  the  care  of  Ludlow.  It  was  December  24, 

(1788)  that  the  indomitable  founders  of  the  new  town 

! again  embarked  in  the  rude  keel-boat  at  Limestone 

and  swept  out  on  the  Ohio,  now  obstructed  with  float- 

ing ice.  On  the  26th,  or  a   day  or  two  later,  exact 
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date  in  dispute,  they  landed  at  Losantiville  and  con- 

structed the  first  cabin  with  the  planks  of  the  crude 

boat  in  which  they  had  arrived. 

The  following  summer  (1789)  the  survey  and  site; 

was  protected  by  a   stockade,  a   square  building  of 

logs,  one  hundred  and  eighty  feet  long  and  formed 

in  barracks  two  stories  high.  In  November  of  this 

same  year,  General  Harmar  and  three  hundred  soldiers 

were  moved  from  Fort  Harmar,  which  was  left  in 

charge  of  Major  John  Doughty,  to  the  Losantiville! 

stockade.  On  January  14,  1790,  General  Harmar 

wrote  General  Knox  of  his  (Harmar’s)  arrival  at 
Losantiville,  reported  the  situation  and  said  of  the! 

stockade,  4   This  will  be  one  of  the  most  solid,  substantial 

fortresses  when  finished,  of  any  in  the  Western  Terri- 

tory. It  is  built  of  hewn  timber,  a   perfect  square, 

two  stories  high,  with  four  blockhouses  at  the  angles. 

*   *   *   On  account  of  its  superior  excellence  I   have 

thought  proper  to  honor  it  with  the  name  of  Fort 

Washington.”  For  an  accurate  detailed  account  of 
the  origin  and  history  of  Fort  Washington,  the  reader 

is  referred  to  the  little  volume  bearing  the  title  of 

4   Tort  Washington,”  written  by  Robert  Ralston! 
Jones  of  Cincinnati  and  published  (1902)  by  the  Ohio 

Society  of  Colonial  .Wars.  Shortly  after  its  occupation, 

by  General  Harmar  the  little  town  of  Losantiville; 

was  chosen  by  Governor  St.  Clair  to  be  the  seat  of 

Government  for  the  Northwest  and  he  re-christened 

it  Cincinnati,  in  honor  of  the  Society  of  the  officers 

of  the  Continental  Army,  and  in  January,  1790, 

Governor  St.  Clair,  who  had  arrived  at  Cincinnati, 



JOHN  FILSON 

Born  about  1747,  near  Brandywine,  Pa.  School  teacher 

and  scholar.  Settled  at  Lexington,  Ky.,  1783.  One  of 

the  three  founders  of  the  City  of  Cincinnati.  Author  of 

the  first  history  and  the  first  map  of  Kentucky.  Mysteri- 

ously disappeared  in  the  Miami  country  in  1788.  This 

portrait,  the  only  one  extant,  is  from  a   miniature  in  a   volume 

once  owned  by  Filson  and  now  in  the  possession  of  Colonel 

William  T.  Durrett  of  Lexington,  Ky. 
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there  organized  the  new  county  called  Hamilton, 

which  covered  the  whole  territory  west  of  the  Muskin- 

gum. 
Though  Cincinnati  was  to  become  the  metropolis 

of  the  Ohio,  “the  Losantiville  enterprise,”  says  Mrs. 

Conover,  ‘   ‘was  not  a   fortunate  move  for  Colonel 

Patterson.  ”   He  lived  in  the  fort  for  one  month  only, 
when  he  returned  to  his  family  at  Lexington,  retaining 

his  proprietary  interest  in  the  Cincinnati  site  until 

November,  1794,  when  he  sold  out — to  one  Freeman — 
for  two  thousand  pounds,  Virginia  money,  or  about 

•   tight  dollars  an  acre.  Ten  years  later  Colonel  Patter- 
son and  family  moved  from  Kentucky  to  the  town  of 

Dayton  on  the  Big  Miami.  This  communal  location 

ilso  had  its  touch  of  unrealized  early  romance.  One 

)f  the  first  places  born  of  the  Symmes  Purchase  was 

fiat  for  a   settlement  at  the  advantageous  point — 
fie  mouth  of  Mad  River.  In  June  1789,  as  we  learn 

rom  “Early  Dayton,”  (1896),  by  Robert  and  Mary 
iteele,  a   party  comprising  Benjamin  Stites,  John 

kites  Gano  and  William  Goforth,  had  bargained 

nth  Symmes  for  the  tract  covering  the  location 

lesignated.  This  town,  so  picturesquely  situated 

m   the  two  rivers  was  to  strive  for  greatness  under  the 

lame  of  “Venice,”  and  the  Mad  River  was  to  be 
>:  e-named  the  “Tiber”  and  thus  recall  the  memories 

f   the  seven-hilled  city.  But  this  classic  colored 
:   ream  was  never  realized  for  the  site  was  in  the  heart 

f   the  Indian  country  and  not  till  after  the  Greenville 

treaty  (1795)  did  the  town  called  Dayton  spring 

ito  existence.  It  was  located  on  the  site  of  “Venice” 
y   Generals  Arthur  St:  Clair,  James  Wilkinson, 
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Jonathan  Dayton  and  the  surveyor  Israel  Ludlow, 

which  party,  despite  their  previous  contract  with 

Symmes  for  the  land,  that  proved  not  to  be  his,  were 

compelled  to  make  good  their  title  by  a   further  con- 
veyance to  them  from  the  Government. 

The  transplantation  of  the  Anglo-Saxon  colonists 
from  New  England  to  the  banks  of  the  Muskingum 

in  1788,  as  already  related,  had  a   romantic  and  pathetic 

counterpart,  two  years  later,  in  the  Gallic  settlement 

upon  the  Ohio  nearly  opposite  the  mouth  of  the 
Great  Kanawha.  This  western  center  was  callec 

Gallipolis — city  of  the  Gauls — for  its  people  were 
emigrants  direct  from  France. 

We  have  already  noted  how  through  cooperatior 

with  Colonel  William  Duer — formerly  (1777-8)  mem- 
ber of  the  Continental  Congress,  at  the  time  in  questior 

Secretary  of  the  Board  of  Treasury,  and  who  latei 

(1788-9)  assisted  Hamilton  in  organizing  the  Treasur} 

Department — Manasseh  Cutler  enlarged  his  lane  h 
purchase  as  first  proposed  for  the  Ohio  Company 

The  entire  tract  offered  for  sale,  in  the  resolution  o 

Congress  (July  27,  1787),  was  to  be  ‘   ‘bounded  by  th< 
Ohio,  from  the  mouth  of  the  Scioto  River  to  the  inter 

section  of  the  western  boundary  of  the  seventh  rang< 

of  townships  now  surveying;  thence  by  the  saic 

boundary  to  the  northern  boundary  of  the  tent! 

township  from  the  Ohio;  thence  by  a   due  west  lin 

to  the  Scioto;  thence  by  the  Scioto  to  the  beginning.’ 
There  were  to  be  the  required  reservations  of  townshi] 

lots  for  school  and  religious  purposes  and  “the  futur 

disposition  of  Congress.” 
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On  October  27,  (1787)  Manasseh  Cutler  and  Win- 
:hrop  Sargent  completed  their  dealings  with  the 

Government  Treasury  Board.  Two  distinct  contracts 

vere  entered  into.  One  was  an  absolute  purchase 

>y  Cutler  and  Sargent  ‘   ‘as  agents  of  the  Ohio  Company 

>f  Associates,  ”   of  a   million  and  a   half  acres  of  land 
ying  along  the  Ohio  River,  between  the  seventh 

tnd  seventeenth  ranges  of  townships  and  extending 
lorth  from  the  Ohio  until  a   line  drawn  due  west 

rom  the  seventh  to  the  seventeenth  range,  which 

:   ogether  with  the  reservations  mentioned  in  the 

ontract,  should  include  the  entire  amount  of  acres 

equired.  The  consideration  was  one  million  dollars 

1   public  securities;  one  half  to  be  paid  on  signing  the 

ontract;  the  remainder  in  one  month  after  the  exterior 

nnes  of  the  tract  had  been  surveyed.  No  title  was 

0   pass  to  the  Ohio  Company  until  all  payments 

rere  made,  though  occupation  of  a   portion  previous 

p   payment  was  permitted.  On  the  same  day — named 

bove — the  Board  of  Treasury  made  a   second  contract 

ith  Cutler  and  Sargent  for  ‘Themselves  and  as- 
sociates” for  the  sale  to  the  latter  of  the  remainder 

If  the  tract  described  in  the  Congressional  resolution 

:   sale.  This  second  contract,  therefore,  embraced 

1   the  lands — outside  of  the  Ohio  Company  purchase 

-lying  between  the  Ohio  and  Scioto  rivers  and  the 
estern  boundary  line  of  the  seventeenth  range  (not 

it  surveyed)  of  townships,  extending  north  to  the  tenth 

wnship  from  the  Ohio;  also  the  tract  of  land  west 

the  seventeenth  range  of  townships  south  of  the 

nth  township  from  the  Ohio  River,  and  north  of 

e   Ohio  Company’s  purchase.  The /   ‘Scioto  Tract,” 



484  THE  RISE  AND  PROGRES! 

destined  to  become  historic,  therefore  lay  betweei  i 

the  Scioto  River  and  the  western  boundary  of  th« 

seventeenth  range  of  townships.  It  was  suppose<  < 

that  this  western  (17th  range)  boundary  line  woulc 

strike  the  Ohio  River  at  a   point  opposite  the  mout 

of  the  Great  Kanawha.  Under  the  actual  surve;fi 

it  fell  much  farther  west.  This  led  to  serious  compli 
cations  as  we  shall  see.  The  land  in  the  second  o   I 

Scioto  contract  was  sold  by  Congress  at  the  rate  cl 

two-thirds  of  a   dollar  per  acre  in  public  securities! 

payment  to  be  made  in  six  annual  installments,  th 

first  falling  due  six  months  after  the  exterior  lines  cm 

the  tract  had  been  surveyed.  This  second  contract 

was  really  merely  an  4 ‘option”  or  “preemption! 
of  purchase.  No  money  was  paid  down.  Simul 

taneously  with  the  execution  of  the  Scioto  traci 

contract  with  the  Board  of  Treasury,  Cutler  an* 

Sargent  conveyed  to  William  Duer  a   one-half  interesi 
in  it  and  gave  the  latter  full  power  to  negotiate  a   sal 

of  the  lands  in  Europe  or  elsewhere.  Both  vendor 

and  vendees  were  equally  to  share  in  the  profits  c 

losses  resulting  from  the  disposal  of  the  lands.  Follow 

ing  the  agreement  made  with  Duer,  Cutler  and  Sargen 

transferred  some  three-fourths  of  their  (one  hali 

retained  interest  in  the  tract,  in  about  equal  propoi 

tions  to  Rufus  Putnam,  Benjamin  Tupper,  Samut 

H.  Parsons,  Richard  Platt,  Royal  Flint  and  Jo( 

Barlow.  These  latter  purchasers  then  made  sub-sale 
to  various  parties,  many  of  whose  names  were  nc 

made  public. 

The  enterprise  of  these  gentlemen  was  known  a   i 

the  Scioto  Land  Company  and  “it  is  probable  tha 



JOEL  BARLOW 

“Poet  and  patriot  of  the  Revolution.”  Served  under 
Washington  in  the  American  Revolution.  Attained  fame 

through  his  poetical  productions.  Was  chosen  by  the 

Scioto  Company  to  act  as  its  foreign  agent  in  Paris,  when 
he  arrived  in  June,  1788.  His  efforts  in  Paris  met  with 
disastrous  results. 

GALLIPOLIS  AS  FIRST  BUILT 

The  log  houses  and  capital  square  as  erected  in  1790  by 

Major  John  Burnham  for  the  reception  of  the  Gallipolis 

immigrants.  Members  of  the  French  Five  Hundred  ar- 
rived at  the  town  on  October  17,  1790.  It  is  the  site 

of  the  present  city  of  Gallipolis. 
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first  falling  due  six  months  after  the  exterior  line 

the  tract  had  been  surveyed.  This  second  coni  * 

was  really  merely  an  ‘ ‘option”  or  “preempt;*, 
of  purchase.  No  money  was  paid  down.  Sift 

taneously  with  the  execution  of  the  Scioto  t   r 

contract  with  the  Board  of  Treasury,  Cutler 

Sargent  conveyed  to  William  Duer  a   one-half  inta 

in  it  and  gave  the  latter  full  power  to  negotiate  a   4 

of  the  lands  in  Europe  or  elsewhere.  Both  vei*4| 

and  vendees  were  equally  to  share  in  the  profit 

losses  resuiiK^  from  the  disposal  of  the  lands.  Fe 

ingtlu  »   :   i   um  made  with  Duer,  Cutler  and  S,u 

transferred  some  three-fourths  of  their  (one 

retained  interest  in  the  tract,  in  about  equal  pi 

tions  to  Rufus  Putnam,  Benjamin  Tupper,  S, 

H.  Parsons,  Richard  Platt,  Royal  Flint  and 

Barlow.  These  latter  purchasers  then  made  sub 

to  various  parties,  many  of  whose  names  wen 

made  public. 

The  enterprise  of  these  gentlemen  was  kner 

the  Scioto  Land  Company  and  “it  is  probably 
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this  company  was  not  formally  organized  in  America, 

but  that  the  basis  of  its  operations  was  a   secret  agree- 

ment among  its  principals,”  says  Theodore  T.  Belote 
in  his  scholarly  monograph  (1907)  on  this  subject, 

a   study  founded  mainly  upon  the  collection  of  original 

documents  embraced  in  the  “Gallipolis  Papers”  now 

in  the  possession  of  the  Ohio  Philosophical  and  His- 

torical Society  of  Cincinnati.  It  was  expected  by 

these  gentlemen  that  they  could  make  immediate 

and  profitable  sale  of  these  Scioto  lands,  or  rather 

}f  their  right  of  preemption  in  the  lands,  in  Holland 

md  France,  for  in  both  those  countries  large  amounts 

)f  the  United  States  securities  were  held;  securities 

;hen  about  worthless,  and  which  it  was  believed  the 

oreign  holders  would  gladly  exchange  for  the  fertile 

ands  in  the  Ohio  country.  As  the  Scioto  Company 

;   :ould  thus  obtain  these  securities  at  a   greatly  depre- 

:   dated  value  and  pay  them  to  the  Government  at  par 

or  the  lands  in  question  there  appeared  to  be  quick 

ales  and  large  profits  in  the  project. 

At  the  suggestion  of  Cutler,  the  appointment  for 

he  foreign  agency  fell  upon  Joel  Barlow,  “a  poet  and 

>atriot  of  the  Revolution,”  who  had  fought  under 
1   Washington  and  had  attained  literary  fame,  through 

us  poetical  productions,  especially  4 ‘The  Vision  of 

Columbus,”  and  “he  was  somewhat  known  abroad.” 

le  is  described  as  “a  man  of  mediocre  ability,  but 

rustworthy.”  Barlow,  with  powers  of  attorney  from 

)uer,  and  with  letters  of  introduction  and  “a  number 
f   documents  intended  to  impress  those  with  whom 

e   came  in  contact,”  arrived  in  Paris  in  June,  1788, 
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just  as  the  rumblings  of  the  approaching  FrencI 

revolution  were  beginning  to  reverberate  througl 
the  land. 

But  Barlow  had  been  given  “more  to  do  than  he 

alone  was  capable  of,”  and  he  proved  to  be  unequa 
in  shrewdness  and  boldness,  to  the  stupendous  under- 

taking. For  ten  months  he  labored  only  to  find  him 

self,  4   ‘out  his  time,  his  trouble  and  five  hundred  pound; 

sterling,”  and  no  lands  worth  mentioning  having 
been  sold.  When  about  to  give  up  and  return  tc 

America,  Barlow  “fell  in  with”  one  William  Playfair 
an  Englishman,  unscrupulous,  venturesome  and  wel 

versed  in  the  customs  of  Paris  and  the  French  language 

Barlow  accepted  the  services  of  Playfair  and  jointly 

in  the  summer  of  1789,  they  organized  the  Compagnit 

du  Scioto,  of  Paris.  Among  the  members  of  thi 

Company  were  many  distinguished  Parisians;  Marquif 

Gouy  D’Arsy,  lieutenant-general  and  member  of  the 
National  Assembly;  Jean  Francois  Noel  Maheas 

comptroller  of  the  royal  pay  office;  Messieurs  Louif 

Marthe,  Claude  Odille  Joseph  Barond,  Guillaum( 

Louis  Joseph,  Antoine  St.  Didier,  prominent  Pari* 

merchants;  Chevalier  de  Coquelin  and  the  Messieun 

Jean  Antoine  Chais  de  Soisson,  the  Englishman 

Playfair,  and  the  American,  Barlow.  We  cannol 

go  into  the  numerous  and  devious  details  of  the 

subsequent  proceedings.  These  will  be  found  in  the 

monograph  of  Belote  and  the  publications  of  the  Ohic 

State  Archaeological  and  Historical  Society. 

To  this  Compagnie  du  Scioto,  Barlow,  by  his  powei 

of  attorney,  contracted  to  transfer  the  rights  of  hh 

principals  to  the  Scioto  tract,  save  that  part  directly 
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in  shrewdness  and  boldness,  to  the  stupendous  unde 
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self,  “out  his  time,  his  trouble  and  five  hundred  poun 

sterling,”  and  no  lands  worth  mentioning  havi 

been  sold.  When  about  to  give  up  and  return 

America,  Barlow  “fell  in  with”  one  William  Playfa 

an  Englishman,  unscrupulous,  venturesome  and  w 

versed  in  the  customs  of  Paris  and  the  French  langua  - 

Barlow  accepted  the  services  of  Playfair  and  joint 

in  the  summer  of  1789,  they  organized  the  Compay 

du  Scioto,  of  Paris.  Among  the  members  of  K 
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Gouy  D’Arsy,  lieutenant-general  and  member  of 

National  Assembly;  Jean  Francois  Noel  Mahes 

comptroller  of  the  royal  pay  office;  Messieurs 
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Jean  Antoine  Chais  de  Soisson,  the  English 

Playfair,  and  the  American,  Barlow.  We  ca  .
* 

go  into  the  numerous  and  devious  details  ot 

subsequent  proceedings.  These  will  be  found  in  4
 

monograph  of  Belote  and  the  publications  of  th< 

State  Archaeological  and  Historical  Society. 
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north  of  the  Ohio  Company’s  purchase,  unless  some 
portion  of  the  latter  might  be  needed  to  complete  the 

full  amount  of  three  million  acres.  The  price  was 

six  livres  tournois — one  dollar  and  twenty  cents — 
per  acre.  Payments  were  to  be  made  in  installments, 

commencing  December  31,  1789,  and  ending  April 

30,  1794.  In  making  this  contract  Barlow  exhibited 

his  powers  of  attorney,  etc.,  thus  fully  apprising  his 

French  associates  of  his  exact  authority,  viz,  that 

he  held  power  of  attorney  from  William  Duer,  to  which 

was  attached  a   certified  copy  of  the  contract  of  Cutler 

and  Sargent  with  the  Board  of  Treasury  and  their 

assignment  and  power  to  William  Duer.  In  all  these 

papers  the  lands  were  recognized  as  held  only  by 

right  of  preemption.  Throughout  this  transaction 

therefore  Barlow  exercised  no  deception.  The  French 

Society  appointed  as  its  attorneys  to  sell  the  Scioto 

lands,  Playfair,  Barlow  and  Soisson,  and  delegated  to 

them  “powers  to  resell  all  or  part  of  3,000,000  acres  at 

the  best  price,  terms,”  etc.  Playfair  was  given  the  office 

of  keeping  a   register  of  control  over  the  company’s 
funds,  which  resulting  from  the  sales  were  to  be  de- 

posited with  M.  Saline,  a   Paris  banker.  Belote 

remarks  the  whole  scheme  of  the  formation  of  the 

French  Company  was  largely  a   “paper  proceeding.” 
As  a   matter  of  fact  the  original  principals  remained 

the  same  and  the  Paris  company  was  but  a   “blind 

to  deceive  the  public.”  Duer  still  retained  charge 
:>f  the  preemption;  Cutler  and  Sargent  looked  on  as 

‘silent  partners”;  while  Barlow  and  Playfair  planned 
to  throw  the  lands  upon  the  French  market. 
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The  French  Company  now  proceeded  to  do  business. 

A   land  office  was  opened  at  Paris  and  the  3,000,000 

acres  offered  at  a   French  crown  per  acre.  Plats 

and  maps,  the  latter  highly  colored,  were  exhibited, 

representing  the  country  on  the  Ohio  and  the  Scioto.: 

On  the  plan  of  the  tract,  a   town,  called  Gallipolis  m 

was  designated  nearly  opposite  the  mouth  of  the: 

Great  Kanawha.  Nor  was  the  feature  of  an  alluring 

prospectus  omitted.  The  main  document  holding 

forth,  in  glowing  terms,  the  natural  resources  of  the 

Scioto  El  Dorado,  though  published  anonymously,1 
was  attributed  to  Manasseh  Cutler  and  first  printed 

in  English  in  Salem,  Mass.,  under  date  of  1787.  The 

French  edition  was  issued  in  Paris  in  1789,  under  the 

title,  Prospectus  pour  F   establissment  sur  les  rivieres  \ 

cFOhio  et  de  Scioto  en  Amerique.  The  fluent  extrav- 
agance and  unconscious  humor  of  this  advertisement 

merit  full  reproduction,  but  space  forbids.  No  real 

estate  prospectus  ever  surpassed  it  in  plausible  in- 
ducements. After  describing  the  situation  of  the 

lands  of  the  Scioto,  they  and  the  surrounding  country 

are  painted  with  the  brush  of  a   landscape  artist; 

the  rivers,  hills,  valleys  and  plains  constitute  a   veritable 

Arcadia:  “The  Scioto  has  a   gentle  current,  which 
is  interrupted  by  no  cataracts  and  for  an  extent  of 

two  hundred  miles  large  vessels  can  navigate  it.  Some 

times  in  the  spring  it  overflows  its  banks,  which  are 

covered  by  vast  fields  of  rice,  which  nature  here 

produces  spontaneously ;   for  the  rest,  we  find  in 

abundance  in  the  country  which  borders  upon  this 

river,  salt  springs,  coal  mines,  deposits  of  white  and 

blue  clay  and  free  stone.”  The  prospectus  proceeds 
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to  say  that  geographers,  surveyors  and  travellers 

all  agree  that  no  part  of  the  United  States  offers  so 

many  advantages  as  the  Scioto  Valley,  ‘   ‘whether 

of  salubrity,  fertility  or  variety  of  productions.” 

On  the  “plains”  of  this  country  “one  can  cultivate 
an  acre  of  land  per  day  and  prepare  it  for  the  plow; 

there  is  no  undergrowth  on  them  and  the  trees  which 

grow  very  high  and  become  very  large  only  need  to 

be  deprived  of  their  bark  in  order  to  become  fit  for  use.  ” 
All  kinds  of  timber  grow  abundantly;  the  sugar-maple 

“   furnishes  enough  sugar  for  the  use  of  a   large  number 

of  people;”  one  maple  will  produce  three  ten  pounds 

of  sugar  per  year,  “the  sap  flows  freely  and  becomes 
crystallized  after  being  boiled,  and  the  sugar  is  equal 
in  flavor  and  whiteness  to  the  best  Muscavado.  On 

the  hills  and  plains  quantities  of  grapes  grow  wild, 

from  which  a   wine  may  be  made,  preferable  to  the 

many  wines  of  Europe.”  *   *   *   “There  is  very  little 

bad  land  in  this  territory  and  no  marsh;”  *   *   *   “the 
labor  of  the  agriculturist  will  here  be  rewarded  by 

productions  as  useful  as  and  more  varied  than  in  any 

part  of  America;”  *   *   *   “in  all  parts  the  soil  is  deep, 
rich,  producing  in  abundance  wheat,  rye,  corn,  buck- 

wheat, barley,  oats,  flax,  hemp,  tobacco,  indigo, 

:he  tree  that  furnishes  food  for  the  silk  worm,  the 

grape-vine,  cotton;”  *   *   *   “the  tobacco  is  superior 

:o  that  of  Virginia;”  *   *   *   “the  crops  of  wheat 
more  abundant  than  in  any  other  part  of  America; 

:he  ordinary  crop  of  corn  is  sixty  to  eighty  English 

oushels  per  acre;”  *   *   *   “hops  are  produced  spon- 
taneously in  this  territory  and  there  are  also  the  same 

beaches,  plums,  pears,  melons,  etc.  There  is  no 
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country  more  abounding  in  game  than  this;  the  stag, 

fallow  deer,  elk,  buffalo  and  bear  fill  the  woods  and 

are  nourished  on  these  great  and  beautiful  plains; 

wild  turkeys,  geese,  ducks,  swans,  teal,  pheasants, 

partridges,  and  so  forth  are  found  in  greater  abundance 
than  our  domestic  fowls  in  all  the  older  settlements 

of  America;  hogs  would  be  so  productive  here  on 

uncultivated  lands,  that  if  a   start  were  made  with 

three  thousand  sows,  the  company  might  export 

thirty  thousand  barrels  of  pork  the  first  season;  the 
rivers  are  well  stocked  with  fish  of  different  kinds 

and  several  are  of  an  exquisite  quality;  they  are 

large,  the  catfish  weighs  from  twenty  to  eighty  pounds 

*   *   *   “when  inhabitants  come  here  from  all  parts 
of  the  world,  nature  will  have  provided  for  them, 

at  least  for  one  year,  all  they  need,  without  the  neces-l 

sity  of  making  any  purchases.  ” 
The  prospectus  filling  many  pages,  quotes  copiously 

from  the  accounts  of  travellers  as  to  the  commercial 

opportunities,  the  lumber  for  ship  building,  the  prod- 
ucts of  the  mines,  the  river  facilities  for  shipping 

and  travel,  the  accessibility  of  eastern  sea-water  ports, 
the  river  routes  to  the  south,  etc.  This  Scioto  land 

was  moreover  to  be  the  center  of  a   great  population 

and  industrial  enterprise;  the  United  States  Govern- 

ment would  probably  “establish  itself  [Capital]  upon 

the  banks  of  the  Ohio,”  for  “this  country  is  at  the 
center  of  the  whole  nation;  is  a   place  the  most  con- 

venient for  all,  the  most  agreeable  and  probably  the 

most  healthy.”  Thomas  Hutchins,  geographer  of 

the  United  States,  with  his  signature,  “certified” 

that  the  “facts”  contained  in  this  circular  “concerning 
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the  fertility  of  the  soil,  abundant  productions  and 

other  advantages  for  the  husbandman,  are  true  and 

reliable,  and  that  they  correspond  perfectly  with 

the  observations  I   have  made  during  the  years  which 

I   have  spent  in  that  country.” 
Amid  the  bloody  and  terrific  turmoil  of  the  French 

Revolution  the  sales  of  this  very  much  “promised” 
land  were  inaugurated.  It  was  a   propitious  time. 

The  Parisians,  rich  and  poor,  eagerly  sought  the  op- 
portunity to  flee  a   country  torn  with  the  dangers  of  an 

impending  overthrow.  New  and  quiet  homes  with 

rare  advantages  in  the  land  where  liberty,  equality 

and  fraternity  were  already  established,  beckoned 

them  on.  American  land  speculation  became  quite 

the  rage.  Volney,  author  of  the  “Ruins  of  Empires” 
and  the  celebrated  literateur  of  that  period,  said, 

“nothing  was  talked  of  in  every  circle  but  the  paradise 
that  was  opened  for  Frenchmen  in  the  western  wilder- 

ness, and  the  free  and  happy  life  to  be  led  on  the 

blissful  banks  of  the  Scioto.  ”   The  offices  of  the 
Scioto  Company  in  Paris  were  crowded  by  eager 

purchasers,  mostly  artisans  of  skilled  vocations,  totally 

incapacitated  for  the  backwoods  life  in  the  American 

interior,  who  received,  in  return  for  their  money, 

worthless  documents  purporting  to  be  deeds  issued 

by  Playfair  and  Soisson.  For  neither  they  nor  any 

one  else — save  Congress — had  title  in  the  lands  to  sell 
or  transfer. 

The  Parisians  were  being  treated,  on  a   small  scale, 

to  another  Mississippi  scheme.  Playfair  was  the 

John  Law  of  the  latest  American  Bubble,  for  he 

and  Soisson  seem  to  have  taken  charge  of  affairs, 



492 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

they  making  out  and  signing  the  “deeds”  and  receiving 
the  money,  while  Barlow  remained  an  inactive  if 

not  silent  spectator.  On  the  last  of  December  (1789) 

he  wrote  Colonel  Duer  “everything  is  progressing! 

well,”  that  he  soon  expected  to  make  the  first  payment 
so  that  Colonel  Duer  could  pay  Congress  when  the 

first  payment  for  the  Scioto  lands  became  due;  “don’t  j 

fail,”  he  said,  “to  put  the  people  in  possession  of 

their  lands.”  By  the  middle  of  February  (1790) 
over  100,000  acres  had  been  sold  and  several  hundred 

emigrants  had  started  for  their  American  homes. 

But  the  clouds  began  to  gather  and  the  storm  was 

soon  to  break.  In  early  spring  of  1790  French  furor 

for  investments  in  Scioto  lots  suddenly  subsided. 

The  Parisians  began  to  distrust  the  French  Company 

and  its  schemes.  Belote  states  “caricatures  of  crowds 

struggling  frenziedly  for  the  privilege  of  buying  rocky 

deserts  and  imaginray  acres  on  the  Scioto  began  to  l 

be  exhibited  in  the  shops  of  Paris,  and  pamphlets 

and  newspaper  articles  appeared  denouncing  the 

Scioto  Associates  as  swindlers  of  the  worst  sort.”  I 

Sales  of  land  ceased  and  the  Paris  offices  of  the  company 

were  even  threatened  with  assaults.  No  money  came 

into  Barlow’s  hands  by  which  he  could  pay  Duer  and 

his  partners  so  they  in  turn  could  meet  their  obli- 

gations to  Congress.  Moreover  it  became  known 

that  the  survey  of  the  tracts  allotted  respectively  to 

the  Ohio  and  Scioto  companies  would  locate  the  western 

boundary  of  the  seventeenth  range  some  distance 

west  of  the  mouth  of  the  Great  Kanawha  instead  of 

at  the  mouth  of  that  river  as  was  at  first  supposed. 

This  would  throw  the  site  of  Gallipolis — lots  for  which 
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Barlow  had  sold  the  Parisians — within  the  limits 

of  the  Ohio  Company’s  purchase  and  not  within  the 
tract  of  the  Scioto  Company. 

Meanwhile  in  order  to  carry  out  in  good  faith  their 

contract  with  the  French  Company,  the  American 

Scioto  Associates,  agreed  with  Colonel  Duer  to  form 

a   trust  to  secure  to  each  one  interested  his  proper 

share  of  the  profit  and  to  aid  Colonel  Duer  in  managing 

the  conduct  of  the  sale.  Royal  Flint  and  Andrew 

Craigie  were  named  as  co-trustees  with  Colonel  Duer, 

who  was  to  act  as  “superintendent  of  the  concerns 

of  the  proprietors,”  and  in  view  of  the  expected  French 
settlement  at  the  mouth  of  the  Kanawha  and  in 

preparation  for  the  arrival  of  the  emigrants,  Barlow 

had  written  Duer  (December,  1789)  that  huts  must  be 

built  on  the  site  named.  The  matter  was  placed 

in  charge  of  Rufus  Putnam,  who  as  agent  for  the 

trustees  of  the  Scioto  Associates  (American)  employed 

Major  John  Burnham  and  a   company  of  forty  young 

men,  expert  woodmen,  to  erect  said  cabins.  In  the 

spring  of  1790  this  party  reached  the  spot  designated 

opposite  the  Kanawha  mouth,  but  finding  the  land 

low  and  liable  to  overflow,  Major  Burnham  moved 

his  workmen  to  a   point  some  four  miles  below,  near 

the  mouth  of  Chickamauga  Creek,  “where  the  high 

banks  could  well  withstand  the  rising  waters.”  Here 
the  town  was  laid  out  and  the  rude  buildings  put  up. 

But  this  was  on  the  land  of  the  Ohio  Company,  which 

was  having  troubles  of  its  own,  being  unable  to  meet 

its  obligation  with  Congress.  So  confusion  was  to 

become  worse  confounded.  All  the  while  Barlow, 

in  Paris,  was  making  a   desperate  struggle  to  rescue  his 
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project  from  utter  ruin.  The  Compagnie  du  Scioto 

was  declared  dissolved  and  a   new  French  company 

was  formed.  Its  main  leaders  were  Francois  M.  J. 

de  Barth  and  his  father,  the  Count  de  Barth,  at 

that  time  in  America,  Marc  Anthony  Coquet,  Louis 

Phillipe  Douvalette  and  the  irrepressible  William 

Playfair,  “who  was  a   genius  for  rascality.”  It,  too, 

was  formally  known  as  the  ‘ ‘Company  of  the  Scioto,” 
but  from  the  name  of  its  principals  it  was  generally 

called  the  “De  Barth-Coquet  Company.”  To  this 
company,  Barlow  made  a   new  sale  of  his  preemption. 

This  was  without  the  acquiescence  of  Duer  and  the 

Scioto  Associates  in  America,  who  on  learning  of  the 
new  deal  of  Barlow  denounced  him  and  sent  Colonel 

Benjamin  Walker  to  Paris  to  examine  affairs  and  if 

possible  untangle  the  complications.  Walker  arrived 

in  Paris  in  December  (1790)  and  upon  investigation 

he  abandoned  all  hope  of  extricating  the  Scioto  Com- 

pany from  utter  failure,  exonerated  Barlow  from  any 

intentional  wrong  doing,  and  warned  the  French 

public  by  advertisements  not  to  buy  lands  from 

Playfair,  who  meantime  had  disappeared.  Such  was 

the  end  of  the  Scioto  speculation  in  France.  4   ‘Barlow,” 

says  Belote,  “seems  to  have  taken  no  further  part 

in  the  affair  after  the  arrival  in  Paris  of  Walker.” 

It  was  a   disastrous  venture  for  many  concerned. 

Colonel  Duer  failed  in  the  spring  of  1792  and  was 

imprisoned  for  debt.  Royal  Flint,  Andrew  Craigie 

and  Colonel  Platt  also  went  down  in  the  financial 

depression  that  prevailed  in  the  United  States  at  that 

time.  General  Rufus  Putnam  was  a   heavy  loser 
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in  the  Scioto  project,  the  crisis  of  which  affected, 

in  no  small  degree,  the  credit  and  success  of  the  Ohio 

Company. 

And  now  we  follow  the  fate  of  the  French  emigrants 

who,  with  worthless  deeds  in  their  pockets,  and  all 

their  earthly  possessions  as  baggage,  had  set  sail  in 

February,  1790,  from  Havre  de  Grace,  and  one  or  two 

other  ports,  for  their  western  investments.  They 

numbered  in  all  some  six  hundred,  and  five  ships  had 

been  chartered  to  take  them  to  their  American  desti- 

nation. “Behind  them,  ”   says  Colonel  John  L.  Vance, 

in  his  address  at  the  Gallipolis  Centennial,  “was 
stormy  France,  its  peace,  that  was,  having  been  swept 

from  it,  with  little  hope  of  its  return  in  the  near  future; 

about  them  the  stormy  waves  of  old  ocean  threatening 

!   to  engulf  them,  and  thus  violently  end  their  new- 

born hopes.  Before  them — what?”  This  French  mi- 
;   gration  was  composed  mainly  of  the  upper  middle 

class,  the  professions,  lawyers,  doctors  and  at  least 

one  priest,  skilled  artisans,  artists,  wood  carvers  and 

gilders,  some  of  them  “to  his  Majesty,”  coach  makers, 
watch  and  clock  makers,  shoe  and  hat  makers,  tailors, 

milliners,  hair  dressers,  wig  makers,  dancing  masters, 

confectioners,  valets,  bartenders,  shopkeepers  and 

clerks.  Almost  every  variety  of  skilled  vocations  was 

.   represented  except  those  fitted  for  the  transforming 

of  a   wilderness  into  the  abode  of  civilization.  Scarcely 

a   dozen  common  laborers  were  in  the  number  though 

I   there  was  one  penniless  and  illiterate  stowaway, 

Francis  Valodin,  who,  however,  “by  adroitness  and 
untiring  industry  accumulated  wealth,  finally  becoming 

the  richest  man”  of  the  colony.  There  were  no  out- 
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laws  or  felons  among  them,  and  the  majority  both 

women  and  men,  “were  possessed  of  fine  education 

and  courtly  manners.  ”   The  aristocracy,  titled  and 
rich  was  well  represented  by  such  as  the  Marquis 

Francis  D’Hebecourt,  the  Count  Marlatie,  the  Count 
de  Barth,  the  Marquis  Marnesia  and  members  of  the  so- 

called  “Company  of  the  Twenty-Four,”  an  association 

of  French  “gentlemen,”  each  one  of  whom  “agreed  to 
purchase  from  the  Scioto  Company  one  thousand 

acres  of  land  and  to  provide  four  laborers  whom  he  was 

to  employ  in  cultivating  the  land  in  America.  ” 
William  G.  Sibley  in  his  interesting  history  of  the 

“French  Five  Hundred”  is  authority  for  the  statement 

that  (Marquis)  Francis  D’Hebecourt  was  the  military 
school-mate  and  friend  of  Napoleon  and  after  their 

graduation,  “the  story  runs,”  the  two  decided  to 

found  an  empire  in  America.  D’Hebecourt,  as  just 

noted,  emigrated  with  the  colonists  “but  Napoleon 

was  persuaded  by  his  family  to  remain  in  Europe.” 
A   pretty  bit  of  historical  gossip.  Another  item  by 

Sibley,  this  one  “a  noteworthy  fact,”  is  to  the  effect 
that  Gallipolis,  at  the  time  of  its  settlement,  was 

seriously  considered,  at  Rome,  as  the  seat  of  the  Roman 

Catholic  Episcopal  authority  for  America,  outranking 

both  Baltimore  and  Philadelphia,  in  the  estimation 

of  Pope  Pius  VI  and  his  advisers,  as  a   suitable  locality 

for  so  great  an  ecclesiastical  dignity,  and  the  Abbe 

Boisnautier,  a   canon  of  St.  Deny’s  in  Paris,  was 
actually  appointed  Bishop  of  Gallipolis,  but  these 

plans  of  the  papal  government  were  abandoned 

soon  after,  probably  because  of  the  collapse  of  the 

French  Scioto  Company. 



CINCINNATI  IN  1800 

.   Sketch  made  from  an  old  print,  showing  the  settlement 

of  Cincinnati  as  it  appeared  in  the  year  1800.  Most  of 
the  houses  at  that  date  were  made  of  logs  or  of  lumber, 

in  the  latter  case  brought  down  the  Ohio  River. 



496 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRi  * 

laws  or  felons  among  them,  and  the  majority  b ot. 

womni  and  meicpsi  of  fine  educate 

eotwlbl^e  siingfli«3cfites,ianq  EKh&  iaflfifc ttearafa^Sti 1 1   ed 

rich'  fc  4^^yeff8V5^lfeffe&1Wf  ; Francis  D   Co 

de  Barth,  the  Marquis  Marnesia  and  members  of  the  v 

called  “Company  of  the  Twenty-Four,  ”   an  associat  e 

of  French  “gentlemen,”  each  one  of  whom  “agreed 
purchase  from  the  Scioto  Company  one  thousa. 

acres  of  land  and  to  provide  four  laborers  whom  he  vi 

to  employ  in  cultivating  the  land  in  America.” 
William  G.  Sibley  in  his  interesting  history  of  * 

“French  Five  Hundred”  is  authority  for  the  stateme 

that  (Marquis)  Francis  D’Hebecourt  was  the  milita 
school-mate  and  friend  of  Napoleon  and  after  thr 

graduation,  “the  story  runs,”  the  two  decided 

found  an  empire  in  America.  D’Hebecourt,  as  jw 

noted,  emigrated  with  the  colonists,  “but  NapoF 
was  persuaded  by  his  family  to  remain  in  Europe 

A   pretty  hir  of  historical  gossip.  Another  item 

Sibley,  this  one  “a  noteworthy  fact,”  is  to  the  etfe 
tf  at  Gallipolis,  at  the  time  of  its  settlement,  m. 

i sly  considered,  at  Rome,  as  the  seat  of  the  Ron; 

Catholic  1   piscopal  authority  for  America,  outrank 

both  Baihr.-iore  and  Philadelphia,  in  the  estimate 
of  Pope  Pius  VI  and  his  advisers,  as  a   suitable  locu 

for  so  great  an  ecclesiastical  dignity,  and  the  Ai 

Boisnautier,  a   canon  of  St.  Deny’s  in  Paris, 

actually  appointed  Bishop  of  Gallipolis,  but  iM 
plans  of  the  papal  government  were  aban 

soon  after,  probably  because  of  the  collapse  of 

French  Scioto  Company. 







OF  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 
497 

After  from  two  to  three  months  of  monotonous  and 

tempestuous  tossing  upon  the  waves  of  the  sea,  the 

five  ships  straggled,  one  after  another,  into  the  port 

of  Alexandria,  Virginia,  the  first  arriving  in  May  (1790). 

The  troubles  of  the  new  arrivals  began  upon  their  disem- 

barkation for  there  were  no  agents  to  meet  them  and 

no  provisions  at  hand  for  the  continuation  of  their 

journey.  Their  chief  greeting  was  the  rumor  that 

their  titles  to  the  Ohio  estates  they  were  seeking,  were 

null  and  void.  At  great  expense  and  discomfort  they 

were  delayed  for  weeks  at  Alexandria  and  the  mirage 

of  that  promised  paradise  in  America  began  to  be  a 

dissolving  view.  Finally  representatives  of  the  Scioto 

Associates  piloted  them  in  “   clumsy  conveyances  that 

jarred  and  jolted  over  the  primitive  roads”  to  Pitts- 
burg, whence  they  were  provided  with  flatboat  river 

passage  to  the  site  of  the  “City  of  Gauls,”  on  the  high 
banks  of  that  sweeping  stream  their  countrymen  had 

discovered  centuries  before  and  had  named,  because 

of  its  beauty,  La  Belle  Riviere. 

It  was  not  until  Sunday,  October  17  (1790),  more 

i   than  eight  months  after  their  departure  from  France, 

that  the  first  boat  load  of  the  French  Five  Hundred, 

scrambled  ashore  to  their  rude  dwellings  in  the  “rec- 

Itangular  clearing.  ”   The  families  were  assigned  cabins which  they  must  have  entered  with  mingled  feelings  of 

amazement  and  dejection.  What  a   contrast  were 

these  poverty  and  hardship  suggesting  log  structures 

to  the  social  drawing  rooms  and  literary  salons  of  the 

brilliant  and  artistic  Paris.  The  “city”  that  welcomed 

them  comprised  eighty  log  cabins,  twenty  in  a   row 

forming  a   public  square,  at  each  of  the  corners  of  which 
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were  blockhouses  two  stories  in  height.  In  front  of 

the  cabins,  close  by  the  river,  was  a   small  log  breast- 
work. Above  the  cabins  on  the  square  were  two  other 

parallel  rows  of  cabins,  which  with  high  stockade  fence 

and  blockhouses  at  each  of  the  upper  corners  formed 

a   sufficient  fortification  in  times  of  danger.  The  cabins 

were  mostly  a   story  and  a   half  high,  with  puncheon 

slab  floors,  the  doors  were  hung  on  wooden  hinges 

and  the  chimneys  were  of  dried  clay,  held  in  place  by 

split  timbers. 

Within  these  primeval  abodes  the  newcomers  were 

to  revel  in  that  Elysian  life,  the  prospectus  of  the  j 

Scioto  Company  had  foretold,  while  the  land  adjacent 

was  to  provide  almost  spontaneously  for  their  necessi- 
ties as  free  from  all  effort  on  their  part,  as  vrere  the 

children  of  Israel  when  fed  by  the  falling  manna. 

Back  of  the  clearing,  dotted  with  its  huts,  was  the 

expanse  of  the  “lofty  trees  of  the  virgin  forest,  mute 

and  impressive  sentinels  of  unviolated  creation.”  But 
as  one  writer  notes,  the  French  are  nothing  if  not  cheer- 

ful and  gay.  The  first  evening  of  their  arrival  was* 

celebrated  by  a   “French  ball”  a   dancing  place  being 
selected  for  the  festivities.  When  evening  came, 

“rouge,  curling  irons,  powder,  patches,  satin  slippers” 
and  other  niceties  of  society  attire  were  brought  into 

action  and  by  “seven  o’clock,”  says  Sibley,  “the 
scraping  of  the  bows  inaugurated  the  social  courtesies 

and  gallantries  for  which  Gallipolis  has'  ever  since 

been  famous.” 
We  cannot  tarry  in  the  midst  of  this  colony  with  its 

unique  mixture  of  grotesque  and  picturesque  features. 

These  people  were  no  farmers,  they  were  artisans  at 
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best,  all  they  managed  to  do  was  to  cultivate  their 

small  gardens,  artistically  platted  and  flower  adorned, 

grapes  and  other  fruit  being  their  chief  product.  For 

two  years,  especially  during  the  winters,  they  depended 

Ion  outside  sources  for  their  supplies,  buying  their  pork and  vegetables,  such  as  they  could  not  raise,  from  the 

I   boats  descending  the  Ohio.  The  form  of  municipal government,  as  Belote  notices,  and  protection  against 

the  Indians,  gave  the  settlers  little  concern.  The 

savages,  their  close  neighbors,  did  not  molest  them; 

[   “it  may  be  that  the  old  time  friendship  of  the  Indians 

[   and  French  in  the  Northwest  played  its  part  here.” 
This  amicable  relationship,  however,  was  broken  at 

1   the  time  of  St.  Clair’s  expedition,  to  which  the  Galli- 
>   politans  contributed  many  enlistments.  After  this 

I   the  town  was  in  constant  danger  of  hostile  attacks 

•   from  the  tribesmen.  To  meet  this  new  peril  a   military 

:   company  was  formed  of  which  the  Marquis  D’Hebe- 
;   court  was  made  captain,  and  a   constant  patrol  of  the 
environment  of  the  town  was  maintained.  All  this 

while  these  buoyant  inhabitants  were  under  the  cloud 
of  the  worthless  titles  to  their  lands  and  homes.  The 

knowledge  of  the  failure  of  Colonel  Duer  and  the  Scioto 

Company  and  the  fact  that  they  were  occupying  terri- 

tory actually  owned  by  the  Ohio  Company  were  crush- 
ing blows  to  the  naturally  hopeful  and  cheerful  French. 

Many  in  despair  early  left  the  town;  some  wandered 

to  the  eastern  cities;  a   few  settled  in  Kentucky; 

others  drifted  farther  down  the  Ohio  and  joined  the 

earlier  French  posts  on  the  Illinois  and  Mississpipi. 
Those  who  remained  lost  heart  and  took  but  little 

interest  in  the  improvement  of  the  lands  to  which 
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they  feared  they  would  never  gain  valid  title.  For 

fifteen  years  the  town  of  Gallipolis  “   changed  but  little 
in  appearance,  and  that  little,  if  anything,  was  for 

the  worse  rather  than  for  the  better.” 
In  the  autumn  of  1793,  M.  Jean  G.  Gervais,  one  of  ji 

the  settlers,  proceeded  to  Philadelphia  for  a   conference  ;j 

with  M.  Duponceau,  an  eminent  French  lawyer.  They  ;j 

presented  a   petition  to  Congress  setting  forth  the 

distress  of  the  French  emigrants  and  the  deception  ji 

of  which  they  had  been  the  victims.  Congress  was 

unable  to  unravel  the  complications  that  had  risen 

from  the  inter-transactions  of  the  Scioto  and  Ohio 

companies,  but  finally  in  justice  to  the  unfortunate  i 

French,  in  whom  Washington  took  a   deep  personal 

interest,  Congress  in  March,  1795,  allotted  to  all 

male  settlers,  over  eighteen  years  of  age,  and  all 

widows  who  would  be  in  Gallipolis  on  November  1 

(I79S)>  twenty-four  thousand  acres  of  land  in  what  ̂  
is  now  Green  Township,  Scioto  County.  It  was  termed 

the  “ French  Grant,”  and  extended  eight  miles  along  1 
the  Ohio  River.  By  mutual  agreement,  four  thousand  ; 

acres  of  this  were  apportioned  to  Gervais  for  his  services  2 

in  the  matter.  The  remaining  twenty  thousand  acres  I 

were  divided  equally  among  ninety-two  qualified  dis-  j 
tributees;  each  therefore  received  two  hundred  and  i 

seventeen  and  two-fifths  acres.  Lots  were  drawn  for  \ 

the  location  of  the  respective  portions.  Eight  addi-  ) 
tional  members  having  been  overlooked  in  the  first  ! 

grant,  another  allotment  of  twelve  hundred  acres  was 

assigned  them,  making  one  hundred  petitioners  in 

all  provided  for.  Not  more  than  sixteen  of  the  orig-  ‘ 
inal  settlers  moved  on  to  their  indemnity  sections.  1 
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The  others  sold  their  portions  to  settlers  from  the  east- 

ern states  at  nominal  prices,  and,  says  Belote,  the 

French  Grant  became,  in  fact,  “a  Yankee  settlement. ” 

The  site  of  Gallipolis  still  belonged  to  the  Ohio  Com- 

pany, which  in  December,  1795,  held  a   meeting,  at 

Marietta,  to  make  final  adjustment  of  its  affairs.  A 

delegation  of  the  French  from  Gallipolis  attended  this 

meeting  and  requested  that  the  site  of  their  town  be 

given  them  by  the  Ohio  Company,  the  petitioners 

pleading  that  it  was  the  fault  primarily  of  the  Ohio 

Company  that  the  town  had  been  mislocated.  The 

Ohio  Company  refused  the  petition  but  consented  to 

sell  the  French  the  lots,  within  and  adjacent  to  Galli- 

polis, at  the  nominal  price  of  a   dollar  and  a   quarter 

per  acre.  Thus  the  French  emigrants  were  given  the 

“ pleasant  privilege  of  buying  their  lands  twice.” 
And  here  the  curtain  falls  upon  the  comico-tragic 

drama  of  the  French  settlement  at  Gallipolis. 





Chapter  XXIII. 

THE  POST-REVOLUTION  CAMPAIGNS 
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FROM  the  events,  just  recited,  of  the  peaceful planting  of  promising  settlements  we  turn 

now  to  the  sequential  circumstances  of  in- 

glorious war.  This  influx  of  white  settlers  and 

the  creation  of  colonial  centers  pleased  not  the  tribes- 

j   men  who  with  unerring  intuition  realized  that  the 

encroaching  tide  of  civilization  meant  displacement 

if  not  the  doom  of  their  people.  The  settlers  north 

ii  of  the  Ohio  lived  in  constant  fear  under  the  protection 

of  less  than  six  hundred  regular  troops  stationed  in 

ii  the  Ohio  River  stockades.  Ten  times  that  many 

;;  savage  warriors  dwelt  in  the  valleys  of  the  Wabash, 

I-  the  Miamis,  the  upper  Sandusky  and  Scioto  regions. 

The  aggressions  to  which  the  frontiersmen  were 

ii  subject  was  evidence  that  the  Indians  were  reluctantly, 

lI  if  at  all,  becoming  reconciled  to  the  sovereignty  of 

i   the  United  States.  They  paid  scant  adherence  to 

the  treaties  that  presumptively  safeguarded  the  settlers 

in  the  section  of  Ohio  ceded  by  the  Indians  to  the 

:   government.  Hostile  menaces  and  bloody  outbreaks 

[   were  not  infrequent  particularly  on  the  river  frontier 

below  Cincinnati;  as  one  writer  puts  it,  “the  Indians 
watched  the  Ohio  with  especial  care,  and  took  their 

toll  from  immense  numbers  of  immigrants  who  went 

down  it.”  No  boat  was  safe  after  passing  the  Mus- 
kingum. The  interior  Indians  in  the  valleys  just 

named,  and  in  the  lake  region,  were  in  a   state  of 

discontent,  if  not  positive  enmity.  In  all  this  they 

not  only  enjoyed  the  sympathy  but  secured  the 

material  aid  of  the  British  who  still  retained  possession 

of  the  lake  posts.  The  third  article  of  the  Ordinance 

of  1787  stipulated  that  “the  utmost  good  faith  shall 
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always  be  observed  towards  the  Indians;  their  lands 

and  property  shall  never  be  taken  from  them  without 

their  consent,”  etc.  But  the  tribesmen  took  the 
ground  that  no  treaty  could  bind  them  that  did  not 
include  the  consent  of  all  tribes  interested  therein. 

Their  territorial  rights  were  communal,  and  no  number 

of  tribes  less  than  all,  could  contract  for  the  nations. 

In  this  matter  the  Ohio  tribes  eagerly  consulted  the 

Six  Nations  and  in  the  summer  of  1788  a   large  dele- 
gation of  the  latter,  in  councils  at  Detroit,  met  the 

tribesmen  of  the  Ohio,  the  lakes  and  some  even  from 

the  Upper  Mississippi.  In  the  Detroit  gathering 

the  most  distinguished  figure  was  Chief  Joseph  Brant 

then  holding  a   commission  and  drawing  a   pension 

from  the  British  government.  Previous  to  this  council; 
Brant  revealed  his  attitude  of  mind  in  a   letter  written 

from  his  home  on  the  Grand  River  to  Lieutenant  ; 

Langan  of  the  British  army,  saying,  “as  for  the  Five; 
Nations,  most  of  them  have  sold  themselves  to  the; 

Devil — I   mean  the  Yankeys.  Whatever  they  do  ) 

after  this  it  must  be  for  the  Yankeys — not  for  the 

Indians  or  the  English.  ”   After  the  Detroit  council 
he  again  wrote  Langan  stating  that  the  Hurons, ; 

Chippewas,  Ottawas,  Pottawattomies  and  Delawares 

were  inclined  “to  lenient  steps  and  having  a   boundary 
line  fixed;  and  rather  than  enter  headlong  into  a 

destructive  war,  will  give  up  a   small  part  of  their 

country;  on  the  other  hand,  the  Shawnees,  Miamis 

and  Kickapoos,  who  are  now  so  much  addicted  to 

horse-stealing,  that  it  will  be  a   difficult  task  to  break 
them  of  it,  as  that  kind  of  business  is  their  best  harvest, 

will  of  course  declare  for  war  and  not  giving  up  any 
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part  of  their  country,  which  I   am  afraid,  will  be  the 

means  of  our  separating.”  The  council  seems  to 
have  adjourned  without  definite  determination. 

The  unrestful  demonstrations  of  the  tribes  at  these 

councils  as  well  as  hostile  acts  on  the  river  frontier 

led  General  St.  Clair,  with  the  approbation  of  the 

government,  to  call  a   council  of  all  the  tribes  at  Fort 

Harmar,  for  the  autumn  of  1788.  Some  two  hundred 

delegates  of  the  tribes,  that  had  accepted  the  invitation, 

began  to  gather  in  the  wintry  days  of  December, 

but  it  was  not  until  January  9,  1789,  that  they  con- 
cluded a   treaty,  the  negotiations  for  which  St.  Clair 

wrote  “were  tedious  and  troublesome.”  The  diary 
of  Major  Ebenezer  Denny,  then  at  Fort  Harmar, 

published  in  the  St.  Clair  Papers,  gives  a   summary 

of  the  council  proceedings.  Denny  states  the  old 

Wyandot  chief  Shandotto,  addressed  the  governor 

(St.  Clair)  in  behalf  of  all  the  nations  present.  He 

told  how  the  Thirteen  Fires  had  gotten  possession  of 

their  country  and  how  in  that  accomplishment  the 

whitemen  had  cheated  the  redmen;  the  Indians 

he  said  were  for  peace,  which  was  doubtless  true  of 

the  Wyandots.  Two  separate  treaties  were  entered 

into;  one  with  the  Five  Nations — neither  Brant  nor 

the  Mohawks  being  present — confirming  the  Fort 

Stanwix  Treaty  (1784).  It  was  signed  by  twenty-five 
chiefs  among  them  Cornplanter.  Nearly  each  one 

wrote  “his  mark”  to  his  Indian  name  and  its  English 
equivalent;  there  were  Long  Tree,  Big  Tree,  Broken 

Twig  and  Wood  Bug,  Falling  Mountain,  Dancing 

Feather,  Thrown-in-the-Water,  Big  Bale  of  a   Kettle, 

Full  Moon,  the  Blast  and  Tearing  Asunder. 
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The  other  treaty  confirmed  the  boundaries  of  the 

Treaty  of  Fort  McIntosh  (1785),  viz.,  that  the  Indians 

keep  the  country  south  of  Lake  Erie,  from  the  Cuya-i 

hoga  to  the  Miami,  and  extending  south  to  about:,1 

the  fortieth  degree  of  north  latitude;  it  was  alsoi 

agreed  that  the  Indians  were  at  liberty  to  hunt  in  j 

the  territory  ceded  the  United  States;  traders,  withj 

a   license,  might  ply  their  vocations  among  the  tribes  ;i 

all  Indians  committing  robbery  or  murder  were  toi 

be  delivered  up  to  be  tried  at  American  posts;  all 

citizens  of  the  United  States  settling  on  lands  reserved; 

to  the  tribes  shall  be  out  of  the  protection  of  the  United 

States  and  may  be  punished  by  the  tribesmen;  certain! 

sections  of  land,  either  six  or  twelve  square  miles,' 
surrounding  the  posts  claimed  by  the  government, 

should  be  reserved  to  the  United  States.  This  treaty 

was  signed  by  the  Wyandots,  Delawares,  Ottawas, 

Chippewas,  Pottawattomies  and  Sacs.  Among  the 

names  of  the  chiefs  who  made  their  “ marks”  were 

Captain  Pipe  and  Wingenund  for  the  Delawares  and 

Tarhe  for  the  Wyandots.  The  Shawnees,  the  Miamis, 

and  many  of  the  western  and  northwestern  tribes, 

were  not  present  and  remained  uncommitted  to  this 

treaty.  Indeed  while  the  Fort  Harmar  council  was 

in  session,  members  of  the  tribes,  just  mentioned,, 

were  committing  acts  of  depredation  and  even  murder1 
among  the  frontiersmen. 

Although  St.  Clair  apparently  accomplished  an  i 

important  result  in  the  Fort  Harmar  Treaty  and  the 

Indians  participating  had  been  paid  many  thousands 

of  dollars  for  their  acquiescence,  they  had  little  regard 

for  the  document  they  had  signed.  In  this  proceeding  l 
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General  St.  Clair  had  not  recognized  the  Indians  as 

one  nation,  but  rather  as  separate  tribes  having  distinct 

interests;  “jealousy  subsisted  between  them,”  he 

said  in  a   letter  to  Washington,  “   which  I   was  not 
willing  to  lessen  by  appearing  to  consider  them  as 

[one  people — they  do  not  so  consider  themselves; 
and  I   am  persuaded  their  general  confederacy  is 

entirely  broken;  indeed  it  would  not  be  very  difficult, 

if  circumstances  require  it,  to  set  them  at  deadly 

variance.”  Shortly  after  the  council,  St.  Clair  visited 

'New  York,  when  on  April  30,  1789,  he  witnessed  the 
inauguration  of  his  old  commander-in-chief,  and  de- 

voted friend,  as  first  president;  indeed  he  stood  near 

the  side  of  Washington  while  the  latter  took  the  oath 

of  office,  “clad  in  a   full  suit  of  dark-brown  cloth,  with 
a   steel  hiked  sword,  white  stockings  and  plain  silver 

shoe-buckles,  his  hair  dressed  and  powdered  in  the 

fashion  of  the  day  and  worn  in  a   bag  and  solitaire.” 

1   It  was  on  January  22,  1790,  that  Governor  St. 
Clair  arrived  at  Fort  Washington,  as  before  noted, 

where  he  remained  only  a   week,  hastening  on  to  the 

•   French  towns  on  the  lower  Ohio.  At  the  Rapids, 

he  prepared  messages  to  the  Indian  tribes  on  the 

Wabash,  which  documents  he  transmitted  to  Major 

John  Francis  Hamtramck,  then  commandant  at  Post 

Vincennes,  who  in  turn  forwarded  them  to  their 

destination  by  Antoine  Gamelin,  a   popular  trader 

among  the  Indians.  Gamelin,  who  kept  an  interesting 

journal,  of  his  embassy,  published  in  the  St.  Clair 

Papers,  was  six  weeks  on  this  errand,  holding  audiences 

vith  the  Miamis,  Piankeshaws,  Kickapoos,  Ouiatanons, 

Delawares,  Pottawattomies,  Weas  and  Shawnees.  Fie 
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was  courteously  but  cautiously  received,  respect-  j 
fully  listened  to,  but  in  the  main  evasively  answered. ! 

The  first  chief  and  all  the  great  warriors  of  the  Pianke-i  m 

shaws  were  well  pleased  with  the  messages  advocating 

peace,  but  could  not  give  answer  before  consulting!  fl' 
their  elder  brethren,  the  Miamis;  the  chief  of  the!  oc 

Kickapoos  also  referred  the  messenger  to  the  Miamis;  t 

“you  invite  us  to  stop  our  young  men,”  he  said, 

“it  is  impossible  to  do  it,  being  constantly  encouraged!  co 

by  the  British;”  Le  Gris,  great  chief  of  the  Miamis, |   to 

said,  “don’t  take  bad,  of  what  I   am  to  tell  you,  we  H 
cannot  give  you  a   positive  answer,  we  must  send  your  I   mi 

speeches  to  all  our  neighbors  and  to  the  Lake  nations,  ft 

we  cannot  give  a   definite  answer  without  consulting  a 

the  commandant  at  Detroit.”  Blue  Jacket,  chief  ' 
of  the  Shawnees,  received  Gamelin  with  all  possible  j   k 

hospitality  at  his  home  at  Miamitown- — headwaters  tli 

of  the  Maumee — and  “in  a   private  manner”  told  his  Sc: 

guest  that  the  Shawnees  “were  in  doubt  of  the  sin-!  So; 
cerity  of  the  Big-Knives,  having  clearly  been  deceived 

by  them;  a   certain  proof  that  they  intend  to  encroach  0: 

upon  our  lands  is  their  new  settlements  on  the  Ohio.”  j   #f 

The  chief  of  the  Weas  reported  “that  the  English  i   gre 
commandant  is  their  father,  since  he  threw  down  our  i   ma 

French  father;  they  could  do  nothing  without  his  i   uf 

approbation.”  The  chief  of  the  Kickapoos  declared,  Ur 

“we  cannot  stop  our  young  men  from  going  to  war; 

every  day  some  set  off  clandestinely  for  that  purpose.”  to 
The  report  of  Gamelin,  made  to  Hamtramck, 

throws  a   flood  of  light  upon  the  Indian  situation  in 

the  Wabash  and  Miami  countries;  revealing  the  hostile 

temper  of  the  tribesmen  towards  the  Americans  and 
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their  feudatory  relation  to  the  British,  whose  comman- 

dant at  Detroit  they  recognized  as  “   Father.  ”   More- 
over they  repudiated  the  Fort  Harmar  treaty,  declaring 

that  it  was  signed  by  only  a   few  tribes  and  then 

merely  by  “ young  men”  who  were  neither  chiefs 
nor  delegates  and  were  without  authority  of  any 

P   kind  from  their  respective  nations. 

That  war  could  not  be  avoided,  St.  Clair  was  now 

i   convinced  and  he  hastened  his  return  from  Kaskaskia 

to  Fort  Washington  to  confer  with  General  Harmar. 

i   Meanwhile  the  latter  had  in  April  (1790),  with  a   com- 
mand of  one  hundred  regular  troops  supported  by 

General  Charles  Scott,  “a  rough  Indian  fighter  and 

a   veteran  of  the  Revolutionary  War”  at  the  head  of 
two  hundred  and  thirty  Kentucky  volunteers,  made  a 

dash  by  a   circuitous  route  to  the  Upper  Scioto,  in 

the  neighborhood  of  Paint  Creek,  and  thence  down  the 

Scioto  to  its  mouth,  in  order  to  chastise  some  of  the 

hostile  bands.  But  “the  villains  had  retreated”  and 

“wolves  might  as  well  have  been  pursued,”  was 

Harmar’s  summary  of  the  fruitless  raid,  the  rumors 
of  which  only  aroused  the  Ohio  tribes  to  feelings  of 

greater  hostility.  Almost  simultaneous  with  the  Har- 
mar and  Scott  raids,  Hamtramck  with  a   small  company 

of  regulars  rushed  forth  from  Fort  Knox,  at  St.  Vin- 
cennes, to  the  Wea  villages  on  the  Wabash.  But  the 

villagers  had  fled  leaving  their  huts  and  stores  of  corn 

to  be  burned  by  the  unresisted  enemy. 

|   Preparations  for  warfare  on  a   larger  scale  were  now 
oushed  forward.  Congress  in  the  summer  empowered 

Washington  to  call  out  the  Militia  of  Kentucky, 

Virginia  and  Western  Pennsylvania,  which  troops  were 
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to  rendezvous  by  September  15th  at  Fort  Washington. 

The  United  States  government  recognizing  the  co- 

operative alliance — tacit  if  not  open — both  offensive 
and  defensive,  between  the  Indians  and  the  British, 

was  solicitous  as  to  the  attitude  the  latter  might  assume 

relative  to  the  impending  campaign.  The  British  , 

officials  made  no  effort  to  conceal  their  insinuating 

suspicion  that  the  ulterior  design  of  the  Americans  1; 

was  to  secure  Detroit,  and  the  other  lake  posts,  still 

retained  by  His  Majesty.  Indeed  an  inspection  of  j 

the  posts  was  being  made  by  the  Canadian  officials  1 

with  the  view  of  their  being  strengthened  for  anticipated 

defense  and  the  Detroit  stockade  was  in  fact  repaired  : 

and  improved.  To  allay  this  sympton  of  war  spirit, 

pretended  or  real,  exhibited  by  the  Canadian  British  j 

and  to  prevent  their  open  and  active  allegiance  to  f 

the  tribesmen,  St.  Clair,  under  instructions  from  Wash- 

ington, wrote  Major  Murray,  commanding  the  British  i 

garrison  at  Detroit  to  “   inform  you,  explicitly  that  the  I 
expedition  about  to  be  undertaken  is  not  intended  j 

against  the  post  you  have  the  honor  to  command,  nor 

any  other  place  at  present  in  the  possession  of  the  troops 

of  his  Britannic  Majesty,  but  is  on  foot  with  the  sole 

design  of  humbling  and  chastizing  some  of  the  savage 

tribes,  whose  depredations  have  become  intolerable 

and  whose  cruelties  have  of  late  become  an  outrage, 

not  only  on  the  people  of  America,  but  on  humanity.  ” 
The  troops  as  they  assembled  at  Fort  Washington  j 

mostly  presented  a   motley  and  misgiving  appearance.  | 

The  Kentucky  contingent,  three  battalions  with  Colonel 

Trotter  at  their  head,  said  Denny,  “were  not  such  as 
we  had  been  accustomed  to  see  on  the  frontier;  they  1 



GENERAL  JOSIAH  IiARMAR 

Born  in  Philadelphia,  Pa. ,   in  1753.  Served  in  the  Ameri- 
can Revolution.  Appointed  Lieutenant- Colonel  Com- 

mandant of  the  United  States  Infantry  Regiment,  August, 

1784;  superseded  by  St.  Clair  in  1791.  Under  his  com- 
mand Fort  Washington  was  built  (1789).  He  commanded 

the  American  forces  in  the  Indian  campaign  of  1790.  He 

died  in  Philadelphia,  Pa.,  1813. 

FORT  WASHINGTON 

Built  under  command  of  General  Harmar,  1789.  It  was 

demolished  in  1808.  Its  site  in  the  City  of  Cincinnati  is 
now  marked  by  a   monument  on  Third  Street  near  the 

intersection  of  Ludlow  Street.  This  picture  is  from  a 

sketch  made  in  1791  by  Major  Jonathan  Heart,  U.  S.  A. 
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The  Uttitesb  rkbftjvtes  gg^f  &vpjm q^feceiacsgin kruag  the  c 

operatfV?  o^^^Sth^ffensi 

and  et^eft  £&§  $$  Britis 
was  sMf^flseTCMP  a¥  totals)  as  sir 

relative  t6  tKea  i?npen<%g  1 officials  made  no  effort  to  conceal  their  insinuati: 

suspicion  that  of  the  America 

was  t©ws£cu9% 1   to^osts,  si 
si  ilBiyibni^rto  y>iO  9x0  nijdjis  ajjj  _   j8_o8i]  nr_b9ri^I^m3^ retai v 

l£9h- 

7   XIX  97X 

sra* action 
brnri  -tio  jftamjjnom  £   yc 

the  posffcsrt Wra^jjfe^i^Tma^etgb^oi^iE icCj&iat&diatii  officii 

with  tfie^f^T^€^!^^^4i^^M:f<^T^€heh^rfc5¥>^:iIfticipci i 
defense  and  the  Detroit  stockade  was  in  fact  repair 

and  improved.  To  allay  this  sympton  of  war  spiri 

pretended  or  real,  exhibited  by  the  Canadian  Bril i 

and  to  prevent  their  open  and  active  allegiance 

the  tribesmen,  St.  Clair,  under  instructions  from  W   asi 

ington,  wrote  Major  Murray,  commanding  the  Briti: 

garrison  at  Detroit  to  “inform  you,  explicitly  that  t' 
expedition  about  to  be  undertaken  is  not  intend 

t   the  p<  \ou  the  honor  to  command,  i 

;   in  the  possession  of  the  tr 

of  hi:  lr  Majesty,  but  is  on  foot  with  the 

design  of  humbling  and  chastizing  some  of  the  sa1 
tribes,  whose  depredations  have  become  intolcr 

and  whose  cruelties  have  of  late  become  an  out 

not  only  on  the  people  of  America,  but  on  humanii 

The  troops  as  they  assembled  at  Fort  Washii 

mostly  presented  a   motley  and  misgiving  appear 

The  Kentucky  contingent,  three  battalions  with  Col: 

Trotter  at  their  head,  said  Denny,  “were  not  such 
we  had  been  accustomed  to  see  on  the  frontier;  t 
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appeared  to  be  raw  and  unused  to  the  gun  of  the  woods ; 

i!  indeed  many  are  without  guns  and  many  of  these  they 

have  w^ant  repairing.”  They  were  poorly  clad  and 
almost  destitute  of  kettles  and  axes,  and  camp  utensils. 

The  Pennsylvania  enrollments  were  little  better  in 

character;  many  of  the  home  militia  having  sent 

!   substitutes  of  old  infirm  men  and  young  boys;  they 

were  untrained  and  inclined  to  be  disorderly  and 

even  mutinous;  they  formed  a   battalion  under  Major 

Paul  and  Lieutenant  Colonel  Truby.  There  was  one 

battalion  of  mounted  militia,  under  Major  James 

Fontaine,  and  two  small  battalions,  numbering  three 

hundred  and  twenty,  of  federal  regulars  under  Majors 

John  P.  Wyllys  and  John  Doughty.  A   company  of 

artillery,  with  three  pieces  of  ordnance,  was  under  the 

I   command  of  Captain  William  Ferguson.  In  all,  the 

!   army  numbered  fourteen  hundred  and  fifty-three  men, 

|   under  Josiah  Harmar,  who,  since  1784,  had  been  Lieu- 
tenant Colonel  Commandant  of  the  United  States 

Infantry  Regiment,  the  highest  ranking  officer  in  the 

American  army.  The  general  was  seriously  handi- 
i   capped  at  the  outset  through  the  jealousy  existing 

between  the  “ regulars”  and  the  militia.  Moreover 
there  was  much  strife  among  the  militia  concerning 

the  choice  of  their  commander,  Colonels  John  Hardin 

and  Robert  Trotter  being  rivals  for  the  preference, 

!   the  latter  being  finally  selected.  The  commissary 

arrangements  were  inadequate  and  badly  organized. 

Under  such  conditions  the  expedition  was  destined 
to  failure  from  the  outset. 

An  advance  detachment  of  the  militia  moved  forth 

from  the  fort  on  September  26th,  followed  a   few  days 
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later  by  the  regulars.  We  briefly  summarize  the  march 

from  the  journals  of  General  Harmar  and  officers 

Ebenezer  Denny  and  John  Armstrong.  On  October 

3d  an  encampment  was  made  “on  the  waters  of  the 

Little  Miami,”  31  miles  and  on  the  4th  they  struck  a 

stream  Harmar  calls  Caesar’s  Creek,  a   branch  of  the 
Little  Miami,  forty-two  miles  from  Fort  Washington; 

on  the  fifth  they  reached  Glade  Creek,  “a  very  lively 

clear  stream,”  fifty-two  miles;  on  the  sixth,  after 
passing  a   beautiful  open  country,  encamped  three 

miles  north  of  Old  Chillicothe,  sixty-two  miles ;   seventh, 

encamped  on  Mad  River,  “alias  the  Pickaway  Fork 
of  the  Great  Miami,  71  miles;  on  the  tenth  they 

crossed  to  the  Great  Miami,  the  course  of  which  was 

then  followed,  passing  on  the  eleventh  a   place  called 

“The  French  Store,”  one  hundred  and  twelve  miles; 

twelfth  passed  New  Chillicothe,  at  which  is  Girty’s 
home,  on  Glaze  Greek  or  branch  of  the  Omee  (Maumee), 

one  hundred  and  twenty-five  miles;  sixteenth,  the 
Colonel  Hardin,  who  had  been  sent  forward,  reached 

the  “favorite  Miami- village  and  towns”  which  the 
savages  and  traders  had  evacuated.  This  village 

was  at  the  juncture  of  the  St.  Joseph  and  St.  Mary’s 
rivers,  one  hundred  and  seventy  miles  from  Fort 

Washington.  On  the  following  day  the  main  army 

joined  the  advance  at  this  point.  The  chief  Indian 

village  contained  “about  80  houses  and  wigwams, 
and  a   vast  quantity  of  corn  and  vegetables  hid  in 

various  places,  holes,  etc.  ”   Other  nearby  towns 
comprised  a   hundred  or  more  wigwams  with  gardens 

and  adjacent  fields  of  corn.  The  towns,  deserted 

by  the  Indians,  were  destroyed  by  the  soldiers,  the 
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militia  loading  itself  with  plunder.  On  the  19th 

a   party  of  the  militia  and  regulars  under  Colonel 

Trotter  proceeded  to  reconnoitre  the  country,  when 

they  came  upon  two  Indians  whom  they  killed.  The 

colonel  being  “ content  with  this  victory”  returned 
to  camp  much  to  the  disgust  of  Colonel  Hardin,  who 
under  orders  from  General  Harmar  marched  out  the 

next  morning  and  when  about  ten  miles  from  the 

camp  was  met,  says  Denny,  by  a   party  of  Indians 

“not  exceeding  one  hundred,  but  was  worsted,  owing 
entirely  as  I   am  informed,  to  the  scandalous  behavior 

of  the  militia,  many  of  whom  never  fired  a   shot, 
but  ran  off  at  the  first  noise  of  the  Indians  and  left  a 

few  regulars  to  be  sacrificed, — some  of  them  never 

halted  until  they  crossed  the  Ohio.”  On  the  day 

following,  the  army,  having  “burned  five  villages 
besides  the  capital  town  and  consumed  and  destroyed 

near  twenty  thousand  bushels  of  corn  in  ears,  took  up 

the  line  of  march  on  the  route  back  to  Fort  Wash- 

ington.” 
But  the  disastrous  result  was  not  yet  complete. 

The  disheartened  and  demoralized  army  halted  a 

few  miles  from  the  site  of  the  Maumee  “capital,” 
at  the  Shawnee  town  of  Chillicothe — not  Old  Town, 

but  some  Indian  village  called  Chillicothe,  the  usual 

name  given  a   town  by  the  Shawnees — about  which 
lurked  many  savages  thirsting  for  revenge.  The 

humiliated  Harmar  resolved  upon  an  attempt  to  re- 

trieve the  disgrace  of  Trotter’s  discomfiture.  Major 
Wyllys  of  the  regulars  and  Colonel  Hardin,  with 

“four  hundred  choice  militia  and  regulars,”  were 
ordered  to  return  to  the  scene  of  the  former  repulse 
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and  “surprise  any  parties  that  might  be  assembled 

there.”  Harmar’ s   journal  for  that  day  (22)  reads: 

“Major  Wyllys  and  Colonel  Hardin  performed  won- 
ders, although  they  were  terribly  cut  up;  almost  the 

whole  of  the  Federal  troops  were  cut  off,  with  the  loss 

of  Major  Wyllys,  Major  Fontaine  and  Lieutenant 

Frothingham — which  indeed  is  a   heavy  blow.  The 
consolation  is  that  the  men  sold  themselves  very  dear. 

It  is  supposed  that  not  less  than  one  hundred  warriors 

of  the  savages  were  killed  upon  the  ground.” 
It  was  a   disorganized  attack,  the  militia  heedless 

of  commands  pressed  forward  in  disorder  to  be  over- 
whelmed by  the  ambuscading  savages,  while  the 

column  of  regulars  which  hastened  to  the  rescue  met 

a   similar  fate.  It  was  indeed  a   sorry  effort  to  redeem 

the  previous  lost  honors  of  war,  for  to  the  disgrace  of 

Trotter  was  added  the  defeat  of  Hardin.  Harmar’s 

expedition  had  come  to  a   “lame  and  impotent  con- 

clusion” the  loss  being  nearly  two  hundred  killed  and 
some  thirty-five  wounded. 

As  noted  by  Jones  in  his  “Fort  Washington,”  an 
extract  from  a   letter  written  by  Captain  Jonathan 

Heart  from  Fort  Harmar,  December  3,  1790,  shows 

how  stubborn  was  the  fighting  in  this  engagement  of 

October  22d.  Fie  says:  “A  regular  soldier  on  the 
retreat  near  the  St.  Joseph  River,  being  surrounded 

and  in  the  midst  of  the  Indians,  put  his  bayonet  through 

six  Indians,  knocked  down  the  seventh,  and  the  soldier 

himself  made  the  eighth  dead  man  in  the  heap.”  An 
early  writer  who  secured  his  information  from  those 

who  actually  took  part  in  the  Harmar  campaign,  says 

in  regard  to  the  second  engagement:  “Nothing  could 
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exceed  the  intrepidity  of  the  savages  on  this  occasion; 

the  militia  they  appeared  to  despise,  and  with  all  the 

undauntedness  conceivable,  threw  down  their  guns, 

and  rushed  upon  the  bayonets  of  the  regular  soldiers; 

a   number  of  them  fell,  but  being  so  far  superior  in 

numbers,  the  regulars  were  soon  overpowered,  for  while 

the  poor  soldier  had  his  bayonet  in  one  Indian,  two 

more  would  sink  their  tomahawks  in  his  head.” 
The  Indians  in  this  encounter  were  led  and  directed 

by  the  distinguished  Miami  chief  Little  Turtle — 

Michikinikwa — who  will  figure  largely  in  subsequent 
pages.  He  was  born  at  his  village  on  the  Eel  River, 

in  1752,  his  father  being  a   Miami  chief  and  his  mother 

a   Mohican.  In  one  of  the  Kentucky  expeditions 

Little  Turtle  captured  a   boy  then  about  eleven  years 

of  age,  named  William  Wells  belonging  to  a   good 

Kentucky  family.  The  chief  adopted  the  youngster, 

who  as  he  grew  up  won  the  esteem  and  affection  of 

Little  Turtle  and  wife,  and  in  time  William  married 

Little  Turtle’s  beautiful  daughter,  whose  Indian  name 
was  Waumaugapith,  the  interpretation  of  which  is 
Sweet  Breeze.  Wells  rendered  valuable  service  to 

Little  Turtle  and  his  Indian  subjects  in  the  signal 

repulse  of  Harmar’s  troops.  Descendants  of  William 
Wells  and  his  Miami  wife  are  living  to-day  at  Maumee 

City  and  have  regaled  the  present  writer  with  interest- 
ing traditions  of  the  famous  Miami  chief. 

For  the  dejected  survivors  it  was  a   dreary  march 

back  to  Fort  Washington,  reached  November  3d; 

but  the  retreat  was  in  keeping  with  the  tumultous 

conflicts  they  had  experienced;  the  militia  became 

nearly  ungovernable,  so  that  at  one  time  Harmar 
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reduced  them  to  order  only  by  threatening  to  fire  i 

on  them  with  the  artillery.  The  outcome  of  this  l 

martial  miscarriage  was  a   severe  blow  to  General  ( 

Harmar;  in  fact  it  was  his  official  undoing,  though  i 

without  real  fault  on  his  part.  He  was  accused  of  f 

incompetency  and  even  insobriety  during  the  campaign,  i 
and  whatever  the  merits  or  demerits  of  his  behavior  ( 

may  have  been,  in  the  spring  of  1791,  he  was,  by  the  c 

president,  superseded  as  commander  of  the  army,  1 

General  St.  Clair  being  appointed  in  his  place  while  t 

Colonel  Richard  Butler  was  made  a   major-general  < 
and  second  in  command.  t 

General  Harmar,  smarting  under  what  he  regarded,  1 1 

and  rightly,  as  unjust  criticism  upon  his  conduct, 

demanded  a   Court  of  Inquiry  which  was  granted  and  1 

which  met  September  15,  1791,  at  Fort  Washington.  < 

The  findings  of  the  court,  proceedings  of  which  are  ( 

reported  in  the  State  Papers,  relating  to  Military  ( 

Affairs,  were  highly  exonerative  and  honorable  to  Gen-  1 
eral  Harmar.  The  expedition  was  from  the  start,  j   1 

a   hopeless  failure,  because  of  the  inexperience,  in- 

efficiency and  insubordination  of  the  soldiers,  their  j 

incomplete  equipment  and  lack  of  commissary  supplies.  ; 

General  Harmar  after  his  exoneration,  resigned  from  ( 

the  army  and  returned  to  his  home  in  Philadelphia,  ( 

serving  for  six  years  as  adjutant-general  of  Penn-  j 

sylvania.  ;   1 

The  year  1791  was  ushered  in  with  a   bloody  begin- 
ning for  the  Muskingum  settlers,  for  it  was  on  January 

2d  that  the  uncompleted  blockhouse  and  one  or  two 

adjacent  cabins,  located  on  the  banks  of  the  Muskingum 

some  thirty  miles  from  Marietta  and  known  as  the 



519 

— 

OF  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 
— 

Big  Bottom  settlement,  were  attacked  without  warning 

by  a   war-party  of  twenty-five  Delawares  and  Wyan- 

i   dots.  The  settlement  was  an  off-shoot  from  Marietta 

and  numbered  some  thirty-six  souls.  The  harrowing 
particulars  of  the  massacre  are  portrayed  with  graphic 

reality  by  Hildreth  in  his  “   Pioneer  History  of  the 

Ohio  Valley.  ”   Eleven  men,  one  woman  and  two 
children,  were  tomahawked  or  shot  down  with  merci- 

less barbarity.  The  blockhouse  was  then  plundered, 

the  log  strips  of  the  floor  were  torn  up,  piled  in  a   heap 
and  fired  that  the  structure  and  the  dead  bodies  of 

!   the  massacred  might  be  consumed  in  the  flames  that 

lit  up  the  dark  forest  on  that  cold  midwinter  night. 

Two  brothers,  Asa  and  Eleazer  Bullard,  made  a 

miraculous  escape.  The  others  were  made  captives 

and  borne  off  by  the  savage  assailants.  Similar 

deeds  of  scarcely  less  cruelty  were  perpetrated  in 

other  localities,  evidencing  that  the  defeat  of  Harmar 

had  stirred  the  warriors  to  renewed  courage  and 

boldness  and  ferocity. 

The  frontiersmen  appealed  for  protection  to  Con- 
gress, which  was  sorely  perplexed  by  the  acute  situation; 

acute  as  to  the  Indians  and  delicate  as  to  the  attitude 

of  the  British,  the  shadow  of  whose  patronage  lay 
over  the  movements  of  the  tribesmen.  It  is  not  the 

province  of  this  narrative  to  trace  the  diplomatic 

difficulties  that  beset  the  government  at  this  date. 

Justin  Winsor,  in  his  “Westward  Movement,”  says 
Lord  Dorchester,  formerly  known  as  Guy  Carleton  but 

now  elevated  to  the  peerage,  Governor-General  of 
Canada,  when  he  reached  Quebec,  in  October  1786,  was 

under  “instructions  to  prevent,  if  possible,  the  Indians 
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bringing  on  a   war  with  the  Americans,”  yet  James 

Schouler,  in  his  “United  States  History,  ”   speaks  of  Dor- 

chester, as  one  “by  whose  instigation  the  Northwestern 
Indians  at  this  period  [1791]  were  studiously  kept  at 

enmity  with  the  United  States.”  The  American  govern- 
ment as  the  State  Papers  prove  had  endeavored  earnest- 

ly to  bring  the  Ohio  Indians  into  peaceful  and  friendly 

relations.  Their  efforts  were  unavailing.  The  sub- 

jugation of  the  tribesmen,  possibly  their  expulsion 

from  the  Ohio  country,  was  unavoidable  for  the  safety 

of  the  western  settlers.  How  to  prosecute  this  war 

without  incurring  the  active  hostility  of  the  British 

was  the  problem.  The  wily  go-between  in  the  inter- 
national sparring  was  Chief  Joseph  Brant,  at  that 

time,  undoubtedly  the  most  influential  warrior  of 

his  people.  Great  Britain  and  the  United  States 

eagerly  competed  for  the  friendship  and  services 

of  the  great  Mohawk,  who  midst  it  all  moved  myste- 
riously among  the  Six  Nations,  the  Ohio  tribes  and  the 

Canadian  authorities.  Without  doubt  he  secretly 

hoped  and  intrigued  for  a   new  western  Indian  con- 
federacy, with  British  support  hostile  to  the  Americans. 

Simon  Girty  likewise  temporarily  left  his  abiding-place 
on  the  Canadian  side  of  the  Detroit  River  and  mingled 

with  the  Ohio  tribes,  brooding  mischief  among  the 

warriors,  by  instigating  them  against  the  Americans. 

But  Washington  undeceived  and  undaunted,  de- 
cided there  should  be  made  without  delay,  martial 

incursions  into  the  enemy’s  country,  preliminary  to 
an  invasion  of  overwhelming  magnitude.  In  May, 

General  Charles  Scott,  accompanied  by  Colonel  James 

Wilkinson,  with  a   force  of  eight  hundred  mounted 
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men,  left  the  Ohio  at  the  mouth  of  the  Kentucky  and 

rapidly  advanced  to  the  Wea  villages  on  the  Wabash. 

Their  tribal  center,  Ouiatenon, — Ouia  was  the  French 

for  Wea — and  other  towns  in  the  vicinity  were  de- 
stroyed, the  surrounding  country  laid  waste  and  many 

Indians  killed  and  captured.  Two  months  later 

(July)  General  Wilkinson  commanding  five  hundred 

and  fifty  mounted  Kentuckians  speedily  proceeded 

from  near  Fort  Washintgon  to  the  Indian  village 

Kenapacomaqua — L’Anguille,  French  for  eel — on  the 
Eel  River.  The  Indian  inmates  attempted  flight  by 

the  river  and  five  canoes  were  seized  and  all  the  savages 
with  whom  the  boats  were  crowded  were  taken  and 

killed.  The  town  and  other  villages  of  the  Miamis 

and  Kickapoos  were  wiped  out,  hundreds  of  acres  of 

corn,  “chiefly  in  the  milk”  laid  waste  and  considerable 

numbers  of  prisoners  captured,  among  them  “the 

sons  and  sisters  of  the  king”  of  the  Kickapoos.  This 

expedition  was  conducted  “with  such  celerity  and 

signal  success”  as  to  draw  forth  a   letter  of  thanks  to 
Wilkinson  from  Gendral  Knox,  secretary  of  war. 

The  sudden  blows  struck  by  Scott  and  Wilkinson 

served  only  to  further  exasperate  the  Ohio  tribesmen, 

who  now  entered  upon  extensive  plans  in  defense 

of  their  country  and  resistance  to  the  threatened 

approach  of  St.  Clair.  Under  the  leadership  of  Little 

Turtle,  chief  of  the  Miamis,  Blue  Jacket,  chief  of  the 

Shawnees,  and  the  noble  head  warrior  of  the  Delawares, 

Buckongahelas,  a   war  alliance  was  formed  of  their 

respective  tribes.  In  this  the  chiefs  had  the  aid  not 

only  of  Simon  Girty  but  of  Alexander  McKee  and 

Mathew  Elliott  of  the  British  Indian  department, 
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which  began  at  once  to  forward  supplies  and  munitions 
of  war  to  the  Miami  towns  for  the  use  of  the  tribes  in 

their  impending  campaign. 

Meanwhile  General  St.  Clair,  under  directions  from 

Washington,  was  pushing  forward  preparations  for 

his  invasion  which  was  intended  to  be  irresistible, 

three  thousand  men  being  designated  as  the  enrollment 

required.  The  objective  point  was  to  be  the  Miami 

towns  at  the  head  of  the  Maumee,  the  wigwams  of 

which  had  been  destroyed  by  Harmar,  a   habitable 

location,  which  had  been  the  seat  of  the  powerful 

Miami  nation  from  time  immemorial,  often  made 

desolate  and  as  often  rehabitated — a   tribal  site  called 

by  Little  Turtle,  “that  glorious  gate  through  which 
all  good  words  of  our  chiefs  had  to  pass  from  the  north 

to  the  south  and  from  the  east  to  the  west.  ”   A   chain 

of  forts,  which  were  to  be  some  twenty-five  miles 
apart,  was  to  be  erected  from  the  Ohio  to  the  Lakes. 

Elaborate  and  specific  instructions  as  to  the  expedition, 

its  route,  manner  of  march  and  encampment,  discipline, 

and  precautionary  measures  were  outlined  by  the 

president.  Special  levies,  militia  and  regulars  were 

to  constitute  the  army  which  slowly  began  to  assemble 

at  Fort  Washington. 

It  was  September  17th  (1791)  that  the  main  portion 

of  the  two  thousand  three  hundred  “effectives” — as 

they  were  called  with  seeming  irony — moved  forward 

twenty-five  miles  from  Cincinnati  to  the  Great  Miami, 
where  the  advance  detachment  had  already  erected 

Fort  Hamilton,  a   stockade  fifty  yards  square  with 

four  good  bastions  and  platforms  for  cannon  and  with 

barracks  for  about  two  hundred  men.  This  army 
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though  larger  in  numbers  was  little  better  in  condition 

than  that  of  Harmar,  in  the  previous  campaign. 

Washington  Irving  says  these  levies  were  picked  up 

and  recruited  from  the  off-scourings  of  large  towns  and 

cities,  enervated  by  idleness,  debauchery,  and  every 

species  of  vice.  The  “effectives”  were  certainly  a 
disreputable  lot,  dissipated  and  disorderly;  the  equip- 

ment was  poor  and  inadequate;  the  tents  and  clothing 

nearly  worthless;  food  for  the  men  and  fodder  for  the 

horses  were  deficient  in  both  quality  and  quantity; 

desertions  from  the  start,  often  in  squads,  were  appal- 
ling in  number.  St.  Clair,  the  commander,  a   brave, 

high-minded  man,  versed  in  the  art  of  scientific  warfare, 
but  inexperienced  in  Indian  combat,  was  broken  in 

health,  hardly  able  to  sit  upon  his  horse  and  really 

unfit  for  the  hardships  and  duties  that  lay  before  him. 

General  Butler  was  also  in  ill  health  and  the  main  bur- 

den of  responsibility  fell  upon  Adjutant  General 

:   Winthrop  Sargent. 

But  there  was  no  turning  back  and  the  forces,  united 

at  Fort  Hamilton,  slowly  trudged  forward,  cutting 

roadways  through  the  woods,  building  bridges  over 

the  streams  and  wearily  tramping  across  the  boggy 

plains,  making  but  five  or  six  miles  a   day.  On  October 

1 2th,  they  had  left  Fort  Hamilton  forty-four  miles 
behind  and  stopped,  six  miles  south  of  Greenville,  to 

build  another  stockade,  they  named  Fort  Jefferson. 

Here  they  remained  twelve  days.  On  November  3d, 

the  foot-sore  and  bedraggled  army,  now  reduced  to  a 
total  of  about  fourteen  hundred  men,  encamped  on  the 

eastern  fork  of  the  Wabash,  upon  an  elevated  timber- 
covered  ground,  with  the  creek  in  front  and  on  the 
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right,  and  a   ravine  on  the  left.  Here  were  stationed 

the  artillery  and  regulars.  In  front  across  the  low, 

fordable  stream  the  militia  bivouacked,  “   while  all 

around  the  wintry  woods  lay  in  frozen  silence.”  It 
was  the  night  before  the  battle,  for  at  sunrise  of  the 

4th,  just  as  the  soldiers  were  preparing  breakfast  the 

Indian  horde,  whose  presence  was  unknown  and  unsus- 

pected, suddenly  plunged  from  their  hidden  ambush 

and  with  savage  yells  opened  fire  on  the  militia,  who 

rushed  pellmell  into  the  center  of  the  camp  of  the 

regulars  amid  whom  they  spread  dismay  and  confusion. 

It  was  the  repetition  of  Braddock’s  entrapment.  The 
story  of  the  desperate  and  gory  conflict  has  been  told 

again  and  again  from  the  official  reports  and  the  diaries 

of  participants,  the  last  and  perhaps  best  war  picture 

being  that  by  the  pen  of  Roosevelt. 

There  was  no  time  nor  room  for  the  terror-benumbed 

soldiers  to  form  or  respond  to  the  onslaught  of  the 

‘‘woodland  warriors,”  who  soon  completely  encircled 
the  American  camp,  and  Indian  fashion,  protected 

by  logs,  trees  and  brush,  crowded  closer  and  closer, 

as  they  poured  their  shots  into  the  crowded  and  dis- 
ordered soldiers,  huddled  like  sheep  on  the  elevated 

ground.  The  officers,  amid  this  “wall  of  flame” 
strove  bravely  to  rally  and  form  the  troops,  who 

discharged  their  rifles  in  an  aimless  manner  for  the 

enemy  was  mostly  hidden  from  sight.  The  artillerymen 

were  soon  picked  off  and  the  cannon  silenced.  The 

men  fell  in  great  numbers  in  all  parts  of  the  camp, 

confusion  increased,  the  Indians  boldly  swarmed  for- 
ward to  shoot  at  close  range  and  even  dash  into  the 

American  ranks  and  engage  in  close  encounter. 
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St.  Clair,  so  weak  he  had  to  be  lifted  upon  his  horse, 

had  three  mounts  shot  from  under  him;  eight  bullets 

pierced  his  clothing  and  one  clipped  his  grey  hair. 

General  Richard  Butler,  second  in  command,  was 

twice  hit  and  fell  mortally  wounded,  and  lay  according 

to  the  account  of  Stone,  in  the  “Life  of  Brant,”  upon 
the  field,  writhing  in  agony,  when  Simon  Girty,  who 

played  a   conspicuous  part  in  the  battle,  being  in  com- 

mand of  the  Wyandots,  passed  the  general  who  knew 

the  renegade  and  requested  him  to  put  an  end  to  his 

misery;  this  the  traitor  refused  to  do  but  one  of  his 

warriors  sprang  forward  and  planted  his  tomahawk 

in  the  head  of  the  dying  officer,  and  thus  terminated 

his  sufferings;  “his  scalp  was  instantly  torn  from  his 
crown,  his  heart  taken  out  and  divided  into  as  many 

pieces  as  there  were  tribes  engaged  in  the  battle.” 

Butterfield  in  his  “History  of  the  Girtys”  regards 

this  account  as  “trustworthy”  but  Roosevelt  insists 

that  after  Butler  received  his  mortal  wound,  “there 
is  no  further  certain  record  of  his  fate  except  that  he  was 

slain.”  Certain  it  is  that  many  such  incidents  added 
bloody  coloring  to  the  dreadful  scene  of  the  battle, 

and  “no  words  can  paint  the  hopelessness  and  horror  of 

such  a   struggle  as  that  in  which  they  were  engaged.  ” 
The  conflict  continued  nearly  three  hours  until  the 

survivors,  comprising  the  remnant  of  the  army  became 

too  stupefied  and  bewildered  for  further  action  of  any 

kind.  That  all  might  not  be  sacrificed,  St.  Clair  ordered 
a   retreat.  Such  of  the  wounded  as  could  be  moved 

were  hastily  gathered  together,  a   last  charge,  by  the 

remaining  combatants,  was  made  against  the  enemy, 

that  an  opening  through  their  lines  might  be  made 
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enabling  the  fleeing  force  to  escape.  The  flight  was  • 
successful.  The  Indian  warriors  at  first  attempted 

pursuit  but  returned  to  secure  the  rich  booty  left 

upon  the  field.  As  the  diary  of  Major  Ebenezer  Denny 

— a   brave  participant  in  the  battle — recounts,  it  was 
a   disgraceful  flight  even  to  the  very  gates  of  Fort 

Jefferson.  The  road  for  miles  was  covered  with  fire- 

locks, cartridge-boxes  and  regimentals.  Stragglers  for 
hours  continued  to  stumble  into  the  fort.  The  killed 

and  missing  numbered  thirty-seven  officers,  one  major-  s 

general  (Butler),  one  lieutenant-colonel,  three  majors, 
twelve  captains,  ten  lieutenants,  eight  ensigns,  two 

quartermasters,  one  adjutant,  and  one  surgeon;  and  I 

five  hundred  and  ninety-three  privates;  the  wounded, 

thirty-three  officers  and  two  hundred  and  fifty  privates. 

A   total  disability  of  over  nine  hundred  men,  two-thirds 
the  entire  force  engaged.  It  was  a   far  greater  loss 

than  that  incurred  by  Washington  in  any  battle  of 

the  Revolution,  surpassing  by  hundreds  his  most 

disastrous  defeat  at  Germantown.  The  artillery  and 

all  supplies,  including  clothing,  two  hundred  tents, 

three  hundred  horses,  one  hundred  and  thirty  beef 

cattle,  and  food  in  wagons  with  muskets  and  other 

equipments,  all  valued  at  #33,000,  or  more,  were  left 

to  be  gathered  by  the  highly  elated  savages  and  borne 

to  their  lodges  as  plunder  of  war.  The  loss  of  the 

Indians  was  supposed  to  be  about  one  hundred  and 

fifty.  As  the  contest  was  one  for  territorial  posses- 
sions, the  Indians,  in  their  mutilations  of  the  dead, 

practised,  says  Stone,  a   bitter  sarcasm  upon  the  rapacity 

of  the  white  men,  by  filling  their  mouths  with  the  soil 

they  had  marched  forth  to  conquer. 
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Indeed  the  later  disclosures,  upon  the  scene  of  action, 

of  the  Indian  brutalities,  are  almost  too  inhuman  to 

be  recorded.  In  January  (1792)  following  St.  Clair’s 
disaster,  General  James  Wilkinson  was  ordered  to 

|   visit,  with  a   sufficient  force,  the  site  of  the  late  battle, 

examine  the  conditions  prevailing  and  make  such 

disposal,  as  might  be  possible,  of  the  dead.  From  the 

letter  of  Captain  Buntin,  one  of  Wilkinson’s  officers, 
to  St.  Clair,  we  take  the  following  passage,  as  quoted 

in  the  “Annals  of  the  West”  (1846)  by  James  H. 

Perkins:  “In  my  opinion,  those  unfortunate  men  who 

fell  in  the  enemy’s  hands,  with  life,  were  used  with 
the  greatest  torture — having  their  limbs  torn  off;  and 
the  women  [many  accompanied  the  army]  have  been 

treated  with  the  utmost  indecent  cruelty,  having  stakes 

as  thick  as  a   person’s  arm  drove  through  their  bodies. 

*   *   *   By  the  General’s  orders,  pits  were  dug  in 
different  places  and  all  the  dead  bodies  that  were 

:   exposed  to  view,  or  could  be  conveniently  found,  the 

snow  being  very  deep,  were  buried.” 
The  actual  number  of  Indians  engaged  in  this  victory, 

for  them,  is  not  recorded.  Simon  Girty  is  said  to  have 

>   told  a   prisoner  (William  May),  that  there  were  twelve 

hundred  in  the  attack,  among  them,  it  is  known, 

were  many  Canadians  and  half  breeds.  Little  Turtle 

was  the  acknowledged  chief  in  command,  aided  by 

Blue  Jacket,  Buckongahelas,  and  other  chiefs,  among 

'   whom  at  the  head  of  one  hundred  and  fifty  Mohawks, 
was  the  famous  Brant,  according  to  statements  sub- 

sequently made  by  the  chief’s  descendants  to  Stone, 
his  biographer.  There  must  also  have  been  found  in 

the  Indian  ranks,  of  that  attack,  a   young  warrior,  now 
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in  the  beginning  of  his  career  and  destined  to  be  the 

greatest  hero  of  the  Ohio  tribes,  Tecumseh,  the  Shaw- 
nee. Upon  their  learning  of  the  proposed  St.  Clair 

campaign,  the  chiefs  selected  Tecumseh  to  act  as  the 

head  of  a   small  party  of  spies,  to  watch  the  movements 

of  the  American  army  and  make  report  to  the  Indian 

headquarters.  Most  faithfully  did  Tecumseh  perform  \ 

the  duty  assigned  him.  All  unbeknown  to  St.  Clair, 

every  mile  of  his  progress,  was  heralded  to  the  chiefs, 

planning  for  the  opportune  moment  to  strike  the 

advancing  foe.  Tecumseh  will  merit  greater  attention 
later  on. 

After  his  return  to  Fort  Washington,  St.  Clair  pre- 

pared his  official  report,  “a  model  in  its  way,  cool, 

dispassionate,  magnanimous  in  a   high  degree,”  to 
General  Knox,  the  War  Secretary  at  Philadelphia,! 

then  the  seat  of  government.  Major  Denny  was  the 

messenger  and  it  was  December  19th  before  he  reached! 

his  destination.  When  Washington  learned  the  appal- 

ling news,  the  story  goes,  it  was  whispered  to  him,  as> 

he  sat  at  a   formal  dinner,  which  he  continued  with 

his  usual  serenity,  following  which  was  a   reception  j 

attended  by  him  with  his  characteristic  courtliness.! 

The  guests  having  departed,  Washington — now  alone  stl 

with  Tobias  Lear,  his  secretary — walking  backward  and 

forward,  broke  out  suddenly:  “It’s  all  over — St. 

Clair’s  defeated — routed — the  officers  nearly  all  killed, 

the  men  by  hundreds — the  rout  complete — too  shocking 

to  think  of — and  a   surprise  into  the  bargain.”  He 
continued  to  pour  forth  a   torrent  of  bitter  invectives 

against  St.  Clair,  that  he  had  ignored  the  president’s 

warnings  and  permitted  the  army  “to  be  cut  to  pieces, 
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hacked,  butchered,  tomahawked,  by  a   surprise — the 
very  thing  I   guarded  him  against.  O   God,  O   God, 

he’s  worse  than  a   murderer!  How  can  he  answer  it  to 

his  country  ?   The  blood  of  the  slain  is  upon  him — the 

curse  of  widows  and  orphans — the  curse  of  heaven.” 
This  explosion  came  in  tones  appalling.  His  very 

frame  shook.  It  was  awful,  said  Mr.  Lear.  More  than 

once  he  threw  up  his  hands  as  he  hurled  imprecations 

upon  St.  Clair.  Mr.  Lear  remained  speechless,  awed 

into  breathless  silence.  Then  having  spent  his  “un- 

governable burst  of  passion,”  Washington  regained 

his  composure  and  declared,  “St.  Clair  shall  have 

justice,  ”   and  that  was  accorded  him  for  he  still  retained 
the  undiminished  esteem  and  good  opinion  of  the 

president.  This  anecdote  was  first  published  in  “Wash- 

ington in  Domestic  Life”  by  Benjamin  Rush,  who 
received  the  account  direct  from  Colonel  Tobias  Lear, 

private  secretary  to  the  president  and  a   personal  witness 

of  the  incident.  It  has  since  been  repeated  by  in- 

numerable historians  from  Washington  Irving  to  Roose- 

velt and  Lodge  and  undoubtedly  occurred  as  related, 

despite  the  skepticism  of  William  Henry  Smith,  who 

in  his  valuable  sketch  of  St.  Clair,  pronounces  the 

story  as  apocryphal. 

The  popular  clamor  against  St.  Clair  was,  of  course, 

loud  and  deep.  He  promptly  announced  his  intention 

of  resigning  his  commission  but  expressed  his  desire 

to  retain  it  until  a   court  could  investigate  his  conduct. 

Officers  could  not  be  spared  at  that  time  for  such  a 

purpose,  and  the  matter  was  referred  to  a   committee 

of  Congress,  which  after  due  examination  exonerated 
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St.  Clair,  and  reported  the  cause  of  the  defeat  as  due 

to  circumstances  and  conditions  for  which  the  comman- 

der of  the  expedition  was  not  responsible. 

It  was  however  a   staggering  blow  to  the  government 

at  the  head  of  which  was  Washington,  now  charged 

with  inefficiency  and  maladministration.  The  fron- 
tiersmen were  thrown  into  a   state  of  terror  and  the 

settlers  on  the  Muskingum  and  the  Miamis  hastily 

took  refuge  in  the  stockades.  It  was  a   day  of  gloom 

and  dismay.  Was  the  government  at  Philadelphia 

impotent  and  would  the  Northwest  be  regained  by 

the  British  and  the  tribesmen?  St.  Clair’s  resignation 
was  accepted  and  in  April,  1792,  Washington,  after  I 

mature  deliberation,  appointed  as  successor  to  the 

unfortunate,  war-worn  patriot,  the  young  dashing 

plumed  Navarre  of  warfare — Anthony  Wayne.  He 
was  now  less  than  fifty  and  had,  more  than  ten  years 

before,  won  the  rank  of  major-general  for  his  brilliant 

bravery  and  generalship  in  the  battles  of  the  Revolu- 

tion. His  star  was  brightest  at  Stony  Point,  into  the 

citadel  of  which  he  forced  his  way  at  the  point  of  the 

bayonet,  a   dare-devil  feat,  for  which  he  was  subse- 

quently known  as  “   Mad  Anthony.  ”   After  the  Revolu- 
tion he  conducted,  in  Georgia,  a   campaign  against  the 

Creek  Indians,  in  which  he  evinced  a   talent  for  sucess-  ; 

fully  coping  with  a   savage  foe. 

Congress  at  once  enlarged  and  reorganized  the  army, 

adopted  plans  for  the  strengthening  of  the  frontier 

posts  and  advocated  measures  for  the  placation  of 

the  Indian  tribes  so  far  as  possible.  Wayne  was 

directed  to  make  preparations  for  the  carrying  of 
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another  war  into  the  country  of  the  enemy.  Rufus 

Putnam  was  appointed  a   brigadier-general  to  serve 
under  Wayne. 

The  American  government,  however,  earnestly  desired 

to  avoid  war,  for  which  it  could  neither  spare  the 

!   men  nor  the  money.  Every  effort  was  made  to  bring 

about  councils  conducive  to  peace,  with  some,  if  not 

all,  the  tribes.  In  March  (1792),  fifty  Iroquois  chiefs 

assembled  at  Philadelphia,  “to  the  mutual  satisfac- 

tion of  the  parties,”  says  Stone,  but  the  satisfaction 
must  have  been  purely  a   sentimental  one  for  no  tan- 

gible results  ensued.  Brant  declined  the  invitation 

and  sent  his  regrets,  but  a   few  months  later  personally 

1   visited  the  “city  of  brotherly  love”  and  met  some 
!   American  representatives,  who  he  wrote  to  a   British 

official,  offered  him  “several  allurements  of  gain,” 

viz.,  “a  thousand  guineas  down,”  and  double  the  half 
j   pay  and  pension  he  was  then  receiving  from  Great 

Britain,  if  he  would  transfer  his  allegiance  to  the  Ameri- 

can government.  But  we  are  not  permitted  to  trace 

the  sinuous  intrigues  between  the  red  and  two  white 

•   races,  at  this  period,  in  the  midst  of  which  there  now 

appears  Colonel  John  G.  Simcoe,  first  lieutenant- 
governor  of  the  newly  organized  territory  of  Western 

Canada,  with  headquarters  at  Fort  Niagara.  Nor  can 
we  more  than  note  the  numerous  councils  and  tentative 

measures  for  peace.  In  the  summer  of  1792,  messen- 
gers for  secret  information  and  envoys  of  peace  were 

sent  into  the  Miami  and  Wabash  countries.  Major 

Alexander  Truemen  and  Captain  John  Hardin,  official 

spies,  while  proceeding  on  their  errand,  the  former  to 

Sandusky  and  the  latter  to  the  Northwest,  were 
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murdered  by  the  hostile  Indians.  General  Putnam, 

accompanied  by  the  missionary  Heckewelder,  ap- 

pointed Assistant  Commissioner  by  the  War  Depart- 
ment, reached  Fort  Knox  where  he  met  thirty  chiefs, 

representing  ten  of  the  Wabash  and  Illinois  tribes,  who  i 

agreed  to  friendly  relations  with  the  government.  Dur- 

ing the  time  extending  from  the  summer  of  this  year  ! 

(1792)  to  the  fall  of  1793,  many  councils  of  more  or  less 

importance  were  convened,  at  Detroit,  Au  Glaize,  Rapids 

of  the  Miami,  Sandusky,  Niagara  and  other  points. 

The  proceedings  of  these  meetings,  drawn  out  with 

lengthy  debates  and  grandiose  ceremonies,  are  found 

in  the  American  State  Papers,  for  Indian  Affairs.  At 

these  gatherings,  among  the  British  representatives 

were  Elliott,  McKee,  Simcoe  and  John  Butler;  the 

more  conspicuous  Americans  were  Benjamin  Lincoln, 

Timothy  Pickering,  and  Beverly  Randolph.  Brant, 

tactful  and  treacherous,  Red  Jacket  and  Cornplanter, 

advocates  of  peace,  were  the  leading  speakers  for  their 

people.  The  Americans  sought  the  cessation  of  hos-  i 

tilities,  but  the  retention  of  all  rights  under  existing 

treaties.  The  tribesmen  were  divided  in  their  desires,  j 

a   few  tribes,  especially  the  implacable  Shawnees,  were 

for  war  to  the  knife,  mostly  the  chiefs  contended  for 

peace,  many  wished  to  disregard  the  previous  treaties 

of  Stanwix  and  McIntosh,  and  demanded  that  the 

boundary  line  between  the  white  and  red  men  be 

“finally  fixed  at  Ohio  River.  ”   The  British  at  first 
pretending  passivity  gradually  revealed  their  hostile 

attitude,  insidiously  urging  on  the  tribesmen  to  an 
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offensive  action,  and  becoming  almost  insolent  in 

their  expressions  touching  their  policy  toward  the 

young  Federal  Republic. 

The  evidence  of  the  bravado  of  the  Canadian  authori- 

ties is  sufficiently  set  forth  in  an  address  of  welcome  to 

some  tribal  chiefs  by  Lord  Dorchester  on  his  return 

(February  io,  1794)  from  a   visit  to  England.  His 

words  were:  “ Children  since  my  return  I   find  no  ap- 
pearance of  the  line  [boundary]  remains;  and  from  the 

manner  in  which  the  peple  of  the  United  States  push 

on  and  act  and  talk,  I   shall  not  be  surprised  if  we  are 

at  war  with  them  in  the  course  of  the  present  year, 

and  if  so  the  line  must  be  drawn  by  the  warriors.’’ 
Furthermore  the  situation  of  the  National  govern- 

ment at  this  time  was  made  still  more  delicate  and 

critical  by  the  active  but  clandestine  policy  of  Spain 

towards  the  United  States.  The  Spanish  authorities, 

for  reasons  it  is  not  our  province  to  here  explain,  were 

inciting  the  southern  tribes  to  warfare  against  the 

Americans,  whose  representatives  were  meeting  in 

councils  the  Creeks,  Cherokees  and  other  nations, 

;   with  the  purpose  of  retaining  the  amicable  disposition 
of  those  tribesmen.  The  proceedings  of  these  meetings, 

I   reported  in  the  American  State  Papers,  disclose  the crafty  hand  of  the  Spaniard.  For  instance,  at  Knox- 

ville, March,  1793,  James  Carey,  an  Indian  interpreter, 

stated  to  William  Blount,  then  territorial  governor  of  the 

tract  that  later  became  the  state  of  Tennessee,  that  the 

Cherokees,  and  allying  southern  tribes,  were  prepared 

to  join  the  northern  tribes  in  war  against  the  United 

States,  because  of  the  “   promised  support  of  the  Span- 
iards, the  expected  support  of  the  British,  and  the 
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victories  obtained  by  the  northern  tribes  over  the  armies 

of  the  United  States.  ”   Moreover  the  southern  Indians 
as  well  as  the  northern,  were  well  aware  of  the  inability 

of  the  American  government,  at  this  time,  to  finance 
an  extended  war. 

The  series  of  peace  councils  with  the  northern  tribes 

reached  its  close.  The  tribesmen  were  not  to  be  ap- 

peased, believing  in  their  strength  and  relying  upon 

British  complicity,  their  voice  was  for  a   renewal  of 

the  hostilities.  No  other  alternative  was  left;  the 

government  but  to  once  more  unsheathe  the  sword — 
and  that  was  to  be  the  sword  of  the  invincible  Wayne. 



Chapter  XXIV. 

FALLEN  TIMBERS  AND  THE 

GREENVILLE  TREATY  ’ 





THE  Americans,  as  we  have  seen,  and  as  Albach tersely  puts  it,  were  not  disposed  to  yield 

even  to  this  “ Hydra”  of  British,  Spanish 
and  Indian  hostility.  Washington,  patient, 

persistent  and  wary,  directed  the  preparatory  plans 

of  Wayne,  who  spent  the  summer  of  1792,  at  Pitts- 

burg, where  some  twenty-five  hundred  men  were 
enlisted  and  organized  into  companies  of  horse,  foot 

and  artillery.  In  the  fall  of  this  year  the  troops  were 

moved  twenty  miles  down  the  Ohio  to  Legionville, 

near  the  old  historic  Logstown,  where  temporary 

;   quarters  were  occupied  until  April,  1793,  when  they 

descended  the  Ohio  to  Cincinnati;  the  infantry  and 

artillery  going  into  camp  at  a   point  called  “Hobson’s 

Choice” — “because  it  was  the  only  ground  which 

1   was  in  any  degree  calculated  for  the  purpose.”  The 
four  companies  of  cavalry  were  sent  over  to  a   camp 

in  Kentucky,  “where,”  says  King  in  his  “Ohio” 

history,  “bushwacking  and  charging  through  the 
woods  and  broken  grounds  on  the  Licking  was  prac- 

ticed all  summer.”  Wayne  in  due  time,  considered 
his  army  sufficiently  well  drilled  and  disciplined  to 

enter  upon  the  campaign  and  in  October  he  began  his 

forward  movement  into  the  country  of  the  enemy. 

He  did  not,  however,  proceed  far  before  meeting  his 

first  decisive  opposition,  which  in  a   letter  to  the  Secre- 

tary of  War,  he  calls  “a  little  check  to  our  convoys, 
which  may  probably  be  exaggerated  into  something 

serious  by  the  tongue  of  fame.”  He  had  crossed  the 
Great  Miami  some  distance  above  the  Four  Mile 

Creek,  where  on  October  17th,  Lieutenant  Lowry, 
in  command  of  a   detachment  of  some  hundred  men 
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and  twenty  wagons,  was  attacked  by  Little  Turtle, 

with  a   band  of  savages,  at  Ludlow  Springs,  about 
seven  miles  north  of  Fort  St.  Clair.  Lieutenant 

Lowry  was  killed  with  some  thirteen  non-commis- 
sioned officers  and  privates.  The  exultant  warriors 

carried  off  about  seventy  horses  but  left  the  wagons 

and  camp  stores  standing  in  the  road.  Fort  St.  Clair, 

near  where  this  incident  occurred,  is  here  mentioned 

for  the  first  time  and  deserves  descriptive  mention. 

It  was  another  advantageous  link  in  the  chain  of  secure 
stations  to  extend  from  the  Ohio  to  the  Maumee  and 

was  located  nearly  midway  between  Forts  Hamilton 

and  Jefferson.  It  was  a   small  stockade  military  post, 

established  by  the  orders  of  General  Wilkinson,  in 

January,  1792,  after  the  latter’s  return  from  the  scene 

of  St.  Clair’s  defeat.  It  was  built  by  Major  John  S. 
Gano  and  during  the  erection,  the  sentinels,  guarding 

the  work,  were  under  Ensign  William  Henry  Harrison, 

at  this  time  a   youth  of  twenty,  but  so  energetic  and 

promising  as  to  incur  the  jealousy  of  many  officers. 

His  first  appearance  in  this  campaign  was  with  Wilkin- 

son in  the  latter’s  inspection  of  the  scene  of  St.  Clair’s 
disaster.  It  was  at  this  point,  Fort  St.  Clair,  in  the 

Fall  of  1792,  that  Little  Turtle,  the  ubiquitous  and 

unconquerable  warrior,  with  a   band  of  Mingoes  and 

Wyandots,  ambuscaded  a   company  of  Kentucky 

riflemen,  under  Captain  John  Adair,  several  of  whose 
command  were  killed  and  wounded. 

The  fate  of  Lowry  and  his  brave  companions  betok- 
ened to  Wayne  that  his  progress  was  to  be  contested 

by  the  enemy  at  every  step  of  the  way.  He  pushed 

doggedly  on  and  took  up  winter  quarters  on  the  south- 



ANTHONY  WAYNE 

Born  in  Chester  County,  Pa.,  January  i,  1745,  died  at 

Erie,  Pa.,  December  15,  1796.  One  of  the  most  brilliant 
generals  in  the  American  Revolution.  Led  the  Western 

Army  that  finally  conquered  the  Ohio  Indian  Confederacy 

at  Fallen  Timbers,  August,  1794.  Presided  at  the  Green- 
ville Treaty  a   ycar&ter. 



538 
  THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

“   37IYAW  YKOIITMA       —     Turtle, 

withmaintoand  3iftfro^agfe§i  - 19fof es  about 
^faoi^uI<w9^nBoh9m/i  and^ii  ̂ Is-iSnaa  °   9   u * 

'{oaisdoLioD  n^nrorrfrf^rf.t  ;   ' 

LoW4jy)T£W*|$  ii'J -HJifeetf*  4$foi  ,8t^#p^^lB'Jl^1_comrnjs 
sioned  officer;  and  .V  ̂ WSfit  warriors carried  off  about 

and  camp  stores 
near  where  this 
for  the  first 

It  was  anot  ; 
stations  to 

was  located 

and  Jefferson 
established  b 

v-  :   v v   horses  but  left  the  wagon? 
in  the  road.  Fort  St.  Clair. 

ll  occurred,  is  here  mentioned 
;   d   deserves  descriptive  mention 

ntageous  link  in  the  chain  of  secure 
from  the  Ohio  to  the  Adaumee  and 

"ly  midway  between  Forts  Hamilton 
It  was  a   small  stockade  military  post, 
the  orders  of  General  Wilkinson,  M 

Jamrary,  1792,  after  the  latter’s  return  from  the  scene 
of  St.  Clair’s  defeat.  It  was  built  by  Major  John  S Gano  and  during  the  erection,  the  sentinels,  guarding 
the  work,  were  under  Ensign  William  Henry  Harrison 
at  this  time  a   youth  of  twenty,  but  so  energetic  an< 
P*  '   jealousy  of  many  offic ;   campaign  was  with  Wilkin* 

of  the  scene  of  St.  Clairt 

oint.  Fort  St.  Clair,  in  th 

Fall  ol  i79->  that  Little  iurtle,  the  ubiquitous  ar 
unconquerable  warrior,  with  a   band  of  Mingoes  ami 
W   yandots,  ambuscaded  a   company  of  Kentucky 
riflemen,  under  C   aptain  John  Adair,  several  of  whosf command  were  killed  and  wounded 

d   he  fate  of  Lowry  and  his  brave  companions  belok- 
ened  to  Wayne  that  his  progress  was  to  be  contested 
by  the  enemy  at  every  step  of  the  way.  He  pushe. 
doggedly  on  and  tool:  up  winter  quarters  on  thesouti I 







OF  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 539 

west  branch  of  the  Stillwater,  some  six  miles  in  advance 

of  Fort  Jefferson,  where  he  erected  a   stockade  of  un- 

usual size  and  strength,  twenty-five  rods  in  length, 
and  some  twelve  in  width,  enclosing  fifty  acres  of  land. 

The  soldiers  were  sheltered  in  comfortable  huts,  and 

there  were  officers’  quarters,  a   magazine,  storehouses, 
etc.  Every  precaution  was  taken  and  all  provisions 

secured  for  the  safety  and  comfort  of  the  men.  This 

!   capacious  post  Wayne  named  Fort  Greenville  in  honor 
of  his  old  comrade  in  the  Revolution,  General  Greene. 

It  is  now  the  site  of  the  thriving  city  of  that  name. 

At  this  fortified  encampment  the  exercising  of  the 

soldiers  in  active  frontier  warfare  was  continued  during 

the  winter  of  1793-94.  The  troops  were  made  familiar 
with  all  the  devices  known  to  backwoods  warfare. 

Especially  was  every  possible  precaution  taken  to 

avoid  being  surprised,  for  Wayne  was  determined  to 

avoid  the  fates  of  Braddock,  Harmar  and  St.  Clair, 

and  he  attached  to  his  army  a   corps  of  most  daring 

and  expert  scouts,  spies  and  rangers,  the  latter,  about 

forty  in  number  under  Captain  Ephraim  Kibby, 

being  on  foot.  The  spies,  seven  in  number,  were 

mounted,  and  were  led  by  William  Wells,  the  son-in-law 
of  Little  Turtle,  and  who  had  acted  as  scout  for  his 

father-in-law,  the  Miami  chief,  in  the  Harmar  and 

St.  Clair  campaigns.  Just  how  Wells  now  came 

to  be  with  Wayne  does  not  seem  to  be  clearly  recorded. 

The  usually  accepted  story  is  that  after  the  defeat  of 

St.  Clair,  in  which  Wells  killed  several  Americans 

with  his  own  hand,  his  deeds  preyed  upon  his  mind, 

and  thinking  he  might  have  slain  some  of  his  own  kins- 

men, he  resolved  to  abandon  his  Indian  wife  and  half- 
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breed  children  and  return  to  his  native  people.  The 

tradition  continues  that  on  the  eve  of  his  separation 

he  invited  Little  Turtle  to  walk  with  him,  and  together 

they  passed  to  an  elevation  on  the  banks  of  the  Mau- 
mee, from  which  point  the  picturesque  scenery  up  and 

down  the  river  could  be  viewed  in  its  mid-summer 

beauty.  There  Wells  broke  the  news  of  his  decision, 

saying,  “My  father,  we  have  long  been  friends,  but  I 
now  must  leave  you  to  return  to  my  people,  and  we 

will  remain  friends  until  the  sun  reaches  its  midday 

height,  and  from  that  time  on  we  will  be  enemies,  and 

if  you  wish  to  kill  me  you  may,  and  if  I   wish  to  kill 

you  I   may.”  They  warmly  embraced  each  other, 

“and  the  large  tears  coursed  down  the  sun-bronzed 
cheeks  of  the  chieftain,  who  was  unused  to  manifesting 

emotion.”  Certain  it  is  Wells  deserted  the  Miamis 
and  joined  Wayne  and  served  him  with  devoted  loyalty. 

After  the  campaign  he  was  reunited  to  his  Indian 

wife  and  children  but  ever  remained  friendly  and  faith- 

ful to  the  American  cause,  for  which  he  was  finally 

slain,  in  1812,  at  the  Chicago  massacre,  by  Indians, 

who  ate  the  heart  and  part  of  the  body  of  the  renowned 

scout  and  high-minded  man.  His  adventures,  particu- 

larly those  while  scout  for  Wayne,  are  related  in  the 

“Biographical  Sketches,”  by  John  McDonald,  himself 

a   spy  in  Wayne’s  army.  Other  daring  scouts  with 
Wayne  were  the  brothers  William  and  Christopher 

Miller,  and  Robert  McClellan;  the  exploits  of  the 

latter  are  set  forth  at  interesting  length  in  the  “Pioneer 

Biography”  by  James  McBride,  and  in  the  entertain- 
ing autobiography  of  the  Rev.  James  B.  Finley. 
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With  these  scouts,  aided  by  a   few  Chickasaw  and 

Choctaw  Indians,  the  country  was  scoured  in  all 

directions  and  many  Indian  captives  secured,  from  whom 

Wayne  extracted  much  information  concerning  the 

movements  and  strength  of  the  savage  foe,  and  learned 
likewise  of  the  activities  of  the  British  in  behalf  of 

the  tribesmen.  Meanwhile  Wayne’s  wood  choppers 
were  cutting  roads  in  various  directions  so  as  to  deceive 

the  Indians  as  to  the  route  he  expected  to  pursue. 

They  were  at  loss  to  determine  whether  he  intended 

to  strike  for  the  head  of  the  Maumee,  the  Rapids,  or 

the  middle  course  down  the  Auglaize.  From  these 

deceptive  maneuvers  and  stealthy  tactics  the  Indians 

gave  him  the  title  of  Sukachgook,  the  Delaware  name 
for  Black  Snake. 

On  Christmas  day  (1793)  a   detachment,  under 

Captain  Alexander  Gibson,  sent  forth  by  Wayne, 

took  possession  of  the  field  of  St.  Clair’s  defeat.  The 
previous  burial  work  of  Wilkinson  had,  necessarily, 

been  only  partially  done  and  the  bones  of  the  slain 

he  had  interred  had  become  in  large  part  uncovered 

and  exposed.  The  “American  Pioneer”  quotes  a   letter 

written  by  one  present,  to  the  effect:  “Six  hundred 
skulls,  were  gathered  up  and  buried;  when  we  came 

to  lay  down  in  our  tents  at  night,  we  had  to  scrape  the 

bones  together  and  carry  them  out  to  make  our  beds.” 
Here  was  erected  a   stockade  called  Fort  Recovery, 

as  significant  of  the  American  reoccupation  of  the 

ground,  which  was  now  properly  garrisoned  and  placed 

under  the  charge  of  Captain  Gibson. 

The  winter  and  spring  (1794)  gradually  wore  away 

and  still  Wayne  delayed,  waiting  for  the  arrival  of 
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provisions  and  a   thorough  readiness  before  setting 

forth.  Meanwhile  the  hordes  of  Little  Turtle  grew 

impatient  and  bold  and  under  their  intrepid  leader 

advanced,  in  June,  to  make  an  assault  on  Fort  Recovery 

which  was  then  garrisoned  by  one  hundred  and  fifty 

men,  commanded  by  Major  William  McMahon.  The 
warriors  were  estimated  to  be  from  one  to  two  thousand 

strong,  while  Wayne  in  his  report  to  Knox,  says: 

“   Certain  facts  and  circumstances  which  amount  almost 
to  proof  [show]  that  there  were  a   considerable  number 

of  British  and  militia  of  Detroit  mixed  with  the  savages, 

in  the  assault.”  The  fort  was  assailed  on  every  side 
with  great  fury,  the  savages,  though  repulsed  again 

and  again  with  great  loss,  continued  the  siege  for  two 

days  and  the  intervening  night,  but  were  ultimately 

compelled  to  retreat  from  the  very  field  on  which  they 

had  been  so  proudly  victorious  less  than  three  years 

before.  The  American  loss  was  twenty-two  killed 

and  thirty  wounded.  Simon  Girty  fought,  with  con- 

spicuous fearlessness,  with  the  Indians,  and  Butter- 

field says  it  was  the  last  battle  against  his  own  country- 
men in  which  he  took  an  active  part.  The  disastrous 

result  of  this  assault  was  not  only  an  unexpected  reverse 

to  the  savages,  whose  loss  was  unusually  great,  but 

also  to  the  British,  who  stood  as  sponsors  to  the  move- 
ments of  the  tribesmen,  for  the  British  were  not  only 

redoubling  their  assistance  to  the  tribes,  supplying 
them  with  arms  and  munitions  but  were  in  their  own 

behalf  taking  bold  measures  of  offensive  warfare. 

For  it  was  at  this  time,  April  (1794),  that  under  the 

orders  of  Governor  Simcoe,  three  British  companies, 

commanded  by  Colonel  Richard  England,  proceeded 
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to  the  foot  of  the  Maumee  Rapids  and  built  a   fort, 

a   veritable  stronghold  on  the  left  or  northern  bank  of 

the  Maumee,  “an  encroachment  of  nearly  forty  miles 

upon  the  American  soil.”  This  fortification,  called 
Fort  Miami,  was  thoroughly  armed  and  garrisoned 

under  the  command  of  Major  William  Campbell, 

while  only  a   mile  and  a   half  above  the  fort  and  near 

the  river  rapids  was  the  British  agency  of  Superintend- 

ent Alexander  McKee,  under  whose  management  pro- 
visions and  arms  were  distributed  to  the  Indians. 

The  British,  as  noted  by  Slocum  in  “The  Ohio  Country,” 
also  built  another  post  twelve  to  fifteen  miles  within  the 

American  territory,  situated  on  Turtle  Island,  just 

outside  the  Maumee  Bay,  twenty  miles  or  so  northeast 
from  the  Fort  Miami. 

At  Fort  Miami,  as  well  as  at  Fort  Lernoult,  as  the 

Detroit  post  defense  was  now  called  after  its  com- 

mandant, Lernoult,  all  movements  of  Wayne’s  army 
were  promptly  reported  and  precautions  defensive 

were  taken  or  operations  offensive  made  accordingly, 

'   as  if  the  advance  of  the  American  army  was  a   campaign 
hostile  to  the  British  no  less  than  to  the  Indian  tribes- 

men. Certainly  these  martial  movements,  so  open  and 

flagrant,  in  violation  of  the  peaceful  treaties  and 

relations  then  presumptively  existing  between  England 

and  the  Republic,  not  only  aroused  the  indignation 

of  Washington,  and  the  protest  of  Jefferson,  but  not 

a   little  alarmed  the  citizens  of  the  country.  At  this 

time  Mr.  Jay  was  in  London  engaged  in  the  treaty 

negotiations  between  American  and  England  and  to 

him  Washington  wrote  concerning  the  Miami  Fort 

episode:  “Can  that  government,  or  will  it  attempt, 
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after  this  official  act  of  one  of  its  governors,  to  hold 

out  ideas  of  friendly  intentions  toward  the  United 

States,  and  suffer  such  conduct  to  pass  with  impunity? 

This  may  be  considered  as  the  most  open  and  daring 

act  of  the  British  agents  in  America,  though  it  is  not 

the  most  hostile  or  cruel;  for  there  does  not  remain  a 

doubt  in  the  mind  of  any  well  informed  person  in  this 

country,  not  shut  against  conviction,  that  all  the 

difficulties  we  encounter  with  the  Indian — their  hos- 

tilities, the  numbers  of  helpless  women  and  innocent 

children  along  our  frontiers — result  from  the  conduct 
of  the  agents  of  Great  Britain  in  this  country;  in 

vain  is  it,  then,  for  its  administration  in  Britain  to 

disavow  having  given  orders  which  will  warrant  such 

conduct,  whilst  their  agents  go  unpunished.”  etc. 
To  what  extent  the  effrontery  of  the  Canadian  authori- 

ties represented  the  acquiescence,  possibly  the  initia- 
tive, of  the  English  government  at  London,  is  a   question 

too  discursive  to  our  purpose.  That  the  British  home 

ministry  had  guilty  knowledge,  if  not  actual  participa- 

tion in  it  all — as  implied  by  Washington’s  letter  to 

Jay — is  clearly  proven  in  the  Canadian  Archives  and 
concisely  stated  in  the  authoritative  pages  of  Justin 

Winsor’s  “Westward  Movement.” 
On  the  26th  of  July,  General  Charles  Scott,  with 

sixteen  hundred  mounted  men  from  Kentucky,  whither 

they  had  been  sent  to  remain  during  the  past  winter, 

joined  Wayne  at  Greenville  and  two  days  later  the 

legion  left  its  quarters  and  moved  forward.  It  was 

a   tedious  progress  for  roads  had  to  be  cut,  log  bridges 

thrown  across  the  streams  and  the  swamps  made  pass- 
able by  fillings  of  stubble,  brush  and  timber.  In  five 
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days  the  St.  Mary’s  River  was  reached  on  the  banks 
of  which  was  built  a   small  stockade  thereafter  known  as 

Fort  Adams.  It  was  while  directing  the  erection  of 

this  small  fortress  that  a   portion  of  a   falling  tree  struck 

General  Wayne  nearly  putting  an  end  to  his  existence, 

as  related  in  the  diary  of  Lieutenant  Boyer.  A   week 

later,  August  8th,  brought  the  army  to  the  confluence 

of  the  Auglaize  and  the  Maumee,  a   place  which  Boyer 

states  “far  excels  in  beauty  any  in  the  western  country 
and  believed  to  be  equalled  by  none  in  the  Atlantic 

states;  here  are  vegetables  of  every  kind  in  abundance 
and  we  have  marched  four  or  five  miles  in  corn  fields 

down  the  Auglaize  and  there  is  not  less  than  a   thousand 

acres  of  corn  round  the  town.”  This  location  Wayne 

called  “the  grand  emporium  of  the  hostile  Indians 

of  the  West.”  At  this  strategic  point  Wayne,  without 
delay,  proceeded  to  erect  another  strong  and  capacious 

log  stockade,  with  four  good  blockhouses  as  bastions, 
which  he  christened  Fort  Defiance.  It  was  here  that 

began  the  string  of  Indian  towns  that  extended  along 

the  banks  of  the  Maumee  to  the  Lake,  “the  margin  of 

the  beautiful  Miami  of  the  Lake  [Maumee]”  wrote 

Wayne,  “appeared  like  one  continued  village  for  many 

miles.”  At  the  approach  of  the  army  the  savages 
deserted  their  habitations  and  fled  down  the  river. 

From  this  Auglaize  camp  Wayne  received  full  and 

accurate  accounts  of  the  strength  and  position  of  the 

Indians  and  the  aid  they  would  receive  from  the  British. 

From  here  he  also  sent  a   final  offer  of  friendship  to 

the  Indians,  asking  them  to  select  deputies  to  meet 

him,  “in  order  to  settle  preliminaries  of  a   lasting  peace” 
which  might  eventually  restore  to  them  their  posses- 
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sions  on  the  Maumee  and  Auglaize  and  preserve  their 

hapless  women  and  children  from  danger  and  famine. 

He  further  warned  them  to  “be  no  longer  deceived  or 
led  astray  by  the  false  promises  and  language  of  the 

bad  white  men  [British]  at  the  foot  of  the  Rapids.” 

The  chiefs  asked  ten  days’  delay  for  deliberation. 
But  Wayne  would  waste  no  time  in  parleyings,  his 

reply  was  an  immediate  forward  march. 

On  the  1 8th  the  army  had  advanced  forty-one  miles 

from  Fort  Defiance,  adown  the  river,  “and  began 
throwing  up  works  wherein  to  secure  and  deposit 

the  heavy  baggage  during  the  expected  battle.  The 

enclosure  was  called  Fort  Deposit.  On  this  day,  Boyer’s 

diary  reads:  “May,  one  of  our  spies,  fell  under  the 

enemy’s  hold;  what  his  fate  may  be  must  be  left  to 
future  success.”  What  that  fate  was  is  told  in  the 
narrative  of  the  captivity  of  John  Brickell,  as  related 

by  himself  and  published  in  the  “American  Pioneer.” 
Scout  May,  in  1791,  was  taken  prisoner  at  a   settlement 

on  the  Allegheny  River,  by  Delaware  Indians  under 

George  Girty.  The  latter  led  Brickell,  then  a   lad  of 

ten  years  of  age,  to  the  Tuscarawas  River.  Thence 

he  was  carried  to  the  region  of  the  Maumee,  where 

he  was  adopted  by  a   tribesman  named  Whingy  Pooshies 

— known  as  Big  Cat — who  must  have  been  a   most 
influential  chief  among  his  people  for  at  the  victory 

over  St.  Clair,  his  share  of  the  spoils  was  “two  fine 
horses,  four  tents,  one  of  which  was  a   noble  markee, 

which,”  says  Brickell,  “made  us  a   fine  house  in  which 

we  lived  the  remainder  of  my  captivity.”  Brickell 

and  his  Indian  captors  were  at  the  Rapids  on  Wayne’s 
approach,  and  it  was  into  the  camp  of  Whingy  Pooshies 
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that  May  intruded  and  met  his  capture.  Brickell, 

who  says  the  captors  knew  May,  for  he  had  been 

their  prisoner  once  before,  then  briefly  relates  the 

sequence.  They  told  May:  “We  know  you — you 
speak  Indian  language — you  not  content  to  live  with 

us;  to-morrow  we  take  you  to  a   tree — (pointing  to  a 
very  large  burr  oak  at  the  edge  of  the  clearing  which 

was  near  the  British  fort) — we  will  tie  you  up  and 
make  mark  on  your  breast  and  we  will  try  what 

Indian  can  shoot  nearest  it.”  It  so  turned  out.  The 
next  day,  the  very  day  before  the  battle,  the  savages 

bound  May  to  the  tree,  made  a   mark  on  his  breast  and 

riddled  his  body  with  bullets,  shooting  at  least  fifty 

into  him.  This  ended  poor  May,  the  over-brave  scout. 

The  overtures  of  peace  proposed  by  Wayne  were 

not  accepted.  A   day  or  two  before  the  battle,  the 
chiefs  held  a   council.  Little  Turtle  was  wise  and 

advocated  peace,  for  as  he  said,  he  saw  certain  defeat 

if  they  ventured  battle,  saying,  “We  have  beaten  the 
enemy  twice  under  different  commanders,  we  cannot 

expect  the  same  good  fortune  always  to  attend  us. 

The  Americans  now  have  a   chief  who  never  sleeps. 

The  night  and  day  are  alike  to  him.  During  all  the  time 

he  has  been  on  our  villages.  Notwithstanding  the 

watchfulness  of  our  young  men  we  have  never  been 

able  to  surprise  him.  Think  well  of  it.  There  is 

something  whispers  in  my  mind  it  would  be  well  to 

listen  to  his  offers  of  peace.”  But  Blue  Jacket  and 
other  chiefs  were  for  war.  Little  Turtle  then  proposed 

a   plan  of  battle,  that  he  thought  would  win  the  day. 

It  was  for  the  savage  army  to  be  divided;  one  half 

to  meet  and  hold  Wayne  in  check  but  fall  back,  letting 
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Wayne  advance,  while  the  other  Indian  wing  should 

ford  the  Maumee  in  the  night  and  ascend  the  south 

bank  to  Fort  Deposit,  take  or  destroy  the  supplies, 

then  hasten  along  the  north  bank  to  the  rear  and  left 

flank  of  Wayne’s  army.  But  Blue  Jacket  rejected  the 
plan;  they  would  boldly  meet  Wayne  in  front.  In 
this  decision  doubtless  Tecumseh  the  Shawnee  warrior 

acquiesced. 

On  August  20th  the  advancing  army  reached  the 

place  on  the  river  bank,  near  the  British  Fort,  known 

as  Fallen  Timbers,  because  the  land  was  strewn  with 

the  rows  of  dead  trees  of  a   former  thick  forest,  over 

which  a   hurricane  some  two  years  previous  had  swept. 

The  night  before  the  encounter,  the  plan  of  battle  was 

outlined  by  Lieutenant  William  Henry  Harrison,  then 

on  the  staff  of  Wayne.  It  was  early  in  the  morning 

when  Wayne’s  columns  confidently  moved  into  line 
opposite  the  Rapids.  The  order  of  the  advance  as 

stated  by  Wayne  in  his  subsequent  official  report  was: 

“the  legion  on  the  right,  its  right  flank  covered  by 
the  Miamis  [Maumee]  one  brigade  of  mounted  volun- 

teers on  the  left,  under  Brigadier  General  Todd,  the 

other  in  the  rear,  under  Brigadier  General  Barbie.  A 
select  battalion  of  mounted  volunteers  moved  in  front 

of  the  legion,  commanded  by  Major  Price,  who  was 

directed  to  keep  sufficiently  advanced,  so  as  to  give 

timely  notice  for  the  troops  in  case  of  action,  it  being 

yet  undetermined  whether  the  Indians  would  decide 

for  peace  or  war.”  We  let  Wayne’s  report  in  the 
American  State  Papers  relate  the  succinct  but  authentic 

account  of  the  battle:  “After  advancing  about  five 

miles,  Major  Price’s  corps  received  so  severe  a   fire  from 
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the  enemy,  who  were  secreted  in  the  woods  and  high 

grass,  as  to  compel  them  to  retreat.  The  legion  was 

immediately  formed  in  two  lines,  principally  in  a   close 

thick  wood,  which  extended  for  miles  on  our  left, 

and  for  a   very  considerable  distance  in  front,  the  ground 

being  covered  with  old  fallen  timber,  probably  occa- 
sioned by  a   tornado,  which  rendered  it  impracticable 

for  the  cavalry  to  act  with  effect,  and  afforded  the 

enemy  the  most  favorable  covert  for  their  mode  of 

warfare.  The  savages  were  formed  in  three  lines, 

within  supporting  distance  of  each  other,  and  extend- 
ing for  near  two  miles,  at  right  angles  with  the  river. 

I   soon  discovered,  from  the  weight  of  the  fire  and  extent 

of  their  lines,  that  the  enemy  were  in  full  force  in  front, 

in  possession  of  their  favorite  ground,  and  endeavoring 

to  turn  our  left  flank.  I   therefore  gave  orders  for  the 

second  line  to  advance  and  support  the  first,  and 

directed  Major  General  Scott  to  gain  and  turn  the 

right  flank  of  the  savages,  with  the  whole  of  the 

mounted  volunteers,  by  a   circuitous  route;  at  the 
same  time  I   ordered  the  front  line  to  advance  and 

charge  with  trailed  arms,  and  rouse  the  Indians  from 

their  coverts  at  the  point  of  the  bayonet,  and  when  up, 

to  deliver  a   close  and  well  directed  fire  on  their  backs, 

followed  by  a   brisk  charge,  so  as  not  to  give  them  time 

to  load  again.  I   also  ordered  Captain  Mis  Campbell, 

who  commanded  the  legionary  cavalry,  to  turn  the 

left  flank  of  the  enemy  next  the  river,  and  which  afford- 
ed a   favorable  field  for  that  corps  to  act  in.  All  these 

orders  were  obeyed  with  spirit  and  promptitude;  but 

such  was  the  impetuosity  of  the  charge  by  the  first 

line  of  infantry,  that  the  Indians,  and  Canadian  militia, 
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and  volunteers,  were  drove  from  all  their  coverts  in 

so  short  a   time,  that,  although  every  possible  exertion 

was  used  by  the  officers  of  the  second  line  of  the  legion, 

and  by  Generals  Scott,  Todd,  and  Barbie,  of  the 

mounted  volunteers,  to  gain  their  proper  positions,  but 

part  of  each  could  get  up  in  season  to  participate  in 

the  action,  the  enemy  being  drove,  in  the  course  of 

one  hour,  more  than  two  miles,  through  the  thick  woods 

already  mentioned,  by  less  than  one  half  their  numbers.” 
The  shrewd  scheme  of  Wayne  was  most  successful. 

The  sudden  and  systematic  attack  upon  the  Indian 

lines  at  all  points,  stampeded  the  savage  warriors 

and  forced  them  into  a   general  and  promiscuous  flight, 

which  their  chiefs  in  vain  strove  to  check.  The  dis- 

orderly retreat,  with  the  Americans  in  close  pursuit, 

continued  three  or  four  miles,  to  within  range  of  the 

guns  of  Fort  Miami,  the  gates  of  which  were  closed 

barring  admission  to  the  warriors,  much  to  their  rage 

and  dismay  for  the  British  had  promised  them  the 

protection  of  the  fortress.  Bitterly  denouncing  the  | 

treachery  of  their  alleged  Canadian  allies,  the  tribes- 

men fled  on  to  the  inland  forests  and  vanished  no  one  j 
knew  whither. 

“From  every  account,”  says  Wayne,  “the  Indian  force 
equalled  two  thousand,  including  the  British  Rangers 

and  Canadian  volunteers,  of  whose  number  there  is 

much  dispute.”  The  garrison  at  Fort  Miami  at  the 
time  was  some  four  hundred  strong,  a   portion  of  which 

took  part  in  the  battle.  Brice  in  his  “History  of 

Fort  Wayne”  puts  the  Indian  command  at  fourteen 
hundred  and  the  British  allies  at  seventy.  The  Indian 

tribes  were  represented  about  as  follows:  Delaware 
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500,  Shawnees  350,  Wyandots  300,  Tawas  250,  Miami 
200.  There  were  also  small  bands  of  other  tribes. 

The  British  contingent,  probably  about  200,  was  under 

Captain  Caldwell;  Alexander  McKee,  Mathew  Elliott 

and  Simon  Girty,  “were  in  the  field  but  at  a   respectable 
distance  and  near  the  river.”  There  is  some  uncer- 

tainty as  to  which  of  the  chiefs  was  in  command  of 

the  warriors,  the  writers  vary  as  to  this,  but  in  all 

probability  it  was  Blue  Jacket,  for  the  tradition  is 

reasonable,  that  Little  Turtle,  the  ranking  chief  in 

influence  and  talent,  refused  to  take  the  responsibility 

of  what  he  regarded  as  a   sure  defeat. 

The  loss  to  the  Americans  was:  killed,  twenty-eight 

privates  and  five  officers,  wounded  eighty-four  privates 
and  sixteen  officers.  The  loss  to  the  Indians,  as  in 

most  battles,  was  unknown,  but  it  must  have  been  heavy 

for  their  ground  of  retreat  was  covered  with  dead  and 

wounded.  Immediately  after  the  engagement,  Wayne’s 
army  marched  down  the  Maumee  and  encamped  on  its 

brink  within  view  of  the  British  fort,  from  whose  ram- 

parts “His  Majesty’s  soldiers”  had  witnessed  with 
:   great  mortification  the  rout  of  their  Indian  wards. 

1   Major  William  Campbell  of  the  British  24th  Regiment, 

in  command  of  the  fort,  at  once  addressed  a   note  to 

-   General  Wayne  protesting  against  his  near  approach  to  a 

|   “post  belonging  to  his  Majesty  the  King  of  Great  Britain 

|   occupied  by  his  Majesty’s  troops,”  declaring  that  he 

;   “knew  of  no  war  existing  between  Great  Britain  and 

!   America.”  To  this  Wayne  tartly  responded  that  he 
thought  his  intentions  were  sufficiently  evident  in 

his  successful  battle  with  the  Indians.  Campbell’s  reply 

j   complained  that  Wayne’s  soldiers  had  marched  within 
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pistol  shot  of  the  British  fort,  and  made  the  threat 

that  he  would  fire  upon  them  if  a   second  chance  was 

given.  Whereupon  Wayne  ordered  Campbell  to  aban- 
don the  fort.  It  was  a   war  of  blustering  words, 

but  Wayne  proceeded  with  impunity,  to  destroy 

everything  up  to  the  very  walls  of  the  fort;  likewise 

all  the  neighboring  Indian  villages  were  laid  waste; 

their  crops  burned  down  and  in  addition  all  the  houses 

and  buildings  of  the  British  agents  and  traders,  includ- 

ing the  post  of  Alexander  McKee,  were  demolished. 
It  was  the  most  decisive  defeat  the  tribes  had 

received  since  the  battle  of  Point  Pleasant,  fought  just 

twenty  years  before,  and  to  the  fame  of  Wayne,  one 

of  the  heroes  of  the  Revolution,  was  now  added  the 

honor  of  the  conquest  of  the  Ohio  Indian  Confederacy. 

The  tribesmen  gave  the  victor  of  Fallen  Timbers  the 

name  of  the  “Tornado,”  or  the  “Whirlwind,”  indicative 
of  the  impetuous  and  destructive  force  with  which  he 

swept  everything  before  him.  For  three  days  he 

remained  on  the  field  of  battle,  completing  his  work  of 

devastation,  when  he  fell  back  to  Fort  Defiance,  at 

which  he  remained  until  September  14th,  when  the 

legion,  having  strengthened  the  Auglaize  fortress  and 

having  left  a   protective  garrison,  moved  up  the  river 

to  the  juncture  of  the  Joseph  and  St.  Mary’s,  the  scene 

of  Harmar’s  defeat,  and  the  site  of  the  restored  Indian 

villages,  which  villages  by  the  unsparing  “Tornado,” 
were  again  laid  waste  and  in  their  place  a   suitable 

fort  was  erected,  provisioned,  garrisoned  and  named, 

by  Colonel  Hamtramck,  after  the  hero  of  the  campaign, 

Fort  Wayne. 
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At  Fort  Wayne  the  army  rested.  The  campaign 

was  virtually  over  and  the  mounted  Kentuckians  were 

with  difficulty  kept  in  order  until  their  term  of  service 

was  over  and  they  were  sent  home.  Wayne,  leaving 

a   garrison  at  Fort  Wayne,  then  moved  the  legion 

of  regulars  back  to  Greenville,  which  was  reached 

November  2d,  just  three  months  and  six  days  after 

they  had  departed  from  it  on  their  victorious  campaign. 

Safely  ensconced  in  his  comfortable  Greenville  quarters, 

the  victor  of  Fallen  Timbers  patiently  awaited  the 

result.  The  Indian  confederacy  was  in  confusion. 

Many  of  the  tribes  were  for  protracting  the  war  while 

others  recognized  the  inevitable  and  were  prepared  to 

yield  the  field.  Probably  all  the  tribes  would  have 
abandoned  all  idea  of  further  hostilities  had  it  not  been 

for  the  British.  Only  a   month  after  the  battle,  Gover- 
nor Simcoe  and  Chief  Brant,  the  latter  with  a   retinue 

of  one  hundred  Mohawk  warriors,  met  Alexander  Mc- 

Kee at  Fort  Miami,  “ evidently  for  the  purpose  of 
continuing  in  the  exercise  of  an  unfriendly  influence 

upon  the  minds  of  the  Indians  against  the  United 

States.”  They  invited  the  chiefs  to  assemble  at 
Detroit,  in  council,  which  met  in  October.  Many 

tribesmen  and  chiefs  assembled;  Simcoe  opposed  any 

truce  of  peace  between  the  nations  and  the  Americans. 

He  boldly  urged  the  warriors  to  compel  the  Americans 
to  retire  back  to  the  east  side  of  the  Ohio  and  advised 

every  tribe  to  sign  a   deed  of  conveyance  of  all  their 

lands,  on  the  west  and  north  side  of  the  Ohio,  to  the 

King,  in  trust  for  the  Indians,  so  as  to  give  the  British 

a   pretext  or  color  for  assisting  them,  in  case  the  Ameri- 
cans refused  to  abandon  all  their  posts  and  possessions 
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on  the  northwest  of  the  river.  As  substantial  proof 

of  the  continuation  of  British  support,  supplies  were 

freely  distributed  to  the  tribesmen.  All  this  met  the 

approval  of  Brant  and  not  a   few  chiefs,  especially 

Blue  Jacket,  were  disposed  to  renew  hostilities,  and 

there  were  many  tokens  that  the  war  clouds  were  again 

gathering.  But  with  many  chiefs  better  counsels  pre- 
vailed. The  Miamis  and  the  Wyandots,  especially 

sought  to  conciliate  their  late  conquerors.  One  Wyan- 

dot chief  went  in  person  to  Wayne  and  said:  “I  live 
in  Sandusky.  We  Wyandots  now  wish  for  peace 

and  are  determined  to  bury  the  hatchet  and  scalping 

knife  deep  in  the  ground.  We  pray  you  have  pity 

on  us  and  leave  us  a   small  piece  of  land  to  build  a 

town  upon.  The  Great  Spirit  has  given  land  enough 

for  all  to  live  and  hunt  upon.  We  have  looked  all 

around  us  for  a   piece  to  move  to  and  cannot  find  any. 

We  want  to  know  your  mind.  We  intend  to  build  a 

stockade  [on  Sandusky  River]  and  blockhouse  to  defend 

ourselves  till  we  hear  from  you.  We  don’t  know 
whether  we  are  right  or  wrong  in  doing  it,  but  have 

pity  on  us.” 
Wayne  invited  the  tribes  to  dispatch  deputies  to 

confer  with  him;  and  many  accepted  and  were 

hospitably  received  by  the  general.  Late  in  December 

the  representatives  of  several  tribes  manifested  to 

the  commandant  at  Greenville,  their  desire  for  a   treaty 

of  peace,  and  in  January  (1795)  preliminary  articles 

of  negotiation  were  entered  into  by  Wayne,  with  depu- 

ties from  the  Chippewas,  Ottawas,  Sacs,  Pottawattomies 

and  Miamis.  It  was  agreed  that  all  the  sachems  and 
war  chiefs  of  the  above  and  other  tribes  should  assemble 
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at  Greenville  about  the  middle  of  June  to  conclude 

a   treaty.  Before  that  date,  the  chiefs  and  sachems 

of  the  tribes  began  to  assemble  and  on  the  16th  the 

general  council  was  formally  opened.  It  was  an  im- 

posing assembly,  comprising  no  less  than  1,130  chiefs, 

sachems  and  warriors,  divided  as  follows:  Delawares 

381,  Pottawattomies  240,  Wyandots  180,  Shawnees 

143,  Miami  and  Eel  River  73,  Chippewas  46,  Ottawas 

45,  Weas  and  Piankeshaws  12,  Kickapoos  and  Kaskas- 
kias  10.  Among  the  half  dozen  interpreters  were 

William  Wells  and  Isaac  Zane.  Of  the  proceedings 

which  lasted  some  fifty  days  we  must  refrain  from  giv- 
ing the  details.  There  were  the  customary  ceremonies 

of  smoking  the  peace  pipe,  passing  the  strings  of 

wampum,  feasting  and  the  interminable  flow  of  oratory, 

each  tribe  through  its  spokesman  uttering  its  com- 

plaints, defining  its  rights,  and  imploring  concessions. 

The  chief  orators,  were  Little  Turtle,  Blue  Jacket, 

The  Sun,  Red  Pole,  Little  Beaver,  New  Corn,  Tarhe, 

and  many  others.  Their  speeches  are  reported  in 

the  official  proceedings  of  the  council  as  printed  in 

the  “American  State  Papers.”  The  orators,  who  called 

Wayne  “Elder  Brother,”  dwelt  on  the  previous  treaties 
and  their  grievances  because  of  alleged  bad  faith  on 

the  part  of  the  citizens  of  the  “fifteen  fires”;  how  the 
Americans  had  gradually  encroached  upon  the  territory 

of  the  tribesmen.  Wayne,  who  addressed  the  warriors 

as  “Younger  Brothers,  ”   made  frequent  answer,  explain- 
ing the  terms  of  the  proposed  treaty  and  exhorting  the 

chiefs  to  accept  the  proffered  articles  of  compact. 

Frazer  E.  Wilson  in  his  “Peace  of  Mad  Anthony 

Wayne,”  an  admirable  summary  of  the  council  pro- 
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ceedings,  notes  that  “a  large  number  of  belts  and 
strings  of  wampum  were  passed  by  the  various  tribes 

during  the  deliberations;  mention  being  made  of  road 

belts,  mixed  belts,  a   blue  belt,  a   belt  with  nine  white 

squares,  a   large  belt  with  men  and  a   horse  designated 

upon  it,  a   war  belt,  numerous  white  and  blue  belts 

and  strings  of  wampum.  Some  of  these  belts  contained 

a   thousand  or  more  beads  of  wampum,  and  as  each 

bright,  flinty  bead  is  said  to  have  represented  a   day’s  ; 
labor  for  these  primitive  people,  we  readily  conclude 

that  they  meant  more  than  a   great  sum  of  money 

might  mean  to  the  whites,  and  were  indeed,  striking 

pledges  of  good  will.” 
On  August  3d,  General  Wayne  read  for  the  third 

time  the  proposed  treaty  and  each  tribe  was  in  turn 

asked  if  it  agreed;  in  chorus  the  response  was  the 

Indian  for  “yes.”  The  document  was  then  signed  ! 
by  the  Indian  chiefs  authorized  to  so  act  for  their  tribes,  I 

by  Wayne,  William  Henry  Harrison  and  others  for 

the  United  States,  and  by  the  interpreters  to  the  ! 

council.  The  signatures  of  the  tribesmen  make  a   i 

curious  and  interesting  study.  The  name  of  each 

chief  was  written  out  by  the  interpreters,  and  each 

name  was  accompanied,  by  a   small  pen  drawing  of 

the  totem  or  clan  symbol  of  the  signer,  to  which  was 

attached  a   seal.  Some  ninety  chiefs  and  representa- 

tives signed  the  document,  among  them  Little  Turtle, 

Blue  Jacket,  Buckongahelas  and  Tarhe,  the  latter’s 
name  led  all  the  rest.  Later  on,  December  22  (1795), 

it  was  signed  by  Washington  “with  the  advice  and 

consent  of  the  Senate  of  the  United  States.” 
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The  preamble  states  the  purpose  of  the  treaty — “to 
put  an  end  to  a   destructive  war,  to  settle  all  contro- 

versies and  to  restore  harmony  and  friendly  intercourse 

between  the  United  States  and  Indian  tribes.”  The 
nine  articles  provide  for  the  cessation  of  hostilities, 

exchange  of  prisoners,  definite  description  of  boun- 
daries, the  delivery  of  $20,000  worth  of  goods  at  once 

to  the  Indians,  apportioned  among  the  various  tribes 

signing  the  treaty,  and  the  promise  of  $9,500  worth  of 

goods  yearly  forever  thereafter.  The  boundary  line 

established  ran  “between  the  lands  of  the  United 
States  and  the  lands  of  the  said  Indian  tribes,  shall 

begin  at  the  mouth  of  the  Cuyahoga  River,  and  run 

thence  up  the  same,  to  the  portage  between  that  and 

the  Tuscarawas  branch  of  the  Muskingum;  thence, 

down  that  branch  to  the  crossing  place,  above  Fort 

Lawrence  [Laurens];  thence  Westerly,  to  a   fork  of 

that  branch  of  the  Great  Miami  River  running  into 

the  Ohio,  at  or  near  which  fork  stood  Loramie’s  store, 
and  where  commences  the  portage  between  the  Miami 

of  the  Ohio,  and  St.  Mary’s  River,  which  is  a   branch 
of  the  Miami,  which  runs  into  Lake  Erie;  thence,  a 

westerly  course  to  Fort  Recovery,  which  stands  on  a 

branch  of  the  Wabash;  thence,  South  Westerly  in  a 

direct  line  to  the  Ohio,  so  as  to  intersect  that  river, 

opposite  the  mouth  of  the  Kentucke,  or  Cuttawa 

river.  ” 

In  addition  to  the  tribes  who  signed  the  treaty, 

shortly  after  the  council,  Wayne  sent  messages  to  the 

band  of  Cherokees,  settled  at  the  headwaters  of  the 

Scioto,  to  come  and  enter  into  similar  articles  of  agree- 

ment. Also  a   refractory  and  hostile  band  of  sixty 
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or  seventy  Shawnee  warriors,  under  Pucksekaw, 

called  the  Jumper,  came  to  Greenville  and  desired  to 

come  under  the  treaty,  stating  they  were  hunting  at  a 

distance,  during  the  council,  and  did  not  know  of  it. 

The  Greenville  Treaty  was  an  epochal  event  in  the 

history  of  the  Northwest  Territory.  The  border 

warfare  now  closed,  never  to  be  renewed,  and  peace 

was  to  prevail  between  the  white  and  the  red  man  for 

sixteen  years  until  the  outbreak  of  Tecumseh’s  con- 
federacy which  was  the  prelude  to  the  opening  of  the 

War  of  1812. 

But  peace  with  the  Indians  was  not  the  only  result 

of  Wayne’s  victory.  It  was  a   potent  influence  in  the 
subsidence  of  British  hostility  to  the  United  States  as 

reflected  in  the  Jay  treaty.  Owing  to  the  disturbed 

relationship  existing  between  the  British  and  Americans 

and  the  non-fulfilment  by  England  of  many  stipulations 
of  the  peace  treaty  of  1783,  Washington  appointed  John 

Jay,  then  Chief  Justice  of  the  Supreme  Court,  an  envoy 

extraordinary  from  the  United  States  to  England. 

The  envoy  reached  London  in  June,  1794,  an<3  began 

his  negotiations  with  the  ministers  of  his  Britannic  1 

Majesty,  during  the  days  that  Wayne  was  marching 

along  the  banks  of  the  Maumee  to  the  subjugation 

of  the  savage  allies  of  England.  Jay  diplomatically  > 

discharged  his  errand  and  November  19th,  the  treaty  j 

agreed  upon  was  signed  by  Lord  Grenville  and  on  ; 

June  8th,  1795,  was  submitted  to  the  United  States 

Senate  for  ratification.  At  this  time  the  public  senti- 

ment in  America  was  one  of  extravagant  admiration 

for  the  principles  of  the  French  Revolution — then  at 

its  height — and  in  favor  of  the  unbridled  rule  of  the 



CHIEF  LITTLE  TURTLE 

The  Miami  chief.  Born  on  the  Eel  River,  near  Fort 

Wayne,  Indiana,  in  1752.  Resided  in  northwest  Ohio 
most  of  his  life.  Greatest  warrior  among  the  Ohio  tribes. 

Led  the  Indian  forces  at  St.  Clair’s  defeat  and  at  the 
Battle  of  Fallen  Timbers.  Died  at  Fort  Wayne,  July  14, 
1812.  His  Indian  name  as  spelled  in  the  Greenville  Treaty, 

was  Meshekinnoghquoh.  An  imaginary  picture. 
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people.  On  the  other  hand  the  hatred  of  England,  as 

representing  the  monarchical  form  of  government, 

was  intense,  and  her  disregard  of  the  terms  of  the  Treaty 

of  1783  heightened  the  adverse  feeling  which  the 

Americans  maintained  against  the  British,  with  whom 

war  would  have  been  welcomed  by  a   large  portion  of 

the  people.  This  is  not  the  place  to  elaborate  upon 

this  political  situation,  save  to  say,  that  when  the 

Jay  Treaty  was  made  public  in  the  summer  of  1795 

there  was  an  outburst  of  public  denunciation  of  England 

and  the  treaty;  popular  meetings  decried  Washington 

and  even  demanded  his  impeachment  and  Jay  was 

burned  in  effigy  in  cities  from  New  England  to  Georgia. 

This  political  storm  in  the  East  and  South  was  raging 

while  the  tribesmen  with  savage  eloquence  were 

debating  peace  with  Wayne  at  Greenville.  The  poise 

and  firmness  of  Washington,  however,  rode  the  waves 

of  popular  prejudice  and  stilled  the  tempest,  and  the 

Senate  ratified  the  treaty  on  August  18th. 

Concerning  the  terms  of  this  famous  document  we 

have  little  to  do.  It  consisted  of  twenty-eight  articles, 

touching  upon  the  disputed  boundary  lines,  the  collec- 

tion of  the  British  debts,  the  American-European 

trade  in  the  West  Indies,  etc.  The  evacuation  of  the 

American  forts,  still  occupied  by  the  British  was  the 

only  one  of  the  American  claims  definitely  decided; 

article  II  stipulated:  “His  Majesty  will  withdraw  all 

his  troops  and  garrisons  from  all  posts  and  places 

within  the  boundary  lines  assigned  by  the  treaty  of 

peace  to  the  United  States.  This  evacuation  shall 

take  place  on  or  before  June  1, 1796?  ”   etc.  In  obedience 

to  the  terms  of  this  treaty,  Fort  Miami  was  yielded  to 
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the  Americans,  July  26,  1796.  Fort  Industry,  located 

at  the  mouth  of  the  Maumee,  was  erected  by  the 

orders  of  Wayne,  after  the  battle  of  Fallen  Timbers  as 

a   safeguard  against  Fort  Miami;  it  was  never  in  the  i 

possession  of  the  British. 
The  hero  of  Fallen  Timbers  and  the  Greenville 

Treaty  did  not  long  survive  to  enjoy  the  honors  of 

his  triumphs.  Leaving  Greenville  soon  after  the 

treaty,  he  returned  to  his  home  in  Pennsylvania  and  ; 

was  appointed  commissioner  to  treat  with  the  Indians 

of  the  Northwest  and  to  take  possession  of  all  the 

British  forts  in  that  territory  and  which  were  surren-  ! 

dered  under  the  terms  of  the  Jay  treaty.  In  the 

autumn  of  1796  after  receiving  the  possession  of  Detroit, 

Wayne  embarked  on  Lake  Erie  for  home  but  en  route 

was  seized  with  a   severe  attack  of  gout  and  died  at 

Erie,  Pa.  He  was  succeeded  as  commandant  of  the  i 

American  army  in  the  West  by  General  James  Wilkin- 
son. 

Before  bidding  farewell  to  Wayne  and  his  conquests 

in  war  and  peace  it  is  more  than  fitting  that  we  linger 

briefly  to  speak  finally  of  two  of  the  leading  chiefs 
with  whom  he  came  in  contact.  Both  have  been 

mentioned;  both  are  illustrious  on  the  pages  of  Ohio 

history.  One  was  Tarhe — also  written  Tarke — com- 
monly called  the  Crane,  from  the  sobriquet  Le  Chef 

Grue,  given  him  by  the  French.  According  to  the 

American  Bureau  of  Ethnology,  Tarhe  was  born 

at  Detroit,  in  1742  and  early  became  a   chief  of  the  ; 

Porcupine  Clan  of  the  Wyandots,  his  native  tribe. 

According  to  the  same  authority  he  fought  under 
Cornstalk  at  the  Battle  of  Point  Pleasant.  He  took 
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up  his  residence  with  the  Ohio  Wyandots,  and  with 

the  history  of  that  tribe  his  life  is  intimately  associated. 

From  data  furnished  the  present  writer  by  General 

Robert  P.  Kennedy,  the  distinguished  speaker  and 

publicist,  who  received  his  information  from  near 

relatives  of  Isaac  Zane,  we  learn  that  Tarhe  took  for 

wife  a   daughter  of  Chevalier  La  Durante,  a   French 

Canadian.  The  attractive  young  woman  had  been 

made  captive  by  the  Wyandots  and  in  due  time  will- 

ingly wedded  the  young  chief  who  possessed  every 

trait  of  a   noble  character.  The  only  issue  of  this 

marriage  was  the  beautiful  and  graceful  half  breed, 

Myeerah,  called  by  her  tribesmen  the  “ White  Crane.” 
We  have  already  met  with  the  Zanes.  Robert 

Zane,  the  first  of  the  family  to  emigrate  to  America, 

came  over  with  William  Penn,  in  1682,  settling  in 

Pennsylvania.  Robert’s  grandson,  William,  was  the 
father  of  the  historic  five  brothers,  Ebenezer,  Silas, 

Andrew,  Jonathan  and  Isaac,  and  an  only  daughter, 

Elizabeth,  the  heroine  of  Fort  Henry.  In  1762, 

Isaac,  then  nine  years  of  age  and  Jonathan,  two  years 

older,  were  captured  by  a   band  of  Wyandots,  raiding 

across  the  Ohio  border.  Jonathan  was  ransomed  and 

returned  home,  but  Tarhe,  into  whose  custody  Isaac 

had  fallen,  refused  to  give  up  the  boy,  adopting  him  as 

his  son  and  treating  him  with  the  greatest  kindness 

and  consideration.  The  boy  Isaac  remained  with  his 

Wyandot  tribe,  being  well  content  with  his  lot,  until 

1772,  when  he  returned  to  Virginia  and  there  served 

in  the  House  of  Burgesses.  But  he  had  become 

wonted  to  Indian  life  and  moreover  enamored  of 

Myeerah,  the  beautiful  French-Indian  princess,  four 
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years  his  junior,  and  in  1777  he  voluntarily  returned  to 

the  wigwams  of  the  Wyandots  and  Myeerah  became 

his  bride  and  “for  nearly  forty  years  those  two  went 

together  as  man  and  wife,”  the  husband,  ever  the 
friend  of  the  white  people  as  well  as  the  tribesmen, 

being  called  by  the  latter  the  “White  Eagle.”  Zane 
and  wife  secured  a   tract  of  land  in  the  Mad  River 

Valley,  where  he  established  a   stockade  and  settlement 

called  Zanestown,  later  and  better  known  as  Zanes- 

field.  At  that  place  he  was  living,  in  1786,  when  Ben- 

jamin Logan  came  from  Kentucky  to  destroy  the  Indian 

towns  on  the  Mad  River,  and  shortly  after  the  above 

date,  Simon  Kenton  established  his  home  near  Zanes- 

town, where  Zane  died  in  1816,  leaving  sons  and  daugh- 
ters. Such  is  the  backwoods  romance  as  related  by 

Kennedy  and  substantiated  by  trustworthy  testimony. 

Basil  Meek,  the  authoritative  historian  of  Sandusky 

County,  in  his  notes  concerning  Tarhe,  states  the  chief’s 
name  appears  as  a   witness  to  the  Treaty  of  Fort  Finney 

(1786)  and  as  a   signer  to  the  Treaty  of  Fort  Harmar 

(1789.)  Before  the  battle  of  Fallen  Timbers,  Tarhe 

sided  with  Little  Turtle  in  advocating  peace  but  that 

policy  being  abandoned  he  fought  with  his  tribe  in 

the  battle  and  was  badly  wounded  in  the  arm.  Tarhe 

was  the  special  friend  of  Logan,  and  the  Wyandot 

village,  the  early  home  of  Tarhe — called  Solomons- 

town,  near  the  head  of  the  Great  Miami — in  the  north- 
western part  of  what  is  now  Logan  County,  was  not 

far  from  Logan’s  Mingo  village  on  the  headwaters 

of  the  Scioto.  After  Wayne’s  treaty,  Tarhe  removed 
from  Solomonstown  to  a   location  near  the  present 

site  of  Lancaster,  where  he  established  an  Indian 



CHIEF  TECUM SEH 

The  foremost  Indian  chief  of  the  Ohio  Tribes.  Born 

on  the  Mad  River  in  1768,  killed  at  the  Battle  of  the 

Thames,  Canada,  October  5,  1813.  He  was  one  of  the 

bravest  warriors  and  ablest  counsellors  among  the  tribes- 
men in  the  later  Ohio  Indian  wars.  This  picture  is  from 

the  painting  supposed  to  best  portray  his  features.  No 
likeness  from  life  is  known  to  exist.  The  artist  painted 

this  portrait  from  descriptions  by  those  who  knew  him. 
It  represents  him  in  the  costume  of  a   British  Brigadier. 

;   j's.  * 
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Shawnees,  he  was  found  in  the  very  forefront  and 

thickest  of  the  assault,  while  his  brother  Sauwaseekau, 

a   warrior  of  distinction,  fell  fighting  by  his  side. 

From  the  Draper  Manuscripts,  the  source  for  the 

authentic  biography  of  the  chief  by  Benjamin  Drake, 

we  learn  that  Tecumseh,  destined  to  a   life  of  relentless 

but  futile  struggle  in  behalf  of  his  race,  was  born,  in 

1768,  on  the  banks  of  the  Mad  River,  in  the  Shawnee 

village  of  Piqua,  a   settlement  we  saw  destroyed  by 

the  expedition  ( 1 780)  of  George  Rogers  Clark.  Certainly 

no  Indian  family  was  so  remarkable  as  that  into 

which  Tecumseh  made  his  entry.  His  mother,  Methoa- 

taska,  meaning  “a  turtle  laying  eggs  in  the  sand,” 
was  probably  of  the  Creek  tribe.  His  father,  Pucki- 

shenoah — or  Puckeschinwau — a   chief  of  the  Kisca- 

pocoke  clan  of  the  warfaring  Shawnees,  was  killed  in 

the  battle  of  Point  Pleasant  and  on  the  field,  in  his 

dying  moments,  he  committed  to  his  eldest  son, 

Cheeseekau,  his  father’s  companion  in  the  battle,  the 
custody  of  the  favorite  son  Tecumseh,  then  but  six 

years  of  age.  There  were  other  sons,  besides  those 

already  mentioned;  Nehaseemo,  Kumskaukau  and  Lau- 

lewasikau — the  latter  became  the  noted  Prophet, 
whose  activities  gave  him  a   place  in  Ohio  Indian  annals, 

second  only  to  that  of  Tecumseh.  To  these  six  brothers 

there  was  one  sister,  Tecumapease,  for  whom  Tecumseh 

ever  displayed  the  greatest  admiration  and  affection. 

For  the  interesting  particulars  of  the  Shawnee’s 
eventful  career,  the  nature  of  which  is  indicated  by  the 

significance  of  his  name,  Tikamthe  or  Tecumthe — 

“one  who  passes  across  intervening  space  from  one 

point  to  another,”  hence  a   “meteor”  or  “shooting 



ELKSWATAWA,  THE  PROPHET 

The  younger  brother  of  Tecumseh,  called  the  Prophet. 

His  Indian  name  was  Laulewasikau,  or  the  “   Loud  Voice.  ” 
When  he  became  a   Prophet,  he  took  the  name  Tenekawau- 

tawan,  or  “Open  Door,”  also  called  Elkswatawa.  He 
claimed  to  receive  revelations  from  the  Great  Spirit.  He 

established  his  quarters  at  the  junction  of  the  Mud  and 
Greenville  creeks,  site  of  Greenville.  He  exerted  a   great 

influence  over  the  western  tribes.  From  a   painting  in  the 

collection  at  Washington,  D.  C. 
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star,” — we  refer  the  reader  to  the  appreciative  essay 
by  William  Jackson  Armstrong,  in  “Heroes  of  Defeat,  ” 
a   volume  of  fine  scholarship  and  rare  literary  merit. 
The  youthful  Tecumseh  was  carefully  trained,  in 

the  customs  of  peace  and  the  art  of  war,  by  Cheesee- 
kau,  who  was  killed  in  a   campaign  against  the  southern 

tribes,  during  the  inter-tribal  wars  in  which  Tecumseh 

received  his  martial  education.  We  met  him  watching 

St.  Clair’s  expedition,  and  have  noted  his  relation  to 

Wayne’s  campaign,  after  which,  in  1798,  the  chief, 
conquered  but  not  subdued,  with  his  tribesmen, 

removed  to  a   Delaware  village  on  the  White  River  in 

Indiana,  whence  he  wandered,  at  intervals  among  the 
tribes  of  Ohio,  in  the  south  and  the  west.  Tradition 

indulges  him  many  “affairs  of  the  heart,”  and  history 
weds  him  to  a   most  beautiful  Shawnee  half  breed  woman 

Mamate  by  name,  the  mother  of  his  only  child,  a   boy, 

Pugeshashewa,  born  about  1796,  who  survived  his 
illustrious  father  and  became  an  officer  in  the  British 

army.  Tecumseh  early  developed  unusual  powers  of 

oratory,  notable  exhibitions  of  which  were  displayed 

at  a   gathering  in  Urbana  (1799),  and  at  a   council  (1803), 

over  which  Governor  Tiffin  presided,  at  Chillicothe, 

then  the  capital  of  the  newly  admitted  State  of  Ohio. 

Meanwhile  the  Shawnees,  scattered  in  settlements 

in  Ohio  and  Indiana,  concentrated  at  the  juncture  of 

the  Mud  and  Greenville  creeks,  adjoining  the  site  of 

Wayne’s  detested  treaty.  And  here  comes  into  promi- 

nenceTecumseh’s  extraordinary  and  mysterious  brother, 

Laulewasikau,  the  “Loud  Voice,”  who  essayed  the 
role  of  the  Prophet,  assuming  the  name  Tenekawau- 

tawa — with  many  varieties  of  spelling — signifying  the 



566 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

“Open  Door,”  because  he  was  to  unfold  the  revelations 
of  the  Great  Spirit,  directing  the  tribal  hosts  to  reject 

the  contaminating  customs  and  beliefs  of  the  white 

race  and  to  return  to  the  primitive  life  of  the  forest. 

Hundreds  from  all  tribes,  even  those  from  distant 

regions,  flocked  to  hear  and  accept  the  gospel  recalling 

them  to  their  forgotten  faith  and  neglected  practices. 

This  religious  and  patriotic  revival,  Tecumseh  turned 

to  his  account  in  the  long  decreed  purpose  to  reunite 

the  tribes  in  a   confederacy  that  should  be  the  realiza- 
tion of  the  daring  dream  of  Pontiac.  The  inscrutable 

ceremonies,  half  religious,  half  martial,  at  Greenville, 

alarmed  the  state  government  at  Chillicothe  and  the 

National  authorities  at  Washington.  Tecumseh,  Blue 

Jacket,  Roundhead  and  Panther,  were  summoned  to 

Chillicothe,  where  for  many  days  (1807)  they  en- 
deavored by  their  pleas  and  explanations  to  allay  the 

alarm  of  the  citizens  of  Ohio.  On  this  occasion  Tecum- 

seh in  burning  rhetoric  rehearsed  the  past  wrongs 

inflicted  upon  his  people,  while  disclaiming  any  treach- 
erous plans  in  the  gatherings  at  Greenville.  In  the 

spring  of  the  following  year  (1808)  Tecumseh  and  the 

Prophet  removed  their  headquarters  to  a   tract  granted 

them  by  the  Pottawattomies  and  Kickapoos,  on  the 

Tippecanoe,  a   branch  of  the  Wabash.  The  new  center 

was  known  as  the  Prophet’s  Town,  and  here  the  teach- 

ings of  the  “Open  Door”  roused  the  assembled  tribes- 
men to  inflammable  fanaticism,  while  Tecumseh,  in 

marvelous  journeyings,  covering  the  land  from  the 

Everglades  of  Florida  to  the  sources  of  the  Mississippi, 

met  nation  after  nation  and  in  periods  of  intense  elo- 
quence, urged  the  tribesmen  to  united  action  against 
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the  white  conquerors,  who  were  to  be  driven  from  the 

Northwest  Territory,  back  beyond  the  Ohio,  the 

natural  and  just  boundary  between  the  two  hostile 

races.  Tarhe,  among  the  Ohio  tribes,  took  issue  with 

Tecumseh,  whom  he  charged  with  working  for  no 

good  purpose,  and  the  Wyandots  refrained  from  becom- 
ing participants  in  the  schemes  of  the  Shawnee. 

Events  rapidly  culminated,  when  in  August  (1810), 

in  accordance  with  the  summons  of  Harrison,  then 

territorial  governor  of  Indiana,  Tecumseh,  with  three 

hundred  of  his  warriors,  appeared  at  Vincennes  to 

give  account  of  his  movements  so  warlike  in  appear- 
ance. It  was  one  of  the  most  dramatic  scenes  in  Indian 

history,  in  which  Tecumseh’s  eloquence  rose  to  the 
loftiest  heights  of  savage  oratory,  but  the  Vincennes 

meeting,  so  spectacular  in  its  incidents  and  so  signi- 

ficant in  its  proceedings,  closed  with  the  conviction, 

on  the  part  both  of  the  governor  and  the  chief,  that 

open  hostilities  were  inevitable.  The  Prophet  and 

his  host  of  warriors  were  routed  by  General  Harrison 

and  the  regular  army  at  Tippecanoe  in  the  summer  of 

1811,  while  Tecumseh  was  absent  rallying  the  tribes 

in  the  south.  The  War  of  1812  ensued.  Upon  that 

period  it  is  not  for  us  to  dwell.  It  afforded  Tecumseh 

the  psychological  moment  for  the  fulfillment  of  his 

life  effort.  He  would  ally  his  great  confederacy  to 

the  British  cause  and  the  alliance  must  surely  regain 

the  Northwest  for  the  defrauded  and  defeated  tribes- 

men. At  the  head  of  a   small  band  of  his  tribe  the 

chief  drew  the  first  blood  of  the  Americans,  in  the 

encounter  near  Brownstown.  Commanding  the  Indian 

allies,  under  General  Isaac  Brock,  Tecumseh  was  a 
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jubilant  witness  of  the  inglorious  surrender  by  General 
William  Hull  of  Detroit  and  when  Brock  the  British 

general,  on  receiving  the  American  soldiers  requested 

the  implacable  chief  not  to  allow  his  excited  warriors 

to  ill-treat  the  prisoners,  the  chief  replied  disdainfully, 

“No!  I   dispise  them  too  much  to  meddle  with  them.” 
But  the  fear  of  Brock  was  groundless  for  it  had  ever 

been  the  humane  policy  of  Tecumseh  to  restrain  his 

warriors  from  all  deeds  of  torture  and  cruelty  in  dealing 

with  their  captives,  nor  was  he  himself  ever  guilty 

of  wanton  bloodshed.  In  this  he  stood  forth  in  strik- 

ing contrast  to  the  customs  of  his  tribe  and  race.  The 

valor  in  fight  and  humanity  in  victory  so  character- 

istic of  the  intrepid  chief  were  exhibited  at  the  respec- 
tive sieges  of  Fort  Meigs  and  Fort  Stephenson,  his 

services  in  those  events  meriting  him  the  rank  of  Briga- 
dier General  in  the  British  army,  and  as  such  officer 

he  dictated  the  plan  of  action,  and  commanded  the 

tribal  warriors  at  the  decisive  Battle  of  the  Thames, 

October  5,  1813.  General  Henry  A.  Procter,  led  the 

defeated  and  retiring  British  force  and  Indian  allies, 

till  they  reached  the  Thames,  when  Tecumseh  refused 
to  further  retreat  and  demanded  battle  with  the 

Americans.  But  the  waning  fortunes  of  the  British 

gave  him  faint  assurance  of  the  outcome,  and  the 

oft-repeated  perfidy  to  the  faithful  warriors,  of  his 

Majesty’s  craven  officials,  sank  his  soul  in  despair. 
With  the  heroic  stoicism  of  his  race  he  faced  the  inevit- 

able. Addressing  his  dusky  warriors,  as  they  advanced 

to  the  final  clash  of  arms,  he  said:  “Brother  Warriors, 
we  are  now  about  to  enter  an  engagement  from  which 

I   shall  never  escape;  my  body  will  remain  on  the 
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battle  field.”  Unbuckling  his  sword,  he  requested, 

“   when  my  son  becomes  a   noted  warrior,  give  him  this.  ” 
He  then  removed  his  British  uniform  and  took  his 

place  in  line,  attired  only  in  the  buckskin  hunting 

dress  of  his  people.  To  the  fate  of  death,  in  a   failing 

cause,  on  a   foreign  field,  afar  from  the  forests  of  his 

beloved  native  soil,  he  would  not  add  the  disgrace 

of  wearing  as  his  shroud  the  insignia  of  a   nation  pro- 

fessedly his  friend  but  really  his  treacherous  foe. 

Eye-witnesses  testify  that  the  clarion  tones  of  the 
chief  were  heard  above  the  din  of  arms,  calling  upon 

his  followers  to  “be  brave,  be  brave,”  then  “Tecumseh 

fell  dead  and  they  all  ran,”  said  a   Pottawattomie 
chief.  The  tongue  that  for  years  had  called  aloud  at 

the  council  fires  and  ’neath  the  forest  boughs,  ever 
for  justice  to  his  people,  was  stilled  forever,  nor  was 
there  to  be  other  voice  to  renew  the  summons  to  rise  and 

repel  the  invading  whites.  For  fifty  years,  a   full 

half  century,  from  the  conspiracy  of  Pontiac  to  the 

confederacy  of  Tecumseh,  the  war  for  the  possession 

of  the  Ohio  country  had  been  bitterly  waged;  the 
battle  of  the  Thames  was  the  culmination  of  that 

contest  and  with  the  death  of  the  heroic  Shawnee 

there  vanished  the  last  hope  of  the  tribesmen  that  they 

might  regain  the  lost  lands  of  their  wigwams  and  hunt- 

ing-grounds. From  now  on  the  irresistible  tide  of 

civilization  was  to  sweep  the  savages  across  the  Father 

of  Waters  and  yet  far  beyond  where  they  were  to  become 

the  helpless  wards  of  the  conquering  nation. 

Such,  in  terms  all  too  brief,  was  Tecumseh.  Pontiac 

has  been  endowed  with  greater  fame,  since  his  bloody 

deeds  were  portrayed  by  the  graphic  pen  of  Parkman; 
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Little  Turtle  rivalled  him  in  the  art  of  savage  war- 

fare; Joseph  Brant  outwitted  him  in  the  arena  of 

diplomacy;  Red  Jacket  was  not  his  inferior  in  gifts  of 

eloquence;  but  in  the  components  of  a   puissant  and 

regal  character,  in  the  dominant  instincts  of  humanity 

and  justice  and  in  unwavering  and  unselfish  devotion 

to  the  rights  due  his  race,  Tecumseh  was  “the 

noblest  Roman  of  them  all.” 



FORT  DEFIANCE 

Built  by  General  Wayne’s  army  in  August,  1794.  It 
stood  in  the  angle  formed  by  the  junction  of  the  Auglaize 

and  Maumee  rivers.  The  picture  shows  the  four  corner 

blockhouses,  which  were  connected  by  a   line  of  strong 

pickets,  outside  of  which  was  a   wall  of  earth  eight  feet 
thick,  and  ditch  fifteen  feet  wide  and  eight  feet  deep. 
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Chapter  XXV. 

THE  WESTERN  RESERVE 





)4  S   narrated  in  the  early  pages  of  our  chronicle, 
/   %   the  northeastern  portion  of  the  domain  that 

J   was  in  time  to  become  Ohio,  the  strip  known 

as  the  Western  Reserve,  was  the  arena  in 

which  occurred  the  first  events  recorded  in  Ohio  history. 
Those  events,  it  will  be  recalled,  pertained  to  the  war 

waged  by  the  terrible  Iroquois  against  the  Eries  or  Cat 

Nation,  as  mentioned  in  the  Jesuit  Relations .   And 

now  in  the  last  pages  of  our  pre-state  history  we  return 
to  the  same  locality. 

Before  we  enter  upon  the  period  of  the  permanent 

settlement  of  this  section,  it  is  fitting  that  we  revert 

to  the  fate  of  the  Moravians,  who  were  the  first  to 

inhabit,  though  only  temporarily,  the  prospective  new 
Connecticut.  We  left  the  Moravian  missionaries  and 

their  band  of  converted  “Brown  Brethren,’’  exiled  from 

Captives’  Town,  at  Detroit,  where  they  had  arrived 
in  the  spring  of  1782.  Major  de  Peyster,  the  Canadian 

Commandant,  gave  them  the  alternative  of  returning 

to  Bethelem  (Pa.),  the  original  home  of  their  Mission, 

or  remain  in  the  vicinity  of  Detroit,  under  the  espionage 

of  the  British.  They  chose  the  latter,  and  accepted 

the  friendly  offer  of  the  Chippewas,  who  granted  the 

Moravians  an  abiding  place  among  their  tribesmen 

on  the  Huron  River,  some  twenty-five  miles  from 
Detroit.  This  Michigan  settlement  was  called  New 

Gnadenhutten,  and  here  Heckewelder  soon  joined  his 

companion  Zeisberger.  After  “four  years  of  quiet 

and  measurable  success,”  it  was  their  destiny  to  con- 
tinue their  wanderings,  for  the  Chippewas  had  offered 

them  an  asylum  only  until  peace  might  be  established 
between  Great  Britain  and  the  United  States.  The 
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Huron — or  Clinton  River — Mission  was  abandoned  in 

the  spring  of  1786,  and  the  return  to  Ohio  territory 

determined  upon.  In  two  sloops  they  were  conveyed 

across  Lake  Erie  and  after  many  “perils  in  the  waters 

and  perils  in  the  wilderness”  they  reached  the  mouth 

of  the  Cuyahoga  River — Cayahaga,  Heckewelder  calls 

it — they  ascended  the  river  “about  a   dozen  miles  from 

the  Lake,”  where  they  pitched  their  camp,  erected 
huts  and  began  to  plant  corn  with  the  intention  of  pro- 

ceeding on  to  the  Tuscarawas  after  harvest  season. 

This  temporary  station,  Loskiel,  their  historian,  calls 

Pilgerruh,  or  “Pilgrims  Rest.”  But  the  “rest”  was 
only  for  a   year,  when  the  settlement,  owing  to  the 

hostility  of  the  neighboring  tribes  was  transferred  west- 

ward to  the  River  Huron — in  Ohio — a   few  miles  from 

its  mouth,  near  the  present  site  of  Milan.  Again  the 

camp  became  a   collection  of  huts  that  grew  rapidly 

in  number  into  a   “thriving  town  and  a   center  of 

Christianty.  ”   It  bore  the  name  of  New  Salem  in  the 
records  of  the  Indian  Mission,  and  for  four  years — 

until  March,  1791 — flourished  with  a   degree  of  material 
and  spiritual  prosperity  that  seemed  to  revive  the 

“Golden  days”  of  their  early  history  on  the  Tuscara- 
was. Members  of  the  different  tribes,  from  far  and 

near,  flocked  to  hear  the  Gospel,  the  preaching  of  which 

was  attended  by  numerous  conversions,  including 

many  chiefs,  among  them  Captain  Killbuck — or  Gelele- 

mend — who  ever  after  was  a   “faithful  helper  in  the 

church.” 
It  was  during  the  first  year  of  the  New  Salem  sojourn 

that  Congress,  just  two  weeks  after  the  enactment  of 

the  Ordinance  of  1787  (viz,  July  27),  passed  an  act 
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granting  the  Moravian  Indians  twelve  thousand  acres 

of  land  adjoining,  indeed  partly  including,  their  former 

settlements  on  the  Tuscarawas.  And  thither  they 

desired  to  migrate.  But  the  outbreak  of  hostilities 

between  the  American  government  and  the  Ohio  tribes 

again  compelled  the  sorely  distressed  Moravians  to  seek 

an  asylum  under  the  British  flag.  This  time  they  found 

refuge  near  the  mouth  of  the  Detroit  River  on  the 

Canadian  side,  where  they  established  themselves  for 

one  year,  when  in  May  (1792),  they  took  up  their  abode 

on  the  river  Thames,  building  up  a   snug  little  village 

of  forty  houses,  a   church  and  other  buildings.  At  this 

town,  known  as  Fairfield,  peace  and  happiness  reigned 

for  six  years,  when  the  time  was  propitious  for  the  final 
removal  to  the  land  allotted  to  them  on  the  Tuscarawas. 

Thither  Heckewelder,  accompanied  by  Rufus  Putnam 

and  the  latter’s  son,  proceeded  (1798)  to  survey  the 
land  which  was  laid  out  in  three  plats,  called  respective- 

ly the  Gnadenhutten,  Schoenbrunn  and  Salem  tracts. 

Of  these  the  Fairfield  emigrants  and  other  converts 

took  speedy  possession.  Zeisberger  founded  the  little 

settlement  of  Goshen,  some  seven  miles  from  Gnaden- 

hutten, where  in  1808  he  “ entered  into  eternal  rest,” 

his  “hoary  head  crowned  with  glory.”  Amid  the 
graves  of  his  devoted  red  brethren,  his  mouldering 

body  lies  buried  in  the  little  “God’s  acre”  by  the  road- 
side at  the  site  of  Goshen,  the  scene  of  his  last  efforts 

to  Christianize  the  Ohio  savages. 

Upon  the  ground  made  sacred  by  the  blood  of  the 

Moravian  martyrs,  Heckewelder  replanted  Gnadenhut- 

ten, which  is  now  an  unpretentious  but  peaceful  and 

prosperous  hamlet.  There  Heckewelder  lived  and 
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wrought  among  the  Indian  converts  until  1810,  when 
he  resumed  his  home  at  Bethlehem.  With  the  death 

of  Zeisberger  and  the  departure  of  Heckewelder,  the 

Moravian  Brethren  date  their  rapid  decline  and  final 

disappearance.  As  with  the  Jesuit  missions,  so  with 

the  Moravian  conversions,  there  were  small,  if  any, 

permanent  results.  The  personality  of  the  two  heroic 

and  pious  leaders — whose  careers  we  have  followed — 
held  sway  over  the  converted  savages,  so  long  as  their 

presence  was  permitted,  but  once  that  spell  and  influ- 
ence was  removed  the  progress  of  Christian  civilization 

among  the  tribesmen  ceased.  There  were  no  disciples 

sufficiently  endowed  to  continue  the  work. 

Connecticut’s  charter,  granted  by  Charles  II.  in 
1662,  confirming  and  combining  former  charters  and 

grants,  conveyed  to  that  colony  all  of  the  lands  west 

of  it,  to  the  extent  of  its  breadth,  from  sea  to  sea,  or 

“to  the  South  Sea.”  This  strip  extended  from  410  to 

420  2'  north  latitude  and,  cutting  through  Pennsyl- 
vania, would  have  included  the  northern  part  of  Ohio. 

But  as  we  have  seen,  when  the  discoverers  and  explorers 

located  the  Mississippi,  the  South  Sea  became  a   myth 

and  the  western  extent  of  the  English  colonial  grants 

stopped  at  the  “Father  of  Waters.”  In  the  cession 
of  Connecticut,  by  its  act  of  May  11,  1786,  to  the 

United  States,  of  its  claimed  domain  in  the  Northwest 

Territory,  it  reserved  to  itself  the  strip  which  was 

bounded  north  by  latitude  420  2',  east  by  the  Pennsyl- 

vania boundary  line,  south  by  parallel  41 0   and  west  by 
a   meridian  line  one  hundred  and  twenty  miles  west 

of  the  boundary  line  of  Pennsylvania.  This  reserva- 

tion was  known  as  the  “   Connecticut  Western  Reserve.  ” 
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The  disposition  to  be  made  of  these  reserved  lands 

soon  became  an  interesting  question  to  the  people  of 

Connecticut  for  the  lands  were  far  from  the  State  that 

retained  them,  far  for  purposes  of  colonization  and  far 

for  government  by  the  home  authority. 

In  October  (1786),  only  a   month  after  the  cession, 

the  General  Assembly  of  Connecticut,  determined  to 

offer  for  sale  the  portion  of  the  Reserve  lying  east  of 

the  Cuyahoga  and  Tuscarawas  rivers.  These  lands 

were  ordered  to  be  surveyed  into  townships  six  miles 

square;  in  each  township  five  hundred  acres  were  dedi- 

cated for  the  support  of  schools,  and  the  same  quantity 

to  the  “ support  of  the  Gospel,”  and  two  hundred  and 
forty  acres  in  fee  simple  in  every  township  were  promised 

to  the  first  minister  who  should  settle  in  it.  But  the 

survey  as  intended  above  was  never  made,  nor  was  any 

sale  made  except  the  notable  one,  in  1788,  to  General 

Samuel  H.  Parsons,  of  a   section  lying  in  the  Mahoning 

Valley,  consisting  of  25,000  acres  and  known  as  the 

“   Salt-Springs  Tract.  ”   In  1789,  Judge  Parsons  was  ap- 

pointed by  the  State  of  Connecticut  a   commissioner 

with  Governor  Oliver  Wolcott,  and  Hon.  James 

Davenport,  to  hold  a   treaty  with  the  Wyandots  and 

other  tribes  of  Indians,  for  the  purpose  of  extinguishing 

their  claim,  “the  aboriginal  title  to  the  lands  called 

the  Connecticut  Western  Reserve,”  and  in  the  fall 

of  that  year  (1789)  Parsons  visited  the  country  with 

the  purpose  of  arranging  for  the  treaty.  While  return- 

ing to  his  residence,  then  in  Marietta,  he  was  drowned 

in  descending  the  rapids  of  the  Big  Beaver. 

On  May  1 1,  1792,  the  General  Assembly  quit-claimed 

to  the  inhabitants  of  several  Connecticut  towns  whose 
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property  had  been  burned  by  the  British  in  their 

incursions  into  the  State  during  the  Revolution,  five 

hundred  thousand  acres  lying  across  the  Western  end 

of  the  Reserve,  bounded  north  by  the  lake  shore,  said 

lands  to  be  divided  among  the  grantees,  the  original 

sufferers  of  loss  or  their  heirs  or  assigns,  in  proportion 

to  their  respective  losses  as  found  and  reported  by  a 

committee  previously  appointed  by  the  assembly. 

These  lands  are  known  in  Connecticut  history  as  “The 

Sufferers’  Lands,”  in  Ohio  history  as  “The  Firelands.” 

The  total  number  of  “sufferers,”  as  reported,  was  1,870 
and  the  aggregate  losses  £161,548,  11s,  6J^d,  something 

over  eight  hundred  thousand  dollars.  In  1796,  the 

sufferers  were  incorporated  in  Connecticut,  and  in  1803 

in  Ohio,  under  the  title  “The  Proprietors  of  the  Half- 

Million  Acres  of  Land  lying  south  of  Lake  Erie.  ”   The 
lands  were  surveyed,  divided  into  tracts  and  distributed 

to  the  sufferers  according  to  each  one’s  proportion. 
The  Firelands — now  including  the  counties  of  Huron 

and  Erie — were  peopled  a   little  later  than  the  eastern 
part  of  the  Western  Reserve,  but  as  Alfred  Mathews 

states,  in  his  “Ohio  and  the  Western  Reserve,”  the 
settlers,  when  they  did  come,  emphasized  their  native 

homes  by  giving  their  new  settlements  such  Connecti- 
cut names  as  New  Haven,  East  Haven,  New  London, 

Norwalk,  Greenwich,  Fairfield,  Danbury,  Ridgefield 
and  Groton. 

As  the  survey  progressed  it  was  estimated  that 

the  Western  Reserve  comprised  the  Reserve  proper, 

2,835,547  acres,  Firelands,  500,000  acres,  Salt-Spring 

Tract,  25,450  acres,  Kelley’s  and  the  several  Bass 
Islands,  lying  in  the  lake  off  the  western  end  of  the  reser- 
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vation,  5,924  acres,  making  a^  total  of  3,366,921  acres — 
an  excess  over  the  area  of  the  state  of  Connecticut  itself 

of  173,921  acres.  In  May,  1795,  the  General  Assembly 

offered  the  Reserve  lands — excepting  the  Firelands — for 
sale,  at  fixed  terms  and  conditions,  appointed  acommit- 

tee  to  negotiate  the  sale  and  set  apart  the  proceeds  as  a 

perpetual  Connecticut  State  Fund,  the  interest  of 

which  should  be  appropriated  to  the  support  of  the 

State  public  schools. 

In  September  following  the  above  legislation,  as 

is  related  by  Professor  B.  A.  Hinsdale  in  “The  Old 

Northwest,”  the  committee,  appointed  by  the  State 
for  that  purpose,  sold  the  lands  in  bulk,  without 

survey  or  measurement,  to  thirty-five  purchasers,  who 

severally  agreed  to  pay  stipulated  sums,  which  to- 
gether, would  amount  to  one  million  two  hundred 

thousand  dollars,  the  price  of  tract  agreed  upon.  The 

committee  made  as  many  deeds  as  there  were  pur- 

chasers, the  term  “purchaser”  being  used  in  a   legal 
sense,  many  of  the  purchasers  named  representing 

associate  or  sub-buyers.  The  deed  granted  to  the 

purchaser,  in  behalf  of  the  State  of  Connecticut,  and 

to  his  heirs  forever,  all  right,  title  and  interest,  “juridical, 

and  territorial,”  in  and  to  a   certain  number  of  twelve 
hundred-thousandths  of  the  lands  described,  to  be  held 

by  the  said  purchaser  as  tenant  in  common  of  said  whole 

tract  or  territory  with  the  other  purchasers  and  not 

in  severalty.  In  accordance  therewith,  the  number  of 

undivided  shares  that  each  purchaser  received  was  the 

same  as  the  number  of  dollars  that  he  had  agreed  to 

pay  toward  the  total  purchase-money.  The  sale  was  on 

credit;  the  purchasers  at  the  time  gave  their  bonds  for 
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the  amount  of  the  several  contracts,  with  personal  secur- 

ity, but  afterward  they  gave  mortgages  on  the  lands. 

The  list  of  original  purchasers  and  the  amounts  agreed 

to  be  paid  by  each  is  given  by  Colonel  Charles  Whittle- 

sey, in  his  “ Early  History  of  Cleveland”  (1867),  and 
the  names  show  that  while  most  of  the  buyers  were 

from  Connecticut,  some  were  from  Massachusetts  and 

a   few  from  New  York.  Oliver  Phelps,  “   perhaps  the 

largest  land-speculator  of  the  time,”  was  at  their 
head.  September  5,  1795,  the  purchasers  organized, 

constituting  themselves  the  “Connecticut  Land  Com- 

pany,” which  was  never  incorporated  but  was  main- 

tained rather  as  a   “syndicate,”  in  which  all  the 
members  of  the  partnership  joined  in  a   deed  of  trust, 

covering  the  entire  purchase,  to  John  Caldwell,  Jona- 
than Brace,  and  John  Morgan.  As  special  corporate 

powers  were  not  given  the  purchasers  by  the  General 

Assembly  of  Connecticut  and  doubts  existed  as  to  the 

validity  of  their  political  franchises,  the  trusteeship 

adopted  by  the  “syndicate”  was  necessary  for  the 
convenient  management  of  the  business.  The  State 

guaranteed  nothing  either  as  to  title  or  quantity  of 

land.  She  only  transferred  all  the  rights  she  possessed, 

as  well  as  those  of  property  under  her  original  charter; 

in  fact  she  only  gave  a   quit-claim  deed.  The  members 
divided  the  stock  into  four  hundred  shares  of  $3,000 

each.  The  land  was  to  be  surveyed  into  townships 

of  five  miles  square  and  seven  directors  were  chosen  as 

follows:  Oliver  Phelps,  Henry  Champion,  Moses 

Cleaveland,  Samuel  Mather  and  Roger  Newberry. 

The  annual  meetings  of  the  company  were  to  be  held 

in  Hartford,  from  whence  “New  Connecticut”  was  to 



MOSES  CLEAVELAND 

Leader  of  the  western  emigration  of  the  Connecticut 

Land  Company.  His  party  landed  at  the  mouth  of  the 

Cuyahoga,  July  22,  1796,  and  founded  the  City  of  Cleve- 
land. It  was  . the  first  settlement-in  the  Western  Reserve-.  - 

Moses  Cleaveland  was  born  at  Canterbury,  Conn.,  January 

29,  1754.  He  died  at  the  same  place  November  16,  1806. 



580 THE  RISE  AND  PROGRESS 

the  amount  of  tha^/iAjavAavKiia^S.QM  with  personal  secur- 

ity, rtoiiiiTs^cm^wrsrit^es'i^^Jthe  lands. 

•n?  **-4 to  be  JVyMtti^w ^   Whittle- 

sey ,   rn^tel  ,-nnoO  rrujd^pi^^  naocf  and 
.   1   .do8i  ,di  ifidmavoM  soslq  9f&  t£  baib  aH  -   4gti  ,(>£ 
the  name's  tnaf  wnin  most  of  the  buyers  were 
from  Com 

a   few  fr  ■ 

largest  la: 

head.  S* 

const  b » 4   > 

par tained 

member 

(it.  some  were  from  Massachusetts  and 

y   York.  Oliver  Phelps,  “perhaps  the 

ulator  of  the  time,”  was  at  their 
her  5,  1795,  the  purchasers  organized, 

mnselves  the  “Connecticut  Land  Com- 

mas never  incorporated  but  was  main- 

as  a   ‘syndicate,”  in  which  all  the 
the  partnership  joined  in  a   deed  of  trust, 

covering  t:  entire  purchase,  to  John  Caldwell,  Jona- 

than Brace.  and  John  Morgan.  As  special  corporate 

powers  were  not  gi\  n   the  purchasers  by  the  General 

Assem  y   a   and  doubts  existed  as  to  the 

validity  tmir  p   ti<  franchises,  the  trusteeship 

adopt c   '   'syndic  te"  was  necessary  for  the 
o   cment  o   the  business.  The  State 

gu.  g   cither  as  to  title  or  quantity  of 

land.  Sin  oniy  transferred  all  the  rights  she  possessed, 

as  well  as  t   of  property  under  her  original  charter; 

in  fact  she  on  t   a   ve  a   quit-claim  deed.  The  members 

divided  the  into  four  hundred  shares  of  $3,000 

each.  The  lar  ts  to  be  surveyed  into  townships 

of  five  miles  sqm  id  seven  directors  were  chosen  as 

follows:  Oliver  '   hs,  Henry  Champion,  Moses 
Cleaveland,  Samm  Mather  and  Roger  Newberry. 

The  annual  meeting  the  company  were  to  be  held 

in  Hartford,  from  whern  a   “New  Connecticut”  was  to 







OF  AN  AMERICAN  STATE 581 

be  governed  as  New  England  had  been  by  the  Plymouth 

council  in  England.  Moses  Cleaveland,  one  of  the 

directors,  was  made  general  agent  of  the  company 

and  Augustus  Porter  was  chosen  principal  surveyor. 

In  the  spring  of  1796,  the  directors  of  the  company 

sent  out  the  first  party  of  surveyors,  numbering  in 

all  fifty  persons,  seven  surveyors,  a   commissary,  a 

physician,  a   boatman,  employees  and  other  persons 

who  came  as  settlers.  There  appear  to  have  been  but 

two  women  in  the  party,  wives  of  two  surveyors.  They 
took  with  them  horses  and  cattle.  Some  members  of 

this  party  kept  diaries  of  their  journeyings,  portions 

of  which  journals  are  set  forth  by  Colonel  Whittlesey. 

The  party  assembled  at  Schenectady  and  ascended 

the  Mohawk  to  Fort  Stanwix,  whence  most  of  them 

passed,  with  the  boats  and  stores  over  the  portage 

to  Wood  Creek,  and  then  down  that  stream  across 

Oneida  Lake,  and  down  Oswego  River  to  Lake  Ontario. 

Others  of  the  party  made  their  way  by  Canandaigua 

to  Buffalo  Creek,  where,  states  the  journal  of  John 

Holley,  one  of  the  assistant  surveyors:  “ The  council 
fire  with  the  Six  Nations  was  uncovered  and  Captain 

Brant  gave  General  Cleaveland  a   speech  in  writing.” 
Next  morning,  the  23d  of  June,  there  were  speeches 

by  Joseph  Brant  and  Red  Jacket,  and  finally  after 

much  discussion,  General  Cleaveland  agreed  to  give 

the  Indians  $25,000,  in  money  and  goods,  two  beef 

cattle  and  one  hundred  gallons  of  whiskey,  for  the 

Iroquois  claim  to  the  lands  east  of  the  Cuyahoga  River. 

During  this  Buffalo  Creek  treaty,  Red  Jacket 

expressed  his  views  upon  the  white  man’s  religion, 

which  Holley  summarizes  as  follows:  “You  white 
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people  make  a   great  parade  about  religion,  you  say 

you  have  a   book  of  laws  and  rules  which  was  given  you 

by  the  Great  Spirit,  but  is  this  true?  No,”  says  he, 

“it  was  written  by  your  own  people.  They  do  it  to 
deceive  you.  Their  whole  wishes  center  here  (pointing 

to  his  pocket),  all  they  want  is  the  money.”  He  says, 

“White  people  tell  them,  they  wish  to  come  and  live 
among  them  as  brothers,  and  learn  them  agriculture. 

So  they  bring  on  implements  of  husbandry  and  presents, 

tell  them  good  stories,  and  all  appears  honest.  But 

when  they  are  gone  all  appears  as  a   dream.  Our  land 

is  taken  from  us,  and  still  we  don’t  know  how  to  farm 

it.” From  Buffalo  Creek,  the  party  continued  westward 

along  the  lake  shore,  reaching  the  mouth  of  Conneaut 

Creek,  on  the  east  side  of  which  the  surveyors  pitched 

their  tents,  and,  says  the  Journal  of  Moses  Cleaveland, 

“We  gave  three  cheers  and  christened  the  place  Fort 

Independence.  ”   It  was  July  4th  (1796),  and  the  party 

including  men,  women  and  children,  “ranged  them- 
selves on  the  beach  and  fired  a   federal  salute  of  fifteen 

rounds  and  then  the  sixteenth  in  honor  of  New  Con- 

necticut.” Several  toasts  were  drunk,  one  of  which 

was,  “May  the  Port  of  Independence  and  the  fifty  sons 
and  daughters  who  have  entered  it  this  day  be  success- 

ful and  prosperous,”  and  another,  “May  these  sons 
and  daughters  multiply  in  sixteen  years,  sixteen  times 

fifty.”  Cleaveland’s  diary  for  that  day  closes  with, 

(We)  “drank  several  pails  of  grog,  supped,  and  retired 

in  remarkable  good  order.  ” 
The  settlement  of  the  Western  Reserve  properly 

dates  from  this  celebration.  The  next  day  after 
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the  jollification,  narrates  Harvey  Rice,  in  “Pioneers 

of  the  Western  Reserve,”  the  party  united  in  cutting 
timber,  and  in  erecting  a   huge,  elephantine  log  structure 

for  their  own  temporary  accommodation  and  named 

it  “Stow’s  Castle,”  in  honor  of  Joshua  Stow,  commis- 

sary of  the  party.  “It  was  built  of  unhewn  logs,  and 
covered  with  a   thatched  roof  of  brush,  wild  grass  and 

sod,”  a   grotesque  looking  edifice  that  greatly  amused 
the  visiting  savages. 

A   few  days  after  the  completion  of  the  “Castle” 
the  Cleaveland  party  was  called  upon  by  a   deputation 

of  Indians  headed  by  their  aged  Chief  Paqua,  and  his 

son  Cato,  who  came  to  inquire  the  purpose  of  the 

invasion  of  the  whites,  and  to  ask  what  they  intended 

to  do  with  the  Indians.  Cleaveland  replied  in  a   most 

conciliatory  manner  assuring  the  tribesmen  that  they 

should  not  be  disturbed  in  their  rights  but  that  all 

would  live  amicably  together.  The  Indians  were 

further  pacified  with  gifts  of  glass  beads  for  the  Squaws 

and  a   keg  of  whiskey  for  the  “braves.”  The  Indians 
then  consented  that  the  intended  land  surveys  might 

proceed. 

Some  two  weeks  after  the  landing  at  Conneaut, 

Cleaveland  with  a   portion  of  the  party,  embarked  in 

an  open  boat,  and  coasted  westward  along  the  lake 

shore,  bound  for  the  Cuyahoga  River.  They  came  to 
the  mouth  of  a   stream  not  traced  on  their  chart  and 

supposing  it  to  be  the  Cuyahoga,  they  entered  it. 

Upon  discovering  their  mistake,  they  felt  so  chagrined 

about  it,  says  Rice,  that  they  named  the  river  “Cha- 

grin”— a   designation  it  still  retains ;   though  James  H. 

Kennedy  in  his  “History  of  the  City  of  Cleveland” 
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states  the  authorities  do  not  agree  upon  the  origin  of 

this  river’s  name.  The  party  now  continued  their 

voyage  along  the  coast  until  they  reached  the  “   veri- 

table Cuyahoga,”  which  they  entered  July  22d. 
Colonel  Whittlesey,  with  realistic  imagery  portrays 

the  landing:  “It  was  necessary  to  proceed  some  dis- 
tance along  this  shore,  before  there  was  solid  ground 

enough  to  effect  a   landing.  As  the  Indians  had,  from 

generation  to  generation,  kept  open  a   trail  along  the 

margin  of  the  lake,  it  is  probable  that  Cleaveland’s 
party,  scanning  with  sharp  eyes  every  object  as  they 

rowed  along  the  river,  saw  where  the  aboriginal  highway 

descended  the  hill,  along  what  is  now  Union  Lane. 

Here  they  came  to  the  bank,  and  scrambling  out,  trod 

for  the  first  time  the  soil  of  the  new  city.  While  the 

boat  was  being  unloaded,  the  agent  had  an  opportunity 

to  mount  the  bluff,  and  scan  the  surrounding  land. 

His  imagination  doubtless  took  a   pardonable  flight 

into  the  future,  when  a   great  commercial  town  should 

take  the  place  of  the  stunted  forest  growth,  which 

the  northern  tempest  had  nearly  destroyed.  But 

whatever  may  have  been  his  anticipations,  the  reality 

has  outstripped  them  all.”  Very  soon  the  party 
proceeded  to  erect  a   log  storehouse  and  several  log 

cabins,  for  their  own  accommodation,  and  that  of  the 

few  immigrants  who  had  followed  them  with  the  pur- 
pose of  settling  or  finding  employment  in  the  opening 

of  a   new  country. 

This  settlement  thus  established  on  the  lake,  destined 

to  become  the  metropolis  of  northern  Ohio,  was  fittingly 

named  after  its  founder,  Cleveland.  Just  how  the 

“a”  was  dropped  from  the  name  is  a   matter  somewhat 
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Site  and  first  log  buildings  erected  in  1796  by  the  party 
of  Moses  Cleaveland.  Reproduction  of  an  old  print. 
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in  dispute.  The  original  spelling  “Cleaveland”  seems 
to  have  been  retained  for  some  thirty  years  or  more, 

when,  one  explanation  is,  the  publisher  of  the  “Cleve- 

land Advertiser,”  omitted  the  “a”  from  the  name  at 
the  head  of  his  paper  because  he  could  not  fit,  with 

the  type  used,  the  name  in  full,  as  a   headline,  to  the 

width  of  his  form.  Another  version  is  that,  in  early 

days,  the  first  “a”  in  the  “Cleaveland  Herald”  got 
battered  and  put  out  of  commission  and  was  never 

replaced.  The  new  spelling  was  adopted  by  other 

papers  and  in  due  time  became  the  common  acceptation. 

As  the  change  occurred  before  the  days  of  phonetic 

spelling  it  doubtless  resulted  from  some  accident  or 

exigency  as  related  above. 

Moses  Cleaveland,  the  hero  and  leader  of  this 

settlement  on  the  lake  shore,  was  a   prominent  and 

much  respected  citizen  of  Canterbury,  Connecticut, 

where  he  was  born  in  1754.  He  was  a   graduate  of 

Yale,  Class  of  1777.  He  studied  for  the  bar  and  after 

admission  entered  upon  the  practice  of  law  in  his 

native  town.  In  August,  1789,  he  was  appointed  by 

Congress,  a   Captain  of  Sappers  and  Miners  in  the 

Continental  Army.  His  ability  and  public  usefulness 

are  attested  by  the  fact  that  he  served  several  terms 

as  a   member  of  the  Connecticut  General  Assembly. 

He  also  served  in  various  capacities  in  the  state  militia, 

and  in  1796,  not  long  before  he  engaged  in  the  Connecti- 

cut Land  Enterprise,  he  became  a   general  of  the  Fifth 

Brigade.  In  1794  he  was  married  to  Esther,  daughter 

of  Henry  Champion.  According  to  the  description 

of  Harvey  Rice,  Cleaveland  was  a   man  of  few  words 

and  prompt  action;  his  morality  was  an  outgrowth 
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of  Puritanism  and  as  rigid  as  it  was  pure;  he  was  manly 

and  dignified  in  his  bearing  and  so  sedate  in  his  looks, 

that  strangers  often  took  him  for  a   clergyman;  in  per- 

sonal appearance  he  was  of  medium  height,  erect, 

thick-set,  and  portly,  had  black  hair,  a   quick,  pene- 
trating eye,  muscular  limbs,  and  a   military  air  in  his 

step,  indicating  that  he  was  born  to  command. 

It  was  several  years  before  the  survey  of  the  new 

Western  Reserve  Empire  was  completed.  The  base 

lines  of  the  survey  were  the  western  boundary  of 

Pennsylvania,  as  determined  ten  years  before  (1786), 

and  the  parallel  41 0   latitude  north  as  now  (1796)  run 
for  the  first  time  and  extending  west  from  Pennsylvania 

120  miles.  Fom  this  base  line,  lines  were  run  north 

and  south,  five  miles  apart,  and  later  cross  lines, 

parallel  to  the  base  line,  were  run,  five  miles  apart, 

thus  making  twenty-four  townships  across,  east  and 
west,  and  twelve,  north  and  south,  in  the  deepest 

place,  that  is  on  the  extreme  east.  Each  township 

was  therefore  twenty-five  miles  square.  The  town- 

ships, east  and  west,  were  numbered  as  “ranges,” 

and  from  the  base  line  north  as  “towns.”  Cleveland, 
for  instance,  was  in  Range  12,  from  the  Pennsylvania 

line,  and  town  7   from  the  base  line.  The  southern 

line  of  the  Reserve,  41 0   north  latitude,  is  often  con- 
fused, by  writers,  including  many  historians,  with  the 

Geographer’s  Line  which  was  40°  38'  02°  latitude 
north,  the  gap  between  the  two  lines  being  approxi- 

mately twenty-five  miles,  and  according  to  recent 
researches  in  government  archives  by  Mr.  Albion  M. 

Dyer,  Curator  of  the  Western  Reserve  Historical 

Society,  the  famous  Seven  Ranges  running  south  from 
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the  Geographer’s  Line  were  not  extended  north  until 
1800  and  1801,  when,  under  the  direction  of  Rufus 

Putnam,  then  surveyor  general,  they  were  continued 

to  the  southern  line  of  the  Western  Reserve,  thus 

adding  four  townships  to  each  range.  The  Geog- 

rapher’s Line  was  extended  west  to  the  Ninth  range, 
where  it  met  the  Indian  boundary  line  of  the  Greenville 

Treaty,  the  line  extending  from  Fort  Laurens  through 

Loramie’s  Station  to  Fort  Recovery. 
The  lands  of  the  Connecticut  Land  Company 

were  drawn  by  the  purchasers  in  four  separate  drafts, 

in  1798,  1802,  1807,  and  1809.  The  deeds  were  made 

to  the  allotment  share-holders,  by  the  trustees  of  the 

Company,  and  with  the  last  draft  and  deed  allotment 

the  Company  was  dissolved  after  being  in  existence 

fourteen  years. 

As  a   land  speculation,  however,  the  Connecticut 

Land  purchase  was  not  what  was  expected  of  it.  Like 

the  Ohio  Company,  the  Scioto  Company,  the  Symmes 

Purchase,  and  the  French  Colony,  the  Western  Re- 
servers had  their  difficulties  and  disappointments. 

The  ideas  in  1795  concerning  the  southern  shore  of 

Lake  Erie,  dating  from  the  old  French  days,  had  not 

been  corrected;  and  the  Connecticut  Company  sup- 

posed before  the  surveys  were  completed,  that  they 

were  buying  4,000,000  acres  of  land.  The  survey 

proved  that  they  bought  less  than  3,000,000  acres. 

Instead  of  thirty  cents  an  acre  they  had  paid  more 

than  forty  cents.  Nearly  a   fourth  of  their  supposed 

purchase  lay  beneath  the  waters  of  Lake  Erie.  But 

greater  troubles  arose  over  the  question  of  the  political 
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jurisdiction  of  this  newly  acquired  domain.  It  was 

so  serious  as  to  even  threaten  to  deprive  them  of  their 

property  altogether. 

We  cannot  follow  the  details  of  the  political  dilemma 
into  which  the  Western  Reserve  had  fallen.  These 

details  may  be  found  in  the  published  accounts  by 

Whittlesey  and  Hinsdale,  the  most  reliable  authorities 

upon  this  subject.  Connecticut  had  sold  to  the  Land 

Company  the  juridical  and  territorial  right,  as  well  as 

the  soil,  of  the  tract.  But  where  was  to  rest  the 

government  of  the  new  territory?  “So  little  was 

known,”  says  Whittlesey,  “at  this  time,  of  the  respective 
powers  of  the  State  and  the  United  States,  under  the 

Constitution  of  1787,  that  many  of  the  parties  thought 

the  Land  Company  had  received  political  authority  and 

could  found  a   new  State.  They  imagined  themselves, 

like  William  Penn,  to  be  proprietors,  coupled  with  the 

rights  of  self  government.”  Indeed  one  of  the  toasts 

at  the  Conneaut  Landing  celebration  was  “the  State 

of  New  Connecticut,”  which  they  had  in  mind,  and 

believed  they  might  organize.  The  “Reservers”  had 
unquestionably  passed  out  from  under  the  government 

of  Connecticut.  On  the  other  hand  they  had  not 

become  subservient  to  the  jurisdiction  of  the  United 

States,  as  their  territory  had  never  been  ceded  to  the 

national  government.  The  Western  Reserve,  therefore, 

was  politically  sui  generis ,   it  was  a   political  orphan, 

anxiously  seeking  to  be  adopted  by  some  governmental 

parentage.  Governor  St.  Clair  had  included  all  that 

part  of  the  Reserve  lying  east  of  the  Cuyahoga  River 

in  his  outlines  of  Washington  County,  which  he 

organized  July  26,  1788.  In  1796  he  included  the 
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whole  Reserve  in  Wayne  County  which  had  its  county 

seat  at  Detroit.  But  the  new  settlers  of  the  Reserve 

rightly  denied  any  such  territorial  jurisdiction.  On 

January  27,  1797,  the  stockholders  of  the  company, 

in  a   meeting  at  Hartford,  instructed  the  directors  and 

trustees  to  apply  to  the  General  Assembly  for  an  act 

creating  the  Western  Reserve  into  an  entire  and 

distinct  county,  with  proper  and  suitable  laws.  But 

if  such  application  was  made,  the  Connecticut  legis- 

lature took  no  action  in  the  matter.  It  appeared 

unwilling  to  assume  the  political  custody  of  a   child  so 

far  from  home.  In  the  following  October  (1797),  the 

stockholders  gave  the  directors  and  trustees  full 

authority  to  pursue  such  measures  as  they  deemed 

best  calculated  to  procure  legal  and  practical  govern- 

ment over  the  territory  belonging  to  the  company. 

Almost  at  the  same  time,  the  Connecticut  assembly 

authorized  its  senators  in  Congress  to  execute  in  the 

name  of  Connecticut,  a   deed  releasing  to  the  United 

States  the  jurisdiction  of  the  Western  Reserve.  But 

Congress  refused  to  take  action  accepting  the  proffered 

cession.  Meantime  the  Western  Reserve,  an  outlaw 

indeed,  was  “calling  for  help  more  and  more  loudly,” 
first  upon  the  State  of  Connecticut  and  then  upon 

the  national  Congress.  But  all  in  vain.  The  political 

anomaly  of  the  Western  Reserve  was  deterring  im- 

migration and  preventing  land  sales  by  those  who 

wished  to  escape  the  perplexing  troubles  and  return 

to  their  Connecticut  homes.  There  was  no  govern- 

ment, no  legal  authority,  title  could  not  be  established 

or  recorded,  contracts  had  no  assured  validity,  pro- 

tection of  person  and  security  of  property  had  no  legal 
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basis;  it  was  “No  Man’s  Land,”  without  civil  officers, 
laws  or  courts.  Finally  on  February  18,  1800,  Congress 

by  resolution,  appointed  a   committee  of  which  the 

eminent  jurist,  John  Marshall,  was  Chairman,  to  con- 

sider the  expediency  of  accepting  the  cession  of  the 

jurisdiction  of  the  Reserve.  Mr.  Marshall’s  favorable 
report  recited  the  history  of  Connecticut  title,  the 

history  of  the  cessions,  the  sale  to  the  Land  Company, 

and  fully  explained  the  difficulties  and  actual  perils 

of  the  settlers  of  the  Reserve.  As  a   result  of  Mr. 

Marshall’s  report,  Congress  authorized  the  President, 
in  behalf  of  the  United  States,  to  execute  and  deliver 

to  the  Governor  of  Connecticut,  letters  patent  whereby 

the  right,  title,  interest  and  estate  of  the  United  States 

to  the  territory,  commonly  called  the  Western  Reserve, 

should  be  released  and  conveyed  to  said  Governor. 

The  bill  provided,  among  other  conditions,  that  Con- 

necticut should,  within  eight  months  from  the  passage 

of  this  act,  execute  and  deliver  to  the  President  of 

the  United  States  a   deed  expressly  releasing  to  the 

United  States  the  jurisdictional  claim  of  the  said 

State  of  Connecticut  to  the  Reserve.  This  “Ease- 

ment Act,”  as  it  was  called,  passed  Congress  and  on 
April  28,  1800,  was  approved  by  President  Adams. 

The  General  Assembly  of  Connecticut  promptly  com- 

plied with  the  conditions  of  the  congressional  act 

and  directed  the  Governor  of  the  State  to  execute  and 

deliver  to  the  President  of  the  United  States,  official 

deed  of  the  jurisdiction  of  the  Reserve.  Thus  the 

curious  and  unique  problem,  which  as  Hinsdale 

remarks,  “gave  such  abundant  opportunity  for  con- 

stitutional metaphysics  and  legal  hair  splitting,”  was 
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happily  solved,  mainly  through  the  legal  acumen 

and  logical  common  sense  of  the  Virginia  Congressman, 

John  Marshall,  who  a   few  months  later  was  to  become 

the  Chief  Justice  of  the  United  States. 

On  July  io,  1800,  St.  Clair  made  proclamation  con- 

stituting the  whole  Reserve,  including  the  Firelands, 

a   county  with  the  name  of  Trumbull,  in  honor  of 

Jonathan  Trumbull,  then  Governor  of  Connecticut, 

and  son  of  the  original  “Brother  Jonathan.”  The 
county  government  was  promptly  organized  and  its 

seat  located  at  Warren.  At  this  time  (1800)  the 

population  of  the  Reserve  was  1300,  but  now  that  civil 

law  was  assured  and  the  land  title  clouds  had  rolled 

by,  a   new  and  powerful  impetus  was  given  to  immi- 

gration and  Trumbull  County  was  rapidly  dotted  with 

thriving  settlements  of  incomers  from  New  England. 

Indeed,  says  Hinsdale,  “No  other  five  thousand  square 
miles  [the  size  of  the  Reserve]  of  territory  in  the 

United  States,  lying  in  a   body  outside  of  New  England 

ever  had,  to  begin  with,  so  pure  a   New  Engand 

population,”  and  he  adds:  “No  similar  territory  west 
of  the  Allegheny  Mountains  has  so  impressed  the 

brain  and  conscience  of  the  country.”  Of  the  host 
of  great  national  leaders  in  thought  and  action  that  the 

Western  Reserve  was  to  produce,  it  is  not  our  province 

to  speak.  That  is  all  a   well-known  portion  of  our 

country’s  history.  The  unusual  character  of  the 
early  colonial  settlers  of  the  Western  Reserve  and  the 

forceful  influence  they  and  their  descendants  have 

exerted  in  the  field  of  our  nation’s  affairs,  has  given  an 
enviable  prominence  to  the  Western  Reserve  which 

has  not  inaptly  been  styled  “the  Attica  of  Ohio.” 
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While  the  Western  Reserve  was  passing  through 

its  sea  of  troubles,  other  sections  of  the  State  were 

being  settled  by  diverse  streams  of  immigration.  We 

have  already  mentioned  how  shortly  after  Wayne’s 
Treaty,  Arthur  St.  Clair,  James  Wilkinson,  Jonathan 

Dayton  and  Isaac  Ludlow  made  settlements  in  the 

territory  of  the  intended  Symmes’  Purchase. 
Another  group  of  Ohio  settlements  of  a   distinctive 

character  was  that  of  the  Virginians.  The  leader  in 

this  stream  of  immigration  was  Nathaniel  Massie, 

born  in  1763,  in  Goochland  County,  (Va.).  He 

came  of  distinguished  ancestry  and  according  to  his 

biographer,  John  McDonald,  served  in  the  Revolution- 
ary War  from  his  native  State  at  the  age  of  seventeen, 

and  at  nineteen  started  to  Kentucky  to  pursue  his 

vocation  of  surveying  the  public  lands  and  placing 
warrants  for  the  soldiers  of  the  Revolution.  David 

Meade  Massie  in  his  life  of  his  illustrious  grandfather, 

Nathaniel  Massie,  says  the  latter  “did  not  go  as  a 

penniless  soldier  of  fortune,”  but  at  the  outset  was  the 
recipient  of  lands  already  located  in  Kentucky,  by 

Daniel  Boone,  for  Nathaniel  Massie,  Senior,  father 

of  our  subject.  Massie  developed  much  talent  for 

successful  enterprises,  not  only  in  land  locating  but 

fur  and  salt  trading,  being  associated  in  the  latter 

business  with  General  James  Wilkinson.  Colonel  Rich- 
ard C.  Anderson,  who  was  the  principal  surveyor  of 

the  (Ohio)  Virginia  military  lands,  opened  his  office  at 

Louisville  in  1784,  and  in  1790  appointed  Nathaniel 

Massie  one  of  his  deputy  surveyors.  The  latter  had 

already  penetrated  the  Virginia  military  district  of 
Ohio  and  was  familiar  with  the  extent  and  value  of 
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Born,  Goochland  County,  Va.,  in  1 763.  Served  in  Ameri- 
can Revolution  and  then  located  in  Kentucky  on  lands 

bought  from  Daniel  Boone.  One  of  the  Deputy  Surveyors 

of  the  Miami  and  Scioto  country.  Founder  of  the  settle- 
ments at  Manchester  and  Chillicothe.  Died  and  buried 

at  Chillicothe,  1813.  Engraving  from  an  oil  portrait  in 

the  City  Library,  Chillicothe,  Ohio. 
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Another  group  of  Ohio  settlements  of  a   distinctive 

character  was  that  of  the  Virginians.  The  leader  in 

this  stream  of  immigration  was  Nathaniel  Massie, 

born  in  I7'>:  in  Goochland  County,  (Va.).  He 

came  of  *   lished  ancestry  and  according  to  his 

biographer  !   hn  McDonald,  served  in  the  Revolution- 

ary War  from  his  native  State  at  the  age  of  seventeen, 

and  at  nineteen  starred  to  Kentucky  to  pursue  his 

vocation  of  surveying  the  public  lands  and  placing 
warrants  for  the  soldiers  of  the  Revolution.  David 

Meade  Massie  in  his  life  of  his  illustrious  grandfather, 

Nathaniel  Massie,  says  the  latter  “did  not  go  as  a 

penniless  soldier  of  fortune,”  but  at  the  outset  was  the 
recipient  of  lands  already  located  in  Kentucky,  by 

Daniel  Boone,  ior  Nathaniel  Massie,  Senior,  father 

of  our  subject.  Massie  developed  much  talent  for 

successful  enterprises,  not  only  in  land  locating  but 

fur  and  salt  trading,  being  associated  in  the  latter 

business  with  General  James  Wilkinson.  Colonel  Rich- 

ard C.  Anderson,  who  was  the  principal  surveyor  of 

the  (Ohio)  Virginia  military  lands,  opened  his  office  at 

Louisville  in  1784,  and  in  1790  appointed  Nathaniel 

Massie  one  of  his  deputy  surveyors.  The  latter  had 

already  penetrated  the  Virginia  military  district  of 

Ohio  and  was  famik-i  with  the  extent  and  value  of 
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that  locality.  In  1791,  Massie  established  a   post  “on 
the  bottom  along  the  Ohio  River  opposite  the  lower  one 

of  the  three  islands,  some  twelve  miles  above  the  present 

town  of  Maysville  [Kentucky],  then  called  Limestone.” 
It  was  the  first  settlement  in  the  Ohio  Virginia  Military 

District  and  was  at  first  known  as  “Massie’s  Station,” 
later  as  Manchester.  It  was  the  fourth  settlement 

in  Ohio,  following  Marietta,  Cincinnati  and  Gallipolis. 

To  induce  settlers  in  his  proposed  Station,  Massie 

offered  each  of  the  first  twenty-five  families,  as  a 

donation,  one  in-lot,  one  out-lot  and  one  hundred  acres 

of  land.  Upwards  of  thirty  families  quickly  responded 

to  this  alluring  offer.  Massie  made  many  surveying 

incursions  into  the  region  of  the  Scioto  Valley,  becoming 

the  owner  of  much  land  along  the  Scioto  River  and 

Paint  Creek,  in  which  picturesque  and  fertile  location 
he  determined  to  found  a   town.  He  advertised  his 

proposition  in  Kentucky,  offering  an  in-lot  and  an 

out-lot  of  four  acres  in  the  prospective  town  to  the 

first  one  hundred  permanent  settlers.  This  brought 

together,  early  in  1795,  at  Manchester,  a   “party  of 

respectable  citizens  of  Kentucky,”  who  under  the 
guidance  of  Massie,  the  city  founder,  entered  upon 

their  journey  to  the  Paint  Creek  region.  They 

reached  Brush  Creek,  Scioto  branch,  where  they 

unexpectedly  encountered  a   body  of  seventy  hostile 

Shawnees,  under  the  chief  Pucksekaw,  the  same 

vagrant  band  that  soon  after  reported  to  Wayne  at 

Greenville,  in  great  contrition,  desiring  to  come  under 

the  terms  of  the  Treaty.  A   battle  between  the  pioneers 

and  the  savages,  ensued  in  which  the  pioneers  without 

loss  of  life  were  worsted  and  were  compelled  to  yield 
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the  field,  making  good  their  return  to  Massie’s  Station. 
This  ended  the  exploitation  of  the  Scioto  Valley  for 

that  year.  “It  was,”  says  McDonald,  “the  last 

Indian  fight  on  the  waters  of  the  Scioto  River,” 
occurring  at  the  very  moment  Wayne  was  treating 
with  the  tribesmen  at  Greenville. 

Nothing  daunted  by  this  failure,  Massie  revived 

the  enterprise  early  in  1796.  The  proposed  settlers 

again  assembled  at  Manchester  and  on  April  1,  reached 

the  selected  site  and  began  to  build  cabins  and  plow 

the  open  prairie,  “so  as  to  plant  corn,  three  hundred 

acres  being  soon  turned  by  thirty  plows.”  It  was  the 
founding  of  historic  Chillicothe,  so  named  by  Massie, 

the  proprietor,  “on  consultation  with  his  friends,” 
for  it  was  an  Indian  word  meaning  a   town.  Its  popu- 

lation increased  rapidly  and  before  the  winter  of  1796 

had  “several  stores,  taverns,  and  shops  for  mechanics.” 
It  became  the  attractive  center  for  a   rush  of  Virginians 

and  Kentuckians,  the  latter  in  nearly  all  cases  being 
natives  of  the  Old  Dominion. 

Thus  closed  the  year  1796,  a   most  memorable  year, 

marking  the  settlements  of  Cleveland,  Dayton,  Chilli- 
cothe and  other  minor  towns;  the  year  of  the  evacuation 

of  the  British  posts,  including  the  forts  on  the  Maumee 

and  at  the  mouth  of  the  Sandusky;  this  same  year, 

the  President  was  authorized  by  Congress  to  contract 

with  Ebenezer  Zane  to  build  his  “Trace”  through  Ohio, 
at  first  only  a   bridle  path,  later  a   stately  wagon  road. 

In  this  Centennial  year  (1912)  of  the  Ohio  State 

Capital,  the  origin  of  one  little  settlement  must  not 

go  unmentioned.  Colonel  Richard  C.  Anderson,  official 

surveyor  of  the  Virginia  Military  District,  appointed  as 



LUCAS  SULLIVANT 

Born  in  Virginia,  1765.  Early  settled  in  Kentucky 

where  he  became  a   surveyor.  He  was  appointed  one  of 

the-Deputies- to -Richard  Anderson,  official  surveyor   of 

the  Virginia  Military  District.  Sullivant’s  first  expedition 
to  the  Scioto  country  was  in  1792.  He  visited  the  site 

of  Columbus  in  1795,  and  two  years  later  laid  out  the  town 

of  Franklinton,  now  a   part  of  Columbus. 
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Nothing  daunted  by  this  failure,  Massie  revived 

the  enterprise  early  in  1796.  The  proposed  settlers 

again  assembled  at  Manchester  and  on  April  1,  reached 

the  selected  site  and  began  to  build  cabins  and  plow 

the  open  prairie,  “so  as  to  plant  corn,  three  hundred 

acres  being  soon  turned  by  thirty  plows.”  It  was  the 
founding  of  historic  Chillicothe,  so  named  by  Massie, 

the  proprietor,  “on  consultation  with  his  friends,” 
for  it  was  an  Indian  word  meaning  a   town.  Its  popu- 

lation increased  rapidly  and  before  the  winter  of  1796 

had  “several  stores,  taverns,  and  shops  for  mechanics.” 
It  became  the  attractive  center  for  a   rush  of  Virginians 

and  Kentuckians,  the  latter  in  nearly  all  cases  being 
natives  of  the  Old  Dominion. 

Thus  closed  the  year  1796,  a   most  memorable  year, 

marking  the  settlements  of  Cleveland,  Dayton,  Chilli- 
cothe and  other  minor  towns;  the  year  of  the  evacuation 

of  the  British  posts,  including  the  forts  on  the  Maumee 

and  at  the  mouth  of  the  Sandusky;  this  same  year, 

the  President  was  authorized  by  Congress  to  contract 

with  Ebenezer  Zane  to  build  his  “Trace”  through  Ohio, 
at  first  only  a   bridle  path,  later  a   stately  wagon  road. 

In  this  Centennial  year  (1912)  of  the  Ohio  State 

Capital,  the  origin  of  on*  little  settlement  must  not 

go  unmentioned.  Colon  •   Richard  C.  Anderson,  official 

surveyor  of  the  Virginia  Military  District,  appointed  as 
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one  of  his  deputies,  Lucas  Sullivant.  He  was  a   typical 

gentleman  of  those  early  days  in  Virginia  of  which 

he  was  a   native.  He  became  an  expert  surveyor,  brave 

backwoodsman,  and  versed  in  Indian  warfare.  While 

the  savages  were  assembling  at  Greenville  to  treat 

with  Wayne,  in  the  spring  of  1795,  Sullivant,  then  thirty 

years  of  age,  with  a   party  of  twenty,  comprising  chain- 

carriers,  markers,  scouts,  and  helpers,  proceeded  into 

the  valley  of  the  Scioto.  The  adventures,  encounters 

and  escapes  of  the  members  of  this  party,  as  recorded 

in  their  journals,  read  like  the  tales  of  a   yellow  back 

novelette.  At  one  time  their  provisions  ran  so  low 

that  the  cook  surreptitiously  served  them  with  soup 

made  from  “the  bodies  of  two  young  skunks  which  he 
had  captured  without  damage  to  himself  in  a   hollow 

log.”  The  surveying  operations  of  Mr.  Sullivant  led 
him  to  the  banks  of  the  Scioto  and  the  Whetstone 

(now  Olentangy).  The  juncture  of  these  two  rivers 

was  then  known  as  “The  Forks  of  the  Scioto.  ”   It  was 

on  the  main  water  route,  as  we  have  seen,  from  Lake 

Erie  to  the  Ohio  River.  Mr.  Sullivant,  with  the 

“prophetic  eye,”  saw  the  advantage  of  the  location, 
the  fertility  of  the  soil  and  the  luxuriance  of  the  forest. 

It  had  long  been  a   favorite  field  for  the  villages  of  the 

Mingoes,  Delawares,  Shawnees,  Wyandots  and  other 

tribes.  The  river  afforded  them  transportation  and 

the  rich  bottom  lands  easily  produced  their  maize. 

And  here  on  the  bend  of  the  Scioto  on  the  west  bank 

just  north  of  the  forks,  “in  a   grove  of  stately  walnut 

trees,”  in  August,  1797,  Lucas  Sullivant  located  the 

town  he  called  Franklinton,  in  honor  of  Benjamin 

Franklin.  There  he  settled  and  slowly  the  pioneers 
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crept  in  and  built  their  humble  log  huts,  Chillicothe 

being  their  mart  and  source  of  supplies.  It  was  on 

the  east  “High  Bank”  of  the  Scioto,  opposite  the  town 
of  Franklinton  that  the  legislature,  on  Valentine  Day, 

1812,  chose  the  site  for  the  state  capital  and  called 

it  Columbus  after  the  discoverer  of  this  country. 

In  1798  the  Northwest  Territory  had  acquired  the 
five  thousand  free  male  inhabitants  that  the  Ordinance 

had  made  the  condition  of  the  second  stage  of  govern- 
ment, and  accordingly  the  Territorial  Legislature 

was  instituted.  The  General  Assembly  first  met  at 

Cincinnati,  September  24,  1799.  The  lower  house 

consisted  of  twenty-two  members,  representing  nine 
counties.  Seven  of  these  members  came  from  four 

counties  containing  the  old  French  settlements  in 

Michigan,  Indiana  and  Illinois,  fifteen  from  the  five 

Ohio  counties;  the  Western  Reserve  had  no  delegates. 

The  five  members  of  the  legislative  council,  or  senate, 

nominated  by  the  representatives  and  appointed  by 

the  President,  were  Jacob  Burnet  and  James  Findley 

of  Hamilton,  Robert  Oliver  of  Washington,  David 

Vance  of  Jefferson,  and  Henry  Vanderberg  of  Knox. 

The  transfer  of  the  seat  of  government  from  Cincinnati 

to  Chillicothe  was  made  without  any  formal  legislation 

on  the  subject.  But  the  political  beginning  of  the 

territory  and  State  of  Ohio  it  is  not  our  task  to  recount. 

Suffice  it  to  say,  William  Henry  Harrison,  who  had 

succeeded  Winthrop  Sargent  in  the  territorial  secretary- 

ship, was  chosen  delegate  from  Ohio  territory  to  Con- 
gress, which  body,  on  May  7,  1800,  passed  an  act, 

constituting  all  that  part  of  the  Northwest  Territory, 

lying  west  of  the  treaty  line  of  1795,  from  the  Ohio 
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to  Fort  Recovery,  and  a   line  drawn  from  the  fort  to 

the  international  boundary,  a   separate  territory,  to 

be  called  Indiana  Territory,  of  which  William  Henry 

Harrison  was  to  be  the  Territorial  Governor,  with 

Vincennes  as  its  capital.  The  easterly  section  was 

to  be  the  Ohio  Territory,  still  known  as  the  Northwest 

Territory,  Eastern  Division,  with  its  capital  at  Chilli- 

cothe,  until  otherwise  ordained  by  the  legislature. 

This  new  (Ohio)  Northwest  Territory,  duly  organized 
as  above  stated  became  a   State  and  a   member  of  the 

Union  on  March  i,  1803,  the  date  of  the  birth  of  Ohio, 

officially  established  as  such  by  the  act  of  Congress 

(Laws  of  the  United  States,  Volume  4,  page  4)  which 

determined  that  the  salaries  of  the  retiring  territorial 

officers  ended  on  the  day  before  “the  first  Tuesday 

in  March,”  which  day  before  was  February  28th, 
that  day  being  the  last  of  their  territorial  functions, 

the  State  machinery  going  into  operation  the  next  day, 

when  the  legislature  first  met  and  two  days  thereafter 

Edward  Tiffin  was  inaugurated  Governor. 

Judge  James  G.  Johnson  of  the  Ohio  Supreme  Court, 

in  a   public  address,  made  note  that  the  State  of  Ohio 

was  not  only  the  first  state  carved  from  the  Northwest 

Territory  but  was  really  the  first  addition  to  the 

United  States,  for  although  Vermont  (1791),  Kentucky 

(1792)  and  Tennessee  (1796)  were  admitted  before 

Ohio,  the  first  was  cut  off  from  New  York  and  the  two 

latter  from  Virginia.  Ohio  came  in  by  virtue  of  her 

rights  under  the  Articles  of  1787  and  “there  is  a   great 
fact  that  Ohio  was  the  first  political  state  ever  formed  in 

the  world  which  never  had  been  governed  by  a   king  and 

the  Ordinance  of  1787  dedicated  it  forever  to  freedom.” 
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And  from  the  date  of  its  admission  we  leave  the  con- 

tinuation of  Ohio  History  to  the  pen  of  another,  a 

history  which  shall  reveal  the  greatness  of  a   state  due 

in  no  small  measure  to  the  mingling  of  racial  roots  and 

elemental  characteristics  which  is  scarcely  equalled 

in  the  annals  of  any  other  of  the  American  common- 
wealths. We  have  shown  how  the  sections  of  the 

State  were  settled  by  streams  from  the  original  colonies, 

by  strains  of  blood  from  different  stocks,  a   theme 

worthy  an  ample  chapter.  As  numerous  writers  have 

pointed  out,  and  our  own  pages  have  narrated,  there 

were  five  principal  nerve  centers  of  the  nascent  state: 

i.  The  Ohio  Company,  on  the  Ohio  River,  mainly  from 

Connecticut  and  Massachusetts,  representing  perhaps 

the  more  liberal  element  of  the  New  England  Puritanic 

stock;  2.  The  Symmes  Purchase,  between  the  Miamis, 

whose  immigrants  were  designated  as  a   band  of  New 

Jersians,  with  a   mixture  of  Scotch-Irish  and  Hollanders; 
3.  The  Virginia  Military  District,  between  the  Scioto 

and  the  Little  Miami  Rivers,  in  which  the  racial  inflow 

was  partly  Marylandic,  but  mostly  Virginian,  the 

hardy,  rollicking,  fighting  Anglo-Saxon  stock,  whose 
venturesome  representatives  brought  with  them  the 

flavor  of  the  old  world  aristocracy  with  its  dignity, 

luxury  and  courtesy;  4.  The  Western  Reserve,  with 

its  distinctively  austere  indomitable  Puritan  type,  a 

colony,  “whose  foundations  were  hewn  from  the  gran- 

itic rock  of  New  England  Calvanism”;  5.  The  “Seven 

Ranges,”  consisting  of  the  tract  extending  west  from 
the  Pennsylvania  line  between  the  Ohio  Company  on 
the  south  and  the  Western  Reserve  on  the  north. 

The  settlers  in  this  section  were  not  a   few  native  born 
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Quakers;  a   few  settlers  from  the  German  Palatinate; 

many  Germans,  of  the  stock  which  has  produced  the 

variety  known  as  “Pennsylvania  Dutch,’’  and  many 
Scotch-Irish,  the  people  that  prevailed  in  Western 
Pennsylvania;  Swede  and  French  colonists  located 

west  of  the  Seven  Ranges.  The  five  chief  centers  of 

settlement  were  long  separated  by  intervening  forests, 

but  slowly  the  paths  of  travel  and  channels  of  commerce 

brought  them  into  closer  and  closer  contact;  gradually 

the  ties  of  a   common  purpose  and  a   similar  effort 

began  to  unite  them.  Natively  they  differed  widely 

in  customs,  training,  religious  faith  and  forms  of 

worship,  and  in  modes  of  living  and  thinking.  But 

they  were  to  be  merged  into  a   collective  and  concordant 

genus.  In  the  melting  process  of  struggle  and  sacrifice 

and  cooperative  endeavor,  the  racial  traits  were  to 

be  commingled  until  “all  were  ultimately  subdued  to 

a   predominate  type.  ” 

“And  here,”  said  General  Benjamin  R.  Cowen, 

“upon  the  Ohio  territory  was  a   fit  place  for  the  experi- 
ment of  constructing  society  upon  a   new  basis;  here 

theories  hitherto  unknown  or  deemed  impracticable 

were  to  exhibit  a   spectacle  for  which  the  previous 

history  of  the  world  had  furnished  no  example;  Ohio 

being  the  most  westerly  of  the  eastern  states  and  the 

most  easterly  of  the  western  states,  the  abundance  and 

variety  of  her  natural  resources  were  such  as  to  fix 

the  choice  of  the  most  desirable  emigrants  on  this 

soil,  so  that  we  had  a   selection  of  the  best  from  the 

oncoming  tide  that  swept  athwart  the  continent. 

A   common  danger  and  a   common  purpose  brought 

about  the  fusion  and  they  were  no  longer  Virginians, 
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Pennsylvanians  or  New  Englanders,  but  Ohioans. 

Thus,  Cavalier  and  Roundhead,  Huguenot,  Catho- 

lic and  Prostestant,  Puritan,  Baptist  and  Quaker, 

Scotch-Irish,  Anglo-Saxon,  Teuton  and  Celt  coalesced, 

strongly  welded  by  the  common  interests.  ” 
And  truly  is  it  too  much  to  assert  that  not  until 

the  amalgamation,  on  the  Ohio  soil,  of  the  variant, 

migrant  nationalities,  with  the  political,  mental,  moral, 

social  and  religious  characteristics,  peculiar  to  each, 

was  there  produced  the  strictly  ethnological  type  known 
as  the  American  ? 

“   What  heroism,  what  perils,  then  ; 
How  true  of  heart  and  strong  of  hand, 

How  earnest,  resolute,  those  pioneer  men  ?   ” 


